E-ISSN 2687-4555

MEDICAL RECORDS

International Medical Journal

I Wieuleal Journ

HONAL MEDICA



Assoc. Prof. Zülal ÖNER Izmir Bakırçay University Faculty of Medicine, Denartment of Anatomy

Assoc. Prof. Deniz SENOL Düzce University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Anatomy

Editors

Assoc. Prof. Serkan Öner Izmir Bakirçay University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Radiology



https://dergipark.org.tr/tr/pub/med

E-ISSN 2687-4555 E-mail: medrecsjournal@gmail.com Journal homepage: https://dergipark.org.tr/en/pub/medr

Publisher: Medical Records Association (Tibbi Kayıtlar Derneği)

Editor-in-Chief

Assoc. Prof. Zülal ÖNER İzmir Bakırçay University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Anatomy, İzmir, Türkiye E-mail: zulal.oner@bakircay.edu.tr

Assoc. Prof. Deniz ŞENOL Düzce University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Anatomy, Düzce, Türkiye E-mail: denizanatomi@gmail.com

Co-Editor

Assoc. Prof. Serkan ÖNER İzmir Bakırçay University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Radiology, İzmir, Türkiye E-mail: drserkanoner@gmail.com

Biostatistics Editors

Yusuf SEÇGİN Karabuk University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Anatomy, Karabük, Türkiye E-mail: yusufsecgin@karabuk.edu.tr

English Grammar Editor

Assist. of Prof. Pelin KOCA İzmir Bakırçay University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pharmacology, İzmir, Türkiye E-mail: pelin.koca@bakircay.edu.tr

Honorary Editorial Board

Prof. Abdel-Hady El-Gilany Faculty of Medicine, Mansoura University, Department of Public Health and Community Medicine, Egypt Email: ahgilany@gmail.com

Prof. Bünyamin SAHİN Tokat Gaziosmanpaşa University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Anatomy, Tokat, Türkiye Email: bunyamin.sahin@gop.edu.tr

Prof. Mohammed Mohammed Elsayed is Elgazz Medical Faculty, Yeditepe University, İstanbul, Türkiye Email: mohd.algazzar@yahoo.com

Prof. Rasmi MUAMMER Yeditepe University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation, İstanbul, Türkiye Email: rasmymuammar@yahoo.com

Prof. Shashikant Mane Krishna Institute of Medical Sciences (KIMS), Department of Anatomy, Karad- India Email: kantmane@gmail.com

Assoc. Prof. Afzan Mat YUSOF Human Molecular and Cellular Biology Research Cluster (iMoleC), Kuantan, Pahang, Malaysia Email: afzanyusof@karabuk.edu.tr

Prof. Ceylan AYADA İzmir Bakırçay University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Physiology, İzmir, Türkiye Email: ceylan.ayada@bakircay.edu.tr

Assoc. Prof. Cihat UÇAR İnönü University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Physiology, Malatya, Türkiye Email: ucarcht@gmail.com

Assoc. Prof. Şeyma TOY Karabük University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Anatomy, Karabük, Türkiye Email: seymatoy44@gmail.com

Assoc. Prof. Şuayip Burak DUMAN İnönü University, Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Radiology, Malatya, Türkiye Email: suayipburakduman@gmail.com

Assoc. Prof. Türker ÇAVUŞOĞLU İzmir Bakırçay University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Histology and Embryology, İzmir, Türkiye Email: turker.cavusoglu@bakircay.edu.tr

Dr. Mirzaman HUSEYNOV Private Safa Hospital Bağcılar, Pediatric Surgery, Pediatric Urology, Türkiye Email: mirzamanhuseynov@gmail.com

Assist. of Prof. Ahmad YAHYAZADEH Karabuk University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Histology, Karabük, Türkiye Email: yahyazadeh.ahmad@karabuk.edu.tr

Medical Records Year 2025 Volume 7 Number 1 Page 1-270

Assist. of Prof. Alev CUMBUL Yeditepe University Faculty of Medicine, Department of, Histology and Embryology, İstanbul, Türkiye Email: alev.cumbul@yeditepe.edu.tr

Assist. of Prof. Akif MAHARRAMOV Yeditepe University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Biophysics, İstanbul, Türkiye Email: amaharramov@yeditepe.edu.tr

Assist. of Prof. Filiz ÖZDEMİR İnönü University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation, Malatya, Türkiye Email: fciledag@gmail.com

Assist. of Prof. Fatma KIZILAY İnönü University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation, Malatya, Türkiye Email: fatmakizilay@hotmail.com.tr

Assist. of Prof. Hüseyin UZUNER Kocaeli Health Services Vocational School, Kocaeli, Türkiye Email: huseyin uzuner@yahoo.com.tr

Assist. of Prof. Pelin KOCA İzmir Bakırçay University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pharmacology, İzmir, Türkiye Email: pelin.koca@bakircay.edu.tr

Dr. Dilara HASANOVA Azerbaijan Medical University, Department of General Surgery, Azerbaijan Email: dr.hasanova@hotmail.com Dr. Elnur MAHDI Bezmialem Foundation University School of Medicine, Main Areas of Specialization: Radiological Diagnosis, İstanbul, Türkiye Email: elnur.mehdi@gmail.com

Dt. Gomaa AL RAZOUK Duraa Almişari Clinics Email: jomaa2018@gmail.com

Assoc. Prof. Mushfig ORUJOV Pataloji, Azerbaijan Email: mushfig.orujov@khazar.org

Assoc. prof. Parisa HAJALIOGHLI Tabriz University of Medical Sciences Department of Radiology, Tabriz, Iran Email: p.hajalioghli2@gmail.com

Dr. Reza Mirzajani ANESTHESIOLOGIST Pain and Palliative Care Medicine Fellowship, Tabriz, Iran Email: reza.mirzajani.f@gmail.com

Assistant Dr. Yaghoub KHODABANDEH Tabriz University of Medical Sciences Department of Psychiatry, Tabriz, Iran Email: yagoubkhodabandeh55@gmail.com

Dr. Ramil AlIYEV Central Hospital of Oil Workers, Cardiovascular Surgeon, Azerbaijan Email: shaman_ra@mail.ru

Indexing and Abstracting: TÜBİTAK/ULAKBİM Tıp Veri Tabanı, Türk Medline, EBSCO, Google Scholar, EuroPub, J-Gate

Contents

Original Article	
1. Incidence and Morphologic Characteristics of Aberrant Subclavian Arteries: A Retrospective Cross-Sectional Study Aydan Dursun, Aymelek Cetin, Serkan Sevgi, İpek Balikci Cicek	1-7
2. Using Deep Learning Algorithms to Predict Dental Implant Brands from Panoramic Radiographs Ismail Tasdemir, Veysel Icen, Turkay Kolus	8-11
3. Evaluation of the Relationship Between Vitamin D Deficiency and Epicondylitis Buminhan Seferoglu, Nurmuhammet Tas	12-5
4. Does Increased Cortical Screw Adhesion on the Far Cortex Result in Higher Resistance against Pull-Out? Ortac Guran, Batuhan Gencer	16-20
5. Clinical Characteristics of Cases Developing Neonatal Pneumothorax: 10 Years of Experience Fatih Kurt, Abdulkadir Kaya, Kenan Kocabay, Murat Kaya	21-4
6. The Treatment of Interphalangeal Joint Fracture Dislocations with the Pin and Rubber Method Gokhan Sayer, Ibrahim Karaman, Cemil Turk	25-30
7. Comparative Analysis of Lateral Radiography and Magnetic Resonance Imaging in the Diagnosis of Lumbar Disc Herniation Ismail Kaya, Huseyin Yakar	31-7
8. Comparison of Mid-Long Term Results of Cervical Cage and Cervical Disc Prosthesis in Patients with Single Level Cervical Disc Herniation Hakan Kina, Bulent Bozyigit	38-42
9. Comparison of Tourniquet and Non-Tourniquet Use in Total Knee Arthroplasty: Impact on Postoperative Hemoglobin Changes and Surgical Time Cumhur Deniz Davulcu, Muhammed Yusuf Afacan	43-9
10. The Relationship Between the Activity of the Meibomian Gland and Pupil Diameter Haci Keles, Erkut Kucuk, Zeki Baysal, Levent Dogan, Fatih Cicek, Faruk Gazi Ceranoglu	50-4
11. Evolution of Thoracic Outlet Syndrome Research: A Detailed Bibliometric Study Sercan Capkin, Ali Ihsan Kilic, Fatih Seker, Mehmet Akdemir, Mahmud Aydin, Ertugrul Sahin	55-63
12. Investigation of Gender-Related Changes of Craniocervical Region Variables on MRI in Adults with Reduced Cervical Lordosis Angle Gamze Taskin Senol, Ibrahim Kurtul, Gulcin Ray, Abdullah Ray, Tacettin Ayanoglu	64-7
13. The Effect of Fasting During Ramadan on Acute Metabolic Complications of Diabetes Muhammet Ali Erinmez, Mehmet Seyfettin Saribas, Firat Gunes, Ece Oguz	68-74
14. Relationship between Serum Fetuin-B Level and Metabolic Parameters in Patients with Newly Diagnosed Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus	75-80

Canan Karan, Mehmet Calan, Arif Yuksel, Oktay Bilgir, Giray Bozkaya, Emre Gezer

15. Evaluation of Third Molars According to the Operative Difficulty Score Gorkem Tekin, Gizem Calıskan, Nesrin Saruhan Kose	81-4
16. Demographic Characteristics of Patients who Underwent Dual-Energy X-Ray Absorptiometry According to Age and Clinical Department Veysel Delen, Ferit Dogan	85-8
17. Readability Analysis of Web Pages Providing Information on the Relationship Between Gingival Diseases and Heart Health Ozgur Ozgoren	89-93
18. Comparison of Clinical Outcomes of Conservative Treatment, Percutaneous Intralaminar Stabilization of Pars Defect, and Posterolateral Fusion with Interbody Fusion in Spondylolysis Burhan Oral Gudu	94-9
19. Global Outlook for Disability Adjusted Life Years: Brain and Central Nervous System Cancers Yunus Emre Karatas, Songul Cinaroglu	100-6
20. Does Ramadan Fasting Improve Echocardiographically Assessed Tei Index in Patients With Coronary Artery Disease? Omer Furkan Demir, Fatih Levent, Enes Ismet Erkoc, Fatih Koca	107-13
21. Evaluation of Common Diagnostic Errors in Panoramic Radiographs and Interobserver Agreement in Error Identification Yasin Yasa, Dilek Coban, Furkan Ozbey, Tunahan Tuna, Busra Nur Gokkurt Yilmaz, Zerrin Unal Erzurumlu, Elif Sadik	114-9
22. A New Approach: Generative Artificial Intelligence in Physiatry Resident Education Selkin Yilmaz Muluk, Vedat Altuntas, Zehra Duman Sahin	120-8
23. Examining the Attitudes and Experiences of Nurses Working in a High Security Forensic Psychiatry Unit from a Psychiatric Perspective Dilek Orum, Murad Atmaca	129-35
24. Examination of the Relationship Between the Comfort Levels and the Mother to Infant Bonding Levels of Women in the Postpartum Period Gamze Goke Arslan, Nuran Nur Aypar Akbag, Yasemin Sanli	136-44
25. Investigation of the Bifid Mandibular Canal Prevalence in the Central Anatolian Population: A Retrospective CBCT Study Melike Gulec, Elif Esra Ozmen	145-50
26. The Relationship Between Selective Motor Control and Trunk Control in Children With Spastic Cerebral Palsy Umut Apaydin, Ayse Yildiz, Ramazan Yildiz, Erkan Erol, Bayram Sirri, Bulent Elbasan	151-5
27. Traumatic Amputations in Military Personnel: From The Perspective of Forensic Medicine Huseyin Balandiz, Burak Kaya, Sait Ozsoy	156-61
28. Assessing the Performance of ChatGPT on Dentistry Specialization Exam Questions: A Comparative Study with DUS Examinees Mustafa Temiz, Ceylan Guzel	162-6
29. The Role of Prognostic Nutritional Index in Vascular Behcet's Syndrome Bahar Ozdemir Ulusoy, Esra Kayacan Erdogan, Berkan Armagan, Yuksel Maras, Ismail Dogan, Kevser Orhan, Serdar Can Guven, Ebru Atalar, Hatice Ecem Konak, Orhan Kucuksahin, Sukran Erten, Ahmet Omma, Hakan Babaoglu	167-72
30. Evaluation of Polymethylmethacrylate (PMMA) Cement for Stabilizing Loosened Screws in Mandibular Angle Fracture Fixation: A Biomechanical Study	173-7

Medical Records Year 2025 Volume 7 Number 1 Page 1-270

Metin Berk Kasapoglu, Betul Gedik, Gozde Gokce, Gulce Ecem Dogancali, Abdulkadir Burak Cankaya, Mehmet Ali Erdem

Medical Records Year 2025 Volume 7 Number 1 Page 1-270	
31. The Impact of Clinical Rotation in Addiction Treatment Centers (AMATEM) on Attitudes and Behaviors of Psychiatry Residents Toward Individuals with Addiction Mustafa Danisman, Gamze Zengin Ispir, Kubra Sezer Katar	178-86
32. Knowledge Levels of Child Abuse and Neglect Among a Group of Turkish Dentistry Students Canan Bayraktar Nahir, Seda Gollu, Necibe Damla Sahin	187-94
33. A Morphometric Examination of The Orbita Structure in Schizophrenia Patients: A Retrospective Study Sinem Keser, Sevler Yildiz, Elif Emre	195-200
34. A Comparative Study on the Question-Answering Proficiency of Artificial Intelligence Models in Bladder-Related Conditions: An Evaluation of Gemini and ChatGPT 4.0 Mustafa Azizoglu, Sergey Klyuev	201-5
35. Morphological and Morphometric Examination of the Proximal and Distal Ends of the Radius Elif Nedret Keskinoz, Anil Didem Aydin Kabakci, Duygu Akin Saygin, Mehmet Tugrul Yilmaz	206-15
36. Bacterial and Fungal Infections Among COVID-19 Patients in Intensive Care Unit Deniz Gezer, Sencer Yurtsever, Seda Tezcan Ulger	216-22
37. The Immediate Effect of Graston Technique on Ankle Range of Motion and Vertical Jump Performance in Athletes Ismail Uysal, Zehra Yilmaz, Irem Cetinkaya, Fatih Ozden	223-8
38. Investigation of the Effects of Lycopene Against Cisplatin-Induced Renal Damage in Rats: A Histopathological Study Omur Gulsum Deniz	229-33
39. Investigation of Age- and Gender-Related Changes in Anatomical Variables of the Cerebellum in Healthy Adults Using MR Imaging Gulcin Ray, Abdullah Ray, Ibrahim Kurtul, Saadet Erdem, Basel Malaysheh	234-9
40. Can First Trimester Plasma Protein A Level Predict Gestational Diabetes Mellitus Sema Baki Yildirim, Neslihan Bezirganoglu Altuntas, Ali Muhtaroglu, Mehmet Albayrak	240-4
41. Investigation of Normalized Volume Ratios of Motor and Sensory Cortices on Magnetic Resonance Images in Parkinson's Disease Patients: An Automatic Brain Segmentation Study Berna Dogan, Mert Nahir, Orhan Sumbul	245-50
42. Evaluation of COVID-19 Findings on Thoracic CT: Is There any Correlation with Age and Comorbidity? Nevin Koremezli Keskin, Merve Basdemirci, Onur Basdemirci, Aziz Ahmad Hamidi	251-7
43. Cancer Data, Case Increase Rates and Future Prospects in the Northeastern Anatolia Region of Turkiye, a Special Region for Gastric and Esophageal Cancers in 2018-2023 Alperen Akansel Caglar, Aykut Turhan, Pinar Coban Esdur, Yasin Emrah Soylu, Mehmet Bilici, Salim Basol Tekin	258-62
44. Investigation of the Effects of Pendimethalin on Liver and Kidney Tissue in Mice by Histological Methods Yusuf Ersan, Nurdan Tugba Iscen	263-7
Case Reports	
45. 4 Dans Cruss of Institution III and the II and the	

45. A Rare Cause of Inguinal Herniation: Bladder Herniation Ayla Ozaydogdu Cimen





Incidence and Morphologic Characteristics of Aberrant Subclavian Arteries: A Retrospective Cross-Sectional Study

OAydan Dursun¹, OAymelek Cetin², OSerkan Sevgi³, Olpek Balikci Cicek⁴

¹İnönü University, Institute of Health Sciences, Department of Anatomy, Malatya, Türkiye
 ²İnönü University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Anatomy, Malatya, Türkiye
 ³Battalgazi State Hospital, Department of Radiology, Malatya, Türkiye
 ⁵İnönü University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Biostatistics and Medical Informatics, Malatya, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.



Abstract

Aim: The aim of this study to determine the incidence of aberrant right subclavian artery (ARSA) and aberrant left subclavian artery (ALSA), their diameter, angle at their point of origin, distance between them. The cases included in the study were also examined for atrial septal defect (ASD), aneurysm, Kommerell's diverticulum, dysphagia, dyspnea, atherosclerotic heart disease, and hypertension. **Material and Method:** This study is a retrospective cross-sectional study conducted at Inonu University Faculty of Medicine Turgut Özal Medical Center. Within the scope of the study, The images of 2365 patients who applied to the Department of Radiology for contrast-enhanced thoracic CT arterial phase imaging were examined. As a result of the review, 52 cases (20 men and 32 women) with ARSA and ALSA were identified and included in the study.

Results: Among the examined images, ARSA was detected in 46 (1.9%) patients, while ALSA was detected in 6 (0.2%) patients. In ARSA cases, ASD and aneurysm were each found in 3 cases. Kommerell's diverticulum was not found in ARSA cases. In ALSA cases, aneurysm was found in 1 case, while Kommerell's diverticulum was found in 5 patients (83.3%). No evidence of ASD was found in ALSA cases. At the origin points, the average diameter of ARSA was 11.7 mm and ALSA was 12.55 mm, with average angles were 76.39° and 60.27°, respectively. The average distance between the right subclavian artery and the left subclavian artery in ARSA cases was 7.27 mm. In ALSA cases, the average distance between the left subclavian artery and the truncus brachiocephalicus was 10.9 mm. **Conclusion:** The incidence of ARSA and ALSA in the studied population was 1.9% and 0.2%, respectively. The detailed anatomical characteristics provided in this study can aid in the planning and execution of vascular surgeries involving subclavian arteries.

Keywords: Aberrant subclavian artery; right aortic arch, Kommerell's diverticulum, vascular surgery, anatomical variation

INTRODUCTION

Anomalies and variations of the aortae can be found with many congenital heart diseases (1). In our study, we aimed to draw attention to the importance of these anomalies and variations in terms of prognosis and treatment of diseases.

ARSA is the most common congenital variant of the aortic arch and can occur in 0.4-2% of individuals (2). ARSA arises directly from the aortae, just distal to the left subclavian artery (3). 80% of ARSA cases are retro-esophageal,15% are between the trachea and esophagus and 5% are anterior to the trachea (3,4).

ALSA; It is a rarer anomaly in society (0.05%-0.1%) (5). ALSA, a branch of the right aorta, is located distal to the right subclavian artery as the first branch of the ascending aorta and usually passes behind the esophagus (6,7).

Kommerell's diverticulum is a rare condition seen together with ARSA and ALSA (5). This diverticulum was named by the German radiologist Burkhard Friedrich Kommerell. Kommerell described this diverticulum as a primitive remnant of the right dorsal aorta. He reported that this anomaly may be a dilatation of the descending aortae (8). ARSA or Kommerell's diverticulum can compress the esophagus or trachea (9). In cases with ARSA, problems occur in the perfusion of the right axillary artery to the right

CITATION

Dursun A, Cetin A, Sevgi S, Balikci Cicek I, et al. Incidence and Morphologic Characteristics of Aberrant Subclavian Arteries: A Retrospective Cross-Sectional Study. Med Records. 2025;7(1):1-7. DOI:1037990/medr.1532495

Received: 13.08.2024 Accepted: 25.10.2024 Published: 24.12.2024

Corresponding Author: Aydan Dursun, İnönü University, Institute of Health Sciences, Department of Anatomy, Malatya, Türkiye E-mail: aydandursun44@gmail.com

carotid artery. Therefore, it is necessary to pay attention to ARSA (9,10).

Congenital anomalies in the aortic arch are caused by branching or position differences. Of these, right-sided aortic arch (RAA) can be seen as three subtypes: RAA with ALSA or rarely RAA with mirror-image branching, RAA with isolated left subclavian artery .These subtypes occur due to different branching of the supra aortic arteries. In isolated left subclavian artery cases, the ALSA is not connected to the arch, but instead to the pulmonary trunk via a patent arterial duct (6).

In our study; we aimed to draw attention to the importance of these anomalies in regional surgical procedures.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Study Design and Ethical Considerations:

This study is a retrospective cross-sectional study conducted with the permission of İnönü University Health Sciences Non-Interventional Clinical Research Ethics Committee with decision number 2021/2414.

Population and Sample

This study is a retrospective cross-sectional study covering the period January 2015-January 2020 and was conducted at İnönü University Faculty of Medicine Turgut Özal Medical Center.

A total of 25.472 patients who underwent contrastenhanced thoracic computed tomography (CT) in the Radiology department were identified through a screening of the Hospital Information Management System. Out of these, 2.365 cases were randomly selected for the examination of vascular structures and variations. As a result of arterial phase imaging, 52 cases (20 males and 32 females) with ARSA and ALSA were identified and included in the study.

Imaging Method

The cases were imaged using a new generation 256-slice CT scanner with a stellar detector system (SOMATOM® Definition Flash. Siemens Healthcare. Forchheim. Germany). For each patient, planning images were initially taken for subsequent dynamic imaging positioning. After setting the scan position, 70 ml of iodinated contrast agent (Opaxol 300mg/ml) was administered intravenously through an 18-gauge catheter using an automatic injector at a flow rate of 4-5 ml/sec via the antecubital vein. Postcontrast images were obtained using the following scan parameters: tube voltage 80 kVp, tube current 100 mAs, number of scans 26, scan time 1.5 sec, gantry rotation time 0.28 sec, and detector configuration 128 mm x 0.6 mm. Using the obtained baseline images, reconstructions were performed with slice thicknesses of 2.5 mm and 5 mm.

Evaluation of Images

The data obtained from the imaging were evaluated using the PACS Sectra imaging system (Picture Archiving & amp;

Communications System, Sweden). To facilitate vascular assessment, the images scanned with a slice thickness of 0.625 mm were reconstructed using MIP (Maximum Intensity Projection) to create axial, coronal, and sagittal planes. Angle measurements on the reconstructed images in the PACS system were performed at the level where ARSA and ALSA originate from the aorta, between the aorta and the aberrant vascular structure orifices. The drawings for the angle measurement placed the apex of the angle at the level of the orifice as the vascular structures run parallel to the lumen. Vascular diameter measurements were taken approximately 1 cm distal to the ARSA and ALSA orifices to exclude any narrowing and dilation seen distally.

After the angle and diameter measurements, in cases where ARSA was detected, the distance between the origin of the ARSA and the origin of the left subclavian artery was measured. Similarly, in cases where ALSA was detected, the distance between the origin of the ALSA and the origin of the truncus brachiocephalicus was measured. However, measurement could not be made in a case where the right and left subclavian arteries originated from the same root. Therefore, this case was excluded from the study.

Our study is a retrospective study. Dysphagia, dyspnea, cardiac pathology, vascular aneurysm and atherosclerotic heart disease have been identified as indications. The aim was to evaluate the presence of vascular pathology as a result of the imaging. In addition to measurements, cases with ASD, Kommerell's diverticulum, and aneurysm were identified during the radiological evaluation. Additionally, patient notes, epicrisis report, test results and discharge summaries, from the Hospital Information Management System were evaluated. The number of cases with dysphagia, dyspnea, atherosclerotic heart disease and hypertension were determined from patient files.

To minimize contrast artifacts, the evaluation was performed on the extremity opposite to the one that received the contrast.

Biostatistical Data Analysis

Qualitative data from the variables included in the study were summarized with number (percentage). Compliance of quantitative data with normal distribution was evaluated by Shapiro-Wilk test. Quantitative data that did not show normal distribution were summarized with median (minimum-maximum), while quantitative data that showed normal distribution were summarized with mean± standard deviation. In statistical analyses, categorical variables were compared using Fisher's exact chi-square test. For quantitative variables, Mann Whitney U test and Independent sample t test were used for comparisons between two independent groups where appropriate. A value of p<0.05 was considered statistically significant in the applied statistical analyses. All analyses were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics 26.0 for Windows (New York; USA).

RESULTS

The study involved two groups ARSA (n=46) and ALSA (n=6) (Table 1,2). In our study, we made measurements of the diameter, angle and distance of ARSA and ALSA (Table 3). Among the cases, there was one ARSA and

ALSA variation originating from the same root. This case was excluded from the scope of the study because measurements could not be made. There were no other cases in the study in which ARSA and ALSA were seen together.

Table 1. Distribution of clinical characteristics in ARSA and ALSA groups					
Variables*		ARSA (n=46)	ALSA (n=6)		
Opendary In (9/)]	Male	17 (37)	3 (50)		
Gender (n (%))	Female	29 (63)	3 (50)		
	No	43 (93.5)	6 (100)		
Atrial septal defect [n (%)]	Yes	3 (6.5)	0 (0)		
Amountaine [n. (0).)]	No	43 (93.5)	5 (83.3)		
Aneurysm [n (%)]	Yes	3 (6.5)	1 (16.7)		
Kommerell's diverticulum [n (%)]	No	46 (100)	1 (16.7)		
	Yes	0 (0)	5 (83.3)		

*Variables are expressed in numbers and percentages

Table 2. Descriptive statistics for the clinical findings of the variation types by gender								
Variables		Atrial septal defect		Aneurysm		Kommerell's diverticulum		
		No Yes		No Yes		No	Yes	
	Condex In (%)]	Male	16 (94.12)	1 (5.88)	17 (100.00)	0 (0.00)	17 (100.00)	0 (0.00)
ARSA (n=46)	Gender [n (%)]	Female	27 (93.10)	2 (6.90)	26 (89.66)	3 (10.34)	29 (100.00)	0 (0.00)
	p*		1.0		0.286		-	
	Conder In (%)]	Male	3 (100)	0 (0)	3 (100)	0 (0)	1 (33.33)	2(66.67)
ALSA (n=6)	SA (n=6)	Female	3 (100)	0 (0)	2 (66.67)	1 (33.33)	0 (0)	3 (100)
	p*		-		1.0		1.0	

*: Fisher's exact chi-square test

Table 3. Descriptive statistics for the diameter, angle and distance of the variation types

Variables	ARSA (n	=46)	ALSA	(n=6)	
	Mean ± SD	Median (Min-Max)	Mean ± SD	Median (Min-Max)	p*
Diameter	11.7±3.13	11.3 (4-27)	12.55±2.03	12.7 (10.3-16)	0.289
Angle	76.39±25.49	72.05 (36.2-133)	60.27±11.97	62.95 (45.5-76)	0.197
Distance	7.27±4.24	6.2 (0-23.3)	10.9±10.7	7.25 (3.1-32.4)	0.448

SD: standard deviation, Min: minimum, Max: maximum; *: Mann Whitney U test

DOI: 10.37990/medr.1532495

Within the scope of the study, cases were also examined in terms of ASD, aneurysm, Kommerell's diverticulum, dysphagia, dyspnea, atherosclerotic heart disease, and hypertension.

ARSA was observed in a total of 46 (1.9%) of 2365 patients included in the study (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Arrow: aberrant right subclavian artery; ARSA is seen coming out of the aortic arc

Considering Table 1; the gender distribution in the ARSA group was 37% male (17 individuals) and 63% female (29 individuals). Within the scope of our study ALSA was observed in 6 (0.2%) of 2365 patients (Figure 2,3). In the ALSA group, the distribution was equal, with 50% male (3 individuals) and 50% female (3 individuals). Regarding the presence of an ASD, 93.5% of the ARSA group (43 individuals) did not have an ASD, while 6.5% (3 individuals) did (Figure 4). In the ALSA group, none of the individuals (100%) had an ASD.



Figure 2. Arrow: Aberrant left subclavian artery; ALSA is seen coming out of the right aortic arc. The left common carotid artery is shown with a red star



Figure 3. The aberrant left subclavian artery originating from the right aortic arch is indicated by a yellow star



Figure 4. Arrow: Atrial septal defect. In addition to ASD observed at the level of the left and right atrium, passage of contrast material to the right atrium is demonstrated.

When looking at aneurysm occurrence, 93.5% of the ARSA group (43 individuals) had no aneurysm, while 6.5% (3 individuals) had an aneurysm. In the ALSA group, 83.3% (5 individuals) did not have an aneurysm, whereas 16.7% (1 individual) did. For the presence of Kommerell's diverticulum, all individuals in the ARSA group (100%) did not have this condition. In contrast, 16.7% of the ALSA group (1 individual) did not have Kommerell's diverticulum, while 83.3% (5 individuals) did (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Kommerell's diverticulum (*) is seen

The Table 2 presents the distribution of ASD, aneurysm, and Kommerell's diverticulum in ARSA (n=46) and ALSA (n=6) groups, analyzed by gender.

ARSA Group:

ASD: Among males, 94.12% (16 individuals) did not have ASD, while 5.88% (1 individual) did. Among females, 93.10% (27 individuals) were without ASD, while 6.90% (2 individuals) had it. The p-value for gender difference was 1.0, indicating no significant difference.

Aneurysm: All males (100%, 17 individuals) did not have an aneurysm. Among females, 89.66% (26 individuals) were without an aneurysm, while 10.34% (3 individuals) had it. The p-value was 0.286, showing no statistically significant difference between genders.

Kommerell's diverticulum: In the ARSA group, neither males nor females had Kommerell's diverticulum (100%).

We detected the following clinical symptoms in our ARSA cases: Dyspnea 33 (71.7%), hypertension 21 (45.6%), atherosclerotic heart disease 12 (26%), dysphagia lusoria 8 (17.4%).

ALSA Group:

ASD: Both males and females (100%) in the ALSA group did not have ASD.

Aneurysm: Among males, all (100%) did not have an aneurysm. In females, 66.67% (2 individuals) did not have an aneurysm, while 33.33% (1 individual) had it. The p-value was 1.0, indicating no significant gender difference.

Kommerell's diverticulum: In the ALSA group, 33.33% of males (1 individual) did not have Kommerell's diverticulum, while 66.67% (2 individuals) had it. 100% of females (3 individual) had Kommerell's diverticulum. The p-value was 1.0, showing no significant difference between genders.

Other clinical symptoms accompanying ALSA cases were: Dyspnea 3 (50%), hypertension 3 (50%), atherosclerotic heart disease 4 (66.6%). Dysphagia was not observed in the ALSA cases in our study.

The Table 3 shows descriptive statistics for the diameter, angle, and distance of two variation types: ARSA and ALSA.

The mean diameter for ARSA was 11.7 ± 3.13 mm with a median of 11.3 mm (ranging from 4 to 27 mm). For ALSA, the mean diameter was 12.55 ± 2.03 mm with a median of 12.7 mm (ranging from 10.3 to 16 mm). The difference between the two groups was not statistically significant (p=0.289). The mean angle for ARSA was 76.39 ± 25.49 degrees, with a median of 72.05 degrees (ranging from 36.2 to 133 degrees). For ALSA, the mean angle was 60.27 ± 11.97 degrees with a median of 62.95 degrees (ranging from 45.5 to 76 degrees). The difference between the two groups was not statistically significant (p=0.197).

The mean distance for ARSA was 7.27 ± 4.24 mm, with a median of 6.2 mm (ranging from 0 to 23.3 mm). For ALSA, the mean distance was 10.9 ± 10.7 mm, with a median of 7.25 mm (ranging from 3.1 to 32.4 mm). The difference between the two groups was also not statistically (p=0.448).

In all cases of ARSA and ALSA the arteries passed posterior to the esophagus. In none of the cases did the arteries pass between the esophagus and trachea or anterior to the trachea.

DISCUSSION

Within the scope of our study, ARSA was detected in 46 (1.9%) cases and ALSA was detected in 6 (0.2%) cases out of 2365 tomography images. The detected ARSA and ALSA cases were evaluated in terms of ASD, aneurysm, Kommerell's diverticulum, dysphagia, dyspnea, atherosclerotic heart disease, and hypertension. Additionally, diameter, angle and distance measurements were taken in ARSA and ALSA cases.

In a previous study, diameter and angle measurements of the arteria subclavia arteria subclavia were made (11). However, in this study; no information was given about the diameter and angle of ARSA and ALSA. That's why we carried out this study, including ARSA and ALSA measurements.

Additionally, we measured the distances of ARSA cases to the arteria subclavia. In ALSA cases, we measured the distance with the truncus brachiocephalicus. We also evaluated ASD, aneurysm, and Kommerell's diverticulum radiologically. We searched hospital data processing records for dysphagia, dyspnea, atherosclerotic heart disease and hypertension.

Variations of aortic arch diverticula; they are the left aortic arch with ARSA and the RAA with ALSA. The most common congenital anomaly of the aortic arch is the left aortic arch with an ARSA, which occurs in 0.4% to 2.0% of the population (2). Although the incidence of ARSA in our study is slightly higher than the average, it is compatible with the literature. The incidence of ALSA and RAA, which are less common, is 0.05-0.1% (5). The incidence rate we found regarding ALSA is slightly higher than the literature.

Previous study has reported that the co-occurrence of ARSA and aneurysm is rare. Although aneurysm is low in

ARSA, mortality due to rupture (50%) is very high (12,13). In our study, rupture were not observed in ARSA cases. The ARSA case with aneurysm that we found in our study confirms the literature with its low rate.

Although ARSA is asymptomatic in most patients, it causes a type of dysphagia called dysphagia lusoria in 10% of patients due to esophageal compression (14-16). In one study in the literature, the dysphagia rate was stated as 30% (17). The dysphagia rate in our study is compatible with the average of literature studies. The coexistence of ARSA and dyspnea was found to be 23% in the literature. However, the dyspnea rate we found was much higher than the literature. In the same study, it was stated that the rate of coexistence of atherosclerotic heart disease with ARSA was 20-30% (17). The rate of atherosclerotic heart disease in our study is also consistent with the literature. In this study hypertension was found to be (45.6%). However, no study reporting the relationship between ARSA and hypertension has been found in the literature.

In the study of Cina et al. (18), Kommerell's diverticulum was reported in patients with ARSA or ALSA. They have reported that 19% of the asymptomatic Kommerell's diverticulum cases had spontaneous ruptures. Knowing the association of these structures is important to prevent complications. There is literature study showing the association of ARSA with Kommerell's diverticulum at a rate of 15-30% (14). However, in our study, there was no Kommerell's diverticulum or rupture in any of the ARSA cases.

There is literature reporting a 28% association of ARSA with ASD (19). The association of ARSA and ASD we found in our study is quite low.

Studies show that the left subclavian artery connects to the pulmonary artery via the patent ductus arteriosus or ligamentum arteriosum. It has been suggested that it is important to know this variant because it may cause subclavian steal syndrome and vertebrobasilar insufficiency (13).

It was stated that the association of ALSA with RAA and Kommerell's diverticulum is rare (5,20). As an important result in terms of literature, in this study, Kommerell's diverticulum was not seen in any ARSA cases, while it was present in 83% of ALSA cases. Therefore, the relationship of ALSA with Kommerell's diverticulum should be taken into consideration in treatment procedures. Kommerell's diverticulum is thought to be a remnant of the ARSA and ALSA resulting from the developmental anomaly of the fourth dorsal aortic arch during embryological development (21,22). It can be thought that the high prevalence of Kommerell's diverticulum in ALSA cases is due to embryological developmental disorder.

It has been reported in the literature that the association of ALSA and RAA aneurysma is rare (23). The low association of ALSA and aneurysm in our study also confirms the literature.

The association of ALSA with ASD syndrome has been reported in study (24). However, none of the ALSA cases in our study had ASD syndrome (Table 1,2).

In the ALSA cases dysphagia (34%) and dyspnea (25%) has been confirmed in the literature (7). However, in this study ALSA cases, dysphagia was not observed at all, while dyspnea was observed at a rate of 50%. The rate of dyspnea in ALSA cases was found to be twice that of the literature.

In this study, atherosclerotic heart disease (66.6%) and hypertension (50%) were seen with ALSA cases. No study has been found in the literature regarding the clinical findings of atherosclerotic heart disease and hypertension in ALSA cases. We think that the results we found will serve as a resource for future studies.

It has been reported in the literature that isolated left subclavian artery and RAA are rare (0.08%). In the literature, congenital heart diseases associated with isolated left subclavian artery are shown as tetralogy of fallot, rightsided patent ductus arteriosus, large ventricular septal defect, and dextro-transposition of the great arteries (25). None of our cases had isolated left subclavian artery.

The single-center and retrospective study design created a limitation. Multicenter and current studies are needed.

CONCLUSION

Peripheral arterial access is of great importance in ascending and arcus aortic aneurysm surgery and in the surgical treatment of acute aortic dissection. The most commonly used arteries are the right axillary and right subclavian artery. When the lower extremity circulation is stopped by cannulation of these arteries, cerebral perfusion is provided through these arteries. During aortic surgery, the right subclavian artery is cannulated to provide cerebral blood supply. In rare cases, when there is an ARSA, the perfusion given from here will go directly to the descending aortae and will not reach the brain. As a result, brain blood flow will stop. The associated mortality and morbidity rate can be very high. Therefore, this anomaly should be kept in mind while evaluating preoperative tomography images in such cases. And when this anomaly is detected, alternative cannulation sites should be identified and cerebral perfusion should be provided safely. Sometimes the ARSA may be complicated by dissection in the descending region from which the ARSA opens. In these cases, revascularization of the ARSA may be overlooked while treating the dissection of the descending aorta. In this situation, determining the appropriate treatment options is of great importance for the patient to receive a healthy treatment. For this important reasons, we investigated the cases of ARSA.

Our literature review showed that studies investigating variations in the subclavian arteries were not measured the angle, diameter and distance between ARSA and ALSA at the point of exit from the aortic arch. Therefore, we performed the said measurements to provide guidance for the surgical procedures. **Financial disclosures:** The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: This study is a retrospective crosssectional study conducted with the permission of İnönü University Health Sciences Non-Interventional Clinical Research Ethics Committee with decision number 2021/2414.

REFERENCES

- 1. Hanneman K, Newman B, Chan F. Congenital variants and anomalies of the aortic arch. Radio Graphics. 2017;37:32-51.
- 2. Freed K, Low VHS. The aberrant subclavian artery. Am J Roentgenol. 1997;168:481-4.
- Fernando RJ, Altman JM, Çiftçi B, Garner C. Aberrant right subclavian artery: an important variant of the aortic arch. Anesthesiology. 2019;130:615-6.
- 4. Rasmussen DK, Dougherty J. Aortic dissection with vascular abnormalities. J Am Osteopath Assoc. 2011;111:407-9.
- Ota T, Okada K, Takanashi S, et al. Surgical treatment for kommerell's diverticulum. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2006;131:574-8.
- Verma M, Pandey NN, Chandrashekhara SH, et al. Anomalous origin of left subclavian artery from ascending aorta in a right aortic arch: a case report with review of literature. J Card Surg. 2021;36:1130-3.
- Tyczynski P, Michalowska I, Wolny R, et al. Left aberrant subclavian artery. Systematic study in adult patients. Int J Cardiol. 2017;240:183-6.
- Chowdhury Y, Shaikh SA, Salman A, et al. Aberrant right subclavian artery and stanford type b aortic dissection. Am J Med Case Rep. 2020;8:247-9.
- Kasahara H, Shin H, Inoue Y. Acute aortic dissection with an aberrant right subclavian artery resulting in rapid false lumen enlargement: a case report. Gen Thorac Cardiovasc Surg Cases. 2023;2:4.
- 10. Battaloglu B, Secici S, Colak C, et al. Aberrant right subclavian artery and axillary artery cannulation in type a aortic dissection repair. Ann Thorac Surg. 2013;96:e1-2.
- Özen KE, Çiçekçibaşı AE, Aydoğdu D. Morphologic and morphometric analysis of the subclavian artery and the main branches of the subclavian artery by multidetector computerized tomography (MDCT). Izmir Kâtip Çelebi University Faculty of Health Sciences Journal. 2023;8:101-10.

- 12. Kiernan PD, Dearani J, Byrne WD, et al. Aneurysm of an aberrant right subclavian artery: case report and review of the literature. Mayo Clin Proc. 1993;68:468-74.
- 13. Ferrero E, Ferri M, Viazzo A, et al. Aneurysm of the aberrant right subclavian artery: surgical and hybrid repair of two cases in a single center. Ann Vasc Surg. 2011;25:839.e5-839.e8.39E9.
- 14. Robb CL, Bhalla S, Raptis CA. Subclavian artery: anatomic review and imaging evaluation of abnormalities. Radiographics. 2022;42:2149-65.
- 15. Deck M, Grocott HP, Yamashita MY. Aberrant right subclavian artery: an impediment to transesophageal echocardiography. Can J Anaesth. 2021;68:423-4.
- 16. Büyükkaya A, Büyükkaya R, Özaydın İ, et al. Rarely cause of disphagia: aberrant insertion of the right subclavian artery. Konuralp Medical Journal. 2009;1:22-4.
- 17. Krupinski M, Irzyk M, Moczulski Z, et al. CT evaluation of aberrant right subclavian artery: anatomy and clinical implications. Cardiol Young. 2019;29:128-32.
- Cina CS, Althani H, Pasenau J, Abouzahr L. Kommerell's diverticulum and right-sided aortic arch: a cohort study and review of the literature. J Vasc Surg. 2004;39:131-9.
- 19. Inam H, Sohail AA, Asif N, Ahmad W. Aberrant right subclavian artery with atrial septal defect: simultaneous repair via median sternotomy. Int J Surg Case Rep. 2020;67:30-3.
- van Rosendael PJ, Stöger JL, Kiès P, et al. The Clinical spectrum of Kommerell's diverticulum in adults with a rightsided aortic arch: a case series and literature overview. J Cardiovasc Dev Dis. 2021;8:25.
- 21. Morishita A,Tomioka H, Katahira S, et al. Surgical treatment for Kommerell's diverticulum associated with a rightsided aortic arch and an aberrant left subclavian artery: endovascular or hybrid. Ann Vasc Dis. 2019;12:228-32.
- 22. Lee MW, Kim GH. Kommerell's diverticulum: a rare cause of esophageal subepithelial lesion. Korean J Intern Med. 2019;34:1392-3.
- 23. Tsukube T, Ataka K, Sakata M, et al. Surgical treatment of an aneurysm in the right aortic arch with aberrant left subclavian artery. Ann Thorac Surg. 2001;71:1710-1.
- 24. Ha GJ, Sung MJ, Lee YS, et al. A case of right sided aortic arch combined with atrial septal defect. J Cardiovasc Ultrasound. 201;19:32-4.
- 25. Alhuzaimi AN, Aldawsari KA, AlAhmadi M. Isolated left subclavian artery with right aortic arch: case report and literature review of 50 cases. Gen Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2021;69:885-9.





Using Deep Learning Algorithms to Predict Dental Implant Brands from Panoramic Radiographs

Ismail Tasdemir¹, OVeysel Icen², Turkay Kolus³

¹Karamanoğlu Mehmetbey University, Ahmet Keleşoğlu Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Periodontolgy, Karaman, Türkiye
²Karamanoğlu Mehmetbey University, Ahmet Keleşoğlu Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Oral and Maxillofaciall Surgery, Karaman, Türkiye
³Karamanoğlu Mehmetbey University, Ahmet Keleşoğlu Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Restorative Dentistry, Karaman, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.

Abstract

Aim: The aim of this study is to predict dental implant brands from panoramic radiographs using deep learning algorithms. **Material and Method:** Panoramic radiographs of patients previously undergoing dental implant procedures were retrospectively screened. Radiographs were grouped into three different implant brands, with a minimum of 250 dental implants from each brand. The obtained radiographs were divided into three groups: training, validation, and test sets, with an equal distribution of implant brands in each group. 70% of the implants were used for training, 20% for validation, and 10% for the test dataset. Trained models were tested on the previously separated test set that was not used in the deep learning model training to determine the implant brand.

Results: A total of 882 implants were evaluated in 220 panoramic radiographs. The study found that the accuracy of the implants tested in the deep learning model was 75% and the sensitivity was 78.26%. The accuracy of the model was 94.73%. The F1 score, which is a parameter frequently used in comparing artificial intelligence models with each other, was found to be 85.71%.

Conclusion: The results of this study show that implants can be identified from panoramic radiographic images using deep learning algorithms. However, to use this system routinely in clinical practice, it is necessary to create libraries by conducting studies that include many different implant systems and a large number of images.

Keywords: Deep learning, dental implant, artificial intelligence

INTRODUCTION

Dental implants began to be used in the 1980s for the treatment of missing teeth and are now frequently used worldwide for patients with tooth loss (1). Implants, which play a significant role in the treatment of dental deficiencies, are used both in fixed prosthetic restorations and as support for removable prostheses, significantly improving patients' quality of life (2,3). Today, implant treatment has become one of the classical treatment methods for both practitioners and patients (4). Although implants have been used in clinical applications successfully for years, their complications, such as peri-implantitis and peri-implant mucositis in implants and various types of complications in implant-supported prostheses have been frequently reported (5,6). It has been reported that

the technical complication rate in dental implants used for more than 5 years varies between 10% and 15% (7). When implants used for 10 years are evaluated, this rate varies between 25% and 32% (8). Additional prosthetic, periodontal, or surgical treatments are needed to resolve these issues. While performing these treatments, detailed information about the previously applied implant, including the implant's brand, length, diameter, and the type of abutment used, may be required. If the patient has previously been treated at the same clinic, this information can be easily obtained from the patient's medical records. However, if the treatment was performed at another clinic and the patient cannot communicate with the previously treated clinic, obtaining this information could be difficult or impossible (9). Some patients experiencing problems

CITATION

Tasdemir I, Icen V, Kolus T. Using Deep Learning Algorithms to Predict Dental Implant Brands from Panoramic Radiographs. Med Records. 2025;7(1):8-11. DOI:1037990/medr.1524857

Received: 30.07.2024 Accepted: 30.09.2024 Published: 24.12.2024 Corresponding Author: Ismail Tasdemir, Karamanoğlu Mehmetbey University, Ahmet Keleşoğlu Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Periodontolgy, Karaman, Türkiye E-mail: drismailtasdemir@gmail.com with their implants may seek treatment at other clinics due to various reasons, such as moving to a different city or country or the closure of the clinics where they were previously treated. In these cases, dentists try to identify the implants previously applied to the patient by asking the patient or evaluating radiographs with limited data. Specifically, identifying the brand of the implant is necessary to perform additional treatments. Despite the long history of dental implant systems, there are relatively few studies and techniques available for identifying the specific systems used (10). With thousands of implant brands now available and widely applied by practitioners, determining the brand of an implant in a patient has become increasingly challenging. This highlights the need for specialized programs or systems to aid in identification (9).

Deep learning technology has been applied in various fields today, bringing significant conveniences in many areas. In deep learning technology, various methods are used in alignment with the task (11). In medicine, deep learning has been utilized in areas such as medical diagnosis, statistics, and human biology (12,13). As one of the artificial intelligence technologies, the deep learning method is suitable for tasks such as prediction, object detection, classification, and other similar tasks. In dentistry, issues such as the diagnosis of dental diseases using radiographic images, treatment predictions, classification, statistical analysis of research data, and other topics have been addressed using the deep learning method (9,14-16). Notably, there has been an increase in studies focused on disease diagnosis using deep learning, with deep learningbased object detection algorithms commonly used for this task (17,18). The capability of diagnostic systems using deep learning is currently close to or superior to that of humans (19). The use of these systems will help reduce the risk of errors by preventing dentists from overlooking various diseases and pathologies. If this system can also be applied to identify implant brands using radiographic images, it will assist both dentists and patients in resolving complications and problems related to implants. In this study, we aim to predict dental implant brands from panoramic radiographs using deep learning algorithms.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Ethical approval for this study was obtained from the Medical Research Ethics Committee of Karamanoğlu

Mehmetbey University Medical Faculty (Decision Number: 01-2024/14). The panoramic radiographs used in our study were obtained from the periodontology and oral and maxillofacial surgery departments at the Ahmet Keleşoğlu Faculty of Dentistry, Karamanoğlu Mehmetbey University, where implants had previously been applied, and control radiographs that met the criteria were available. These images were acquired using two different panoramic radiography devices, Myray 3D Ready (Cefla, Imola, Italy) and Vatech PCH-2500 (Vatech, Hwaseong, South Korea), following the manufacturer's instructions. Radiographs meeting the criteria from three different implant brands were grouped. Portions of the radiographic images containing patient information were cropped out. The inclusion criteria for the radiographs were "individuals over 18 years old," "having Medentica, Osstem, or Nucleoss brand implants placed," and "not having radiographic imaging errors." The resolution of the radiographs ranged from 2868x1504 to 2505x1515. These radiographs contained a total of 882 implants. The marking process to indicate the brand and boundaries of the implants in the radiographs was carried out using Roboflow software (Figure 1). The resolution of these radiographs is relatively high for artificial intelligence training. To accelerate the AI training process and increase success, all implants were cropped to stay within the image's long edge and then resized to a resolution of 640x640. Approximately 70% of the 220 radiographs were allocated for training, 20% for validation, and 10% for testing. The exact distribution of the radiographs and implants is provided in Table 1. No image preprocessing procedures other than resizing were applied to the radiographs. The prepared dataset was trained using the Roboflow 3.0 Instance Segmentation (Fast) AI model.



Figure 1. Labeling the implants on the radiograph as Medentica and marking the region of interest (ROI) of the implants

Table 1. Distribution of 220 radiographs and the implants in these radiographs according to brands and artificial intelligence training datasets									
		Radiogr	aphs			Implants			
Implant brands	Training	Validation	Test	Total	Training	Validation	Test	Total	
Medentica	51	18	7	76	192	65	26	283	
Osstem	55	17	8	80	215	85	26	326	
Nucleoss	48	9	7	64	214	40	19	273	
Total	154	44	22	220	621	190	71	882	

RESULTS

The success of the trained artificial intelligence model in identifying the implant brand was tested on the radiographs allocated for the test dataset (Figure 2). Correctly predicting the implant brand was considered a true positive (TP),

incorrectly predicting the implant brand was considered a false positive (FP), and making no inference about the implant was considered a false negative (FN). Using these parameters, accuracy, sensitivity, precision, and the F1 score (the harmonic mean of precision and sensitivity) were calculated.



Figure 2. Metrics in the artificial intelligence training process

Of the total of 882 implants, 621 were used for training, 190 for validation, and 71 for testing. The 71 implants we tested were present on 22 radiographs. The brands of 54 of the 71 implants were correctly predicted (TP), 3 were incorrectly predicted (FP), and no implant brand was predicted for 15 (FN). Based on this data, the model's accuracy was found to be 75%, and its sensitivity was 78.26%. The precision of the model was relatively high at 94.73%. The F1 score, a parameter frequently used for comparing AI models, was 85.71%.

DISCUSSION

In recent years, with the development of artificial intelligence, deep learning technologies have begun to be used in many areas within the healthcare field (20). Specifically, deep learning-based neural networks have been successfully employed in dental applications, including cephalometric film analysis, segmentation of anatomical structures, detection and classification of various pathological formations, and detection of dental caries (21). Similarly, deep learning algorithms have been used in the field of implantology to identify the type and brand of implants since 2020 and most studies have demonstrated accuracy and reliability performance above 70% (10,20,22).

Images from periapical radiographs, panoramic radiographs, and computed tomography can be used to identify dental implants from radiographic images. It is thought that the deep learning algorithm identifies implants based on their unique features, such as shape, thread structure, and design, as well as the specific design of the implants in the apical third. The quality of training images is also important for the detailed recognition of implants in this manner (9). Most studies have used panoramic radiographic images (23). The advantage of using panoramic radiographs is that they are standardized to a certain level, independent of the patient, and the shapes of the implants in the images are also standardized. The drawback is that implants may not be visible when overlapping anatomical structures like the maxillary sinus floor, or when they are too short or overly curved, which can reduce image clarity. In such cases, this can lead to misperceptions and incorrect interpretations.

In our study, we also utilized panoramic radiograph records. In previous studies, before feeding the images into deep learning algorithms, the portions of the images containing implants were cropped in various ways. While one study cropped only the area surrounding the implant, in all other studies, rectangular or square areas encompassing the entire implant were cropped from the images (23,24). It has been reported that when the cropped area is not a standard shape, such as a square or rectangle, the quality of the dataset decreases (23). Therefore, in our study, we cropped rectangular areas that included the entire implants and fed these into the deep learning algorithms.

A review of studies utilizing deep learning algorithms to identify implant types and brands shows a reported minimum accuracy rate of 70%, demonstrating that deep learning-based AI technology has potential as a tool to assist in clinical decision-making (23). In our study, we achieved an accuracy rate of 75% when analyzing three different implant brands.

In our study, the F1 score was found to be 85.71%. The F1 score is a performance metric commonly used in deep learning, particularly for classification tasks and object detection to measure a model's accuracy. It provides a balance between precision and recall, which are two important aspects of classification performance (25).

CBCT images are frequently used in the field of dental implantology because they have less distortion and can obtain three-dimensional images with CBCT, while twodimensional images can be displayed in panoramic radiographs (26). However, there are not many studies using deep learning and CBCT images in predicting implant brands (23). Therefore, it would be useful to conduct future studies using CBCT images along with panoramic radiographs in the detection of implant brands using deep learning.

CONCLUSION

Although studies on identifying implant brands from panoramic radiographs using deep learning algorithms are still very new and limited, both our study and previous studies have demonstrated high levels of accuracy and reliability. To increase the learning performance and to apply this system more widely in clinical practice, higher quality and more implant images and images of many different types and brands of implants will be needed in future studies.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: Commitee of Karamanoğlu Mehmetbey University Medical Faculty (Approval Number: 01-2024/14).

REFERENCES

- 1. Shulman L, Driskell T. Dental implants: a historical perspective. Implants in dentistry Philadelphia: WB Saunders. 1997:6.
- Boven G, Raghoebar G, Vissink A, Meijer H. Improving masticatory performance, bite force, nutritional state and patient's satisfaction with implant overdentures: a systematic review of the literature. J Oral Rehabil. 2015;42:220-33.
- 3. Kanehira Y, Arai K, Kanehira T, et al. Oral health-related quality of life in patients with implant treatment. J Adv Prosthodont. 2017;9:476-81.
- Coelho PG, Granjeiro JM, Romanos GE, et al. Basic research methods and current trends of dental implant surfaces. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater. 2009;88:579-96.
- Hashim D, Cionca N, Combescure C, Mombelli A. The diagnosis of peri-implantitis: a systematic review on the predictive value of bleeding on probing. Clin Oral Implants Res. 2018;29:276-93.
- 6. Schwarz F, Derks J, Monje A, Wang HL. Peri-implantitis. J Clin Periodontol. 2018;45:S246-66.
- 7. Howe M-S, Keys W, Richards D. Long-term (10-year) dental implant survival: a systematic review and sensitivity meta-analysis. Journal of dentistry. 2019;84:9-21.
- 8. Alghamdi HS, Jansen JA. The development and future of dental implants. Dent Mater J. 2020;39:167-72.
- 9. Takahashi T, Nozaki K, Gonda T, et al. Identification of dental implants using deep learning—pilot study. Int J Implant Dent. 2020;6:53.
- 10. Sukegawa S, Yoshii K, Hara T, et al. Deep neural networks

for dental implant system classification. Biomolecules. 2020;10:984.

- 11. Liao SM. Ethics of Artificial intelligence. In: Taylor j, Yudkowsky E, LaVictoire P, Critch A. Alignment for advanced machine learning systems . New York: Oxford University Press. 2016:342-82.
- 12. Hamet P, Tremblay J. Artificial intelligence in medicine. Metabolism. 2017;69:S36-40.
- 13. Holzinger A, Langs G, Denk H, et al. Causability and explainability of artificial intelligence in medicine. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Data Min Knowl Discov. 2019;9:e1312.
- 14. Schwendicke Fa, Samek W, Krois J. Artificial intelligence in dentistry: chances and challenges. J Dent Res. 2020;99:769-74.
- 15. Yamaguchi S, Lee C, Karaer O, et al. Predicting the debonding of CAD/CAM composite resin crowns with Al. J Dent Res. 2019;98:1234-8.
- Takahashi T, Nozaki K, Gonda T, Ikebe K. A system for designing removable partial dentures using artificial intelligence. Part 1. Classification of partially edentulous arches using a convolutional neural network. J Prosthodont Res. 2021;65:115-8.
- 17. Hwang J-J, Jung Y-H, Cho B-H, Heo M-S. An overview of deep learning in the field of dentistry. Imaging Sci Dent. 2019;49:1-7.
- 18. Szolovits P, Patil RS, Schwartz WB. Artificial intelligence in medical diagnosis. Ann Intern Med. 1988;108:80-7.
- 19. Patel BN, Rosenberg L, Willcox G, et al. Human-machine partnership with artificial intelligence for chest radiograph diagnosis. NPJ Digit Med. 2019;2:111. Erratum in: NPJ Digit Med. 2019;2:129.
- Park W, Schwendicke F, Krois J, et al. Identification of dental implant systems using a large-scale multicenter data set. J Dent Res. 2023;102:727-33.
- 21. Lee JH, Kim DH, Jeong SN. Diagnosis of cystic lesions using panoramic and cone beam computed tomographic images based on deep learning neural network. Oral Dis. 2020;26:152-8.
- 22. Kurtulus IL, Lubbad M, Yilmaz OMD, et al. A robust deep learning model for the classification of dental implant brands. J Stomatol Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2024:101818.
- 23. Chaurasia A, Namachivayam A, Koca-Ünsal RB, Lee J-H. Deep-learning performance in identifying and classifying dental implant systems from dental imaging: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Periodontal Implant Sci. 2024;54:3-12.
- 24. Hadj Saïd M, Le Roux M-K, Catherine J-H, Lan R. Development of an artificial intelligence model to identify a dental implant from a radiograph. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants. 2020;35:1077-82.
- 25. Alakus TB, Turkoglu I. Comparison of deep learning approaches to predict COVID-19 infection. Chaos Solitons Fractals. 2020;140:110120.
- 26. Shahbazian M, Vandewoude C, Wyatt J, Jacobs R. Comparative assessment of panoramic radiography and CBCT imaging for radiodiagnostics in the posterior maxilla. Clin Oral Investig. 2014;18:293-300.

MEDICAL RECORDS-International Medical Journal

Research Article



Evaluation of the Relationship Between Vitamin D Deficiency and Epicondylitis

Buminhan Seferoglu, Nurmuhammet Tas

Erzurum City Hospital, Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Erzurum, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.



Abstract

Aim: Though there is strong evidence connecting vitamin D deficiency to several health problems, such as diabetes mellitus, infections, autoimmune and endocrine diseases, cancer, and increased cardiovascular mortality and morbidity, studies examining the connection between vitamin D deficiency and epicondylitis are rare. The purpose of this study was to see if low vitamin D levels and epicondylitis were linked.

Material and Method: A total of 410 patients presented with the complaint of elbow pain and whose 25-hydroxycholecalciferol (25(OH) D) levels were evaluated. The files of 205 patients diagnosed with medial or lateral epicondylitis by physical examination and 205 controls not considered to have medial or lateral epicondylitis were reviewed retrospectively. Vitamin D levels were measured using 25(OH)D levels.

Results: Vitamin D levels were considerably lower (p<.001) in the epicondylitis group.

Conclusion: It is unclear precisely what causes epicondylitis, but the fact that our study's participants had much lower vitamin D levels raises the possibility that low vitamin D is one of the causes. More research is needed to understand how vitamin D levels may contribute to the etiology of epicondylitis in general.

Keywords: Elbow tendinopathy, Vitamin D deficiency, pain

INTRODUCTION

Elbow pain is most commonly caused by epicondylitis (1). Epicondylitis comes in two varieties: lateral epicondylitis, also referred to as tennis elbow, and medial epicondylitis, also known as golfer's elbow. It is most common between the ages of 40 and 60. It rarely occurs before the age of 30. It is more prevalent in women than in men. Medial epicondylitis is less common and has a milder course than lateral epicondylitis. In the general population, medial epicondylitis is more common in males (0.3-0.6%) and females (0.3-1.1%), but lateral epicondylitis is more common in males (1.1-4.0%). The annual incidence is estimated to be 0.3–1.1 and 0.1 per 100 individuals for lateral and medial epicondylitis, respectively (2). Epicondylitis is rarely bilateral and is more common in the dominant extremity (3).

Tennis elbow is thought to be caused by lesions at the lateral epicondyle of the humerus of the extensor carpi radialis brevis tendon, whereas golfer's elbow is thought to be caused by musculotendinous lesions at the medial epicondyle of the humerus of the common flexor tendon. Although it has the suffix -itis in its name, local inflammation is not frequently observed (1). Age is an essential factor in the formation of epicondylitis, and changes in the collagen content in the enthesis region decrease the number of cells and increase adipose tissue with aging, creating a predisposition. A history of overuse and repetitive and demanding activities increases the risk of developing epicondylitis (4).

A physical examination and history are used to diagnose epicondylitis. Radiologic and electrodiagnostic tests may be performed to exclude other possible diagnoses. Epicondylitis usually has an insidious and spontaneous

CITATION

Seferoglu B, Tas N. Evaluation of the Relationship Between Vitamin D Deficiency and Epicondylitis. Med Records. 2025;7(1):12-5. DOI:1037990/medr.1510250

Received: 04.07.2024 Accepted: 13.11.2024 Published: 24.12.2024 Corresponding Author: Buminhan Seferoglu, Erzurum City Hospital, Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Erzurum, Türkiye E-mail: bsefer@gmail.com onset. Pain is localized to the medial and lateral epicondyles but may radiate upward or downward. On physical examination, there is tenderness with pressure on the epicondyles. There is usually no swelling, and the elbow range of motion is normal (4). In lateral epicondylitis, an increase in pain is observed with resistant wrist extension or forearm supination. In medial epicondylitis, an increase in pain is observed with resistant wrist flexion or forearm pronation.

Calciferol, another name for vitamin D, is a fat-soluble vitamin. It comes in D2 and D3 variants. While vitamin D2 (ergocalciferol) is gained through diet, vitamin D3 (cholecalciferol) can also be generated in the skin by ultraviolet-B (UV-B) radiation from 7-dehydrocholesterol (5). Vitamins D2 and D3 are hydroxylated in the liver to form 25-hydroxycholecalciferol (25(OH)D). 25(OH)D is the result of the hydroxylation of vitamins D2 and D3 in the liver. The active form of vitamin D, 1.25-dihydroxycholecalciferol (1.25(OH)2D), is ultimately produced by the kidneys by hydroxylation (6). The level of 25(OH)D, which is the total of the amounts of 25(OH)D2 and 25(OH)D3, often indicates the amount of vitamin D present (7). Vitamin D is necessary for the health of the musculoskeletal system as well as the metabolism of calcium and phosphorus. Research has also linked vitamin D deficiency and insufficiency to a host of health issues, such as diabetes mellitus, autoimmune diseases, infections, cancer, endocrine diseases, and elevated cardiovascular mortality and morbidity (8-11). Additionally, studies have demonstrated vitamin D's neuroprotective, anti-inflammatory, and anti-proliferative properties (12). In this study, we looked into the potential link between vitamin D deficiency and epicondylitis.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Research and Publication Ethics

The levels of 25(OH)D in a total of 410 patients with elbow pain, including 205 patients with medial or lateral epicondylitis by physical examination and 205 controls who were not considered to have medial or lateral epicondylitis, were retrospectively analyzed between January 2021 and November 2022 with the approval of Erzurum City Hospital Ethics Committee (decision no. 18-173 dated November 24, 2022). The exclusion criteria were trauma history, neoplasia, enfectious and rheumatological diseases.

Measurement of the Level of vitamin D

Every patient's venous blood was tested for vitamin D, and the results were assessed. Using the Atellica IM Analyzer, a total of 25(OH)D in human serum and plasma was quantitatively measured. Under 30 ng/ml of 25(OH)D was regarded as a vitamin D deficiency.

Statistical Analysis

IBM SPSS 26 was utilized for the analysis of the data. Analyses were first conducted to ascertain the distribution of normalcy. As a result, it was discovered that the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test findings were p<.05. These numbers explain the normal distribution of the data. Consequently, one of the parametric tests, the independent group T-test, was applied in the analysis. The statistical analysis of the descriptive data employed the values of the highest, lowest, median, mean, and standard deviation. The chi-square test was employed to analyze independent qualitative data.

RESULTS

A total of 205 patients had lateral or medial epicondylitis. There were 143 female patients and 62 male patients. The mean vitamin D level was 16.5 ± 9.9 (2.92-69.70), and the mean age was 46.1 ± 10 years. The results for 20 patients were normal. The vitamin D levels of 185 patients were low. Two hundred-five did not have lateral epicondylitis or medial epicondylitis. There were 140 females and 65 males among them. 49.3 ± 16.5 years was the mean age, and 21.3 ± 11.9 (6.1-72.3) was the mean level of vitamin D. 38 patients had normal results. It was found that 167 people had a deficit of vitamin D. Table 1 displays each patient's sociodemographic traits and 25(OH)D levels.

Table 1. Descriptive data on gender, age, 25(OH)D* vitamin levels and 25(OH)D* vitamin grades of the groups													
		Gender		Age		25(OH)D* vitamin level			25(OH)D* vitamin grade				
Group	N	Women	Men	Mean	Median	SD	Min	Мах	Mean	Median	SD	<30	>30
Epicondylitis (+)	205	143	62	46.11	45.00	10.08	16	76	16.50	13.70	9.99	185	20
Epicondylitis (-)	205	140	65	49.30	50.00	16.50	17	88	21.30	17.90	11.90	167	38
*25(OH)D: 25-hydroxycholecalciferol													

Compared to the epicondylitis (-) group, the epicondylitis (+) group's patient age was considerably (p=.019) lower. There was no significant difference observed in the gender distribution between the epicondylitis (+) and epicondylitis (-) groups (p=.831). It was found that the vitamin D levels in patients with epicondylitis (X=16.54,

SD=9.99) were lower than in individuals without epicondylitis (X=21.34, SD=11.90). An independent sample t-test was applied to determine whether the difference was significant. Consequently, patients with epicondylitis had considerably decreased vitamin D levels [t (408)=-4.421, p<.001] (Table 2).

Table 2. 25(OH)D* vitamin levels of the groups							
25(OH)D* vitamin level	Group	Ν	Mean	SD	t	р	
	Epicondylitis (+)	205	16.5498	9.99491	4 401	<.001	
	Epicondylitis (-)	205	21.3495	11.90550	-4.421		
*25(OH)D: 25-hydroxycholecalciferol							

DISCUSSION

Our investigation explored the possible connection between low serum vitamin D levels and epicondylitis. Furthermore, it was discovered that up to 85.7% of people (n=347) had vitamin D deficiency. According to studies, Türkiye and other developing nations have significant rates of vitamin D deficiency (13,14). There was no noticeable variation in gender distribution across the groups in our investigation. The group with epicondylitis had a substantial gender difference that favored the females. As in our study, epicondylitis has been reported in the literature as more common in females (2). Moreover, research indicates that vitamin D deficiency is more common in women than in men (13). To ensure that the study's findings are unaffected, it is crucial that there be no discernible variation in the groups' gender distribution.

Insufficient sun exposure, poor dietary intake, or absorption issues can all lead to vitamin D deficiency. It is important to test the level of 25(OH)D, which comprises both endogenous and dietary vitamin D and has a halflife of two to three weeks for vitamin D in the individual. The active biological form of 1.25(OH)2D is unsuitable for measurement. Because its circulating levels are 1000 times lower than 25(OH)D, and its half-life is 4-6 hours. Studies have been conducted to determine the normal range for 25(OH)D levels as well as to define vitamin D insufficiency and deficiency. These studies have led to the definition of vitamin D deficiency, which is now known as vitamin D insufficiency if the 25(OH)D level is between 21 and 29 ng/mL, normal if it is above 30 ng/mL (desired range: 30 to 60 ng/mL), and vitamin D intoxication if it is above 150 ng/mL (15,16).

The etiopathology of epicondylitis is not known precisely. Histologic investigations have not shown the presence of inflammatory cells in the tissue, such as neutrophils, lymphocytes, or macrophages. Histopathologic findings such as microfractures, periostitis, fibrinoid degeneration, immature collagen tissue, hyaline degeneration, radiohumeral joint disease, radial nerve entrapment, and annular ligament lesions have been reported in a few chronic cases. Ischemic stress may be significant in the etiology because the tenoperiosteal junction and the surrounding tendon are relatively avascular. These findings have been considered to be lateral elbow tendinosis by researchers. The term tendinosis describes a degenerative process characterized by vascular hyperplasia of fibroblasts and the dense presence of immature collagen in the area. The terms tendinosis or tendinopathy indicate the absence of chemical inflammation, but the pathology is painful.

In most cases, the cause of pain is musculotendinous lesions that develop at or around the insertion site of the common extensor tendon to the lateral epicondyle (4).

Although water makes up 70% of typical tendon tissue, type I collagen accounts for most of the dry weight (17,18). The primary component of the extracellular matrix is type I collagen; this protein's quality and quantity significantly impact the mechanical and structural characteristics of tendon tissue (17). Tenocytes regulate type I collagen to preserve the integrity of the extracellular matrix. In contrast, tenoblasts produce extracellular matrix components, particularly type I collagen (17,19). The impact of vitamin D on tenocytes was examined by Min et al. (20). They demonstrated that in tenocytes treated with dexamethasone, the expression of tenomodulin, tenascin, type I, and type III collagen genes dropped. However, when vitamin D was administered, the expression of tenomodulin and type I collagen was restored to normal, and the quantity of reactive oxygen species decreased. In conclusion, they reported that vitamin D benefits tendons, bones, and muscles. According to Chen et al., inhibiting tumor necrosis factor-a (TNF-a) may protect against tendon degeneration (21). Vitamin D has been shown to reduce inflammation at the cellular level with its effects on macrophages, TNF- α , and interleukin and to have a protective effect on cell functions (8). Because of its interaction with muscle receptors, vitamin D has been shown to improve muscle growth and strength through protein synthesis. However, a loss in muscle tone and strength has been linked to vitamin D deficiency (22). In addition, another study reported low vitamin D levels in patients with lateral epicondylitis, similar to our study (23).

There are several restrictions on our investigation. The study's data were retrospectively gathered from file records. Our findings could have been impacted by the fact that each patient's vitamin D level was not assessed at the same time or season. A low vitamin D level may also be linked to several musculoskeletal issues. In patients with epicondylitis, the complaint change after vitamin D replacement could not be determined. Therefore, prospective studies are needed to determine the improvement in complaints after vitamin D replacement in these patients.

CONCLUSION

Patients with epicondylitis had significantly low vitamin D levels, suggesting a link between low vitamin D levels and epicondylitis. We believe this association may also apply to tendons in other regions of the musculoskeletal system, not just the epicondylitis that was the subject of our investigation. The fact that some people with epicondylitis have normal vitamin D levels indicates that various elements, including anatomical, biomechanical, and occupational components, are involved in the genesis of the disease and that vitamin D deficiency is neither the sole nor the most significant cause. More research will shed light on the connection between epicondylitis and vitamin D.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: The necessary permissions for this study were obtained from the Erzurum City Hospital Clinical Research Ethics Committee on November 24, 2022, with the decision numbered 2022/18-173.

REFERENCES

- Akgün K, Palamar D. Üst ekstremite ağrıları. In: Oğuz H, Çakırbay H, Yanık B, eds. Tıbbi Rehabilitasyon. 3rd edition, İstanbul: Nobel Tıp Kitabevleri; 2015:913-29.
- Shiri R, Viikari-Juntura E. Lateral and medial epicondylitis: role of occupational factors. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2011;25:43-57.
- Sivrioğlu K. Dirsek Ağrısı. In: Özcan O, İrdesel J, Sivrioğlu K, eds. Kas İskelet Sistemi Ağrıları. Bursa: Nobel & Güneş Tıp Kitabevi; 2005:258-72.
- 4. Birtane M. Bel Ağrısı Nedenleri ve Muayenesi. In: Beyazova M, Kutsal YG, eds. Fiziksel Tıp ve Rehabilitasyon. 3rd edition, Ankara: Güneş Tıp Kitabevleri; 2016:1637-48.
- 5. Kennel KA, Drake MT, Hurley DL. Vitamin D deficiency in adults: when to test and how to treat. Mayo Clinic Proc. 2010:85:752-7.
- Pludowski P, Holick MF, Grant WB, et al. Vitamin D supplementation guidelines. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 2018;175:125-35.
- Giustina A, Adler RA, Binkley N, et al. Controversies in Vitamin D: Summary Statement From an International Conference. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2019;104:234-40.
- 8. Holick MF. Vitamin D deficiency. N Eng J Med. 2007;357:266-81.
- Hyppönen E, Läärä E, Reunanen A, et al. Intake of vitamin D and risk of type 1 diabetes: a birth-cohort study. Lancet. 2001;358:1500-3.

- 10. Giovannucci E, Liu Y, Hollis BW, Rimm EB. 25-hydroxyvitamin D and risk of myocardial infarction in men: a prospective study. Arch Intern Med. 2008;168:1174-80.
- Holick MF. Vitamin D: importance in the prevention of cancers, type 1 diabetes, heart disease, and osteoporosis. Am J Clin Nutr. 2004;79:362-71. Erratum in: Am J Clin Nutr. 2004;79:890.
- 12. Chen S, Glenn DJ, Ni W, et al. Expression of the vitamin D receptor is increased in the hypertrophic heart. Hypertension. 2008;52:1106-12.
- 13. Erkal MZ, Wilde J, Bilgin Y, et al. High prevalence of vitamin D deficiency, secondary hyperparathyroidism and generalized bone pain in Turkish immigrants in Germany: identification of risk factors. Osteoporos Int. 2006;17:1133-40.
- 14. Arabi A, El Rassi R, El-Hajj Fuleihan G. Hypovitaminosis D in developing countries-prevalence, risk factors and outcomes. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2010;6:550-61.
- 15. Wacker M, Holick MF. Vitamin D-Effects on skeletal and extraskeletal health and the need for supplementation. Nutrients. 2013;5:111-48.
- Holick MF, Binkley NC, Bischoff-Ferrari HA, et al. Evaluation, treatment, and prevention of vitamin D deficiency: an Endocrine Society clinical practice guideline. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2011;96:1911-30.
- Thankam FG, Dilisio MF, Gross RM, Agrawal DK. Collagen I: A kingpin for rotator cuff tendon pathology. Am J Transl Res. 2018;10:3291-309. Erratum in: J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2011;96:3908.
- Thankam FG, Dilisio MF, Agrawal DK. Immunobiological factors aggravating the fatty infiltration on tendons and muscles in rotator cuff lesions. Mol Cell Biochem. 2016;417:17-33.
- 19. Quigley AS, Bancelin S, Deska-Gauthier D, et al. In tendons, differing physiological requirements lead to functionally distinct nanostructures. Sci Rep. 2018;8:4409.
- 20. Min K, Lee JM, Kim MJ, et al. Restoration of cellular proliferation and characteristics of human tenocytes by vitamin D. J Orthop Res. 2019;37:2241-8.
- 21. Chen K, Li P, Zhao H, et al. Effects of tumor necrosis factor inhibitor on stress-shielded tendons. Orthopedics. 2017;40:49-55.
- 22. Plotnikoff GA, Quigley JM. Prevalence of severe hypovitaminosis D in patients with persistent, nonspesific musculoskeletal pain. Mayo Clin Pro. 2003;78:1463-70.
- 23. Yaka H, Başbuğ V, Tekin AA, Özer M. Evaluation of the relationship between lateral epicondylitis and Vitamin D. J Dis Relat Surg. 2022;33:414-8.





Does Increased Cortical Screw Adhesion on the Far Cortex Result in Higher Resistance against Pull-Out?

Ortac Guran¹, DBatuhan Gencer²

¹Sancaktepe Şehit Prof Dr İlhan Varank Training and Research Hospital, Department of Orthopaedics and Traumatology, İstanbul, Türkiye ²Marmara University, Pendik Training and Research Hospital, Department of Orthopaedics and Traumatology, İstanbul, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.



Abstract

Aim: Cortical screws exert compression on the fracture line by applying pressure to the surrounding cortex, while the screw moves within the bone structure through the threads as a result of cyclic movement. To achieve this compression, the cortical screw threads must adhere to the far cortex. The aim of this biomechanical study was to biomechanically evaluate the effect of varying degrees of contact with the far cortex on the resistance against pull-out and to determine the ideal amount of cortical adhesion.

Material and Method: A biomechanical study was conducted on the diaphyseal portions of 12 synthetic femur bones without the formation of any fracture models. The synthetic bones were initially divided into three groups, as follows: partial contact with the far cortex, full contact with the far cortex, and passed through the far cortex. The prepared models were subjected to testing, and after the bone was affixed within the compression device, the head of the screw on the bone was grasped with the aid of a tool, and a tensile force was applied to the cortical screw head until pull-out (load to failure).

Results: A significant difference was observed when the pull-out strengths were compared between groups (p=0.021). Post-hoc analyses revealed that this statistical difference was due to the group in which at least three threads passed through the far cortex. **Conclusion:** When choosing the cortical screw length, a stronger pull-out resistance can be expected with a longer cortical screw length and passing the distal end through the far cortex. However, this should be decided taking into account the characteristics of the anatomical region to be treated, the nearby neurovascular structures, and the risk of tendon-soft tissue irritation.

Keywords: Biomechanical study, cortical screw, far cortex adhesion, fixation strength, pull-out

INTRODUCTION

Screws are a versatile and reliable choice for fixation in the field of orthopaedics and traumatology due to their ability to convert rotational force applied to them into linear motion through the use of threads. They can be classified according to the external diameter of their threads (cortical-cancellous), according to the existence of threads in the screw head (locking screws), or according to their applications (plate screws, lag screws, position screws, polar screws, etc.) (1-3). Cortical screws are one of the most commonly utilized screws in the field of traumatology. Through the threads, the screw head exerts compression on the fracture line by applying pressure to the surrounding cortex, while the screw moves within the bone structure as a result of cyclic movement. To achieve this compression, the cortical screw threads must adhere to the far cortex (4). This adhesion can be achieved to varying degrees with different screw lengths. Depending on the preferred screw length, compressive strength can be achieved with varying degrees of contact with the far cortex or with screws long enough to pass through the far cortex. It is essential that adequate compression strength is achieved for fracture healing, as inadequate retention may result in pull-out (screw retraction and loss of fixation).

It is regrettable that the desired screw lengths may not always be available due to limitations such as material supply issues or patient anatomical differences. Furthermore, the passage of the screw through the far cortex may give rise to soft tissue complications. To date, to the best of our knowledge, several studies in the

CITATION

Guran O, Gencer B. Does Increased Cortical Screw Adhesion on the Far Cortex Result in Higher Resistance against Pull-Out?. Med Records. 2025;7(1):16-20. DOI:1037990/medr.1540822

Received: 29.08.2024 Accepted: 26.09.2024 Published: 24.12.2024 Corresponding Author: Ortac Guran, Sancaktepe Şehit Prof Dr İlhan Varank Training and Research Hospital, Department of Orthopaedics and Traumatology, İstanbul, Türkiye E-mail: ortacguran@gmail.com literature have investigated cortical screw pull-out risk factors (5-9). However, no studies have investigated the relationship between varying degrees of contact to the far cortex and resistance against pull-out.

The aim of our study was to biomechanically evaluate the effect of varying degrees of contact with the far cortex on the resistance against pull-out and to determine the ideal amount of cortical adhesion.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

A biomechanical study was conducted on the diaphyseal portions of 12 synthetic femur bones without the formation of any fracture models (Third Generation Composite Left Femur; Selbones, Kayseri, Türkiye). The synthetic bones were initially divided into three groups, as follows: partial contact (Group 1), full contact (Group 2), and passed through (Group 3). The bones in Group 1 were inserted with cortical screws to achieve partial contact with the far cortex. In Group 2, cortical screws were inserted to achieve full contact with the far cortex. In the final group (Group 3), cortical screws were inserted with a length that ensured at least three threads at the distal end of the screw passed through the far cortex and exited from the opposite side (Figure 1). All synthetic bones were pre-drilled with a 3.2 mm cortical screw drill and then fixed to the bone with a 4.5 mm fully threaded cortical screw (TST Orthopedics®, TST Medical Tools®, İstanbul, Türkiye). The screws were 40 mm, 42 mm, and 44 mm in length, respectively, and were fixed in place with a screwdriver. All drilling and screwing procedures were conducted in the same anatomical location of the synthetic bone, in the midline of the diaphyseal region.

The prepared models were subjected to testing in the Marmara University Department of Mechanical Engineering (İstanbul, Türkiye) testing laboratory, utilizing the axial compression device (Shimadzu MWG-50 kNA Tensile Testing Machine, Shimadzu Company®, Kyoto, Japan). With the installed system (Figure 2), the bone was affixed within the device, the head of the screw on the bone was grasped with the aid of a tool, and a tensile force was applied to the cortical screw head until pull-out (load to failure). The applied forces were recorded in real time using the device's integrated software. In calculating the pull-out strength, the initial pull-out was defined as the moment when the resistance was first broken and the force-displacement curve first changed direction (Figure 3). Secondary resistances that may occur due to remaining threads in the cortex after the initial pull-out of the screw were not considered in this analysis. The experiment was repeated for each bone model in sequence, with the results recorded.

The data were analyzed statistically using the SPSS software. The conformity of the data to a normal distribution was assessed both visually (histogram and probability plots) and analytically (Kolmogorov-Smirnov test). Given that the data were skewed distributed, a Kruskal-Wallis test was employed for three-group comparisons and a Mann-

Whitney U test for post-hoc pairwise analyses. The median and minimum-maximum range values were used for descriptive statistics. Statistical significance was defined as a P value less than 0.05.



Figure 1. The illustration depicting the configuration of experiment groups. The upper screw represents Group 1, which demonstrates partial contact with the far cortex. The middle screw represents Group 2, which demonstrates full contact with the far cortex. The lower screw represents Group 3, which demonstrates at least three drilled threads passed through the far cortex



Figure 2. The installed system to test the prepared models. While the synthetic femur was affixed within the device, the head of the screw on the bone was grasped with the aid of a tool, and a tensile force was applied to the cortical screw head until pull-out (load to failure)



Figure 3. The force-displacement graph was constructed based on the data obtained from the experiment. In calculating the pull-out strength, the initial pull-out was defined as the moment when the resistance was first broken and the force-displacement curve first changed direction

RESULTS

It was ascertained that no synthetic bones were broken or lost during the preparation process prior to the measurement. The results demonstrated that the pull-out strength of the screws with partial contact to the far cortex ranged from 155 to 277 N, while the pull-out strength of the screws with full contact to the far cortex ranged from 178 to 256 N. In contrast, the pull-out strength in the group with at least three threads passed through the far cortex ranged from 322 to 540 N (Table 1).

A significant difference was observed in the triple comparison (p=0.021) when the pull-out strengths were compared between groups. Post-hoc analyses demonstrated that this was due to Group 3, with the pull-out strength in the group with at least three threads passed through the far cortex being significantly higher than in the other two groups (Table 2).

Table 1. Descriptive statistics of the experiment groups							
Pull-out force	Group 1 (Partial contact)	Group 2 (Full contact)	Group 3 (Passed through)				
Median (N)	185	235.5	401				
Interquartile range	103	61	178				
Minimum force (N)	155	178	322				
Maximum force (N)	277	256	540				

Table 2. Post-hoc analysis of the pull-out strength presenting a pairwise comparison of the groups in a cross-table format						
	Group 1 (Partial contact)	Group 2 (Full contact)	Group 3 (Passed through)			
Group 1 (Partial contact)	N/A	0.486	0.029			
Group 2 (Full contact)	0.486	N/A	0.029			
Group 3 (Passed through)	0.029	0.029	N/A			

DISCUSSION

Screw systems are the most commonly utilized implants in traumatology. It is therefore imperative that healthcare professionals possess an in-depth understanding of their biomechanical properties and advantages, in order to ensure optimal fixation and prevent potential complications. It is generally accepted that cortical screws must make contact with both cortices (the near and far cortex) in order to achieve the desired compression force (1-4). On the other hand, there is a paucity of literature providing clear guidance on the extent to which the far cortex should be adhered. It is important to note that the far cortex may not always be adhered at the desired rate due to anatomical differences between patients or material supply issues. The aim of our study was to demonstrate the biomechanical superiority of partial and full contact and screw penetration of the far cortex. The

most significant finding was that there was no difference in pull-out resistance between partial and full contact with the far cortex when using cortical screws. However, pullout strength increased significantly when at least three threads were passed through the far cortex.

The value of utilizing longer screws in fracture fixation has been well documented in the scientific literature (10,11). In a study published in 2019, Fletcher et al. demonstrated that longer screws are associated with a reduced risk of cut-outs in proximal humerus fractures (11). In the case of cortical screws, the importance of screw length is further amplified, given that bicortical screw placement is crucial for achieving compression force. In contrast, the literature offers no clear explanation regarding the partial or complete adhesion of the far cortex in the context of bicortical application. From an engineering and geometrical perspective, it can be postulated that increased adherence of the far cortex will result in enhanced compression strength. Furthermore, even in instances where the far cortex is pierced, the holding and pull-out strengths will be augmented. The findings of our study provide partial support for this hypothesis. The pullout strength was significantly increased in the group that crossed at least three threads of the far cortex, whereas no significant difference was detected between partial and complete contacts of the far cortex. This result may be interpreted as indicating that contact between the distal end of the cortical screw and the far cortex is sufficient for minimum force, but that the holding force increases after the screw threads penetrate the far cortex. However, further biomechanical and finite element studies are needed for a more comprehensive analysis of the subject.

The results of our study demonstrated that the pull-out strength of Group 3 (the group in which at least three threads of the far cortex were passed) was the highest, and that the strongest fixation was obtained with this screw application. It is also important to note that a significant limitation of biomechanical studies is the inability to consider soft tissue as a parameter. Despite the observation that the pull-out strength of Group 3 was the highest in our study, the recommendation for the routine use of this application does not align with clinical practice. It is therefore necessary to consider the balance between stability and the potential for soft tissue complications. A review of the literature reveals numerous reports emphasizing the importance of achieving a balance in this regard (12,13). In 2020, van Dijk et al. emphasized the importance of achieving an equilibrium between optimizing pull-out strength and preventing cortical penetration and soft tissue complications (14). In conclusion, the primary objective of orthopaedic surgeons is to achieve fixation strength and prevent pull-out. However, this is not the sole objective, as preventing potential irritations and soft tissue complications and preserving the patient's biological processes are also vital for fracture healing.

It should be noted that, in the course of our study, 12 reinforced third-generation composite synthetic left femur models with a resistance against up to 1533 N in mechanical tests were employed. The synthetic femur models were prepared for biomechanical testing at the actual load quality that the human bone can withstand. Conversely, it is not possible to create a synthetic bone that precisely resembles the human bone, given that the quality of human bone is influenced by a multitude of factors, including age, gender, degree of movement, and mineral density. It is therefore unfeasible to develop a synthetic model that exhibits all of the same biomechanical properties as human bone. Furthermore, synthetic models lack soft tissue support, which is a crucial component of the mechanical system in humans. Nevertheless, our comparative experiment was conducted because the synthetic bone models were prepared to withstand the actual load quality that the human bone can withstand, have similar biomechanical properties with each other and have been previously validated in the literature (15,16).

It is important to acknowledge that our study is not without limitations. The principal limitation of the study is the relatively small number of subjects. Additionally, the study's reliance on synthetic bone models, its exclusive focus on a single anatomical structure type, and the exclusion of soft tissue as a factor due to the biomechanical nature of the study may affect the generalizability of the results. Moreover, the assessment of pull-out force in the direction of screw advancement, without consideration of motion vectors, represents another limitation. Finally, the use of screws in without plates, and the absence of a fracture model in the experimental process, represent important limitations. These limitations can be addressed through comprehensive studies that incorporate finite element analysis and clinical projections on the subject.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, screw length and far cortical adhesion are critical parameters in obtaining ideal fixation strength in traumatology. When choosing the cortical screw length, a stronger pull-out resistance can be expected with a longer cortical screw length and passing the distal end through the far cortex. However, this should be decided taking into account the characteristics of the anatomical region to be treated, the nearby neurovascular structures, and the risk of tendon-soft tissue irritation.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: Ethics committee approval was not obtained because the study was a biomechanical study

Acknowledgments: Sincere gratitudes to Prof. Dr. Pasa Yayla and Marmara University Mechanical Engineering Department.

REFERENCES

- Orthopaedic Implants. https://www.orthobullets.com/basicscience/9063/orthopaedic-implants access date: 26.8.2024.
- 2. Roberts TT, Prummer CM, Papaliodis DN, et al. History of the orthopedic screw. Orthopedics. 2013;36:12-4.
- Feng X, Luo Z, Li Y, et al. Fixation stability comparison of bone screws based on thread design: buttress thread, triangle thread, and square thread. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2022;23:820.
- Fletcher JWA, Wenzel L, Neumann V, et al. Surgical performance when inserting non-locking screws: a systematic review. EFORT Open Rev. 2020;5:26-36.
- Lin CC, Lin KJ, Chen WC, et al. Larger screw diameter may not guarantee greater pullout strength for headless screws a biomechanical study. Biomed Tech (Berl). 2017;62:257-61.
- 6. Ricci WM, Tornetta P 3rd, Petteys T, et al. A comparison of screw insertion torque and pullout strength. J Orthop Trauma. 2010;24:374-8.

- Chen MJ, DeBaun MR, Thio T, et al. Drilling energy correlates with screw insertion torque, screw compression, and pullout strength: a cadaver study. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 2020;28:e1121-8.
- 8. Feerick EM, McGarry JP. Cortical bone failure mechanisms during screw pullout. J Biomech. 2012;45:1666-72.
- 9. Gustafson PA, Veenstra JM, Bearden CR, Jastifer JR. The effect of pitch variation and diameter variation on screw pullout. Foot Ankle Spec. 2019;12:258-63.
- Baumbach SF, Synek A, Traxler H, et al. The influence of distal screw length on the primary stability of volar plate osteosynthesis--a biomechanical study. J Orthop Surg Res. 2015;10:139.
- 11. Fletcher JWA, Windolf M, Grünwald L, et al. The influence of screw length on predicted cut-out failures for proximal humeral fracture fixations predicted by finite element simulations. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg. 2019;139:1069-74.

- 12. Schmiedl A, Buchhorn A, Schönberger M. The relationship between the subclavian vessels and brachial plexus and the overlying clavicle: Anatomical study with application to plate osteosynthesis. Clin Anat. 2023;36:377-85.
- 13. Chuaychoosakoon C, Chirattikalwong S, Wuttimanop W, et al. The risk of iatrogenic radial nerve and/or profunda brachii artery injury in anterolateral humeral plating using a 4.5 mm narrow DCP: a cadaveric study. PLoS One. 2021;16:e0260448.
- van Dijk PA, Breuking S, Guss D, et al. Optimizing surgery of metaphyseal-diaphyseal fractures of the fifth metatarsal: a cadaveric study on implications of intramedullary screw position, screw parameters and surrounding anatomic structures. Injury. 2020;51:2887-92.
- Kati YA, Kose O, Acar B, et al. Risk of injury to the neurovascular structures in the pararectus approach used in acetabular fractures: a cadaver study. J Orthop Trauma. 2021;35:e13-7.
- Gümüştaş SA, Tosun HB, Ağır İ, et al. Influence of number and orientation of screws on stability in the internal fixation of unstable femoral neck fractures. Acta Orthop Traumatol Turc. 2014;48:673-8.



Clinical Characteristics of Cases Developing Neonatal Pneumothorax: 10 Years of Experience

Fatih Kurt¹, DAbdulkadir Kaya², Kenan Kocabay¹, Murat Kaya³

¹Düzce University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, Düzce, Türkiye ²Düzce University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Family Medicine, Düzce, Türkiye ³Düzce University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatric Surgery, Düzce, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.



Abstract

Aim: Pneumothorax is a serious emergency condition that increases mortality and morbidity due to the accumulation of air between the visceral and parietal pleura layers. Neonatal pneumothorax is more frequently encountered in neonates admitted to neonatal intensive care units. It is known that the most important risk factors are prematurity and ventilation with a bag mask.

Material and Method: Forty-two pneumothorax cases followed in the neonatal intensive care unit (NICU) were included in our study. The characteristics, risk factors, treatment methods and prognoses of the cases were retrospectively analyzed.

Results: Twenty eight of the cases (66.67%) were male, and Pneumothorax developed within the first 3 days of life in 41 cases (97.61%). Nineteen cases (45.24%) were premature, 16 cases (38.10%) underwent resuscitation at birth, and 15 cases (35.71%) received surfactant therapy. An intercostal chest tube was placed for treatment in 34 cases (80.95%), and invasive mechanical ventilation was required in 33 cases (78.57%). Thirty six cases (85.71%) were regained the health, while those who passed away were found to be more premature.

Conclusion: In our study, prematurity, resuscitation at birth, and surfactant therapy were identified as risk factors for neonatal pneumothorax. Newborns with these risk factors should be closely monitored, and neonatal pneumothorax should be kept in mind if respiratory distress develops.

Keywords: Neonatal pneumothorax, prematurity, resuscitation

INTRODUCTION

Pneumothorax is a serious emergency condition that increases mortality and morbidity due to the accumulation of air between the visceral and parietal pleura layers. The increase in intrathoracic pressure can lead to decreased venous return, hypoxia, and hypercarbia, which can be lifethreatening (1). Neonatal pneumothorax occurs in 1-2% of neonates admitted to neonatal intensive care units, but this rate exceeds 40% in the presence of respiratory distress syndrome (RDS) (2). It is more common within the first 3 days of life. The most important risk factors are prematurity and ventilation with a bag-valv mask. Other known risk factors include male gender, low APGAR score, low birth weight, hyaline membrane disease, transient tachypnea of the newborn, meconium aspiration syndrome, and pulmonary hypoplasia (3,4). Although small

pneumothorax may be asymptomatic, as the size of the pneumothorax increases, symptoms such as respiratory distress, tachypnea, apnea, cyanosis, and bradycardia can occur (5). While computed tomography (CT) is the gold standard for diagnosis, it is rarely used due to the high risk of ionizing radiation. In neonates, chest radiography and transillumination are the most commonly used methods for diagnosing pneumothorax. However, detecting small pneumothoraces, especially in premature and low birth weight infants, can be challenging. Due to the thin skin and narrow thorax of neonates, lung ultrasound can be used with high accuracy and reliability for diagnosis (6). The treatment of pneumothorax varies depending on the patient's symptoms and the size of the pneumothorax. Patients with asymptomatic and small pneumothorax can be monitored with non-invasive mechanical ventilation

CITATION

Kurt F, Kaya A, Kocabay K, Kaya M. Clinical Characteristics of Cases Developing Neonatal Pneumothorax: 10 Years of Experience. Med Records. 2025;7(1):21-4. DOI:1037990/medr.1540795

Received: 29.08.2024 Accepted: 14.10.2024 Published: 24.12.2024 Corresponding Author: Fatih Kurt, Düzce University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, Düzce, Türkiye E-mail: fatihkurt_04@hotmail.com and positioning the affected side down. However, in lifethreatening situations, needle aspiration with thoracentesis should be performed, or a intercostal chest tube should be placed (7).

In this study, we aimed to retrospectively analyze neonatal cases that developed pneumothorax in our hospital since 2014, to determine their clinical characteristics and predisposing factors.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

The study included 42 cases of pneumothorax that were followed and treated in the Neonatal Clinic of Düzce University Faculty of Medicine Training and Research Hospital between 2014 and 2024. All cases were diagnosed with anteroposterior chest radiography. In cases where it was deemed necessary, confirmation was made with lateral or decubitus position chest radiography. The cases were retrospectively evaluated for gestational age, birth weight, types of delivery, postnatal day of pneumothorax occurrence, gender, side of pneumothorax, need for postnatal resuscitation, meconium-stained birth, underlying primary lung disease, respiratory support, treatment method, and prognosis.

Cases with major congenital anomalies and those who had a thoracic tube placed due to thoracic surgery were excluded from the study.

Before inclusion in the study, the parents of the participants were informed about the content, purpose, and implementation of the study, and written consent was obtained.

This research involving human subjects complied with all relevant national regulations and institutional policies and was conducted in accordance with the tenets of the Helsinki Declaration. This study was approved by Düzce University Faculty of Medicine Ethics Committee (Decision no: 2024/94, Approval Date: 06.05.2024).

Statistical Analysis

In the statistical analysis of the study, descriptive statistics for numerical data were presented as mean±sd, if not normally distributed, median (IQR25-75) used, while categorical data were given as numbers and percentages.

In the statistical analysis of the study, descriptive statistics for numerical data were presented as mean+-std, if not normally distributed, median (IQR25-75) used, while categorical data were given as numbers and percentages. The distribution of numerical data was evaluated using histogram graphs. For the comparison of numerical data between two groups, the Student's t-test and Mann-Whitney U test were used. The chi-square test was employed for the comparison of categorical data. A p-value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant. The analyses were conducted using the SPSS 23.0 software package.

RESULTS

A total of 42 infants were included in the study. The mean age of the mothers of the infants in the study was found to be 29.21±6.18 years. The mean gestational age of the

infants was 35.86±3.36 weeks. The median birth weight of the infants was 2892.50 grams (min=780; max=4770). Of the cases, 66.67% (n=28) were male. Pneumothorax developed on the 6th day of life in one case. In the other cases, pneumothorax developed within the first 3 days of life. Some demographic data of the patients are shown in Table 1.

Table 1. The parameters of maternal age, gestational age, birth weights, and the day of pneumothorax onset in the cases

Maternal age (year)*	29.21±6.18
Gestational age (week)**	36 (4)
Pneumothorax time(day)**	2 (5)
Birth weight (gr)*	2,861.79±778.82
* mean±SD, **median (IQR)	

The majority of the cases, 85.71% (n=36), were delivered via cesarean section. Pneumothorax was predominantly unilateral, with a higher incidence on the right side. It was observed that 21.43% (n=9) of the cases developed bilateral pneumothorax. When comparing bilateral and unilateral pneumothorax cases, a significant difference was found only in the presence of preeclampsia in the mother. Bilateral pneumothorax was detected in both newborns whose mothers developed preeclampsia (p=0.006). Invasive mechanical ventilation was required in 33 (78.57%) cases (Table 2).

Table 2. Types of delivery, side of pneumothorax, and need for respiratory support in the newborns			
		n	%
Types of delivery	C/S	36	85.7
	NSVD	6	14.3
Side of pneumothorax	Right	18	42.8
	Left	15	35.7
	Bilateral	9	21.5
Respiratory support	Oxigen hood	4	9.6
	CPAP	5	11.9
	Intubation	33	78.5

C/S: caeserian section, NSVD: normal spontaneous vaginal delivery

Comorbid conditions associated with pneumothorax development in the cases were evaluated in Table 3. Prematurity was present in 45.24% (n=19) of the cases. The rate of resuscitation at birth was found to be 38.10% (n=16). Surfactant was administered to 35.71% (n=15) of the cases. As a result, 14.29% (n=6) of the cases resulted in death. Other comorbid conditions are listed in Table 3.

Table 3. Comorbid conditions associated with the development of pneumothorax in newborns

	n	%
Prematurity	19	45.24
Necrotizing enterocolitis	1	2.38
Extremely low birth weight baby (<1000 g)	2	4.76
Intrauterine growth retardation	1	2.38
Premature membrane rupture	1	2.38
Preeclampsia	2	4.76
Hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy	1	2.38
Congenital heart disease	2	4.76
Neonatal transient tachypnea	1	2.38
Congenital pneumonia	3	7.14
Sepsis	1	2.38
Congenital diaphragmatic hernia	1	2.38
Neural tube defect	1	2.38
Gestational diabetes	3	7.14
Acute kidney failure	1	2.38
Chest tube insertion	34	80.95
Respiratory distress syndrome	12	28.57
Meconium aspiration	1	2.38
Resuscitation at birth	16	38.10
Surfactant replacement therapy	15	35.71
Exitus	6	14.29
g: gram		

The numerical data of the cases and their mothers were evaluated according to the exitus status. No significant differences were observed in maternal age, gestational week, day of pneumothorax development and birth weight according to the exitus status of the patients (p>0.05). However, it was observed that the cases who were exitus had lower gestational weeks (Table 4).

Table 4. Evaluation of numerical data of the cases and their mothers according to exitus status		
	Exitus	Recovering the health
Mother age (year) *	26.17±4.44	29.72±6.33
Gestation age (week) **	35(12)	37(12)
Pneumothorax time (day) **	1(2)	2(5)
Birth weight (gr) *	2272.50±1513.40	2960.00±560.10
*mean±SD, **median (IQR)		

It was observed that the majority of the cases who used surfactant required the insertion of an intercostal chest tube; however, no significant difference was found between surfactant use and the need for chest tube insertion (p=0.128) (Table 5).
 Table 5. The relationship between surfactant use and the need for chest tube insertion

	Surfactant therapy		
	Yes	р No	р
Spontaneously resolved	1	7	0 1 2 9
Chest tube insertion	14	20	0.120

DISCUSSION

In our retrospective study evaluating neonatal pneumothorax cases, we identified the most important risk factors as prematurity, the need for resuscitation at birth, surfactant administration, and RDS. Pneumothorax cases were more commonly observed in male infants. Most cases developed unilateral pneumothorax and additionally, most patients required invasive mechanical ventilation support for their treatment. In the majority of cases, a chest tube was inserted as part of the treatment.

In a study conducted in Türkiye by Tandırcıoğlu et al., the most frequently identified risk factor for neonatal pneumothorax was RDS, observed in 47.5% of cases (8). In our study, RDS was detected in 28.57% of cases. In Tandırcıoğlu's study, 42% of the cases were born before 34 weeks of gestation, and 30% were born between 34-37 weeks, all of whom were premature infants. Additionally, 68% of the cases born before 34 weeks were administered surfactant, and it was reported that the need for surfactant decreased as gestational age increased. In our study, 12% of the cases were born before 34 weeks, and 38% were born between 34-37 weeks. The lower rate of RDS in our study may be attributed to the lower proportion of premature infants born before 34 weeks. Consequently, the rate of surfactant administration was also found to be lower.

Many studies have reported that male sex is a risk factor for pneumothorax. Jovandarić et al. also reported that 67.6% of their cases were male (9). In our study, 66.6% of the cases were male as well. Ishak et al. investigated the male disadvantage in respiratory morbidity and mortality in preterm births using a preterm lamb model. They found that female lamb fetuses had higher lecithin/sphingomyelin ratios and higher saturated phosphatidylcholine ratios in amniotic fluid, indicating that female fetuses have a developmental advantage over males in terms of lung maturity (10).

Aly et al. reported that pneumothorax occurring in term or near-term infants had a better prognosis and required less mechanical ventilation (11). Boo et al. studied 505 cases of neonatal pneumothorax and found that pneumothorax was more common in infants with low birth weight and small gestational age. They also reported that mortality was higher the more premature the infant and the lower the birth weight (12). In our study, the gestational age and birth weight of the exitus cases were found to be lower compared to the discharged infants. However, no significant difference was observed between them. The low number of cases in our study may have contributed to the lack of a significant difference. Smith et al. reported that in their study of infants with neonatal pneumothorax and a gestational age >36 weeks, 29% of the cases required intercostal tube drainage (13). Okumuş et al. found that in a cohort of 124 premature neonates, approximately 95.9% required intercostal tube drainage (14). These studies indicate that more premature infants have a higher need for intercostal tube drainage. In our study, intercostal tube drainage was performed in 80.9% of the cases.

Bhatia et al. reported that the earlier in life neonatal pneumothorax occurs, the higher the mortality rate (15). In our study, the timing of pneumothorax development in exitus cases was earlier compared to discharged infants, but no significant difference was observed.

Significant progress has been made in the care of premature infants with the introduction of surfactant therapy. It is well known that in the pre-surfactant era, pneumothorax developed much later in premature infants compared to term cases. However, after the introduction of surfactant therapy, it has been reported that approximately 20% of preterm infants develop pneumothorax within the first 48 hours (16). This suggests that surfactant therapy is a risk factor for pneumothorax. Studies have reported that newborns may require high distension pressures for ventilation. During the recovery phase of RDS, lung compliance can improve rapidly, which may lead to pneumothorax due to high pressures (17). It is known that surfactant administration is effective in this recovery process. To prevent pneumothorax, it is important to closely monitor the mechanical ventilator pressure settings in infants who have received surfactant. In our study, pneumothorax in infants who received surfactant was found to be more severe, with spontaneous resolution being less common and a greater need for chest tube insertion. However, these differences were not statistically significant. This is likely attributable to the limited number of patients in our study.

CONCLUSION

In our study examining neonatal pneumothorax cases, the most common comorbid conditions associated with pneumothorax were found to be prematurity, resuscitation at birth, and surfactant therapy. Most cases improved with appropriate timing and treatment. Correct identification of risk factors in neonatal pneumothorax and proper management of cases with respiratory distress leads to favorable outcomes.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: This study was approved by Düzce University Faculty of Medicine Ethics Committee (Decision no: 2024/94, Approval Date: 06.05.2024).

REFERENCES

- 1. Joshi A, Kumar M, Rebekah G, Santhanam S. Etiology, clinical profile and outcome of neonatal pneumothorax in tertiary care center in South India: 13 years experience. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2022;35:520-4.
- 2. Parekh UR, Maguire AM, Emery J, Martin PH. Pneumothorax in neonates: complication during endotracheal intubation, diagnosis, and management. J Anaesthesiol Clin Pharmacol. 2016;32:397-9.
- 3. Halibullah I, Hammond F, Hodgson K, et al. Management of pneumothorax in neonatal retrieval: a retrospective cohort study. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. 2023;108:182-7.
- Al Matary A, Munshi HH, Abozaid S, et al. Characteristics of neonatal pneumothorax in Saudi Arabia: three years' experience. Oman Med J. 2017;32:135-9.
- 5. Jhaveri V, Vali P, Giusto E, et al. Pneumothorax in a term newborn. J Perinatol. 2024;44:465-71.
- 6. Fei Q, Lin Y, Yuan TM. Lung ultrasound, a better choice for neonatal pneumothorax: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Ultrasound Med Biol. 2021;47:359-69.
- 7. Panza R, Prontera G, Ives KN, et al. Pigtail catheters versus traditional chest drains for pneumothorax treatment in two NICUs. Eur J Pediatr. 2020;179:73-9.
- 8. Ayşe Tandırcıoğlu Ü, Koral Ü, Güzoğlu N, et al. Differences in possible risk factors, treatment strategies, and outcomes of neonatal pneumothorax in preterm and term infants. Turk Arch Pediatr. 2024;59:87-92.
- 9. Jovandaric MZ, Milenkovic SJ, Dotlic J, et al. Neonatal pneumothorax outcome in preterm and term newborns. Medicina (Kaunas). 2022;58:965.
- Ishak N, Hanita T, Sozo F, et al. Sex differences in cardiorespiratory transition and surfactant composition following preterm birth in sheep. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 2012;303:R778-89.
- Aly H, Massaro A, Acun C, Ozen M. Pneumothorax in the newborn: clinical presentation, risk factors and outcomes. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2014;27:402-6.
- 12. Boo NY, Cheah IGS, Malaysian National Neonatal Registry. Risk factors associated with pneumothorax in Malaysian neonatal intensive care units. J Paediatr Child Health. 2011;47:183-90.
- 13. Smith J, Schumacher RE, Donn SM, Sarkar S. Clinical course of symptomatic spontaneous pneumothorax in term and late preterm newborns: report from a large cohort. Am J Perinatol. 2011;28:163-8.
- 14. Okumuş M, Zubarioğlu AU. Neonatal pneumothorax-10 years of experience from a single center. J Pediatr Res. 2020;7:163-7.
- 15. Bhatia R, Davis PG, Doyle LW, et al. Identification of pneumothorax in very preterm infants. J Pediatr. 2011;159:115-20.
- 16. Apiliogullari B, Sunam GS, Ceran S, Koc H. Evaluation of neonatal pneumothorax. J Int Med Res. 2011;39:2436-40.
- 17. Andersson J, Magnuson A, Ohlin A. Neonatal pneumothorax: symptoms, signs and timing of onset in the post-surfactant era. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2022;35:5438-42.



The Treatment of Interphalangeal Joint Fracture Dislocations with the Pin and Rubber Method

Oceanie Contraction Contractica Contrac

¹Bursa City Hospital, Department of Orthopaedics and Traumatology, Bursa, Türkiye ²Medicine Faculty of Erciyes University, Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, Kayseri, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.



Abstract

Aim: This study aimed to evaluate the clinical and radiological results of interphalangeal joint injuries treated with the pin-and-rubber method and to determine the effectiveness of this treatment method.

Material and Method: Patients aged 18 years or older who presented with injuries of the interphalangeal joints of the hand and were treated with the pin-and-rubber method were included in the study. Patients with open fractures, multiple finger injuries, or those who underwent open surgery were excluded. Total of 32 interphalangeal joint injuries were evaluated retrospectively. Eight of those patients declined to participate in the study and the final analysis included 24 fingers of a total of 24 patients. Age, sex, injured finger, type of injury, and time until treatment were recorded for all patients. Union was evaluated based on joint radiographs from patients final follow-up appointments. For the evaluation of functional results, joint range of motion was measured with a finger goniometer and Disabilities of the Arm, Shoulder, and Hand Questionnaire (DASH) and visual analog scale (VAS) scores were evaluated.

Results: The median age of the analyzed patients was 30 (18-69) years. The most frequent mechanism of injury was fall (52.4%) and the most frequent injured finger was the fourth. The median follow-up duration for these patients was 25 (16.25-31.75) months. The median DASH score was 4.16 (0.00-7.50) and the median VAS score was 4 (0.00-8.00). The median range of motion of the proximal interphalangeal joint was 90° (80.00-98.75°), while that of the distal interphalangeal joint was 55° (36.25-80.00°). Union was achieved in all cases. Condylar fractures were observed in two patients over the course of follow-up.

Conclusion: The treatment of interphalangeal joint fractures or fracture dislocations by the pin-and-rubber method was confirmed to be an easily applicable and effective treatment method that does not cause a significant loss range of motion.

Keywords: Finger fracture, hand surgery, pin and rubber

INTRODUCTION

Although hand injuries are commonly experienced in society, fracture dislocations and comminuted fractures of the fingers are relatively less common. The prognosis of intraarticular fractures, comminuted fractures, and fracture dislocations is generally worse. These types of fractures can result in significant pain, joint stiffness, and limitation in range of motion (1-6).

There is no consensus on the ideal treatment modality for fracture dislocations of the fingers (5,7). Prolonged immobilization can cause stiffness in the affected joints (8), while open surgical methods may entail excessive soft tissue stripping, resulting in stiffness and loss of motion (9).

In these cases, the main goal of treatment is to obtain a finger that is free of pain without functional limitation (5,10,11). Many relevant treatment methods have been described in the literature, such as conservative, closed, and open surgical fixation or dynamic external fixator and joint reconstruction methods (5,10,12).

The aim of this study was to evaluate the clinical and radiological results of patients with interphalangeal joint fractures or fracture dislocations who were treated with the pin-and-rubber method and to compare those results with the previous literature. This study hypothesized that the pin-and-rubber method is a reliable approach for eligible patients with interphalangeal injuries because it allows for early movement and does not impair biological healing.

CITATION

Sayer G, Karaman I, Turk CY. The Treatment of Interphalangeal Joint Fracture Dislocations with the Pin and Rubber Method. Med Records. 2025;7(1):25-30. DOI:1037990/medr.1543775

Received: 05.09.2024 Accepted: 21.10.2024 Published: 25.12.2024

Corresponding Author: Gokhan Sayer, Bursa City Hospital, Department of Orthopaedics and Traumatology, Bursa, Türkiye **E-mail**: gkhnsyr38@gmail.com

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Patient Selection

This study was designed as a retrospective case series. Approval was obtained from the relevant clinical ethics committee before the research began.

The patients applied for interphalangeal joint fracture or fracture dislocation between 2015 to 2020 were included. For patients applying to our clinic with interphalangeal joint fractures or fracture dislocations, conservative treatment was preferred in cases in which there was no displacement, the fractured part accounted for less than 30% of the total joint, and the fracture was stable. Surgery was performed for patients for whom joint alignment and stability could not be achieved with conservative treatment. In the event of ongoing joint dislocation, joint malalignment, or sagittal or coronal plane malreduction in patients for whom a traction system was utilized during surgery, open reduction and internal fixation was added.

The inclusion criteria of the study were as follows: 1) being 18 years of age or older, 2) being diagnosed with acute interphalangeal fracture or fracture dislocation (i.e.,

within 21 days after the initial trauma), 3) having a fracture or fracture dislocation not suitable for conservative treatment and 4) having a minimum of 1 year of follow-up after surgery. 1) Patients with open fractures, 2) multiple finger injuries and 3) fractures or fracture dislocations that required open surgery for reduction were excluded. Accordingly, 32 interphalangeal joint injuries were retrospectively examined. Eight of those patients declined to participate in the study and the final analysis included 24 fingers of a total of 24 patients.

Surgical Technique

All surgical interventions and postoperative follow-up examinations were conducted by the same surgical team. Patients were operated on in the supine position under general or local anesthesia. After the necessary surgical preparations, a 1.2-mm Kirschner (K) wire was applied proximally to the joint, passing the head of the proximal phalanx from the center in the sagittal plane. Pliers were used to bend the wire 90° some distance from the skin. The K-wire was then bent again distally 3 cm past the fingertip and the axial traction pin was prepared (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Application of the axial traction pin

A 1-mm K-wire (1 mm) was applied transversely to the fracture, distal to the middle phalanx. It was bent immediately above the skin with the help of pliers and the hook pin was prepared. For patients with dislocation, a 1-mm K-wire was applied to serve as a reduction pin just distal to the fracture and as close to the volar aspect of the phalanx as possible (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Application of the hook pin

Two rubber bands were subsequently added to the pinand-rubber traction system and the achievement of appropriate reduction was checked under fluoroscopy considering the tension of the rubber bands. The tension and/or number of the bands was increased if necessary to achieve the appropriate reduction. When appropriate reduction was confirmed by fluoroscopy, the mobility of the finger was checked and the operation was terminated (Figure 3).



Figure 3. The bending of wires and the setup of the traction system

Postoperative Follow-up

Patients began routine postoperative movement immediately after leaving the operating room. After patients were discharged, they were called for weekly follow-up appointments to monitor the reduction. During these follow-up appointments, reduction was monitored via direct radiography and the joint movements of the patients were evaluated. For patients found to have experienced a loss of reduction in follow-up, reduction was regained by adjusting the tension of the rubber bands. The pin-and-rubber traction systems were routinely removed in the postoperative 6th week. After the removal of the traction system, patients were shown active finger movements to practice at home. Patients were then called for follow-up visits once a month for the first six months and every three months thereafter.

Patient Evaluations

The demographic data of all patients (age, sex, injured finger, type of injury, time until treatment) were recorded before surgery.

Joint range of motion (ROM) was examined for all patients at the final follow-up visit and X-rays were obtained. The functional status of the patients was evaluated with the Disabilities of the Arm, Shoulder, and Hand Questionnaire (DASH) score, while the presence and amount of pain was evaluated with a visual analog scale (VAS) with possible scores ranging from 0 to 100. Finger joint range of motion was measured with a finger goniometer and recorded.

RESULTS

The median age of the 24 patients included in this study was 30.0 (18-69) years, and 17 (70.8%) of these patients were male while 7 (29.2%) were female. Their injuries most often occurred after a fall (54.2%) and the fourth finger was most commonly injured (54.2%). The median time between the injury and surgical intervention was 3 (1.2-5.7) days. The median follow-up period was 25 (16.25-31.75) months. Demographic details of the study population were presented in Table 1.

Table 1. Demographic data of the patients included in the study		
Variables	Values	
Sex, n (%)		
Male	17 (70.8)	
Female	7 (29.2)	
Age, years		
X±SD	32.5±14.6	
M (min-max)	30.0 (18.0-69.0)	
Injured side, n (%)		
Right	12 (50)	
Left	12 (50)	
Injured finger, n (%)		
Second	1 (4.2)	
Third	5 (20.8)	
Fourth	13 (54.2)	
Fifth	5 (20.8)	
Affected joint, n (%)		
DIP	2 (8.3)	
PIP	22 (91.4)	
Mechanism of injury, n (%)		
Fall	13 (54.2)	
Door closing on finger	3 (12.5)	
Contact with a ball	2 (8.3)	
Traffic accident	1 (4.2)	
Injured while punching	5 (20.8)	
Time interval between injury and treatment, days		
M (Q1-Q3)	3.0 (1.2-5.7)	

The patients functional results were provided in Table 2. The median proximal interphalangeal (PIP) joint ROM was 90° (80.00-98.75°), while that of the distal interphalangeal (DIP) joint ROM was 55° (36.25-80.00°). The median DASH score was 4.16 (0.00-7.50) and the median VAS score was 4 (0.00-8.00).

Table 2. Functional scores	
Functional scores	
M (Q1-Q3)	
DASH	4.16 (0.00-7.50)
VAS	4 (0.00-8.00)
PIP ROM (degrees)	90 (80.00-98.75)
DIP ROM (degrees)	55 (36.25-80.00)

M: median, Q1: first quartile, Q3: third quartile, DASH: disabilities of the arm, shoulder, and hand questionnaire, VAS: visual analog scale, PIP ROM: proximal interphalangeal joint range of motion, DIP ROM: distal interphalangeal joint range of motion

Union was observed to have occurred in all cases. No cases of coronal plane deformity were observed. Condylar fractures were observed during follow-up in two patients (8%), one occurring in the condyle of the middle phalanx and the other in the condyle of the proximal phalanx. The condylar fracture of the middle phalanx was observed the third week after surgery. The patient refused surgical treatment, and so the pin-and-rubber system was removed and no further surgical intervention was performed. The condylar fracture of the proximal phalanx was observed the fourth week after surgery. The patient had no fracture displacement and was therefore treated with a finger splint for two weeks, restricting active movement after the pin-and-rubber system had been removed. In three cases (13%), infection was observed at the base of a pin. In all three cases, the infection occurred at the base of the axial traction pin and these patients were treated with oral antibiotics; pin removal was not required. None of the patients developed osteomyelitis.

DISCUSSION

Interphalangeal joint fractures and fracture dislocations are complex injuries that most frequently occur in the PIP joint (13,14). Fractures accompanied by intraarticular fragments and dislocations may have extremely poor prognosis (1-4,6). In the literature, many treatment methods have been described for finger joint fractures and fracture dislocations (5,10,12). The most important finding of this study is that satisfactory joint range of motion was achieved in the long-term follow-up of patients with interphalangeal joint fractures or fracture dislocations following treatment with the pin-and-rubber traction system.

Capsuloligamentotaxis forms the basis of dynamic traction in the treatment of these injuries (1,8,15). The movement that occurs with the application of traction to the joint is a biological process. Ensuring fracture

reduction and preventing the shortening of the ligaments around the joint facilitates the protection and healing of the articular surfaces (1,8,16).

Keramidas et al. reported reported 11 patients treated by Suzuki frame with PIP joint injuries, and after a mean follow-up period of 18 months, the mean active range of motion of the PIP joint was found to be 84° (17). In the study conducted by De Smet et al., which included 8 PIP joint fracture dislocations and had a mean follow-up period of 16.5 months, the mean total active joint range of motion was found to be 82° (16). Debus et al. found the mean active range of motion of the PIP joint to be 56° while that of the DIP joint was 39.6° (18). The study conducted by Agarwal et al. had a mean follow-up period of 12.8 months and the mean active range of motion of the PIP joint was found to be 67.2° while that of the DIP joint was 40.7° (19). In the present study, the median follow-up period was 25 months and the median values of total active range of motion were 90° for the PIP joint and 55° for the DIP joint. Compared to other studies in the literature in terms of follow-up, the present study is seen to have a relatively long follow-up period. Furthermore, compared to previous findings in the literature, the ranges of motion obtained in this study for both the PIP and DIP joints are higher. This may be due to the fact that previous studies involving the pin-and-rubber traction system also included patients who had undergone open reduction.

Ellis et al. retrospectively evaluated 14 patients, the mean VAS score was reported as 2.5 (0-10) (20). The study conducted by Finsen included 18 patients and the mean VAS score was 5.5 (0-10) (21). In the present study, the median VAS score was 4 (0-100). Thus, compared to the literature, the final pain levels reported in this study are quite low. This may be due to the present study's long duration of follow-up and the fact that appropriate closed reduction was achieved in all cases.

In the literature review conducted by Gianakos et al., it was stated that DASH scores were reported in 22% of the evaluated studies on the treatment of interphalangeal joint fracture dislocations, and the mean DASH score of patients in studies using dynamic external fixators was 9.2 (22). In the present study, the median DASH score was found to be 4.16. The lower DASH scores obtained in this study compared to the literature, reflecting a lower level of disability, may be attributed to the fact that most patients in this study had injuries of the fourth or fifth finger. These fingers have a relatively limited impact on overall DASH function scores.

Considering the frequency of postsurgical infections among patients treated with dynamic external fixators, Elatta et al. reported the occurrence of 5 superficial infections among a total of 36 patients, and those infections were treated with oral antibiotics without removal of the traction systems (23). In the study conducted by Agarwal et al., pin site infections were observed in 7 cases (28%) and were again treated with antibiotics without removal of the systems (19). Debus et al. detected superficial infections in 3 patients who were accordingly treated with oral antibiotics, while one patient underwent surgical curettage due to osteomyelitis (18). In the study conducted by Kiral et al., no signs of infection were found in any patient (24). Infection at the pin site was observed in three patients in the present study. They were treated with oral antibiotics and removal of the pin-andrubber system was not necessary. No patients developed osteomyelitis.

Regarding the possible complications of finger joint injuries treated with dynamic external fixators, nonunion, osteoarthritis, osteomyelitis, coronal and sagittal plane deformity, and osteolysis have been reported in the literature (16,19,20,25,26). In contrast, in the present study, only condylar fractures due to falls were encountered as complications in two cases, with one occurring in the middle phalanx and the other in the proximal phalanx. This finding may be attributed to the occurrence of osteolysis in bone area through which K-wires pass, with fractures due to trauma occurring more easily in those areas due to the effect of active movement.

The present study has several limitations that should be acknowledged. First, retrospective nature of the study may cause bias. Second, lack of control group prevents to compare the presented data with other treatment options. Third, relatively shorter follow up time may cause underestimating some complications that can present in long term such as osteoarthtiris. Also patient populations is not enough to demonstrate risk factors for complications.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, good functional results can be achieved with the pin-and-rubber method in selected cases of interphalangeal joint injuries, as this method allows for early movement and does not disrupt the fracture biology. Although the complication rates of this method are relatively low, it should be kept in mind that condylar fractures may occur, especially due to osteolysis.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: This study was designed as a retrospective case series. Approval was obtained from the Erciyes University Clinical Research Ethics Committee, (2018/516, 17.10.2018) before the research began.

REFERENCES

- Agee JM. Unstable fracture dislocations of the proximal interphalangeal joint of the fingers: a preliminary report of a new treatment technique. J Hand Surg Am. 1978;3:386-9.
- Eaton RG, Malerich MM. Volar plate arthroplasty of the proximal interphalangeal joint: a review of ten years' experience. J Hand Surg Am. 1980;5:260-8.

- 3. Lee JY, Teoh LC. Dorsal fracture dislocations of the proximal interphalangeal joint treated by open reduction and interfragmentary screw fixation: indications, approaches and results. J Hand Surg Br. 2006;31:138-46.
- Singh T, Jayawardhana R, Craigen M, Rajaratnam V. Volar buttress plating for unstable dorsal fracture-dislocations of the proximal interphalangeal joint. J Hand Microsurg. 2019;11:106-10.
- Caggiano NM, Harper CM, Rozental TD. Management of proximal interphalangeal joint fracture dislocations. Hand Clin. 2018;34:149-65.
- 6. Agee JM. Unstable fracture dislocations of the proximal interphalangeal joint. Treatment with the force couple splint. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1987:101-12.
- Gonzalez RM, Hammert WC. Dorsal fracture-dislocations of the proximal interphalangeal joint. J Hand Surg Am. 2015;40:2453-5.
- Agee J. Treatment principles for proximal and middle phalangeal fractures. Orthop Clin North Am. 1992;23:35-40.
- Stern PJ, Roman RJ, Kiefhaber TR, McDonough JJ. Pilon fractures of the proximal interphalangeal joint. J Hand Surg Am. 1991;16:844-50.
- 10. Breahna A, Mishra A, Arrowsmith J, Lindau T. The management of acute fracture dislocations of proximal interphalangeal joints: a systematic review. J Plast Surg Hand Surg. 2020;54:323-7.
- 11. Aladin A, Davis TR. Dorsal fracture-dislocation of the proximal interphalangeal joint: a comparative study of percutaneous Kirschner wire fixation versus open reduction and internal fixation. J Hand Surg Br. 2005;30:120-8.
- 12. Demino C, Yates M, Fowler JR. Surgical management of proximal interphalangeal joint fracture-dislocations: a review of outcomes. Hand (N Y). 2021;16:453-60.
- van Onselen EB, Karim RB, Hage JJ, Ritt MJ. Prevalence and distribution of hand fractures. J Hand Surg Br. 2003;28:491-5.
- Kneser U, Goldberg E, Polykandriotis E, et al. Biomechanical and functional analysis of the pins and rubbers tractions system for treatment of proximal interphalangeal joint fracture dislocations. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg. 2009;129:29-37.
- Allison DM. Fractures of the base of the middle phalanx treated by a dynamic external fixation device. J Hand Surg Br. 1996;21:305-10.
- 16. De Smet L, Boone P. Treatment of fracture-dislocation of the proximal interphalangeal joint using the Suzuki external fixator. J Orthop Trauma. 2002;16:668-71.
- 17. Keramidas E, Solomos M, Page RE, Miller G. The Suzuki frame for complex intra-articular fractures of the proximal interphalangeal joint of the fingers. Ann Plast Surg. 2007;58:484-8.
- Debus G, Courvoisier A, Wimsey S, et al. Pins and rubber traction system for intra-articular proximal interphalangeal joint fractures revisited. J Hand Surg Eur Vol. 2010;35:396-401.

- 19. Agarwal AK, Karri V, Pickford MA. Avoiding pitfalls of the pins and rubbers traction technique for fractures of the proximal interphalangeal joint. Ann Plast Surg. 2007;58:489-95.
- 20. Ellis SJ, Cheng R, Prokopis P, et al. Treatment of proximal interphalangeal dorsal fracture-dislocation injuries with dynamic external fixation: a pins and rubber band system. J Hand Surg Am. 2007;32:1242-50.
- 21. Finsen V. Suzuki's pins and rubber traction for fractures of the base of the middle phalanx. J Plast Surg Hand Surg. 2010;44:209-13.
- 22. Gianakos A, Yingling J, Athens CM, et al. Treatment for acute proximal interphalangeal joint fractures and fracturedislocations: a systematic review of the literature. J Hand Microsurg. 2020;12:S9-15.

- 23. Abou Elatta MM, Assal F, Basheer HM, et al. The use of dynamic external fixation in the treatment of dorsal fracture subluxations and pilon fractures of finger proximal interphalangeal joints. J Hand Surg Eur Vol. 2017;42:182-7.
- 24. Kiral A, Erken HY, Akmaz I, et al. Pins and rubber band traction for treatment of comminuted intra-articular fractures in the hand. J Hand Surg Am. 2014;39:696-705.
- 25. Mabvuure NT, Pinto-Lopes R, Sierakowski A. Management of intraarticular proximal interphalangeal joint fracturedislocations and pilon fractures with the Ligamentotaxor® device. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg. 2020;140:1133-41.
- 26. de Soras X, de Mourgues P, Guinard D, Moutet F. Pins and rubbers traction system. J Hand Surg Br. 1997;22:730-5.



Comparative Analysis of Lateral Radiography and Magnetic Resonance Imaging in the Diagnosis of Lumbar Disc Herniation

Ismail Kaya, IHuseyin Yakar

Niğde Ömer Halisdemir University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Neurosurgery, Niğde, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.

Abstract

Aim: This article investigates the use of X-ray as a cost-effective and feasible alternative to magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) for diagnosing lumbar disc herniation (LDH), a common condition with significant economic impact.

Material and Method: We assessed the diagnostic efficacy of lumbar lateral radiography (LLR) in identifying LDH. The study cohort formed from patients, presenting with lumbalgia or lumbosciatalgia. Participants who gave consent and had both MRI and LLR within a one-month period were included. Data normality was evaluated, employing the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test for nonparametric data. Variables were represented as means ± standard deviation, analyzed using the Wilcoxon test, with a p-value of less than 0.05 indicating statistical significance.

Results: The study involved 436 patients, 56.8% female and 43.2% male, ranging in age from 18 to 75 years. No significant gender, age, or Body Mass Index (BMI)-related differences were observed in the presence of LDH on radiographs. However, significant differences were noted at the L5-S1 and L4-L5 levels. The LLR showed a sensitivity of 94%, specificity of 95%, and a high agreement of 96.7% among evaluators.

Conclusion: Study concludes that LLR achieves a diagnostic success rate comparable to Lumbar MRI for most LDH cases. Notably, it is crucial to employ LLR even in patients presenting with "red flag" signs. LLR stands out as a cost-effective and rapid diagnostic alternative in the assessment of LDH. Nonetheless, it is important to acknowledge that MRI continues to be indispensable in more complex cases or for patients exhibiting specific clinical symptoms.

Keywords: Lumbar lateral radiography, lumbar disc herniation, lumbar magnetic resonance imaging, comparative analysis

INTRODUCTION

Lumbar disc herniation (LDH) is a prevalent condition, ranking as the second most common reason for medical consultations and hospitalizations (1,2). It accounts for 15% of all workforce losses and is the leading cause of disability in individuals under 45 years old (1). Given its impact, financial investments in diagnosing and treating LDH hold significant economic importance (3). In 2020, according to data from the Social Security Institution in our country, there were 86,386 new cases of LDH (3). The expenditure on surgical treatments for these cases was approximately 127 million Turkish Liras, representing only about 2% of the disease's total cost (3). This figure does not include investments in healthcare facilities or the indirect costs of workforce losses (3,4).

Currently, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) is the most commonly utilized diagnostic tool for LDH, primarily due to its evidence-based effectiveness (5). Despite being the gold standard for etiological diagnosis, MRI has notable limitations, including long waiting times for appointments and high costs associated with installation, maintenance, and staffing (3). Additionally, MRI is not suitable for patients with certain medical devices or conditions such as pacemakers, stents, metallic fixators, or claustrophobia (6).

In contrast, X-ray, a simpler and less expensive imaging modality, is underutilized in neurosurgery training and practice, although it plays a crucial role in diagnosing bone pathologies (7,8). While not typically employed for diagnosing LDH, lumbar lateral radiography (LLR) is instrumental in surgical level determination, investigating

CITATION

Kaya I, Yakar H. Comparative Analysis of Lateral Radiography and Magnetic Resonance Imaging in the Diagnosis of Lumbar Disc Herniation. Med Records. 2025;7(1):31-7. DOI:1037990/medr.1555904

Received: 25.09.2024 Accepted: 14.10.2024 Published: 25.12.2024

Corresponding Author: Ismail Kaya, Niğde Ömer Halisdemir University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Neurosurgery, Niğde, Türkiye

E-mail: hekimikaya@gmail.com
has further facilitated this observation (9).

muscle spasm etiology, assessing spinal alignment, and identifying various pathologies, including congenital/ acquired anatomical disorders, tuberculosis or brucella spondylitis, and trauma-related injuries (7-9). Over the years, we have noticed during patient examinations that it is possible to observe disc traces in LLR. The advent of digital X-ray technology, with its adjustable dosing capabilities,

It is important to note that early diagnostic interventions using advanced technology do not necessarily contribute to the natural healing process of LDH (6). While a small subset of patients requires surgical intervention, a significant portion undergoes MRI due to legal and social reasons, despite the potential for diagnosis through X-ray (3,5,7-9). This overreliance on MRI has prompted a reevaluation of whether LLR could serve as a cost-effective alternative to alleviate the financial burden of more expensive imaging modalities.

This study aims to explore the feasibility of substituting lumbar MRI (LMRI) with LLR for diagnosing LDH. Given the financial burden of MRI on the health system and its widespread use (3,5), this research seeks to determine whether LLR, being cheaper, easier, and faster, could be a viable alternative under specific conditions.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

From March 2022 to August 2023, a research study was conducted at the Nigde Ömer Halisdemir University Faculty of Medicine Training and Research Hospital, Department of Neurosurgery. This study aimed to evaluate the effectiveness of LLR in diagnosing LDH. Eligible patients included those who visited the clinic with lumbalgia/ lumbosciatalgia symptoms and met the following criteria:

- Aged between 18 and 85 years. .
- Gave consent to participate in the study.
- Underwent both LMRI and LLR within a one-month interval.
 - Had both LMRI and LLR records available in the Hospital's PACS (Picture archiving and communication system) system.

- Experienced persistent back pain unresponsive to treatment or developed neurological deficits, and subsequently underwent an LMRI.
- Were new patients previously treated with an LMRI, unresponsive to pain treatment, scheduled for surgery, and had an LLR to determine the surgical level.

The study did not involve additional tests beyond those indicated for patients' existing conditions. Thus, existing LMRIs and LLRs were analyzed. Also, demographic data were collected and anonymized.

Patients were excluded from the study if they had contraindications for MRI (e.g., metal implants, claustrophobia, pacemakers) or X-ray (e.g., pregnancy), or if they had undergone previous lumbar surgeries, suffered from lumbar vertebral fractures, had congenital or acquired lumbar spinal stenosis, lumbar scoliosis greater than 10 degrees, lumbar spondylolisthesis, Paget's disease, were undergoing long-term steroid therapy, had renal colic, or presented with inadequate or inappropriate imaging.

For adequate LLR, criteria ensured:

- Comprehensive visibility of the lumbar spine from T12/ L1 to L5/S1.
- Clear display of superimposed structures including the greater sciatic notches, superior articulating facets, and both superior and inferior endplates.
- Adequate image penetration and contrast, emphasizing trabecular and cortical bones of lumbar vertebral bodies.

Anonymized LLRs were independently evaluated by two authors, focusing on disc findings between L2-3 and L5-S1, due to their clinical importance (10). Patients were grouped into three age categories (18-40, 41-65, 66-85 years), and further divided based on Body Mass Index (BMI) into three subgroups (<24.9, 25-29.9, >30), creating nine evaluation groups. Disc herniations were classified into five types: natural, bulging, protrusion, extrusion, and sequestration. Disc findings on LMRI were analyzed and compared with disagreements considered inaccurate (Figure 1).



Figure 1. LMRI and LLR comparative examples of different types of disc herniation at various levels; although active digital dosing cannot be performed on the images following shows: A. LMRI and LLR showing bulging at L3-L4 and other natural levels; B. LMRI and LLR showing protrusion at L2-L3, bulging at L4-L5, and other natural levels; C. LMRI and LLR showing extrusion at L5-S1 and other natural levels; D. LMRI and LLR showing sequestration at L5-S1 and other natural levels

In LLRs, we classified and assessed slight bulging as "bulging", further protrusion as "protrusion", sagging without detachment from the disk space either superiorly or inferiorly as "extrusion", and the separation of the fragment as "sequestration" (Figure 1).

LMRIs were conducted using a 1.5-Tesla device (Magnetom Aera, Siemens, Germany), and LLRs with a digital X-ray device (Jumong, Sghealthcare, South Korea). Radiological measurements were utilized with the KarMed PACS. Data analysis was performed using SPSS (ver: 22.0) and Microsoft Excel (version 17), with Photoshop CS3 and Microsoft PowerPoint (version 17) for image editing.

Statistical Analysis

The study began with demographic data distribution analyses. LLRs effectiveness was evaluated through specificity, sensitivity, positive and negative predictive values, and test validity calculations. Data normality was assessed, and variables were presented as means±standard deviation. Nonparametric tests like the Kolmogorov– Smirnov and Wilcoxon tests were used. A p-value of less than 0.05 was deemed statistically significant.

RESULTS

In this study, 436 patients were evaluated, consisting of 248 females (56.8%) and 188 males (43.2%). The analysis revealed no significant correlation between gender and the presence of disc findings in LLRs or across BMI groups (p>0.05).

The age distribution of the patients ranged from 18 to 75 years. The median age was 44, with an average age of 44.69 and a standard deviation of 13.44 (Figure 2). Statistical analysis showed no significant correlation between age and the presence of disc findings in LLRs or BMI groups (p>0.05).



Figure 2. Age distribution histogram

The BMI of the patients varied from 14.69 to 48.89, with an average BMI of 27.77 and a median of 27.61. There was no significant correlation found between BMI and the presence of disc findings in LLRs (p>0.05).

In the cohort, a total of 1744 spinal levels were examined. The findings indicated that 1124 levels (70.18%) showed no pathologic disc involvement, while 520 levels (29.81%) exhibited pathologic disc findings. The breakdown of these findings was as follows: 40 levels (2.29%) at L2-L3, 96 levels (5.50%) at L3-L4, 214 levels (12.21%) at L4-L5, and 171 levels (9.80%) at L5-S1. Of these, 45 cases (2.58%) were identified as requiring surgical intervention for LDH (Table 1). Notably, a significant correlation was observed at the L5-S1 level and a lesser correlation at the L4-L5 level for inaccurate or inadequate disc findings in LLRs (p<0.05) (Table 2).

Table 1. Table showing the distribution of the examined levels according to the investigated factors.								
	BMI* ≤24.9		BMI 25-29.9		BMI ≥30		Overall	
	Number	Percentage	Number	Percentage	Number	Percentage	Number	Percentage
Pathological discs with L2-L3 level**	7	1.39%	19	2.81%	14	2.47%	40	2.29%
Pathological discs with L3-L4 level**	24	4.77%	37	5.47%	35	6.19%	96	5.50%
Pathological discs with L4-L5 level**	58	11.53%	83	12.27%	72	12.74%	214	12.21%
Pathological discs with L5-S1 level**	53	10.53%	68	10.05%	50	8.84%	171	9.80%
Levels requiring surgery***	16	3.18%	13	1.92%	16	2.83%	45	2.58%
All levels observed with LDH****	142	28.23%	207	30.62%	171	30.26%	520	29.81%
All levels without LDH	361	71.76%	469	69.38%	394	69.73%	1224	70.18%
All levels examined	503	28.84%	676	38.76%	565	32.39%	1744	100%

*Body mass index; ** Disk herniations at this level include bulging, protrusion, extrusion, and sequestration; *** Disk herniations at every level including extrusions and sequestrations require surgery; **** Disk herniations at every level include bulging, protrusion, extrusion, and sequestration; LDH: lumbar disc herniation

Table 2. Statistics results*						
BMI**	L2-L3 level	L3-L4 level	L4-L5 level	L5-S1 level		
≤24.9	0.157	1.000	0.751	0.105		
25-29.9	0.141	0.785	0.050	0.009		
≥30	1.000	0.180	0.129	0.176		
Overall	0.071	0.476	0.021	0.002		

* Samples related to the study were analyzed using the Wilcoxon signed-rank test, one of the nonparametric tests; the significance level for the test values was set at p<0.05, with a confidence interval of 95%; ** Body mass index

Among the levels assessed, 70.18% showed no pathologic disc changes, 14.63% exhibited bulging, 11.75% exhibited protrusion, 2.52% exhibited extrusion, and 0.91% exhibited sequestration. Accuracy rates in identifying these conditions were 97.78% in levels with no pathologic disc findings, 94.34% in bulging, 89.76% in protrusion, 79.1% in

extrusion, and 76.25% in sequestration.

The overall diagnostic performance of LLR was evaluated, revealing a sensitivity of 94%, specificity of 95%, a positive predictive value of 88%, a negative predictive value of 97%, and an overall test validity of 94% (Table 3).

Table 3. Evaluation of LLR* in the diagnosis of LDH**					
	BMI*** ≤24.9	BMI 25-29.9	BMI ≥30	Overall	
Sensitivity	93%	94%	94%	94%	
Specificity	95%	94%	95%	95%	
Positive predictive value	88%	86%	90%	88%	
Negative predictive value	97%	97%	97%	97%	
Test validity	95%	94%	95%	94%	
t lumber leteral rediegraphy tt	Lumber dies bernietien th	* Dody mago inday			

* Lumbar lateral radiography, ** Lumbar disc herniation, *** Body mass index

Additionally, there was a high degree of agreement between evaluators in analyzing LLRs, with a concordance rate of 96.7% across 1687 spinal levels from a total of 1744.

DISCUSSION

LDH is a multifactorial condition influenced by genetic, inflammatory, traumatic, and nutritional factors (6). Affecting primarily the 20-40 age group worldwide, it is increasingly observed in younger individuals due to paravertebral muscle weakness and weight gain as a result of a sedentary lifestyle brought about by technological advancements (11,12). In fact, LDH accounts for twothirds of all general practitioner consultations for ambulatory patients (8). These conditions pose significant economic challenges due to lost work hours and the costs associated with diagnosis and treatment (3,13). In this study we conducted a comparative analysis to determine the extent to which LLR could fulfill a significant portion of the needs typically addressed by the more costly LMRIs. Apart from three articles that did not directly investigate this specific issue, there is no other study in the literature addressing this comparison (7-9).

Our findings indicated that the gender distribution in

our study mirrors the general population (14), with a slight female predominance. This aligned with previous researches (15-18) suggesting that women may experience low back pain more intensely. However, gender did not significantly influence the need for surgical intervention (p>0.05).

The age distribution of our study population aligned with general epidemiological data (Figure 2) (11,12). The absence of a significant correlation between age, and disc findings in LLRs, or BMI groups may be attributed to our selection criteria, which excluded many age-related conditions like previous lumbar surgeries, lumbar vertebral fractures, acquired lumbar spinal stenosis, lumbar scoliosis more than >10 degrees, lumbar spondylolisthesis, long-term steroid therapy. Yet, these exclusions should not substantially affect our findings, as these conditions represent a small portion of the general population requiring more detailed investigations than X-ray.

One notable finding was the minimal impact of BMI on the diagnosis of LDH from LLRs. Despite X-ray imaging quality typically decreasing with increased tissue thickness, modern X-ray devices with automatic dosing and digital enhancements allowed for successful imaging across all BMI groups.

On the contrary, a drop in LLR accuracy rate was observed at certain spinal levels, particularly at the L5-S1 and, to a lesser extent, L4-L5 levels. This was mainly due to the overlapping shadow of the iliac wings. Hence physicians must be alert to artifacts from superimposed tissues and spinal axis disorders, which result from the twodimensional structure of X-rays.

When we shift our focus to the types of LDH, we found that the distribution of herniation types were consistent with that in the general population (19). Although detecting sequestered and extruded herniations on LLR was more challenging, most of these cases were located at the L4-L5 and L5-S1 levels, where the iliac wings often obscure imaging. Even so, the rate of detecting these herniations on LLRs was not less than 76.25%. When the factor of level is excluded, the predictive accuracy of LLR was in the 90th percentile (Table 3). Given the relatively low prevalence of these types of LDH, their presence did not significantly diminish the utility of LLR (Table 3). Additionally, the clinical severity and high likelihood of neurological deficits in these patients generally necessitate more advanced diagnostic tools. Therefore, greater caution should be exercised in complex cases.

In our comparative analysis between LLRs and LMRI, we observed high success rates. reliability of the study was further enhanced by the fact that both evaluators provided highly similar results, and the mismatched results were scrutinized among the inaccurate levels.

According to the literature and our data, although LDH is a financially burdensome disease that diminishes quality of life (1,2,13), it is inherently prone to spontaneous regression (6), rarely leads to morbidity, and seldom requires surgery (3,6,13). As demonstrated in our study, LLRs are capable of diagnosing the vast majority of patients. In their detailed analysis, Jarvik and Deyo revealed that 95% of lower back pain originates from benign processes (20). They stated that only 0.7% of patients presenting to primary healthcare with a diagnosis of lumbago had undiagnosed metastatic neoplasms, 0.01% had pyogenic and granulomatous discitis, epidural abscess, or viral processes including spinal infections, and 0.3% suffered from non-infectious inflammatory spondyloarthropathies such as ankylosing spondylitis (20). They also found that osteoporotic compression fractures were identified as the most common etiological factor in only 4% of cases (20). The authors emphasized that the vast majority of these patients indeed recovered, many had musculoskeletal injuries or sprains, and up to 85% of patients had nonspecific degenerative phenomena for which no definitive diagnosis can be made (20).

At this stage, we need to mention the usage habits of advanced imaging techniques. Even when patients are examined using advanced imaging techniques, there is no evidence that these results lead to improved outcomes (21). Most spinal imaging is generally unnecessary and does not contribute to patient assessment, as our data also proved (21). Gilbert and colleagues' research highlighted the importance of using advanced imaging techniques such as Computed tomography (CT) or MRI in patients

presenting with back pain only when there is a clear clinical indication (21). Similarly, Chou and his team concluded that LMRI does not improve clinical outcomes unless there are symptoms of a serious underlying condition for back pain (22). Carragee and colleagues conducted LMRI tests on asymptomatic individuals engaged in physically demanding jobs with a risk of back and leg pain and followed these patients periodically for five years (23). During this period, a second LMRI was performed when a subgroup of these subjects presented to the clinic with complaints of acute back or leg pain (23). However, less than 5% of the LMRIs performed for acute back or leg pain revealed clinically significant new findings (23). The authors emphasized that the degree of functional disability resulting from back and/or leg pain is a better indicator than morphological imaging results (23). For clinicians and patients, the value of advanced imaging techniques like MRI and CT emerges only when they facilitate the diagnostic process, rule out certain malignant conditions, or provide opportunities for evidence-based therapeutic interventions (24). These techniques can play a critical role in elucidating complex medical conditions and in developing treatment plans for specific diseases (23). Especially in cases where diagnosis is challenging and specific treatment strategies need to be determined, the use of these techniques is particularly valuable (23). These findings underscore the importance of preventing unnecessary imaging in the treatment of back pain.

Finally, in today's digital X-ray technology, radiation exposure has been significantly reduced (25). Even its contraindications have become relative (25). Moreover, X-ray imaging cost is incomparably lower than any other medical imaging technique (8). Through the use of advanced digital X-ray devices and appropriate techniques, we have achieved comparable results in our clinical practice, as evidenced by our data.

During our studies, we have gained significant experience related to the topic, which also we would like to share. X-ray imaging offers a broader perspective than MRI, enabling us to quickly and economically make accurate decisions. There are important cases on the subject. Firstly, although it does not provide information about disc spaces because of angles, it is indispensable in diagnosing and monitoring scoliosis. X-ray images are also extremely useful in demonstrating degeneration. Similarly, they are essential in the follow-up of ankylosing spondylitis. Also evaluating metallic implants, X-ray images are the most important modality. Even though LLR does not directly provide side information about LDH, it is possible to infer the side based on the bending caused by muscle spasms observed in anterior-posterior radiographs and through physical examination.

In light of all this information, our paper concludes that, except for patients with contraindications, an LLR should first be performed in every case. For patients without red flag signs (6) (Table 4) and no additional pathology found in the LLR, we recommend management with appropriate muscle relaxant medical therapy, rest, and psychosocial support. For patients without red flag signs (6) (Table 4)

and pathology found in the LLR, we recommend continuing follow-up and treatment according to the pathology and physical examination findings. In patients with red flag signs (6) (Table 4), advancement to further investigation is recommended based on LLR and physical examination findings. For those managed with muscle relaxant medical therapy, rest, and psychosocial support who do not respond to treatment, it is advised first to check treatment compliance and then, if compliance is confirmed, proceed to further investigation if not ensure treatment compliance. In those who have contraindications to X-ray imaging, if there are red flag signs (6) (Table 4) according to the current follow-up and treatment protocol (6), further investigation and treatment is required according to physical examination findings if not appropriate muscle relaxant medical therapy, rest, and psychosocial support should be provided. For those managed with muscle relaxant medical therapy, rest, and psychosocial support who do not respond to treatment, it is advised first to check treatment compliance and then, if compliance is confirmed, proceed to further investigation if not ensure treatment compliance. Current practice suggests monitoring patients without red flag signs (6) (Table 4), for about a month (Figure 3) (6). Although sources indicate that this does not lead to significant time loss (8), diagnosing many pathologies without delay using an inexpensive imaging method like LLR is not only cost-effective but also undeniably beneficial for patients.

Table 4. Table showing "Red flags" (5) for patients with low back problems				
Condition	Red flags			
	Age>50 or <20 years			
Cancer or infection	History of cancer			
	Unexplained weight loss			
	Immunosuppression			
	Urinary tract infection, intravenous drug abuse, fever, or chills			
	Back pain has not been improved with rest			
	History of significant trauma			
Spinal fracture	Prolonged use of steroids			
	Age>70 years			
	Acute onset of urinary retention or overflow incontinence			
Cauda equina syndrome or severe neurologic compromise	Fecal incontinence or loss of anal sphincter tone			
	Saddle anesthesia			
	Global or progressive weakness in the lower extremities			



Figure 3. Final algorithm

CONCLUSION

Overall, our study concludes that LLR achieves a diagnostic success rate comparable to LMRI for most LDH cases. Notably, it is crucial to employ LLR even in patients presenting with "red flag" signs. This practice enables a prompt transition to more comprehensive investigations if needed. LLR stands out as a cost-effective and rapid diagnostic alternative in the assessment of LDH. Nonetheless, it is important to acknowledge that MRI continues to be indispensable in more complex cases or for patients exhibiting specific clinical symptoms.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: Study was conducted in accordance with the Helsinki Declaration of 1975 (as revised in 2004 and 2008). Patient consent forms were archived at Niğde Ömer Halisdemir University Hospital. The study received approval from the institutional non-interventional clinical research ethics committee (2022-21).

REFERENCES

- 1. Cunningham LS, Kelsey JL. Epidemiology of musculoskeletal impairments and associated disability. Am J Public Health. 1984;74:574-9.
- Cypress BK. Characteristics of physician visits for back symptoms: a national perspective. Am J Public Health. 1983;73:389-95.
- Social Security Institution. SSI statistical yearbooks. https:// www.sgk.gov.tr/Istatistik/Yillik/fcd5e59b-6af9-4d90-a451ee7500eb1cb4 access date 10.12.2024.
- 4. Apaydin AS, Bozyiğit B, Koç-Apaydin Z, et al. Effects of different surgical treatments on pain, disability, anxiety and quality of life in lumbar disc herniation. Efectos de diferentes tratamientos quirúrgicos sobre el dolor, la discapacidad, la ansiedad y la calidad de vida en la hernia de disco lumbar. Cir Cir. 2024;92:39-45.
- Anadolu Agency. Türkiye ranks first in the OECD in terms of MRI application frequency. https://www.aa.com.tr/tr/saglik/ turkiye-mr-uygulama-sikliginda-oecdde-ilk-sirada/518492 access date 20.09.2024.
- 6. Greenberg MS. Handbook of Neurosurgery. 7th ed. Thieme; 2010;129-34.
- Jin L, Zhang L, Guo J, et al. Anteroposterior lumbar spine X-ray of L5 lamina for screening of possibility of lower lumbar disc herniation in young adults. Research Square. Preprint posted October 29, 2020. doi:10.21203/rs.3.rs-66056/v2.
- Deyo RA, Diehl AK. Lumbar spine films in primary care: current use and effects of selective ordering criteria. J Gen Intern Med. 1986;1:20-5.
- Tao S, Jin L, Hou Z, et al. A new radiographic feature of lower lumbar disc herniation in young patients. Int Orthop. 2018;42:583-6.
- 10. Ali A, Khan SA, Aurangzeb A, et al. Lumbar disc herniation in patients with chronic backache. J Ayub Med Coll Abbottabad. 2013;25:68-70.
- 11. Arts MP, Kuršumović A, Miller LE, et al. Comparison of treatments for lumbar disc herniation: systematic review with network meta-analysis. Medicine (Baltimore). 2019;98:e14410.
- 12. Basic Research and Transformation Society,Professional Committee of Spine and Spinal Cord,Chinese Association of Rehabilitation Medicine. Zhonghua Wai Ke Za Zhi. 2022;60:401-8.

- 13. Deyo RA, Mirza SK, Turner JA, Martin BI. Overtreating chronic back pain: time to back off?. J Am Board Fam Med. 2009;22:62-8.
- Chao F, Gerland P, Cook AR, Alkema L. Systematic assessment of the sex ratio at birth for all countries and estimation of national imbalances and regional reference levels. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2019;116:9303-11. Erratum in: Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2019;116:13700.
- 15. Keefe FJ, Block AR. Development of an observation method for assessing pain behavior in low back pain patients. Behavior Therapy 1982;13:363-75.
- 16. Unruh AM. Gender variations in clinical pain experience. Pain. 1996;65:123-67.
- 17. Sullivan MJL, Tripp DA, Santor D. Gender differences in pain and pain behaviour: the role of catastrophizing. Cog Ther Res. 2000;24:121-34.
- Rosenstiel AK, Keefe FJ. The use of coping strategies in chronic low back pain patients: relationship to patient characteristics and current adjustment. Pain. 1983;17:33-44.
- 19. Hung IY, Shih TT, Chen BB, et al. Prediction of lumbar disc bulging and protrusion by anthropometric factors and disc morphology. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2021;18:2521.
- Jarvik JG, Deyo RA. Diagnostic evaluation of low back pain with emphasis on imaging. Ann Intern Med. 2002;137:586-97.
- 21. Gilbert FJ, Grant AM, Gillan MG, et al. Low back pain: influence of early MR imaging or CT on treatment and outcomemulticenter randomized trial. Radiology. 2004;231:343-51.
- 22. Chou R, Fu R, Carrino JA, Deyo RA. Imaging strategies for low-back pain: systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet. 2009;373:463-72.
- 23. Carragee E, Alamin T, Cheng I, et al. Are first-time episodes of serious LBP associated with new MRI findings?. Spine J. 2006;6:624-35.
- 24. Ehler E, Nakládalová M, Heřman M, Urban P. Lumbar spine disorder – the new occupational disease. Ceska a Slovenska Neurologie a Neurochirurgie. 2022;85:351-62.
- 25. Mattsson S, Leide-Svegborn S, Andersson M. X-ray and molecular imaging during pregnancy and breastfeedingwhen should we be worried?. Radiat Prot Dosimetry. 2021;195:339-48.

MEDICAL RECORDS-International Medical Journal

Research Article



Comparison of Mid-Long Term Results of Cervical Cage and Cervical Disc Prosthesis in Patients with Single Level Cervical Disc Herniation

Bulent Bozyigit²

¹İstinye University Gaziosmanpaşa Medicalpark Hospital, Department of Neurosurgery, İstanbul, Türkiye ²Private Gözde İzmir Hospital, Department of Neurosurgery, İzmir, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.



Abstract

Aim: Continuous advancements in technology have facilitated the maintenance of spinal biomechanical properties, emphasizing the preservation of functional spinal segments. Therefore, this study focuses on comparing the mid- to long-term outcomes of cervical cage and cervical disc prosthesis (CDP) in patients with single-level cervical disc herniation.

Material and Method: This study included 51 patients diagnosed with cervical disc herniation. Among these, 25 underwent CDP, while 26 received a cervical cage. The mean follow-up period was 7.3 years. All surgeries were performed between 2021 and 2022 at a hospital in Türkiye. It was ensured that none of the patients had a prior history of spinal surgery. The demographics of the two groups were comparable. Radiographic evaluations and clinical outcomes were assessed, focusing on degenerative changes, cervical spine motion, and radicular pain in both groups.

Results: The mean age in the CDP group was 46 years, compared to 43 years in the cervical cage group. Recurrent cervical pain was observed in only one patient in the CDP group, whereas it was reported in eight patients in the cervical cage group over the 7.3-year follow-up period.

Conclusion: In conclusion, CDP was found to be a more effective treatment compared to cervical cage in patients with cervical disc herniation.

Keywords: Cervical cage, cervical disc prosthesis, cervical disc herniation, cervical pain

INTRODUCTION

Cervical disc herniation (CDH) is a common condition which is caused due to the rupture of a disc in a weak spinal area that results in pain and impacts the quality of life due to neurological defect (1). This can be caused due to age, continuous movements or sudden injury (2). The symptoms linked to this disease are neck pain, muscle weakness, numbness (3).

Treatment of CDH depends upon the severity of the disease. The treatment leads to surgery or else there are two other options; cervical disc prostheses (CDP) or cervical cage implants (4). It is highly prevalent in Eurasian Region (Europe and Asia) where doctors are struggling to rule out surgical options (5). The choice in choosing

either cervical cage implant or CDP depends upon the age of the patient, degree of injury, and surgical goals.

Comparing the mid-long term results of surgical treatments of CDH patients is essential in addressing the pain relief and improvement seen in patients post-surgery along with that segment alignment is also monitored (6). Comparison of cost effectiveness helps analyze the procedure's cost and identify ways to perform these procedures more cost-effectively (7).

Cervical cage implants and CDH both procedures offer benefits to patients including improved movement and pain relief but at the same time these procedures have their own challenges for which understanding of regional disparities, patients preference and social and economic

CITATION

Kina H, Bozyigit B. Comparison of Mid-Long Term Results of Cervical Cage and Cervical Disc Prosthesis in Patients with Single Level Cervical Disc Herniation. Med Records. 2025;7(1):38-42. DOI:1037990/medr.1545650

Received: 09.09.2024 Accepted: 04.10.2024 Published: 25.12.2024

Corresponding Author: Hakan Kina, İstinye University Gaziosmanpaşa Medicalpark Hospital, Department of Neurosurgery, İstanbul, Türkiye

E-mail: kinahakan@gmail.com

factors is essential to provide effective care. Ongoing medical research opens the way to advancements in technology all the stakeholders should collectively design strategies in order to face these challenges and provide care to patients with CDH across the region. Proper monitoring and comparison of the two procedures helps clinicians in drawing a review that which procedure works best under which circumstance ultimately providing quality life to patients. The current study will undergo a review which can help doctors in taking decisions regarding surgery for patients with this condition.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

The study was planned as a retrospective comparative study. Ethics committee approval for the study was received from Istinye University human research ethics committee with the date and issue number 24-157. The 8-year postoperative follow-up data of 51 patients who underwent surgery for CDH, including 25 cases of CDP and 26 cases of anterior cervical discectomy and fusion, were retrospectively analyzed. In these file scans, the patients' ages, genders, levels of CDH, and neurological examinations at 8-year postoperative follow-up are included.

Inclusion criteria

- Individuals diagnosed with cervical disc degenerative disease.
- There were no signs of myelopathy in the participants who had radiating pain.
- Patients who had not undergone cervical surgery in the past.
- Patients who are experiencing symptoms of individual or multiple-level diseases.
- Considering the similar demographics observed between the groups, it is probable that gender and age were taken into account.
- Patient candidates who may undergo anterior cervical discectomy with cage implantation or artificial CDP insertion (Prestige II).

Exclusion criteria

- Myelopathy symptoms present.
- Past surgical procedures involving the cervical region.
- Cervical disc replacement and cage implantation are not appropriate procedures for certain individuals.
- Surgical procedures or research results might be compromised in patients with co-morbidities or other serious health issues.
- Lack of competency to offer informed permission.
- Patients whose structural or anatomical anomalies might affect the success or failure of the surgical operations.

During each operation, the single surgeon carried out the procedures in the identical manner. Patients who had not undergone cervical surgery in the past and who were suffering from symptomatic single or multiple level illnesses were eligible to participate in the trial. A total of twenty-five patients were assigned to the Prestige II group, whereas twenty-six patients were assigned to the arthrodesis (control) group. Comparable demographics were found among the cohorts. In each and every one of the patients, the standard right anterior cervical approach was utilized (8,9). In three patients, two-level procedures were conducted, and the disc was removed. This was followed by the placement of a prosthesis of the same size. A similar method was utilized in six patients who were part of the cage group. In order to make a comparison between the therapy groups, standardized clinical outcome measures and radiographic tests were utilized at the required post-operative intervals. The evaluation of each patient included the utilization of static and dynamic cervical spine radiographs, in addition to magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) where it was deemed required. The visual analogue scale for neck and arm discomfort, the neck disability index, and the 36-Item Short Form Health Survey (SF-36) were all components of the clinical examination carried out. The specifics of any difficulties and subsequent surgeries were also taken into consideration.

Statistical Analysis

Power analysis of the study: In our power analysis, it was calculated that the required number of patients should be 52 for the effect size to be 0.70, alpha 0.05, and the power to be 80%. (G*Power 3.1.9.7). Statistical method used in the study: Statistical analysis was carried out using IBM SPSS 19 package program (IBM Software, New York, USA), and the results were expressed as mean±standard deviation for continuous variables, after the normal distribution of continuous variables was confirmed with the Kolmogorov Smirnov test, and Wilcoxon signed rank test was used for dependent continuous variables. The statistical significance level was accepted as 0.05 for all tests.

RESULTS

For this study, the mid-long term results are compared within the context of cervical cage and CDP in patients with single level CDH. For this purpose, two groups of patients, with single level CDH, were taken into account for this purpose. Group 1 included the patients (25 individuals), treated with CDP, while group 2 (26 individuals) included the patients with cervical cage. The mean age of the patients within the CDP group was found to be 46 years, ranging from 30 to 62 years, while the mean age within the cage group was found to be 43 years, ranging from 31 to 61 years.

Distribution of Sex

Table 1 shows the distribution of sex among the included patients for both CDP and cervical cage. For this study, a total of 51 patients with single level CDH were taken into account. 25 of these patients were included in CDP, incorporating 8 male individuals and 17 female individuals, while cervical cage group included a total of 26 patients, integrating 10 male individuals and 16 female individuals.

Table 1. Distributio	n of sex	
Sex	CDP (n=25)	Cervical cage (n=26)
М	8	10
F	17	16

Patient Distribution in CDP Group

Within the context of CDP, 20 patients were presented with paresthesia as well as "unilateral radicular pain (URP)." However, three patients were presented with "bilateral radicular pain" and 9 were presented with deficits of "preoperative focal motor." Table 2 shows that 19 of the cases within the context of CDP group had "single level disc herniation" as shown by MRI, while three of the patients had "two level disc herniation," incorporating 2 consecutive levels. However, three of the patients were also investigated before the operation with discography to ensure the disc as pain pathology.

Table 2. Patient no. and distribution in CDP and cervical cage group				
Level	CDP	Cervical cage		
C4-C5	1			
C5-C6	8	10		
C6-C7	10	10		
C4-C5 & C5-C6	3	2		
C5-C6 & C6-C7	3	4		

Patient Distribution in Cervical Cage Group

For cervical cage group, all incorporated patients were presented with paresthesia and radicular pain, without any motor neurological deficiencies. In this regard, "single level disc herniation," was observed in 20 cases via MRI, while "two level disc herniation," was observed in 6 cases as shown in Table 2.

Mean hospital stay of the patients was found to be 2.6 days within both groups. However, one of the patients in CDP group had "transient recurrent nerve paralysis," which was recovered in a 3-week period.

Follow-Up Results

Figures 1 and 2 show cage placement and disc space within the context of the patient from the associated CDP and cervical cage groups. In 18 cases, restoration was observed in cervical movements within the CDP group within four weeks as shown in Figures 3 and 4. After three months of surgery within 21 patients, the movements range was found to be similar as that of the pre-operative period. However, only 18 cases were capable to engage in their duties at a follow-up of two months. Two of the cases

within the CDP group, lost mobility as observed in their follow-up period. One of this case experienced anterior osteophytes after eight months of the surgery while the other case lost mobility at seven months of operation. Contrarily, the patients of this group had effective neck movement (Figure 5). During the second year of followup, degeneration was observed in radiological findings of one case at upper disc level, incorporating refractory pain to the traditional treatment. This case also went through prosthesis removal, following the fixation of C4-C6 and bone graft fusion, whereas, no difference was observed between cases with one or two levels within the CDP group.



Figure 1. Intraoperative cage placement



Figure 2. a. Intra-operative disc space after removal of disc, b. artificial disc within place



Figure 3. X-ray of cervical presenting "artificial cervical disc" movements



Figure 4. X-ray of cervical, presenting "artificial cervical disc" movements within the patient, incorporating disease at two level



Figure 5. Follow-up shows that patients in cervical cage group, experienced seven time more recurrent pain as compared to CDP group

However, three of the patients who had CDP at multiple levels, had a follow-up of more than eighty months and they were found to have good mobility, as same as that of single-level CDP. However, in cervical cage group, one of the patients established arm pain which worsened over time. Within this context, neurological deficit was also observed because of the lesion of root nerve which took place during the surgery. For this purpose, analgesics were used for treating the pain. One of the patients from this group experienced nerve paralysis which was observed during the 4-week period after the surgery.

One of the patients with discectomy at double level, experienced wound hematoma which was needed to be evacuated urgently. Three of the patients had recurrent cervical pain, requiring local infiltration within a period of 3 to 6 months. Moreover, at 9 months, one of the patients went through rhizotomy in order to deal with consistent cervical pain. After cage removal is one of the patients, he was again operated after one year of surgery, leading to the application of circumferential arthrodesis at the center during the follow-up. In addition, during the followup, four patients for the cage group showed cervical degeneration, which later changed over a period of four years. In a follow-up period of 7.3 years, degenerative changes were observed at other cervical spine level in one of the patients from CDP group, while such changes were observed in seven patients from the cervical cage group (Figure 5).

DISCUSSION

Discussion revealed that individuals with single level CDH have their mid-long term results examined in relation to the cervical cage and CDP. A total of two patient groups with single-level CDH were considered for this purpose. Patients receiving CDP treatment and that receiving cervical cage treatment were categorized into two groups, with patients with paresthesia and URP seen in CDP settings. Some patients had pre-operative focal motor deficits and some patients had bilateral radicular pain. It demonstrates that, different cases in the CDP group had single level disc herniation, whereas some of the patients had two level disc herniation.

To confirm that the disc was the source of the discomfort, discography was used to examine the patients before the procedure. The cervical cage group patients experienced paresthesia and radicular discomfort without any motor or neurological system impairments (10). Cage location and disc space was evaluated in patients from both the CDP and cervical cage groups. Recovery of cervical motion was noted in the CDP group within four weeks. Three months after surgery, the range of motion for patients was determined to be comparable to the pre-operative period. The patients, however, remained able to perform their tasks after a two-month follow-up. Some patients in the CDP group experienced loss of mobility due to complications such as osteophyte formation. After eight months of surgery, one patient developed anterior osteophytes, and seven months after the procedure, the other patient lost movement (11). In contrast, the patients in this group were able to move their necks well. Degeneration was noted in one case's radiological results at the upper disc level during the second year of follow-up, adding refractory pain to the conventional therapy. After fixation and bone graft fusion, this patient also underwent prosthesis removal; nevertheless, within the CDP group, there was no distinction between cases with one or two levels (12). Nevertheless, after a follow-up of more than eighty months, the patients with multiple levels of CDP were found to have good mobility, comparable to that of single-level CDP. Patient in the cervical cage group, however, started experiencing arm discomfort that got worse with time. In this setting, a neurological impairment was also noted as a result of the root nerve damage that occurred during the surgical procedure (13). Analgesics were utilised to relieve the pain for this reason. During the four weeks following surgery, one of the patients in this group had nerve paralysis. One of the patients undergoing a double-level discectomy developed a wound hematoma that required immediate evacuation. Within three to six months, patients required local anesthetic injections due to persistent cervical discomfort. Patients underwent another operation a year after removing their cage, resulting in circumferential arthrodesis. Cage group patients experienced cervical deterioration, while CDP group patients experienced degenerative changes. Seven patients from cage group also experienced these changes.

Implications

Within the context of the Turkish healthcare system, the exploration regarding mid-long term results in patients with single-level CDH undergoing either CDP or cervical cage interventions has important implications. With regard to clinical practitioners, it provides valuable insights in order to guide them to enhance the quality of patient care need to follow the most effective and patient friendly intervention. Following the economic constraints, the study's findings have the potential influence regarding the decisions of resource allocations which postulates that which one is more cost-effective and yields superior outcomes so that resource distribution can optimize patient care and allocate resources efficiently. Furthermore, implications intricate with surgical intervention trends in Türkiye. Based on the relative effectiveness of these treatments, surgeons may change their preferences which might have an effect on national training in specialization. The findings of the study may have a wider use in the development of health protocols and policies pertaining to the treatment of CDH in Türkiye. Based on these findings, national healthcare guidelines may be modified by incorporating comparisons of mid- to long-term outcomes of cervical cages and CDP that surpass prompt clinical decision making in Türkiye's healthcare system.

Limitations

A retrospective, single-center, cross-sectional study comparing the mid-term and long-term outcomes of cervical cage and CDP in patients with single-level CDH has valuable findings, but its authenticity and reliability are limited due to the fact that the primary data collection was from specific groups of people. Therefore, it was quite difficult to obtain the necessary data. In addition, since the current study focused on data from Türkiye, its results may not be representative of cervical cage and CDP in other world economies. The retrospective and observational design of the study precludes us from drawing any conclusions about causality. Future studies should consider other sources to compare with major world economies. In addition, the current study focused on two groups of patients with single-level CDH. There are also various other factors that may have a major impact on these groups and may affect the sample by understanding it. However, it is not possible to evaluate the impact of all important factors in a single study.

CONCLUSION

A total of 51 cases were included in this study. 26 had cervical cage surgery and 25 had CDP. For this investigation, a mean follow-up time of 7.3 years was taken into consideration. None of the participants in this study had a history of prior surgery. Clinical results and radiographic evaluations in both groups examined degenerative changes, cervical spine mobility, and radicular discomfort. Only one patient in the CDP group experienced recurrent cervical discomfort, whereas eight people in the cage group did so over a mean of 7.3 years which suggest that for patients with CDH, CDP was a more successful therapy than cervical cage.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: Ethics committee approval for the study was received from İstinye University Human Research Ethics Committee with the date and issue number 24-157.

REFERENCES

- 1. Mazas S, Benzakour A, Castelain JE, et al. Cervical disc herniation: which surgery?. Int Orthop. 2019;43:761-6.
- Guan Q, Xing F, Long Y, Xiang Z. Cervical intradural disc herniation: A systematic review. J Clin Neurosci. 2018;48:1-6.
- 3. Apaydin AS, Güneş M, Yana M. Investigation of functional disability, pain, and quality of life in patients with cervical radiculopathy by gender. Med Records. 2024;6:14-9.
- Gunasekaran A, de Los Reyes NKM, Walters J, Kazemi N. Clinical presentation, diagnosis, and surgical treatment of spontaneous cervical intradural disc herniations: a review of the literature. World Neurosurg. 2018;109:275-84.
- 5. Kose SG, Kose HC, Celikel F, et al. Chronic pain: an update of clinical practices and advances in chronic pain management. Eurasian J Med. 2022;54:57-61.
- 6. Peng Z, Hong Y, Meng Y, Liu H. A meta-analysis comparing the short-and mid-to long-term outcomes of artificial cervical disc replacement (ACDR) with anterior cervical discectomy and fusion (ACDF) for the treatment of cervical degenerative disc disease. Int Orthop. 2022;46:1609-25.
- 7. Emami A, Coban D, Changoor S, et al. Comparing midterm outcomes between ACDF and minimally invasive posterior cervical foraminotomy in the treatment of cervical radiculopathy. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2022;47:324-30.
- 8. Health Quality Ontario. Cervical artificial disc replacement versus fusion for cervical degenerative disc disease: a health technology assessment. Ont Health Technol Assess Ser. 2019;19:1-223.
- He A, Xie D, Qu B, et al. Comparison between cervical disc arthroplasty and conservative treatment for patients with single level cervical radiculopathy at C5/6. Int J Surg. 2018;54:124-8.
- Irmak A, Söylemez B. One-year outcome comparison of polyetheretherketone cage and disc prosthesis in cervical disc replacement surgery. Erciyes Med J. 2022;44:44-50.
- 11. Cui Y, Liu B, Zhou J, et al. Quantitative analysis of balance function characteristics in older patients with mild to moderate cognitive impairment. Exp Gerontol. 2023;182:112302.
- Mu G, Chen H, Fu H, et al. Anterior cervical discectomy and fusion with zero-profile versus stand-alone cages for twolevel cervical spondylosis: a retrospective cohort study. Front Surg. 2022;9:1002744.
- Yilmaz M, Yucesoy K, Erbayraktar RS, Altinag RS. Anterior hybrid construction of multilevel cervical disc disease and spondylotic spinal stenosis: surgical results and factors affecting adjacent segment problems. J Orthop Surg Res. 2021;16:298.

MEDICAL RECORDS-International Medical Journal

Research Article



Comparison of Tourniquet and Non-Tourniquet Use in Total Knee Arthroplasty: Impact on Postoperative Hemoglobin Changes and **Surgical Time**

Cumhur Deniz Davulcu, Muhammed Yusuf Afacan

İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, Cerrahpaşa Faculty of Medicine, Department of Orthopaedics and Traumatology, İstanbul, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.



Abstract

Aim: This study aimed to evaluate the impact of pneumatic tourniquet use on postoperative hemoglobin (Hb) and hematocrit (Hct) levels, changes in Hb/Hct, and surgery duration in total knee arthroplasty (TKA) by comparing outcomes between patients who underwent the procedure with and without tourniquet application.

Material and Method: A retrospective cohort study was conducted on 130 patients with Kellgren-Lawrence grade 3-4 gonarthrosis who underwent TKA. Patients were divided into two groups, each with 65 patients, based on tourniquet use. Preoperative and postoperative day 1 Hb/Hct values, ΔHb/ΔHct, and surgery duration were compared. Patients with comorbidities and significant perioperative complications were excluded.

Results: No significant differences were found between the tourniquet and non-tourniquet groups for preoperative or postoperative Hb and Hct levels (p>0.05). Both groups experienced significant reductions in hemoglobin and hematocrit levels postoperatively. The non-tourniquet group had a slightly greater decrease in hemoglobin and hematocrit, although this difference was not statistically significant (p>0.05). The tourniquet group demonstrated a significantly shorter operation duration (p=0.004).

Conclusion: Tourniquet use in TKA reduces surgical time without significantly affecting blood loss. The comparable outcomes in both groups suggest that the use of a tourniquet may offer practical advantages, in terms of procedural efficiency in reducing surgical time, but its influence on postoperative Hb and Hct changes is minimal.

Keywords: Total knee arthroplasty, tourniquet use, hemoglobin change, hematocrit change, blood loss, surgical time

INTRODUCTION

Total knee arthroplasty (TKA) is widely regarded as the most successful intervention for alleviating pain, correcting deformities, and improving mobility in severe knee osteoarthritis, making it one of the most frequently performed orthopedic procedures globally (1-3). However, it is not without complications, including significant blood loss (3,4), periprosthetic joint infection (5,6), and periprosthetic fractures (7).

Various methods have been developed to address the complication of blood loss, including the use of

pneumatic tourniquets and suction drains, advancements in surgical techniques, the administration of tranexamic acid, and local infusion with norepinephrine, among others (3,8). The tourniquet is a commonly employed method to address these complications to achieve hemostasis in clinical practice, demonstrating high efficacy in minimizing intraoperative bleeding. Beyond reducing blood loss, it also aids in maintaining a clear and unobstructed surgical field (2,9). However, it is also not without complications, including skin abrasions and blistering, wound hematomas, wound oozing and healing problems, muscle injury, rhabdomyolysis, nerve palsy,

CITATION

Davulcu CD, Afacan MY. Comparison of Tourniquet and Non-Tourniquet Use in Total Knee Arthroplasty: Impact on Postoperative Hemoglobin Changes and Surgical Time. Med Records. 2025;7(1):43-9. DOI:1037990/medr.1554458

Received: 22.09.2024 Accepted: 19.10.2024 Published: 25.12.2024

Corresponding Author: Cumhur Deniz Davulcu, İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, Cerrahpaşa Faculty of Medicine, Department of Orthopaedics and Traumatology, İstanbul, Türkiye E-mail: cumhurdeniz.davulcu@iuc.edu.tr

postoperative stiffness and pain, deep vein thrombosis (DVT), pulmonary embolism (PE), and infections (4,10,11).

Despite this, meta-analysis results in the literature also indicate that while the use of a tourniquet reduces intraoperative bleeding, it may increase the total blood loss postoperatively (4,12,13). We hypothesized that the use of a tourniquet during TKA would result in a comparable decrease in hemoglobin (Hb) and hematocrit (Hct) levels postoperatively, while also shortening the operation duration compared to surgeries performed without a tourniquet. Therefore, performing the surgery without a tourniquet may not only provide similar blood loss outcomes but also avoid the potential complications associated with tourniquet use. This study aims to assess the impact of tourniquet use on postoperative Hb and Hct levels, the changes in Hb/Hct from pre- to postoperative periods, and the duration of the surgical procedure in TKA, by comparing outcomes between patients with and without tourniquet application.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Within this retrospective cohort study, a total of 130 patients who underwent TKA were included in the analysis. These patients were divided into two groups depending on whether a tourniquet was used during their procedure: one group had tourniquets applied, while the other did not. In the study, patients with Kellgren-Lawrence grade 3-4 gonarthrosis who underwent TKA, with no known hematologic disorders, preoperative Hb and Hct levels above 10/30, and no significant abnormalities in preoperative complete blood count were randomly included. Patients with cruciate-retaining prostheses were included in the study. This ensured that prosthesis selection did not introduce any confounding factors that could affect the study outcomes. The use of a tourniquet was random, and the surgeons were experienced in performing the surgery both with and without a tourniquet. Patients for whom preoperative and postoperative day 1 Hb/Hct values and surgery duration were accessible through the hospital system were included in the study. Patients with a history of tumors or tumor surgery, a history of infections, rheumatological conditions (to avoid bleeding complications related to vasculitis), those on regular corticosteroid therapy, patients with diabetes mellitus, morbid obesity, those who had undergone previous surgery in the same area, and those with known renal, hepatic, cerebrovascular, cardiovascular, peripheral vascular diseases, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), hyperlipidemia, a history of thromboembolic events, anemia, or coagulation disorders, patients who required blood transfusions during surgery or experienced substantial blood loss (more than 500 mL) during the procedure, cases with incomplete medical records or missing postoperative Hb and Hct data were excluded from the study. Demographic data, including

age, sex, and relevant medical history, were obtained from patient records. Hb and Hct levels were measured preoperatively, within 24 hours before surgery, and postoperatively, within 24 hours after surgery. Additional surgical information, such as whether a tourniquet was used and the length of the operation, was also recorded. Changes in hemoglobin (Δ Hb) and hematocrit (Δ Hct) were calculated by subtracting the postoperative values from the preoperative values for each patient. All patient data were anonymized to maintain confidentiality.

Before the incision, the tourniquets placed around the proximal thigh were inflated to 250-300 mmHg, depending on the patient's mean arterial pressure. The surgical procedure utilized a medial parapatellar approach, with patellar eversion and lateral dislocation. The menisci and anterior cruciate ligament were excised, and cruciate-retaining prostheses were implanted. Standard knee arthroplasty techniques were employed for the femoral and tibial cuts, with an intramedullary guide for the femoral cuts and an extramedullary guide for the tibial cuts. All prostheses were cemented in place. Postoperatively, patients were monitored in the ward, where follow-up hematologic tests were performed, and thromboembolism prophylaxis was administered.

The study protocol was approved by the İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa Rectorate Clinical Research Ethics Committee under protocol number E-83045809-604.01-1058935 on August 7, 2024, and all procedures were conducted in compliance with good clinical practice and the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki.

Statistical Methods

In the context of this study, the sample size was determined through the power analysis. Using G*Power (Version 3.1.9.6), the analysis indicated a 95% confidence level, an effect size of 0.50, and a power value of 0.80. Based on these parameters, the minimum required sample size was calculated to be 126 participants, with at least 63 individuals in each group. For the analysis and statistical evaluation of the data, IBM SPSS Statistics version 26.0 was utilized, with a 95% confidence level. To determine whether the measurements followed a normal distribution, skewness and kurtosis coefficients were examined. Skewness and kurtosis values between +3 and -3 are considered indicative of a normal distribution (14). Since the skewness and kurtosis values derived from the measurements fell within the range of +3 to -3, the assumption of normality was met, allowing the use of parametric test techniques in our analyses (Table 1). The difference in measurements based on tourniquet use was analyzed using an independent samples t-test. The relationship between tourniquet uses and age was examined using a Chi-square test. Pre- and post-intervention changes with respect to tourniquet use were analyzed using a paired samples t-test.

Table 1. Since the skewness and kurtosisbeen satisfied	s values obtained from the variables	fall within the range of +3 to -3, th	e assumption of normality has
Normality test	n	Skewness	Kurtosis
Age	130	0.011	0.809
Preoperative Hb	130	0.321	-0.474
Postoperative Hb	130	0.494	-0.468
Delta Hb	130	1.065	2.022
Preoperative Hct	130	0.218	0.366
Postoperative Hct	130	0.446	-0.264
Delta Hct	130	0.684	1.590
Operation duration	130	0.035	-1.449

RESULTS

In the group where a tourniquet was used, 80% were female and 20% were male, while in the group without tourniquet use, 75.4% were female and 24.6% were male. Overall, females accounted for 77.7%, and males made up 22.3% of the total sample. The Chi-square test

revealed no significant relationship between gender and tourniquet use (p=0.674) (Table 2). The mean age in the group using a tourniquet was 65.51 ± 8.67 , while in the group without tourniquet use, the mean age was 64.86 ± 8.17 . The overall mean age was 65.18 ± 8.39 . The t-test showed no significant difference between age and tourniquet use (p=0.663) (Table 2).

Table 2. Analysis of gender and age in relation to tourniquet use						
Tourniquet use						
		+	-	Total	р	
		n (%)	n (%)	n (%)		
	Female	52 (80)	49 (75.4)	101 (77.7)	0.674	
^Gender	Male	13 (20)	16 (24.6)	29 (22.3)	0.674	
**Age (mean±SD)		65.51±8.67	64.86±8.17	65.18±8.39	0.663	
*Chi-Square Test, **t-Test						

The mean preoperative Hb in the group using a tourniquet was 12.86 ± 1.31 , while it was 12.84 ± 1.33 in the group not using a tourniquet. The t-test results indicated no significant difference between tourniquet use and preoperative Hb (p=0.926). The mean postoperative Hb was 11.46 ± 1.51 in the tourniquet group, compared to 11.09 ± 1.45 in the non-tourniquet group. The t-test revealed no significant difference between tourniquet use and postoperative Hb (p=0.151). The mean DELTA Hb was

1.4±0.85 in the tourniquet group, while it was 1.75 ± 1.53 in the non-tourniquet group. The t-test showed no significant difference between tourniquet use and DELTA Hb (p=0.107). The mean preoperative Hct was 37.76 ± 3.9 in the tourniquet group, compared to 37.75 ± 3.66 in the non-tourniquet group. The t-test indicated no significant difference between tourniquet use and preoperative Hct (p=0.987) (Table 3).

Table 3. Analysis of measurements in terms of tourniquet use					
	+ -		Total	р	
	mean±SD	mean±SD	mean±SD		
Preoperative Hb	12.86±1.31	12.84±1.33	12.85±1.31	0.926	
Postoperative Hb	11.46±1.51	11.09±1.45	11.28±1.49	0.151	
Delta Hb	1.4±0.85	1.75±1.53	1.57±1.25	0.107	
Preoperative Hct	37.76±3.9	37.75±3.66	37.76±3.77	0.987	
Postoperative Hct	33.89±4.33	33.17±4.22	33.53±4.28	0.340	
Delta Hct	3.87±3.07	4.58±4.29	4.23±3.73	0.282	
Operation duration	36.15±5.64	39.08±5.58	37.62±5.78	0.004	
Independent t-Test					

The mean postoperative Hct was 33.89 ± 4.33 in the tourniquet group and 33.17 ± 4.22 in the non-tourniquet group. The t-test found no significant difference between tourniquet use and postoperative Hct (p=0.340). The mean DELTA Hct was 3.87 ± 3.07 in the tourniquet group, compared to 4.58 ± 4.29 in the non-tourniquet group. The t-test showed no significant difference between tourniquet use and DELTA Hct (p=0.282). The mean operation duration was significantly shorter in the tourniquet group (36.15 ± 5.64 minutes) compared to the non-tourniquet group (39.08 ± 5.58 minutes). The t-test results indicated a significant difference between tourniquet use and operation duration (p=0.004) (Table 3).

In patients where a tourniquet was used, the average preoperative Hb level decreased from 12.86±1.31 to 11.46±1.51 postoperatively. This reduction was statistically significant according to the paired samples

t-test (p=0.0001), with a decrease of 1.4 g/dL in Hb levels observed in this group. In patients where no tourniquet was used, the average preoperative Hb level dropped from 12.84±1.33 to 11.09±1.45 postoperatively. This difference was also statistically significant according to the paired samples t-test (p=0.0001), with a 1.75 g/dL decrease in Hb levels noted in the non-tourniquet group. In the tourniquet group, the average preoperative Hct level decreased from 37.76±3.9 to 33.89±4.33 postoperatively. This reduction was found to be statistically significant by the paired samples t-test (p=0.0001), with a 3.87 unit decrease in Hct levels. In the non-tourniquet group, the average preoperative Hct level fell from 37.75±3.66 to 33.17±4.22 postoperatively. This change was also statistically significant according to the paired samples t-test (p=0.0001), with a 4.58 unit decrease in Hct levels observed (Table 4).

Table 4. Analysis of preoperative, and postoperative changes in hb and hct values based on tourniquet use						
Tourniquet use						
	+ -					
	Pre	Post	р	Pre	Post	р
	mean±SD	mean±SD		mean±SD	mean±SD	
Hb	12.86±1.31	11.46±1.51	0.0001	12.84±1.33	11.09±1.45	0.0001
Hct	37.76±3.9	33.89±4.33	0.0001	37.75±3.66	33.17±4.22	0.0001

The paired samples t-test

The reduction in Hb was greater in the non-tourniquet group (1.75 g/dL) compared to the tourniquet group (1.4 g/dL). Similarly, the decrease in Hct was more pronounced in the non-tourniquet group (4.58 units) compared to the tourniquet group (3.87 units) (Table 3). Although both groups experienced significant reductions in Hb and Hct levels, the decreases were slightly more substantial in the non-tourniquet group (Figures 1,2).



Figure 1. Preoperative and postoperative Hb levels in patients undergoing TKA with or without tourniquet use; the blue line represents patients where a tourniquet was used, and the red line represents patients where a tourniquet was not used; both groups show a decrease in Hb levels postoperatively, with slightly less reduction in the tourniquet group



Figure 2. Preoperative and postoperative Hct levels in patients undergoing TKA with or without tourniquet use; the blue line represents patients where a tourniquet was used, and the red line represents patients where a tourniquet was not used; both groups show a decrease in Hct levels postoperatively, with the tourniquet group demonstrating a marginally smaller reduction

DISCUSSION

TKA remains one of the most effective treatments for severe osteoarthritis, but the role of tourniquet use continues to be debated due to its potential benefits and risks. In this study, we aimed to evaluate the impact of tourniquet use on postoperative Hb and Hct levels, as well as surgical time. The main findings of this study

revealed that both tourniquet and non-tourniquet groups experienced significant reductions in Hb and Hct levels postoperatively. However, the decrease in both Hb and Hct was slightly greater in the non-tourniquet group compared to the tourniquet group, though the difference was not statistically significant. Additionally, the operation duration was significantly shorter in the tourniquet group. These findings suggest that while the use of a tourniquet may reduce surgical time, its effect on blood loss is comparable to non-tourniquet use. The use of a tourniquet has traditionally been recommended to minimize blood loss. However, numerous studies have compared TKA procedures performed with and without a tourniquet, and the findings remain inconclusive (15). These results align with the ongoing debate in the literature regarding the benefits and drawbacks of tourniquet use in TKA.

Albayrak et al. found that while tourniquet use in TKA may not significantly reduce blood loss and can cause temporary extremity pain, it is beneficial for patients without comorbidities. Tourniquet use creates a bloodless environment during cementing, improving prosthesis longevity and potentially avoiding revision surgeries. The study recommends using tourniquets in patients without comorbidities, provided these are clearly documented before surgery (2). In our study, we included only patients without comorbidities in both groups, thus eliminating the potential effects of comorbidities on the outcomes. In both groups, similar Hb/Hct reductions were observed, as found in this study.

The literature reveals a range of outcomes regarding tourniquet application in TKA. Arthur et al.'s review also showed that several studies have examined the effectiveness of limited-use tourniquets, with mixed outcomes (15). Ishii and Matsuda's prospective randomized controlled trial (RCT) found that releasing the tourniquet before wound closure resulted in significantly higher total blood loss compared to releasing it after closure, though no significant difference in transfusion rates was noted between the two groups. Furthermore, Ishii and Matsuda, in another RCT, evaluated the impact of different tourniquet pressures, finding no significant differences in blood loss or transfusion requirements when comparing higher and lower tourniquet pressures (16,17). Similarly, Huang et al. conducted a systematic review and meta-analysis, concluding that early tourniquet release led to higher intraoperative blood loss (18). On the other hand, Rama et al. found that while total blood loss was higher in the early release group, the late release group experienced significantly more complications requiring return to the operating room (19). Contrary to these findings, Schnettler et al. observed a paradoxical increase in total blood loss with the use of a limited tourniquet. Their retrospective cohort study demonstrated that using a tourniquet during cementation resulted in greater blood loss compared to the use of tranexamic acid (TXA) alone. The authors proposed that tourniquet use restricted the delivery of TXA to tissues,

leading to hidden blood loss (20). In the light of his literature review Arthur et al. prefer using a tourniquet inflated to 300 mm Hg until cementing is complete, followed by deflation. Before deflation, they inject a periarticular analgesic mixture containing ropivacaine, epinephrine, morphine, and ketorolac. They also administer 1,000 mg of TXA before inflation and another 1,000 mg after deflation. Tourniquet time is limited to 120 minutes, with adjustments made for longer surgeries or patients with vascular conditions. In cases of peripheral arterial bypass grafts, the tourniquet is avoided entirely (15).

Conversely, Zhang et al. conclude that TKA without a tourniquet is superior in reducing thromboembolic events and related complications, without significant differences in actual blood loss between groups. They also suggest that using a tourniquet may hinder early postoperative rehabilitation exercises (10). Tirumala et al. found that while omitting the tourniquet in revision TKA increased perioperative blood loss, it did not significantly affect transfusion rates. Additionally, patients who underwent revision TKA without a tourniquet experienced shorter postoperative hospital stays, fewer 30-day readmissions, and improved range of flexion (21). In the metaanalysis of Cai et al., the authors concluded that using a tourniquet in TKA significantly reduces intraoperative blood loss, calculated blood loss, and operation time, but it does not have a notable impact on reducing the rate of transfusion or DVT (22). Similarly, Yi et al. suggested that while tourniquet use can reduce surgical time, intraoperative, and total blood loss, it also leads to an increase in postoperative total blood loss. Additionally, they observed a higher incidence of postoperative complications such as DVT and surgical site infections in the tourniquet group (12). Other studies, like those by Zak et al., suggested that while tourniquet use does not influence the average cement penetration depth, it increases the chances of achieving optimal cement penetration during the procedure (23).

In terms of recovery and complications, Huang et al. concluded that tourniquet use during TKA significantly increases total blood loss without reducing postoperative transfusion rates. Furthermore, it worsens early postoperative hypercoagulable conditions and leads to a higher incidence of asymptomatic below-knee DVT, as detected by conventional coagulation tests, thromboelastography, and ultrasonic Doppler (24). In contrast, Pavao et al. found that using an optimized tourniquet in primary TKA resulted in clinical outcomes similar to surgery without a tourniquet and did not raise the risk of postoperative complications. The tourniquet provided the advantage of a clean and dry surgical field without increasing procedure-related comorbidities (25). However, Johnsen et al. concluded that tourniquet use significantly alters angiogenic gene expression, which may contribute to postoperative interstitial edema, increased pain, and decreased muscle strength. These factors could delay rehabilitation and ultimately reduce patient satisfaction after TKA. (26). Xie et al. also concluded that the meta-analysis results indicate tourniquet application may increase the incidence of postoperative DVT and worsen postoperative pain and swelling in the short term (27).

On top of these, Nicolaiciuc et al. concluded that there was no significant correlation between tourniquet use and postoperative pain or range of motion (ROM) improvement (28). Smith et al. found in their systematic review no benefit to using a tourniquet in knee replacement surgery for reducing transfusion requirements (29). Tan et al. concluded that tourniquet use in TKA does not shorten surgery time or reduce blood loss, but it does lead to an increase in local complications (4). Joufflineau et al. concluded that using a low-pressure tourniquet in TKA reduces total blood loss compared to no tourniquet, without significantly increasing hidden blood loss and does not exhibit superior functional outcomes (30). Zan et al. concluded that releasing the tourniquet before wound closure increases perioperative blood loss but significantly reduces the risk of complications (31). Kim et al. stated that inflating the tourniquet to 120 mmHg above systolic blood pressure (SBP) is an effective method for use during TKA (32). Hung et al. concluded that performing TKA without a tourniquet preserves better quadriceps muscle function, leading to faster recovery and reduced need for transfusions, while also avoiding tourniquetrelated complications (33). Xu et al. found that the use of a tourniquet in routine primary TKA was associated with a higher transfusion rate and a longer postoperative length of stay (PLOS) (34). Andrade et al. concluded that there were no significant differences in functional outcomes or cementation quality between two different tourniquet protocols in TKA. Whether the tourniquet was used throughout the entire procedure or only during skin incision and cementation, no differences were observed in visual pain scale (VAS), Oxford knee scores, range of motion, or radiolucent line analysis. Thus, both techniques appeared to provide similar clinical outcomes (35).

Limitations

This study was conducted at a single institution, which may introduce bias related to the specific surgical techniques, postoperative care protocols, and patient demographics of that center, potentially limiting the generalizability of the findings. Additionally, while the study focused on Hb and Hct changes, it did not assess other important postoperative outcomes such as pain, functional recovery, DVT, or wound complications, which are critical when evaluating tourniquet use. The non-blinded design may have further introduced performance or response bias, potentially influencing subjective outcomes like pain scores and rehabilitation progress. Future studies should incorporate a more comprehensive evaluation of these outcomes to provide a holistic view of the effects of tourniquet application in TKA.

CONCLUSION

This study provides valuable insights into the impact of tourniquet use on Hb, Hct levels, and surgical time in TKA. While both tourniquet and non-tourniquet groups experienced similar reductions in these parameters, tourniquet use resulted in shorter operative times without significantly affecting blood loss. Although the study did not explore postoperative complications like thromboembolic events and delayed rehabilitation, the literature suggests that tourniquet use may be associated with such risks. Future research should address these limitations by incorporating a broader evaluation of functional outcomes and complications to better guide clinical decision-making in TKA.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: This study was approved by the İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa Rectorate Clinical Research Ethics Committee.

REFERENCES

- Zhang HC, Zhang Y, Dai HB, et al. Preoperative anemia and complications after total joint arthroplasty: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci. 2022;26:7420-30.
- 2. Albayrak M, Ugur F. With or without a Tourniquet? a comparative study on total knee replacement surgery in patients without comorbidities. Medicina (Kaunas). 2023;59:1196.
- Barros MFFH, Ribeiro EJC, Dias RG. Blood level changes in total knee arthroplasty with and without a tourniquet. Rev Bras Ortop. 2017;52:725-30.
- 4. Tan Y, Guo S, Wang H, et al. The effects of tourniquet use on blood loss and perioperative complications in total knee arthroplasty. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2023;24:847.
- Afacan MY, Davulcu CD, Kaynak G, et al. A rare case of periprosthetic joint infection with streptococcus dysgalactiae subspecies dysgalactiae. Indian J Orthop. 2024;58:606-12.
- 6. Parvizi J, Tan TL, Goswami K, et al. The 2018 definition of periprosthetic hip and knee infection: an evidence-based and validated criteria. J Arthroplasty. 2018;33:1309-14.e2.
- Aebischer AS, Hau R, de Steiger RN, et al. Distal femoral replacement for periprosthetic fractures after TKA: Australian Orthopaedic Association national joint replacement registry review. J Arthroplasty. 2022;37:1354-8.
- Richardson MK, Liu KC, Mayfield CK, et al. Tranexamic acid is safe in patients with a history of venous thromboembolism undergoing total joint arthroplasty. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2024;106:30-8.
- Tai TW, Chang CW, Lai KA, et al. Effects of tourniquet use on blood loss and soft-tissue damage in total knee arthroplasty: a randomized controlled trial. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2012;94:2209-15.

- 10. Zhang W, Li N, Chen S, et al. The effects of a tourniquet used in total knee arthroplasty: a meta-analysis. J Orthop Surg Res. 2014;9:13.
- 11. Olivecrona C, Lapidus LJ, Benson L, Blomfeldt R. Tourniquet time affects postoperative complications after knee arthroplasty. Int Orthop. 2013;37:827-32.
- 12. Yi S, Tan J, Chen C, et al. The use of pneumatic tourniquet in total knee arthroplasty: a meta-analysis. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg. 2014;134:1469-76.
- 13. Jiang FZ, Zhong HM, Hong YC, Zhao GF. Use of a tourniquet in total knee arthroplasty: a systematic review and metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. J Orthop Sci. 2015;20:110-23.
- 14. Groeneveld RA, Meeden G. Measuring Skewness and Kurtosis. The Statistician. 1984;33:391.
- 15. Arthur JR, Spangehl MJ. Tourniquet use in total knee arthroplasty. J Knee Surg. 2019;32:719-29.
- Ishii Y, Matsuda Y. Effect of the timing of tourniquet release on perioperative blood loss associated with cementless total knee arthroplasty: a prospective randomized study. J Arthroplasty. 2005;20:977-83.
- Ishii Y, Matsuda Y. Effect of tourniquet pressure on perioperative blood loss associated with cementless total knee arthroplasty: a prospective, randomized study. J Arthroplasty. 2005;20:325-30.
- 18. Huang Z, Ma J, Zhu Y, et al. Timing of tourniquet release in total knee arthroplasty. Orthopedics. 2015;38:445-51.
- 19. Rama KRBS, Apsingi S, Poovali S, Jetti A. Timing of tourniquet release in knee arthroplasty. J Bone Jt Surg. 2007;89:699-705.
- Schnettler T, Papillon N, Rees H. Use of a tourniquet in total knee arthroplasty causes a paradoxical increase in total blood loss. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2017;99:1331-6.
- 21. Tirumala V, Klemt C, Oganseyan R, et al. Outcomes of tourniquet-less revision total knee arthroplasty: a matched cohort analysis. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 2021;29:e1343-52.
- 22. Cai DF, Fan QH, Zhong HH, et al. The effects of tourniquet use on blood loss in primary total knee arthroplasty for patients with osteoarthritis: a meta-analysis. J Orthop Surg Res. 2019;14:348.
- 23. Zak SG, Tang A, Pivec R, et al. The effects of tourniquet on cement penetration in total knee arthroplasty. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg. 2023;143:2877-84.

- 24. Huang CR, Pan S, Li Z, et al. Tourniquet use in primary total knee arthroplasty is associated with a hypercoagulable status: a prospective thromboelastography trial. Int Orthop. 2021;45:3091-100.
- 25. Pavão DM, Pires eAlbuquerque RS, de Faria JLR, et al. Optimized tourniquet use in primary total knee arthroplasty: a comparative, prospective, and randomized study. J Arthroplasty. 2023;38:685-90.
- Johnsen M, Mousavizadeh R, Scott A, et al. The tourniquet's effects on skeletal muscle during total knee arthroplasty. J Orthop Res. 2024;42:1955-63.
- 27. Xie J, Yu H, Wang F, et al. A comparison of thrombosis in total knee arthroplasty with and without a tourniquet: a metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. J Orthop Surg Res. 2021;16:408.
- Nicolaiciuc S, Probst P, von Eisenhart-Rothe R, et al. Modern total knee arthroplasty (TKA): with or without a tourniquet?. Surg Technol Int. 2019;35:336-40.
- 29. Smith TO, Hing CB. Is a tourniquet beneficial in total knee replacement surgery? A meta-analysis and systematic review. Knee. 2010;17:141-7.
- Joufflineau S, Thienpont E. Lower total blood loss in total knee arthroplasty with a low-pressure tourniquet than without. Acta Orthop Belg. 2021;87:461-8.
- Zan PF, Yang Y, Fu D, et al. Releasing of tourniquet before wound closure or not in total knee arthroplasty: a metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. J Arthroplasty. 2015;30:31-7.
- Kim TK, Bamne AB, Sim JA, et al. Is lower tourniquet pressure during total knee arthroplasty effective? A prospective randomized controlled trial. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2019;20:275.
- Hung SH, Chiu FY, Cheng MF. A comparative study of the hemodynamic and clinical effects of using or not tourniquet in total knee arthroplasty. J Chin Med Assoc. 2023;86:529-33.
- Xu H, Yang J, Xie J, et al. Tourniquet use in routine primary total knee arthroplasty is associated with a higher transfusion rate and longer postoperative length of stay: a real-world study. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2020;21:620.
- 35. Andrade MAP, Monte LFR, Lacerda GC, et al. Are cementation quality and clinical outcomes affected by the use of tourniquet in primary total knee arthroplasty?. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg. 2022;142:845-50.

MEDICAL RECORDS-International Medical Journal

Research Article



The Relationship Between the Activity of the Meibomian Gland and Pupil Diameter

[®]Haci Keles¹, [®]Erkut Kucuk², [®]Zeki Baysal², [®]Levent Dogan², [®]Fatih Cicek¹, [®]Faruk Gazi Ceranoglu¹

¹Niğde Ömer Halisdemir University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Anatomy, Niğde, Türkiye ²Niğde Ömer Halisdemir University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Ophthalmology, Niğde, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.

Abstract

Aim: The meibomian glands are modified sebaceous glands that line the inner surface of the eyelids. The aim of this study was to investigate the relationship between the autonomic nervous system and meibomian gland activity based on pupil diameter values. **Material and Method:** 55 volunteers (27 patients and 28 controls) aged 16-41 years participated in the study. Patients with dry eye and a visual acuity of 10/10 according to the Snellen visual threshold were included in the study. Participants underwent static measurements at different light intensities and dynamic measurements to measure the rate of pupil dilation.

Results: Static measurements (scotopic, mesopic ve photopic) in the patient group averaged 5.93±1.21, 4.70±0.86 and 3.99±0.97 mm, while measurements in the control group averaged 5.82±0.99, 4.87±0.83 and 3.87±0.90 mm. Pupillary velocity was 0.14±0.04 in the patient group and 0.12±0.03 mm/sec in the control group.

Conclusion: This is the first study to investigate the relationship between meibomian gland function and pupillary function. The present study contributed to the literature by showing that there is no relationship between meibomian gland function and pupillary function.

Keywords: Dry eye, meibomian gland, pupillometry, pupil diameter

INTRODUCTION

The meibomian glands (glandula tarsales) are modified sebaceous glands with a tubuloacinar structure and holocrine function, arranged in a single row between the conjunctiva and the tarsus on the inner surface of the evelids. These glands can be seen as elevations under the conjunctiva when the eyelids are rotated (1,2). There are 25 to 40 meibomian glands on the upper eyelids and 20 to 30 on the lower eyelids (3). The meibomian glands, which are located in the furrows on the inner sides of the tarsus, are arranged as diverticula around a single excretory duct that opens into the limbus posterior palpebrae of the evelids (1,2). These glands are largely parasympathetically innervated. The source of the parasympathetic fibers is the pterygopalatine ganglion. The sympathetic fibers of the glands, which also contain sympathetic and sensory fibers, originate from the superior cervical ganglion and the sensory fibers from the trigeminal ganglion (4).

The tarsal glandules in the upper and lower eyelids release lipid secretions, the so-called meibum, to the ocular surface. These lipids, which they secrete, form the outermost layer of the tear film and protect the tear from evaporation (5). Reduced or absent meibomian secretion impairs tear film formation, leading to rapid evaporation of tears and thus evaporative dry eye disease (EDE). Although the factors causing meibomian gland dysfunction (MGD) are not well understood, it is reported to be influenced by hormonal, microbial, environmental and metabolic causes. MGD is the leading cause of dry eye disease (DED) worldwide (4). In epidemiologic studies conducted worldwide, the prevalence of DED is reported at rates between 5% and 50%. Studies have shown that up to 87% of DED is caused by MGD (5,6). There are two forms of DED, one with low tear production (lack of water) and the other with rapid evaporation of tears. Of these, underproduction of tears is related to the lacrimal gland (which accounts for a small proportion of DED), while EDE is related to the meibomian

CITATION

Keles H, Kucuk E, Baysal Z, et al. The Relationship Between the Activity of the Meibomian Gland and Pupil Diameter. Med Records. 2025;7(1):50-4. DOI:1037990/medr.1536607

Received: 21.08.2024 Accepted: 17.10.2024 Published: 25.12.2024

Corresponding Author: Haci Keles, Niğde Ömer Halisdemir University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Anatomy, Niğde, Türkiye

E-mail: hacikeles@ohu.edu.tr

glands (the main cause of DED) (5-7). MGD, which causes rapid evaporation of tears, can be detected in clinics by a tear break-up test (8).

Pupil dilation and constriction as well as pupillary function are controlled by the autonomic nervous system. Pupil dilation (mydriasis) is caused by dilator pupils, which are innervated by sympathetic nerve fibers, while constriction (myosis) is caused by sphincter pupils, which are innervated by parasympathetic nerve fibers. Some data obtained from the pupil (pupillary reflex, pupillary symmetry, pupil size, shape and diameter) provide information used in the diagnosis of neuro-ophthalmologic diseases and intracranial pathologies. Since pupillary changes provide important information about diseases. they are used among the objective measurement methods. In recent years, pupillary functions have been objectively measured with devices and the data obtained from these measurements have been evaluated with the data of diseases such as COVID-19, diabetes, oculomotor nerve palsy, bipolar disorder and pseudoexfoliation syndrome (9-11).

In this study, we aimed to investigate the relationship between meibomian gland activity and pupil width, which is automatically measured and provides information about the autonomic nervous system. In addition, this study will be the first to reveal whether there is an autonomic nervous system-related cause in the etiology of MGD according to the literature review. According to the literature review, this is the first study to show the relationship between the meibomian glands and pupil diameter, which provides information about the autonomic nervous system.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Fifty-five volunteers aged 16-41 years (27 patients and 28 control subjects), who were admitted to the Department of Ophthalmology at Niğde Ömer Halisdemir University Training and Research Hospital, participated in the study. The control group consisted of patients who came to the ophthalmology outpatient clinic for routine check-ups and had no eye disease other than myopia and hyperopia of less than 3 diopters and astigmatic refractive error of less than 1 diopter. The patient group consisted of patients who came to the outpatient clinic and were diagnosed with evaporative dry eye. Patients with a visual acuity of 10/10 according to the Snellen visual threshold and those with evaporative dry eye were included in the study. Patients with systemic diseases, pregnant and breastfeeding women, patients with myopia and hyperopia of more than 3 diopters and astigmatism of more than 1 diopter, patients with a history of heart disease, trauma, eye diseases other than refractive error and dry eye, patients with a history of eye surgery, smokers and alcohol or chronic drug users were excluded. Pupillary parameters and tear refraction times were determined using Sirius Topography (CSO, Firenze, Italy). The study was approved by the Niğde Ömer Halisdemir University Non-Interventional Clinical Research Ethics Committee with protocol number 2023/17.

Data Collection Tools

The pupillometry device automatically evaluates and measures the pupil diameter at different light intensities. The device performs pupil measurements in two ways: statically and dynamically. Static measurements are performed scotopically, mesopically and photopically at three different light intensities. Scotopic measurements were calculated at a light intensity of 0.4 lx from the LED light source in the pupillometry device, mesopic measurements at a light intensity of 4 lx and photopic measurements at an ambient light intensity of 40 lx. Dynamic measurements were then carried out at an illuminance of 500 lx. In the dynamic measurements, the speed of pupil dilation was measured. For this purpose, the pupil widths were calculated at 0 and 18 seconds at a light intensity of 500 Ix. The pupil speed was then calculated by dividing the difference between the values at 0 and 18 seconds by 18. As the participants had the longest adaptation time of 18 seconds, the data were analyzed during this period. Measurements were taken at the same time of day (09:00-10:00) by the same researchers to minimize pupil effects. Measurements were taken after a 5-minute adaptation period to the dark environment. Subjects were asked to abstain from caffeinated food and drink 24 hours prior to the measurements.

Data Analysis

The Shapiro-Wilk test was used to check whether the variables correspond to a normal distribution. Numerical variables were summarised with mean±standard deviation and minimum-maximum values. The independent t-test was used for comparisons between two groups. Analyses were performed using IBM SPSS version 22 (SPSS, Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). p<0.05 was accepted as the statistical significance level.

RESULTS

Fifty-five subjects (27 patients and 28 controls) with a mean age of 29.78±8.34 years participated in this study. Of all participants, 60% were female and 40% were male. Mean±standard deviation and minimum-maximum values of the parameters of all participants are shown in Table 1.

Table 1. Descriptive statistics of the parameters of the whole study group						
	Ν	Mean±Sd	Min-Max			
Age (year)	55	29.78±8.34	16-41			
TBUT (sec)	55	9.07±6.42	1.20-17.00			
TBUT Average (sec)	55	10.31±5.49	2.70-17.00			
Scotopic (mm)	55	5.87±1.10	4.07-8.24			
Mesopic (mm)	55	4.79±0.84	3.18-6.66			
Photopic (mm)	55	3.93±0.93	2.43-6.70			
Dynamic 0th second (mm)	55	3.73±0.81	2.46-5.86			
Dynamic 18th second (mm)	55	6.09±0.94	3.95-8.21			
Pupilla speed (mm/sec)	55	0.13±0.04	0.040-0.193			

N: number of participants, SD: standard deviation, Min: minimum, Max: maximum, TBUT: tear film breakup time

Table 2 shows that the mean age of patients with EDE was 29.33 ± 8.80 years and 30.21 ± 8.01 years in the control group. The mean tear film break-up time (TBUT) and TBUT were 3.10 ± 1.43 and 5.14 ± 1.45 seconds, respectively, in EDE, while the same parameters were 14.81 ± 3.27 and 15.29 ± 2.43 seconds, respectively, in the control group. The difference between these two parameters was statistically significant (p<0.001 for both parameters). The static measurements (scotopic, mesopic and photopic) were 5.93 ± 1.21 , 4.70 ± 0.86 and 3.99 ± 0.97 mm in the subjects with EDE, while they were 5.82 ± 0.99 , 4.87 ± 0.83

and 3.87 ± 0.90 mm in the control group. When analyzing the dynamic measurements, the pupil aperture at 0 and 18 seconds was 3.66 ± 0.77 and 6.17 ± 0.95 mm, respectively, in EDE, while these data were 3.79 ± 0.85 and 6.02 ± 0.94 mm, respectively, in the control groups. Pupillary velocity was 0.14 ± 0.04 mm/sec in the EDE group and 0.12 ± 0.03 mm/sec in the control group. No statistically significant difference was found when comparing the static, dynamic and pupillary velocity parameters between the patient and control groups (p>0.05).

Tablo 2. Comparison of patient and control group data						
	EDE	Ν	Mean±SD	Min-Max	р	
	Patient	27	29.33±8.80	16-41	0.600	
Age (year)	Control	28	30.21±8.01	20-40	0.099	
TBUT (sec)	Patient	27	3.10±1.43	1.20-5.70	-0.001	
	Control	28	14.81±3.27	6.20-17.00	<0.001	
TBUT Mean (sec)	Patient	27	5.14±1.45	2.70-8.70	-0.001	
	Control	28	15.29±2.43	10.30-17.00	<0.001	
Scotopic (mm)	Patient	27	5.93±1.21	4.16-7.77	0.709	
	Control	28	5.82±0.99	4.07-8.24	0.708	
	Patient	27	4.70±0.86	3.27-6.37	0.464	
	Control	28	4.87±0.83	3.18-6.66	0.404	
Photonia (mm)	Patient	27	3.99±0.97	2.56-6.70	0.625	
	Control	28	3.87±0.90	2.43-5.89	0.035	
Dynamic Oth second (mm)	Patient	27	3.66±0.77	2.46-5.86	0.520	
Dynamic our second (mm)	Control	28	3.79±0.85	2.51-5.44	0.330	
Dynamic 19th cacond (mm)	Patient	27	6.17±0.95	4.30-7.51	0.562	
Dynamic 18th second (mm)	Control	28	6.02±0.94	3.95-8.21	0.505	
Pupilla speed (mm/see)	Patient	27	0.14±0.04	0.04-0.189	0 121	
Pupilla speed (mm/sec)	Control	28	0.12±0.03	0.072-0.193	0.121	

EDE: evaporative dry eye disease, N: number of participants, SD: standard deviation, Min: minimum, Max: maximum, TBUT: tear film breakup time

DISCUSSION

DED is a corneal surface disease that results in damage to the cornea and conjunctiva caused by the absence or rapid evaporation of tears. DED is aggravated by advanced age, gender, medication, wearing contact lenses, low humidity environments, prolonged reading or screen time (e.g. phones, tablets, computers). Phones, tablets, computers), smoke, windy environments, Asian ethnicity, air-conditioned rooms, rheumatoid arthritis, sarcoidosis, Many factors such as Sjögren's syndrome, Parkinson's disease, thyroid abnormalities, bell's palsy, hepatitis C infections, rosacea, seasonal or persistent allergies, allergic conjunctivitis caused by Demodex mites, diabetes, and eye surgery or trauma can cause DED (7,12-16). There are two forms of DED, categorised as low tear production (aqueous deficiency) and rapid tear evaporation (7). In EDE, rapid evaporation of the tear film occurs in the absence or deficiency of meibum secretion (4). The diagnosis of EDE can be made by evaluating the TBUT parameter (8). TBUT is calculated as the time interval between the first dry area that appears in the tear film after complete eye closure (17). Deterioration of the tear film below 10 seconds is considered abnormal (18). In our study, the TBUT value in patients with EDE was calculated as 3.10±1.43 seconds, while the TBUT parameter in the healthy control group was calculated as 14.81±3.27 seconds.

The pupil is the hole in the center of the iris. Its task is to regulate the amount of light that reaches the retina. Midriasis means dilation of the pupil and miosis means constriction. These functions are carried out with the help of smooth muscles. While the dilator pupils dilate the pupil under the action of the sympathetic nervous system, the sphincter pupils constrict it under the action of the parasympathetic nervous system (1,2). A device that measures pupil function under different light sources is called a pupillometry device. Pupillometry measures pupil diameter non-invasively and provides important information about the sympathetic and parasympathetic nervous system. It also measures pupil diameter statically and dynamically under different light intensities and provides quantitative and objective results on pupil functions (9-11). The relationship between pupillometry, which has become increasingly important in recent years, and diseases such as COVID-19, diabetes, oculomotor nerve palsy, bipolar disorder, pseudoexfoliation, depression, autism, Graves' disease, sepsis-related encephalopathy, pain classification, Alzheimer's disease and Chagas' disease has been investigated (9-11,19-23). In this study, patients with dry eye and MGD were compared with healthy individuals in terms of pupillary function. According to the literature review, this study was the first to find a correlation between meibomian gland function and pupil diameter. In this study, pupil functions of healthy subjects were calculated as follows: scotopic 5.82±0.99 mm, mesopic 4.87±0.83 mm, photopic 3.87±0.90 mm, dynamic 0th second 3.79±0.85 mm, dynamic 18th second 6.02±0.94 mm and pupillary velocity 0.12±0.03 mm/ sec. In a study conducted on 30 healthy subjects aged 19-40 years, pupil functions were scotopic 5.63±0.459 mm, mesopic 4.47±0.574 mm, photopic 3.47±0.519 mm, dynamic 0th second 3.68±0.661 and pupil velocity 0.128±0.029 mm/sec. These data are consistent with the data we measured in healthy volunteers. In our study, no statistically significant difference was found between the measurements we made between the healthy and patient groups.

Limitations of the Study

This study has some limitations. Our study only covers one region and the number of participants is relatively small. Studies with a larger number of participants are needed.

CONCLUSION

Therefore, the relationship between meibomian gland function and pupillary function was discussed in this study and it is the first study to investigate this. The present study contributed to the literature by showing that there is no relationship between meibomian gland function and pupillary function.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: The study was approved by the Niğde Ömer Halisdemir University Non-Interventional Clinical Research Ethics Committee with protocol number 2023/17.

REFERENCES

- Arıncı K, Elhan A. Anatomi: dolaşım sistemi, periferik sinir sistemi, merkezi sinir sistemi, duyu organları. 7th edition. Ankara: Güneş Tıp Kitapevleri. 2020;362-6.
- Arifoğlu Y. Her yönüyle anatomi. 3rd edition. İstanbul: İstanbul Tıp Kitabevleri. 2021;662.
- 3. Verma S, Moreno IY, Trapp ME, et al. Meibomian gland development: Where, when and how?. Differentiation. 2023;132:41-50.
- 4. Bründl M, Garreis F, Schicht M, et al. Characterization of the innervation of the meibomian glands in humans, rats and mice. Ann Anat. 2021;233:151609.
- 5. Chan TC, Chow SS, Wan KH, Yuen HK. Update on the association between dry eye disease and meibomian gland dysfunction. Hong Kong med. 2019;25:38-47.
- Sun M, Moreno IY, Dang M, Coulson-Thomas VJ. Meibomian gland dysfunction: what have animal models taught us?. Int J Mol Sci. 2020;21:8822.
- 7. Rouen PA, White ML. Dry eye disease: prevalence, assessment, and management. Home Healthc Now. 2018;36:74-83.
- Covita A, Chen MH, Leahy C. Correlation between meibomian gland appearance and tear breakup time using a slit scanning ophthalmoscope. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2019;60:6793.
- Biçer GY, Zor KR, Küçük, E. Do static and dynamic pupillary parameters differ according to childhood, adulthood, and old age? A quantitative study in healthy volunteers. Indian J Ophthalmol. 2020;70:3575-8.
- 10. Biçer GY, Kurt A, Zor KR. Efficacy of automatic pupillometry as a screening technique to detect autonomic dysfunction in bipolar disorder. Clin Exp Optom. 2023;106:896-900.
- 11. Yıldırım Biçer G, Zor KR. How are pupillary parameters affected in pseudoexfoliation syndrome? A quantitative study. Int Ophthalmol. 2023;43:2487-91.
- 12. Gomes JAP, Azar DT, Baudouin C, et al. TFOS DEWS II iatrogenic report. Ocul Surf. 2017;15:511-38.
- Milner MS, Beckman KA, Luchs JI, et al. Dysfunctional tear syndrome: Dry eye disease and associated tear film disorders—New strategies for diagnosis and treatment. J Curr Ophthalmol. 2017;27:3-47.
- 14. Sullivan DA, Rocha EM, Aragona P, et al. TFOS DEWS II sex, gender, and hormones report. The Ocular Surface. 2017;15:284-333.
- 15. Stapleton F, Alves M, Bunya VY, et al. TFOS DEWS II Epidemiology Report. Ocul Surf. 2017;15:284-333.
- 16. Ekker MS, Janssen S, Seppi K, et al. Ocular and visual disorders in Parkinson's disease: Common TBUT frequently overlooked. Parkinsonism Relat Disord. 2017;40:1-10.
- Lan W, Lin L, Yang X, Yu M. Automatic noninvasive tear breakup time (TTBUT) and conventional fluorescent TTBUT. Optom Vis Sci. 2014;91:1412-8.
- 18. Zaman S, Samuel E. Tear film breakup time in diabetic patients. J Coll Physicians Surg Pak. 2020;30:774.
- 19. Yıldırım Biçer G, Onder C, Zor K. Pupillary response changes in Graves' disease. Çukurova Med J. 2023;48:361-8.

DOI: 10.37990/medr.1536607

- 20. Biçer GY, Yılmaz Öztorun Z, et al. Analysis of pupillary responses in pediatric patients with vitamin D deficiency. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol. 2024;262:2625-32.
- 21. Picetti E, Robba C. Pupillometry and sepsis-associated encephalopathy. Minerva Anestesiol. 2022;88:332-3.
- 22. Romagnoli M, Stanzani Maserati M, De Matteis M, et al. Chromatic pupillometry findings in Alzheimer's disease. Front Neurosci. 2020;14:780.
- 23. Vargas D, Castro C. Pupillometry in Chagas disease. Arq Bras Oftalmol. 2018;81:195-201.

MEDICAL RECORDS-International Medical Journal

Research Article



Evolution of Thoracic Outlet Syndrome Research: A Detailed Bibliometric Study

©Sercan Capkin¹, ©Ali Ihsan Kilic¹, ©Fatih Seker², ©Mehmet Akdemir³, ©Mahmud Aydin⁴, ©Ertugrul Sahin⁵

¹İzmir Bakırçay University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Orthopaedics and Traumatology, İzmir, Türkiye ²Alanya Alaaddin Keykubat University, Faculty of Education, Department of Preschool Education, Alanya, Türkiye ³İzmir Ekol Hospital, Department of Orthopaedics and Traumatology, İzmir, Türkiye ⁴Memorial Şişli Hospital, Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, İstanbul, Türkiye ⁵Kafkas University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Orthopaedics and Traumatology, Kars, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.



Abstract

Aim: Thoracic outlet syndrome (TOS) is a complex clinical condition caused by the compression of neurovascular structures in the thoracic outlet. Over the past few decades, research on TOS has expanded significantly. This study aims to analyze the literature on TOS using bibliometric methods to identify critical trends, influential authors, prominent themes, and emerging topics in the field. **Material and Method:** A comprehensive literature search was conducted using the Web of Science (WoS) database for articles on TOS published between 1980 and 2023, employing the keyword 'thoracic outlet syndrome.' The collected data were analyzed using bibliometric methods. VOSviewer software was utilized to visualize bibliometric networks and map critical findings. Citation analysis was performed to identify influential journals and significant articles in the field. Additionally, keyword clustering and trend analyses were conducted to explore the thematic landscape of TOS research.

Results: In a literature search on TOS, 2248 publications were found, with 1509 journal articles (67.13%) included in the bibliometric summary. The most common research area was surgery (633 articles, 41.94%), and the United States had the highest publication productivity (684 articles, 45.32%). The University of California System had the highest number of publications among institutions (62 articles, 4.1%). These 1509 articles received 7831 citations (6596 excluding self-citations), averaging 13.1 citations per article and with an h-index of 57. 'Annals of Vascular Surgery' published the most articles (71, 4.7%), while 'Journal of Vascular Surgery' had the highest number of cited articles (65, 4.3%), accumulating 2563 citations.

Conclusion: This bibliometric analysis provides valuable insights into the evolution and trends of research on TOS. The keyword analysis offers a roadmap for researchers to design new studies. Additionally, the study highlights the influence of economic size and development levels on academic productivity in TOS, underscoring the importance of promoting multidisciplinary studies, especially in less developed countries.

Keywords: Thoracic outlet syndrome, bibliometric analysis, citation analysis, Web of Science, VOSviewer

INTRODUCTION

Thoracic Outlet Syndrome (TOS) is characterized by conditions where bony, muscular, or fibrous structures compress the neurovascular bundle in the thoracic outlet, leading to various symptoms (1). Peet et al. introduced the term "thoracic outlet syndrome" in 1956, and it has since become well-established (2).

TOS is divided into three subcategories based on the compressed anatomical structure and clinical symptoms. These categories include neurogenic TOS, which involves brachial plexus compression; arterial TOS, characterized by

subclavian artery compression; and venous TOS, involving subclavian vein compression (3). It is worth noting that neurogenic TOS is the most prevalent, accounting for approximately 90% of cases (4).

Compression in TOS typically occurs in the interscalene triangle, costoclavicular space, or coracopectoral tunnel (5,6). The interscalene triangle, a narrow area between the anterior and middle scalene muscles and the first rib, is particularly prone to compression due to fibrous and muscular abnormalities (6-8). Contributing factors include trauma, tumors, clavicle fractures, fibromuscular bands, and rib anomalies (9).

CITATION

Capkin S, Kilic AI, Seker F, et al. Evolution of Thoracic Outlet Syndrome Research: A Detailed Bibliometric Study. Med Records. 2025;7(1):55-63. DOI:1037990/medr.1560952

Received: 03.10.2024 Accepted: 21.10.2024 Published: 13.01.2025 Corresponding Author: Sercan Capkin, İzmir Bakırçay University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Orthopaedics and Traumatology, İzmir, Türkiye E-mail: sercancapkn@gmail.com The exact number of cases of TOS is uncertain, but it is estimated to range from 2.5 to 4.0 cases per 100,000 people annually in the United States of America (USA) (10,11). Diagnosing TOS is challenging because there are no definitive neurodiagnostic tests or objective criteria (4). While treating arterial and venous TOS is straightforward, treating neurogenic TOS remains controversial, with no consensus on surgical timing or approach (12-16).

TOS is addressed by various surgical specialties, such as thoracic, vascular, orthopedic, neurosurgery, and plastic surgery (17). Misdiagnosis and complications are frequent, potentially leading to severe outcomes (18). A multidisciplinary approach is often beneficial for patients (17).

Given the ongoing debates and complexities surrounding TOS, conducting a bibliometric analysis can offer valuable insights into research trends and developments in this field. Our study aims to provide a quantitative description of the current status and trends in TOS research, identify influential publications, journals, researchers, and countries, and offer a reliable overview of the state of TOS research to guide future investigations.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Data Sources

The literature review utilized the Web of Science (WoS) database to gather relevant studies. WoS database is a comprehensive indexing resource provided by Clarivate Analytics in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. This database includes the Science Citation Index Expanded (SCI-E), Social Sciences Citation Index (SSCI), Arts & Humanities Citation Index (A&HCI), Conference Proceedings Citation Index (CPCI), and other relevant sources. WoS is recognized globally as a multidisciplinary resource, providing access to numerous influential, high-quality academic journals. Leveraging WoS's built-in functions, we could delve into publication trends, geographical distribution, research areas, active organizations, journals, authors, trending topics, and citation counts (19). These robust features make the WoS database an ideal resource for conducting comprehensive bibliometric analyses of research related to TOS. Ethical approval was not required as the search utilized publicly available databases. Data collection was completed on May 17, 2024, ensuring the inclusion of all relevant publications up to that date.

Search Strategy

The search strategy was carefully crafted to explore the "Thoracic Outlet Syndrome". Only original articles were included in the search, while other document types such as reviews, meeting abstracts, proceedings papers, editorial materials, and letters were deliberately excluded. The search period was defined to span from 1980 to 2023 to capture a comprehensive range of literature. Raw data from the WoS database was meticulously extracted in plain text format to facilitate in-depth bibliometric analysis.

Data Extraction and Collection

We carefully retrieved relevant data from the WoS, manually excluding unrelated literature. Two authors independently browsed and extracted data from the selected articles. The information obtained from the articles included titles, authors, affiliations, publication year, contributing nations, journals, keywords, references, citation frequency, average citations per item, and h-index. We used Microsoft Office Excel 2017 for data entry and management. We conducted a thorough and meticulous process to gather relevant data from the WoS, carefully filtering out any unrelated literature by hand.

Bibliometric and Visualized Analysis

The world map was generated using GunnMap2 (http:// lert.co.nz/map/), and bibliometric network and density visualizations were created with VOSviewer software (version 1.6.13, Van Eck and Waltman, Leiden University, The Netherlands) (20). In the network visualization map, larger circles indicated more significant contributions, and thick, closely positioned lines signified strong relationships. The density visualization map used a color scale from blue to red, with red representing areas with more items and greater weight of neighboring items.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were conducted using SPSS (Version 21.0, IBM Corp., Armonk, NY). The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test assessed data distribution normality, while Spearman's correlation analyzed the relationship between publications per country and GDP per capita (United et al., 2022) and HDI (United Nations, 2022). Linear regression was applied to predict future publication trends (2024-2034), with statistical significance set at p<0.05.

RESULTS

Quantity of Global Publications

The literature search resulted in 2248 publications. Of these, 1509 (67.13%) were journal articles, 227 (10.10%) were review articles, 205 (9.12%) were meeting abstracts, 135 (6.01%) were editorial materials, 113 (5.03%) were letters, 29 (1.29%) were proceedings papers, 23 (1.02%) were notes, 5 (0.21%) were corrections, 1 (0.04%) was early access, and 1 (0.04%) was a reprint. In total, 1509 articles were analyzed bibliometrically in this study. The most common languages of publication were English (n=1365; 91%), German (n=55), French (n=53), Spanish (n=13), Turkish (n=8), Korean (n=6), Japanese (n=3), Portuguese (n=3), Polish (n=2), and Czech (n=1). These 1509 articles received 7831 citations (6596 excluding self-citations), with a mean of 13.1 citations per article. The total h-index for all included journal articles was 57.

Active Research Areas

The research landscape is diverse, with surgery being the most common focus area, comprising 41.94% of published articles. Following closely behind are peripheral vascular disease (20.41%), orthopedics (13.18%), and clinical neurology (11.99%).

The research articles span a wide range of fields, with general internal medicine (165), radiology, nuclear medicine, and medical imaging (115), sports sciences (92), and rehabilitation (91) being the most prominent. Additionally, significant contributions were made in the areas of cardiac and cardiovascular systems (88), neurosciences (72), and the respiratory system (57). The research also extended to pediatrics (40), anatomy and morphology (37), anesthesiology (27), and rheumatology (22), among others. It is important to note that some articles were labeled in more than one field, reflecting the interdisciplinary nature of research.

Annual Publication Production

The graphical representation in Figure 1 illustrates the distribution of the number of articles by year. Notably, there was a substantial surge in the number of articles focusing on TOS in 2021 compared to previous years. Additionally, Figure 1 visually represents the projected number of publications for the next ten years using regression analysis, accompanied by 95% confidence intervals (CI). The regression analysis forecasts that 70 journal articles [95% CI: 51-89] are anticipated to be published in 2024, increasing to 84 [95% CI: 65-103] by 2033.



Figure 1. Trends in the number of annual publications by year

Active Countries

The productivity of countries in terms of published articles is as follows: The USA leads with 684 publications (45.32%), followed by France with 117, England with 73, Germany with 68, Türkiye with 67, Italy with 56, India with 48, Japan with 44, Canada with 37, Netherlands with 36, South Korea with 34, China with 31, Switzerland with 26, Belgium with 22, Finland with 21, Australia with 20, Spain with 19, Austria with 18, Brazil with 16, Sweden with 14, Poland with 11, and other countries contributing 152 publications (Figure 2). The corresponding authors indicate that the USA is the most productive country in the field related to TOS, as shown in Figure 3, with most publications originating from the USA.

Thirty-three countries contributed articles to the published articles. Figure 4 illustrates the map displaying the international collaboration networks among countries that have jointly published at least five articles.



Figure 2. World map depicting publication productivity in the field of TOS by country (P.N.: Publication Number); Productivity is color-coded on a scale from blue (low) to orange (high)



Figure 3. The most productive countries in the TOS-related field (MCP: multiple corresponding author publication; SCP: single corresponding author publication)



Figure 4. Network visualization map for international collaborations on TOS. (The sizes of the circles represent the number of publications, the colors indicate clusters of collaborations, and the thickness of the lines indicates the strength of collaborations)

Factors Associated with the Numbers of Publications

The analysis revealed a statistically significant correlation (p<0.01) between the number of publications on TOS and both GDP per capita (r=0.36) and HDI (r=0.43).

Active Journals

A comprehensive analysis revealed that 1509 articles were published across 558 distinct journals. Specific journals stood out for their exceptional frequency of publications and citations on TOS. These standout journals, which had each published a minimum of 10 articles, are detailed in Table 1. Annals of Vascular Surgery boasted the highest number of articles (71 articles, 4.7%), while the Journal of Vascular Surgery garnered the most citations (65 articles, 2,563 citations). The table also provides insights into the number of publications and citations per article. Furthermore, Figure 5 showcases a visually compelling citation network visualization map highlighting the most active journals.

Table 1. Journals with the highest frequency of publications and citations on TOS						
Journal	Publications (n)	Citations				
Annals of Vascular Surgery	71	1078				
Journal of Vascular Surgery	65	2563				
Journal of Vascular Surgery: Venous and Lymphatic Disorders	16	132				
Annals of Thoracic Surgery	15	384				
Vascular and Endovascular Surgery	19	191				
Diagnostics	13	114				
Thoracic Surgery Clinics	11	53				
Muscle & Nerve	21	720				
Hand Clinics	24	501				
European Journal of Vascular and Endovascular Surgery	10	174				
Journal of Hand Surgery - American Volume	16	294				
American Journal of Surgery	12	411				
Vascular	13	115				
American Surgeon	10	173				
Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research	12	165				
Vasa - Journal of Vascular Diseases	14	61				
Surgical and Radiologic Anatomy	10	73				
Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation	11	189				
Journal des Maladies Vasculaires	10	63				
Cureus Journal of Medical Science	12	44				



Figure 5. A network visualization map illustrating the citation analysis of the most active journals in the field of TOS. (The size of the circles indicates the frequency of each journal, while the thickness of the lines reflects the strength of the relationships)

Active Authors and Organizations

The following individuals were the most active authors in the field: Thompson RW (30 publications), Freischlag JA (29 publications), Gelabert HA (16 publications), Ozcakar L (15 publications), Teijink JAW (14 publications), Sanders R (14 publications), Abraham P (14 publications), Lum YW (12 publications), Henni S (12 publications), Pesser N (11 publications), Illig KA (11 publications), Hersant J (11 publications), and Donahue DM (11 publications). In addition, Figure 6 highlights the most active organizations in TOS research. The University of California System led 62 publications, followed by Harvard University and Johns Hopkins University with 53 publications.



Figure 6. The most productive organizations are in the TOS-related field

Citation Analysis

Table 2 provides a comprehensive overview of the ten most extensively cited articles, including their total citation counts and average citations per year. Notably, all of these articles have amassed more than 100 citations each. The article by Sanders RJ et al. stands out with the highest number of citations, totaling 252, and was published in the Journal of Vascular Surgery in 2007 (21).

Table 2. The 10 most cited manuscripts on TOS									
No	Article	Author (s)	Journal	ΡY	AC	тс			
1	Diagnosis of thoracic outlet syndrome	Sanders RJ, Hammond SL and Rao NM	Journal of Vascular Surgery	2007	14	252			
2	Ectopic sensory discharges and paresthesia in patients with disorders of peripheral-nerves, dorsal roots and dorsal columns	Nordin M, Nystrom B, Wallin U and Hagbarth KE	Pain	1984	5.41	222			
3	Surveillance case definitions for work related upper limb pain syndromes	Harrington JM, Carter JT, Birrell L and Gompertz D	Occupational and Environmental Medicine	1998	7.22	195			
4	Guidance for the treatment of deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism	Streiff MB and et al.	Journal of Thrombosis and Thrombolysis	2016	21.56	194			
5	Nonunion of the clavicle - associated complications and surgical- management	Jupiter JB and Leffert RD	Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery- American Volume	1987	4.68	178			
6	Outcomes of surgery in 1019 brachial plexus lesions treated at Louisiana State University Health Sciences Center	Kim DH, Cho YJ, Tiel RL and Kline DG	Journal of Neurosurgery	2003	7.36	162			
7	Reporting standards of the Society for Vascular Surgery for thoracic outlet syndrome	Illig KA and et al.	Journal of Vascular Surgery	2016	15.78	142			
8	Imaging assessment of thoracic outlet syndrome	Demondion, X and et al.	Radiographics	2006	6.74	128			
9	The place for scalenectomy and 1st-rib resection in thoracic outlet syndrome	Roos DB	Surgery	1982	2.93	126			
10	The treatment of thoracic outlet syndrome - a comparison of different operations	Sanders RJ and Pearce WH	Surgery	1989	3.47	125			

PY: publication year, AC: average citations per year, TC: total citation

Keyword Analysis

In scholarly publications, keywords are crucial as they provide essential information about the main themes and ongoing research trends. The frequency of specific keywords used during a particular period can offer valuable insights into the primary focus areas and critical research trends related to TOS. Figure 7A provides a detailed breakdown of the most frequently used keywords in TOS-related literature. 'Thoracic outlet syndrome' is the most commonly used keyword, appearing 250 times, followed by 'management' (216), 'diagnosis' (203), 'surgery' (120), and 'compression' (112).

Furthermore, analyzing the co-occurrence of keywords provides a comprehensive understanding of the research hotspots within the field. This analysis reveals the frequency with which a group of keywords appears in the same publications, forming a co-occurrence network that highlights their connections. To conduct this analysis on publications spanning from 1980 to 2023, we utilized VOSviewer. Figure 7B illustrates the change in the frequency of keywords over time, with "thoracic outlet syndrome" remaining the most prominent keyword, appearing 250 times. Figures 7C and 7D present detailed visual representations of the co-occurrence network of keywords, illustrating the relationships between frequently used terms in the analyzed literature. Each node in Figure 7C represents a keyword, with the node's size corresponding to the frequency of co-occurrence. Keywords of the same color belong to the same cluster. Notably, in Figure 7C, we have categorized all the keywords into twelve clusters, with the largest cluster containing 20 keywords, including "brachial plexus". This categorization provides a detailed insight into the interconnectedness of the keywords within the TOS-related literature.



Figure 7. Keyword analysis of the TOS-related publications; A. Tree Map of the top 117 high-frequency keywords used, B. Keyword frequency over time, C. Co-occurring network of keywords, D. Co-occurring network of keywords in overlay visualization

DISCUSSION

This comprehensive study presents a detailed overview of the current status and global trends in TOS research. Over the years, there has been a consistent rise in the annual number of publications in this field, indicating a growing interest and focus on TOS. Our analysis has identified vital researchers, institutions, and countries involved in TOS research and their collaborative networks, shedding light on influential and highly cited publications. We have provided valuable insights into the landscape of TOS research through extensive bibliometric analyses, including keyword analysis and citation analysis of articles and journals, as well as an examination of international collaborations. This study is the first to conduct in-depth analyses, covering many articles on TOS and offering significant contributions to the knowledge base for researchers and practitioners in this field.

Growth of TOS Research

Research on TOS has grown significantly over the past four decades. The number of publications on TOS surged after

2021, which could be attributed to increased awareness, advancements in diagnostic techniques, and the findings of other studies (e.g., Illig et al., 2021). This increase in research activities may also signify the growing recognition of TOS as a significant clinical issue that demands more focused investigation and intervention.

Academic Influence and Key Contributors

The USA has a global academic influence, which is evident in its many publications and citations. These statistics support previous research highlighting the USA's prominent role in medical research, attributed to its substantial investment in healthcare and research infrastructure (Martín-Martín et al., 2021). The University of California System is the most active academic institution, fostering collaborative relationships with research organizations worldwide. This institution's prominence can be attributed to its extensive network of medical centers and its dedicated focus on multidisciplinary research.

Impact of Economic and Developmental Factors

Previous research has demonstrated a strong connection between a nation's economic strength, development indices, and publication productivity (22,23). Our study further substantiates this link by identifying specific correlations between certain economic and developmental indicators. It is evident that countries with higher wealth and more advanced healthcare systems are better positioned to allocate resources for research and produce high-impact studies, as evidenced by the research of Peet et al. in 1956 and Hooper et al. in 2010. These findings emphasize the critical role of resource allocation in driving scientific advancements and the importance of economic and developmental factors in shaping publication productivity.

Leading Journals in TOS Research

Two prominent journals greatly support the field of TOS research. The Annals of Vascular Surgery stands out with the most publications in TOS-related research and is the second most cited journal in this specialized area. On the other hand, the Journal of Vascular Surgery takes the lead regarding citations and holds the second position in the number of publications. These journals are renowned for their extensive readership and primary focus on vascular conditions, which naturally encompasses TOS. This underscores the multidisciplinary approach to TOS management, with a particular emphasis on the role of vascular surgeons. Researchers interested in TOS are strongly encouraged to prioritize these journals to stay updated on the latest developments and findings in the field.

Citation Trends and Influential Articles

Most of the top 10 most cited articles were published before 2010, suggesting that older studies have more time to accumulate citations than recent publications. These earlier works mainly focused on the diagnosis and treatment of TOS. The most frequently cited report, written by Sanders RJ in 2007, explores the diagnostic process for TOS, emphasizing the lasting impact of foundational studies on current understanding and practices.

Keyword Analysis and Research Hotspots

Keywords play a critical role in scholarly publications by offering valuable insights into the central themes and prevailing research trends in TOS. In TOS-related literature, some of the most frequently used keywords include "thoracic outlet syndrome", "management", "diagnosis", "surgery", and "compression". These keywords reveal interconnected research hotspots through cooccurrence analysis, forming networks that illustrate their associations. An analysis using VOSviewer to study publications from 1980 to 2023 highlighted "thoracic outlet syndrome" as the most prominent keyword. Additionally, the analysis showcased the grouping of keywords into clusters, with the largest cluster encompassing significant terms such as "brachial plexus". These clusters indicate concentrated research endeavors and evolving interests within the TOS field.

Limitations

While a bibliometric analysis can provide valuable insights into the publication data within a specific scientific field, it is essential to address the limitations of our study:

- Our selection was limited to the WoSCC database, meaning that other significant databases, such as PubMed and Scopus, were not included in our analysis.
- We only focused on English-language publications, potentially overlooking relevant studies published in other languages. It is crucial to note that the frequency of citations does not necessarily indicate the quality of a publication, which means that some high-quality studies with fewer citations might have been excluded from our analysis.
- Our study only included publications with sufficient data, which might have excluded more recent studies.

It is essential to recognize that research findings are subject to change over time. Lastly, our conclusions are based on database records, which may only partially represent the real-world scenario. This limitation is standard in all bibliometric studies.

Strengths and Innovations

Our research has significant strengths, notably its comprehensive coverage of the topic and the utilization of advanced bibliometric methods. No other study has conducted such extensive analyses within the field of TOS research, making our work a valuable and unprecedented resource for guiding future investigations in this area.

Future Research Directions

Future research could expand upon these findings by incorporating additional databases, such as PubMed and Scopus, offering a more comprehensive understanding of the subject. Including non-English publications may also reveal significant studies that should have been included in this analysis. Additionally, longitudinal studies could be valuable in tracking changing trends in TOS research and its impact on clinical practices.

CONCLUSION

In this study, we used bibliometric and visualized analyses to identify current trends in research and collaborative relationships among countries, authors, and institutions. We also reviewed key scientific works to provide researchers with a comprehensive overview of the academic landscape in TOS research. Over the past forty years, there has been significant growth in TOS research, with the USA emerging as the leading contributor. The University of California System has been particularly active in this field. The Annals of Vascular Surgery and the Journal of Vascular Surgery have been identified as the most influential journals in this study area.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: As this study did not examine human subjects, it was exempt from institutional review board approval.

REFERENCES

- Dengler NF, Ferraresi S, Rochkind S, et al. Thoracic outlet syndrome part i: systematic review of the literature and consensus on anatomy, diagnosis, and classification. Neurosurgery. 2022;90:653-67.
- 2. Peet RM, Henriksen JD, Anderson TP, Martin GM. Thoracicoutlet syndrome: evaluation of a therapeutic exercise program. Proc Staff Meet Mayo Clin. 1956;31:281-7.
- Hooper TL, Denton J, McGalliard MK, et al. Thoracic outlet syndrome: a controversial clinical condition. Part 1: anatomy, and clinical examination/diagnosis. J Man Manip Ther. 2010;18:74-83.
- 4. Wilbourn AJ. Thoracic outlet syndromes. Neurol Clin. 1999;17:477-97.
- 5. Atasoy E. Thoracic outlet compression syndrome. Orthop Clin North Am. 1996;27:265-303.
- Dahlstrom KA, Olinger AB. Descriptive anatomy of the interscalene triangle and the costoclavicular space and their relationship to thoracic outlet syndrome: a study of 60 cadavers. J Manipulative Physiol Ther. 2012;35:396-401.
- 7. Roos DB. Congenital anomalies associated with thoracic outlet syndrome. Am J Surg. 1976;132:771-8.

- Urschel HC, Razzuk MA. Neurovascular compression in the thoracic outlet, changing management over 50 years. Ann Surg. 1998;228:609-17.
- 9. Chwei-Chin Chuang D, Fang F, Nai-Jen Chang T, et al. Thoracic outlet syndrome: past and present - 88 surgeries in 30 years at Chang Gung. Plast Reconstr Surg Glob Open. 2016;4:e728.
- 10. Illig KA, Rodriguez-Zoppi E, Bland T, et al. The Incidence of Thoracic Outlet Syndrome. Ann Vasc Surg. 2021;70:263-72.
- 11. Illig KA, Rodriguez-Zoppi E. How common is thoracic outlet syndrome?. Thorac Surg Clin. 2021;31:11-7.
- 12. Wilbourn AJ. Thoracic outlet syndrome is overdiagnosed. Muscle Nerve. 1999;22:130-7.
- 13. Roos DB. Thoracic outlet syndrome is underdiagnosed. Muscle Nerve. 1999;22:126-38.
- 14. Qvarfordt PG, Ehrenfeld WK, Stoney RJ. Supraclavicular radical scalenectomy and transaxillary first rib resection for the thoracic outlet syndrome. Am J Surg. 1984;148:111-6.
- 15. Chang DC, Rotellini-Coltvet LA, Mukherjee D, et al. Surgical intervention for thoracic outlet syndrome improves patient's quality of life. J Vasc Surg. 2009;49:630-7.
- 16. Orlando MS, Likes KC, Mirza S, et al. A decade of excellent outcomes after surgical intervention in 538 patients with thoracic outlet syndrome. J Am Coll Surg. 2015;220:934-9.
- 17. Burt BM. Thoracic outlet syndrome for thoracic surgeons. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2018;156:1318-23.e1.
- Li W, Dissanaike S. Jury verdicts, outcomes, and tort reform features of malpractice cases involving thoracic outlet syndrome. J Vasc Surg. 2022;75:962-7.
- Martín-Martín A, Thelwall M, Orduna-Malea E, et al. Google Scholar, Microsoft Academic, Scopus, Dimensions, Web of Science, and OpenCitations' COCI: a multidisciplinary comparison of coverage via citations. Scientometrics. 2021;126:871-906.
- van Eck NJ, Waltman L. Software survey: VOSviewer, a computer program for bibliometric mapping. Scientometrics. 2010;84:523-38.
- 21. Sanders RJ, Hammond SL, Rao NM. Diagnosis of thoracic outlet syndrome. J Vasc Surg. 2007;46:601-4.
- 22. Bastian JD, Meier MK, Ernst RS, et al. A bibliometric analysis of orthogeriatric care: top 50 articles. Eur J Trauma Emerg Surg. 2022;48:1673-82.
- 23. Demir E, Yasar E, Ozkocak V, et al. The evolution of the field of legal medicine: A holistic investigation of global outputs with bibliometric analysis. J Forensic Leg Med. 2020;69:101885.



Investigation of Gender-Related Changes of Craniocervical Region Variables on MRI in Adults with Reduced Cervical Lordosis Angle

©Gamze Taskin Senol¹,
Olbrahim Kurtul¹,
Ogulcin Ray¹,
Obdullah Ray¹,
Oracettin Ayanoglu²

¹Bolu Abant Izzet Baysal University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Anatomy, Bolu, Türkiye ²Bolu Abant İzzet Baysal University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, Bolu, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License



Abstract

Aim: In the present study, the aim has been to evaluate the variables related to the craniocervical region on magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of individuals with reduced cervical lordosis angle and to reveal the differences between genders.

Material and Method: Totally, 9 variables have been measured on the cervical vertebrae images of 120 individuals. The variables measured are as follows: Dens height (DH), dens anteroposterior distance (APDD), dens apical ligament length (LALD), foramen magnum sagittal diameter (SDFM), spinal canal anteroposterior diameter (APCSD), retropharyngeal space length (LRS), dens anteroposterior distance (ASDD), total cervical vertebrae length (TCVL) and dens angle (DA). Statistical analyses of the variables were performed with Minitab[®] 21.2 (64-bit) and R program.

Results: The study's results were as follows, men and women, respectively: DH: 31.5±2.8, 30.1±2.6, ASDD: 36.1, 34.2, TCVL: 116.2±7.2, 107.7±6.1. According to the analysis, the differences in DH, ASDD and TCVL variables between men and women were found to be statistically significant.

Conclusion: The study, which used MRI of the cervical region, found that gender was effective in the variables on the craniocervical region in individuals with reduced cervical lordosis angle and morphometric data related to the population were obtained.

Keywords: Gender, cervical vertebrae, lordosis, morphology, magnetic resonance imaging

INTRODUCTION

The craniocervical junction, formed by the atlantooccipital and atlantoaxial joints, is the complex transition zone between the cervical vertebrae and the skull and includes the neurovascular structures from the skull base to the second cervical vertebrae (1). Approximately one-third of all pathologies of the cervical spine are encountered at the craniocervical junction, which is rich in structure and function and can be caused by aging, degeneration or trauma (2). As the craniocervical junction contains many vital structures that are in close relationship with each other, the neurological system and musculoskeletal system are affected in pathologic conditions involving this region (3). A decrease in the cervical lordosis angle is popularly known as neck flattening and radiographs constitute the first step in the evaluation (2,3). Nevertheless, computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) can be used for detailed evaluations such as the degree and level of lordosis and its effect on surrounding structures (4,5). A lordotic angle of 20-35 degrees between C2-C7 vertebrae is considered physiologic. This angle may decrease due to pathologies in the muscle, intervertebral disc, bone tissue or adjacent segments, head position, injuries or accidents (6). Furthermore, a recent study reported that age and gender also play a role in the reduction of the lordosis angle (6,7). Thus, it is important to consider age and gender in diagnostic and therapeutic approaches and to prevent complications in surgery and to know the anatomical features of the region well (8). The purpose of this study has been to evaluate the variables related to the craniocervical region in adult individuals with decreased cervical lordosis angle and to present the differences between genders to the literature.

CITATION

Taskin Senol G, Kurtul I, Ray G, et al. Investigation of Gender-Related Changes of Craniocervical Region Variables on MRI in Adults with Reduced Cervical Lordosis Angle. Med Records. 2025;7(1):64-7. DOI:1037990/medr.1561148

Received: 04.10.2024 Accepted: 25.10.2024 Published: 13.01.2025

Corresponding Author: Gamze Taskin Senol, Bolu Abant Izzet Baysal University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Anatomy, Bolu, Türkiye

E-mail: rumeysagamzetaskin@ibu.edu.tr

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Research has been started with the approval decision numbered 2023/230 from the Clinical Research Ethics Committee. In the study, MRI (1.5 Tesla MRI Device (Siemens-Magneton Symphony, Erlangen, Germany) of 120 individuals (60 women, 60 men) aged 25-55 years with reduced cervical lordosis angle randomly selected from the Picture Archiving and Communication Systems (PACS) archive of Bolu Abant Izzet Baysal University Training and Research Hospital has been used. The images taken from the system in Dicom format have been transferred to a personal workstation Radiant Dicom Viewer (RDV) program. After the determination of decreased cervical lordosis angle has been made by an orthopedic and traumatology specialist, the following parameters were measured. The following variables have been measured: Dens height (DH), anteroposterior distance of dens (APDD), length of apical ligament of dens (LALD), sagittal diameter of foramen magnum (SDFM), anteroposterior diameter of spinal canal (APCSD), length of retropharyngeal space (LRS), anteroposterior distance of dens (ASDD), total cervical vertebrae length (TCVL) and dens angle (DA). The demonstration of the measured variables is given in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Demonstrations of the variables; a- DH, b- APDD, c- LALD, d-SDFM, e- APCSD, f- LRS, h- ASDD, g- TCVL, I- DA; DH: dens height, APDD: anteroposterior distance of dens, LALD: length of apical ligament of dens, SDFM: sagittal diameter of foramen magnum, APCSD: anteroposterior diameter of spinal canal, LRS: length of retropharyngeal space, ASDD: anteroposterior distance of dens, TCVL: total cervical vertebrae length, DA: dens angle

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis have been performed with Minitab® 21.2 (64-bit) package program and R version 4.2.3 (2023-03-15 ucrt). The compatibility of the variables with normal distribution has been tested with Anderson Darling Test. The mean and standard deviation (sd) values of parametric variables and median (med), minimum (min) and maximum (max) values of nonparametric variables were calculated. To analyze the difference between genders, Two Simple T Test has been used for parametric tests and Mann Whitney U Test for nonparametric variables. Logarithmic transformation was performed for nonparametric variables. In the Anderson Darling Test performed as a result of logarithmic transformation, 95% confidence intervals have been calculated for variables that fit the normal distribution. P<0.05 has been accepted as significant.

RESULTS

Following the analysis, med, min and max values have been given for age, APDD, SDFM, APCSD, LRS and ASDD variables because they have not been normally distributed, and mean and sd values have been given for DH, DA and TCVL variables because they have been normally distributed. Log transformation has been applied for the LALD variable and mean and 95% confidence intervals have been included (Table 1). As a result of the analysis, the differences between men and women in DH, ASDD and TCVL variables have been found statistically significant. Descriptive statistics, Mann Whitney U Test results and Two Simple T Test results of the variables have been presented in Table 1.

Mann Whitney Test results							
Variable	M (n=60)	F (n=60)	p-value				
Age	48 (24-64)*	45.5 (20-59)	0.388 [∞]				
DH (cm)	31.5±2.8**	30.1±2.6	0.007#				
APDD (cm)	10.2 (8.1-16.5)	10.0 (7.3-14.3)	0.079 [™]				
ASDD (cm)	36.1 (28.5-48.8)	34.2 (33.5-40)	<0.001				
DA (°)	64.8±5.3	63.9±4.3	0.318#				
LALD (cm)	7.2 (6.6-7.7)***	6.5 (6.1-6.8)***	0.077#				
TCVL (cm)	116.2±7.2	107.7±6.1	<0.001#				
LRS (mm)	3 (1-6.4)	3.6 (2-5.9)	0.220 [∞]				
APCSD (mm)	15.6±1.6	15.8±1.7	0.662#				
SDFM (cm)	6.9 (3.1-8.3)	7.3 (4.5-8.8)	0.131				

DH: dens height, APDD: anteroposterior distance of dens, ASDD: anteroposterior distance of dens, DA: dens angle, LALD: length of apical ligament of dens, TCVL: total cervical vertebrae length, LRS: length of retropharyngeal space, APCSD: anteroposterior diameter of spinal canal, SDFM: sagittal diameter of foramen magnum, M: male, F: female, I: the p value of the Mann whitney u test result, #: the p-value of the Two Simple T Test, *: med (min-max), **: mean±sd, ***: the means and 95% confidence intervals after logarithmic transformation

The boxplot graph of age, DH, TCVL, ASDD variables has been presented in Figure 2.



Figure 2. The boxplot graph of age, DH, TCVL, ASDD variables. DH: dens height, TCVL: total cervical vertebrae length, ASDD: anteroposterior distance of dens, M: male, F: female

DISCUSSION

Age and gender both have an impact on the deformities and degenerative changes that occur in the vertebrae of the craniocervical area, which cause variations in the cervical lordosis angle throughout time. Finding the anatomical-morphometric characteristics that contributed to the changes in this region has been the objective of the current investigation.

In the current study, MRIs of individuals with reduced cervical lordosis angles aged 25 to 55 were used to examine changes in the gender-related variables of DH, ASDD, TCVL, APDD, DA, LALD, LRS, APCSD, and SDFM. The results showed that the variables related to the craniocervical region, including DH, ASDD, TCVL, APDD, DA, LALD, LRS, APCSD, and SDFM, had statistically significant levels.

According to the literature review, this is the first study to determine the impacted anatomical parameters and investigate gender-related modifications of the craniocervical region in Turkish individuals who have reduced cervical lordosis. We think that the anatomical parameters that were examined in the study and found to be changed will make pre- and post-operative procedures easier. Several studies have been published in the literature that highlight the significance of cervical lordosis in terms of function, surgery, and therapeutic management (9-12). Very few studies have investigated at how it relates to anatomical parameters.

A study that evaluated the anatomical parameters of cervical lordosis and how it affect gender and age investigated at 1020 individuals, 424 of whom were male and 596 of whom were female, ranging in age from 7 to 95. Cervical lordosis and intervertebral disc compression have been shown to increases significantly with age, with a greater increase in males than in women. Vertebral body compression has been demonstrated to have a smaller effect on C2-C7 cervical lordosis than disc compression. The morphological characteristics of sagittal compression of the intervertebral discs and vertebral bodies in the cervical spine are thoroughly investigated in this study, which is the largest investigation of this type reported in the literature (13). Cervical lordosis increases with aging, according to earlier research in the literature (14-17).

The effect of age and gender on cervical lordosis in lateral cervical radiographs of a total of 197 patients ranging in age from 6 to 50 years has been investigated in two groups: a juvenile group (76 children aged 6-19 years; 48 males and 28 females) and an adult group (121 adults aged 20-50 years; 61 males and 60 females). Consequently, it was found that children showed a considerably more significant gender difference than adults (7).

An examination of 120 adults' cervical lateral roentgenograms compared the corpus of the cervical vertebrae biometrically. It has been reported that the vertebral body of C2, especially its anteroposterior diameter value, is the best indicator of age independent of individual and external variables (18).

A total of 1,230 asymptomatic individuals have been studied for age-related changes in the bony anatomy, alignment and range of motion of the cervical spine on antero-posterior (AP), lateral, flexion and extension radiographs of the cervical spine. The antero-posterior diameter of the spinal canal, vertebral body and vertebral disc has been measured at all levels from C2 to C7. It has been found that with increasing age, both the AP diameter of the spinal canal and the disc height gradually decrease. There has been a significant difference between men and women in terms of C2-C7 alignment and range of motion (19).

It is also reported in the literature that neck pain and neck flattening due to nerve root irritations at the level of the foramen intervertebrale as a result of decreased cervical lordosis angle (20-24).

The present study has several limitations. The sample size is relatively limited, which is the first constraint. The second is that different spondylotic changes that can be observed at older ages have been omitted from the study because the participants under examination ranged in age from 25 to 55. Third, ethnic differences could not be taken into account because the study was single-centered. Another drawback is that, as it was a retrospective study, none of the cases that were studied at presented any clinical symptoms.

CONCLUSION

In terms of normal values for comparison in clinical practice, it is thought that the study's data, which identify the anatomical parameters that are significantly determined among people with reduced cervical lordosis angle, may be helpful. Furthermore, based on an overview of the findings from this study and the literature, we believe that future research should investigate into the clinical consequences of anatomical features.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: Research has been started with the approval decision numbered 2023/230 from the Bolu Abant Izzet Baysal University Clinical Research Ethics Committee.

REFERENCES

- 1. Offiah CE. Craniocervical junction and cervical spine anatomy. Neuroimaging Clin N Am. 2022;32:875-88.
- 2. Izzo R, Popolizio T, Balzano RF, et al. Imaging of craniocervical junction traumas. Eur J Radiol. 2020;127:108960.
- 3. Demirel A, Adak B. Cervical vertebral axis flattening: demographics and causes. Abant Med J. 2022;11:250-6.
- 4. Ünal M. Upper cervical spine: anatomy, pathophysiology and clinic picture. İKÇÜSBFD. 2021;6:117-20.

- 5. Kim GU, Chang MC, Kim TU, et al. Diagnostic modality in spine disease: a review. Asian Spine J. 2020;14:910-20.
- Ezra D, Kalichman L, Simonovich A, et al. The association between cervical lordosis and age, sex, history of cervical trauma and sedentarity: a CT study. Arch Anat Physiol. 2020;5:9-15.
- 7. Been E, Shefi S, Soudack M. Cervical lordosis: the effect of age and gender. Spine J. 2017;17:880-8.
- 8. Sarğın G, Baydar CY, Azizoğlu H. Cervical lordosis in asymptomatic individuals; systematic review and metaanalysis. Osmangazi Journal of Medicine. 2022;44:822-8.
- 9. Abelin-Genevois K, Idjerouidene A, Roussouly P, et al. Cervical spine alignment in the pediatric population: a radiographic normative study of 150 asymptomatic patients. Euro Spine J. 2014;23:1442-8.
- Zhang J, Buser Z, Abedi A, et al. Can C2-6 cobb angle replace C2-7 cobb angle?: An analysis of cervical kinetic magnetic resonance images and x-rays. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2019;44:240-5.
- 11. Tao Y, Galbusera F, Niemeyer F, et al. Radiographic cervical spine degenerative findings: a study on a large population from age 18 to 97 years. Eur Spine J. 2021;30:431-3.
- 12. Lee SE, Jahng TA, Kim HJ. Correlation between cervical lordosis and adjacent segment pathology after anterior cervical spinal surgery. Eur Spine J. 2015;24:2899-909.
- 13. Tao Y, Niemeyer F, Galbusera F, et al. Sagittal wedging of intervertebral discs and vertebral bodies in the cervical spine and their associations with age, sex and cervical lordosis: a large-scale morphological study. Clin Anat. 2021;34:1111-20.
- 14. Guo Q, Ni B, Yang J, et al. Relation between alignments of upper and subaxial cervical spine: a radiological study. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg. 2011;131:857-62.

- 15. Inoue T, Ito K, Ando K, et al. Age-related changes in upper and lower cervical alignment and range of motion: normative data of 600 asymptomatic individuals. Eur Spine J. 2020;29:2378-83.
- 16. Virk S, Lafage R, Elysee J, et al. The 3 sagittal morphotypes that define the normal cervical spine a systematic review of the literature and an analysis of asymptomatic volunteers. J Bone Jt Surg. 2020;102:e109.
- 17. Zhou S, Xu F, Wang W, et al. Age-based normal sagittal alignment in Chinese asymptomatic adults: establishment of the relationships between pelvic incidence and other parameters. Eur Spine J. 2020;29:396-404.
- Liguoro D, Vandermeersch B, Gudrin J. Dimensions of cervical vertebral bodies according to age and sex. Surg Radiol Anat. 1994;16:149-55.
- 19. Yukawa Y, Kato F, Suda K, et al. Age-related changes in osseous anatomy, alignment, and range of motion of the cervical spine. Part I: Radiographic data from over 1,200 asymptomatic subjects. Eur Spine J. 2012;21:1492-8.
- McAviney J, Schulz D, Bock R, et al. Determining the relationship between cervical lordosis and neck complaints. J Manipulative Physiol Ther. 2005;28:187-93.
- 21. Harrison DD, Harrison DE, Janik TJ, et al. Modeling of the sagittal cervical spine as a method to discriminate hypolordosis results of elliptical and circular modeling in 72 asymptomatic subjects, 52 acute neck pain subjects, and 70 chronic neck pain subjects. Spine. 2004;29:2485-92.
- 22. Grob D, Frauenfelder H, Mannion AF. The association between cervical spine curvature and neck pain. Eur Spine J. 2007;16:669-78.
- 23. Aşkin A, Bayram KB, Demirdal ÜS, et al. The evaluation of cervical spinal angle in patients with acute and chronic neck pain. Turk J Med Sci. 2017;47:806-11.
- Helliwell PS, Evans PF, Wright V. The straight cervical spine: Does it indicate muscle spasm?. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 1994;76:103-6.
MEDICAL RECORDS-International Medical Journal

Research Article



The Effect of Fasting During Ramadan on Acute Metabolic Complications of Diabetes

^{(D}Muhammet Ali Erinmez¹, ^{(D}Mehmet Seyfettin Saribas², ^{(D}Firat Gunes³, ^{(D}Ece Oguz³)

¹Mersin Provincial Health Directorate, Mersin, Türkiye

²Niğde Training and Research Hospital, Department of Emergency Medicine, Niğde, Türkiye

³Mersin City Training and Research Hospital, Department of Emergency Medicine, Mersin, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.

Abstract

Aim: Ramadan fasting involves abstaining from eating and drinking from dawn to sunset for 29–30 days, causing significant lifestyle changes. These changes can increase the risk of acute metabolic complications in individuals with diabetes. This study investigates the impact of fasting during Ramadan on the frequency and clinical course of such complications.

Material and Method: This retrospective cross-sectional study included diabetic patients aged 18 years or older who presented to the emergency department (ED) of a tertiary care hospital between 2020 and 2024. Patients were grouped as fasting (≥10 days during Ramadan) or non-fasting. Key diagnoses included diabetic ketoacidosis (DKA), hyperglycemia, and hypoglycemia.

Results: Of the 229 patients (mean age 57.8 years; 56.3% female), 114 were in the fasting group. Both groups were predominantly diagnosed with Type 2 diabetes (85.1% vs. 86.1%). Hypoglycemia accounted for 42.1% of admissions in the fasting group, whereas hyperglycemia was predominant (93%) in the non-fasting group (p<0.001). No significant differences were found in in-hospital mortality or mechanical ventilation needs. However, fasting was associated with lower blood glucose levels in Type 2 diabetes patients (p<0.001).

Conclusion: Pre-fasting education is essential for effective diabetes management during Ramadan. Continuous education programs supported by updated evidence-based guidelines can mitigate risks and improve outcomes for fasting diabetic patients.

Keywords: Diabetes, emergency, fasting, Ramadan

INTRODUCTION

Diabetes Mellitus (DM) is a chronic systemic pathology characterized by hyperglycemia, resulting from varying degrees of insulin deficiency or resistance to insulin in peripheral tissues (1). The World Health Organization reports that there are currently 422 million people living with DM worldwide, and 1.5 million deaths annually are attributed to DM-related complications (2). The treatment and prevention of DM, a significant global public health issue, are of critical importance. To address this, numerous local and global guidelines on DM management and treatment have been published. These guidelines emphasize not only medical therapy but also lifestyle modifications and dietary habits as integral components of DM prevention and treatment (1,3).

Muslims constitute approximately one-quarter of the global population, with an estimated 1.6 billion Muslims worldwide as of 2010 (4). Ramadan, a sacred month in Islam, corresponds to the ninth month of the lunar Hijri calendar and lasts for 29-30 days. The length of Ramadan is determined based on the lunar calendar, which comprises 354 days per year. Due to the structure of the Hijri calendar, Ramadan cycles through all four seasons over approximately 33 years (5,6). Fasting during the month of Ramadan is obligatory for every healthy adult Muslim according to Islamic teachings (7). This practice involves abstaining from all food and drink from dawn to sunset for approximately 29-30 days. The duration of fasting varies depending on geographical location and season, extending up to 20 hours in some regions. Throughout Ramadan, meals are generally limited to two

CITATION

Erinmez MA, Saribas MS, Gunes F, Oguz E. The Effect of Fasting During Ramadan on Acute Metabolic Complications of Diabetes. Med Records. 2025;7(1):68-74. DOI:1037990/medr.1588373

Received: 20.11.2024 Accepted: 09.12.2024 Published: 13.01.2025 Corresponding Author: Muhammet Ali Erinmez, Mersin Provincial Health Directorate, Mersin, Türkiye E-mail: drmalierinmez@gmail.com

main occasions: Suhoor, the pre-dawn meal, and Iftar, the meal taken immediately after breaking the fast at sunset (4,8). Fasting during Ramadan leads to significant lifestyle changes in individuals, including alterations in sleepwake cycles, meal frequency and guantity, and physical activity levels. As a result, there may be an increased risk of complications in diabetic patients. Among the acute metabolic complications of diabetes, hypoglycemia, dehydration, hyperglycemia, diabetic ketoacidosis (DKA), and hyperosmolar hyperglycemic state are potential health risks for diabetic individuals observing fasting during Ramadan (4,9,10). Although fasting is one of the five pillars of Islam, in cases where fasting could significantly affect an individual's health or in certain medical conditions, Islam exempts the person from the fasting obligation. Nevertheless, many patients continue to fast despite the permissions of religious authorities and the recommendations of their doctors (8). According to the 2001 Epidemiology of Diabetes and Ramadan (EPIDIAR) study conducted across 13 countries, the percentage of Type 1 DM patients who fasted for at least 15 days during Ramadan was 42.8%, while for Type 2 DM patients, it was 78.7%. In the same study, it was found that 57.8% of Type 2 diabetes patients in Türkive fasted for at least 15 days. Additionally, the average number of fasting days in Türkiye was 18.1 days for Type 1 DM and 23.9 days for Type 2 DM (11). Therefore, the aim of our study is to investigate the impact of fasting during Ramadan on the frequency and clinical course of acute metabolic complications in diabetes.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Study Design and Select of Participiants

This is a cross-sectional study conducted retrospectively with approval from the local ethics committee (22.04.2024/ Decision No: 2024/82) at a tertiary care hospital between January 1, 2020, and January 1, 2024.

Patients aged 18 and older, who were previously diagnosed with DM and presented to the emergency department between the specified dates with diagnoses of DKA, hyperglycemia, or hypoglycemia, were included in the study. Patients under 18 years of age, those identified as pregnant, and those with missing data in their medical records were excluded from the study.

Patients who met the inclusion and exclusion criteria were divided into two groups based on their fasting status. Those who presented between 01.01.2020 and 01.01.2024 during the Ramadan period, reported fasting for at least 10 days, and adhered to the rituals of fasting such as suhoor and iftar, were categorized into the Fasting group. These patients took their diabetic medications during the suhoor and iftar times. Patients who presented outside of the Ramadan period were included in the Non-fasting group. Within this group, patients were randomly selected from months other than the two months before and after Ramadan, as dietary habits among Muslims tend to differ during those periods. Hypoglycemia is defined as a blood glucose level of less than 70 mg/dL.

The diagnosis of DKA was made based on the following criteria:

- 1. Hyperglycemia: Blood glucose level >250 mg/dL
- 2. Ketosis: Presence of ketones in the urine or blood
- 3. Acidosis: Arterial pH <7.3 or bicarbonate level <18 mEq/L

The diagnosis of hyperglycemia refers to hyperglycemic conditions that require hospitalization but do not meet the criteria for DKA.

Data Collection

The data collection form included demographic information such as age and gender from the patients' medical records; vital signs at the time of emergency department presentation; laboratory values from blood samples including white blood cell count (WBC, cells/ mm³), glucose levels (g/dL), creatinine levels (mg/ dL), blood urea (mg/dL), blood gas parameters, lactate (mmol/L), and ketone levels in urine tests.

The patients' hospitalization status (ward/intensive care unit (ICU)), admission diagnoses (hypoglycemia, DKA, hyperglycemia), length of hospital stay, need for mechanical ventilation, and in-hospital mortality were evaluated and recorded on the data collection form.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using the SPSS V.26 software. The normality of the data was assessed using both analytical and visual methods. Descriptive statistics were presented as mean±standard deviation, median (25th and 75th percentiles), and frequency (%). The analysis of categorical variables was conducted using the Chi-square test. The analysis of continuous and categorical variables was performed using the Mann-Whitney U test and independent T-test, depending on the normality of the distribution. A p-value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

A total of 229 patients were included in the study, with 114 in the fasting group and 115 in the non-fasting group. The average age of the patients was 57.77 ± 16.80 , with 56.3% (n=129) of the patients being female. The majority of participants were diagnosed with Type 2 DM (85.6%). In both groups, patients with Type 2 DM were the majority, and their distribution was similar (85.1% in the fasting group and 86.1% in the non-fasting group). No statistically significant difference was found between the vital signs of the two groups (p>0.05). The median glucose level in the fasting group (p<0.001). The admission diagnoses differed between the two groups. In the non-fasting group, hyperglycemia was the most common admission diagnosis (93%), while no patients were admitted with

DOI: 10.37990/medr.1588373

hypoglycemia. In the fasting group, 35.1% of patients were admitted due to hypoglycemia. A statistically significant difference was found between the groups in terms of admission diagnoses (p<0.001). In-hospital mortality and the need for mechanical ventilation were similar in both groups, with no statistically significant relationship found (p-values of 0.543 and 0.993, respectively). The demographic characteristics, clinical, and laboratory findings of the patients in the two groups are shown in Table 1.

Table 1. Relationship between fast	ting and patient demo	ographic characteristics, clinica	I and laboratory findings	
			Fasting status	
		Non-fasting (n=115)	Fasting (n=114)	p values
	Male	51 (44.3%)	49 (43.0%)	0.025*
Sex; n (%)	Female	64 (55.7%)	65 (57.0%)	0.835^
Turne of disheteou n (%)	Type 1 DM	16 (13.9%)	17 (14.9%)	0.020*
Type of diabetes, fr (%)	Type 2 DM	99 (86.1%)	97 (85.1%)	0.830*
Age (year)		59 (45-68)	60 (47-71.25)	0.555 ^u
SBP (mmHg)		134.14±25.23	131.79±23.47	0.466 ^t
DBP (mmHg)		77.6±13.57	74.18±15.31	0.075 ^t
MAP (mmHg)		96.33 (83.33-106.67)	90 (83.33-100.33)	0.067 ^u
Pulse rate (beats/min)		87.49±14.5	85.97±11.04	0.375 ^t
WBC count (cells/mm ³)		9.6±3.79	10.32±4.76	0.209 ^t
Glucose (mg/dl)		463 (375-561)	339.5 (60.75-502)	<0.001 ^u
Urea (mg/dl)		23.9±20.45	24.01±16.58	0.966 ^t
Creatinine (mg/dl)		1.16±0.67	1.21±0.99	0.662 ^t
Sodium (mEq/L)		132.9±5.93	134.55±5.38	0.029 ^t
Potassium (mEq/L)		4.65±0.6	4.94±4.79	0.510 ^t
Chloride (mEq/L)		98.91±5.46	100.83±7.25	0.025 ^t
pН		7.38±0.07	7.35±0.09	0.023 ^t
PCO2 (mmHg)		41.66±7.42	41.62±9.35	0.976 ^t
PO2 (mmHg)		34.34±15.78	35.88±13.73	0.432 ^t
Bicarbonate (mEq/L)		24.23±4.43	23.04±6.2	0.095 ^t
Base excess (mEq/L)		-0.86±3.72	-2.09±6.3	0.074 ^t
Lactate (mmol/L)		1.97±1.09	2.6±2.75	0.025 ^t
	Negative	93 (80.9%)	100 (87.7%)	
	Trace amouth	6 (5.2%)	0 (0%)	
Keton (Dipstick); n (%)	1 Positive	2 (1.7%)	0 (0%)	0.015*
	2 Positive	12 (10.4%)	7 (6.1%)	
	3 Positive	2 (1.7%)	7 (6.1%)	
Hereitel educiation statutes n (0)	Ward	102 (88.7%)	95 (83.3%)	0.040*
Hospital admission status; n (%)	ICU	13 (11.3%)	19 (16.7%)	0.242^
	Hypoglycemia	0 (0.0%)	40 (35.1%)	
Diagnosis on admission to hospital: n (%)	Hyperglycemia	107 (93.0%)	60 (52.6%)	<0.001*
hospital; n (%)	DKA	8 (7.0%)	14 (12.3%)	
Nood for MV: = (%)	No	110 (95.7%)	107 (93.9%)	0 540*
weed for MV; n (%)	Yes	5 (4.3%)	7 (6.1%)	0.543*
In been tel mente l'here (0)	No	113 (98.3%)	112 (98.2%)	0.000+
In-hospital mortality; n (%)	Yes	2 (1.7%)	2 (1.8%)	0.993*

*Chi-Square, 'Student t test, "Mann-Whitney U Test; Values are presented as mean±SD, median (25th and 75th quartile), or n (%); DBP: diastolic blood pressure, DM: diabetes mellitus, ICU: intensive care unit, MAP: mean arteriel pressure, MV: mechanic ventilation, SBP: systolic blood pressure, SD: standart deviation, WBC: white blood cells

DOI: 10.37990/medr.1588373

A total of 33 patients with Type 1 DM were included in the study, with 17 in the fasting group, while 206 patients had Type 2 DM, of which 97 were in the fasting group. In patients with Type 2 DM, blood glucose levels were significantly lower in the fasting group compared to the non-fasting group (p<0.001). However, in patients

with Type 1 DM, there was no statistically significant difference in blood glucose levels between the groups (p=0.081). The demographic characteristics, clinical, and laboratory findings of patients in the two groups for both Type 1 and Type 2 DM are shown in Tables 2 and 3.

Table 2. Relationship between fast	ing and patient demo	graphic characteristics, clinica	al and laboratory findings accord	ing type 1 diabetes
			Fasting status	
		Non-fasting (n=16)	Fasting (n=17)	p values
	Male	8 (50.0%)	10 (58.8%)	0 611+
Sex, II (%)	Female	8 (50.0%)	7 (41.2%)	0.011
Age (year)		50.5 (35.5-72.25)	44 (29-66.5)	0.763 ^u
SBP (mmHg)		110 (100-136.75)	129 (120-140)	0.063 ^u
DBP (mmHg)		70 (62.5-80)	70 (60-78.5)	0.510 ^u
MAP (mmHg)		83.33 (75-98.33)	86.67 (80.83-93.83)	0.657 ^u
Pulse rate (beats/min)		85 (71.25-103.5)	90 (84.5-97.5)	0.402 ^u
WBC count (cells/mm ³)		9.875 (6.41-14.1325)	12.11 (9.415-18.56)	0.074 ^u
Glucose (mg/dl)		514.5 (439-666.75)	417 (282-610.5)	0.081 ^u
Urea (mg/dl)		25.06±13.29	23.88±13.45	0.802 ^t
Creatinine (mg/dl)		1.43±1.15	1.41±0.94	0.945 ^t
Sodium (mEq/L)		131.5 (125.5-135)	132 (127.5-137.5)	0.929 ^u
Potassium (mEq/L)		4.9 (4.05-5.175)	4.9 (4.4-5.45)	0.683 ^u
Chloride (mEq/L)		97 (95-100.5)	98 (94-102.5)	0.683 ^u
рН		7.36 (7.3225-7.38)	7.33 (7.115-7.39)	0.657 ^u
PCO2 (mmHg)		40 (31.75-44)	41 (27.2-42.8)	0.533 ^u
PO2 (mmHg)		29.5 (21.25-38.75)	40 (31-54.1)	0.049 ^u
Bicarbonate (mEq/L)		20.7±6.49	18.64±8.92	0.451 ^t
Base excess (mEq/L)		-0.1 (-8.75-1.5)	-2.2 (-16.5-1.5)	0.423 ^u
Lactate (mmol/L)		1.75 (1.525-2.475)	1.7 (1.4-2.7)	0.873 ^u
	Negative	3 (18.8%)	9 (52.9%)	
	Trace amouth	0 (0%)	0 (0.0%)	
Keton (Dipstick); n (%)	1 Positive	2 (12.5%)	0 (0.0%)	0.010*
	2 Positive	9 (56.3%)	2 (11.8%)	
	3 Positive	2 (12.5%)	6 (35.3%)	
Hospital admission status: n (%)	Ward	8 (50.0%)	12 (70.6%)	0.226*
	ICU	8 (50.0%)	5 (29.4%)	0.220
	Hypoglycemia	0 (0.0%)	3 (17.6%)	
Diagnosis on admission to hospital; n (%)	Hyperglycemia	10 (62.5%)	6 (35.3%)	0.119*
	DKA	6 (37.5%)	8 (47.1%)	
Need for MV: n (%)	No	14 (87.5%)	14 (82.4%)	0.680*
	Yes	2 (12.5%)	3 (17.6%)	0.000
In-bosnital mortality: n (%)	No	16 (100.0%)	16 (94.1%)	0.225*
In-hospital mortality; n (%)	Yes	0 (0.0%)	1 (5.9%)	0.323^

*Chi-Square, ¹Student t test, ^uMann-Whitney U Test; Values are presented as mean±SD, median (25th and 75th quartile), or n (%); DBP: diastolic blood pressure, DM: diabetes mellitus, ICU: intensive care unit, MAP: mean arteriel pressure, MV: mechanic ventilation, SBP: systolic blood pressure, SD: standart deviation, WBC: white blood cells

Table 3. Relationship between f	asting and patient demo	graphic characteristics, clinic	al and laboratory findings accord	ing to type 2 diabetes
			Fasting status	
		Non-fasting (n=99)	Fasting (n=97)	p values
	Male	43 (43.4%)	39 (40.2%)	0 (47+
Sex; n (%)	Female	56 (56.6%)	58 (59.8%)	0.047^
Age (year)		59 (49-68)	62 (48.5-71.5)	0.270 ^u
SBP (mmHg)		136.77±24.95	132.78±24.86	0.264 ^t
DBP (mmHg)		78.35±13.48	75.19±15.83	0.133 ^t
MAP (mmHg)		96.67 (86.67-110)	93.33 (83.33-103.33)	0.054 ^u
Pulse rate (beats/min)		85 (78-97)	85 (79-91)	0.627 ^u
WBC count (cells/mm ³)		9.52±3.68	9.73±4.42	0.713 ^t
Glucose (mg/dl)		462 (363-542)	318 (59.9-459.5)	<0.001 ^u
Urea (mg/dl)		23.72±21.43	24.03±17.13	0.910 ^t
Creatinine (mg/dl)		1.12±0.55	1.18±1	0.614 ^t
Sodium (mEq/L)		133.07±5.76	134.93±5	0.017 ^t
Potassium (mEq/L)		4.64±0.57	4.94±5.18	0.565 ^t
Chloride (mEq/L)		99.1±5.54	101.3±7.17	0.017 ^t
рН		7.38±0.06	7.36±0.07	0.036 ^t
PCO2 (mmHg)		42.13±6.94	42.51±8.97	0.744 ^t
PO2 (mmHg)		30 (23-42)	34 (25.15-43.2)	0.385 ^u
Bicarbonate (mEq/L)		24.81±3.74	23.81±5.29	0.128 ^t
Base excess (mEq/L)		-0.39±2.46	-1.19±5	0.157 ^t
Lactate (mmol/L)		1.97±1.11	2.46±2.33	0.061 ^t
	Negative	90 (90.9%)	91 (93.8%)	
	Trace amouth	6 (6.1%)	0 (0.0%)	
Keton (Dipstick); n (%)	1 Positive	0 (0.0%)	0 (0%)	0.058*
	2 Positive	3 (3.0%)	5 (5.2%)	
	3 Positive	0 (0.0%)	1 (1.0%)	
Hospital admission status: n (%	Ward	94 (94.9%)	83 (85.6%)	0.026*
	, ICN	5 (5.1%)	14 (14.4%)	0.020
	Hypoglycemia	0 (0.0%)	37 (38.1%)	
Diagnosis on admission to hospital; n (%)	Hyperglycemia	97 (98%)	54 (55.7%)	<0.001*
	DKA	2 (2.0%)	6 (6.2%)	
Need for MV: n (%)	No	96 (97.0%)	93 (95.9%)	0.680*
	Yes	3 (3.0%)	4 (4.1%)	0.000
In-hospital mortality: n (%)	Νο	97 (98.0%)	96 (99.0%)	0 572*
in-nospital mortality; n (%)	Yes	2 (2.0%)	1 (1.0%)	0.075

*Chi-Square, 'Student t test, "Mann-Whitney U Test; Values are presented as mean±SD, median (25th and 75th quartile), or n (%); DBP: diastolic blood pressure, DM: diabetes mellitus, ICU: intensive care unit, MAP: mean arteriel pressure, MV: mechanic ventilation, SBP: systolic blood pressure, SD: standart deviation, WBC: white blood cells

DISCUSSION

EPIDIAR study was conducted in 2001. A total of 12,243 individuals from 13 countries were analyzed for this study. Of these, 8.7% had type 1 diabetes, and 91.3% had type 2 diabetes. The countries involved in the study were Algeria,

Bangladesh, India, Egypt, Malaysia, Indonesia, Lebanon, Jordan, Pakistan, Morocco, Tunisia, Saudi Arabia, and Türkiye. EPIDIAR study conducted in 13 countries in 2001 highlighted the need for pre-fasting education and awareness, leading to increased awareness among relevant clinicians (11). This global awareness is of great importance for our country as well. However, in our country, where a large proportion of the population is Muslim, education and efforts regarding diabetes management during Ramadan are not sufficient. Therefore, in our study, we decided to investigate the impact of fasting during Ramadan on the frequency and clinical course of acute metabolic complications of diabetes, with the aim of emphasizing the importance of necessary pre-fasting education and raising awareness.

DM has emerged as a significant public health issue, with a notable increase in its prevalence in recent years. A review of the literature shows that globally, approximately 90% of diabetes cases are classified as Type 2 and 10% as Type 1 (12). The distribution of diabetes mellitus types among the 229 patients included in our study is consistent with this global trend.

It is estimated that hypoglycemia is responsible for 2-4% of mortality in patients with Type 1 diabetes. Although a reliable estimate is not available for patients with Type 2 diabetes, it is known to be a rare cause of death. Comparing the rates of hypoglycemia, they are several times lower in patients with Type 2 diabetes compared to those with Type 1 diabetes. Reduced food intake is known to be a strong risk factor for hypoglycemia, particularly in patients with diabetes (13). The duration of fasting during Ramadan, where no food is consumed, constitutes a significant factor in this context. The largest dataset on this topic is the EPIDIAR study, which shows that fasting during Ramadan increases the risk of hypoglycemia by 4.7 times in patients with Type 1 diabetes and by 7.5 times in patients with Type 2 diabetes (12). In our study, the fact that 7% of patients in the non-fasting group and 42.1% of patients in the fasting group were admitted to the hospital due to hypoglycemia is consistent with the information in the literature.

In the experimental study conducted by Perk and colleagues, no significant difference was found in blood pressure measurements before and during Ramadan. The study concluded that it is safe for patients who are taking antihypertensive medication to fast while continuing their current treatment (14). The literature on this topic is consistent, and no negative effects of fasting on blood pressure have been demonstrated. In our study, in accordance with the literature, no significant differences were found in vital signs between the two groups.

Prolonged fasting, changes in patients' diets, and dehydration during fasting are thought to increase the risk of DKA in individuals with diabetes. However, in a study conducted by Beshyah and colleagues, data from 283 patients over a 10-year period were analyzed, and no increase in the incidence of DKA during Ramadan fasting was observed (15). In our study, no significant difference was found between the fasting and non-fasting groups regarding DKA, and therefore, our results are consistent with the literature.

Proper education for diabetic patients before Ramadan plays a critical role in achieving successful disease management. Given the complexity of diabetes management, the challenges of maintaining blood glucose balance during fasting, and individual differences, it is essential for healthcare professionals to maintain regular and informative communication with patients. As healthcare providers, we must thoroughly communicate personalized treatment plans to minimize the risks patients may face during fasting and raise awareness about the potential dangers of fasting when necessary. This educational process will not only help maintain health throughout Ramadan but also make a lasting impact on patients' overall health management.

This study has certain limitations. First, it was conducted as a single-center, retrospective study, which may have introduced selection bias. Due to the retrospective design of the study, the antidiabetic medications used by the patients were not recorded, and therefore, their effects could not be evaluated. Additionally, the small sample size poses limitations on the generalizability of the results. Furthermore, hyperosmolar hyperglycemic states were not separately analyzed among hyperglycemic conditions.

Future studies should consider analyzing hyperosmolar hyperglycemic states as a separate category and increasing the sample size to expand the scope of the research. Moreover, conducting multicenter and prospective studies could help eliminate potential biases. Recording the antidiabetic medications used by patients would enable the evaluation of their effects. Consequently, more comprehensive and objective studies could be conducted.

CONCLUSION

In line with this approach, ensuring the continuity of educational programs for diabetic patients and supporting them with annually updated scientific data will remain one of the primary responsibilities of healthcare professionals.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: Ethical approval for this study was obtained from Toros University Scientific Research and Publication Ethics Committee (Date: 22.04.2024 Number: 2024/82).

REFERENCES

- 1. Türkiye Endokrinoloji ve Metabolizma Derneği. Diabetes Mellitus ve Komplikasyonlarının Tanı, Tedavi ve Izlem Kılavuzu 2022. 15th edition, BAYT Bilimsel Araştırmalar, Ankara ,2022.
- 2. Diabetes. https://www.who.int/health-topics/ diabetes#tab=tab_1 access date 17.08.2024.
- 3. American Diabetes Association Professional Practice Committee. 3. Prevention or delay of diabetes and associated comorbidities: standards of care in diabetes-2024. Diabetes Care. 2024;47:S43-51.

- 4. Hassanein M, Afandi B, Yakoob Ahmedani M, et al. Diabetes and Ramadan: Practical guidelines 2021. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2022;185:109185.
- Seyit M, Yilmaz A, Aykota MR, Ozen M. Does the frequency of acute pancreatitis decrease in Ramadan?. Pamukkale Med J. 2021;14:141-53.
- 6. Ahmed SH, Chowdhury TA, Hussain S, et al. Ramadan and diabetes: a narrative review and practice update. Diabetes Ther. 2020;11:2477-520.
- Hassanein M, Al-Arouj M, Hamdy O, et al. Diabetes and Ramadan: practical guidelines. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2017;126:303-16.
- 8. Bener A, Yousafzai MT. Effect of Ramadan fasting on diabetes mellitus. J Egypt Public Health Assoc. 2014;89:47-52.
- Aladağ N, Akin S, Özgür Y, et al. The effect of self glucose monitoring on glycemic control of patients with diabetes mellitus fasting during Ramadan. Acta Medica Alanya. 2022;6:27-33.

- 10. Onur A, Caferoğlu Z, Hatipoğlu N. Management of diabetes in individuals with diabetes who are fasting during Ramadan. Turkish J Diabetes Obes. 2021;5:59-67.
- 11. Salti I, Bénard E, Detournay B, et al. A Population-based study of diabetes and its characteristics during the fasting month of Ramadan in 13 countries. Diabetes Care. 2004;27:2306-11.
- 12. Antar SA, Ashour NA, Sharaky M, et al. Diabetes mellitus: Classification, mediators, and complications; a gate to identify potential targets for the development of new effective treatments. Biomed Pharmacother. 2023;168:115734.
- 13. Al-Arouj M, Bouguerra R, Buse J, et al. Recommendations for management of diabetes during Ramadan. Diabetes Care. 2005;28:2305-11.
- 14. Perk G, Ghanem J, Aamar S, et al. The effect of the fast of Ramadan on ambulatory blood pressure in treated hypertensives. J Hum Hypertens. 2001;15:723-5.
- 15. Beshyah SA, Chowdhury TA, Ghouri N, Lakhdar AA. Risk of diabetic ketoacidosis during Ramadan fasting: a critical reappraisal. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2019;151:290-8.



Relationship between Serum Fetuin-B Level and Metabolic Parameters in Patients with Newly Diagnosed Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus

©Canan Karan¹, ©Mehmet Calan², ©Arif Yuksel³, ©Oktay Bilgir³, ©Giray Bozkaya⁴, ©Emre Gezer⁵

¹Dr. Ersin Aslan Training and Research Hospital, Medical Oncology Clinic, Gaziantep, Türkiye ²Private Izmir Endocrinology Clinic, Endocrinology and Metabolism, İzmir, Türkiye ³İzmir Bozyaka Training and Research Hospital, Department of Internal Medicine, İzmir, Türkiye ⁴İzmir Bozyaka Training and Research Hospital, Department of Medical Biochemistry, İzmir, Türkiye ⁵Kocaeli University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Endocrinology and Metabolism, Kocaeli, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.



Abstract

Aim: Fetuin-B, which is part of the fetuin family, has been demonstrated to be related with the emergence of insulin resistance. Here, we examined the relationship between metabolic parameters in treatment-naive patients with diabetes and fetuin B levels in serum. **Material and Method:** Individuals aged 30-65 years old who were diagnosed with newly diagnosed diabetes mellitus, had no chronic disease history, and provided informed consent were enrolled in the study. The clinical parameters were examined.

Results: Forty recently diagnosed type 2 diabetic individuals and 43 controls were analyzed in this study. A significant difference was displayed for waist circumference, serum high-density lipoprotein, low-density lipoprotein, alanine transaminase, homeostatic model assessment for insulin resistance, high-sensitivity C-reactive protein, and carotid intima-media thickness (CIMT) between the two groups. The level of serum fetuin-B was determined to be statistically significantly reduced in diabetic patients compared to that in the serum of the controls. In the diabetic group, we showed a negative correlation between CIMT and fetuin-B (p=0.035).

Conclusion: Fetuin-B levels were considerably lower in recently diagnosed type 2 diabetics as equated with those in the control group who had normal glucose levels. Additionally, an inverse association between CIMT and fetuin-B levels among individuals with recently diagnosed type 2 diabetes mellitus.

Keywords: Carotid intima-media thickness, fetuin-B, metabolic parameters, type 2 diabetes mellitus

INTRODUCTION

Diabetes mellitus (DM) has become a pandemic, with a rapidly increasing prevalence worldwide and it is a critical risk factor for cardiac and vascular diseases, making it one of the most significant contributors to this health issue (1). The Framingham study showed that after 20 years of follow-up, the rate of development of atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease increased 2–3 times in diabetic patients compared with non-diabetic individuals (2). Therefore, diabetes is considered to be a cardiovascular disease.

Diabetic individuals are believed to be at a higher risk of cardiac and vascular complications due to the impact

of accelerated atherosclerosis. Coronary artery disease (CAD) in diabetic patients occurs at an earlier age, has a more severe prognosis than non-diabetic individuals, and can cause silent myocardial infarction and premature death (1). Therefore, early diagnosis is important for preventing mortality and morbidity. Noninvasive, dependable, and readily evaluation of the carotid arteries by ultrasound is a valuable diagnostic tool. Information regarding the carotid artery can be obtained using this method, which is a characteristic feature of this technique. Various guidelines suggest that carotid intima-media thickness should be considered for individuals with no history of peripheral artery disease, cerebrovascular disease, or CAD, and whose Framingham risk score falls between 10-20% (3,4).

CITATION

Karan C, Calan M, Yuksel A, et al. Relationship between Serum Fetuin-B Level and Metabolic Parameters in Patients with Newly Diagnosed Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. Med Records. 2025;7(1):75-80. DOI:1037990/medr.1496137

Received: 05.06.2024 Accepted: 09.09.2024 Published: 13.01.2025

Corresponding Author: Emre Gezer, Kocaeli University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Endocrinology and Metabolism, Kocaeli, Türkiye

E-mail: gezer_emre@hotmail.com

Fetuins are cysteine protease inhibitors of low molecular weight that are members of the cystatin family (5). Fetuins, the major proteins in fetal life with decreased serum levels in the postnatal period, serve as key proteins in many metabolic pathways (6). They are mainly synthesized in the livers of adults. Human and animal studies showed that they have a role in many pathways, such as their contribution to growth and development through their effect on osteogenesis-bone resorption, their impact in the pathogenesis type 2 DM (T2DM) through the interference with the insulin receptor's intrinsic tyrosine kinase activity, inhibition of the attaching of hepatic growth factor to its receptor in the liver, and the opsonization of cationic molecules which deactivate macrophages and their involvement in the acute phase response of systemic inflammation (7-10). Many studies have indicated a relationship between T2DM, fetuin-B, and fetuin-A (11,12). In our prospective study, we wanted to study the relevance between serum fetuin-B levels, carotid intima-media thickness, and metabolic factors in subjects with recently diagnosed T2DM.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Patient Selection

Patients diagnosed with diabetes mellitus for the first time and who attended outpatient clinics in internal medicine and endocrinology from August to October 2015. Forty patients with diabetes were selected, and written informed consent was acquired from all the patients. Forty-three normoglycemic individuals who were eligible for the study protocol were included in the control group. This study was conducted using a case-controlled, cross-sectional design. The inclusion criteria for the study were newly diagnosed diabetes, voluntary participation, and age between 30 and 65 years. The exclusion criteria were a history of malignancy, use of chronic medications, renal or hepatic disease, and pregnancy.

Data Collection

Demographic features (age, gender, measurements of the circumference of the waist and hip, and body mass index values) were included for the entire study group. The body mass index (BMI) was determined by dividing the body weight in kilograms by the height in meters squared. A measuring tape was used to measure waist and hip circumferences. The patient's blood pressure was assessed at the brachial artery using an Erka blood pressure monitor following a minimum of 10 min of rest. Insulin resistance was determined based on the Homeostasis Model Assessment (HOMA-IR), which is calculated by multiplying fasting serum insulin (in microunits per milliliter) by fasting serum glucose (in millimoles per liter) and then dividing the result by 22.5. Diabetes mellitus was characterized by a fasting plasma glucose level ≥126 mg/dL, a 2-hour glucose level ≥200 mg/dL during a 75-g oral glucose tolerance test, or HbA1c level ≥6.5% (13). In both the study and control groups, to evaluate glycemic index, HbA1c, fasting, and postprandial plasma glucose tests were used. In addition, fasting serum insulin, serum lipid tests, and kidney and liver function tests (urea, creatinine, AST, ALT) were also performed to evaluate the function of pancreatic β cells. Furthermore, blood samples from study participants were collected and analyzed to determine their hemogram, serum electrolyte, high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (hs-CRP), and thyroid function test levels. An additional 10 cc of blood was drawn to measure the serum fetuin-B level.

Biochemical Assessment

Blood samples were tested at our clinic's laboratory. Blood samples were collected from both groups using vacuum tubes that had a gel separator after an average fasting period of 10 h. Following a 30-minute waiting period to allow the blood samples to clot, they were spun at 3000 rpm for 10 minutes at room temperature. A portion of the collected serum was used for standard biochemical analysis. Standard methods were used to perform routine biochemical tests using a commercially available kit on an automated biochemical. The remaining serum was collected and kept at a temperature of -80 °C until its Human Fetuin B (FETU-B) levels were measured. A commercially available kit (Sunred, Republic of China) utilizing the sandwich ELISA method was employed to measure the serum levels of fetuin-B. Spectrophotometric measurements were obtained using a Multiskan GO ELISA reader (Thermo Scientific, Finland) at a wavelength of 450 nm. The concentrations of fetuin-B in the samples were determined using a standard curve that was constructed by measuring the absorbance of diluted standard solutions. The results were quantified in nanograms per milliliter (ng/ ml).

Carotid Ultrasonography

The carotid intima-media thickness (CIMT) was determined using a HITACHI ultrasound device at our hospital's Radiology Clinic. The measurements were conducted by the same clinician to ensure consistency and standardization. During the CIMT evaluation, the patient was positioned in a supine posture. The patient's neck was extended slightly, and their head faced away from the side. Grayscale analysis was initiated using transverse projection. The assessment covered the entire cervical carotid artery. Measurements were conducted on both the carotid arteries in our study. The intima-media thickness is the measurement of the area between the lumen-intima boundary and the mediaadventitia boundary. The thickness of the intima-media layer was evaluated at the most substantial portion of both carotid arteries. The means of the measured values were documented.

Statistical Analysis

All analyses were carried out using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences software (version 18.0; SPSS Inc., Chicago, USA). The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was employed to evaluate the dispersion of continuous variables (Fetuin-B distribution was not normally distributed). The results of continuous variables were given as mean±standard error or median (percentage range), according to the distribution. The analysis of laboratory and demographic data for diabetic individuals and controls was conducted using the independent t-test or Mann-Whitney U test. The Spearman correlation analysis was used to correlate Fetuin-B with other laboratory and demographic data. A multiple linear regression model was used to analyze the independent association between fetuin-B levels and HOMA-IR. In our study, p<0.05 was taken into account statistically significant.

Local ethics approval was obtained upon decision of 18.08.2015 No: 2 from the Non-Interventional Clinical Research Ethics Committee of İzmir Bozyaka Training and Research Hospital.

RESULTS

This research comprised 40 cases diagnosed with type 2 diabetes mellitus recently (nT2DM) and 43 healthy individuals without diabetes. Table 1 displays the clinical and demographic features of cases with nT2DM and those in the control group. There were no statistically significant differences in terms of age, sex, and body mass indeks (BMI) between the two groups.

Waist circumference, HOMA-IR, serum ALT, LDL, fasting serum glucose, hs-CRP and insulin levels, and CIMT showed statistically significant increases in the nT2DM group (p=0.013, p=0.025, p=0.036, p<0.001, p=0.033, p=0.004, p=0.033, and p<0,001, respectively). The level of HDL cholesterol serum in individuals with diabetes was noticeably lower (p=0.003) than that of the control group (Table 1).

Table 1. Demographic and clinical characteristics of type 2 diabetic patients and control group					
Variables	T2DM n=40	Controls n=43	р		
Age, years	52.30±6.72	50.60±8.91	0.329		
BMI, kg/m ²	28.75±3.53	28.25±3.01	0.489		
Waist circumference, cm	101.05±10.86	95.09±10.37	0.013		
Hip circumference, cm	108.10±9.25	104.22±8.22	0.051		
Systolic blood pressure, mmHg	119.50±19.47	122.09±19.49	0.546		
Diastolic blood pressure, mmHg	78.70±12.10	78.48±12.27	0.937		
Serum glucose, mg/dl	190.57±74.56	91.72±8.89	<0.001*		
OGTT 2.h, mg/dl	228.00±33.11	118.28±14.07	0.004*		
Serum Insulin, µIU/mI	9.30±4.37	6.90±2.52	0.004*		
HbA1C %	8.92±2.68	5.36±0.28	<0.001*		
Serum urea, mg/dL	27.68±6.37	27.45±6.84	0.875		
Serum creatinine, mg/dl	0.82±0.13	0.88±0.18	0.088		
AST U/L	21.80±10.89	20.26±3.85	0.403		
ALT U/L	26.11±14.38	20.47±6.82	0.025*		
TSH, ulU/mL	1.49±0.89	1.73±1.09	0.267		
Serum total cholesterol, mg/dl	227.95±42.64	220.72±39.69	0.374		
Serum total triglycerides, mg/dl	169.70±75.32	141.53±53.94	0.056		
Serum LDL-C, mg/dl	158.70±34.14	140.93±41.74	0.036*		
Serum HDL-C, mg/dl	46.65±9.49	62.48±32.21	0.003*		
Serum hs-CRP mg/l	4.98±3.56	3.31±2.45	0.033*		
HOMA-IR	3.57±2.06	1.98±1.08	<0.001*		
CIMT, mm	0.72±0.10	0.67±0.13	0.033*		
Serum Fetuin-B, ng/ml	297.00 (283.50-346.75)	318.00 (291.00-592.00)	0.022*		

Data are presented as mean±standard deviation or median (interquartile range); *p<0.05 was considered statistically significant; ALT: Alanine Aminotransferase, AST: Aspartate Aminotransferase, BMI: body mass index, CIMT: carotid intima-media thickness, hs-CRP: high-sensitivity C-reactive protein, HbA1C: hemoglobin A1C, HDL-C: high-density lipoprotein-cholesterol, HOMA-IR: homeostasis model assessment of insulin resistance, LDL-C: low-density lipoprotein-cholesterol, OGTT: oral glucose tolerance test, TSH: thyroid stimulating hormone

Table 2 shows a substantial negative correlation between serum fetuin-B level and many factors such as BMI, waist circumference, serum insulin level, fasting blood glucose level, and insulin resistance. Additionally, a significant negative association was observed between the levels of fetuin-B and hs-CRP, an inflammatory marker, and CIMT, which indicates cardiovascular risk in two groups. No relevant statistical variations were detected between other variables and the levels of serum fetuin-B. After accounting for other variables, a negative correlation was demonstrated between fetuin-B levels and HOMA-IR, as shown in Table 3.

Table 2. Correlation analysis between fetuin-B and metabolic variables

Fetuin-B			
Т2	DM	Cor	ntrol
r	р	r	р
0.124	0.163	0.116	0.256
-0.241	0.039*	-0.142	0.045*
-0.267	0.033*	0.167	0.042*
0.136	0.353	0.223	0.456
0.216	0.237	0.178	0.325
-0.244	0.035*	-0.131	0.041*
-0.285	0.009*	-0.141	0.040*
-0.148	0.021*	-0.112	0.045*
-0.218	0.015*	-0.133	0.042*
-0.352	0.007*	-0.191	0.011*
0.218	0.236	0.103	0.238
0.105	0.215	0.112	0.176
0.112	0.213	0.103	0.143
0.203	0.239	0.127	0.562
	r 0.124 -0.241 -0.267 0.136 0.216 -0.244 -0.285 -0.148 -0.218 -0.218 -0.218 -0.218 -0.218 0.218 0.218 0.105 0.112 0.203	r p 0.124 0.163 -0.241 0.039* -0.267 0.033* 0.136 0.353 0.216 0.237 -0.244 0.035* -0.245 0.009* -0.248 0.021* -0.218 0.015* 0.105 0.215 0.105 0.215 0.112 0.213 0.203 0.239	Fetuin-B T2DM Cor r p r 0.124 0.163 0.116 0.241 0.039* 0.142 0.267 0.033* 0.167 0.136 0.353 0.223 0.216 0.237 0.178 0.241 0.035* -0.131 0.243 0.009* -0.141 0.244 0.035* -0.131 0.255 0.009* -0.141 0.218 0.021* -0.133 0.218 0.015* -0.133 0.218 0.236 0.103 0.105 0.215 0.112 0.112 0.213 0.103 0.105 0.215 0.112

*p<0.05 was considered statistically significant; BMI: body mass index, CIMT: carotid intima-media thickness, hs-CRP: high sensitivity C-reactive protein, HDL-C: high-density lipoprotein-cholesterol, HOMA-IR: homeostasis model assessment of insulin resistance, LDL-C: low-density lipoprotein-cholesterol

Table 3. The multiple-linear regression analysis of the relationship between fetuin-B and HOMA-IR						
	β	95% CI		Р		
		Lower	Upper			
Fetuin-B	-0.305	-0.398	-0.212	0.011*		
Fetuin-B + age + BMI	-0.296	-0.357	-0.235	0.014*		
Fetuin-B + age + BMI + hs-CRP	-0.279	-0.335	-0.223	0.016*		
Fetuin-B + age + BMI + hs-CRP + lipids	-0.278	-0.335	-0.221	0.016*		

*p<0.05 was considered statistically significant; BMI: body mass index, hs-CRP: high sensitivity C-reactive protein

DISCUSSION

In our study, we demonstrated lower serum levels of fetuin-B levels in subjects with nT2DM than the healthy subjects. Our multiple linear regression analysis demonstrated that lower fetuin-B levels served as a risk factor for insulin resistance independently. Our findings contradict to those of some articles, which have demonstrated that increased levels of serum fetuin-B are linked to insulin resistance (12,14-17). Moreover, in another research article, plasma fetuin-B levels exhibited a positive correlation with newly diagnosed T2DM (18). Various studies have displayed a notable association between increased serum fetuin-B levels and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) (19-21). In one of these studies, after controlling for metabolic syndrome, the authors indicated that fetuin-B level was not an independent predictor of T2DM (21). The demonstrated pathophysiological mechanism was that NAFLD caused an elevation in serum fetuin-B levels, indicating that NAFLD was the main independent risk factor for developing type 2 DM. As a result, it can be stated that fetuin-B is a bridging component which is affected by other pathological conditions, increasing insulin resistance and causes

hyperglycemia, but is not a main etiological factor in the development of DM.

In the current study, hs-CRP levels were notably greater in the nT2DM group than in the healthy individuals. Fetuin-B has been first described by Olivier et al. and the researchers discovered that levels of fetuin-B messenger RNA in the livers of rats decreased in response to systemic acutephase inflammation (5). In agreement with the literature, lower fetuin-B levels in nT2DM may be attributed to the newly developed inflammation caused by hyperglycemia in our study. Similarly, Yakout et al. stated fetuin-B level was not associated with insulin resistance parameters in pregnant women with gestational DM, which might be a result of inflammation caused by pregnancy interfering with alterations in fetuin-B levels (22).

In the literature, only two studies were performed to investigate the connection between atherosclerosis and fetuin-B levels. The first one included 1140 obese individuals, and the authors showed a relationship between brachial ankle pulse wave velocity and fetuin-B level (23). However, this significance disappeared after adjusting for insulin resistance. Moreover, the relationship between ankle-brachial index and fetuin-B levels was insignificant in the same study. In contrast, in a different study, the plasma protein profiles of subjects with restenosis inside the stents were compared to patients without restenosis, and fetuin-B was discovered to be significantly higher in individuals with in-stent restenosis in the latter study (24). In disagreement with these limited reports, we demonstrated an inverse correlation between CIMT and fetuin-B levels in both nT2DM and healthy subjects. As previously mentioned, the possible mechanism for this outcome is the compensatory decrease in fetuin-B as a stress response to recently developed hyperglycemia in the nT2DM group or any other factor inducing atherosclerosis in the controls.

The modest size of the sample in the current research is considered a limitation. Our study was planned as a pilot study due to the absence of data on the effects of fetuin-B during the period this investigation was conducted. Nevertheless, many original articles which included larger sample sizes have been reported within the prolonged period between data collection and the construction of the manuscript. In short, our limited sample size might be a possible reason for the conflicting outcomes of our study compared to the majority of recent literature data. On the other hand, the strength of this research is its prospective nature and the situation that carotid ultrasonography was performed by the same radiologist during the whole study period.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, a significant lesser degree of fetuin-B levels was demonstrated in individuals with nT2DM than the controls who had normal blood sugar levels. Our logistic regression analysis indicated low fetuin-B levels were an independent risk factor for developing insulin resistance. Moreover, there existed a substantially inverse association between CIMT and fetuin-B levels in both groups. Future prospective studies are required to evaluate the proposed compensatory mechanism, which is the decrease in serum fetuin-B levels in individuals with nT2DM and the elevation of fetuin-B levels through the development of advanced DM and cardiometabolic complications.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: Local ethics approval was obtained upon decision of 18.08.2015 No: 2 from the Non-Interventional Clinical Research Ethics Committee of İzmir Bozyaka Training and Research Hospital.

REFERENCES

1. Htay T, Soe K, Lopez-Perez A, et al. Mortality and cardiovascular disease in type 1 and type 2 diabetes. Curr Cardiol Rep. 2019;21:45.

- 2. Kannel WB, McGee DL. Diabetes and cardiovascular disease. The Framingham study. JAMA. 1979;241:2035-8.
- Darabian S, Hormuz M, Latif MA, et al. The role of carotid intimal thickness testing and risk prediction in the development of coronary atherosclerosis. Curr Atheroscler Rep. 2013;15:306.
- 4. Stein JH, Korcarz CE, Hurst RT, et al. Use of carotid ultrasound to identify subclinical vascular disease and evaluate cardiovascular disease risk: a consensus statement from the american society of echocardiography carotid intima-media thickness task force endorsed by the society for vascular. J Am Soc Echocardiogr. 2008;21:93-190. Erratum in: J Am Soc Echocardiogr. 2008;21:376.
- Olivier E, Soury E, Ruminy P, et al. Fetuin-B, a second member of the fetuin family in mammals. Biochem J. 2000;350:589-97.
- 6. Liu JX, Zhai YH, Geng FS, et al. Molecular characterization and expression pattern of fetuin-B in gibel carp (Carassius auratus gibelio). Biochem Genet. 2008;46:620-33.
- Yang F, Schwartz Z, Swain LD, et al. Alpha2-HS-glycoprotein: Expression in chondrocytes and augmentation of alkaline phosphatase and phospholipase A2 activity. Bone. 1991;12:7-15.
- Chen H, Srinivas PR, Cong LN, et al. Alpha2-Heremans Schmid glycoprotein inhibits insulin-stimulated Elk-1 phosphorylation, but not glucose transport, in rat adipose cells. Endocrinology. 1998;139:4147-54.
- 9. Ohnishi T, Nakamura O, Arakaki N, Daikuhara Y. Effect of phosphorylated rat fetuin on the growth of hepatocytes in primary culture in the presence of human hepatocyte-growth factor. Evidence that phosphorylated fetuin is a natural modulator of hepatocyte-growth factor. Eur J Biochem. 1997;243:753-61.
- 10. Wang H, Zhang M, Bianchi M, et al. Fetuin (α2-HSglycoprotein) opsonizes cationic macrophage-deactivating molecules. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1998;95:14429-34.
- 11. Almarashda O, Abdi S, Yakout S, et al. Hepatokines fetuin-A and fetuin-B status in obese Saudi patient with diabetes mellitus type 2. Am J Transl Res. 2022;14:3292-302.
- 12. Peter A, Kovarova M, Staiger H, et al. The hepatokines fetuin-A and fetuin-B are upregulated in the state of hepatic steatosis and may differently impact on glucose homeostasis in humans. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2018;314:E266-73.
- American Diabetes Association. 2. Classification and Diagnosis of Diabetes: Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes-2018. Diabetes Care. 2018;41:S13-27.
- 14. Li L, Spranger L, Stobäus N, et al. Fetuin-B, a potential link of liver-adipose tissue cross talk during diet-induced weight loss-weight maintenance. Nutr Diabetes. 2021;11:31.
- 15. Wang D, Liu Y, Liu S, et al. Serum fetuin-B is positively associated with intrahepatic triglyceride content and increases the risk of insulin resistance in obese Chinese adults: A cross-sectional study. J Diabetes. 2018;10:581-8.
- Pasmans K, Goossens GH, Groenhuijzen E, et al. Fetuin B in white adipose tissue induces inflammation and is associated with peripheral insulin resistance in mice and humans. Obesity. 2024;32:517-27.

- 17. Xia X, Xue S, Yang G, et al. Association of serum fetuin-B with insulin resistance and pre-diabetes in young Chinese women: evidence from a cross-sectional study and effect of liraglutide. PeerJ. 2021;9:e11869.
- Qu H, Qiu Y, Wang Y, et al. Plasma fetuin-B concentrations are associated with insulin resistance and first-phase glucosestimulated insulin secretion in individuals with different degrees of glucose tolerance. Diabetes Metab. 2018;44:488-92.
- 19. Zhu J, Wan X, Wang Y, et al. Serum fetuin B level increased in subjects of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a case-control study. Endocrine. 2017;56:208-11.
- El-Ashmawy HM, Ahmed AM. Serum fetuin-B level is an independent marker for nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in patients with type 2 diabetes. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2019;31:859-64.

- 21. Li Z, Lin M, Liu C, et al. Fetuin-B links nonalcoholic fatty liver disease to type 2 diabetes via inducing insulin resistance: Association and path analyses. Cytokine. 2018;108:145-50.
- 22. Yakout SM, Hussein S, Al-Attas OS, et al. Hepatokines fetuin A and fetuin B status in women with/without gestational diabetes mellitus. Am J Transl Res. 2023;15:1291-9.
- 23. Li Z, He C, Liu Y, et al. Association of fetuin-b with subclinical atherosclerosis in obese chinese adults. J Atheroscler Thromb. 2020;27:418-28.
- 24. Hou J, Deng Q, Liu S, et al. Plasma proteome profiling of patients with in-stent restenosis by tandem mass tag-based quantitative proteomics approach. Front Cardiovasc Med. 2022;9:793405.

MEDICAL RECORDS-International Medical Journal

Research Article



Evaluation of Third Molars According to the Operative Difficulty Score

Orkem Tekin, Ogizem Caliskan, Oserin Saruhan Kose

Eskişehir Osmangazi University Faculty of Dentistry Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Eskişehir, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.



Abstract

Aim: Third molars (M3) are the most common type of impacted tooth, and the prevalence of impaction varies between 27% and 68.8%. The aim of this study was to evaluate M3 according to their operative difficulty score and angulation.

Material and Method: A total of 1000 patients who returned to our clinic for M3 extraction were included in the study. Preoperative clinical and radiological operative difficulty scores (ODS) and angulations were evaluated from 0 to 6. Descriptive statistics were performed.

Results: When M3 were evaluated according to ODS, 343 (34.3%) were ODS 1, 106 (10.6%) were ODS 3, 327 (32.7%) were ODS 4, 188 (18.8%) were ODS 5 and 36 (3.6%) were ODS 6. When evaluated according to their angulations, 621 (62.1%) M3 were found in the vertical position, 184 (18.4%) in the mesioangular position, 70 (7%) in the horizontal position, 104 (10.4%) in the distoangular position, and 21 (2.1%) in the buccolingual-palatal position.

Conclusion: This study will allow the evaluation of the level of difficulty before the operation in the surgery of the M3 and the creation of a better treatment plan. Thus, perioperative and postoperative complications can be minimized.

Keywords: Classification, oral surgery, third molar

INTRODUCTION

Among the molar teeth located on the maxilla and mandible, the Third molars (M3) are the teeth that are the most diverse in terms of morphology and location (1). For this reason, M3 tooth extraction is important in routine oral surgery procedures performed by oral surgeons (2). Molar teeth may also remain impacted for local and systemic reasons, such as inadequate growth, inadequate mandibular distance for tooth eruption, adverse growth direction, early completion of physical maturation, hormonal activity disorders, various syndromes and sometimes high bone density (3). M3, which can be found in the mouth as erupted or impacted, can cause conditions such as infection, decay, and periodontal damage to neighboring teeth and can also pose an obstacle to prosthetic and orthodontic procedures (4). According to the literature, the most commonly impacted teeth, impacted M3, can also cause pericoronitis, osteomyelitis, cysts and atypical pain (5). The most common postoperative complications after M3

extraction are alveolar osteitis and local infection, but severe pain, swelling, trismus, secondary bleeding, and paresthesia of the inferior alveolaris n. may also occur. To prevent possible complications or to treat complications with minimal damage, the level of difficulty of extraction must be carefully evaluated in each patient (6).

The principal radiographic tools are periapical and panoramic radiographs, and the small size of periapical radiographic images can make it difficult for the practitioner to visualize M3 that are deeply positioned in the jaws. This can cause discomfort to the patient or result in incomplete visualization of the anatomy of the tooth during exposure (7). Radiographic variables such as the size and shape of the crown of the tooth; the number, size and curvature of the roots; the position and condition of the impacted tooth; and the presence or absence of the periodontal ligament and its relationships with adjacent structures can be analyzed with an Ortopantomography (OPG) (8). In all cases, preoperative determination of the level of surgical difficulty is important for proper treatment planning.

CITATION

Tekin G, Caliskan G, Saruhan Kose N. Evaluation of Third Molars According to the Operative Difficulty Score. Med Records. 2025;7(1):81-4. DOI:1037990/medr.1561673

Received: 05.10.2024 Accepted: 03.11.2024 Published: 13.01.2025 Corresponding Author: Gorkem Tekin, Eskişehir Osmangazi University Faculty of Dentistry Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Eskişehir, Türkiye E-mail: dt.gorkemtekin@gmail.com This will enable the preparation of the correct materials, determination of the surgical access point, selection of the appropriate technique and type of anesthesia, and determination of whether the operator's experience and abilities are compatible with the extraction to be performed (6). This study aims to evaluate the angulation of the M3, the operative difficulty scores (ODS), and the jaw where the patient is located, using demographic data such as age and sex, along with panoramic radiography data that are easily used in clinical practice.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Data Collection

Our study used retrospective data of M3 molars obtained from 1000 patients who presented at our clinic with complaints of M3 between September 2017 and July 2024. Before the study, approval was obtained from the Eskişehir Osmangazi University Non-Interventional Clinical Research Ethics Committee (Decision Date: 23.07.2024/ Decision Number: 30), and the study was conducted in accordance with the Helsinki Declaration of Human Rights. While male and female patients with M3 were included in the study, patients without M3 due to genetic, syndromic or congenital reasons were excluded from the study.Before M3 surgery, panoramic radiographs were taken from all patients, and the M3 were divided into different groups according to their angularities: vertical, mesioangular, distoangular, horizontal, buccolingual or buccopalatinal. M3s were also classified according to the ODS in the study by Lang et al. (9) This classification was performed by a single surgeon after both clinical and radiological examinations before surgery, and an ODS value from 0 to 6 was determined for each M3. The ODS scores were as follows: 0: no extraction needed, 1: nonsurgical erupted, 2: surgical erupted, 3: impact on soft tissue, 4: partial impact on the bone, 5: complete impact on the bone, and 6: complete impact on the bone but in a difficult position to reach (complicated or difficult). The ODS value for each M3 was determined from 1 (erupted without surgery) to 6 (completely impacted in bone and difficult to extract). The ODS scoring was prepared based on Saruhan's study (10).

Statistical Analysis

The data were recorded in a spreadsheet (Excel 2010; Microsoft, USA) and then analyzed via SPSS version 22.0. The jaw location of M3, sex, angulation and ODS were correlated and are shown as frequencies and percentages. Quantitative variables are shown as the minimum, maximum and mean.

RESULTS

The patients who underwent tooth extraction were between 16 and 79 years old, and the average age was 28.58±9.87 years. Among the 1000 patients who underwent tooth extraction, 608 were female (60.8%), and 392 were male (39.2%). The age range of the female patients was between 16 and 70 years, and the average age was 26.9±8.97 years. The age range of the male patients was between 18 and 79

years, and the average age was 31.18 ± 10.62 years. When the extracted teeth were evaluated according to their jaw location, 459 (45.9%) lower M3 were extracted, whereas 541 (54.1%) upper M3 were extracted. When the M3 were evaluated according to their angulation, 621 (62.1%) M3s were found in the vertical position, 184 (18.4%) in the mesioangular position, 70 (7%) in the horizontal position, 104 (10.4%) in the distoangular position, and 21 (2.1%) in the buccolingual-palatinal position. According to the ODS, 343 (34.3%) of the M3s included in the study were ODS 1, 106 (10.6%) were ODS 3, 327 (32.7%) were ODS 4, 188 (18.8%) were ODS 5, and 36 (3.6%) were ODS 6.

The angulations of the teeth according to sex are shown in Table 1. In male and female patients, most teeth were in the vertical position, whereas the fewest teeth were in the buccolingual position. The ODS scores by sex are also shown in Table 2. For both genders, most tooth extractions were performed on teeth with ODS 1. The ODS scores by jaw localization are shown in Table 3. According to the table, the most extracted tooth in the maxilla was ODS 1, whereas in the mandible, ODS 4 was found.

Table 1. Descriptive statistics of tooth position by gender				
		Frequency (N)	Percent (%)	
	Vertical	381	62.7	
	Mesioangular	115	18.9	
Fomalo	Horizontal	27	4.4	
remale	Distoangular	73	12	
	Buccolingual-palatinal	12	2	
	Total	608	100	
	Vertical	240	61.2	
	Mesioangular	69	17.6	
Mala	Horizontal	43	11	
wate	Distoangular	31	7.9	
	Buccolingual-palatinal	9	2.3	
	Total	392	100	

Table 2. Descriptive statistics of ODS by gender

		Frequency (N)	Percent (%)
	ODS 1	198	32.6
	ODS 2	-	-
	ODS 3	64	10.5
Female	ODS 4	197	32.4
	ODS 5	126	20.7
	ODS 6	23	3.8
	Total	608	100
	ODS 1	145	37
	ODS 2	-	-
	ODS 3	42	10.7
Male	ODS 4	130	33.2
	ODS 5	62	15.8
	ODS 6	13	3.3
	Total	392	100

Table 3. Descriptive statistics of ODS according to jaw location				
		Frequency (N)	Percent (%)	
	ODS 1	257	56	
	ODS 2	-	-	
	ODS 3	47	10.2	
Maxilla	ODS 4	62	13.5	
	ODS 5	62	13.5	
	ODS 6	31	6.8	
	Total	459	100	
	ODS 1	86	15.9	
	ODS 2	-	-	
	ODS 3	59	10.9	
Mandible	ODS 4	265	49	
	ODS 5	126	23.3	
	ODS 6	5	0.9	
	Total	541	100	

DISCUSSION

It has been reported in the literature that M3 may reach normal occlusion partially or completely or may remain partially or completely impacted in the maxillary or mandibular arch (11). There are several theories about the cause of impaction; insufficient space and mechanical obstacles (cysts, tumors, tissue hyperplasia, local infections, etc.), as well as local and systemic factors such as trauma, vitamin deficiencies, malnutrition, hormonal disorders and some syndromes, may cause this situation (12). M3s are the most frequently impacted teeth in the oral cavity, followed by impacted canine teeth (13). Surgical extraction of M3s is one of the most common surgical procedures performed in oral, dental and maxillofacial surgery clinics (10). In clinical practice, M3s frequently cause problems such as the risk of recurrent pericoronitis. swelling, caries formation in adjacent teeth, root resorption and dysfunction, facial and referred pain of unknown cause, periodontal, prosthetic and orthodontic conditions, and pathological lesions such as cysts and tumors (14,15). Preoperative evaluation of the degree of difficulty of M3 surgery is one of the important factors to consider (16). Many factors affect the difficulty of surgical extraction of M3s. Age, body mass index (BMI), body surface area, race, surgeon experience, extraction method, number of teeth extracted, depth of impaction, ramal relationship, tooth angle, root development, root curvature, relationship to the mandibular canal, root width, patient anxiety, and other factors are thought to affect the difficulty of extraction, but researchers do not agree on the relative effects of these factors (17,18). In their study of 2978 patients, Lang et al. (9) classified the M3s according to the ODS, with 4 M3s in each patient, as upper-lower and right-left, and evaluated the ODS value between 0-6 and determined the ODS value between 0-24, with a score of 4*6 for each patient. They extracted an average of 3.2 teeth from each patient and evaluated the total ODS in the jaw, finding a total score of 12±6.5. They also reported a relationship between gender

and ODS. Saruhan (10) reported that 27 (22.5%) of the M3s were ODS 3, 29 (24.2%) were ODS 4, 53 (44.2%) were ODS 5, and 11 (9.1%) were ODS 6 according to the ODS. The author also evaluated the M3s according to their angulation. The author reported that 65 (54.2%) impacted teeth were in the vertical position, 28 (23.3%) were in the mesioangular position, 10 (8.3%) were in the distoangular position, 14 (11.7%) were in the horizontal position, and 3 (2.5%) were in the buccolingual-palatal position. When the ODS was evaluated according to age ranges, the average age was found to be 25,09±8,3. Author reported that the difficulty level of extractions was high in young patients in the population he evaluated by finding the highest score of 5 in the ODS evaluation (10). In his study, Gümrükçü et al. (19) also listed the tooth positions of 684 patients according to the Winter classification. He reported that there were 369 teeth in the vertical position, 249 in the mesioangular position, 45 in the horizontal position, 10 in the distoangular position, and 11 in the buccolingual position. Mahdey et al. (20) evaluated panoramic radiographs of 1249 patients aged between 20 and 44 years. They reported that the operative difficulty score was greater in female patients than in male patients. In our study, the teeth to be surgically extracted were evaluated according to their operative difficulty scores and angulations. In our study, the tooth in the vertical position was the most common tooth, and in the comparison between genders, the tooth in the vertical position was the most common tooth in male and female patients. ODS is different from the literature, whereas ODS 1 is the most common in extracted teeth, when evaluated according to jaw localization, teeth with ODS 4 were extracted in the mandible. Although the average age of the patients in our study is similar to the average age found by Saruhan (10), we can say that more complicated extractions can occur at younger ages by finding ODS 4.In addition, ODS was evaluated not as the total ODS in the patient's jaw but as each ODS in the extracted teeth. In M3 surgery, preoperative radiographic examination is very important to guide the surgical procedure for different types of impacted M3. The type of impacted tooth is routinely evaluated easily and frequently via the OPG. The magnification ratio of the OPG is lower, and the reliability is higher when the correct position of the head is provided. Therefore, the data obtained via OPGs can provide reliable measurement values before M3 surgery. In light of this information, the evaluation of the impacted type of tooth and the measurement via OPGs can be used as standard and reliable methods in oral and maxillofacial surgery/ radiology (19,21). We used the OPG, which is the gold standard, in the evaluations in our study.

CONCLUSION

The degree of difficulty of extracting teeth from the lower jaw was greater than that from the upper jaw, and no significant difference was found between the sexes. Estimating the difficulty index in M3 surgery before surgery will be an important practice in preventing or minimizing postoperative complications by ensuring that the dentist is prepared for complications that may be encountered during surgery. **Financial disclosures:** The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: This study received the necessary ethical approval from the Non-Invasive Clinical Research Ethics Committee of Eskişehir Osmangazi University (Protocol No: 2024/30).

REFERENCES

- Peñarrocha-Diago M, Camps-Font O, Sánchez-Torres A, et al. Indications of the extraction of symptomatic impacted third molars. A systematic review. J Clin Exp Dent. 2021;13:278-86.
- Dicus-Brookes C, Partrick M, Blakey GH, et al. Removal of symptomatic third molars may improve periodontal status of remaining dentition. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2013;71:1639-46.
- Jeyashree T, Kumar MPS. Evaluation of difficulty index of impacted mandibular third molar extractions. J Adv Pharm Technol Res. 2022;13:98-101.
- 4. Kandasamy S, Rinchuse DJ, Rinchuse DJ. The wisdom behind third molar extractions. Aust Dent J. 2009;54:284-92.
- 5. Hermida-Cabrera P, Lima-Sánchez B, Montoya-Salazar V, et al. Proposal and validation of a new index to assess the difficulty of lower third molar extraction. Dent J. 2024;12:138.
- Gay-Escoda C, Sánchez-Torres A, Borrás-Ferreres J, Valmaseda-Castellón E. Third molar surgical difficulty scales: systematic review and preoperative assessment form. Med Oral Patol Oral Cir Bucal. 2022;27:e68-76.
- Al-Dajani M, Abouonq AO, Almohammadi TA, et al. A cohort study of the patterns of third molar impaction in panoramic radiographs in Saudi population. Open Dent J. 2017;11:648-60.
- Sánchez-Jorge MI, Cortés-Bretón-Brinkmann J, Acevedo-Ocaña R, et al. Perceived surgical difficulty of mandibular third molar extraction. A comparative cross-sectional study of dentists with postgraduate qualification in oral surgery and maxillofacial surgeons in a Spanish subpopulation. Med Oral Patol Oral Cir Bucal. 2024;29:263-72.
- Lang MS, Gonzalez ML, Dodson TB. Do antibiotics decrease the risk of inflammatory complications after third molar removal in community practices?. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2017;75:249-55.

- Saruhan N. Gömülü 3. molar dişlerin operatif zorluk skoruna ve komplikasyonlara göre değerlendirilmesi. Med J SDU. 2018;25:282-6.
- Mercier P, Precious D. Risks and benefits of removal of impacted third molars. A critical review of the literature. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1992;21:17-27.
- van der Linden W, Cleaton-Jones P, Lownie M. Diseases and lesions associated with third molars. Review of 1001 cases. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 1995;79:142-5.
- 13. Brasileiro BF, de Bragança RM, Van Sickels JE. An evaluation of patients' knowledge about perioperative information for third molar removal. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2012;70:12-8.
- 14. Contar CM, de Oliveira P, Kanegusuku K, et al.Complications in third molar removal: a retrospective study of 588 patients. Med Oral Patol Oral Cir Bucal. 2010;15:e74-8.
- 15. Chaparro-Avendaño AV, Pérez-García S, Valmaseda-Castellón E, et al.Morbidity of third molar extraction in patients between 12 and 18 years of age. Med Oral Patol Oral Cir Bucal. 2005;10:422-31.
- Bali A, Bali D, Sharma A, Verma G. Is pederson index a true predictive difficulty index for impacted mandibular third molar surgery? A meta-analysis. J Maxillofac Oral Surg. 2013;12:359-64.
- 17. Carvalho RW, do Egito Vasconcelos BC. Assessment of factors associated with surgical difficulty during removal of impacted lower third molars. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2011;69:2714-21.
- Park KL. Which factors are associated with difficult surgical extraction of impacted lower third molars?. J Korean Assoc Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2016;42:251-8.
- Gümrükçü Z, Balaban E, Karabağ M. Is there a relationship between third-molar impaction types and the dimensional/ angular measurement values of posterior mandible according to Pell & Gregory/Winter Classification?. Oral Radiol. 2021;37:29-35.
- 20. Mahdey HM, Arora S, Wei M. Prevalence and difficulty index associated with the 3(rd) mandibular molar impaction among Malaysian Ethnicities: a clinico-radiographic study. J Clin Diagn Res. 2015;9:ZC65-8.
- Habets LL, Bezuur JN, Naeiji M, Hansson TL. The Orthopantomogram, anaid in diagnosis of temporomandibular joint problems. II. The vertical symmetry. J Oral Rehabil. 1988;15:465-71.



Demographic Characteristics of Patients who Underwent Dual-Energy X-Ray Absorptiometry According to Age and Clinical Department

Veysel Delen, Ferit Dogan

¹Harran University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Şanlıurfa, Türkiye ²Harran University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Radiology, Şanlıurfa, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License



Abstract

Aim: The aim of this study was to retrospectively assess the bone dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry (DXA) with the prolongation of human living all over the world results taken over a year along with the demographic characteristics of the patients.

Material and Method: This study was performed at the Department of Radiology, Harran University Hospital between January 1, 2022 and January 1, 2023. Bone DXA examinations requested from all clinical departments within a one-year period were investigated. Osteoporosis (OP) was evaluated considering clinical department-based six groups and age-based four groups.

Results: A total of 1366 patients from all clinical departments such as physical medicine and rehabilitation (PMR), orthopedics, neurology, endocrine, obstetrics and other branches who requested bone DXA were included in the study. Of these, 1166 (85.36%) were women and 200 (14.64%) were men. The PMR was the most frequently prompted clinical department with 721 (52.78%) patients. The OP frequency was highest in the group aged 65 years and older. The lowest OP frequency was seen in the group aged 64 years and younger.

Conclusion: The prevalence of osteoporosis increases with age and the prevalence of OP is higher in women. More than half of DXA requests belong to the PMR department. The PMR department have an important role in the diagnosis and treatment of OP.

Keywords: Osteoporosis, physical medicine and rehabilitation, dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry, age

INTRODUCTION

Osteoporosis (OP) is defined as a systemic bone disease characterized by microarchitectural deterioration in bone tissue, decrease in bone mineral tissue, and consequently increased bone fracture risk (1). It is a common disease in postmenopausal women. It is estimated that one in five men and one in three women over the age of 50 will experience an OP-related fracture, resulting in pain, limitations in quality of life, morbidity, and increased mortality. The clinical manifestation of OP is the fragility fracture, and approximately 80% of all fractures are associated with OP (2,3).

Although fragility fractures cause many problems, OP is still insufficiently diagnosed and untreated. The most common bone measurement test used to scan the OP is dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry (DXA); other screening tests include peripheral DXA and quantitative ultrasound.

The central DXA measures bone mineral density (BMD) in the hip and lumbar spine. While the diagnosis of OP with the presence of a fragile fracture is considered universal, BMD measurement by DXA can accurately diagnose OP before the fracture occurs (3-5).

With the increase in life expectancy worldwide and the increase in the elderly population, there is a parallel increase in chronic diseases. Today, it is estimated that more than 200 million people have osteoporotic. In Türkiye, OP stands out as an important health problem due to the aging of the population (6).

The aim of this study was to retrospectively evaluate that how much the bone DXA taken in an university hospital for a year are requested from which departments and how much of their results are compatible with OP, together with the demographic characteristics of the patients.

CITATION

Delen V, Dogan F. Demographic Characteristics of Patients who Underwent Dual-Energy X-Ray Absorptiometry According to Age and Clinical Department. Med Records. 2025;7(1):85-8. DOI:1037990/medr.1561239

Received: 07.10.2024 Accepted: 16.11.2024 Published: 13.01.2025

Corresponding Author: Veysel Delen, Harran University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Şanlıurfa, Türkiye

E-mail: veyseldelen@harran.edu.tr

MATERIAL AND METHOD

The study was carried out in the Department of Radiology at Harran University Hospital. In the radiology department, bone DXA examinations requested from all clinical departments during the one-year period between 01-01-2022 and 01-01-2023 were examined. The results of adult patients aged 18 and over were evaluated in the study. Harran University Rectorate Clinical Research Ethics Committee approved the study protocol (decision number: HRÜ/23.11.29, decision date: 19 June 2023). In accordance with the comments of the Declaration of Helsinki, the study was planned, performed and completed.

Interpretation of BMD Results

All anthropometric measurements of the patients were evaluated and recorded. Body mass index (BMI) was calculated by dividing weight (kg) by the square of height in meters. The BMD measurement was performed using the Hologic QDR 4500 DXA scanner device (Bedford, Boston, MA, USA). Measurements included the femoral neck and the lumbar spine regions.

According to the WHO diagnostic classification including DXA results, OP is defined by T-score, which is an indicator of BMD, at the hip or lumbar spine regions equal to or

less than -2.5 standard deviations relative to the mean T-score of the young adult reference population. If the BMD value is between -1.0 and -2.5 as a result of bone DXA measurement, it is defined as osteopenia or low bone mass. If the BMD value is -1.0 or higher, it is defined as normal (7).

Statistical Analyses

In the present study, all statistics and measurements were made using IBM SPSS 27 Statistics version. The data were presented as number (persentage) or mean±SD (min.max.).

RESULTS

A total of 1366 patients from all clinical departments (PMR, orthopedics, neurology, endocrine, obstetrics and other branches) who requested bone DXA were included in this study. Of these, 1166 (85.36%) were women and 200 (14.64%) were men. The PMR was the most frequently prompted department with 721 (52.78%) patients. This was followed by the orthopedics department with a request of 369 (27.01%) patients. Gender distributions in the clinical department-based groups is given in Table 1. In terms of gender distributions, there was a majority of women in all groups.

Table 1. Gender	Table 1. Gender distributions in the clinical department-based groups							
	1 (n=721)	2 (n=369)	3 (n=93)	4 (n=70)	5 (n=40)	6 (n=73)	7 (n=1366)	
Gender								
Female	621 (86.13%)	329 (89.16%)	75 (80.65%)	70 (100.0%)	21 (52.50%)	50 (68.49%)	1166 (85.36%)	
Male	100 (13.87%)	40 (10.84%)	18 (19.35%)	0 (0.0%)	19 (47.50%)	23 (31.51%)	200 (14.64%)	
Total	721 (52.78%)	369 (27.01%)	93 (6.80%)	70 (5.12%)	40 (2.94%)	73 (5.35%)	1366 (100%)	

1: physical medicine and rehabilitation, 2: orthopedics and traumatology, 3: endocrinology, 4: gynecology and obstetrics, 5: neurology, 6: other departments [gastroenterology (21)+infectious diseases (21)+algology (17)+internal medicine (10)+family medicine (2)+surgical oncology (1)+urology (1)], 7: all cases

The average age of the patients at the time of admission was 59.32±12.8 (distribution between 18-99 years) years. The patients were divided into 4 groups according to agebased groups. When we look at the age-based groups; 896 (65.6%) were in the 18-64 age group, 470 (34.4%) were in the 65-year-old and older group, and 1064 (77.9%) were in the 50-year-old group. The frequency of females in the age-based groups was prominently higher.

The mean BMI values of the patients according to agebased groups were slightly fat. The total BMI values were 31.64 ± 6.3 kg/m² (16.2-54.7). Age, BMI, and gender scores in the age-based groups are given in Table 2.

Table 2. Age, BMI, and gender scores in the age-based groups						
	1: ≤64 years (n=896)	2: ≥65 years (n=470)	3: >50 years (n=1064)	4: All years (n=1366)		
Age, yrs	72.41±9.63 (18-64)	72.49±6.0 (65-99)	64.35±8.76 (51-99)	59.32±12.81 (18-99)		
BMI, kg/m ²	31.49±6.23 (16.22-54.67)	31.91±6.31 (16.65-53.83)	32.35±6.07 (16.65-54.67)	31.64±6.26 (16.22-54.67)		
Gender						
Female	772 (86.16%)	394 (83.83%)	922 (86.65%)	1166 (85.36%)		
Male	124 (13.84%)	76 (6.17%)	142 (13.35%)	200 (14.64%)		

According to BMD value, the frequency of OP in the lumbar spine and femoral neck was highest in the group aged 65 years and older. The lowest OP frequency in the lumbar spine

and femur neck regions was seen in the group aged 64 years and younger. The lumbar spine and femur neck regions OP frequencies in the age-based groups are shown in Table 3.

Table 3. Lumbar spine and femur neck OP frequency in the age-based groups					
	1: ≤64 years (n=896)	2: ≥65 years (n=470)	3: >50 years (n=1064)	4: All years (n=1366)	
Lumbar spine					
Normal	263 (29.35%)	95 (20.22%)	241 (22.65%)	358 (26.21%)	
Osteopeni	388 (43.31%)	186 (39.57%)	442 (41.54%)	574 (42.02%)	
Osteoporosis	245 (27.34%)	189 (40.21%)	381 (35.81%)	434 (31.77%)	
Femur neck					
Normal	700 (78.13%)	229 (48.72%)	684 (64.29%)	929 (68.01%)	
Osteopeni	177 (19.75%)	200 (42.55%)	325 (30.54%)	377 (27.60%)	
Osteoporosis	19 (2.12%)	41 (8.72%)	55 (5.17%)	60 (4.39%)	
Normal Osteopeni Osteoporosis	700 (78.13%) 177 (19.75%) 19 (2.12%)	229 (48.72%) 200 (42.55%) 41 (8.72%)	684 (64.29%) 325 (30.54%) 55 (5.17%)	929 (68.01%) 377 (27.60%) 60 (4.39%)	

DISCUSSION

Despite having a younger population and OP rates compared to European countries, there has been an increase in the incidence of OP disease in the last 20 years in Türkiye. The diagnosis and follow-up of patients with OP is mainly administered by PMR, endocrinology, rheumatology, internal medicine, orthopedics and gynecology specialists (8). In current study, it was seen that the bone DXA was requested by PMR (52.8%), orthopedics (27%), endocrinology (6.8%), gynecology (5.1%) and neurology (2.9%) in order of frequency. Since the rheumatology department was not in the hospital, it did not make any DXA requests.

A recent comprehensive systematic review and metaanalysis presented the prevalence of OP in the world and by continents. According to this study, Asia (16.7%), Europe (18.6%), America (12.4%), Africa (39.5%), Australia (13.5%) between continents. Accordingly, the highest prevalence of OP was reported in Africa with 39.5%. In this study, it was reported that the prevalence of OP in the world was 18.3%. The prevalence of OP in women around the world was 23.1% and the prevalence of OP was reported as 11.7% in men (9). In current study, the prevalence of OP was 33.1%. Again, in our study, the prevalence of OP in women was 33.6% and 30.0% in men. The reason why the OP rate is high in male patients may be the low number of DXA required from male patients.

In another study, the prevalence of OP was evaulated in various industrialized countries (USA, Australia, Canada, Japan and five European countries) with people aged 50 and over. According to the study, the incidence of OP in the spine and hip region was found to be the most common in Japan at 26.3%, in the USA at 21%, in Germany at 14.3% and the least in Australia at 2% (9,10). The present study showed that the frequence of OP in patients over the age of 50 was 35.8% and 5.2% in the in the spine and hip, respectively; the frequence of OP in patients under the age of 65 was 27.3% and 2.1% in the spine and hip, respectively. Finally, the frequence of OP in patients 65 years and older was 40.2% and 8.7% in the spine and hip, respectively. According to the study conducted earlier on 26424 Turkish citizens over the age of 50, the prevalence of femur neck OP was estimated to be 7.5% in men and

33.3% in women. The prevalence of OP is increasing with age, and the general prevalence in men and women aged 50 and over is calculated as 22.2% and 27.2% for Türkiye, respectively. A newly published prevalence study identified 4,253,039 OP patients, corresponding to 4.9% of Türkiye's country's population. In addition, when viewed throughout the country, a prevalence of 0.8% was obtained in Şanlıurfa, 6.1% in the southeast (11-13). The present study was conducted in Şanlıurfa, and in all patients looked at, 32.3% in the lumbar was 4.3% in the lumbar, while in men, 29.0% in the femor neck were 5.0% in the lumbar. According to our findings, while the OP rate was low in the femur neck, the OP rate was found to be high in the lumbar region.

Study Limitations

The results of this study may be misleading regarding the prevalence of OP since it is not known whether the DXA examination was performed for the first time or for follow-up purposes. Because bone DXA scores in patients receiving OP treatment may show lower prevalence of OP due to improvement. Therefore, it would be more realistic to perform prevalence analysis in patients not receiving OP treatment. Another limitation may be that a standard OP cut-off values were used for all age groups. Since the evaluation was retrospective, the demographic data of the patients and secondary causes of OP could not be assessed completely.In addition, since the study was conducted in only one hospital, the results cannot be generalized to the entire region and country. Despite these limitations, this study can be a source for future studies in the literature.

CONCLUSION

Today, due to the aging population, the number of OP patients increases over the years. The prevalence of osteoporosis increases with age and the prevalence of OP is higher in women. The increase in OP causes an increase in both the disability rate and treatment costs due to OP fractures. In this study, more than half of DXA requests belong to the PMR department. The PMR department have an important role in the diagnosis and treatment of OP. In the future, OP should have an important place in the assistant training, especially in PMR department, in terms of health policies.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: Harran University Rectorate Clinical Research Ethics Committee approved the study protocol (Decision number: HRÜ/23.11.29, Decision date: 19 June 2023).

REFERENCES

- 1. Brown JP. Long-term treatment of postmenopausal osteoporosis. Endocrinol Metab (Seoul). 2021;36:544-52.
- LeBoff MS, Greenspan SL, Insogna KL, et al. The clinician's guide to prevention and treatment of osteoporosis. Osteoporos Int. 2022;33:2049-102. Erratum in: Osteoporos Int. 2022;33:2243.
- 3. Kerschan-Schindl K. Prevention and rehabilitation of osteoporosis. Wien Med Wochenschr. 2016;166:22-7.
- Yong EL, Logan S. Menopausal osteoporosis: screening, prevention and treatment. Singapore Med J. 2021;62:159-66.
- Curry SJ, Krist AH, Owens DK, et al. Screening for Osteoporosis to Prevent Fractures: US Preventive Services Task Force Recommendation Statement. JAMA. 2018;319:2521-31.

- 6. Sozen T, Ozisik L, Basaran NC. An overview and management of osteoporosis. Eur J Rheumatol. 2017;4:46-56.
- 7. Arceo-Mendoza RM, Camacho P. Prediction of fracture risk in patients with osteoporosis: a brief review. Womens Health (Lond). 2015;11:477-84.
- 8. Kirazlı Y, Atamaz Çalış F, El Ö, et al. Updated approach for the management of osteoporosis in Turkey: a consensus report. Arch Osteoporos. 2020;15:137.
- Salari N, Ghasemi H, Mohammadi L, et al. The global prevalence of osteoporosis in the world: a comprehensive systematic review and meta-analysis. J Orthop Surg Res. 2021;16:609.
- 10. Wade SW, Strader C, Fitzpatrick LA, et al. Estimating prevalence of osteoporosis: examples from industrialized countries. Arch Osteoporos. 2014;9:182.
- Tuzun S, Eskiyurt N, Akarirmak U, et al. Turkish Osteoporosis Society. Incidence of hip fracture and prevalence of osteoporosis in Turkey: the FRACTURK study. Osteoporos Int. 2012;23:949-55.
- 12. Tuzun Ş, Gogas Yavuz D, Durmaz B, et al. Updated approach for the management of osteoporosis in Turkey: a consensus report. Arch Osteoporos. 2020;15:137.
- 13. Ülgü MM, Birinci Ş. The epidemiology of osteoporosis in Türkiye: a comprehensive analysis using the e-Nabiz database. Turk J Phys Med Rehabil. 2024;70:47-52.

MEDICAL RECORDS-International Medical Journal

Research Article



Readability Analysis of Web Pages Providing Information on the Relationship Between Gingival Diseases and Heart Health

©Ozgur Ozgoren

Karamanoğlu Mehmetbey University, Ahmet Keleşoğlu Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Periodontics, Karaman, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License



Abstract

Aim: This study aimed to evaluate the readability of Turkish-language texts that provide information about the relationship between gingival diseases and heart health on the internet.

Material and Method: The keywords "gingival diseases and heart health relationship" were entered into the Google search engine. As a result of the search, the first 60 pages with Turkish content that provided patient information on the subject and could be accessed directly without any membership requirement were included in the study. Repeated web pages, academic publications, images, video content, and sites for advertising commercial products were not included in the study. The texts obtained were evaluated according to the Ateşman Readability Index.

Results: Forty-six of the first 60 sites found in the search met the inclusion criteria. When the texts included in the study were examined according to their sources, it was found that 43.5% were pages of dental clinics, 26.1% of private hospitals, 10.9% of university hospitals, 10.9% of media news pages, 4.3% of professional organizations, 2.2% of cardiology clinics and 2.2% of state hospitals. It was determined that 60.87% of the texts on the pages were at "medium" and 39.13% were at "difficult" readability level.

Conclusion: According to the results of the study, it was determined that the informative texts about "The relationship between gingival disease and heart health" published on Turkish websites have medium and difficult readability levels. In order to make such informative texts easier and comprehensible to read, it would be useful to adjust the language level of the text by using readability tools by the author before publication.

Keywords: Readability, internet, gingival diseases, heart health, heart diseases

INTRODUCTION

Internet usage is increasing every year in the world and in Türkiye. According to the results of the "Household Information Technology Usage Survey" conducted by the Turkish Statistical Institute (TÜİK) in 2023, the proportion of households with access to the internet increased to 95.5% and the internet usage rate of individuals aged 16-74 increased to 87.1% (1). According to another survey conducted by TÜİK in 2019, 69.3% of internet users use the internet to obtain information on health-related issues (2). People increasingly turn to the internet to obtain healthrelated information every year (3). Therefore, websites that provide health-related information should, first of all, be easy to read and understand by people (4). Having reliable and accurate information content is another important dimension.

Readability refers to the degree of ease or difficulty of understanding the text written in any language by the reader (5). Various formulas and indices have been developed to evaluate readability according to objective criteria. For example, while formulas such as SMOG measurement value, Gunning Fog value, Automatic Readability Index, Fresch Reading Ease Score, Flesch-Kincaid Grade Level are frequently used for English, the Atesman readability formula developed by Ender Ateşman is used for Turkish (6). Atesman studied texts of different difficulty levels and belonging to different fields and determined an index to classify them according to the level of ease-difficulty for the reader. According to Atesman's readability index, texts with a score of 90-100 are classified as very easy; 70-89 as easy; 50-69 as medium difficulty; 30-49 as difficult; and 1-29 as very difficult (7) (Table 1). This index is based on

CITATION

Ozgoren O. Readability Analysis of Web Pages Providing Information on the Relationship Between Gingival Diseases and Heart Health. Med Records. 2025;7(1):89-93. DOI:1037990/medr.1534407

Received: 16.08.2024 Accepted: 07.11.2024 Published: 13.01.2025

Corresponding Author: Ozgur Ozgoren, Karamanoğlu Mehmetbey University, Ahmet Keleşoğlu Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Periodontics, Karaman, Türkiye **E-mail**: ozgurozgoren@kmu.edu.tr average word and sentence length. The index is calculated with this formula : $198,825 - (40,175 \times \text{Average Word Length}) - (2,610 \times \text{Average Sentence Length}).$

Table 1. Readability classification according to the Ateşman readability index range			
Ateşman readability classification			
Very easy	90-100		
Easy	70-89		
Medium difficult	50-69		
Difficult	30-49		
Very difficult	1-29		

The degree of ease and difficulty of a text depends, of course, on the level of education of the reader. The higher the level of education, the higher the degree of comprehension of difficult texts. Flesch's Ease of Reading classification is used in this regard. Ateşman took this classification as a basis when he created his own readability classification. According to this classification, the text is scored between 1 and 100 to determine the level of education at which it is easily comprehensible. A score of 100 indicates that the text is easily comprehensible even by individuals with the lowest level of education and therefore has a high readability (Table 2) (8). As the readability level of a text decreases, the effectiveness of the information and directions on the web page will also decrease (9).

Table 2. Readability classification according to the Flesch readability index range		
Flesch readability classification		
Grade 4 and below	90-100	
5-6. grade	80-89	
7-8. grade	70-79	
9-10. grade	60-69	
11-12. grade	50-59	
Associate degree	40-49	
Bachelor's degree	30-39	
Postgraduate	1-29	

Periodontal diseases are chronic or acute inflammatory destructive diseases affecting the teeth and their supporting tissues. It is highly prevalent worldwide, with an estimated prevalence of 20%-50%, increasing with age (10). Since it is an infectious, inflammatory disease, inflammatory mediators and other disease-causing agents that spread throughout the body through blood and saliva during the disease have the potential to spread to many different parts of the body and directly or indirectly cause disease in other organs. Scientific studies have shown that periodontal diseases are associated with many systemic diseases (11-14). One of these is cardiovascular

diseases (CVD). CVD is one of the leading causes of death worldwide (15,16). Apart from known risk factors, there is evidence that inflammation plays an important role in the development of CVD, suggesting that periodontal diseases, which have an inflammatory character, may be associated with the development of CVD (17,18). In many studies examining the relationship between periodontal diseases and CVD, it has been reported that advanced periodontal disease poses a 25-90% risk of CVD (19,20). Based on a review of large-scale studies on the subject, the American Heart Association has evaluated periodontal diseases as a risk factor for atherosclerotic vascular diseases independent of other risk factors. Studies on the direct or indirect effects of pathogenic bacteria causing periodontal diseases and the inflammatory response caused by them on CVD formation are ongoing (14).

Today, when the relationship between periodontal diseases and CVD is becoming clearer and stronger with scientific studies, informing the public about this issue is of great importance in terms of protecting public health. In the report published by Scannopieceo et al. on the prevention of periodontal diseases in 2020, the importance of informing the public on the subject was pointed out in terms of protecting periodontal health (21). Today, one of the most practical and preferred ways of accessing information is the internet. Many people, in order to obtain information about the subjects they are curious about, search for the subject in search engines and utilize the information on the web pages they come across. Of course, the accuracy of this information as well as its comprehensibility, i.e. readability, is of great importance. It should not be ignored that people from all levels of education can access this information on the internet. In order for this tool, which is widely used to deliver information to the society, to be used correctly and effectively, texts containing information should be as easy to read as possible. This will be more efficient in terms of social benefit, as it will ensure that the text is understandable by all segments of society.

Since periodontal diseases are commonly referred to as "gum disease", we preferred the expression "gum disease" when searching in the search engine. Similarly, since "cardiovascular diseases", which is a general expression that includes many diseases, is not an expression used among the public, we preferred the expression "heart health", which is a more common and general expression among the public. Since the shortest and most general expressions are preferred when searching in search engines, we made our search as "gum disease and heart health relationship". We think that by analyzing the readability of the texts with information content as a result of such a search, we will contribute to the texts to be created on the subject to reach their purpose more effectively.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Since publicly available information was used in this study, ethics committee approval was not required.

In order to access informative texts on the internet about the relationship between gingival disease and heart health, a search was performed by a researcher by typing the keywords in Turkish 'Dişeti hastalıkları ve kalp sağlığı iliskisi' into the Google search engine in June 2024. Academic publications, images, video content, sites for advertising commercial products, forum sites, and sites requiring membership were not included in the study. Turkish websites containing texts for patient information and education about the relationship between gingival disease and heart health were included. The texts were classified according to their sources as private hospitals, university hospitals, public hospitals, private dental clinics, cardiology clinics, professional organizations and media news pages. To determine readability levels, text content was transferred to a free online readability calculator using the Atesman readability formula (http:// okunabilirlikindeksi.com). The data obtained were exported to Microsoft Excel (Microsoft Corporation, Redmond, Washington, USA).

Statistical Analysis

The data obtained in the study were evaluated using the SPSS 26 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, ABD) package program. Descriptive statistical methods were used in the evaluation of the data obtained. Data were expressed as percentage (%), arithmetic mean, standard deviation, minimum and

maximum. Readability index values were classified according to Ateşman readability classification.

RESULTS

After typing keywords into the search engine, 46 of the first 60 web pages that met the criteria were used in the study. When the texts included in the study were examined according to their sources, it was found that 43.5% were pages of dental clinics, 26.1% of private hospitals, 10.9% of university hospitals, 10.9% of media news pages, 4.3% of professional organizations, 2.2% of cardiology clinics and 2.2% of state hospitals (Table 3). Descriptive statistics of the texts in terms of language are given in Table 4.

Table 3. Distribution of web pages according to text source		
	n	%
Dental clinics	20	43.5
Private hospitals	12	26.1
Media news pages	5	10.9
University hospitals	5	10.9
Professional organizations	2	4.3
Cardiology clinics	1	2.2
State hospitals	1	2.2

Table 4. Descriptive statistics of the texts in terms of language				
	Mean	Standard deviation	Minimum	Maximum
Number of words	667.43	393.00	218	2234
Number of characters	5264.24	3226.26	1819	18996
Number of difficult words	660.33	391.68	215	2221
Unique words	398.61	202.71	145	1156
Number of short words	144.46	82.75	40	411
Characters without spaces	4579.20	2825.86	1591	16693
Number of sentences	54.85	38.18	12	217
Number of paragraphs	23.96	19.30	4	91
Average word length	2.77	0.13	3	3
Average sentence length	13.27	3.33	8	20
Ateşman readability index	52.86	9.68	32	70

The mean Ateşman readability index was 52.86±9.68. The percentage distribution diagram of the readability level of the web pages according to the Ateşman readability index values is shown in Figure 1 based on Ateşman readability classification (Table 1). According to the available data, 60.87% of the websites were found to be at medium and 39.13% at difficult readability level. The Ateşman readability levels of the web pages according to the sources are shown in Table 5, and according to the Flesch classification (Table 2).



Figure 1. Distribution diagram of readability level of web pages

Table 5. Ateşman readability levels according to sources						
	Very easy	Easy	Medium difficult	Difficult	Very difficult	Total
State hospitals	0.00%	0.00%	0.00%	100.00%	0.00%	100.00%
Cardiology clinics	0.00%	0.00%	0.00%	100.00%	0.00%	100.00%
Media news pages	0.00%	0.00%	80.00%	20.00%	0.00%	100.00%
Professional organizations	0.00%	0.00%	50.00%	50.00%	0.00%	100.00%
Dental clinics	0.00%	0.00%	55.00%	45.00%	0.00%	100.00%
Private hospitals	0.00%	0.00%	91.70%	8.30%	0.00%	100.00%
University hospitals	0.00%	0.00%	40.00%	60.00%	0.00%	100.00%

DISCUSSION

Nowadays, with the widespread use of the internet, when people experience a health problem, they first research about the subject on the internet. In recent years, the number of publications in both print and visual media expressing the relationship between gingival diseases and general body health has been increasing. Especially the relationship between gingival diseases and cardiovascular diseases, which has been increasing in recent years, and the public awareness of this relationship is important for public health. This study is the first study to investigate the level of readability of information about the relationship between gingival diseases and heart health on Turkish websites. In the literature, there is only one study evaluating Turkish information texts about "gingival disease" (22,23).

While searching on the subject; the search engine was searched by typing the simplest expressions that the public would use. Since Google is the most widely used search engine in Türkiye, Google search engine was preferred in our study (24,25). The readability levels of the resulting texts were found to be at the level of medium difficult and difficult. In the readability analysis study on "Gum disease" previously available in the literature, it was determined that the texts were of medium difficulty. In order for the general public to understand the subject easily, it is recommended that the readability should be at the "easy" level and not higher than the 6th-8th grade level (24). In our study, no text sources were identified that fit this range. 39.13% of the texts were difficult and 60.87% were of medium difficulty. It was observed that the sentence and word lengths were higher than the average values determined by Atesman for Turkish and the amount of difficult words was also high. According to Atesman, the definition of difficult words refers to words other than the 3000 most frequently used words in Turkish (7). According to TÜİK data, the average duration of education in Türkiye in 2023 is 9.3 years. Only 48.3% of the population has secondary education and above (26). Therefore, the readability level of the texts subject to our research shows that the texts are not fully comprehensible by almost half of the population. Moreover, 39.13% of the texts are difficult to read. In order for these texts to be fully understood, education at associate's and bachelor's level is required. However, according to the same data, the rate of people with higher education in our

country is 24.6% (26). In other words, the texts in question are fully comprehensible by only 24.6% of the population. Therefore, in our study, it has been determined that the language of the texts should be simplified in order for the texts in question to fully achieve their goals and to be understandable by all segments of the public.

CONCLUSION

It was observed that the readability level of the web pages providing information on the relationship between gingival diseases and heart health was at the "moderately difficult" and "difficult" level. It is important that such informative web pages are easily understandable by large segments of the public in order to achieve the informative purpose. In such issues that directly concern public health, it is important that the texts prepared should be as simple and clear as possible. In our study, we concluded that these texts do not fully serve their purpose in their current form. We believe that it would be much more efficient and effective in terms of informing the public and thus public health if those who prepare articles on such issues, which are very important for public health, make use of readability tools that are available free of charge on the internet.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: Since publicly available information was used in this study, ethics committee approval was not required.

REFERENCES

- Türkiye İstatistik Kurumu. Hane halkı bilişim teknolojileri (BT) kullanım araştırması 2023. data.tuik.gov.tr/Bulten/ Index?p=Hanehalki-Bilisim-Teknolojileri-(BT)-Kullanim-Arastirmasi-2023-49407 access date 25.07.2024.
- 2. Deniz S. A study on the e-health literacy and cyberchondria levels of individuals. Insan ve Insan. 2020;7:84-96.
- Lenhart A, Horrigan J, Rainie L, et al. The ever-shifting Internet population. a new look at Internet access and the digital divide. Washington, DC: Pew Internet&American Life Project. 2003 Apr 1. http://pewrsr.ch/1iQ8PW3 access date 25.07.2024.

- 5. Çoban A. Okunabilirlik kavramına yönelik bir derleme çalışması. Dil ve Edebiyat Eğitimi Dergisi. 2014;1:96-111.
- Bezirci B, Yilmaz AE. A software library for measurement of readability of texts and a new readability metric for Turkish. DEÜ Mühendislik Fakültesi Fen Bilimleri Dergisi. 2010;12:49-62.
- 7. Ateşman E. Measuring readability in Turkish. AU Tömer Language Journal. 1997;58:71-4.
- 8. Flesch R. A new readability yardstick. J Appl Psychol. 1948;32:221-33.
- 9. Edmunds MR, Denniston AK, Boelaert K, et al. Patient information in Graves' disease and thyroid-associated ophthalmopathy: readability assessment of online resources. Thyroid. 2014;24:67-72.
- 10. Williams RC. Periodontal disease. N Engl J Med. 1990;322:373-82.
- 11. Grossi SG, Genco RJ. Periodontal disease and diabetes mellitus: a two-way relationship. Ann Periodontol. 1998;3:51-61.
- Tonetti MS, Dyke TE. Periodontitis and atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease: consensus report of the Joint EFP/ AAP Workshop on Periodontitis and Systemic Diseases. J Clin Periodontol. 2013;84:S24-9.
- Scannapieco FA, Cantos A. Oral inflammation and infection, and chronic medical diseases: implications for the elderly. Periodontol 2000. 2016;72:153-75.
- 14. Schenkein HA, Loos BG. Inflammatory mechanisms linking periodontal diseases to cardiovascular diseases. J Clin Periodontol. 2013;40:S51-69.
- 15. Luepker RV. Cardiovascular disease: rise, fall, and future prospects. Annu Rev Public Health. 2011;32:1-3.

- 16. Nabel EG. Cardiovascular disease. N Engl J Med. 2003;349:60-72.
- 17. Mattila KJ, Nieminen MS, Valtonen VV, et al. Association between dental health and acute myocardial infarction. BMJ. 1989;298:779-81.
- Simonka M, Skaleric U, Hojs D. Condition of teeth and periodontal tissue in patients who had suffered a heart attack. Zobozdrav Vestn. 1988;43:81-3.
- 19. Arbes Jr SJ, Slade G, Beck J. Association between extent of periodontal attachment loss and self-reported history of heart attack: an analysis of NHANES III data. J Dent Res. 1999;78:1777-82.
- 20. Janket S-J, Baird AE, Chuang S-K, Jones JA. Meta-analysis of periodontal disease and risk of coronary heart disease and stroke. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 2003;95:559-69
- 21. Scannapieco FA, Gershovich E. The prevention of periodontal disease—An overview. Periodontology 2000. 2020;84:9-13.
- 22. Kanmaz B, Buduneli N. Evaluation of information quality on the internet for periodontal disease patients. Oral Diseases. 2021;27348-56.
- Taşdemir İ. Readability analysis of information about gingival disease on the internet . Selcuk Dental Journal. 2023;10:89-93.
- 24. Badarudeen S, Sabharwal S. Assessing readability of patient education materials: current role in orthopaedics. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2010;468:2572-80.
- 25. Akbulut AS. Readability Analysis of information on the internet about clear aligner treatment. NEU Dent J. 2022;4:7-11.
- 26. Türkiye İstatistik Kurumu. Ulusal eğitim istatistikleri 2023. data.tuik.gov.tr/Bulten/Index?p=Ulusal-Egitim-Istatistikleri-2023-53444 access date 25.07.2024.



Comparison of Clinical Outcomes of Conservative Treatment, Percutaneous Intralaminar Stabilization of Pars Defect, and Posterolateral Fusion with Interbody Fusion in Spondylolysis

Burhan Oral Gudu

İstanbul Medipol University, Sefaköy Hospital, Department of Brain And Neurosurgery, İstanbul, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.



Abstract

Aim: This study aimed to compare the clinical efficacy of posterior lumbar interbody fusion (PLIF), percutaneous intralaminar screw pars stabilization (PS), and conservative treatment (CT) for symptomatic spondylolysis (SL).

Material and Method: A retrospective randomized study was conducted on 45 patients, with 15 in each group (PLIF, PS, and CT), who underwent bilateral L5 SL and were treated between 2017 and 2022. Surgical indications included low back pain lasting >6 months that was unresponsive to CT and without sciatica. The CT group comprised patients with similar pain profiles. Clinical outcomes were measured using the visual analog scale (VAS), Oswestry Disability Index (ODI), and Short Form 36 (SF-36) scores at 0, 1, 3, 6, and 12 months.

Results: The study included 65% female patients with a mean age of 52 (PLIF), 44 (PS), and 46 (CT) years. Both the PS and PLIF groups showed significant clinical improvement compared with the CT group (p<0.05). No intraoperative complications were observed. The mean hospital stay was shorter in the PS group (2.7±1.3 days) than in the PLIF group (5.4±1.8 days). The operation time was 40±15 minutes for PS and 168±41 minutes for PLIF, with blood loss of 50±15 cc for PS and 350±170 cc for PLIF.

Conclusion: PS and PLIF resulted in better clinical outcomes than CT for L5 spondylolysis. PS is a minimally invasive and safe option with less muscle and soft tissue disruption; however, the final follow-up scores did not differ significantly between the PS and PLIF groups.

Keywords: Spondylolysis, pars stabilization, isthmic defect, intralaminar screw, conservative treatment

INTRODUCTION

The term spondylolysis (SL) originates from the Greek words spondylo (vertebra) and lysis (separation) and is defined as the separation or defect of the pars interarticularis (1-3). Repetitive hyperextension and rotation of the spine in SL causes microtrauma in the pars interarticularis and leads to stress fractures (4-6). It is a common cause of low back pain, particularly in athletic adolescents and young adults (2,7). Its prevalence is approximately 6-8%, and it is most commonly seen at the L5 level, followed by L4, and less frequently at the upper levels (8). It is mostly asymptomatic and becomes symptomatic after repeated lumbosacral strain during heavy physical labor. Mild or moderate low back pain, which increases with activity and resolves with rest, and complaints of tension in the hamstring muscles are common. Clear neurological deficits or radicular findings are very rare. Anteroposterior, lateral, and obligue direct radiographs of the lumbosacral region are the first steps in diagnosis. Computed tomography is the technique that best demonstrates the bony architecture of the pars; however, it should be chosen with caution, especially in young people, because of the risk of ionizing radiation. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) is the first choice for complaints of sciatica, young patients, and neurological deficits and is the gold standard for the detection of stress reactions (9). Initial treatment in symptomatic patients includes rest, use of a lumbar corset, and physiotherapy for 4-6 weeks. Regular daily activities are gradually increased as symptoms decrease. Surgery may be performed in patients in whom symptoms persist or who are unresponsive to conservative treatment (CT). Surgical fusion is an effective method for stabilizing the spine during lumbar spondylolysis and is preferred for reducing

CITATION

Gudu BO. Comparison of Clinical Outcomes of Conservative Treatment, Percutaneous Intralaminar Stabilization of Pars Defect, and Posterolateral Fusion with Interbody Fusion in Spondylolysis. Med Records. 2025;7(1):94-9. DOI:1037990/medr.1563318

Received: 08.10.2024 Accepted: 11.11.2024 Published: 13.01.2025 Corresponding Author: Burhan Oral Gudu, İstanbul Medipol University, Sefaköy Hospital, Department of Brain And Neurosurgery, İstanbul, Türkiye E-mail: burhan.gudu@medipol.edu.tr chronic back pain and disability. In the surgical treatment of SL, many surgical techniques ranging from percutaneous screw fixation of the pars defect with percutaneous technique to posterolateral segmental fusion are applied according to the patient's and physician's decision, and a success rate of 60-90% has been reported (4,10). The aim of this study was to evaluate and compare operative factors and the visual analog scale (VAS), Oswestry Disability Index (ODI), and Short Form 36 (SF-36) clinical scores of patients with SL who were followed up with conservative methods, those who underwent percutaneous intralaminar screw pars defect fixation (PS), and those who underwent posterior lumbar interbody fusion (PLIF) with open surgery to determine which method was more effective.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Ethical Approval

This study protocol was approved by the University of Health Sciences Kanuni Sultan Süleyman Training and Research Hospital Ethical Review Board (Subject No: KAEK/2022.02.38; approval date: 10/02/2022). All the procedures were performed in accordance with the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki.

Study Characteristics and Patient Population

Between 2017 and 2022, patients with single-level L5 spondylolysis who were treated either conservatively or surgically and followed up were randomly included in the study. A total of 45 patients (15 in each group) treated with percutaneous intralaminar stabilization, posterolateral interbody fusion and stabilization, or conservative methods were included in this retrospective, randomized study. The inclusion criteria were L5 bilateral spondylolysis, listhesis <3 mm, posterior opening >5°, and no neurological deficits. The exclusion criteria were spondylolisthesis, concomitant spinal disorders (scoliosis, trauma, infection, and tumor), and osteoporosis.

All patients were diagnosed with spondylolysis by dynamic imaging, computed tomography, and MRI within normal limits and had listhesis <3 mm, which is considered normal according to many studies (9).

The main complaint of all the patients was low back pain without sciatica. For clinical outcomes, the VAS was used to measure pain level, the ODI to assess functional limitations in activities of daily living, and the SF-36 to assess general health and quality of life at admission and at 1, 3, 6, and 12 months follow-up. Changes over time and differences between the conservative and surgical groups were analyzed. The duration of hospital stay, duration of surgery, amount of bleeding, and use of drains were analyzed.

Conservative Treatment Method (CT)

Patients were followed up with analgesics, activity restriction, exercises focusing on the deep abdominal musculature and lumbar multifidus muscles, daily life modification, and lumbosacral bracing for 4-6 weeks.

Patients were allowed to start limited activities 4 weeks after the start of treatment (Figure 1).



Figure 1. In patient 8 in the conservative treatment group, lumbar T2 sequence midsagital MRI (**a**), right pars defect (white arrow) (**b**), left pars defect (white arrow) (**c**) in parasagittal section image of lumbar computed tomography

Percutaneous Intralaminar Screw Stabilization Method (PS)

Using the percutaneous technique, with the help of two anteroposterior and lateral scopes and after a 2 cm sacral skin incision, a Jamshidi needle was inserted inferiorly caudal to the L5 lamina, close to the facet joint. A guidewire was advanced through the lamina, pars defect, defective pars neck, and pedicle using a high-speed drill with the help of a guidewire through a Jamshidi needle. A working cannula was inserted under the guidance of a guidewire, with the guidewire remaining in place. With the help of the guidewire, the lamina and pars defect were drilled with a 3 mm diameter drill, the cannulated screw was placed to terminate near the superior cortex of the pedicle, and the guidewire was removed. The mean screw diameter was 4-4.5 mm and length was 3.5-4 cm. The pars defect was debrided using an ultrasonic bone microshaver through the same working cannula under scopic visualization. Intralaminar screw fixation of the contralateral pars defect was performed using the same incision, and the skin was sutured (Figure 2).



Figure 2. In the 10th patient in the pars stabilization group, lumbar T2 sequence midsagital MRI (**a**), right pars defect (white arrow) (**b**), left pars defect (white arrow) (**c**) in parasagittal section image in lumbar computed tomography, L5 pars screw (black arrow) in sagittal image (**d**), right and left pars screws (black arrow) (**e**) in coronal image with 3D reconstruction in lumbar computed tomography

Posterolateral Interbody Fusion and Fixation Method (PLIF)

After L5-S1 midline skin incision, subcutaneous and fascia incision, and paravertebral blunt dissection with conventional surgery, bilateral pedicle screws were inserted into the L5 and S1 pedicles under scopic control.

After partial medial facetectomy and hemilaminectomy, microdiscectomy was performed and a bone graft and/ or cage was placed in the disc space. A bone graft was placed on the screw and rod edges. After controlling the bleeding, the muscle and fascia were closed anatomically, and the skin was sutured (Figure 3).



Figure 3. In the 15th patient in the posterolateral interbody fusion group, right pars defect (white arrow) (**a**), left pars defect (white arrow) (**b**) on lumbar computed tomography parasagittal image, preoperative lumbar T2 sequence midsagital MRI (**c**), postoperative lumbar magnetic resonance sagittal section image with plif (thick white arrow) (**d**)

Statistical Analysis

IBM SPSS statistical software (version 23.0, IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA) was used for statistical analysis. The study data were analyzed using descriptive statistical methods (mean, standard deviation [SD], median, quartile range, frequency, and proportion) and box plots. Conformity to normal distribution was analyzed using the Shapiro-Wilk test. Repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to examine within-group and between-time changes in normally distributed data. Twoway repeated measures ANOVA (treatment group and time factors) was used to determine the differences between treatment groups. In cases in which the data did not conform to a normal distribution, the Kruskal-Wallis test was used to evaluate the differences between groups, and Dunn's test was applied for post-hoc analyses. All analyses were performed with a 95% confidence interval (CI) and a significance level of p<0.05.

RESULTS

In the CT group, the mean age was 46 ± 15 years (range, 21-68 years), with eight females and seven males. In the PS group, the mean age was 44 ± 13 years (range, 23-59), with 10 females and 5 males. In the PLIF group, the mean age was 52 ± 8 years (range, 29-64 years), with nine females and six males. The mean operative time was significantly shorter in the PS group compared with the PLIF group (PS group: 40 ± 15 minutes; PLIF group: 168 ± 41 minutes, p<0.001). Similarly, intraoperative blood loss was significantly lower in the PS group (PS group: 50 ± 15 ml; PLIF group: 350 ± 170 ml, p<0.001). The hospital stay was also significantly shorter in the PS group compared with the PLIF group (PS group: 2.7 ± 1.3 days; PLIF group: 5.4 ± 1.8 days, p=0.03). No blood transfusions were required

in either group. Four patients in the PLIF group required surgical drainage, and one patient developed a surgical wound infection.

Neuropathic pain developed in two patients in the PLIF group and one patient in the PS group; however, the pain improved significantly by the 4th day of gabapentin treatment, after which the medication was discontinued. Upon admission, VAS scores were 7.6 ± 1.4 in the CT group, 8.2 ± 1.5 in the PS group, and 8.1 ± 1.4 in the PLIF group, with no significant difference between the groups (p>0.05). ODI scores at admission were 43 ± 3.5 in the CT group, 55 ± 5.6 in the PS group, and 49 ± 2.6 in the PLIF group. There was a significant difference between the CT and PS groups (p=0.004) and between the CT and PLIF groups (p=0.003) in terms of ODI scores at admission, whereas no significant difference was found between the PS and PLIF groups (p=0.910).

The SF-36 Mental Health (MH) scores were 49 ± 4.2 , 49 ± 7.0 , and 45 ± 6.2 in the CT, PS, and PLIF groups, respectively, with no statistically significant difference between the groups (p>0.05). Similarly, the SF-36 Physical Health (PH) scores were 49 ± 3.3 , 49 ± 3.7 , and 48 ± 3.6 in the CT, PS, and PLIF groups, respectively, with no significant differences (p>0.05). At 12 months, VAS scores decreased by 3.9, 6.2, and 6.8 points in the CT, PS, and PLIF groups, respectively (p<0.05). Statistically significant differences were found between the CT and PS groups (p=0.023) and between the CT and PLIF groups (p=0.004) at 12 months; however, no significant difference was observed between the PS and PLIF groups (p=0.170).

The ODI scores decreased by 18 points in the CT group, 45 points in the PS group, and 38 points in the PLIF group at 12 months compared with those at admission (p<0.05). Significant decreases were found between the CT and PS groups as well as between the CT and PLIF groups (p<0.001), with no significant difference between the PS and PLIF groups (p=0.623). The SF-36 MH scores increased by 3, 6, and 12 points in the CT, PS, and PLIF groups, respectively, at 12 months (p<0.05). A statistically significant difference was found between the CT and PLIF groups (p=0.004), whereas no significant difference was observed between the CT and PS groups (p=0.064) or between the PS and PLIF groups (p=0.910). The SF-36 PH scores increased by 4, 13, and 12 points in the CT, PS, and PLIF groups, respectively, at 12 months (p<0.05). Significant differences were found between the CT and PS groups (p=0.009) and between the CT and PLIF groups (p=0.014), with no significant difference between the PS and PLIF groups (p=0.473).

In all three groups, there was a significant decrease in the VAS and ODI scores and an increase in the SF-36 MH and SF-36 PH scores at the last follow-up compared with baseline (p<0.0001). Improvement in the CT group was less pronounced than that in the other groups. Overall, the VAS, ODI, SF-36 MH, and SF-36 PH scores for low back pain improved significantly in all three groups at follow-up (p<0.05). The PS and PLIF groups achieved better clinical results than the CT group (p<0.05) (Figure 4). No patients in the CT group underwent surgery. In the postoperative period, a skin infection in one patient in the PS group was treated with topical antibiotics. In the PLIF group, two patients were treated with an iliolumbar trigger point injection.



Figure 4. Results of VAS, SF-36 and oswestry disability index scores

DISCUSSION

SL is a neural vertebral arch defect that most commonly occurs at the L5 level and is usually asymptomatic (4). The cause of defect development is fatigue fracture of the pars (1). Two-way oblique direct radiography is the first choice for visualizing pars defects. While MRI is a sensitive method to reveal stress fractures and bone edema, computed tomography shows bone architecture in detail. Conservative methods are largely successful for treating symptomatic SL, but surgical intervention is required in 9-15% of cases (11). Classical or percutaneous surgical techniques are used for symptomatic patients. Many surgical techniques such as pars screwing, screwwire, screw-rod, screw-hook techniques, posterolateral stabilization and interbody fusion and/or a mixture of these techniques are applied according to the decision of the surgeon and the patient, but there is no gold standard surgical technique. The PS technique provides minimally invasive rigid fixation of the pars defect with the help of percutaneous working cannulas, restoring impaired intrasegmental abnormal motion (4,9,12-15).

However, the PLIF approach provides direct decompression of the compressed neural elements through unilateral or bilateral access to the disc space after partial facetectomy and provides bony fusion of the posterior neural arch, but it impairs segmental motion.

Our results showed that neither surgical technique was superior in terms of pain or functional outcomes at the most recent follow-up; however, the clinical scores were better than those in the CT group. PS showed a significant reduction in surgical time and intraoperative blood loss compared with PLIF (p<0.001). No blood transfusion was required in either group, but surgical drainage was required in four patients who underwent PLIF. No minor intraoperative complications were observed. PLIF has been associated with a longer operative time, as in our case, and PS provides a shorter recovery time and earlier return to daily life. Adjacent segment development may be a significant problem in PLIF; however, adjacent segment development has not been reported using the PS method. Percutaneous and minimally invasive procedures are associated with rapid recovery time and low perioperative blood loss rate. Our study found that the hospital stay was significantly shorter in PS patients (4.7±2.3 days) compared with PLIF patients (6.4±2.8 days) (p=0.03). Surgical treatment should be considered in the absence of impressive improvement in symptoms after conservative treatment for 4-6 months on several occasions (16,17). Confirmatory testing of the pars defect with an anesthetic block should be performed before surgery for a differential diagnosis (4,18,19). Treatment options are classically divided into direct repair of the pars defect and spinal fusion. The choice of the most appropriate surgical intervention is largely determined by the severity of SL and the patient's clinical goals and perspective. Segmental fusion shows significant efficacy in reducing pain, and up to 70% of the patients with terminal SL experience significant pain relief (20,21). L5/S1 fusion with an autogenous iliac bone graft is often the first-line surgical treatment for adult patients with symptomatic L5 SL. In younger or more active patients, one of many different techniques, such as intralaminar screw fixation of the pars defect, V-rod technique, screw hook, and screw tape, may be preferred. Minimally invasive methods are preferred when muscle damage is undesirable in athletes or young individuals. In PS, segmental spinal motion is directly restored with pars defect repair and is generally preferred in adolescents and young adults if the intervertebral disc is intact (16,20,22). Direct repair is often recommended as the first-line surgical treatment for young athletes and patients with active lifestyles to prioritize functionality and accelerate their return to sports (23,24). Direct repair methods, including singlescrew fixation (i.e., Buck's), hook screw fixation, pedicle screw band fixation, and robot-assisted direct repair, may vary according to the surgeon's experience and patient preference. Percutaneous intralaminar screw fixation may be preferred in pars injection-positive patients, patients with slippage of <3 mm, normal disc structure, and no radiculopathy (4,12,25). In our study, blood loss and length of hospital stay were lower with direct percutaneous pars screw fixation, but the learning curve was challenging. PLIF is the preferred surgical method for terminal-stage SL. The clinical scores were better in the two surgical groups than in the CT group. The main outcome measured was disability; when compared with the preoperative value, the difference between the PS and PLIF surgical groups in the final ODI assessment at 12 months after surgery was 10 points, and no screw malposition or fracture was detected in the PS group. The operative time was shorter for percutaneous PS (40 min) and longer for PLIF (3 h). Surgeons may favor open surgical methods in cases of abnormal laminar anatomy or pseudarthrosis, which may result in more heterogeneous studies (2,26). The primary limitation of our study is its retrospective design, which may introduce a potential bias in patient selection, despite adherence to standard

criteria. Additionally, the small sample size and singlecenter setting limits the generalizability of the findings, even though the patient groups were homogeneous. Furthermore, the ultimate goal of all these procedures is to achieve sound arthrodesis. Although all operations were performed by the same surgeon, ensuring consistency, the study's limitations could be addressed through largerscale, long-term, prospective randomized trials to provide more comprehensive evaluations and reliable results. Future research may more clearly define the appropriate indications for PLIF and PS for which a minimally invasive or open approach should be used. The fact that there was no difference in the short-term results between PS and PLIF may indicate that the selection bias was low. The current study could be conducted as a randomized prospective study involving different groups.

CONCLUSION

There was no significant difference in the clinical outcomes between intralaminar pars stabilization and posterolateral interbody fusion. The PS method showed superior results in terms of operative time, estimated blood loss, and length of hospital stay. To our knowledge, this is the first study to compare the clinical outcomes of percutaneous intralaminar screw pars fixation and posterolateral lumbar interbody fusion with conservative treatment in SL; further prospective, multicenter studies are required to confirm these findings.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: This study protocol was approved by theUniversity of Health Sciences Kanuni Sultan Süleyman Training and Research Hospital Clinical Research Ethics Committee (Subject No: KAEK/2022.02.38; approval date: 10/02/2022). All the procedures were performed in accordance with the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki.

REFERENCES

- 1. Debnath UK. Lumbar spondylolysis current concepts review. J Clin Orthop Trauma. 2021;21:101535.
- Cho E, Kim GJ, Lee JE, et al. Eight-year prevalence trends of lumbar spondylolysis and isthmic spondylolisthesis in adolescent males: a population-based study from a nationwide military draft medical examination database in South Korea. World Neurosurg. 2024;190:e341-7.
- Dimar JR, Nabizadeh N, Gauthier L, El-Hawary R. Early-onset spondylolysis and spondylolisthesis: diagnosis, analysis of the sagittal plane, and treatment techniques. In: Akbarnia BA, Thompson GH, Yazici M, El-Hawary R, eds. The Growing Spine: Management of Spinal Disorders in Young Children. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2022;395–410.
- Güdü BO, Aydın AL, Dilbaz S, et al. Clinical results of restoration of pars interarticularis defect in adults with percutaneous intralaminar screw fixation. World Neurosurg. 2022;164:e290-9.

- Tawfik S, Phan K, Mobbs RJ, Rao PJ. The incidence of pars interarticularis defects in athletes. Global Spine J. 2020;10:89-101.
- Panteliadis P, Nagra NS, Edwards KL, et al. Athletic population with spondylolysis: review of outcomes following surgical repair or conservative management. Global Spine J. 2016;6:615-25.
- 7. Lawrence KJ, Elser T, Stromberg R. Lumbar spondylolysis in the adolescent athlete. Phys Ther Sport. 2016;20:56-60.
- Güdü BO, Aydın AL, Mercan NE, et al. Anatomical parameters of percutaneous, minimally invasive, direct intralaminar pars screw fixation of spondylolysis. World Neurosurg. 2024;188:e567-72.
- Güdü BO, Karan B, Dilbaz S. Diagnostic efficacy of posterior epidural fat interposition on magnetic resonance T1weighted sequence in the diagnosis of spondylolysis. World Neurosurg. 2024;191:e381-6.
- Zhang S, Ye C, Lai Q, et al. Double-level lumbar spondylolysis and spondylolisthesis: a retrospective study. J Orthop Surg Res. 2018;13:55.
- 11. Steiner ME, Micheli LJ. Treatment of symptomatic spondylolysis and spondylolisthesis with the modified Boston brace. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 1985;10:937-43.
- 12. Menga EN, Kebaish KM, Jain A, et al. Clinical results and functional outcomes after direct intralaminar screw repair of spondylolysis. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2014;39:104-10.
- Nourbakhsh A, Preuss F, Hadeed M, Shimer A. Percutaneous direct repair of a pars defect using intraoperative computed tomography scan: a modification of the Buck technique. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2017;42:E691-4.
- Rajasekaran S, Subbiah M, Shetty A. Direct repair of lumbar spondylolysis by Buck's technique. Indian J Orthop. 2011;45:136-40.
- 15. Buck JE. Direct repair of the defect in spondylolisthesis: preliminary report. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 1970;52:432-7.
- 16. Radcliff KE, Kalantar SB, Reitman CA. Surgical management of spondylolysis and spondylolisthesis in athletes: indications and return to play. Curr Sports Med Rep. 2009;8:35-40.
- Cavalier R, Herman MJ, Cheung EV, Pizzutillo PD. Spondylolysis and spondylolisthesis in children and adolescents: I. diagnosis, natural history, and nonsurgical management. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 2006;14:417-24.
- 18. Leone A, Cianfoni A, Cerase A, et al. Lumbar spondylolysis: a review. Skeletal Radiol. 2011;40:683-700.
- 19. Okuwaki S, Tatsumura M, Gamada H, et al. Association of pars defect type with clinical outcome after smiley face rod methods for terminal-stage spondylolysis. Spine Surg Relat Res. 2024;8:58-65.
- Cheung EV, Herman MJ, Cavalier R, Pizzutillo PD. Spondylolysis and spondylolisthesis in children and adolescents: II. Surgical management. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 2006;14:488-98.

DOI: 10.37990/medr.1563318

- 21. Tian W, Zhang Q, Han XG, et al. Robot-assisted direct repair of spondylolysis. Medicine (Baltimore). 2020;99:e18944.
- 22. Peer KS, Fascione JM. Spondylolysis: a review and treatment approach. Orthop Nurs. 2007;26:104-13.
- 23. Huynh TR, Lagman C, Sweiss F, et al. Pediatric spondylolysis/spinal stenosis and disc herniation: national trends in decompression and discectomy surgery evaluated through the Kids' Inpatient Database. Childs Nerv Syst. 2017;33:1563-70.
- 24. Drazin D, Shirzadi A, Jeswani S, et al. Direct surgical repair of spondylolysis in athletes: indications, techniques, and outcomes. Neurosurg Focus. 2011;31:E9.
- 25. Wu SS, Lee CH, Chen PQ. Operative repair of symptomatic spondylolysis following a positive response to diagnostic pars injection. J Spinal Disord. 1999;12:10-6.
- 26. Lee CW, Yoon KJ, Ha SS. Which approach is advantageous to preventing development of adjacent segment disease? Comparative analysis of 3 different lumbar interbody fusion techniques (ALIF, LLIF, and PLIF) in L4-5 spondylolisthesis. World Neurosurg. 2017;105:612-22.

MEDICAL RECORDS-International Medical Journal

Research Article



Global Outlook for Disability Adjusted Life Years: Brain and Central Nervous System Cancers

Punus Emre Karatas, Songul Cinaroglu

Hacettepe University, Faculty of Economics and Administrative Sciences, Department of Health Care Management, Ankara, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.



Abstract

Aim: In 2019, brain and central nervous system cancers were listed among the top 5 causes of death in men and women by absolute Disability Adjusted Life Years (DALY) burden globally. In this respect, it is important to define the current global status of deaths from neurological disorders and brain and central nervous system cancers. In this study, we aimed to examine the burden of disease metrics of deaths from neurological disorders and brain and central nervous system cancers in 204 different countries/regions by categorizing the countries.

Material and Method: Brain and central nervous system cancer DALYs, motor neuron disease deaths and multiple sclerosis deaths of 204 different countries were obtained from the "GBD Compare" tool of the Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation. The k-means clustering algorithm, also known as unsupervised machine learning algorithm, was used to categorize the countries. The number of clusters was determined by the Silhouette score (s). The statistical difference between the medians of two independent groups was analyzed by Mann-Whitney U Test.

Results: According to the silhouette score obtained using the K-Means algorithm, the number of clusters was determined as 2 (s=0.684). Cluster I included 135 countries (African and Asian countries) and Cluster II included 65 countries (European and North American countries). The median (min; max) values of Cluster II countries for brain and central nervous system cancer DALYs, Multiple Sclerosis deaths and Motor Neuron Disease deaths variables were 201.77 (147.65;375.16), 0.62 (0.00;2.21), 1.13 (0.00;4.65), while the median (min; max) values of Cluster I countries are 64.50 (6.29;134.99), 0.04 (0.00;0.67), 0.00 (0.00;2.36), respectively (p<0.001). **Conclusion:** The group of developed countries in Europe and North America has been found to have more deaths from neurological diseases and more DALYs from brain and central nervous system cancers. When the countries in the groups are evaluated, it is concluded that the geographical proximity and development level of the countries have a significant effect on the variables used in the grouping.

Keywords: Brain neoplasms, cluster analysis, disability adjusted life years, global burden of disease

INTRODUCTION

Brain tumors constitute an important disease group in neurosurgery. They cause many neurological, cognitive and psychosocial problems. The incidence of malignant and benign brain tumors is higher, especially in industrialized regions of Australia, Europe and North America (1). In the UK, the incidence of glioblastoma, one of the agestandardized tumor subtypes, increased from 3.27 and 2.00 per 100,000 population in 1995 in men and women, respectively, to 7.34 and 4.45 in 2013 (2). In the United States, the incidence of brain tumors, which are among the top four cancers in young adults, is 7.10 per 100,000 in the 20-24 age group and 15.5 in the 34-39 age group (3). In summary, brain and central nervous system cancer was listed among the top 5 causes in women and men according to absolute Disability Adjusted Life Years (DALY) burden globally in 2019 (4).

While many factors pose a risk for brain cancer, these factors can be classified as environmental, demographic, genetic and socioeconomic factors (5). These factors are also closely related to neurological disorders. In general, neurological disorders are defined as Alzheimer's and other dementias, Parkinson's, idiopathic epilepsy, multiple sclerosis, motor neuron disease, headache disorders (6). While epidemiologic studies have found a significant inverse association between Alzheimer's

CITATION

Karatas YE, Cinaroglu S. Global Outlook for Disability Adjusted Life Years: Brain and Central Nervous System Cancers. Med Records. 2025;7(1):100-6. DOI:1037990/medr.1536199

Received: 20.08.2024 Accepted: 22.11.2024 Published: 14.01.2025 Corresponding Author: Yunus Emre Karatas, Hacettepe University, Faculty of Economics and Administrative Sciences, Department of Health Care Management, Ankara, Türkiye E-mail: yekaratas@ankara.edu.tr disease and cancer, increasing evidence has shown a higher risk of melanoma and brain cancer in Parkinson's patients (7,8). Research on the pathological relationship between epilepsy and brain tumors has reported epileptic symptoms attributed to intracranial tumors (9). Although the assessment of brain tumor formation in multiple sclerosis patients is complex, multiple sclerosis has been recognized as the primary pathology that often results in the development of brain gliomas (10). The best-known form of motor neuron disease is amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, and the level of evidence for carcinogenesis is low with few studies available (11). Although there are more than 600 diseases affecting the neurological system, the most well-known ones are the neurological disorders and brain tumors described above (12).

Cluster analysis has been widely used in the health literature for image segmentation, human genetic clustering, recommendation systems, data reduction, classification and prediction using stroke, diabetes, Alzheimer's data (13). For example, cluster analysis studies have been conducted using social, economic and health metrics together or alone to shed light on policies to be created to control a disease of specific interest (14). From identifying subgroups of brain tumors affecting the neurological system (15) to identifying distinct patterns in gene studies (16), cluster analyses have also found widespread use specifically in neurology. Cluster analysis is also widely used to group countries using various health outcome metrics. Many metrics such as COVID-19 case data, quality of life data, standardized mortality data have been used to classify countries through cluster analyses (17-19). In this context, our study aimed to group countries using multiple sclerosis disease, motor neuron disease mortality data and brain and central nervous system cancer DALY numbers, which are considered as neurological disorders, and clustering algorithm was used in grouping. Since our study aims to identify subgroups of countries that are different from each other among clusters, the study analyses were carried out with a country-centered approach. As a result of this study, it was aimed to show that the loss of healthy life years due to neurological disorders and brain cancer is not homogeneous in terms of the countries of the world.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Data Set Selection and Definition of Parameters

Brain and central nervous system cancer DALYs (per 100,000 population), motor neuron disease deaths (per 100,000 population) and multiple sclerosis deaths (per 100,000 population) in 204 different countries, including Türkiye, constitute the variables for the statistical analysis of this study. Since disability-adjusted life-year data specific to motor neuron and multiple sclerosis disease are still insufficient, mortality data were used for these two variables. The data set for the variables was obtained from the "GBD Compare" tool of the Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME), which allows comparison of diseases, deaths and risk factors at various levels (regional, gender, age, etc.) (IHME, 2024). As a result of the International Classification of Diseases for the

Global Burden of Disease are categorized into four main groups in the GBD Compare tool: Communicable Diseases (Group A), Non-Communicable Diseases (Group B), Injuries (Group C), Other Consequences of the COVID-19 Pandemic (Group D). Brain and central nervous system cancer DALYs for this study were compiled from the "Neoplasms" subgroup of the non-communicable diseases group. Data on variables related to the number of deaths were obtained from the "Neurological Disorders" subgroup of the noncommunicable diseases group (6).

DALY is a measure used especially in global burden of disease studies beyond crude mortality rates. In summary, a DALY represents the loss of one full healthy year. As given in Equation 1, DALY is the sum of years of life lost to premature death (YLLs) and years of life lost to disability due to illness or injury (YLDs) (20).

$$DALY = YLLs + YLDs \tag{1}$$

When calculating YLDs, health conditions are assigned a disability weight ranging between 0 and 1 (0: no disability; 1: loss equivalent to death). YLDs is obtained by multiplying the assigned disability weight by the time (years) spent in the disease. In the calculation of YLLs, the years of life lost due to premature death based on the reference life expectancy gives the value of YLLs (21).

All variables in the study dataset belong to 2021 and represent all age groups.

Methods for Study Analysis

The classification of countries according to the variables showing the number of deaths related to neurological disorders and the number of brain and central nervous system cancer DALYs was made with the k-means clustering method. Clustering analysis is based on the separation of data in a variable set into groups according to distance and proximity criteria or according to the differences or similarities between variables. The aim of clustering analysis is to achieve high similarity within clusters and low similarity between clusters (22). In this study, the variables Brain and central nervous system cancer DALY (Per 100,000 population), Multiple Sclerosis (Deaths per 100,000 population), and Motor Neuron Disease (Deaths per 100,000 population) were used together for similaritybased clustering. Clustering, also known as unsupervised machine learning algorithm, which is used in data mining, divides an unlabeled dataset of size N*D (N is the number of samples, D is the data size) into k groups with the same similarity (23).

Clustering algorithms are divided into two main groups: hierarchical clustering and partitioned clustering algorithms (24). While hierarchical clustering algorithms cluster data objects using either a bottom-up additive approach or a topdown divisive approach, partitioned clustering algorithms use combinatorial search of all possible values to obtain the optimum value, resulting in different k values (25). There are many clustering algorithms in the literature such as DBSCAN, CURE, Chameleon. However, the K-means clustering algorithm has been widely used in the literature as one of the most effective algorithms (26). K-means, one of the unsupervised algorithms, calculates the distance between the center points and all data points in the space using randomly fixed starting/center (k) points and then assigns the data points to the nearest center point (27). Although this process can be done according to different distance measures, the Euclidean distance measure is used in this study. The Euclidean distance measure is calculated as in Equation 2.

$$d\left(x,c\right) = \sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^{D} \left(x_i - c_i\right)^2} \tag{2}$$

In the equation, x represents the data point, c the center, D represents the total number of data points in space. The average distances of the center and data points are iterated until there is no change in the center and the calculated average, and the center is repositioned according to the average position. The formula used to assign the center after the repeated process is given in equation 3.

$$v_{ij} = rac{1}{N_i} \sum_{k=0}^{N_i} X_{kj}$$
 (3)

Where v_{ij} : is the average centroid in cluster ith for the jth variable; N_i : is the number of members in cluster i; X_{kj} : is the k data values for variable j in the cluster.

Silhouette score was used to determine the most appropriate cluster number from the cluster numbers

obtained. The Silhouette score, which provides insight into cluster quality by measuring the cohesion within clusters, represents how well each data point is classified, and indicates whether there is a reasonable level of separation between clusters, varies between -1 and +1 (28). A score of 0.6 and higher indicates an acceptable separation between clusters (29).

The difference between the averages of the sample group clustered as a result of the K-means algorithm for each variable was evaluated with an independent sample test to ensure the clustering analysis. Mann-Whitney U hypothesis test was used to compare continuous data groups. The relationship between the variables was analyzed with Spearman's rank correlation coefficient. Spearman's rank correlation spearman's rank the strength of the relationship decreases as it approaches 0, while the strength of the relationship increases when it approaches 1 in absolute value in both directions.

For this study, clustering analysis was performed in Orange Data Mining (Version: 3.32.0) and independent sample test and correlation analysis were performed in IBM SPSS Statistic 22.0.

RESULTS

Descriptive Statistics

Within the scope of this research, descriptive statistics of the variables included in the clustering analysis before clustering analysis of 204 different countries/regions are presented in Table 1.

Table 1. Descriptive statistics of variables				
Variables	Label	Median (Min-Max)		
Brain and central nervous system cancer DALY (Per 100,000 population)	BCNSC_DALYs	91.54 (6.29-375.16)		
Multiple sclerosis (Deaths per 100,000 population)	MS	0.09 (0-2.21)		
Motor neuron disease (Deaths per 100,000 population)	MND	0.04 (0-4.65)		

Since the data related to the variables do not show normal distribution, median, minimum and maximum values are presented as descriptive statistics. BCNSC_DALYs per 100,000 population ranged between 6.29 and 375.16, with a median of 91.54. The median of MS and MND deaths per 100,000 population classified as neurological disorders is 0.09 and 0.04, respectively. According to the results of the Spearman's rank correlation coefficient (rs) analysis, there is a significant and positive relationship between all variables (p<0.001). There was a moderate and positive relationship between BCNSC_DALYs and MS (rs=0.72), a moderate and positive relationship between BCNSC_DALYs and MND (rs=0.67), and finally a moderate and positive relationship between MS and MND (rs=0.72). Spearman's rank correlation coefficients, scatter plots and histogram plots of variables are given in the correlogram in Figure 1. When the histogram plots were analyzed, it was determined that especially MS and MND variables showed a right-skewed (positive) distribution (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Correlogram graph for variables

Clustering Results

Using the k-means algorithm and Euclidean distance measure, the number of clusters was estimated by Silhouette coefficient for grouping countries in terms of brain and central nervous system cancer DALYs and two variables related to neurological disorders (MS, MND). When the Silhouette coefficients calculated up to 8 clusters were analyzed, it was determined that the best cluster number was k=2 (Figure 2). When the number of clusters was k=2, the Silhouette score was 0.684; when k=3, 0.663; when k=4, 0.559. The optimal number of clusters or Silhouette score, whose graphical analysis is presented in Figure 2, is the highest when the number of clusters is 2.





After the number of clusters determined as k=2 according to the Silhouette score, countries were grouped as shown in Table 2. According to the k-means algorithm, there were 135 countries/regions in Cluster 1 and 69 countries/ regions in Cluster 2. The clusters of countries/regions are visualized and presented in Figure 3. The countries in Cluster I are colored in blue and Cluster II countries are colored in red. In Cluster I, countries in Africa and Asia are generally clustered, while in Cluster II, countries in Europe and North America are clustered.

Table 2. Country groups as a result of k-means algorithm		
Cluster	Countries*	
1 (n=135)	AFG, AGO, ARE, ARG, ASM, ATG, BDI, BEN, BFA, BGD, BHR, BHS, BLZ, BOL, BRB, BRN, BTN, BWA, CAF, CHL, CIV, CMR, COG, COK, COL, COM, CPV, CRI, DJI, DMA, DOM, DRC, DZA, ECU, ERI, ETH, FJI, FSM, GAB, GHA, GIN, GMB, GNB, GNQ, GRD, GTM, GUM, GUY, HND, HTI, IDN, IND, JAM, JOR, JPN, KAZ, KEN, KGZ, KHM, KIR, KNA, KOR, KWT, LAO, LBN, LBR, LCA, LKA, LSO, MAR, MDG, MDV, MEX, MHL, MLI, MMR, MNG, MNP, MOZ, MRT, MUS, MWI, MYS, NAM, NER, NGA, NIC, NIU, NPL, NRU, OMN, PAK, PAN, PER, PHL, PLW, PNG, PRI, PRK, PRY, QAT, RWA, SAU, SDN, SEN, SGP, SLB, SLE, SLV, SOM, SSD, STP, SWZ, TCD, TGO, THA, TKL, TLS, TON, TTO, TUN, TUV, TWN, TZA, UGA, VCT, VEN, VIR, VNM, VUT, WSM, YEM, ZAF, ZMB, ZWE	
2 (n=69)	ALB, AND, ARM, AUS, AUT, AZE, BEL, BGR, BIH, BLR, BMU, BRA, CAN, CHE, CHN, CUB, CYP, CZE, DEU, DNK, EGY, ESP, EST, FIN, FRA, GBR, GEO, GRC, GRL, HRV, HUN, IRL, IRN, IRQ, ISL, ISR, ITA, LBY, LTU, LUX, LVA, MCO, MDA, MKD, MLT, MNE, NLD, NOR, NZL, POL, PRT, PSE, ROU, RUS, SMR, SRB, SUR, SVK, SVN, SWE, SYC, SYR, TJK, TJM, TUR, UKR, URY, USA, UZB	



Figure 3. Clusters of countries in the k-means algorithm

The Silhouette score for each country included in the analysis is presented in Figure 4. The Silhouette scores of the countries in Cluster I range between 0.72 and 0.57, while the Silhouette scores of the countries in Cluster II range between 0.70 and 0.52.



Figure 4. Silhouette scores of countries by cluster

Table 3 presents the test results of the differences between country groups in terms of health outcome variables. According to the Mann-Whitney U test results, there is a statistically significant difference between the rank means of the clusters in terms of all three variables (BCNSC_DALYs: U=0.00; MS: U=912; MND: U=1512; p<0.001). In terms of BCNSC_DALYs, MS and MND health outcome variables, Cluster II countries have higher rank means than Cluster I countries.
Table 3. Comparison of country clus	ters in terms of variables		
	BCNSC_DALYs	MS	MND
	Median (Min;Max)	Median (Min;Max)	Median (Min;Max)
Cluster I	64.50 (6.29;134.99)	0.04 (0.00;0.67)	0.00 (0.00;2.36)
Cluster II	201.77(147.65;375.16)	0.62 (0.00;2.21)	1.13 (0.00;4.65)
Cluster I vs Cluster II	U=0.00; p<0.001	U=912; p<0.001	U=1512; p<0.001
*U =Mann-Whitney U Test U score			

DISCUSSION

As a result of the clustering analysis, 204 countries/ regions were grouped into two different clusters according to MS, MND mortality and brain and central nervous system cancer DALY data. Cluster I included 135 countries, while Cluster II included 69 countries. In Cluster I. African and Asian countries are grouped in general. Cluster II includes countries from Europe and North America. When the countries in the clusters are analyzed, it is seen that countries with geographical proximity are mostly grouped in the same cluster. Cluster I countries are better in terms of mortality data and brain tumor DALYs. However, this is thought to be related to the fact that tumor registry coverage is lowest in Southeast Asia and Africa (30). The level of data evidence is also known to be low in Africa, Central and South America and most countries in Asia (31). Again, in terms of protocols for determining death according to brain death/neurological criteria, it is thought that some African, South American and South Asian countries do not have national protocols and therefore cannot provide reliable information (32). In this respect, the fact that the health outcome variables of the countries in Cluster I seem to be in better condition compared to the other cluster may be associated with the low level of data reliability reported.

In terms of the health system, countries that provide adequate preventive and curative health services and are in better condition in terms of human resources and physical health infrastructure were included in Cluster II. For example, while the number of doctors (per 1000 people) in the European region in Cluster II is 4.3, this number is 0.2 in Sub-Saharan Africa countries in Cluster I. It is thought that this situation may be related to the fact that the countries in Cluster II have more diagnostic equipment such as Computed Tomography and Magnetic Resonance and a relatively higher number of neurologists, as well as accurate and timely diagnosis (33). When health human resources are evaluated in terms of minimum labor intensity, researchers have reported that physician intensity is the lowest in Sub-Saharan Africa, South Asia and North Africa (34).

Access to care and availability of health services have been reported in previous studies to be important factors influencing the burden of disease and mortality used in the study for countries in both clusters. (35). As a matter of fact, easy access to health institutions enables the

recording of diseases and causes of death in the right number and in the right category.

According to the findings of our study, countries that exhibit a similar outlook according to their income levels are grouped in the same cluster. The fact that especially low-income countries are in Cluster I is related to data quality and more importantly data availability (35). As a result of our study, it is known that life expectancy at birth and urbanization are high in countries in cluster II (36). In this respect, it is thought that the high life expectancy at birth causes the disease burden of brain and central nervous system cancer to be higher in direct proportion. In a study investigating the incidence of brain tumors in high-income and middle-income countries, it was found that the incidence rates of tumors were significantly higher in high-income countries (37). The incidence of brain and other central nervous system tumors in childhood and adolescence is also reported to be highest in highincome countries (38). In addition, increased risk for brain and central nervous system tumors is associated with increasing socioeconomic status (39). In summary, the grouping of developed countries in the same group is closely related to the use of advanced diagnostic techniques, the higher proportion of the elderly population and the high prevalence of health screenings. The fact that dietary type, alcohol/tobacco use, and occupational exposures differ according to the development and geographical proximity of the countries is thought to affect the health outcome variables used in the grouping. In this respect, as a result of the clustering analysis used in our study, the grouping of high- and middle-income countries in one cluster and low-income countries in the other cluster is consistent with other studies in the literature.

CONCLUSION

As a result of our study, countries with geographical proximity and approximately similar levels of development as known from previous studies are grouped in the same clusters. European and North American countries were found to have higher mortality rates from MS and MND affecting the individual's neurological system and higher loss of healthy life years due to brain tumor cancer compared to the rest of the globe. In addition, countries with high life expectancy at birth have the highest mortality rates from central nervous system diseases. For future studies, it is recommended that the regional differences in neurological disorders reported in our study should be evaluated from different perspectives such as the level of neurologists/neurosurgeons, the income level of countries and socioeconomic level.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: Since secondary data were used in this study, ethics committee approval was not obtained.

REFERENCES

- 1. Palmer JD, Prasad RN, Cioffi G, et al. Exposure to radon and heavy particulate pollution and incidence of brain tumors. Neuro-Oncology. 2022;25:407-17.
- 2. Wanis HA, Møller H, Ashkan K, Davies EA. The incidence of major subtypes of primary brain tumors in adults in England 1995-2017. Neuro Oncol. 2021;23:1371-82.
- 3. Monterroso P, Moore KJ, Sample JM, et al. Racial/ethnic and sex differences in young adult malignant brain tumor incidence by histologic type. Cancer Epidemiol. 2022;76:102078.
- 4. Alvarez EM, Force LM, Xu R, et al. The global burden of adolescent and young adult cancer in 2019: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. Lancet Oncol. 2022;23:27-52.
- Alemu BS, Feisso S, Mohammed EA, Salau AO. Magnetic resonance imaging-based brain tumor image classification performance enhancement. Scientific African. 2023;22:e01963.
- 6. IHME. GBD Compare. www.healthdata.org/data-toolspractices/interactive-visuals/gbd-compare access date 10.07.2024.
- Leong YQ, Lee SWH, Ng KY. Cancer risk in Parkinson disease: An updated systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Neurol. 2021;28:4219-37.
- Nudelman KNH, Risacher SL, West JD, et al. Association of cancer history with Alzheimer's disease onset and structural brain changes. Front Physiol. 2014;5:423.
- 9. Natale G, Cucchiara F, Bocci G. Historical overview of the "firing" liaison between brain tumors and epilepsy. Neuroscientist. 2021;28:411-9.
- 10. Sirko A, Dzyak L, Chekha E, et al. Coexistence of multiple sclerosis and brain tumours: case report and review. Interdisciplinary Neurosurgery. 2020;19:100585.
- 11. Cortés Mancera EA, Sinisterra Solis FA, Romero-Castellanos FR, et al. 18F-FDG PET/CT as a molecular biomarker in the diagnosis of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis associated with prostate cancer and progressive supranuclear palsy: a case report. Front Nucl Med. 2023;3:1137875.
- 12. Lima AA, Mridha MF, Das SC, et al. A Comprehensive survey on the detection, classification, and challenges of neurological disorders. Biology. 2022;11:469.
- 13. Abbas SA, Aslam A, Rehman AU, et al. K-Means and K-Medoids: cluster analysis on birth data collected in City Muzaffarabad, Kashmir. IEEE Access. 2020;8:151847-55.

- 14. Rizvi SA, Umair M, Cheema MA. Clustering of countries for COVID-19 cases based on disease prevalence, health systems and environmental indicators. Chaos Solitons Fractals. 2021;151:111240.
- Nabors LB, Portnow J, Ahluwalia M, et al. Central Nervous System Cancers, Version 3.2020, NCCN Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology. J Natl Compr Canc Netw. 2020;18:1537-70.
- Lambrou GI, Zaravinos A, Braoudaki M. Co-deregulated miRNA signatures in childhood central nervous system tumors: in search for common tumor miRNA-related mechanics. Cancers. 2021;13:3028.
- 17. Gaeta M, Campanella F, Capasso L, et al. An overview of different health indicators used in the European Health Systems. J Prev Med Hyg. 2017;58:E114-20.
- Zarikas V, Poulopoulos SG, Gareiou Z, Zervas E. Clustering analysis of countries using the COVID-19 cases dataset. Data in Brief. 2020;31:105787.
- Žmuk B. Quality of life indicators in selected European Countries: hierarchical cluster analysis approach. Croatian Review of Economic, Business and Social Statistics. 2015;1:42-54.
- Akman M, Civek S. Frequency and risk assessment of cardiovascular diseases in the world and Turkey. Jour Turk Fam Phy. 2022;13:21-8.
- Solberg CT, Sørheim P, Müller KE, et al. The devils in the DALY: prevailing evaluative assumptions. Public Health Ethics. 2020;13:259-74.
- 22. Ezugwu AES, Agbaje MB, Aljojo N, et al. A comparative performance study of hybrid firefly algorithms for automatic data clustering. IEEE Access. 2020;8:121089-118.
- Hu H, Liu J, Zhang X, Fang M. An effective and adaptable K-means algorithm for big data cluster analysis. Pattern Recognition. 2023;139:109404.
- 24. Ezugwu AE, Ikotun AM, Oyelade OO, et al. A comprehensive survey of clustering algorithms: state-of-the-art machine learning applications, taxonomy, challenges, and future research prospects. Engineering Applications of Artificial Intelligence. 2022;110:104743.
- 25. Ikotun AM, Ezugwu AE, Abualigah L, et al. K-means clustering algorithms: a comprehensive review, variants analysis, and advances in the era of big data. Information Sciences. 2023;622:178-210.
- Ismkhan H. I-k-means-+: An iterative clustering algorithm based on an enhanced version of the k-means. Pattern Recognition. 2018;79:402-13.
- 27. Hussein A, Ahmad FK, Kamaruddin SS. Cluster analysis on COVID-19 outbreak sentiments from twitter data using K-means algorithm. Journal of System and Management Sciences. 2021;11:167-89.
- 28. Uddin MA, Roy S. Examining TOD node typology using k-means, hierarchical, and latent class cluster analysis for a developing country. Innovative Infrastructure Solutions. 2023;8:304.
- 29. Simsar S, Alborzi M, Ghatari AR, Varjani A. Residential appliance clustering based on their inherent characteristics for optimal use based K-means and hierarchical clustering method. Journal of Optimization in Industrial Engineering. 2023;16:119-27.

- Bell JS, Koffie RM, Rattani A, et al. Global incidence of brain and spinal tumors by geographic region and income level based on cancer registry data. J Clin Neurosci. 2019;66:121-7.
- Girardi F, Di Carlo V, Stiller C, et al. Global survival trends for brain tumors, by histology: analysis of individual records for 67,776 children diagnosed in 61 countries during 2000–2014 (CONCORD-3). Neuro-Oncology. 2023;25:593-606.
- 32. Lewis A, Bakkar A, Kreiger-Benson E, et al. Determination of death by neurologic criteria around the world. Neurology. 2020;95:e299-309. Erratum in: Neurology. 2020;95:802.
- 33. De Robles P, Fiest KM, Frolkis AD, et al. The worldwide incidence and prevalence of primary brain tumors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Neuro-Oncology. 2015;17:776-83.
- 34. Haakenstad A, Irvine CMS, Knight M, et al. Measuring the availability of human resources for health and its relationship to universal health coverage for 204 countries and territories from 1990 to 2019: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. The Lancet. 2022;399:2129-54.

- 35. Miranda-Filho A, Piñeros M, Soerjomataram I, et al. Cancers of the brain and CNS: global patterns and trends in incidence. Neuro Oncol. 2017;19:270-80.
- 36. Farmanfarma KK, Mohammadian M, Shahabinia Z, et al. Brain cancer in the world: an epidemiological review. World Cancer Res J. 2019;6:1-5.
- 37. Wanner M, Rohrmann S, Korol D, et al. Geographical variation in malignant and benign/borderline brain and CNS tumor incidence: a comparison between a high-income and a middle-income country. J Neurooncol. 2020;149:273-82.
- Ostrom QT, Price M, Ryan K, et al. CBTRUS statistical report: pediatric brain tumor foundation childhood and adolescent primary brain and other central nervous system tumors diagnosed in the United States in 2014–2018. Neuro-Oncology. 2022;24:iii1-38.
- 39. Ostrom QT, Francis SS, Barnholtz-Sloan JS. Epidemiology of brain and other CNS tumors. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep. 2021;21:68.



Does Ramadan Fasting Improve Echocardiographically Assessed Tei Index in Patients With Coronary Artery Disease?

Omer Furkan Demir, Fatih Levent, Enes Ismet Erkoc, Fatih Koca

Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Cardiology, Bursa, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.



Abstract

Aim: Ramadan fasting (RF) can affect the health status of patients with coronary artery disease or risk factors. The aim of this study is to evaluate echocardiographic functions and tei index according to ramadan fasting status in patients followed for clinically existing coronary artery disease.

Material and Method: This single-centre, cross-sectional study included 49 patients who were being followed up with a diagnosis of coronary artery disease. The patients were separated into 2 groups as those who were fasting during the month of Ramadan (RF (+), n=24) and those who were not (RF (-), n=25). Detailed echocardiographic evaluations were made. Analyses of the study data were performed using MedCalc software.

Results: The demographic and echocardiographic characteristics of the patients in both groups were similar at the start of the study. When the fasting and non-fasting groups were compared separately, a statistically significant decrease was determined in the tei index value in the ramadan fasting (+) group after 1 month of fasting (0.44±0.14 vs. 0.40±0.12) (p: 0.025).

Conclusion: In this study, the effects of RF on cardiac functions were investigated in patients with coronary artery disease and a previous stent procedure. The results of the echocardiographic evaluation after one month of fasting showed a statistically significant decrease in the tei index in the patient group fasting for Ramadan. This finding demonstrated positive effects of RF on cardiac functions.

Keywords: Ramadan fasting, Tei index, myocardial performance index, echocardigraphy, coronary artery disease

INTRODUCTION

The month of Ramadan is a period of intermittent fasting in which most Muslims around the world abstain from eating and drinking between sunrise and sunset each day, according to the Islamic calendar. This period lasts about 30 days every year according to the Islamic calendar. Those who fast during Ramadan make a temporary change to their lifestyle, affecting their eating patterns, sleep duration, physical activity and smoking habits (1). These lifestyle changes can affect the health status of patients with cardiovascular diseases or cardiovascular risk factors (hypertension, diabetes and dyslipidemia) (2). Many studies have been conducted in recent years to investigate the effects of Ramadan fasting (RF) on physiological and cardiac performance in the body. Previous studies have found that RF is closely associated with longer life expectancy due to its positive effects on healthy living and aging (3). In a previous study, RF was associated with numerous positive cardiac effects,

including a reduction in cardiac risk factors (4). Studies conducted with patients with coronary artery disease revealed that there was no increase in cardiac morbidity and mortality after RF in patients diagnosed with chronic coronary syndrome. Moreover, an improvement in cardiac symptoms and anginal symptoms was found after RF in approximately about one of third patients (5,6). Although an echocardiography study who investigated effect of intermitant fasting on cardiac function in rats has been counducted, to the best knowledge, there is no literature in terms of non invasive assessment of cardiac function in human population with intermitans fasting-including RF (7).

The main aim of this study was to evaluate the echocardiographic functions according to RF status in individuals followed up for clinical coronary artery disease (CAD). The effect of RF on cardiac functions in patients with CAD was examined by evaluating echocardiographic parameters before and after the month of fasting in groups fasting and not fasting for the month of Ramadan.

CITATION

Demir OF, Levent F, Erkoc EI, Koca F. Does Ramadan Fasting Improve Echocardiographically Assessed Tei Index in Patients With Coronary Artery Disease?. Med Records. 2025;7(1):107-13. DOI:1037990/medr.1574109

Received: 26.10.2024 Accepted: 20.11.2024 Published: 14.01.2025

Corresponding Author: Omer Furkan Demir, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training and Research Hospital, Department of Cardiology, Bursa, Türkiye

E-mail: demiromerfurkan@gmail.com

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Data Collection

This single-centre, cross-sectional study included patients who presented at the Cardiology Polyclinic between February 2023 and March 2023, and had undergone coronary angiography and complete revascularization with stent placement at least one year previously because of chronic coronary syndrome. The study exclusion criteria were defined as i) a coronary intervention made again within the last year, ii) the presence of symptoms thought to be of cardiac origin (palpitations, angina, dyspnea), iii) the use of a new drug or dose titration within the last month, iv) the presence of uncontrolled diabetes or another metabolic disease, v) the presence of arrhythmia that would cause suboptimal echocardiographic evaluation, and vi) incomplete revascularization. After the implementation of the exclusion criteria, a total of 74 patients were seen to be eligible for the study. Those 74 patients were divided into two groups; those who planned to fast and those who would not fast for the month of Ramadan.

The patients were given detailed information about the study, and written informed consent was provided by all the patients included. A record was made for each patient of demographic data, clinical findings and the drugs used. In the 72-hour period before the start of Ramadan on 23 March 2023, a detailed two-dimensional (2D) transthoracic echocardiographic (TTE) evaluation was performed for all the patients. The patients who intended to fast continuously for the 30 days of Ramadan were identified. A total of 25 patients were excluded as they did not fast regularly for the 30 days, or did not attend follow-up appointments, or had recently started new drug treatment. Finally, 49 patients were included in the analyses, separated into two groups as 24 patients who were fasting (RF (+)) and 25 patients who were not fasting (RF (-)) (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Flowchart of the study population

Echocardiographic Evaluation

The 2D TTE procedure was performed by an experienced echocardiography specialist who was blinded to the clinical characteristics of the patients. An Epiq 7c Ultrasound System device with a 3.5 MHz transducer (Philips Medical System, Andover, MA, USA) was used in the procedure. In the measurement of the left ventricle parameters, the recommendations of the American Society of Echocardiography Committee were taken into consideration (8). The left ventricle ejection fraction (LVEF) and left ventricle end diastolic volume (LVEDV) values were measured with the modified Simpson method. The Tei index was calculated as the total of the isovolumetric contraction time and relaxation time divided by the left ventricle (LV) ejection time (9). For the measurement of basal S', the average was taken of the S' waves measured with tissue Doppler pulse wave echocardiography in septum, lateral, anterior, and inferior wall basal segments in apical 2 chamber and apical 4 chamber windows.

For the LV global longitudinal strain (GLS) procedure, Automated Cardiac Motion Quantification (aCMQ) software was used (Qlab 10; Philips Medical System, Andover, MA, USA). The digital cineloop images were recorded on frame rate 55 from the R wave peak at the end of expirium, on the apical 2 chamber, apical 3 chamber, and apical 4 chamber window images, respectively. Care was taken that the difference in heart rate between the loop recordings was <10%. Then, reference points were placed manually first on the mitral valve leaflet insertion, left ventricle outflow tract (LVOT), and apex endocardium of the apical 3 chamber recording, then on the left and right mitral valve leaflet insertion and apex endocardium of the apical 2 chamber and apical 4 chamber loop recordings (10). After the placement of the reference points on each loop recording, the region of iterest (ROI) was formed automatically by the software drawing endocardial borders. If any regions were incompatible between the line drawn and the endocardial border, they were corrected manually. The GLS score was obtained as the average of 3 strain scores obtained automatically by the software from each ROI on the final recordings. Three measurements were taken for each patient and the average of the measurements was calculated. The same measurements of all the patients in the study were taken again by the same echocardiography specialist within 24 hours of 21 April, which was the date of the end of the month of Ramadan according to the Islamic calendar.

Statistical Analysis

Data obtained in the study were analyzed statistically using MedCalc Version 20.014 software (MedCalc Software Ltd,Ostend, Belgium). Conformity of the data to normal distribution was assessed with the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Continuous data were stated as mean±standard deviation values if distribution was normal and as median and interquartile range (IQR 25th-75th) values if not showing normal distribution. Categorical data were stated as number (n) and percentage (%). Comparisons between the two groups (RF+/RF-) were made using the Independent

Samples t-test for continuous variables with normal distribution and the Mann Whitney U-test when distribution was not normal, and categorical variables were compared using the Chi-square test. Comparisons of the basal and final values of the echocardiographic parameters were made using the Paired Samples t-test (normal distribution of data) or the Wilcoxon test (non-normal distribution of data). To evaluate observer agreement of the LVEF, tei index, and GLS measurements, the root mean square method was used with the Intraclass Coefficient test on 10 patients selected at random. In all the tests, a value of p<0.05 was accepted as statistically significant.

The minimum number of patients required for this study, with an effect size of 0.5, 95% confidence interval and 80% power, was found to be 27.

Ethical Statements

All the procedures in this study including human participants were applied in compliance with the ethical standards of the institutional research committee and the 1964 Helsinki Declaration and subsequent revisions or comparable ethical standards. No animals were used in this study. Approval for the study was granted by the Local Ethics Committee [Protocol Code: 2024-TBEK 2024/10-12].

RESULTS

Evaluation was made of 49 patients, comprising 37 (75.5%) males and 12 (24.5%) females with a mean age of 62.8±7.9 years. No statistically significant difference was determined between the fasting and non-fasting patients in respect of age, gender, body mass index (BMI), smoking status, hypertension, diabetes mellitus, drugs used, laboratory values, residual syntax scores, and basal GLS values. Comparison of fasting and nonfasting groups is shown in Table 1. Additionally, in Table 2, echocardiographic parameters are compared between the groups that fasted and did not fast during Ramadan at the beginning and end of Ramadan. A significant difference was found in echocardiographic parameters between the groups with RF (+) and RF (-) at baseline, only in inferior S' values evaluated with tissue doppler (p: 0.013). No significant difference was detected between other parameters. When echocardiographic parameters were compared at the end of Ramadan, a significant difference was detected in septal E' values (p: 0.028) evaluated with tissue Doppler. No significant difference was detected in other echocardiographic parameters at the end of Ramadan.

Table 1. The baseline characteristics and laboratory investigations of all patients							
		All patient (n: 49)	RF (-) (n: 25)	RF (+) (n: 24)	P value		
	Age, mean±SD	62.8±7.9	63.5 ±7.3	62.2±8.5	0.543		
	Male, n (%)	37 (75.5)	16 (64.0)	21 (87.5)	0.056		
Demographic characteristics	Baseline BMI, mean±SD	31.1±6.9	30.6±8.5	31.66 ±4.9	0.606		
	Δ BMI, mean±SD	-0.25±1.4	-0.02±1.4	-0.5±1.5	0.279		
	Diabetes, n (%)	17 (34.7)	11 (44.0)	6 (25.0)	0.162		
Comorbidities	Hypertension, n (%)	33 (67.3)	17 (68.0)	16 (66.7)	0.921		
	Smoking, n (%)	10 (20.4)	7 (28.0)	3 (12.5)	0.178		
	ASA use, n (%)	39 (79.5)	19 (76.0)	20 (83.3)	0.524		
Medications	Clopidogrel use, n (%)	17 (34.6)	11 (44.0)	6 (25.0)	0.162		
	Beta Blocker use, n (%)	45 (91.8)	22 (88.0)	23 (95.8)	0.609		
	ACE inh/ARB use, n (%)	40 (81.6)	20 (80.0)	20 (83.3)	0.763		
	Statin use, n (%)	43 (87.7)	21 (84.0)	22 (91.7)	0.667		
	Wbc, × 10 ⁹ /l, mean±SD	8.2±1.6	8.3±1.7	8.1±1.6	0.558		
	Hemoglobin g/dl, mean±SD	13.9±1.5	13.9±1.6	13.8±1.3	0.793		
	Creatinine mg/dL, mean±SD	0.9±0.2	0.9±0.2	0.8±0.1	0.082		
	TSH mIU/L, median (25th-75th)	1.1 (0.6-1.9)	1.0 (0.5-1.9)	1.1 (0.7-1.9)	0.719		
Laboratory assessment	LDL-C mg/dl, mean±SD	119.5±41.0	115.4±44.3	123.9±37.6	0.476		
	Triglycerides, mg/dL, mean±SD	185.1±96.4	197.2±101.7	172.6±91.0	0.377		
	HDL-C, mg/dL, mean±SD	45.9±9.7	46.5±11.1	45.2±8.1	0.656		
	rSS median (25th-75th)	2 (0-4)	2 (0-5)	1.5 (0-3)	0.537		
	Baseline GLS %, mean±SD	15.2±2.1	15.1±2.4	15.4±1.7	0.590		

Data are presented as median (interquartile range) or number (percentage) of patients; ASA: asetilsalisilic asid, BMI: body mass index, ACE: angiotensin converting enzyme, ARB: angiotensin receptor blockers, GLS: global longitudinal strain, HDL-C: high-density lipoprotein cholesterol, LDL-C: low-density lipoprotein cholesterol, RF: ramadan fasting, rSS: residual syntax score, SD: standard deviation, TSH: thyroid stimulating hormone, Wbc: white blood cells

Table 2. Echocardiographic parameters of all patients and groups								
		Baseline paramaters			Follow-up para	amaters		
	All patients (n=49)	Fasting (-) (n=25)	Fasting (+) (n=24)	P value	All patients (n=49)	Fasting (-) (n=25)	Fasting (+) (n=24)	P value
LVEDD mm, mean±SD	48.5±5.1	48.5±5.2	48.4±5.0	0.979	48.0±3.9	48.1±4.4	47.9±3.2	0.884
LVEDV ml, mean±SD	111.0±26.3	111.3±30.1	110.7±22.1	0.936	107.4±23.3	109.6±28.5	105.1±16.6	0.509
LVEF %, mean±SD	61.4±5.6	61.1±6.0	61.7±5.2	0.743	61.7±5.5	60.7±5.9	62.7±5.0	0.210
RV mm, mean±SD	34.7±5.5	33.6±5.8	35.9±5.0	0.151	35.1±5.1	34.4±5.5	36.0±4.6	0.205
E/A, mean±SD	0.9±0.2	0.9±0,3	0.8±0.2	0.439	0.9±0.2	0.9±0.3	0.9±0.1	0.464
EDT ms, mean±SD	220.5±37.0	216.4±41.7	224.8±31.7	0.434	215.0±31.1	210.8±35.9	219.4±25.1	0.338
Septal E' cm/s, mean±SD	6.8±1.4	6.5±1.5	7.1±1.2	0.108	7.0±1.2	6.7±1.3	7.4±0.9	0.028
Septal S' cm/s, mean±SD	7.0±1.4	6.9±1.4	7.1±1.2	0.484	7.1±1.1	6.9±1.3	7.2±0.9	0.432
Lateral S' cm/s, mean±SD	8.1±1.5	7.8±1.5	8.4±1.5	0.171	8.1±1.4	7.9±1.5	8.2±1.2	0.293
Inferior S' cm/s, mean±SD	7.6±1.5	7.1±1.4	8.1±1.4	0.013	7.6±1.1	7.3±1.2	7.8±0.9	0.109
Anterior S' cm/s, mean±SD	7.3±1.6	7.1±1.4	7.6±1.6	0.316	7.4±1.2	7.2±1.2	7.5±1.3	0.496
Tei index, mean±SD	0.44±0.16	0.43±0.17	0.44±0.14	0.873	0.42±0.13	0.43±0.14	0.40±0.12	0.447
GLS %, mean±SD	-15.2±2.1	-15.1±2.5	-15.4±1.7	0.590	-15.4±2.4	- 14.9±2.3	- 16.1±2.4	0.051

EDT: E wave deceleration time, GLS: global longitudinal strain, IVS: intraventricular septum, LA: left atrium, LVEDD: left ventricular end-diastolic diameter, LVEDV: left ventricular end-diastolic volume, LVEF: left ventricular ejection fraction, PW: posterior wall, RV: right ventricle

The BMI values of the RF (+) group were similar at baseline and at the end of the fasting month $(31.8\pm4.9 \text{ vs} 31.3\pm4.9 \text{ kg/m}^2, \text{ p: } 0.145)$. The intraobserver intraclass coefficients were calculated as 0.85 (0.43-0.96) for LVEF, 0.95 (0.78-0.98) for the tei index, and 0.94 (0.75-0.98) for GLS. No statistically significant difference was determined between the baseline values and the values at the end of Ramadan of the echocardiographic parameters of all the patients (Table 3).

Table 3. Comparison of the initial values of echocardiographic parameters of all patients and their values after ramadan fasting								
Variable	Baseline	Follow up	P value					
LVEDD mm, mean±SD	48.4±5.1	48.0±3.9	0.379					
LVEDV ml, mean±SD	111.0±26.2	107.4±23.3	0.132					
LVEF %, mean±SD	61.4±5.6	61.7±5.5	0.529					
RV mm, mean±SD	34.7±5.5	35.1±5.1	0.121					
E/A, mean±SD	0.9±0.2	0.9±0.2	0.826					
EDT ms, mean±SD	220.5±37.0	215.0±31.1	0.071					
Septal E' cm/s, mean±SD	6.8±1.4	7.0±1.1	0.097					
Septal S' cm/s, mean±SD	7.0±1.3	7.1±1.1	0.390					
Lateral S' cm/s, mean±SD	8.1±1.5	8.1±1.4	0.736					
Inferior S' cm/s, mean±SD	7.6±1.5	7.6±1.1	0.699					
Anterior S' cm/s, mean±SD	7.4±1.5	7.4±1.2	0.940					
Tei index, mean±SD	0.44±0.1	0.42±0.1	0.104					
GLS %, mean±SD	-15.2±2.1	-15.4±2.4	0.522					

EDT: E wave deceleration time, GLS: global longitudinal strain, IVS: intraventricular septum, LA: left atrium, LVEDD: left ventricular end-diastolic diameter, LVEDV: left ventricular end-diastolic volume, LVEF: left ventricular ejection fraction, PW: posterior wall, RV: right ventricle

When all the patients were evaluated together, there were determined to be no significant changes in the echocardiographic diameter measurements, tissue Doppler evaluations, tei index values, and GLS values throughout the fasting month. When the fasting and non-fasting groups were compared separately, no significant change in the echocardiographic parameters was determined in the RF (-) group. In the RF (+) group, a statistically significant decrease was determined in the tei index value after 1 month of fasting (0.44 ± 0.14 vs. 0.40 ± 0.12 , p: 0.025). No significant change was determined in the other echocardiographic parameters in this group (Table 4).

Table 4. Separate comparison of the patients' echocardiographic parameters with their baseline values and values after the ramadan fasting month								
	Ram	nadan fasting (-) gro	oup	Ram	adan fasting (+) gr	oup		
Variable	Baseline	Follow up	P value	Baseline	Follow up	P value		
LVEDD mm, mean±SD	48.5±5.2	48.1±4.4	0.603	48.4±5.0	47.9±3.2	0.474		
LVEDV ml, mean±SD	111.3±30.1	109.6±28.5	0.592	110.7±22.1	105.1±16.6	0.126		
LVEF %, mean±SD	61.1±6.0	60.7±5.9	0.438	61.7±5.2	62.7±5.0	0.154		
RV mm, mean±SD	33.6±5.8	34.4±5.5	0.119	35.9±5.0	36.0±4.6	0.597		
E/A, mean±SD	0.9±0,3	0.9±0.3	0.990	0.8±0.2	0.9±0.1	0.748		
EDT ms, mean±SD	216.4±41.7	210.8±35.9	0.143	224.8±31.7	219.4±25.1	0.271		
Septal E' cm/s, mean±SD	6.5±1.5	6.7±1.3	0.359	7.1±1.2	7.4±0.9	0.145		
Septal S' cm/s, mean±SD	6.9±1.4	6.9±1.3	0.484	7.1±1.2	7.2±0.9	0.615		
Lateral S' cm/s, mean±SD	7.8±1.5	7.9±1.5	0.851	8.4±1.5	8.2±1.2	0.565		
Inferior S' cm/s, mean±SD	7.1±1.4	7.3±1.2	0.253	8.1±1.4	7.8±0.9	0.068		
Anterior S' cm/s, mean±SD	7.1±1,4	7.2±1.2	0.602	7.6±1.6	7.5±1.3	0.580		
Tei index, mean± SD	0.43±0.17	0.43±0.14	0.960	0.44±0.14	0.40±0.12	0.025		
GLS %, mean±SD	-15.1±2.5	-14.7±2.3	0.276	-15.4±1.7	-16.1±2.4	0.083		

Data are presented as median (interquartile range) or number (percentage) of patients; EDT: E wave deceleration time, GLS: global longitudinal strain, IVS: intraventricular septum, LA: left atrium, LVEDD: left ventricular end-diastolic diameter, LVEDV: left ventricular end-diastolic volume, LVEF: left ventricular ejection fraction, PW: posterior wall, RV: right ventricle

DISCUSSION

The aim of this study was to investigate the effects of fasting during the month of Ramadan on cardiac functions in patients with coronary artery disease who had previously undergone complete revascularization with stent procedure. Although there is sufficient evidence on the safety of RF in patients after percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI), there is no study showing that cardiac functions are positively affected noninvasively in this population (11). Due to the lack of data in this area, we prefer only the PCI patient population. We excluded patients with CAD and incomplete/non revascularization because ongoing ischemia might be a co-founded factor which could affect echocardiographic parameters. Another limitation of the study was that no functional non-invasive test was implemented following PCI in order to determine residual ischemia.

The results of the echocardiographic evaluation after the fasting period showed a significant decrease in the tei index in the patients who fasted for the month of Ramadan. This shows that Ramadan fasting could have positive effects on cardiac functions. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study in literature to have investigated the effect of Ramadan fasting on cardiac functions.

When all the patients were evaluated at the end of the study, there was observed to be no significant change in the BMI values in both groups. There was expected to be a decrease in BMI in the RF (+) group as they had no food or water intake for the whole day. In previous studies on this subject, decreases in BMI values have been observed after RF (12). However, in other studies it has been shown that patients could gain weight after RF (13). That these

values remained stable in the current study was thought to be due to weight gain being triggered by the wish to eat more because of the high level of hunger and thirst when breaking the fast and going to sleep after eating in the early hours at the start of the fast.

The Tei index (Myocardial Performance Index - MPI), which includes both systolic and diastolic time intervals in the cardiac cycle, was first used to evaluate global cardiac dysfunction by Tei et al. in 1995 (14). Tei index can be measured using continuous wave Doppler in routine echocardiographic evaluation, and repeated measurements can be easily performed in patients. This index can be easily used to evaluate right and left heart function and provides easy estimation of combined systolic and diastolic functions of the heart. It has been documented in many studies that the Tei index, which can be measured in routine echocardiographic evaluation in patients in the supine position, is independent of arterial pressure, heart rate, ventricular geometry, valve pathologies, afterload and preload, and therefore standardization of this value is not necessary and is reproducible (14-17). In previous studies on the Tei index, significant relationships were detected between the prolongation of the time measured by this index and the long-term adverse cardiac outcomes. Especially in a study by Kishore et al., the probability of endstage heart failure and death occurring in a 2-year followup period was determined to be 5-fold greater in patients with Tei index >1.4, independently of all other causes (18).

When the two groups in the current study who were fasting and not fasting during Ramadan were compared, the echocardiographic parameters were determined to be similar. A significant difference was determined only in the tei index between the patients. In the patients who were fasting during Ramadan, a significant decrease was determined in the tei index after 1 month of fasting. A previous study conducted with a drug that had an effect on energy metabolism, showed that the tei index values were significantly decreased during the follow up of patients who were taking the drug (19). This drug made changes in the energy metabolism by affecting fatty acid oxidation within the cell. Therefore, the changes in enegy metabolism occurring in the fasting group, the decrease in body fat ratio and the positive changes occurring in body composition (20) are thought to be responsible for the decrease in the tei index in this group.

There is no study in the literature evaluating the effect of RF on noninvasive echocardiographic parameters in patients with coronary heart disease and coronary stents. According to the results of this study, it was determined that there was a significant decrease in the Tei index of the patients after RF. Therefore, with this study, it can be thought that improvement in cardiac functions was observed in patients after RF and that it will shed light on future studies aiming to reduce the risk of side effects.

CONCLUSION

In this study, the effects of RF on cardiac functions were investigated in patients with coronary artery disease and a previous complet revascularization with stent procedure. The results of the echocardiograph evaluation after one month of fasting showed a statistically significant decrease in the tei index in the patient group fasting for Ramadan. This finding demonstrated that RF could have positive effects on cardiac functions. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to have evaluated the effect of RF on cardiac functions.

Study Limitations

As the study had to be conducted within the short period of the month of Ramadan, a greater number of patients could not be included. Despite the low number of patients, the study can be considered to make a very important mark. It was shown that the cardiac functions of patients improved with RF, which is a religious obligation undertaken by a significant proportion of Muslims. Additionally, echocardiographic parameters of the patients could not be monitored after Ramadan. For this reason, the stability of the results found and whether the effects achieved were reversible could not be evaluated. However, it is stated in the literature that after intermittent feeding is stopped, the effects at the cellular level will continue for a few weeks (21). It is also stated that stopping intermittent feeding does not increase metabolic risks (21). However, this study was conducted on mice and human studies are needed on this subject. This study can be of guidance for further larger scale studies on this subject. In addition, right ventricular functions, which have previously been shown to be affected by volume overload, were not evaluated in this study. The reason for this is that the devices in our hospital do not have the features required for right ventricular strain measurement.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: All the procedures in this study including human participants were applied in compliance with the ethical standards of the institutional research committee and the 1964 Helsinki Declaration and subsequent revisions or comparable ethical standards. No animals were used in this study. Approval for the study was granted by the Local Ethics Committee [Protocol Code: 2024-TBEK 2024/10-12].

REFERENCES

- 1. Norouzy A, Salehi M, Philippou E, et al. Effect of fasting in Ramadan on body composition and nutritional intake: a prospective study. J Hum Nutr Diet. 2013;26:97-104.
- 2. Salim I, Al Suwaidi J, Ghadban W, et al. Impact of religious Ramadan fasting on cardiovascular disease: a systematic review of the literature. Curr Med Res Opin. 2013;29:343-54.
- 3. Persynaki A, Karras S, Pichard C. Unraveling the metabolic health benefits of fasting related to religious beliefs: a narrative review. Nutrition. 2017;35:14-20.
- 4. Nematy M, Alinezhad-Namaghi M, Rashed MM, et al. Effects of Ramadan fasting on cardiovascular risk factors: a prospective observational study. Nutr J. 2012;11:69.
- 5. Khafaji HA, Bener A, Osman M, et al. The impact of diurnal fasting during Ramadan on the lipid profile, hs-CRP, and serum leptin in stable cardiac patients. Vasc Health Risk Manag. 2012;8:7-14.
- 6. Mousavi M, Mirkarimi S, Rahmani G, et al. Ramadan fast in patients with coronary artery disease. Iran Red Crescent Med J. 2014;16:e7887.
- 7. Prisco SZ, Eklund M, Moutsoglou DM, et al. Intermittent fasting enhances right ventricular function in preclinical pulmonary arterial hypertension. J Am Heart Assoc. 2021;10:e022722.
- 8. Lang RM, Bierig M, Devereux RB, et al; Chamber Quantification Writing Group; American Society of Echocardiography's Guidelines and Standards Committee; European Echocardiography. Association of Recommendations for chamber quantification: a report from the American Society of Echocardiography's Guidelines and Standards Committee and the Chamber Quantification Writing Group, developed in conjunction with the European Association of Echocardiography, a branch of the European Society of Cardiology. J Am Soc Echocardiogr. 2005;18:1440-63.
- 9. Voulgari C, Moyssakis I, Papazafiropoulou A, et al. The impact of metabolic syndrome on left ventricular myocardial performance. Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 2010;26:121-7.
- Lang RM, Bierig M, Devereux RB, et al; American Society of Echocardiography's Nomenclature and Standards Committee; Task Force on Chamber Quantification; American College of Cardiology Echocardiography Committee; American Heart Association; European Association of Echocardiography, European Society of Cardiology. Recommendations for chamber quantification. Eur J Echocardiogr. 2006;7:79-108.

- 11. Amin OA, Alaarag A. The safety of Ramadan fasting following percutaneous coronary intervention. BMC Cardiovasc Disord. 2020;20:489.
- 12. Zouhal H, Bagheri R, Triki R, et al. Effects of Ramadan intermittent fasting on gut hormones and body composition in males with obesity. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2020;17:5600.
- 13. Lessan N, Ali T. Energy metabolism and intermittent fasting: the ramadan perspective. Nutrients. 2019;11:1192.
- Tei C, Ling LH, Hodge DO, et al. New index of combined systolic and diastolic myocardial performance: a simple and reproducible measure of cardiac function--a study in normals and dilated cardiomyopathy. J Cardiol. 1995;26:357-66.
- 15. Møller JE, Søndergaard E, Poulsen SH, et al. Serial Doppler echocardiographic assessment of left and right ventricular performance after a first myocardial infarction. J Am Soc Echocardiogr. 2001;14:249-55.

- 16. Tei C, Dujardin KS, Hodge DO, et al. Doppler index combining systolic and diastolic myocardial performance: clinical value in cardiac amyloidosis. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1996;28:658-64.
- 17. Møller JE, Poulsen SH, Egstrup K. Effect of preload alternations on a new Doppler echocardiographic index of combined systolic and diastolic performance. J Am Soc Echocardiogr. 1999;12:1065-72.
- Harjai KJ, Scott L, Vivekananthan K, et al. The Tei index: a new prognostic index for patients with symptomatic heart failure. J Am Soc Echocardiogr. 2002;15:864-8.
- Jatain S, Kapoor A, Sinha A, et al. Metabolic manipulation in dilated cardiomyopathy: assessing the role of trimetazidine. Indian Heart J. 2016;68:803-8.
- 20. Finch GM, Day JE, Razak, et al. Appetite changes under free-living conditions during Ramadan fasting. Appetite. 1998;31:159-70.
- 21. Yun N, Nah J, Lee MN, et al. Post-effects of time-restricted feeding against adipose tissue inflammation and insulin resistance in obese mice. Nutrients. 2023;15:2617.

Research Article



Evaluation of Common Diagnostic Errors in Panoramic Radiographs and Interobserver Agreement in Error Identification

[®]Yasin Yasa¹, [®]Dilek Coban², [®]Furkan Ozbey³, [®]Tunahan Tuna¹, [®]Busra Nur Gokkurt Yilmaz¹, [®]Zerrin Unal Erzurumlu¹, [®]Elif Sadik¹

¹Ordu University, Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Dentomaxillofacial Radiology, Ordu, Türkiye ²Kafkas University, Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Dentomaxillofacial Radiology, Kars, Türkiye ³Afyonkarahisar Sağlık Bilimleri University, Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Dentomaxillofacial Radiology, Afyonkarahisar, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License



Abstract

Aim: Panoramic radiography is frequently used in dental practice as an imaging technique that provides an extensive view of facial anatomical structures. Achieving high-quality radiographic images requires precise positioning and technique. This study aims to evaluate the quality of panoramic radiographs, to identify common errors that compromise diagnostic adequacy, and to analyze interobserver agreement levels concerning these errors.

Material and Method: A study analyzed 947 panoramic radiographs from the archive of Ordu University based on nine specific error criteria. Four research assistants evaluated the diagnostic quality of each image, classifying them as "excellent," "diagnostically acceptable," or "unacceptable." Inter-observer agreement was measured with kappa statistics, and overall agreement was evaluated using the Fleiss κ test.

Results: The rate of incorrect radiographs was 66.1% to 78.8%, with the most common error criterion differing for each observer. The least common error was the chin tipped too low for observers 1 and 2, and the patient positioned forward for observers 3 and 4. The highest inter-observer agreement was observed regarding the presence of foreign objects on the radiographs, while the lowest agreement occurred in cases where the patient was positioned too far back. Overall, the diagnostic quality of the panoramic radiographs was rated as "acceptable," with scores ranging from 60.5% to 69.5%. The Fleiss Kappa analysis indicated fair agreement among the four observers in assessing radiographic quality (k=0.252).

Conclusion: This study demonstrates that errors in panoramic radiography significantly impact image quality and diagnostic accuracy, highlighting the need for standardization, the use of various imaging models, and enhanced training in radiographic education.

Keywords: Panoramic radiography, quality control, oral radiology, radiographic errors

INTRODUCTION

Panoramic radiography is widely utilized in dentistry. It provides a broad view of facial structures, including the maxillary and mandibular arches and their supporting anatomy. This technique has several advantages, such as a relatively low radiation dose, patient comfort, procedural simplicity, and short acquisition time, making it a valuable tool in clinical practice (1,2).

The diagnostic utility of panoramic radiography is diminished when image quality is suboptimal. Poorquality radiographs increase the risk of misinterpretation, potentially leading to inaccurate diagnoses and suboptimal treatment planning (3,4).

Technical and processing errors are primary contributors

to poor-quality images in panoramic radiography (5). Therefore, careful attention to patient positioning and each step of the imaging process is essential. According to the literature, the most frequently observed errors are positioning-related, followed by issues with exposure settings, artifacts, and other technical errors, in decreasing order of occurrence (3,6,7).

The quality of every X-ray depends on careful positioning of the patient and on the technique and processing of the image (2). Proper patient positioning in panoramic radiography requires alignment with four key anatomical planes: the median sagittal plane, the canine-meatus plane, the ala-tragus plane, and the orbital-meatus plane (Frankfort plane). The recommended positioning technique involves extending the neck, relaxing the shoulders, maintaining

CITATION

Yasa Y, Coban D, Ozbey F, et al. Evaluation of Common Diagnostic Errors in Panoramic Radiographs and Interobserver Agreement in Error Identification. Med Records. 2025;7(1):114-9. DOI:1037990/medr.1562670

Received: 06.11.2024 Accepted: 26.11.2024 Published: 14.01.2025

Corresponding Author: Yasin Yasa, Ordu University, Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Dentomaxillofacial Radiology, Ordu, Türkiye

E-mail: yasayasin@outlook.com

an upright back, and keeping the feet together and slightly forward relative to the torso. Patients should be instructed to bite on the bite block, close their lips, and press their tongue against the roof of the mouth. Additionally, a lead apron should be placed over the areas of the patient's body below the head and neck to minimize radiation exposure, and care should be taken to ensure that no foreign objects are present in the head and neck region that might appear within the imaging field (5).

The primary objective of radiation protection is to produce high-quality radiographs suitable for diagnostic and treatment purposes while minimizing the patient's exposure to radiation (8). Consequently, reducing errors is essential to limit the number of suboptimal radiographs, prevent unnecessary radiation exposure, and reduce examination time (3,9-11).

This study aimed to assess the quality of panoramic radiography, identify specific errors contributing to diagnostically inadequate images, and analyze the interobserver agreement regarding these errors.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

This study was approved by the Clinical Research Ethics Committee of Ordu University (Decision No: 2024/155) and was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

This retrospective study analyzed panoramic radiographs obtained in the Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Radiology at Ordu University between November 2021 and February 2022.

Panoramic radiographs were obtained using Planmeca Promax 2D S3 device (Planmeca, Helsinki, Finland) with the following parameters: 66 kVp, 8 mA, and 15.8 s. In the study in which we evaluated positioning errors, 128 panoramic films with technical errors out of a total of 1075 panoramic radiographs were excluded from the study. The 947 panoramic radiographs were evaluated according to the following nine error criteria (6).

- 1. The chin tipped too low,
- 2. The chin tipped too high,
- 3. Absence of tongue and palate contact,
- 4. A slumped position,
- 5. The patient positioned forward,
- 6. The patient positioned backward,
- 7. The head tilted,
- 8. The head turned to one side,
- 9. Foreign bodies (metallic partial dentures, earrings, necklaces, piercings, glasses, hair clips, etc.).

All radiographs were evaluated by four dentomaxillofacial radiology research assistants with one year of experience. Finally, the observers rated the diagnostic acceptability of each radiograph as "excellent," "diagnostically acceptable," or "unacceptable." The term "excellent" was applicable when there were no errors. While radiographs with a maximum of two errors were recorded "diagnostic acceptable." In cases, it was categorized as "unacceptable" when there were three or more errors, and radiography was found to be non-diagnostic and needs to be repeated.

The data collected were entered into a computer and analyzed using Microsoft Excel and the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS[®]) software (version 20, SPSS[®], Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Inter-observer agreement was quantified using kappa statistics. Kappa values>0.75 were defined as "excellent" reproducibility, those between 0.40 and 0.75 as "fair to good" reproducibility and those <0.40 as "moderate to poor" reproducibility (12).

We used the Fleiss κ test to measure the overall agreement in the assessment of quality in panoramic radiography among the four observers.

RESULTS

The rate of radiographs considered incorrect by observers was between 66.1% and 78.8% (kappa values between 0.224 and 0.379).

The most common error criterion differed for each observer. The least common error was the chin tipped too low for observers 1 and 2, and the patient positioned forward for observers 3 and 4. The relative frequency of different errors as observed by the four observers is presented in Table 1 and illustrated in Figure 1 using a bar diagram.



Figure 1. A bar diagram representing the frequency of errors as observed by four observers

The error criterion with the highest agreement between observers was the presence of foreign bodies on the panoramic radiography (kappa values between 0.577 and 0.852). The error criterion with the least agreement was that the patient positioned backward (kappa values between 0.020 and 0.232). Pairwise kappa values among the observers are presented in Table 2.

Based on the predefined criteria, the total counts of diagnostically acceptable, unacceptable, and excellent radiographs as assessed by the four observers are summarized in Table 3. According to the observers, the quality of the radiographs was "diagnostically acceptable," with a range of 60.5%-69.5%. Overall agreement among the four observers in assessing radiographic quality was classified as fair, with a Fleiss Kappa value of k=0.252.

Table 1. Relative frequency of different e	errors as observed by th	ne four observers						
	Observer	F	qo	server 2	Observe	r 3	90	server 4
Errors	Absence N (%)	Presence N (%)	Absence N (%)	Presence N (%)	Absence N (%)	Presence N (%)	Absence N (%)	Presence N (%)
Presence of error	292 (30.8)	655 (69.2)	267 (28.2)	680 (71.8)	201 (28.2)	746 (78.8)	321 (33.9)	626 (66.1)
The chin tipped too low	935 (98.7)	12 (1.3)	941 (99.4)	6 (0.6)	894 (94.4)	53 (5.6)	892 (94.2)	55 (5.8)
The chin tipped too high	913 (96.4)	34 (3.6)	714 (75.4)	233 (24.6)	853 (90.1)	93 (9.8)	894 (94.4)	53 (5.6)
Absence of tongue and palate contact	829 (87.5)	118 (12.5)	756 (79.8)	191 (20.2)	475 (50.2)	472 (49.8)	770 (81.3)	177 (18.7)
A slumped position	759 (80.1)	188 (19.9)	737 (77.8)	210 (22.2)	553 (58.4)	394 (41.6)	702 (74.1)	245 (25.9)
The patient positioned forward	918 (96.9)	29 (3.1)	936 (98.8)	11 (1.2)	947 (100)	(0)	942 (99.5)	5 (0.5)
The patient positioned backward	879 (92.8)	68 (7.2)	905 (95.6)	42 (4.4)	942 (99.5)	5 (0.5)	820 (86.6)	127 (13.4)
The head turned to one side	693 (73.2)	254 (26.8)	844 (89.1)	103 (10.9)	809 (85.4)	138 (14.6)	806 (85.1)	141 (14.9)
The head tilted	827 (87.3)	120 (12.7)	921 (97.3)	26 (2.7)	915 (96.6)	32 (3.4)	905 (95.6)	42 (4.4)
Foreign bodies	864 (91.2)	83 (8.8)	860 (90.8)	87 (9.2)	863 (91.1)	84 (8.9)	874 (92.3)	74 (7.7)
Table 2. Interobserver reproducibility exp	oressed by kappa value	s for observers p	airwise					
Errors	Observer 1 vs 2	Observei	r 1 vs 3	Observer 1 vs 4	Observer 2 vs 3	Observe	er 2 vs 4	Observer 3 vs 4
Fault-free	0.379	0.3(60	0.246	0.346	0.2	24	0.352
The chin tipped too low	0.328	0.26	52	0.101	0.160	0.0	188	0.175
The chin tipped too high	0.133	0.17	76	0.171	0.263	0.0	130	0.143
Absence of tongue and palate contact	0.384	0.2(00	0.127	0.257	0.1	37	0.164
A slumped position	0.511	0.4	13	0.306	0.408	0.3	804	0.336
The patient positioned forward	0.339	,		0.110	,	0.2	245	,
The patient positioned backward	0.231	0.10	10	0.112	0.076	0.0	155	0.020
The head turned to one side	0.181	0.23	33	0.164	0.417	0.1	66	0.147
The head tilted	0.225	0.23	22	0.088	0.289	0.1	78	0.129
Foreign bodies	0.819	0.79	96	0.595	0.852	0.5	77	0.632

Observer 4 N (%) 320 (33.8) 573 (60.5) 54 (5.7) Observer 3 N (%) 193 (20.4) 107 (11.3) 647 (68.4) Observer 2 N (%) 263 (27.8) 658 (69.5) 26 (2.7) Table 3. Observations made by the four observers regarding the quality of radiographs

Observer 1 N (%)

291 (30.7) 631 (66.6) 25 (2.6)

Diagnostically acceptable

Excellent

Quality

Unacceptable

Med Records 2025;7(1):114-9

DISCUSSION

The focal trough in a panoramic X-ray unit is a threedimensional curved zone where anatomical structures are most clearly visualized. Due to the limited dimensions of the focal trough, even minor positioning errors can lead to distortions. Structures positioned outside this zone may appear blurred, magnified, reduced in size, or otherwise distorted. Thus, proper patient preparation and precise head positioning within the focal trough are critical for obtaining diagnostically valuable panoramic radiographs (13).

Dental radiography quality standards are established by recommendations on radiology standards, which also define the phrases "excellent", "diagnostically acceptable", and "unacceptable". Guidelines recommend that the rate of "unacceptable" radiographs should not exceed 10%, while at least 70% of radiographs should be classified as "excellent" or fault-free (14). However, achieving these quality standards can be challenging in practice. In previous studies, the error rate of radiographs was reported to range from 62.4% to 93% (6,9,13,15-17). In the current study, the rate of erroneous radiographs was observed between 66.1% and 78.8% according to the observers.

In a study by Dhillon et al. evaluating 1,782 radiographs, 24.9% were classified as "diagnostically unacceptable" (9). Similar studies by Brezden et al. and Kumar et al. reported rates of 18.2% and 13.2%, respectively (4,18). In the present study, the rate of diagnostic unacceptable radiographs ranged from 2.6% to 11.3% according to the observers. The variation in this rate compared to similar studies may stem from differences in the observers' undergraduate education across countries as well as variations in their levels of experience.

All observers in this study were research assistants of dentomaxillofacial radiology with one year of experience. Kappa statistics indicated low interobserver reproducibility for most parameters, with the exception of foreign body detection, which showed excellent agreement among all observer pairs. This variability may be attributable to differences in the observers' educational backgrounds, as they completed their undergraduate studies at different dental faculties, and their limited experience in this specialty. Overall agreement on panoramic radiograph quality, as measured by Fleiss Kappa, was fair, suggesting that while observers were consistent in their overall quality ratings, their assessments of specific error types varied. In a comparable study by Khator et al., 500 radiographs were assessed by three observers-a postgraduate student, a lecturer, and a professor, showing that observations from the lecturer and professor were more closely aligned. This finding underscores the potential impact of radiological experience on error evaluation (19).

Observer 1 identified the most frequent error as the patient's head being turned to one side. Similarly, studies by Bissoon et al. and Kaviani et al. reported head rotation as the most common error (20,21) When patients turn their heads, it results in overlapping of proximal surfaces, the teeth on one side appear wider and the teeth on the other side appear narrower. This misalignment also causes inconsistencies in the horizontal magnification of anatomical structures, complicating diagnostic interpretation (5).

Observer 2 noted that the most frequent error was the patient's chin positioned too high. Recognized indicators for identifying an excessively elevated chin position include the flattening of the occlusal plane and distortion of the maxillary anterior tooth apices. This type of positioning error can lead to significant distortion of the maxillary anterior residual ridge, potentially compromising diagnostic interpretation of this area to such an extent that accurate evaluation may no longer be feasible (22).

According to Observer 3, the most common error observed was absence of tongue and palate contact. This has also been found to be the most common error in many other studies (6,7,9,10,13,16,23,24). This error results in a radiolucent shadow over the apices of the maxillary teeth, which complicates interpretation of the periapical region. Consequently, it can lead to missed diagnoses of periapical pathology, root resorption, and both odontogenic and nonodontogenic lesions around the maxillary tooth apices (6). Ensuring patient cooperation is essential to minimize this error.

Observer 4 reported that the most common error was a slumped posture, which was also observed as the most frequent error in studies by Belgin et al. and Fairozekhan et al. (15,25). This positioning issue results in a ghost image of the cervical spine being superimposed on the anterior region (20). Factors contributing to this error may include advanced age, postural abnormalities, or obesity, which can make optimal positioning challenging. To prevent this, the operator should ensure that the patient's spine is straight, and the neck properly extended.

The occurrence of errors can be significantly minimized by double-checking patient positioning and providing clear, concise instructions (26). However, errors may still occur in patients with facial asymmetry, short or heavy necks, severe obesity, extreme height, or those unable to follow directions, which may be beyond the operator's control (13). In such cases, the operator must exercise caution during positioning. Additionally, to enhance radiographic quality, periodic random audits should be conducted.

Education for technicians, dentists, and dental students is crucial in minimizing errors in panoramic radiography. In a study by Wenzel et al., it was found that computer-assisted learning and training with a phantom in a simulated clinical environment enhanced dental students' ability to identify panoramic errors and improve their patient positioning skills (27).

In recent years, various artificial intelligence-based software programs have been developed to enhance image quality by correcting errors in panoramic radiography. Du et al. utilized a convolutional neural network (CNN)-based architecture designed to eliminate image blurring caused by patient positioning errors. The results demonstrated that the CNN effectively estimated the positioning error of the patient's dental arch, followed by the reconstruction of the corrected panoramic image, which successfully reduced the blur (28).

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, the evaluation of panoramic radiographic errors in this study, which had a substantial impact on image quality and diagnostic value, varied across observers. Standardization of radiography education is essential, along with the implementation of diverse educational models and the support of both theoretical and practical periodic training. Looking ahead, the widespread adoption of artificial intelligence-supported programs has the potential to automatically correct panoramic errors, thereby ensuring the production of high-quality images.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: This study was approved by the Clinical Research Ethics Committee of Ordu University (Decision No: 2024/155) and was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

REFERENCES

- Flint DJ, Paunovich E, Moore WS, et al. A diagnostic comparison of panoramic and intraoral radiographs. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 1998;85:731-5.
- 2. Peretz B, Gotler M, Kaffe I. Common errors in digital panoramic radiographs of patients with mixed dentition and patients with permanent dentition. Int J Dent. 2012;2012:584138.
- 3. Mayil M, Keser G, Pekiner F. Clinical Image Quality Assessment in Panoramic Radiography. MÜSBED. 2014;4:126-32.
- Brezden NA, Brooks SL, Arbor A. Evaluation of panoramic dental radiographs taken in private practice. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1987;63:617-21.
- 5. Rondon RHN, Pereira YCL, do Nascimento GC. Common positioning errors in panoramic radiography: a review. Imaging Sci Dent. 2014;44:1-6.
- 6. Schiff T, D'Ambrosio J, Glass BJ, et al. Common positioning and technical errors in panoramic radiography. J Am Dent Assoc. 1986;113:422-6.
- 7. Aydın Ü, Aybar Y. The types and frequency of errors in panoramic radiographs. SDÜ Tıp Fak Derg. 2004;11:1-5.
- 8. Horner K. Review article: radiation protection in dental radiology. Br J Radiol. 1994;67:1041-9.
- Dhillon M, Raju SM, Verma S, et al. Positioning errors and quality assessment in panoramic radiography. Imaging Sci Dent. 2012;42:207-12.
- 10. Rumberg H, Hollender L, Oda D. Assessing the quality of radiographs accompanying biopsy specimens. J Am Dent Assoc. 1996;127:363-8.

- 11. Matzen LH, Schropp L, Spin-Neto R, Wenzel A. Radiographic signs of pathology determining removal of an impacted mandibular third molar assessed in a panoramic image or CBCT. Dentomaxillofac Radiol. 2016;46:20160330.
- 12. Landis JR, Koch GG. An application of Hierarchical Kappatype statistics in the assessment of majority agreement among multiple observers. Biometrics. 1977;33:363-74.
- Akarslan ZZ, Erten H, Güngör K, Celik I. Common errors on panoramic radiographs taken in a dental school. J Contemp Dent Pract. 2003;4:24-34.
- 14. Public Health England (PHE) and Faculty of General Dental Practice (UK) (FGDP[UK]). Guidance Notes for Dental Practitioners on the Safe Use of X-ray Equipment. 2nd edition. London, UK: PHE and FGDP (UK); 2020.
- 15. Aktuna Belgin C, Serindere G. Evaluation of error types and quality on panoramic radiography. International Dental Research. 2019;9:99-104.
- 16. Subbulakshmi AC, Mohan N, Thiruneervannan R, et al. Positioning errors in digital panoramic radiographs: a study. J Orofac Sci. 2016;8:22-6.
- 17. Hacıosmanoğlu N, Eren H, Küçükkalem MF, Görgün S. Errors during shooting in digital panoramic radiographs. Selcuk Dent J. 2019;6:209-15.
- 18. Kumar N. Assessment of common errors and subjective quality of digital panoramic radiographs in a dental institution. Dentistry and Medical Research. 2020;8:23.
- 19. Khator AM, Motwani MB, Choudhary AB. A study for determination of various positioning errors in digital panoramic radiography for evaluation of diagnostic image quality. Indian J Dent Res. 2017;28:666-70.
- 20. Bissoon A, Whaites E, Moze K, et al. Evaluation of common operator errors in panoramic radiography in Trinidad and Tobago: a comparison of formally vs informally trained operators. West Indian Med J. 2012;61:733-8.
- 21. Kaviani F, Johari M, Esmaeili F. Evaluation of common errors of panoramic radiographs in Tabriz faculty of dentistry. J Dent Res Dent Clin Dent Prospects. 2008;2:99-101.
- 22. Glass BJ, Seals RR Jr, Williams EO. Common errors in panoramic radiography of edentulous patients. J Prosthodont. 1994;3:68-73.
- Granlund CM, Lith A, Molander B, Gröndahl K, Hansen K, Ekestubbe A. Frequency of errors and pathology in panoramic images of young orthodontic patients. Eur J Orthod. 2012;34:452-7.
- 24. Rushton VE, Horner K, Worthington HV. The quality of panoramic radiographs in a sample of general dental practices. Br Dent J. 1999;186:630-3.
- 25. Thapasum Fairozekhan A, Mohammed F, Veerankutty Jameela R, et al. Positional errors in orthopantomograph-a comparative systematic review with analysis of 1014 additional cases. 2020;7:1711-23.
- 26. Singh S, Singh I, Ahmed F, Baba A. Retrospective study: evaluating the positioning errors in digital panoramic radiographs. 2022;10:5-8.

DOI: 10.37990/medr.1562670

- 27. Wenzel A, Matzen LH, Spin-Neto R, Schropp L. Effect of computer-assisted-learning and simulation clinics on dental students' cognitive and performance skills: panoramic image errors related to patient's head position. Dentomaxillofac Radiol. 2020;49:20200154.
- 28. Du X, Chen Y, Zhao J, Xi Y. A Convolutional Neural Network Based Auto-Positioning Method For Dental Arch In Rotational Panoramic Radiography. Annu Int Conf IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc. 2018;2018:2615-8.

MEDICAL RECORDS-International Medical Journal

Research Article



A New Approach: Generative Artificial Intelligence in Physiatry Resident Education

Selkin Yilmaz Muluk, Vedat Altuntas, Zehra Duman Sahin

Antalya City Hospital, Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Antalya, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.



Abstract

Aim: This study assessed the effectiveness of ChatGPT-4o, an artificial intelligence (AI) platform, in creating a therapeutic exercises presentation for physiatry residents' education. The aim was to compare the quality of content created by ChatGPT-4o with that of an expert, exploring the potential of AI in healthcare education.

Material and Method: Both an expert and AI created 24 PowerPoint slides across six topics, using same reputable sources. Two other experts assessed these slides according to CLEAR criteria: completeness, lack of false information, appropriateness, and relevance and scored as excellent, 5; very good=4, good=3, satisfactory/fair=2, or poor, 1.

Results: Interrater reliability was confirmed. Average scores (calculated from the two raters' scores) for each topic were significantly lower for AI than for the expert, although whole presentation scores did not differ between the two. Overall scores (calculated from the average scores of all items) for each topic were good to excellent for AI, excellent for the expert. The overall score for whole presentation was good for AI, excellent for the expert. Highest ranks for individual criteria was relevance for AI, lack of false information for the expert. Some AI-generated elements were later integrated into the expert work, enhancing the content.

Conclusion: ChatGPT-4o can generate effective educational content, though expert outperforms it, highlighting the need for professional oversight. Collaboration between humans and AI may further enhance educational outcomes.

Keywords: Healthcare education, physiatry residency, therapeutic exercises, ChatGPT, generative AI

INTRODUCTION

Residency education in medicine is a period of specialized training that takes place between graduating from medical school and becoming a certified independent specialist. Unlike basic medical education, it is shaped by specific healthcare settings and needs, and serves as a bridge between academic learning and real-world medical practice (1). Structured training programs that prioritize skill building and formal education are essential for supporting junior doctors and ensuring their competence (2).

When determining educational strategies, it is essential to consider institutional preferences, target populations, and learning style. A variety of methods are widely used, including simulation-based approaches, scenarios, standardized patients, research, mentoring, journal clubs, seminars, lectures, case discussions, bedside discussions, courses, games, and portfolios (3). In physiatry clinics, educational sessions such as seminars, lectures, case discussions, and journal reviews are designed for postgraduate physiatry residents and practicing physiatrists. While these programs also include bedside discussions, direct patient care, and invasive procedures, the knowledge gained from lectures and seminars serves as the basis for effective real-time practice.

In Türkiye, the Medical Specialty Regulation defines the curriculum, planning, programming, and implementation principles for each specialty (4). 'Therapeutic exercises' is one of the topics that is generally included in the curriculum of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation programs. This topic involves movements prescribed to correct impairments, restore muscular and skeletal functions, and maintain a state of well-being in patients. They are beneficial for quality of life, and overall health (5).

CITATION

Yilmaz Muluk S, Altuntas V, Duman Sahin Z. A New Approach: Generative Artificial Intelligence in Physiatry Resident Education. Med Records. 2025;7(1):120-8. DOI:1037990/medr.1581104

Received: 07.11.2024 Accepted: 04.12.2024 Published: 14.01.2025

Corresponding Author: Selkin Yilmaz Muluk, Antalya City Hospital, Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Antalya, Türkiye

E-mail: selkinylmaz@yahoo.com

Generative artificial intelligence (AI) platforms are systems that can generate relevant responses by drawing on vast amounts of knowledge and information and mimicking human-like conversations. They can be applied in numerous medical fields, including image analysis, clinical diagnostics, drug development, patient assistance and education, remote monitoring, tailored treatment plans, administrative functions, and medical documentation (6).

A prominent example of generative AIs is ChatGPT created by OpenAI (7). ChatGPT can be used to prepare medical letters, imaging reports, and patient discharge documents (8). It can also play a role in summarizing drug labeling documents and creating safety protocols for invasive procedures (9,10). ChatGPT-40 is one of the fastest and most developed versions of the ChatGPT.

As generative AIs have been successful in various medical fields and are able to write, summarize, and create medical texts, thats very possible that they can also summarize articles or texts and create educational slides out of them.

In this research, we aimed to evaluate the effectiveness of ChatGPT-40 in creating PowerPoint slides by comparing its slides with those prepared by a physiatrist. Both sets of slides were developed using the same reputable sources to ensure consistency. Our approach consisted of two steps: first, a physiatrist and ChatGPT-40 created 35 slides for a presentation on therapeutic exercises using relevant articles; then, two additional physiatry experts reviewed and scored both slide sets for completeness, lack of false information, appropriateness, and relevance.

The objective of this study is to evaluate ChatGPT-4o's effectiveness in preparing a therapeutic exercises presentation for an educational session for physiatry residents.

Our research has two hypotheses. The effectiveness hypothesis suggests that ChatGPT-40 will prepare a presentation rated above moderate effectiveness. The null hypothesis for this asserts that ChatGPT-40 will not effectively prepare the presentation and that it will be rated below moderate. The performance hypothesis predicts that the expert, based on subject knowledge, will outperform ChatGPT-40. The null hypothesis states that there will be no variation in performance between the expert and ChatGPT-40.

These hypotheses emphasize the necessity of evaluating the effectiveness of AI tools in contributing to lecture hours to meet the growing demands of health education.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Study Design

This study integrated qualitative and quantitative components, categorizing it as a mixed-methods study. It is reported according to METRICS checklist that involves model used and its settings, evaluation approach, timing, transparency, range of tested topics, randomization, individual factors and interrater reliability, count of requests, and specificity of the prompts and language used (11). Since the study did not involve human participation and centered on engagements with conversational AI systems, ethical approval was not necessary.

Model Used and its Exact Setting

ChatGPT is a conversational AI system powered by large language models. We chose the 4o version created by OpenAI due to its status as one of the most advanced versions available at the time of our search (7). The system was assessed using standard default configurations to ensure consistent replication of the generated content. Since ChatGPT-4o does not remember information from prior interactions, each conversation begins without any reference to previous questions or answers, thereby eliminating the possibility of learning or feedback loops. However, all slide requests for each topic were made using a new session, and the regenerate button was not utilized.

Evaluation Approach for the Generated Content

The physiatry specialist initially created a presentation based on information from six selected articles about therapeutic exercises (12-17). Subsequently, the same six articles were submitted to ChatGPT-4o and it was tasked with generating an equivalent number of slides suitable for a PowerPoint presentation. Once both sets of slides were ready, the specialist anonymized them by assigning letter codes, making it impossible to tell which set was Al-generated and which was expert-made. Then, two other physiatry specialists, who had previously reviewed the articles, independently evaluated both sets of slides without knowing their sources. To maintain objectivity, the raters were also unaware of each other's scores during the assessment.

Given that the presentations shared the same underlying material, we focused on the C (Completeness of the Content), L (Lack of False Information), A (Appropriateness of the Content), and R (Relevance) elements of the CLEAR scoring system. The "E" component, which evaluates evidence supporting content, was deemed less distinct between the two presentations due to the uniformity of the sources used. By concentrating on the remaining CLEAR criteria, we aimed to provide a comprehensive analysis of how each presentation utilized shared evidence and conveyed information effectively to the audience. In this tool, items are scored as follows: excellent, 5; very good=4, good=3, satisfactory/fair=2, or poor, 1 (18).

Timing of Testing and Transparency of the Data

Al model was tested on September 21, 2024, at local time 12:20-12.35, in Istanbul zone. The conversations have been recorded in the public data archive Zenodo (19).

Range of Tested Topics and Randomization

The authors selected a specialized issue of a reputable local journal, published in Turkish, that focused on

therapeutic exercises. This issue included a range of relevant topics, such as joint range of motion exercises, stretching exercises, peripheral joint mobilization and manipulation, muscle performance exercises, aerobic exercises, aquatic exercises, posture exercises, and relaxation exercises (12-17). Articles that were not aligned with the focus of the study were excluded. For example, the article entitled "Exercise for Healthy Living and Prevention of Chronic Diseases" was omitted because of its emphasis on preventive rather than therapeutic interventions. Likewise, specialized discussions on exercises for specific conditions, such as soft tissue injuries, orthopedic surgeries, and respiratory issues, were left out to keep the core content general. Since all six essential therapeutic exercise topics were covered, randomization was deemed unnecessary.

Individual Factors in Selecting the Topic and Interrater Reliability

Therapeutic exercises subject is a foundational component of the first-year curriculum for resident physiatrists. To ensure thorough training, the authors concentrated on general therapeutic exercises for initial learning, reserving more specialized topics for subsequent sessions. The use of a reputable journal known for its thorough coverage of essential physiatry subjects ensured that personal preferences or biases did not influence the selection of topics, leading to a comprehensive introduction ideal for newly trained physicians.

To enhance objectivity in the assessment process, two independent raters, physiatrists working in an outpatient clinic and rehabilitation service, evaluated the content. Statistical measures indicated significant agreement between the raters. The inter-rater reliability confirmed that the assessments were consistent and had minimal influence from individual biases, thereby enhancing the validity of the study's findings.

Count of Slides Requested from the Model

Of the six topics selected, ten slides were requested for the first, as it was more comprehensive, while five slides were requested for each of the remaining five topics. The topics of the articles used by the physician and AI to prepare the training outline are presented in Table 1.

Table 1. Topics of the articles used in preparation of educational slide content							
Therapeutic exercises							
1Joint range of motion exercises, stretching exercises, perip joint mobilization and manipulation	neral						
2 Muscle performance exercises							
3 Aerobic exercises							
4 Aquatic exercises							
5 Posture and posture exercises							
6 Relaxation exercises							

Specificity of the Prompts and Language Used

The questions followed a consistent methodology, using the following prompt (in Turkish): 'I plan to prepare a PowerPoint presentation on "..." for assistant doctors who are in the first year of their specialty training in the Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation Department. This presentation will be used during an educational hour. Please take the provided text and create a detailed PowerPoint presentation consisting of ... slides formatted in Turkish. Each slide should contain complete, cohesive content that I can read directly to an audience without headings.

I specifically want the slides to be organized in a listing pattern with bullet points or numbered lists to enhance readability and fit well into the PowerPoint slide format. The slides should cover essential aspects and explanations for each section, reflecting the key points suitable for a physiatry seminar. I want to clarify that I want the slides to be prepared according to the content of the text I will be loading. Please wait for the text to be loaded before starting to create the slides.' We deliberately crafted this request to resemble that of a physician. This strategy aimed to reflect professional tone of a professional requesting assistance for an upcoming educational mission. By doing so, we aimed to make our interactions with the AI platform similar to a genuine academic scenario, making the generated content more relevant to actual needs. The prompt was designed according to the recommendations of Meskó B (20).

Statistics and Data Analysis

Data analysis was carried out utilizing IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows version 29.0.2.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY), with a significance level set at p < 0.050. Two physiatrists independently evaluated the presentations, referred to as rater 1 and rater 2.

The strength and direction of the association between the two ordinal variables were measured using Kendall's tau-b statistic. Kendall's Tau-b values are categorized as follows: 0.00 to ± 0.10 : very weak or no correlation, ± 0.11 to ± 0.30 : weak correlation, ± 0.31 to ± 0.50 : moderate correlation, ± 0.51 to ± 0.70 : strong correlation, ± 0.71 to ± 1.00 : very strong correlation. Kendall's tau-b values ranged from -1 (perfect negative correlation) to +1 (perfect positive correlation), with 0 indicating no association (21).

Agreement between the two independent evaluators was assessed utilizing Cohen's kappa method. Cohen's Kappa quantifies inter-rater agreement for categorical data. The categorization of Cohen's kappa values is as follows: values below 0.20 indicate poor agreement, 0.21-0.40 signify fair agreement, 0.41-0.60 reflect moderate agreement, 0.61-0.80 represent substantial agreement, and 0.81-1.00 indicate nearly perfect agreement (22).

After measuring inter-rater reliability, the scores for each topic from both evaluators were totalled and divided by two. These results were accepted as 'average scores.' For example, the C score for topic 1 from evaluator 1 and the C score for topic 1 from evaluater 2 were summed and then divided by two, resulting in the 'average C score' for topic 1. Next, the average scores of the four CLEAR items for each topic were totalled and divided by four, with the resulting value accepted as the 'overall score' for each topic. For instance, the C, L, A, and R average scores for topic 1 were summed and divided by four, resulting in the 'average score' for topic 1 were summed and divided by four, resulting in the 'overall score' for topic 1 were summed and divided by four, resulting in the 'average score' for topic 1 were summed and divided by four, resulting in the 'average score' for topic 1 were summed and divided by four, resulting in the 'average score' for topic 1 were summed and divided by four, resulting in the 'average score' for topic 1.

Additionally, the raters evaluated the entire presentation, considering all slides collectively, to provide 'average scores' and 'overall scores' for the whole presentation. The overall scores were organized into the following categories: scores of 1-1.79 as "poor", 1.80-2.59 as "satisfactory", 2.60-3.39 as "good", 3.40-4.19 as "very good", and 4.20-5.00 as "excellent" (18).

A paired samples t-test was used to compare average scores, as the Shapiro-Wilk test confirmed normality. For the entire presentation scores, the Wilcoxon signed-rank test was applied, as the data did not meet the normality assumption. Further analysis assessed performance on CLEAR items (excluding E) by examining within-model variability.

RESULTS

The results of the inter-rater correlation indicated a very strong correlation for the Al-generated content and a moderate correlation for the expert-generated content according to Kendall's Tau-b statistics. Similarly, the results of the inter-rater agreement indicated substantial agreement for the AI-generated content and fair agreement for the expert-generated content according to Cohen's Kappa statistics. Notably, although the raters exhibited stronger agreement for the Al-generated slides than for the expert-generated slides, the p-values confirmed that the correlation and the agreements were statistically significant in both groups. Given this significance, it was appropriate to calculate the average of the two raters' scores, as utilizing these averaged values would provide a single, more reliable score for subsequent analyses. The results of these tests are presented in Table 2.

Table 2. In	Table 2. Interrater correlation and agreement for ai and expert-generated presentations								
	Kendall's Tau-b	p-value (Kendall's Tau-b)	Categorization (Kendall's Tau-b)	Cohen's Kappa	p-value (Cohen's Kappa)	Categorization (Cohen's Kappa)			
AI	0.723	<0.001	Very strong correlation	0.514	<0.001	Substantial agreement			
Expert	0.513	<0.001	Moderate correlation	0.401	0.016	Fair agreement			

Table 3 presents descriptive statistics of the cumulative average scores (derived from the initial average scores) for the AI-generated and expert-prepared slides. The cumulative values were calculated from 24 average scores, with each of the six topics contributing four scores. For Al-generated slides, the cumulative score was 3.77. In contrast, expert-prepared slides achieved a higher cumumulative score of 4.52.

Table 3. Descriptive statistics for cumulative average	scores of AI and ex	opert-generated slid	es		
	Ν	Min	Max	Mean	SD
Cumulative scores of AI-prepared slides	24	2.50	5.00	3.77	0.79
Cumulative scores of expert-prepared slides	24	3.50	5.00	4.52	0.48
N: number of scores, Min: minimum, Max: maximum, S	D: standard deviati	on			

Table 4 presents the descriptive statistics of the overall scores for each of the six topics and for the entire presentation. The overall scores of the AI-prepared slides were rated as good to excellent, whereas the expert-prepared slides were consistently rated as excellent.

The expert presentations excelled in all categories, while the Al-generated content performed notably well in the "Aquatic Exercises" category. A comparison of overall scores of Al and Expert-generated content per each topic is presented in Figure 1.

Table 4. Descriptive statistics for overall scores of AI and expert-generated slides							
Therapeutic exercises subheadings	Prepared by	Min	Max	Mean	SD	Category	
	AI	3.00	4.00	3.25	0.50	Good	
JRIME, SE, PJIMIM	Expert	4.00	5.00	4.75	0.50	Excellent	
Mussle Decfermence F	AI	2.50	5.00	3.50	1.08	Very Good	
Muscle Performance E	Expert	4.00	5.00	4.38	0.48	Excellent	
Aerobic E	AI	3.00	4.00	3.63	0.48	Very Good	
	Expert	4.00	5.00	4.50	0.41	Excellent	
A secold E	AI	4.00	5.00	4.50	0.41	Excellent	
Aquatic E	Expert	3.50	5.00	4.50	0.71	Excellent	
	AI	3.00	4.50	3.63	0.75	Very Good	
Posture and Posture E	Expert	4.00	5.00	4.50	0.58	Excellent	
	AI	3.00	5.00	4.13	1.03	Very Good	
Relaxation E	Expert	4.00	5.00	4.50	0.41	Excellent	
	AI	3.00	4.00	3.38	0.48	Good	
Whole Presentation	Expert	4.00	4.50	4.25	0.29	Excellent	

JRME, SE, PJMM: joint range of motion exercises, stretching exercises, peripheral joint mobilization and manipulation, E: exercises, Min: minimum, Max: maximum, SD: standard deviation



Figure 1. Comparison of overall scores of AI and expert-generated content per each topic

After demographic statistics, we planned to compare the average scores of Al-generated and expert-generated slides. Before the comparison, the normality distribution was tested using the Shapiro-Wilk test. The results showed no significant deviation from normality (W(24)=0.924, p=0.071; W(24)=0.924, p=0.071), indicating that conducting a parametric test was suitable. The paired-samples t-test revealed a statistically significant difference between the

average scores of AI and expert-prepared slides (p<0.001). The negative mean difference indicates that the AI-made slides' scores were significantly lower than those of human-made slides'. Furthermore, the effect size was large (Cohen's d=-0.998), highlighting a large difference between the groups (Table 5).

Table 5. Com	parison of mean	of average so	ores of ai and	expert present	ations				
Measure	Mean difference	SD	SEM	95% Cl Lower	95% CI Upper	t	df	p-value (two-sided)	Cohen's d (effect size)
AI - expert	-0.75	0.75	0.15	-1.07	-0.43	-4.89	23	< 0.01	-0.998
SD: standard	deviation, SEM: s	standars error	mean, CI: con	fidence interval					

Later, we planned to compare the average scores of the whole presentation of AI and expert. The cumulative score for the expert-prepared entire presentation (4.25) was higher than AI-generated presentation (3.38). Before the comparison, the normality distribution of the scores was tested using the Shapiro-Wilk test. The results showed a significant deviation from normality (W=0.630, p=0.001; W=0.630, p=0.001). Therefore, we performed a nonparametric test, the Wilcoxon signed-rank test, for the scores of the entire presentation. The results of this test indicated a test statistic (Z) of -1.890, based on negative ranks. The asymptotic significance (2-tailed p-value) was 0.059. This p-value suggested that the difference in scores was not statistically significant at the conventional alpha level of 0.05.

Table 6 presents the final analysis of performance for each CLEAR item, examining within-model variability. The Friedman test revealed a statistically significant difference in ranks across the four CLEAR items for both Al-prepared content ($\chi^2(3)=10.39$, p=0.016) and expertprepared content ($\chi^2(3)=11.70$, p=0.008). For Al-prepared slides, "relevance" and "lack of false information" received higher ranks, while for expert-prepared slides, "lack of false information" and "appropriateness" were ranked higher. "Completeness" had the lowest rank in both AI and expert presentations. The within-model variability in AI and expert mean ranks across the items is presented in Figure 2.

across CLEAR items for AI and expert-generated content							
	Mean Rank (AI)	Mean Rank (Expert)					
с	1.50	1.17					
L	3.00	3.42					
А	2.00	2.75					
R	3.50	2.67					
Chi-Square (χ ²)	10.39	11.70					
p-value	0.016	0.008					

C: Completeness of the Content, L: Lack of False Information, A: Appropriateness of the Content, and R: Relevance





DISCUSSION

This study explored a novel approach to preparing educational presentations aimed at enhancing the educational hours of physiatry residents. Specifically, it evaluated the effectiveness of ChatGPT-40 in creating PowerPoint slides for therapeutic exercises. Presentations generated by both AI and the expert were assessed by blinded evaluators.

In this study, the cumulative average score for Al-generated presentations was 3.77 out of 5, while expert-prepared presentations achieved a higher mean score of 4.52 out of 5, indicating superior performance of the expert. Notably, the cumulative scores for the expert-prepared slides were significantly higher than those for the AI slides (p<0.001). However, when the presentations were assessed as a whole, no statistically significant difference was found between the cumulative scores (p=0.059).

Furthermore, the overall scores for individual topics indicated that the AI's performance ranged from good to excellent, whereas the expert received excellent ratings across all topics. When considering the entire presentation, the AI received a score of 3.38 out of 5, classified as "good", while the expert received a score of 4.25 out of 5, classified as "excellent".

These findings support both our hypotheses, suggesting that ChatGPT-40 would prepare a presentation rated above moderate and that the physiatrist would outperform ChatGPT-40 because of expertise.

As far as we know, this study is the first to investigate the capability of an AI system to create PowerPoint slides for a presentation based on medical texts. It represents a pioneering effort to evaluate the effectiveness of AI in preparing educational materials for residency programs.

To contextualize these findings, it is important to consider the existing literature on the use of AI in medicine and healthcare.

Previous studies have suggested that conversational Al platforms can enhance healthcare by reducing the daily burden on professionals. For example, ChatGPT has demonstrated its capability as an effective tool for improving medical documentation, such as clinical letters, imaging reports, and discharge reports (8). In a simulated case study, ChatGPT reviewed a conversation between a patient and a doctor, generated medical records, suggested differential diagnoses, and provided treatment recommendations; the results closely aligned with the physician's summaries (23). Likewise, ChatGPT was employed to facilitate the process of writing clinical letters for prior authorization requests from insurance providers. This innovative approach was noted to potentially save physicians considerable time, enabling them to concentrate more on patient care and clinical decision-making (24). Our findings support these results, demonstrating that the 4o version of ChatGPT can contribute to preparing medical content, even though expert performed better.

Literature also suggests that AI systems can play a beneficial role in health education initiatives. A systematic review pointed out that ChatGPT has promising uses in healthcare education, research, and practice, including improving scientific writing, streamlining workflows, and enhancing personalized learning (25). Munaf et al. recommended that resident doctors use ChatGPT for generating reports, creating mnemonics, and simulating clinical scenarios, thereby reducing administrative tasks, enhancing learning, and improving patient interaction as it streamlines workflows and presents information clearly (26). It has been shown that AI tools like ChatGPT can aid in content creation, support learning, and offer new opportunities for assessment and research in medical and postgraduate education (27). AI serves multiple roles in medical education, including enhancing clinical specialty training, facilitating personalized and adaptive learning, and improving decision-making through advanced data analysis. Additionally, AI integration promotes increased efficiency and accuracy in educational processes, driving the modernization and diversification of medical curricula (28). Our research supports these findings on educational effectiveness, as the Al-generated slides in our study were rated from good to excellent. This suggests that ChatGPT-4o could effectively reduce the workload for educator physicians, allowing them more time for other tasks.

Nonetheless a systematic review highlighted that ChatGPT only achieved moderate or 'passing' performance across various tests, deeming it unreliable for clinical deployment due to its nonclinical design (29). In line with this, our study highlighted the need for professional support when managing Al-generated content, as the expert's performance consistently surpassed that of the Al on cumulative and overall. This suggests two potential approaches: implementing professional oversight of Algenerated drafts or fostering collaboration between Al and experts.

Additionally, the use of AI in educational contexts is not without challenges. There are critical concerns regarding the potential for inaccurate information, inherent biases, and the necessity for robust privacy and security measures (26). Bajwa et al. asserted that attention must be given to ensuring ethical access to data, possessing the necessary expertise in medical fields, having sufficient computing power, and addressing the challenges associated with implementing AI in real-world settings (30). Moreover, ChatGPT should also be used with caution due to ethical, copyright, transparency, and legal issues, as well as risks of bias, plagiarism, lack of originality, inaccurate content with hallucination risks, limited knowledge, incorrect citations, cybersecurity concerns, and the potential for infodemics (25). Besides inaccuracies and misinformation, there may also be risks of over-reliance on AI for medical purposes (31).

In our study, there were no inaccuracies or misinformation present in the AI-prepared content. However completeness and appropriateness of the content received lower ranks. Additionally, we did not encounter any inherent biases in the Al-generated slides, as the material was derived from reputable sources. Given that no sensitive information was included, privacy and data protection were also not a concern. Furthermore, the author utilizing the Al system had the necessary expertise, which mitigated potential challenges related to implementation. We did not observe any cases of hallucination in the generated content. While there is a possibility of limited knowledge in Al outputs, this was addressed by ensuring that the content was reviewed by an expert prior to use. Additionally, we provided the citations ourselves, as this was part of the study design, further ensuring the reliability of the information presented

Even though the raters did not identify the mentioned problems they claimed that there was a notable distinction in the presentation style. After completing the statistical analysis and being informed about the group assignments the raters remarked that the Al-generated slides appeared more mechanical, whereas the human-generated slides conveyed a friendlier tone.

Another notable observation in our study was that 'relevance' was highest in the Al-made presentation, while 'lack of false information' was highest in the expert-made presentation. The high relevance in the Al presentation likely resulted from its ability to efficiently process and filter large datasets, effectively aligning content with specific objectives or keywords. In contrast, the expert's superior performance in ensuring the lack of false information suggests a strong emphasis on content reliability, which can be attributed to extensive domain knowledge, critical thinking skills, and experience in fact-checking.

Additionally, both AI and expert presentations scored lowest in completeness, indicating challenges faced by each in fully addressing all necessary details. For the AI, this limitation likely arisen from the inherent constraints of its training data and algorithms, which may not capture the depth and breadth of a topic as comprehensively as a human could. On the other hand, the expert's completeness might be affected by assumptions about the audience's prior knowledge particularly since they are first-year residents or by practical constraints such as limited time in educational settings.

Looking forward, advancements in artificial intelligence are likely to address some of the challenges currently faced. As AI systems continue to evolve, there will be an increase in their potential benefits, leading to higher accuracy in their outputs. A research suggests that in the coming decade, AI will become increasingly advanced, enabling healthcare to move away from a one-size-fits-all model toward a more personalized, preventive, and data-driven approach. These changes could improve patient outcomes and clinical experiences while also reducing costs, resulting in a more efficient and tailored healthcare system (30).

Finally, based on our findings, we recommend requiring specialist oversight when using AI-generated material, as

expert-prepared presentations outperformed Al-generated one. Additionally, we propose that collaboration between experts and Al could yield more refined results by leveraging their respective strengths.

Integration of AI in Educational Preparation

After completion of the study, we aimed to integrate the Algenerated presentation into the expert-made presentation. To achieve this, the Al-generated slides were meticulously reviewed and some necessary information were selectively included in the expert-made slides. This approach resulted in an enriched content, but also increased the time required for the presentation. Nevertheless, the resulting presentation was stored for use in the upcoming education hour for physiatry residents (19). This experience provided us with a unique opportunity to combine Al and human efforts to achieve better education material and to incorporate Al-generated insights into practical educational settings.

Limitations of the Study

The study has several limitations. First, the number of presentations could have been greater; however, the existing presentation covered the six most important topics related to therapeutic exercises, with each topic scored separately. While increasing the number of raters could have provided more varied feedback, both raters were experienced physiatrists, and their agreement was confirmed. Additionally, while it would have been beneficial for assistant doctors in the residency program to participate in the scoring, this was not feasible since they were in their first year of specialization and lacked sufficient knowledge on the subject. As new learners, they would have likely evaluated aspects such as fluency and clarity rather than the content itself. Lastly, although evaluating a larger number of slides could have enriched the analysis, the presentation was designed to simulate a real training session, which was intended to last approximately 40 minutes.

CONCLUSION

This study demonstrated that ChatGPT-4o can generate educational slide content on therapeutic exercises at a level above moderate for physiatry residents. However, the expert consistently outperformed the AI due to their specialization. This indicates that generative AI tools can be valuable for creating educational materials, but they should complement rather than replace human expertise. Careful integration of AI-generated health education content with professional oversight is essential to ensure the accuracy and appropriateness of the information presented.

There is a continued need for ongoing research and awareness of the practical challenges associated with integrating AI into healthcare education. Future studies should explore strategies to enhance AI's performance in its weaker areas and investigate how collaboration between AI and experts can be optimized to improve educational outcomes. **Financial disclosures:** The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: Since the study did not involve human participation and centered on engagements with conversational AI systems, ethical approval was not necessary.

REFERENCES

- 1. World Federation for Medical Education. WFME standards for postgraduate medical education, the 2023 revision: https://wfme.org/standards/pgme/ access date 01.09.2024.
- Sierocinski E, Mathias L, Freyer Martins Pereira J, Chenot JF. Postgraduate medical training in Germany: a narrative review. GMS J Med Educ. 2022;39:Doc49.
- 3. Kayhan Z. Teaching our students, our residents, and ourselves. Turk J Anaesthesiol Reanim. 2014;42:1-5.
- Yüksek Öğretim Kurulu. Tıpta Uzmanlık Tüzüğü (Mülga). https://www.yok.gov.tr/Sayfalar/Kurumsal/mevzuat/tipta_ uzmanlik_tuzugu_mulga.aspx access date 01.09.2024.
- 5. Bielecki JE, Tadi P. Therapeutic exercise. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023.
- Katwaroo AR, Adesh VS, Lowtan A, Umakanthan S. The diagnostic, therapeutic, and ethical impact of artificial intelligence in modern medicine. Postgrad Med J. 2024;100:289-96.
- OpenAI. ChatGPT. https://chat.openai.com. access date 01.09.2024.
- 8. Liu J, Wang C, Liu S. Utility of ChatGPT in clinical practice. J Med Internet Res. 2023;25:e48568.
- 9. Ying L, Liu Z, Fang H, et al. Text summarization with ChatGPT for drug labeling documents. Drug Discov Today. 2024;29:104018.
- 10. Yilmaz Muluk S. Enhancing musculoskeletal injection safety: evaluating checklists generated by artificial intelligence and revising the preformed checklist. Cureus. 2024;16:e59708.
- 11. Sallam M, Barakat M, Sallam M. A preliminary checklist (METRICS) to standardize the design and reporting of studies on generative artificial intelligence-based models in health care education and practice: Development study involving a literature review. Interact J Med Res. 2024;13:e54704.
- 12. Özdemir H, Demirbağ Kabayel D. Range of Motion Exercises, Stretching Exercises and Peripheral Joint Mobilization/ Manipulation. In: Durmaz B, ed. Tedavi Edici Egzersizler. 1st edition. Ankara: Türkiye Klinikleri; 2019:8-14.
- Eker Büyükşireci D, Meray J. Muscle perfomance exercises. In: Durmaz B, ed. Tedavi Edici Egzersizler. 1st edition. Ankara: Türkiye Klinikleri. 2019:15-20.
- Kurtaiş Aytür Y. Aerobic exercises. In: Durmaz B, ed. Tedavi Edici Egzersizler. 1st edition. Ankara: Türkiye Klinikleri; 2019:21-5.

- 15. Alp A. Aquatic exercises. In: Durmaz B, ed. Tedavi Edici Egzersizler. 1st edition. Ankara: Türkiye Klinikleri; 2019:26-32.
- 16. Üzümcügil Karapolat H, Akgöl I. Posture and sportive performance. In: Durmaz B, ed. Tedavi Edici Egzersizler. 1st edition. Ankara: Türkiye Klinikleri; 2019:33-39.
- Demirsoy N. Relaxation exercises. In: Durmaz B, ed. Tedavi Edici Egzersizler. 1st ed. Ankara: Türkiye Klinikleri; 2019:40-6.
- Sallam M, Barakat M, Sallam M. Pilot testing of a tool to standardize the assessment of the quality of health information generated by artificial intelligence-based models. Cureus. 2023;15:e49373.
- 19. Yilmaz Muluk S, Altuntas V, Duman Sahin Z. Preparing educational presentations about therapeutic exercises for resident physiatrists (Version 2) [Data set]. Zenodo. Published October 28, 2024. doi:10.5281/zenodo.14003512.
- Meskó B. Prompt engineering as an important emerging skill for medical professionals: tutorial. J Med Internet Res. 2023;25:e50638.
- 21. Hollander M, Wolfe DA, Chicken E. Nonparametric statistical methods. 2nd ed. New York: Wiley; 1999;101-3.
- 22. Landis JR, Koch GG. The measurement of observer agreement for categorical data. Biometrics. 1977;33:159-74.
- 23. Kaneda Y, Takita M, Hamaki T, et al. ChatGPT's potential in enhancing physician efficiency: a Japanese case study. Cureus. 2023;15:e48235.
- 24. Diane A, Gencarelli P Jr, Lee JM Jr, Mittal R. Utilizing ChatGPT to Streamline the Generation of Prior Authorization Letters and Enhance Clerical Workflow in Orthopedic Surgery Practice: A Case Report. Cureus. 2023;15:e49680.
- 25. Sallam M. ChatGPT utility in healthcare education, research, and practice: A systematic review on the promising perspectives and valid concerns. Healthcare (Basel). 2023;11:887.
- 26. Munaf U, Ul-Haque I, Arif TB. ChatGPT: A helpful tool for resident physicians?. Acad Med. 2023;98:868-9.
- Boscardin CK, Gin B, Golde PB, Hauer KE. ChatGPT and generative artificial intelligence for medical education: Potential impact and opportunity. Acad Med. 2024;99:22-7.
- 28. Sun L, Yin C, Xu Q, Zhao W. Artificial intelligence for healthcare and medical education: a systematic review. Am J Transl Res. 2023;15:4820-8.
- 29. Li J, Dada A, Puladi B, et al. ChatGPT in healthcare: a taxonomy and systematic review. Comput Methods Programs Biomed. 2024;245:108013.
- Bajwa J, Munir U, Nori A, Williams B. Artificial intelligence in healthcare: transforming the practice of medicine. Future Healthc J. 2021;8:e188-e194.
- 31. Kleesiek J, Wu Y, Stiglic G, et al. An opinion on ChatGPT in healthcare: Written by humans only. J Nucl Med. 2023;64:701-3.

MEDICAL RECORDS-International Medical Journal

Research Article



Examining the Attitudes and Experiences of Nurses Working in a High Security Forensic Psychiatry Unit from a Psychiatric Perspective

Dilek Orum¹, Murad Atmaca²

¹Elazığ Fethi Sekin City Hospital, Department of Psychiatry, Elazığ, Türkiye ²Fırat University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Psychiatry, Elazığ, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.



Abstract

Aim: This study aims to examine the approaches, attitudes, and experiences of nurses working in a High Security Forensic Psychiatry Unit (HSFPU) towards psychiatric disorders, conditions, and treatments and to reveal the associated factors.

Material and Method: This cross-sectional study was conducted with nurses working at Elazığ Fethi Sekin City Hospital HSFPU who agreed to participate in the study. The participants filled out the Nurses' Attitudes Towards Forensic Psychiatric Patients Scale (NAFPPS) along with a questionnaire including various variables.

Results: Thirty-two nurses (22 females (68.80%), 10 males (31.20%)) were included in the study. Twenty-two nurses (31.20%) did not have sufficient knowledge of the Penal Code of Türkiye 32 (PCT 32). The psychiatric disorder that nurses found easiest to predict was bipolar spectrum disorder (43.80%), while the one that nurses found most difficult to predict was schizophrenia spectrum disorder (62.50%). The illicit substance that caused the most difficulty in nursing care was methamphetamine for 19 nurses (59.40%). Nurses' command of psychiatric terminology was not at the desired level. Twenty-three nurses (71.90%) thought that antidepressants caused addiction. Almost all of the nurses (96.90%) thought that antisocial and borderline personality traits make nursing care difficult. According to regression analysis, working duration in HFSPU predicts NAFPPS willingness to provide care subscale (constant p<0.001; working duration in HFSPU p=0.039), while NAFPPS willingness to provide care subscale predicts routine learning of psychiatric diagnosis in nursing care (constant p=0.048, NAFPPS willingness to provide care p=0.037).

Conclusion: This study demonstrated that nurses' knowledge and experience levels regarding psychiatric treatment practices were quite high, but not at the desired level regarding forensic and psychiatric terminology. It was suggested that the necessary improvements would be provided through in-service training including psychiatric nursing, forensic psychiatric nursing, psychiatry, psychology, and social services.

Keywords: Nurse, nursing care, forensic nursing, psychiatric nursing, forensic psychiatry

INTRODUCTION

In Türkiye, cases who were diagnosed with a psychiatric disorder or were thought to have a psychiatric disorder and were involved in a crime were hospitalized in forensic psychiatry inpatient units within mental health and disease hospitals in the past. In 2005, within the framework of European Union harmonization laws, it was decided that the judicial procedures and, if necessary, the treatment of cases diagnosed with psychiatric disorders involved in crime would be carried out in High Security Forensic Psychiatry Units (HSFPU). As of 2015, HSFPUs started to

provide services under the City Hospitals (1,2).

Cases are accepted within the scope of articles 32 of the Penal Code of Türkiye (PCT 32), 57 of the Penal Code of Türkiye (PCT 57) or 74 of the Code of Criminal Procedure (CCP 74) in HSFPUs. PCT 32 is about mental disorders. A penalty shall not be imposed on a person who, due to mental disorder, cannot comprehend the legal meaning and consequences of the act he has committed, or if, in respect of such act, his ability to control his own behaviour was significantly diminished. However, security measures shall be imposed for such persons. PCT 57 includes "Security

CITATION

Orum D, Atmaca M. Examining the Attitudes and Experiences of Nurses Working in a High Security Forensic Psychiatry Unit from a Psychiatric Perspective. Med Records. 2025;7(1):129-35. DOI:1037990/medr.1588069

Received: 19.11.2024 Accepted: 09.12.2024 Published: 14.01.2025

Corresponding Author: Dilek Orum, Elazığ Fethi Sekin City Hospital, Department of Psychiatry, Elazığ, Türkiye **E-mail**: dr.dilekulukan@gmail.com

Measures Specific to Mental Cases". It evaluates the hospitalization for treatment purposes (PCT 32/1 or PCT 32/2), discharge and post-discharge process of cases who were mentally ill at the time of involvement in a crime. The case must admit to HSFPUs for follow-up and treatment to be checked at certain intervals. The duration of this followup is determined by the health board. Cases where the necessary decision cannot be determined within the scope of PCT 32 are observed. CCP 74 includes "Stationary Mental Examination". If strong indications of suspicion are present, which tend to show that the suspect or the accused committed the criminal conduct; then in order to clarify whether the suspect or the accused is mentally ill, and if so, the duration of the illness, and whether this affected his actions, the Justice of the Peace in Criminal Matters during the investigation phase, and the trial court during the prosecution phase, may order the suspect or the accused to be stationed in a public medical centre upon the proposal of the expert, after hearing both the public prosecutor and the defence counsel. The period of the stationary mental examination shall not exceed three weeks. If this period is not sufficient, upon the motion of the public medical centre, a ruling may be made and the additional terms not exceeding three weeks each may be given; the sum of the terms shall not exceed three months. The purpose of keeping the case under observation is to determine whether there is criminal liability within the scope of PCT 32. Although rare, involuntary, also known as compulsory, hospitalizations are carried out in HSFPUs. Article 432 of the Turkish Civil Code (TCC 432-437) includes the "Involuntary Hospitalization Decision" (1).

Nurses play a role in the care and treatment processes of forensic psychiatry cases in HSFPUs. There is no standardization in terms of treatment and care services in these units and nurses who are defined/specialized as forensic psychiatric nurses are not assigned. Therefore, the treatment and care services for forensic psychiatric patients are carried out by nurses who have received almost no training in forensic psychiatric nursing. Lack of forensic psychiatric training is reflected in the practices of nurses working in these units and affects their attitudes towards cases (3-5). Our aim in this study is to examine the approaches, attitudes and experiences of nurses working in a HSFPU towards psychiatric disorders and treatments and to reveal the associated factors.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

This cross-sectional and descriptive study was conducted at Health Sciences University Elazığ Fethi Sekin City Hospital HSFPU between 15/09/2024 and 15/10/2024. The universe of the study consisted of 38 nurses working in this unit. The study was conducted with 32 nurses who agreed to participate in the study, excluding those who were absent from their institutions due to reasons such as leave, illness, and change of place of duty for training purposes. The inpatient capacity of Elazığ Fethi Sekin City

Hospital HSFPU is 100.

The survey draft was created by researcher with six years of experience in psychiatry practice. The survey was administered face to face. Leading and sensitive questions were avoided. The survey language is Turkish. The Nurses' Attitudes Towards Forensic Psychiatric Patients Scale (NAFPPS) was administered to all participants.

NAFPPS was developed by Baysan-Arabaci and Çam (3) in 2009 to determine the attitudes of nurses towards forensic psychiatric patients. It consists of 25 items: positive (items 3, 4, 7, 10, 14, 15, 16, 17, 20) and negative (items 1, 2, 5, 6, 8, 9, 11, 12, 13, 18, 19, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25). In the validity and reliability study of the scale, the content validity index was found to be 0.69, the Cronbach Alpha internal consistency coefficient was 0.86, the intra-cluster correlation coefficient was 0.86, and the stability coefficient determining the consistency between pre-test and re-test was 0.69. In the factor analysis, it was determined that the scale consisted of four sub-dimensions: "social distance (items 14, 15, 16 and 17)", "willingness to provide care (items 7, 10, 11, 12, 13, 19 and 20)", "trust (items 8, 9, 18, 21, 22, 23, 24 and 25)" and "feeling threatened (items 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6)". NAFPPS was prepared as a five-point Likert-type scale. According to the nurses' agreement or disagreement with each statement, each positive item is scored from 1 to 5 from "completely disagree" to "completely agree", and the negative items are scored vice versa. The highest score that can be obtained from the scale is 125, and the lowest score is 25. A high score indicates a positive attitude towards forensic psychiatric patients.

There was no age or gender limit. The participants answered all questions completely and harmoniously. Therefore, no data were excluded from the study. According to the sample size analysis (population size 300; population proportion 99%), 15 or more measurements/surveys are needed to have a confidence level of 95% that the real value is within ±5% (margin of error) of the measured/surveyed value.

Ethical approval was obtained from the Firat University Non-invasive Research Ethics Committee and the 1964 Declaration of Helsinki was complied with (Clinical Trial Number: 2024/12-16; Date: 11/09/2024). All participants provided informed consent.

All analyses were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics version 26.0. Descriptive statistics and continuous variables were given as mean±standard deviation and categorical variables were given as frequency and percentage. The Chi-square test and Fisher's exact test were used to compare the categorical data between the groups and genders. Compliance with normal distribution was determined by the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test and Mann-Whitney U test was used for non-normally distributed variables. Linear regression analysis, binary logistic regression analysis and Spearman correlation analysis were used. A p value of less than 0.05 was set as statistical significance.

RESULTS

Sociodemographic, Training, and Psychometric Scale Characteristics of Nurses

Thirty-two nurses (22 females (68.80%), 10 males (31.20%)) were included in the study. Mean age was 37.53±6.57 years (minimum 29 years, maximum 54 years; 25th 32.00 years; median 37.00 years; 75th 43.00 years). Twenty-nine nurses (90.60%) were university graduates, while three nurses (9.40%) were high school graduates. Nursing duration was 15.37±7.55 years (minimum 6 years, maximum 36 years; 25th 10.00 years; median 14.00 years; 75th 20.00 years); mean working duration in the psychiatric inpatient unit was 5.31±2.71 years (minimum 1 years, maximum 14 years; 25th 3.00 years; median 5.00 years; 75th 6.75 years); mean working duration in HSFPU was 4.37±1.66 years (minimum 1 years, maximum 7 years; 25th 3.00 years; 75th 6.00 years). There was only one male nurse

(3.10%) with a master's degree in psychiatric nursing. There were no nurses with a master's degree in forensic psychiatric nursing. While four nurses (12.50%) were working in day shift, 28 nurses (87.50%) were working in night shift. There were no nurses with first-degree relatives who had a severe mental disorder (SMD). There were three nurses (9.40%) with second-degree relatives who had a SMD. In total (n=32), NAFPPS total was determined as 64.56±11.82 (minimum 44.00, maximum 86.00; 25th 55.00; median 60.00; 75th 77.25), NAFPPS social distance as 8.68±3.49 (minimum 4.00, maximum 15.00; 25th 6.00; median 8.00; 75th 12.00), NAFPPS willingness to provide care as 24.65±5.03 (minimum 16.00, maximum 35.00; 25th 21.00; median 24.00; 75th 28.75), NAFPPS trust as 16.12±4.10 (minimum 10.00, maximum 22.00; 25th 12.00; median 16.00; 75th 20.00) and NAFPPS feeling threatened as 15.09±2.17 (minimum 10.00, maximum 21.00; 25th 14.00; median 14.00; 75th 16.00) (Table 1).

Table 1. Sociodemographic, training, and psychometric scale characteristics of nurses			
Parameters	Female (n=22) mean±SD (mean rank) & n	Male (n=10) mean±SD & n	р
Age (years)	38.63±6.10 (18.50)	35.10±7.23 (12.10)	0.199ª
Education (university/high school)	21/1	8/2	0.164 ^b
Nursing duration (years)	16.90±6.73 (18.89)	12.00±8.51 (11.25)	0.129ª
Working duration in the psychiatry (years)	5.13±3.02 (15.61)	5.70±1.94 (18.45)	0.533ª
Working duration in the HSFPU (years)	4.09±1.84 (15.20)	5.00±0.94 (19.35)	0.076ª
Shift (day shift/night shift)	4/18	0/10	0.149 ^b
Second-degree relatives with SMD (yes/no)	1/21	2/8	0.164 ^b
NAFPPS total	63.13±12.39 (15.18)	67.70±10.34 (19.40)	0.290ª
NAFPPS social distance	8.04±3.53 (14.70)	10.10±3.10 (20.45)	0.113ª
NAFPPS willingness to provide care	24.40±5.52 (15.80)	25.20±3.96 (18.05)	0.650°
NAFPPS trust	15.40±4.22 (14.82)	17.70±3.49 (20.20)	0.123ª
NAFPPS feeling threatened	15.27±2.07 (16.75)	14.70±2.45 (15.95)	0.531ª

*p<0.05; Mann-Whitney U testa and Fisher's exact testb were used in statistical analysis; SD: standard deviation, HSFPU: high security forensic psychiatry unit, SMD: severe mental disorder, NAFPPS: nurses' attitudes towards forensic psychiatric patients scale

Nurses' Experiences and Attitudes on HSFPU Processes and Procedures

There were 25 nurses (78.10%) with sufficient knowledge regarding CCP 74, 27 nurses (84.40%) with sufficient knowledge regarding PCT 57, 22 nurses (68.80%) with sufficient knowledge regarding PCT 32, and 12 nurses (37.50%) with sufficient knowledge regarding TCC 432-437.

All of the nurses accompanied the psychiatrists on visits. All of the nurses were familiar with the forensic hospitalization processes of the cases. However, 14 nurses (43.80%) did not routinely learn the psychiatric diagnosis of the case during nursing care.

There were 20 nurses (62.50%) who thought that the nurseto-patient ratio was adequate. There was only one female nurse who was not happy working at HSFPU (Table 2).

Table 2. Experiences and attitudes of nurses on HSFPU processes and procedures			
Parameters	Female (n=22)	Male (n=10)	р
Is the nurse-to-patient ratio adequate? (yes/no)	14/8	6/4	0.844ª
Sufficient knowledge regarding CCP 74 (yes/no)	15/7	10/0	0.044**
Sufficient knowledge regarding PCT 57 (yes/no)	17/5	10/0	0.101ª
Sufficient knowledge regarding PCT 32 (yes/no)	14/8	8/2	0.355ª

*p<0.05, Fisher's exact testa were used in statistical analysis; HSFPU: high security forensic psychiatry unit, SD: standard deviation, CCP: code of criminal procedure, PCT: penal code of Türkiye

Nurses' Experiences and Attitudes Regarding Psychiatric Conditions, Disorders, and Treatments

The psychiatric diagnosis that caused the most difficulties in nursing care was schizophrenia spectrum disorder for 11 nurses (34.40%) and bipolar spectrum disorder for seven nurses (21.9%). The psychiatric disorder that the 20 nurses (62.50%) had the most experience in nursing care was bipolar spectrum disorder. The most common psychiatric disorder accompanying insomnia was bipolar spectrum disorder for 16 nurses (50.00%) and schizophrenia spectrum disorder for 10 nurses (31.30%). The most common psychiatric disorder accompanying agitation was schizophrenia spectrum disorder for 13 nurses (40.60%) and bipolar spectrum disorder for eight nurses (25.00%). Based on nursing observations, the most easily predicted psychiatric disorder diagnosis was bipolar spectrum disorder for 14 nurses (43.80%) and schizophrenia spectrum disorder for eight nurses (25.00%). Based on nursing observations, the most difficult psychiatric disorder diagnosis to predict was schizophrenia spectrum disorder for 20 nurses (62.50%). The illicit substance that caused the most difficulty in nursing care was methamphetamine for 19 nurses (59.40%). There were 25 nurses (78.10%) with experience in nursing care of methamphetamine psychosis. Twenty-six nurses (81.30%) did not know what extrapyramidal system side effects meant. Twenty-eight nurses (87.50%) knew what delusion meant, while all of the nurses (100.00%) had sufficient knowledge about hallucination. Eleven nurses (34.40%) did not know what hypomania/mania meant. Twenty-three nurses (71.90%) thought that antidepressants caused addiction. The most common antidepressant side effect experienced by ten nurses (31.30%) was sedation. All nurses (n=32) knew that benzodiazepines cause addiction. Thirty-one nurses (96.90%) thought that antisocial and borderline personality traits made nursing care difficult. All nurses (n=32) had experience of restricting agitated patients, administering haloperidol, biperiden, chlorpromazine, zuclopenthixol acuphase, zuclopenthixol depot intramuscularly. All nurses (n=32) thought that patients with suicide and homicide phenomena should be closely monitored. Four of the nurses (12.50%) had experience of life-threatening psychiatric conditions (such as neuroleptic malignant syndrome, malignant catatonia) (Table 3 and 4).

The sociodemographic characteristics, attitudes and experiences of nurses who thought the nurse-to-patient ratio was adequate and those who did not were similar (p>0.05).

The sociodemographic characteristics, attitudes and experiences of nurses with and without sufficient knowledge regarding PCT 32 were compared. Those with sufficient knowledge of PCT 32 had higher working duration in the psychiatry (p=0.001) and working duration in the HSFPU (p=0.002). Those who did not have sufficient knowledge regarding PCT 32 also did not have sufficient knowledge regarding CCP 74 (p=0.001), PCT 57 (p=0.001), and purpose of biperiden use (p=0.010). Those who did not have sufficient knowledge about PCT 32 (p=0.005) and mania/hypomania (p=0.017) were not willing to learn the psychiatric diagnoses of the cases they care for. Nursing duration was higher in those with experience in delirium nursing care (p=0.023).

The correlation between various variables was examined by controlling the effect of age. No significant correlation was found between nursing duration, working duration in psychiatry, working duration in HSFPU and NAFPPS total and subscales (p>0.05).

According to linear regression analysis, working duration in HFSPU predicts NAFPPS willingness to provide care (R=0.367, R square=0.134, Durbin-Watson=1.216, F=4.660, 95.0% CI=14.873-24.705; constant p<0.001; working duration in HFSPU p=0.039).

According to binary logistic regression analysis, NAFPPS willingness to provide care predicts routine learning of psychiatric diagnosis in nursing care (Beginning block, -2 log-likelihood=43.860°, overall p=0.025; Block one, -2 log-likelihood=38.380°; Cox & Snell R²=0.157; Nagelkerke R² 0.211; Hosmer and Lemeshow Test p=0.297, constant p=0.048, NAFPPS willingness to provide care p=0.037).

The parameters that can be used to predict having sufficient knowledge about PCT 32 were examined using binary logical regression analysis. The significant variables were examined one by one using binary logistic regression analysis. After various modelling, a model was created using 'routine learning of psychiatric diagnosis in nursing care' and 'working duration in HFSPU' (Beginning block, -2 log-likelihood=39.760°, overall p=0.001; Block one, -2 log-likelihood=23.709°; Cox & Snell R²=0.394; Nagelkerke R² 0.554; Hosmer and Lemeshow Test p=0.485, constant

p=0.079). The 'routine learning of psychiatric diagnosis in nursing care (p=0.023)' and 'working duration in HFSPU (p=0.018)' contributed significantly to the model.

Table 3. Experiences and attitudes of nurses regarding psychiatric disorders and conditions			
Parameters	Female (n=22)	Male (n=10)	р
The most difficult psychiatric diagnosis for nursing care (bipolar spectrum disorder/ schizophrenia spectrum disorder/intellectual disability/personality disorder/substance use disorder)	3/8/5/4/2	4/3/1/0/2	0.255ª
Having much experience in nursing care (bipolar spectrum disorder/schizophrenia spectrum disorder/intellectual disability/ substance use disorder)	14/5/1/2	6/3/1/0	0.706ª
The most common psychiatric disorder accompanying insomnia (bipolar spectrum disorder/schizophrenia spectrum disorder/ personality disorder/substance use disorder/anxiety spectrum disorder/depression spectrum disorder)	10/8/0/2/1/1	6/2/1/1/0/0	0.550ª
The most common psychiatric disorder accompanying agitation (bipolar spectrum disorder/schizophrenia spectrum disorder/personality disorder/substance use disorder)	6/10/3/3	2/3/1/4	0.422ª
The most easily predicted psychiatric disorder (bipolar spectrum disorder/ schizophrenia spectrum disorder/anxiety spectrum disorder/intellectual disability/ personality disorder/substance use disorder)	10/6/1/3/0/2	4/2/0/3/1/0	0.449ª
The most difficult psychiatric disorder to predict (bipolar spectrum disorder/ schizophrenia spectrum disorder/anxiety spectrum disorder/ personality disorder/ substance use disorder)	1/13/1/3/2	1/7/0/2/0	0.714ª
The most difficult illicit substance for nursing care (no experience/methamphetamine/ cannabis/heroin)	7/11/2/2	2/8/0/0	0.362ª
Experience in nursing care of methamphetamine-induced psychotic disorder (yes/no)	16/6	9/1	0.273ª
Sufficient knowledge regarding delusion (yes/no)	18/4	10/0	0.149ª
Sufficient knowledge regarding mania/hypomania (yes/no)	15/7	6/4	0.652ª
Experience of nursing care of delirium (yes/no)	15/7	3/7	0.044*ª
*p<0.05, Fisher's exact testa were used in statistical analysis			

Table 4. Experiences and attitudes of nurses regarding psychotropic medications and side effects			
Parameters	Female (n=22)	Male (n=10)	р
Sufficient knowledge regarding EPS side effect (yes/no)	5/17	1/9	0.393
Most frequent EPS side effect experience (no experience/tardive dyskinesia/ akathisia/dystonia)	17/2/2/1	9/0/0/1	0.516
Do antidepressants cause addiction? (yes/no)	18/4	5/5	0.064
The most common psychotropic side effect according to nurses' observations (sedation/constipation/nausea/dry mouth/sialorrhea/dystonia/palpitations/tremor)	7/0/1/6/4/2/1/1	3/4/0/1/0/1/1/0	0.077
Sufficient knowledge regarding the purpose of use of biperiden (yes/no)	12/10	8/2	0.168
It is recommended that the first dose of PP1M be administered to the deltoid muscle, and the second dose on day eight. Did you know this? (I have administration experience and I knew it/I have administration experience but I didn't know it)	3/19	0/10	0.220
PP3M needs to be shaken for 15 seconds before administration. Did you know this? (I don't have any administration experience/I have administration experience and I knew it/I have administration experience but I didn't know it)	19/2/1	9/1/0	0.790

*p<0.05, Fisher's exact testa were used in statistical analysis; EPS: extrapyramidal system; PP1M: paliperidone palmitate once-monthly injection; PP3M: paliperidone palmitate three-monthly injection

DISCUSSION

This study examined the experiences and attitudes of nurses working in a HSFPU regarding psychiatric disorders, treatment, and judicial procedures, and yielded important findings. It was shown that the nurses' knowledge of judicial procedures (e.g., CCP 74, PCT 57, PCT 32, TCC 432-437), psychiatric terminology, and psychotropic medications was not at the desired level. It was determined that the nurses' experiences regarding psychiatric disorders were consistent with the HSFPU characteristics. It was also concluded that the nurses' attitudes and experiences were not generally related to gender.

In Türkiye, hospitalizations under TCC 432-437 are mostly carried out in centres such as mental health hospitals (6). However, in rare cases where observation is carried out under CCP 74 and a PCT 57 decision is applied to the court, hospitalization may be required until the PCT 57 decision is reached (1). These hospitalizations are carried out involuntarily under TCC 432-437 (6). In other words, hospitalizations under TCC 432-437 are relatively rare in HSFPUs. It is thought that this is the most important reason why nurses are less familiar with the concept of TCC 432-437 compared to other judicial procedures including CCP 74, PCT 57, and PCT 32. It is also a striking finding that approximately one-fourth of the nurses do not have knowledge of CCP 74, PCT 57, and PCT 32 despite working in an HSFPU. The parameters associated with having sufficient knowledge about judicial processes were also investigated in this study. Those who had sufficient knowledge about PCT 32 were found to have longer working duration in psychiatry and HSFPU. Those who did not have sufficient knowledge regarding judicial processes and mania/hypomania were not willing to learn the psychiatric diagnoses of the cases.

Mood disorders and psychotic disorders are among the psychiatric disorders most frequently hospitalized in HSFPUs due to involvement in crime (7). In the study conducted by Yıldız et al. (7) in the same clinic as this present study, Elazığ Fethi Sekin City Hospital HSFPU, between May 15, 2021 and June 30, 2021, it was shown that 61.8% of the cases were in the psychotic disorder spectrum, and 30.9% were in the mood disorder spectrum. Again, in the study by Kazgan-Kılıçaslan et al. (8), who examined the data of the same unit, Elazığ Fethi Sekin City Hospital HSFPU, between September 20, 2021 and October 20, 2021, it was shown that 45.3% of the cases were in the psychotic disorder spectrum, and 44.4% were in the mood disorder spectrum. It is seen that psychiatric disorder diagnoses other than mood disorders and psychotic disorders are relatively rare (~10.0%) and inpatient profile is also clearly reflected in the attitudes and experiences of the nurses. It was determined that the psychiatric disorders that the nurses have the most nursing care experience are bipolar spectrum disorder and schizophrenia spectrum disorder. Again, it was shown that the psychiatric disorders that nurses have the

most difficulty in nursing care are these disorders. Half of the nurses stated that the psychiatric disorder in which insomnia is most common is bipolar spectrum disorder. Indeed, insomnia constitutes one of the diagnostic criteria in manic and hypomanic episodes of bipolar disorder (9). It is also seen that the nurses' experiences on agitation are consistent with the literature. Agitation is common in schizophrenia and bipolar spectrum disorders and disrupts the patient's treatment compliance (10). The nurses reported that they more easily predict the diagnosis of bipolar spectrum disorder, while it is more difficult to predict the diagnosis of schizophrenia spectrum disorder. Psychomotor agitation, insomnia, inflated selfesteem, grandiosity, increased amount of speech, laxity in associations, goal-directed activity, distractibility, and excessive involvement in activities probably make it easier to predict bipolar spectrum disorders. Negative symptoms in schizophrenia spectrum disorders including slow movement, lack of motivation, poor grooming, difficulty planning, reduced range of emotions, and becoming withdrawn make diagnostic prediction difficult (9). The increasing use of methamphetamine all over the world in recent years is also reflected in our findings. According to the 2023 World Drug Report, 36 million of the 296 million drug users in 2021 were methamphetamine users (11). It is known that approximately 40% of methamphetamine users have psychotic symptoms. These psychotic symptoms may be transient or permanent. Psychotic disorders due to methamphetamine use are associated with increased aggression (12,13). The judicial processes of these cases, who tend to violence and engage in crime, are also carried out in HSFPUs. This results in nurses encountering more users of methamphetamine than other illicit substances. Four out of five nurses included in this study had been involved in the nursing care of a patient diagnosed with methamphetamine-related psychotic disorder at least once, and three out of five reported that the substance they had the most problems with in nursing care was methamphetamine.

Nurses' command of psychiatric terminology and conditions is also one of the subjects of this study. It was observed that all nurses had sufficient knowledge about hallucination. It was thought that the widespread use of the concept of hallucination in the normal population was related to this result. Although bipolar spectrum disorder is one of the most frequently followed psychiatric disorders in HSFPUs, it was determined that the nurses' knowledge about mania/hypomania was not sufficient. Another important finding of this study was that two-thirds of the nurses thought that antidepressants caused addiction. It was observed that nurses had good experience with intramuscular injections, which are frequently used in psychiatry practice. In the study conducted by Baysan-Arabaci and Cam (3) on nurses working in psychiatry inpatient units, the NAFPPS total score was reported as 69.07±12.46. In this sense, the NAFPPS scores determined in this present study were found to be consistent with the data in the literature.

Additionally, a significant relationship was found between NAFPPS willingness to provide care and 'routine learning of psychiatric diagnosis in nursing care' and working duration in HFSPU.

In health services, individuals who do not have serious medical problems, exhibit nonspecific complaints and psychosomatic symptoms, are coercive, demanding, aggressive, and seek secondary gains are defined as 'difficult', 'heart sink', or 'hateful' patients. Antisocial and borderline personality traits are the most frequently detected personality patterns in these patients (14). The nurses who participated in this study also stated that antisocial and borderline personality traits made the process difficult during nursing care.

As of 2021, there are six HSFPUs in the provinces of Adana, Kayseri, Elazığ, Eskişehir, Bursa, and Ankara (1). The exact number of nurses working in these units is not known, but based on the number of nurses working in Elazığ Fethi Sekin City Hospital HSFPU, it is estimated to be around 250-300. The most important strength of this study is that it has examined for the first time the approaches of nurses working in HSFPUs regarding forensic cases, psychiatric disorders and conditions, psychotropic medications, and side effects. The limitation of this study is that it has addressed only one of the six HSFPUs. Its cross-sectional nature is another limitation. Longitudinal studies with larger samples are needed. Studies with larger samples may increase the generalizability of the results.

CONCLUSION

This study has demonstrated that nurses' knowledge and experience levels regarding psychiatric treatment practices are quite good, but not at the desired level regarding forensic and psychiatric terminology. It is suggested that the necessary progress will be made in this regard through in-service training in psychiatry. It is anticipated that the cooperation of units such as psychiatric nursing, forensic psychiatric nursing, psychiatry, psychology, and social services will maximize the benefit to be obtained from these in-service trainings.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: Ethical approval was obtained from the Firat University Non-invasive Research Ethics Committee and the 1964 Declaration of Helsinki was complied with (Clinical Trial Number: 2024/12-16; Date: 11/09/2024).

REFERENCES

- 1. Kaplan A. Homeless patients in high security forensic psychiatry hospitals. Uluslararası Sosyal Hizmet Araştırmaları Dergisi. 2023;3:49-59.
- 2. Kizilpinar SC, Kilic Demir B. Investigation of selfstigmatization and perceptions towards delinguency in inpatient individuals diagnosed with schizophrenia in highsecurity forensic psychiatry settings in Turkiye. Turkish J Clin Psych. 2024;27:127-38.
- 3. Baysan Arabacı L, Çam MO. The attitudes nurses working at psychiatric hospitals in Turkey have towards forensic psychiatric patients and the associated factors. Turk Psikiyatri Derg. 2013;24:253-9.
- 4. Polat H, Asi Karakaş SA. Forensic psychiatric nursing. J Midwifery and Health Sci. 2020;3:225-32.
- 5. Dikeç G, Baysan-Arabacı L, Taş G. The roles and responsibility of forensic psychiatric nurses: a systematic review. Journal of Psychiatric Nursing. 2017;8:157-64.
- 6. Örüm MH. Characteristics of cases hospitalized in a mental health and diseases hospital within the scope of article 432 of the Turkish civil code. Journal of Dependence. 2021;22:226-35.
- 7. Yıldız S, Kazğan A, Kurt O, Sırlıer-Emir B. Childhood trauma and dissociative symptoms in patients treated in the forensic psychiatry service. Current Approaches in Psychiatry. 2021;13:216-26.
- 8. Kazgan Kilicaslan A, Yildiz S, Sirlier Emir B, Kurt O. Internalized stigma, perceived social support, and life quality in patients admitted to a forensic psychiatry unit. J Ist Faculty Med. 2022;85:378-87.
- 9. First MB, Clarke DE, Yousif L, et al. DSM-5-TR: Rationale, process, and overview of changes. Psychiatry Serv. 2023;74:869-75.
- Pompili M, Ducci G, Galluzzo A, et al. The management of psychomotor agitation associated with schizophrenia or bipolar disorder: A brief review. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2021;18:4368.
- 11. United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime. World Drug Report 2023. https://www.unodc.org/unodc/en/data-and-analysis/ world-drug-report-2023.html access date 6.12.2024.
- 12. Glasner-Edwards S, Mooney LJ. Methamphetamine psychosis: epidemiology and management. CNS Drugs. 2014;28:1115-26.
- 13. Örüm D, Örüm MH, Kapıcı Y, Abuş S. Ten-year cardiovascular disease risk and related factors in lifetime marijuana use with comorbid methamphetamine-associated psychotic disorder: a QRISK®3 study. BMC Psychiatry. 2024;24:563.
- 14. Jackson JL, Choi A. From the editors desk: the Quandary of difficult patients. J Gen Intern Med. 2020;35:2519-20.



Examination of the Relationship Between the Comfort Levels and the Mother to Infant Bonding Levels of Women in the Postpartum Period

Gamze Goke Arslan¹, Nuran Nur Aypar Akbag², Pasemin Sanli³

¹Karamanoğlu Mehmetbey University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Nursing, Karaman, Türkiye ²Sinop University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Midwifery, Sinop, Türkiye ³Karamanoğlu Mehmetbey University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Midwifery, Karaman, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.



Abstract

Aim: The research was conducted to establish the relationship between the comfort levels of mothers in the postpartum period and mother-infant bonding.

Material and Method: The research is of descriptive type. The sample of the study consisted of 257 women who had just given birth in the Gynecology and Obstetrics service of a public hospital in Türkiye and voluntarily participated in the research between February and April 2023. Personal information questionnaire, postpartum comfort scale, and mother to infant bonding scale were used to collect the data of the study.

Results: The average total score women received from the postpartum comfort scale in the postpartum period was 97.45±15.22. A statistically significant difference was found between the postpartum comfort scale total score average according to the women's working status, number of postpartum days, postpartum care requirement and number of patients in the room (p<.05). Additionally, there was a difference between the mean physical comfort scores of women according to their income level (p<.05). The mean total score of the mother to infant bonding scale was 14.30±2.92. No significant relationship was found between women's postpartum comfort and mother-to-infant bonding levels.

Conclusion: The research findings indicated that women in the postpartum phase exhibited a moderate degree of comfort and maternalinfant bonding, with no statistically significant correlation between the two variables. To enhance postpartum comfort and foster stronger maternal-infant bonds, it is advisable for healthcare providers to assess mothers' needs and expectations comprehensively and deliver high-quality care accordingly.

Keywords: Parturition, woman, comfort, mother-infant interaction

INTRODUCTION

The postpartum phase represents a unique journey for families, playing a crucial role in safeguarding the wellbeing and growth of both the mother and baby, while also nurturing family health. During this period, the family balances change and regeneration is experienced, and the stress and anxiety of both the family and the mother increase while adapting to the changes experienced (1). In addition, this period is a period that requires giving baby care and creating a safe environment, communicating with the baby and overcoming the problems that arise. Prolonged labor, intense pain during labor and possible complications cause mothers to feel tired and exhausted. In this period of physical and emotional intensity, the mother has to adapt to this new process in order to meet the needs of her baby and to continue her daily life, while trying to meet her self-care and cope with the problems she experiences (2,3). The care and support to be received at the hospital in adapting to this new process is important for the positive maintenance of the postpartum comfort of the mothers. The word "comfort" is defined in

CITATION

Goke Arslan G, Aypar Akbag NN, Sanli Y. Examination of the Relationship Between the Comfort Levels and the Mother to Infant Bonding Levels of Women in the Postpartum Period. Med Records. 2025;7(1):136-44. DOI:1037990/medr.1552866

Received: 19.09.2024 Accepted: 04.12.2024 Published: 14.01.2025 Corresponding Author: Gamze Goke Arslan, Karamanoğlu Mehmetbey University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Nursing, Karaman, Türkiye E-mail: gamze.goke@gmail.com the dictionary as relaxation that facilitates daily life (4). The notion of comfort has remained central to nursing practice since the time of Florence Nightingale, serving as the ultimate objective in the provision of nursing care (5). The concept of comfort in nursing; It is defined as diagnosing the comfort needs of the individual, family and society being cared for, planning the nursing care for these needs and then evaluating the comfort level (4,6,7). According to the comfort theory developed by Kolcaba, comfort; it is explained as meeting the problems that arise in physical, sociocultural, psychospiritual and environmental dimensions at three levels as relief, relaxation and overcoming problems (4).

In the postpartum period, women experience changes in physical, sociocultural, psychospiritual and environmental areas, and their comfort level is also affected. With the inclusion of a new individual in the family, there are changes in feelings, thoughts and relationships. The first minutes after birth are important in terms of ensuring the adaptation of the mother and the baby to this new situation, and mother to infant bonding (8).

Bonding, as a concept, refers to the connection that develops between an infant and their primary caregiver, fostering the infant's trust (9). Mother-to-infant bonding is a relationship that initiates with the baby's growth and movements within the mother's womb, and it is anticipated to mature gradually over time (10). This connection between the mother and the infant plays a crucial role in shaping the mother's role and ensuring its ongoing fulfillment (11). In the first days after birth, which forms the basis of the mother-infant relationship, mother-infant interaction begins, mothers need social and psychological support, and this support is mostly received from members of the family (12). Supporting the care of the baby, helping the mother to meet her care needs, creating time for sleep and rest, and the support of the spouse positively affect the bonding between the mother and the infant. As a result of relieving pain and bleeding in the postpartum period, ensuring hygiene, nutrition and mobilization, and supporting infant care, the mother will feel sufficient and will be stronger in coping with problems. In this period, ensuring the harmony of the mother who receives holistic care, starting and continuing breast milk early, ensuring the recovery in a short time, preventing the risk factors that may occur and the care to be given to the mother and the baby will provide both postpartum comfort and strengthening the mother's bond with the baby. Midwives and nurses have important responsibilities in providing postpartum care, improving comfort and strengthening the mother's bond with the baby (8,13-15,16-21). Based on this information, the study aimed to determine the relationship between women's comfort levels in the postpartum period and maternal bonds with their newborns.

Research Question and Hypothesis

Is there a relationship between women's comfort levels in the postpartum period and mother-infant bonding?

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Type of Research

The research is a descriptive correlational study conducted to elucidate the relationship between the comfort levels of mothers and mother-infant bonding in the postpartum period.

Population and Sample of the Research

In this research, the G-power 3.1.9.4 statistical software was utilized to determine the appropriate sample size. To establish the sample size, we referenced a prior study by Engin and Ayyıldız (n=368) that explored factors associated with maternal bonding to infants. Employing a Type I error level of 0.01, a Type II error level of 0.01 (resulting in a power of 0.99), and an effect size of 0.3, our analysis yielded a calculated sample size of 205 participants (21). Consequently, the research included 257 female participants who met the criteria of free will and acceptance. The acceptance criteria for the study included being 18 years and older, having given birth either vaginally or via cesarean section, being in the postpartum period (between 1 and 40 days), having given birth to one or more babies, having at least primary education, being able to read and understand Turkish, and expressing a willingness to participate in the study. Additionally, individuals who had experienced baby loss during the postpartum period, those who did not have their babies with them, and those diagnosed with postpartum depression or using psychiatric medication were excluded from the study.

Data Collection

The researchers gathered research data through inperson interviews conducted with mothers who had recently given birth (within the postpartum period of 1-40 days) and were under the care of the obstetrics service. Before proceeding with data collection, mothers were presented with comprehensive details regarding the study's purpose. They were then given the opportunity to provide informed consent should they decide to take part. It was made explicitly clear that they had the autonomy to withdraw from the study at any stage, underscoring the voluntary nature of their participation. Furthermore, it was emphasized that mothers would not be subject to any costs or fees associated with their involvement in the research.

Data Collection Tools

Personal information form, postpartum comfort scale and mother to infant bonding scale were used to collect the data of the study. **Personal information form:** The questionnaire comprises inquiries related to socio-demographic and obstetric attributes (12-15,19-21). It encompasses a range of questions, including but not limited to the woman's age, educational background, employment status, family structure, income level, pregnancy intention, infant's gender, method of delivery, any complications during childbirth, the occupancy of the room (number of patients), and the necessity for postpartum care.

Postpartum Comfort Scale (PCS): Karakaplan and Yıldız devised this tool for assessing postpartum comfort, as documented in their work (22). The scale, consisting of a total of 24 items, is in a 5-point Likert format. It encompasses three dimensions that investigate the physical, psychospiritual, and sociocultural aspects. Scores on the scale can range from a minimum of 34 to a maximum of 170, with a higher score indicating an increased level of postpartum comfort. The reliability of the data obtained from the scale was assessed using the Cronbach's Alpha test, resulting in a coefficient of 0.78 (22).

Mother to Infant Bonding Scale (MIBS): The scale under consideration assesses the relationship between the maternal-infant bond and the mother's initial emotional state. It can be effectively administered as early as the day following childbirth and was originally developed by Taylor and colleagues (23). Aydemir and Alparslan conducted a study with a sample of Turkish mothers to ensure the validity and reliability of the scale's Turkish version. The study included a translation and cultural adaptation process to ensure the suitability of the scale for Turkish culture. The translated scale was then administered to a group of mothers, and data were collected to assess its psychometric properties. The validity of the scale was evaluated using various methods, including content validity, construct validity, and criterion validity. Content validity was established by having experts in the fields of mother-infant attachment and emotional well-being review the scale items and provide feedback on their relevance and clarity. Construct validity was examined by analyzing the relationships between scale scores and other measurements of mother-infant attachment and emotional well-being. Criterion validity was established by comparing scale scores with established measures of mother-infant attachment and emotional wellbeing. The scale, consisting of a total of 8 items, is in a 4-point Likert format. Responses are scored between 0-3. The score that can be obtained from the scale is 0-24. As the score obtained from the scale increases, it is considered an indicator of mother-infant attachment problems. The reliability of the scale was assessed using Cronbach's alpha coefficient, which measures the internal consistency of scale items. The coefficient was calculated for the first day after birth and the 8-12 weeks postpartum period. The reported values of 0.69

and 0.68 indicate that the scale has acceptable internal consistency (24).

Statistics of Data

The research data underwent analysis using Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) 25.0 software. To assess the socio-demographic and obstetric characteristics of the mothers, descriptive statistics were employed, encompassing figures, percentages, arithmetic means, and standard deviations. For data associated with the PCS and MIBS, various statistical parameters were computed, including arithmetic means, standard deviations, medians, as well as minimum and maximum values. The distribution of the data was evaluated using the Shapiro-Wilk normality test. The choice between the Kruskal-Wallis H test and the Mann-Whitney U test depended on the number of variables considered. To explore relationships within the data, the Spearman correlation coefficient was utilized, with Spearman rank correlation coefficient (rho, ρ) values categorized as very weak (0.00-0.25), weak (0.26-0.49), moderate (0.50-0.69), high (0.70-0.89), and very high (0.90-1.00) correlations (25). Throughout the study, a significance level (α) of .05 was established, with any p-value less than .05 regarded as statistically significant (26).

Ethics of Research

Ethics committee approval (dated 5.12.2022 and number 11-2022/09) and institutional permission (2/09.01.2023) were obtained to conduct the research. The research's objectives were conveyed to the willing mothers who expressed their willingness to participate, and their informed consent was duly obtained. It was explicitly emphasized that participation in the study was entirely voluntary, and strict measures were in place to safeguard the confidentiality of the collected data.

RESULTS

The study revealed that the average age of the participating mothers was 28.45 years, with a standard deviation of 5.01. In terms of educational background, 31.5% (n=81) had completed middle school. A significant portion of the participants, specifically 74.7% (n=192), were unemployed, and 65.4% (n=168) reported having an income that matched their expenses. The majority, at 82.9% (n=213), belonged to nuclear families. Regarding pregnancy, a substantial 88.7% (n=228) of the mothers stated that their pregnancies were voluntary. In terms of childbirth, 59.1% (n=152) underwent cesarean sections, and 59.9% (n=154) gave birth within the first day postpartum. Furthermore, 90.7% of the women (n=233) expressed a need for postpartum care. Notably, the primary care requirement identified among them was the need for breastfeeding support, accounting for 45.5% (n=117) of the responses (Table 1).

Table 1. Socio-Demographic and obstetric	characteristic	s of the
mothers (n=257)		
Characteristic	Mean	SD
Age	28.45	5.01
Education local	n	%
	07	10 5
Primary school	27	10.5
	0 I 71	31.5
High school	71	27.0
	70	30.4
Voc	65	25.2
Ne	102	23.5
	192	/4./
Income loss then expenditure	60	22.2
	169	23.3
	20	11.2
	29	11.5
Nuclear family	212	82.0
Extented family	11	17.1
		17.1
Vae	228	88 7
No	220	11 5
Sex of the baby	25	11.5
Girl	132	51 4
Male	125	48.6
Mode of delivery	120	10.0
Normal/vaginal delivery	105	40.9
Caesarean section	152	59.1
How many days after the end of labor		
Day 1	154	59.9
Day 2 and above	103	40.1
Complications in childbirth		
Yes	17	6.6
No	240	93.4
Regular prenatal check-ups		
Yes	247	96.1
No	10	3.9
Need for postnatal care		
Yes	233	90.7
No	24	9.3
Initial postnatal care needs		
Breastfeeding	117	45.5
Mobilization	71	27.6
Self-care	26	10.1
Baby care	19	7.4
Number of patients in the patient room		
1 patient	134	52.1
2 patients	123	47.9
	Mean	SD
Number of births	1.99	0.96
Number of Abortions/Curettage	0.33	0.61

The mean scores of the mothers were 38.33 ± 6.16 in the physical comfort subscale, 26.92 ± 7.31 in the psychospiritual comfort subscale, 32.19 ± 6.50 in the sociocultural comfort subscale and 97.45 ± 15.22 in the total scale (Table 2). In the evaluation of the comfort level of the mothers participating in the study, it was found that the physical comfort sub-dimension was 2.73 points, the psychospiritual comfort sub-dimension was 2.69 points, the Socio-cultural Comfort sub-dimension was 3.21 points and the total scale was 2.86 points. The mean total score of the MIBS was 14.30 ± 2.92 (Table 2).

Table 2. Mean, median distributions and Cronbach's alpha values of mothers' Postpartum Comfort Scale and Mother to Infant Bonding Scale subscale and total scores (n=257)

	Mean±SD*	Min-Max
Postpartum Comfort Scale		
Physical comfort	38.33±6.16	39.00 (14.00-54.00)
Psychospiritual comfort	26.92±7.31	29.00 (10.00-43.00)
Socio-cultural comfort	32.19±6.50	34.00 (10.00-44.00)
Total scale score	97.45±15.22	101.00 (40.00-123.00)
Mother to Infant Bonding Scale	14.30±2.92	15.00 (3.00-21.00)
*SD: standard deviation		

There were no statistically significant variations observed in the mean scores, encompassing both the total scores and sub-dimension scores of both the PCS and the MIBS. These findings held true across various factors, including the mothers' age, educational background, family structure, pregnancy intention, infant gender, delivery method, occurrence of birth complications, consistent attendance at prenatal check-ups, parity, history of abortions or curettage, and the initial postnatal needs of the women (p>.05). Significant statistical differences were identified in the study's findings. Firstly, in relation to the employment status of the women, a notable difference emerged in the mean scores of the psychospiritual comfort sub-dimension (U=5194.000, p=.043) and the total score (U=5173.500, p=.039) of the PCS. Furthermore, when examining income status, a disparity was observed in the mean scores of women's Physical Comfort (KW=8.009, p=.018). As a result of the conducted research, it has been determined that the source of the observed difference primarily arises from variations between groups with income levels exceeding their expenses and those not exceeding their expenses (U=567.000, p=.008). Moreover, a significant difference has also been found between the group with income exceeding their expenses and the group with income equal to their expenses. Additionally, it can be observed that the sub-dimensions of Physical Comfort and Psychospiritual Comfort, as well as the total scores of the PCS, vary according to the postpartum care requirement, the number of days postpartum, and the number of patients in the room (p<.05) (Table 3).
able 3. Mean total and su	bscale scores of the Postpartum Co	mfort Scale and mean tota	l scores of the Mother to Infi	ant Bonding Scale accordin	a to socio-demoaraphic an	d obstetric characteristics
of mothers				, , ,		
			Postpartum Co	omfort Scale		Mother to Infant Bonding
eatures		Physical Comfort	Psychospiritual Comfort	Socio-cultural Comfort	Total Score	Scale
lge		p*=0.053 p=0.397	p=-0.002 p=0.974	p=-0.113 p=0.071	p=-0.028 p=0.660	p=0.029 p=0.644
		Mean±SD	Mean±SD	Mean±SD	Mean±SD	Mean±SD
	Primary school	40.00±6.17	27.85±5.69	34.44±4.75	102.29±6.74	13.88±3.30
	Middle school	38.04±5.79	28.39±7.02	32.77±6.13	99.22±13.84	14.41±2.70
caucation status	High school	38.01±6.25	26.19±7.57	31.52±7.05	95.73±17.23	14.29±2.60
	University and above	38.35±6.48	25.74±7.67	31.41±6.73	95.51±16.36	14.34±3.31
		KW=3.387, p=0.336	KW=5.287, p=0.152	KW=5.567, p=0.135	KW=2.665, p=0.446	KW=0.731, p=0.866
	Yes	37.72±6.37	25.50±7.84	31.23±6.88	94.46±15.89	14.09±3.39
:mpioyment status	No	38.54±6.10	27.40±7.08	32.51±6.35	98.46±14.89	14.38±2.76
		U=5808.500, p=0.404	U=5194.000, p=0.043**	U=5544.000, p=0.178	U=5173.500, p=0.039**	U=6223.000, p=0.972
	Income less than expenditure	39.20±5.98	27.28±7.15	32.95±5.79	99.43±12.60	14.46±2.61
ncome status	Income equal to expenditure	38.50±6.18	27.03±7.07	32.15±6.63	97.69±15.46	14.13±3.18
	Income more than expenditure	35.62±5.90	25.55±8.94	30.82±7.07	92.00±17.84	14.96±1.70
		KW=8.009, p=0.018**	KW=0.237, p=0.888	KW=1.996, p=0.369	KW=4.267, p=0.118	KW=0.609, p=0.738
	Nuclear family	38.35±6.28	26.52±7.33	32.05±6.62	96.93±15.36	14.29±2.85
amily type	Extended family	38.25±5.62	28.88±6.94	32.84±5.89	99.97±14.41	14.38±3.28
		U=4559.500, p=0.778	U=4042.000, p=0.151	U=4518.500, p=0.708	U=4125.000, p=0.294	U=4455.500, p=0.589
	Yes	38.25±6.15	26.89±7.22	32.07±6.49	97.23±15.23	14.36±2.86
vesil ability of pregnancy	No	39.00±6.36	27.137±8.07	33.06±6.57	99.20±15.29	13.86±3.45
		U=3103.500, p=0.591	U=3250.000, p=0.882	U=2860.000, p=0.236	U=2984.500, p=0.393	U=3086.000, p=0.539
	Girl	38.15±6.49	26.81±7.57	32.63±6.44	97.59±15.85	14.34±2.86
ex of the papy	Male	38.53±5.82	27.04±7.05	31.72±6.55	97.30±14.58	14.26±3.00
		U=8049.500, p=0.736	U=7988.000, p=0.659	U=7405.500, p=0.155	U=8094.000, p=0.793	U=8217.000, p=0.953

*p=Spearman correlation test, **p<0.05

of mothers						
			Postpartum C	omfort Scale		Mother to Infant Bondin
Features		Physical Comfort	Psychospiritual Comfort	Socio-cultural Comfort	Total Score	Scale
		Mean±SD	Mean±SD	Mean±SD	Mean±SD	Mean±SD
and the second sec	Normal/vaginal delivery	38.00±5.87	26.67±7.28	32.57±6.35	97.24±14.40	14.20±2.73
INIQUE OT GEILVELY	Caesarean section	38.57±6.37	27.09±7.34	31.92±6.60	97.59±15.80	14.34±3.06
		U=7470.000, p=0.383	U=7583.500, p=0.498	U=7280.000, p=0.231	U=7558.000, p=0.471	U=7400.000, p=0.297
How many days after the	Day 1	37.50±6.63	25.36±7.77	31.53±7.14	94.40±17.00	14.38±2.79
end of labor	Day 2 and above	39.58±5.18	29.26±5.85	33.17±5.28	102.01±10.61	14.18±3.12
		U=6273.500, p=0.004**	U=5645.000, p=0.000**	U=7185.000, p=0.200	U=5768.000, p=0.000**	U=7920.500, p=0.985
Complications in	Yes	39.35±4.06	27.94±6.90	34.52±4.71	101.82±10.35	13.11±14.39
childbirth	No	38.26±6.29	26.85±7.34	32.02±6.58	97.14±15.47	3.12±2.90
		U=1845.000, p=0.509	U=1959.500, p=0.785	U=1472.000, p=0.055	U=1736.000, p=0.304	U=1516.500, p=0.063
Regular prenatal check-	Yes	38.38±6.17	26.85±7.38	32.12±6.52	97.36±15.31	14.37±2.85
sdn	No	37.20±6.30	28.80±5.05	33.80±5.94	99.80±13.14	12.60±4.14
		U=1119.500, p=0.616	U=1098.500, p=0.553	U=1006.000, p=0.319	U=1150.000, p=0.712	U=928.000, p=0.161
	Yes	38.71±5.92	27.41±7.13	32.49±6.18	98.63±14.20	14.31±2.98
Need for postnatal care	No	34.66±7.35	22.16±7.48	29.20±8.62	86.04±19.80	14.25±2.38
		U=1814.500, p=0.005**	U=1650.500, p=0.001**	U=2288.500, p=0.142	U=1740.500, p=0.002**	U=2534.500, p=0.427
	Breastfeeding	38.52±5.45	28.29±6.83	33.15±5.68	99.97±13.01	14.27±2.90
Initial postnatal care	Mobilization	38.90±6.27	26.53±7.35	32.16±6.53	97.60±15.36	14.30±2.98
needs	Self-care	40.50±7.02	27.00±7.18	31.80±6.92	99.30±14.74	13.92±3.34
	Baby care	36.73±5.45	25.89±7.83	30.63±6.63	93.26±15.60	15.10±3.03
		KW=4.314, p=0.229	KW=3.532, p=0.317	KW=3.035, p=0.386	KW=5.698, p=0.127	KW=1.640, p=0.650
Number of patients in the	1 patient	39.02±6.26	28.21±6.62	32.58±5.38	99.82±13.57	14.36±3.21
patient room	2 patients	37.58±5.99	25.52±7.78	31.76±7.53	94.86±16.49	14.24±2.59
		U=6922.000, p=0.026**	U=6630.500, p=0.007**	U=8100.000, p=0.812	U=6774.000, p=0.014**	U=7503.500, p=0.192
Number of births		p=-0.036, p=0.562	p=-0.043, p=0.490	p=-0.101, p=0.107	p=-0.079, p=0.209	p=0.080, p=0.203
Number of abortions/cure	ttage	p=-0.031, p=0.622	p=0.063, p=0.317	p=0.032, p=0.612	p=0.031, p=0.619	p=0.075, p=0.232
*p=Spearman correlation t	:est, **p<0.05					

DOI: 10.37990/medr.1552866

Med Records 2025;7(1):136-44

No significant differences were found in the scores obtained from the MIBS based on the socio-demographic and obstetric characteristics of the mothers included in the study in the difference analysis (p>.05) (Table 3).

The relationship between the scores obtained from the MIBS and the sub-dimension scores of the PCS, as well as the total scores of the PCS, was examined through correlation analysis, and no significant relationship was found between the specified variables (Table 4).

Table 4. The relationship between Mothers' Postpartum Comfort Scalesub-dimension and total mean scores and Mother to Infant BondingScale total mean scores (n=257)				
Postpartum Comfort Scale	Mother to Infant Bonding Scale			
Physical comfort	ρ*=-0.032, p=0.615			
Psychospiritual comfort	ρ=-0.029, p=0.639			
Socio-cultural comfort	ρ=-0.119, p=0.057			
Total scale score	ρ=-0.078, p=0.215			
*p=Spearman correlation coefficient				

DISCUSSION

The aim of the research is to examine the relationship between mothers' comfort levels and the level of bonding with their babies during the postpartum period. The postpartum period is marked by a cascade of physiological, psychological, and social changes, coupled with the assumption of new parental roles and responsibilities. Factors like shifting family dynamics, sleep disturbances, fatigue, difficulties in meeting infantrelated needs, and problem-solving challenges can intensify stress levels among women during this period, potentially disrupting their adaptation and comfort levels, leading to a crisis situation (27,28). Consequently, assessing the comfort levels of postpartum women holds significant importance as it aids in recognizing the challenges they face, facilitating appropriate care planning and implementation (29). In this study, the mean total score for the participating mothers was 97, with the scale ranging from a minimum score of 34 to a maximum of 170. Comparable research reported postpartum comfort scores for mothers falling within the range of 82 to 131 (27-31), aligning with the findings of this study, indicating that mothers' postpartum comfort levels tend to be moderate.

According to the findings obtained in the research, the PCS scale had a level of 38.33 (SD 6.16) for the physical comfort subscale, 26.92 (SD 7.31) for the psychospiritual comfort subscale, and 32.19 (SD 6.50) for the sociocultural comfort subscale. To provide context, a study conducted by Akgün and Aksoy (2020) reported mean scores in their research as follows: physical comfort subdimension at 46.27 (SD 7.66), psychospiritual comfort sub-dimension at 43.48 (SD 5.10), and socio-cultural comfort sub-dimension at 33.09 (SD 6.59) (32). In a similar fashion to the obtained results, Kaya et al., (2024) found in their study that the PCS scale had mean levels of 44.55 (SD 7.96) for the Physical Comfort subscale, 42.06 (SD 6.69) for the Psychospiritual Comfort subscale, and 32.75 (SD 6.43) for the Socio-cultural Comfort subscale (14). Kartal et al. (2018), the mothers' mean scores were 46.20 (SD 7.82) for the physical comfort subscale, 40.58 (SD 4.50) for the psychospiritual comfort subscale, and 31.27 (SD 5.80) for the socio-cultural comfort subscale (30). These findings collectively suggest that mothers typically confront the challenges of the postpartum period at a moderate level, and their overall postpartum comfort levels align with this moderate trend, consistent with existing literature.

It was determined that women whose income level was less than expenses had better physical comfort than those whose income level was equal to expenses and whose income level was more than expenses. In the study of Birgili et al. (2020) also, which was conducted to investigate the postpartum comfort levels of laboring women and the factors affecting them, it was found that the physical comfort of women with low income level was better, which was same from our study (15). It can be thought that women with middle and high income levels may have more expectations and the service provided may not meet their needs and hospital conditions may cause them to feel uncomfortable, and therefore their comfort may be negatively affected.

It was observed that comfort levels of non-working women were better than working women. In Birgili study, it was found that the mean total score of PCS of non-working women was higher than that of working women (15). The majority of the women who participated in the study were not working. The absence of work-related stress factors may have caused women to feel more comfortable and have better comfort levels.

The study results have shown that as the number of days spent in the hospital after childbirth increases, women's comfort levels also increase. As the problems arising from the adaptation period of the postpartum mothers decrease, an increase in mothers' comfort and comfort levels is observed.

An interesting finding of the study was that women who needed postnatal care had higher comfort levels. The first postpartum care need was breastfeeding support. The most common health problems experienced after childbirth are breastfeeding and breast problems. The support of health personnel and relatives is important in terms of comfort and trust (33). The decrease in the problems of women in need of care in the postpartum period with the fulfillment of their care needs may have increased the comfort of mothers.

In the study, it was determined that the comfort levels of those who were left alone in the hospital room were higher. In another research on the subject, it was concluded that

staying alone in the hospital after childbirth, having one's spouse as a companion, receiving visits from relatives, and being able to benefit from the hospital's facilities increased the level of comfort (34). Furthermore, in another study, it was observed that staying alone in the room had a positive impact on privacy and meeting expectations, thus enhancing satisfaction with the childbirth experience (35). The fact that there were no other patients in the room after the birth of the women who participated in our study may have led the women to be comfortable in the room where they were lying, to ensure that the room was suitable for their needs and that they were with their family, and as a result, the hospital facilities were at a level that could meet their needs, which may have led to a high level of comfort. These results show that privacy and hospital environment should be considered as an important factor on comfort and that their comfort can be increased by ensuring that they stay in single and clean rooms as much as possible, especially in the postpartum period for the adaptation of mother and baby.

In the first moments of the postpartum period, a deep bond between mothers and their babies is said to form immediately during their initial encounter, and the motherinfant bond that begins during pregnancy continues until the postpartum period. The first few days after birth represent a crucial and sensitive period for the development of the bond between the mother and the baby (8,36). In our research, we observed that the bond between the mother and the baby was at a moderate level, and we found no significant relationship between postpartum comfort and the level of the bond between the mother and the baby. Specifically, while our results were consistent with a moderate level of bonding between the mother and the baby, some other studies using the Mother to Infant Bonding Scale have reported higher levels of bonding between the mother and the baby compared to our findings (8,36,37). The reason for this moderate level of bonding in our study may be the early postpartum period, which could potentially hinder women from fully adapting to their maternal roles. Therefore, further evidence-based research with larger sample groups that examines the relationship between postpartum comfort and the bond between the mother and the baby in more detail is needed.

CONCLUSION

The study's findings indicated that women who had recently given birth reported a moderate level of comfort. Furthermore, factors such as employment status, the number of days postpartum, the requirement for postpartum care, and the number of patients sharing the room had an impact on the total score of the PCS. Additionally, income status influenced the level of physical comfort experienced by mothers. In terms of mother-to-infant bonding, the study revealed a moderate level, with no significant relationship identified between postpartum comfort and the level of mother-to-infant bonding. It is advisable that nurses and midwives closely monitor women during the postpartum period, assessing their postpartum comfort and mother-to-infant bonding. In cases where issues or challenges are detected within the mother, baby, or any family member, appropriate counseling and guidance should be provided.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: Ethics committee approval (dated 5.12.2022 and number 11-2022/09) and institutional permission (2/09.01.2023) were obtained to conduct the research.

REFERENCES

- 1. Taşkın L. Doğum ve kadın sağlığı hemşireliği. Reinforced 18th edition. Ankara: Akademisyen Tıp Kitabevi 2023;529-43.
- 2. Doğaner G, Bekar M. Determination of the problems experienced by women who gave birth vaginally in the early postpartum period regarding the care of themselves and the newborn. Journal of Health and Society. 2006;16:130-5.
- Güneri SE. Evidence-based practices in early postpartum period. Gümüşhane University Journal of Health Sciences. 2015;4:482-96.
- Kolcaba K. Comfort theory and practice a vision for holistic health care and research. New York: Springer Publishing Company 2003;15-42.
- 5. Çırlak A, Erdemir F. Comfort level of parents who have newborns in neonatal intensive care units. Anatolian Journal of Nursing and Health Sciences. 2013;16:73-81.
- 6. Yücel SÇ. Kolcaba'nın konfor kuramı. Journal of Ege University School of Nursing. 2011;27:79-88.
- Zengin N. Konfor kuramı ve yoğun bakım ünitesinin hasta konforuna etkisi. Yoğun Bakım Hemşireliği Dergisi 2010;14:61-6.
- Başdaş Ö, Efe YS, Erdem E, et al. Factors affecting mother baby attachment. YOBU Faculty of Health Sciences Journal. 2022;3:130-6.
- 9. Yılmaz SD. Prenatal mother-infant attachment. Hemşirelikte Eğitim Ve Araştırma Dergisi. 2013;10:28-33.
- Köse D, Çınar N, Altınkaynak S. Yenidoğanın anne ve baba ile bağlanma süreci. Sürekli Tıp Eğitimi Dergisi (STED) 2013;22:239-45.
- 11. Kavlak O, Şirin A. The Turkish version of Maternal Attachment Inventory. Journal of Human Sciences. 2009;6:188-202.
- 12. Mermer G, Bilge A, Yücel U, Çeber E. Evaluation of perceived social support levels in pregnancy and postpartum periods. J Psy Nurs. 2010;1:71-6.
- 13. Pinar G, Doğan N, Algier L, et al. Factors that affecting mothers' postnatal comfort. Dicle Med J. 2009;36:184-90.

- 14. Kaya D, Gölbaşı Z, Aksoy H. The relationship between postpartum comfort level and breastfeeding self-efficacy in women who gave birth by cesarean section. Anatolian J Health Res. 2024;5:128-33.
- 15. Birgili F. The birth of comfortable women and the effective factors. Journal of Anatolia Nursing and Health Sciences. 2020;23:351-60.
- 16. Öztürk R, Yağız R, Güneri SE. Investigation of the relationship between postpartum comfort and readiness for hospital discharge and affecting factors. Med J West Black Sea. 2021;5:272-80.
- 17. Ünal E, Kaya DŞ. The effect of delivery method on postpartum comfort and breastfeeding success in primiparous mothers. Ordu University J Nurs Stud. 2022;5:158-65.
- Yaşar H, Dal NA. The relationship between perceived social support during pregnancy and postpartum comfort. Journal of Health Sciences. 2022;31:29-35.
- 19. Çataloluk A, Kahraman A, Alparslan Ö. Scale used to determine the maternal/paternal-fetal attachment study in Turkey. Pediatr Pract Res. 2021;9:11-7.
- 20. Kabasakal A, Kitiş Y. The effect of kangaroo care in premature babies on mother-infant bonding and breastfeeding. Health Academy Kastamonu. 2021;7:260-74.
- 21. Engin N, Ayyıldız T. The investigation of mother-baby attachment based on maternal perception and some variables. Journal of Adnan Menderes University Health Sciences Faculty. 2021;5:583-96.
- 22. Karakaplan S, Yıldız H. A study on developing a postpartum comfort questionnaire. Maltepe University Journal of Nursing Science and Art. 2010;3:55-65.
- 23. Taylor A, Atkins R, Kumar R, et al. A new Mother-to-Infant Bonding Scale: links with early maternal mood. Arch Womens Ment Health. 2005;8:45-51.
- 24. Aydemir HK, Alparslan Ö. Adaptation of Mother to Infant Bonding Scale to the Turkish Society: Aydın Sample. J Contemp Med. 2016;6:188-99.
- 25. Kalaycı Ş. SPSS applied multivariate statistics techniques. Ankara: Asil publishing house 2016;199-259.

- 26. Hayran M, Hayran M. Sağlık araştırmaları için temel istatistik. Ankara: Art Ofset Matbaacılık Yayıncılık Organizasyon Ltd. 2011;403-7.
- 27. Gökşin İ, Alkaya SA. The effect of progressive muscle relaxation on the postpartum depression risk and general comfort levels in primiparas. Stress Health. 2020;36:322-9.
- 28. Erkaya R, Türk R, Sakar T. Determining comfort levels of postpartum women after vaginal and caesarean birth. Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences. 2017;237:1526–32.
- 29. Sahin S, Sinan O. Investigation of mothers' postpartum breastfeeding and comfort conditions. Health Care Women Int. 2021;42:913-24.
- Kartal YA, Özsoy A, Üner K. Determination of postnatal comfort levels of puerperants in a public hospital and affecting factors. International Journal of Health Sciences & Research. 2018;8:206-12.
- 31. Aksoy Derya Y, Pasinlioğlu T. The effect of nursing care based on comfort theory on women's postpartum comfort levels after caesarean sections. Int J Nurs Knowl. 2017;28:138-44.
- 32. Akgün Ö, Aksoy ÖD. Determination of mothers' postpartum comfort levels and affecting factors. J Contemp Med. 2020;10:385-93.
- Çelik AS, Çelik EC. Do delivery method and anesthesia type at delivery affect postnatal comfort levels?. JAREN. 2020;6:97-108.
- Kurt Can E, Ejder Apay S. Type of Delivery: Does it effect the level of comfort and delivery satisfaction levels?. Journal of Inonu University Health Services Vocational School. 2020;8:547-65.
- 35. Özcan Ş, Arslan E. Normal doğumda ve sezaryen doğumda anne memnuniyetinin belirlenmesi. F.N. Hem. Derg. 2015;23:41-8.
- Dağlar G, Nur N. Level of mother-baby bonding and influencing factors during pregnancy and postpartum period. Psychiatria Danubina. 2018;30:433-40.
- 37. Bilgin Z, Ecevit Alpar Ş. Women's perception of maternal attachment and their views on motherhood. HSP. 2018;5:6-15.

MEDICAL RECORDS-International Medical Journal

Research Article



Investigation of the Bifid Mandibular Canal Prevalence in the Central Anatolian Population: A Retrospective CBCT Study

Delike Gulec¹, Delif Esra Ozmen²

¹Karamanoğlu Mehmetbey University, Ahmet Keleşoğlu Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Dentomaxillofacial Radiology, Karaman, Türkiye ²Karamanoğlu Mehmetbey University, Ahmet Keleşoğlu Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Karaman, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.

Abstract

Aim: This study aims to retrospectively examine cone beam computed tomography (CBCT) images obtained for various reasons to determine the prevalence of bifid mandibular canal (BMC) in the Central Anatolian population.

Material and Method: A total of 518 mandibular canals (right and left sides evaluated separately) from 259 CBCT images (145 female, 114 male) that met the inclusion criteria were included in the study. BMCs were categorized as retromolar canal, forward canal, dental canal, and buccolingual canal. Individuals were grouped into age ranges of 15-34, 35-54, and 55-75 years. Statistical analysis was performed using IBM SPSS version 25.0. The data were then compared based on side (right/left), gender, and age.

Results: BMC was observed in 35.9% of the total participants. The most common subtype was the forward canal (Type 3) at a rate of 41.9%, followed by the retromolar canal at 35.4%, the dental canal at 31.1%, and the buccolingual canal at 26.8%. While there was no significant difference in BMC prevalence by gender, the prevalence was found to be higher in the second age group.

Conclusion: In conclusion, regardless of subtype, determining the presence of BMC in patients undergoing mandibular procedures is extremely important for informing the clinician, especially to avoid complications such as local anesthesia failure, postoperative paresthesia, or bleeding. If present, it should be noted in the CBCT report.

Keywords: Bifid mandibular canal, cone-beam computed tomography, mandibular anatomy

INTRODUCTION

The mandibular canal, which extends bilaterally from the mandibular foramen in a downward and forward direction towards the mental foramen and lingual foramen in the anterior region, is an anatomical curve that carries the mandibular artery, vein, and nerve bundle, providing innervation and vascularization to the mandible (1). Radiographically, the mandibular canal is typically observed as a linear radiolucency accompanied by a thin cortical bone opacity on the inferior and superior sides. Identifying variations of the mandibular canal is critical in reducing and preventing complications in procedures such as impacted third molar extractions, implant placements, and orthognathic surgeries in this region. These complications may include paresthesia, iatrogenic nerve damage, local anesthesia failure, and unexpected intraoperative bleeding (2).

Among the variations of the mandibular canal, the bifid mandibular canal (BMC) is a commonly observed

condition. The term "bifid" originates from Latin and refers to a structure divided into two branches or parts. In 1996, Chávez-Lomeli et al. (3) conducted a study on cadaveric hemi-mandibles. They found that the mandibular canal could be observed as three distinct canals corresponding to the anterior, premolar, and molar teeth, respectively. They further noted that these canals later fused into one or two branches, and in cases where fusion was incomplete, bifid or even trifid canal variations could be observed.

Since the first case was described in the 1970s (4), numerous studies have been conducted on the prevalence and classification of BMC. Although some studies have utilized panoramic radiography, its limitations in assessing BMC prevalence have been noted due to the two-dimensional nature of panoramic radiography. These limitations include insufficient cross-sectional information, high magnification values, and anatomical superimpositions such as the pharyngeal airway, uvula, and soft palate (5). In contrast, cone beam computed

CITATION

Gulec M, Ozmen EE. Investigation of the Bifid Mandibular Canal Prevalence in the Central Anatolian Population: A Retrospective CBCT Study. Med Records. 2025;7(1):145-50. DOI:1037990/medr.1555187

Received: 25.09.2024 Accepted: 05.12.2024 Published: 14.01.2025

Corresponding Author: Melike Gulec, Karamanoğlu Mehmetbey University, Ahmet Keleşoğlu Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Dentomaxillofacial Radiology, Karaman, Türkiye **E-mail**: mlkakd92@gmail.com

tomography (CBCT), which is frequently used in preoperative imaging for dentomaxillofacial surgeries, has been commonly employed in BMC research due to its ability to provide high-resolution volumetric images with a significantly lower radiation dose compared to medical computed tomography (6-8).

This study aims to retrospectively examine CBCT images obtained for various reasons to determine the prevalence of BMC in the Central Anatolian population. This study contributes significantly to identifying anatomical variations in the mandibular canal, particularly BMC. Accurately defining the type and morphological variations of the mandibular canal is critical for preventing complications that may arise during procedures such as impacted tooth extractions, implant placements, and other surgical interventions in the mandibular region.

Considering the limitations of panoramic radiography, using three-dimensional, high-resolution imaging techniques like CBCT enables more reliable and precise evaluations. The significance of this study lies in its investigation of BMC prevalence in the Central Anatolian population using the detailed data provided by CBCT, thereby elucidating the impact of these anatomical variations on surgical and dental treatment planning. These findings are expected to contribute to developing safer and more effective treatment protocols for dentists and surgeons.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

This study was approved by the Local Scientific Medical Research Ethics Committee of Karamanoğlu Mehmetbey University Faculty of Medicine with decision number 01-2024/09 and was conducted by the principles of the Helsinki Declaration.

Sample Group and Study Design

Within the scope of the study, CBCT images obtained for various purposes between August 2022 and August 2024 at Karamanoğlu Mehmetbey University Faculty of Dentistry were retrospectively and randomly reviewed. From the 400 CBCT images evaluated, images of individuals with a history of trauma, surgery, or pathology in the maxillofacial region, craniofacial anomalies, or images with artifacts that hindered radiological assessment (such as metallic artifacts or artifacts due to patient movement), and CBCT images in which the mandibular canal could not be traced, as well as those not meeting diagnostic criteria, were excluded from the study. Consequently, 518 mandibular canals (evaluated separately for the right and left sides) from 259 CBCT images (145 females, 114 males) that met the inclusion criteria were included in the study. The participants were grouped by age into the following categories: 15-34, 35-54, and 55-75 years.

The mandibular canals examined for BMC prevalence were classified according to the classification system proposed by Naitoh et al. (9) based on this classification:

• **Type 1 Retromolar Canal:** A branch that exits the mandibular canal and reaches the retromolar region.

- **Type 2 Dental Canal:** A branch that exits the main canal and terminates at the roots of the molar teeth.
- **Type 3 Forward (Anterior) Canal:** A canal originating from the mandibular canal's upper wall. The forward canal has two subtypes based on whether it merges with the main mandibular canal:
 - **Without confluence:** A forward canal that diverges from the main mandibular canal in the mandibular ramus region and advances towards the second molar region.
 - *With confluence:* This type of forward canal separates from the mandibular canal and advances anteriorly, later merging with the main mandibular canal.
- **Type 4 Buccolingual Canal:** This canal branches off the main mandibular canal's buccal or lingual wall. There are two variations of the buccolingual canal:
 - **Buccal Canal:** A canal type that separates from the mandibular canal in the mandibular ramus and advances bucco-inferiorly.
 - *Lingual Canal:* A canal that separates from the mandibular canal in the mandibular ramus, advances in the lingual direction, and then perforates the lingual cortical bone (Figure 1).



Figure 1. A. Type 1 retromolar canal; **B.** Type 2 dental canal; **C.** Type 3 forward canal (with confluence); **D.** Type 4 buccal canal; **E.** Type 4 lingual canal

Imaging Protocol

All CBCT images were obtained using Kavo OP 3D Pro (PaloDEx Group Oy, Tuusula, Finland) with 90 kVp, 8 mA dose setting, 4.5 seconds irradiation time, and 8x15 cm imaging area exposure parameters.

A computer with a 21.5-inch flat panel color screen (Lenovo ThinkVision S22e-20), 8 GB RAM, Windows 10 Professional operating system, 3.10 GHz Intel 10th generation i5 processor, and 1920×1080-pixel resolution was used to examine the obtained CBCT images.

All radiologic examinations were performed in a standardized observation room under fixed imaging protocols by an observer (M.G.) with 8 years of radiology experience. For consistency of the examinations, 20% of

the total measurements were recalculated by the same observer at least 14 days after the initial measurements, and intraobserver agreement was evaluated with the data obtained.

Statistical Analysis

All statistical analyses were conducted using SPSS version 25 (IBM SPSS Statistics v25.0, IBM Corp. Released 2017, Chicago, IL, USA). Continuous variables are presented as mean±standard deviation (X±SD), while categorical variables are reported as frequency and percentage (%). The relationship between gender and BMI was evaluated using the chi-square test. To measure effect size, Cramer's V coefficient was calculated and interpreted. Results with a p-value of less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

In this study, CBCT images obtained from a total of 259 individuals aged 15 to 75 were retrospectively analyzed. The Intraclass Correlation Coefficient (ICC) value used to assess intra-observer agreement was found to be excellent, with a value of 0.948.

Table 1 presents the sociodemographic information of the participants and the distribution of BMC and other canal types. The mean age of participants was 43.72±15.61 years. The largest age group, comprising 41.3% of participants, was those aged 35-54. This was followed by the 55-75 age group at 35.1% and the 15-34 age group at 23.6%. This distribution indicates a greater representation of middle-aged and older individuals in the study. Of the participants, 56% were female (145 individuals), and 44% were male (114 individuals), indicating a higher representation of females in the study.

BMC was observed in 35.9% of the total participants. It was most frequently found on the right side (15.8%), followed by the left side at 12.7% and bilaterally at 7.3%, indicating that BMC is more prevalent on the right side. Retromolar canals were absent in 87.3% of participants, with bilateral presence being quite low at 1.2%. The frequency of occurrence of the canal was equal on both sides (5.8%). Dental canals were absent in 88.8% of participants. The most frequently observed variation of dental canals was at the level of the first molar on the right side (3.1%) and at the level of the second molar on the left side (2.3%), indicating that dental canals are more common at the levels of the first and second molars.

In 93.4% of participants, no forward canals were found on the right side; however, types of forward canals merging with the main mandibular canal were identified in 6.6% on the left side and 5.4% on the right side. Non-merging types were very rarely observed (1.2% on the right, 1.9% on the left). Buccal and lingual canals were also rarely seen. Buccal canals were absent in 95% of participants, with only 3.9% on the right and 1.2% on the left showing buccal canals. Lingual canals were absent in 95.4% of cases, while they were found in 2.7% on the right and 1.9% on the left. No significant difference was found in the presence of BMC between genders (p=0.781). BMC was observed in 35.2% of females and 36.8% of males.

X: mean, SD: standard deviation, n: frequency, %: percentage

Table 2 illustrates the relationships between age groups and the presence of BMC and other mandibular canal variations. A significant difference was found in the presence of BMC among age groups (p=0.004). Notably, the prevalence of BMC is higher in the 35-54 age group (47.7%). The Cramér's V value is 0.206, indicating a weak yet significant relationship.

A significant difference was also identified in the presence of Type 1 retromolar canal among age groups (p=0.021). Retromolar canals are more frequently observed in the 35-54 age group (18.7%), while this rate is notably low in the 55-75 age group (5.5%). The Cramér's V value of 0.173 suggests a weak relationship. 2 dental canals among age groups (p=0.139). However, it is noteworthy that the dental canal is more frequently observed in the 35-54 age group compared to other age groups (15%).

A significant difference was found regarding the Type 3 forward canal among age groups (p=0.046). The presence of forward canals is particularly higher in the 35-54 age group (18.7%), indicating a greater prevalence in this age group compared to others. The Cramér's V value of 0.154 also shows a weak relationship.

No significant differences were found in the presence of Type 4 buccal and lingual canals among age groups (p>0.05). However, the presence of buccal canals is higher in the 35-54 age group (18.7%).

Table 2. Relationship between age	e group and variations of su	ıbtypes			
Age groups	15-34	35-54	55-75	р	Cramer' V
Bifid mandibular canal					
Absent	44 (72.1%)	56 (52.3%)	66 (72.5%)	0.004*	0.206
Present	17 (27.9%)	51 (47.7%)	25 (27.5%)	0.004"	0.200
Type 1 retromolar canal					
Absent	53 (86.9%)	87 (81.3%)	86 (94.5%)	0.021*	0 172
Present	8 (13.1%)	20 (18.7%)	5 (5.5%)	0.021"	0.175
Type 2 dental canal					
Absent	58 (95.1%)	91 (85%)	81 (89%)	0 1 2 0	0 1 2 2
Present	3 (4.9%)	16 (15%)	10 (11%)	0.139	0.125
Type 3 forward canal					
Absent	57 (93.4%)	87 (81.3%)	82 (90.1%)	0.046*	0 154
Present	4 (6.6%)	20 (18.7%)	9 (9.9%)	0.040	0.134
Type 4 buccal canal					
Absent	60 (98.4%)	87 (81.3%)	82 (90.1%)	0 363	0.088
Present	1 (1.6%)	20 (18.7%)	9 (9.9%)	0.505	0.000
Type 4 lingual canal					
Absent	59 (96.7%)	100 (93.5%)	88 (96.7%)	0 472	0.076
Present	2 (3.3%)	7 (6.5%)	3 (3.3%)	0.472	0.070

No significant difference was found in the presence of Type

p<0.05, Chi-square, n: frequency, %: percentage

DISCUSSION

Determining the type and shape of mandibular canal variations is crucial for preventing potential complications during planned surgical procedures in the relevant areas and for providing patients with the most effective treatment options. Various imaging protocols, including panoramic radiography, computed tomography, and CBCT, have been utilized in studies examining the mandibular canal. It has been reported that the dense trabeculation observed around the mandibular canal in panoramic radiography may lead to misinterpretations, highlighting that prevalence studies planned with CBCT would be more reliable (9).

In a study conducted in our country in 2010 (6), it was reported that BMC was detected in 161 out of 242 individuals aged between 17 and 83 years (66.5%), with the most observed BMC variation being the forward canal (17.8%). It was determined that the non-merging type of the forward canal was more frequently encountered than the merging type. According to the findings of this study, the lingual canal was found to occur more regularly than the buccal canal. In contrast, the most common dental canal type was identified as the canal reaching the level of the third molar.

In another study examining 1933 individuals, BMC was detected in only 198 individuals (10.2%), with the most

common type being Type 1 retromolar canal (52.5%). It was noted that the non-merging type of the forward canal was more prevalent (2).

Naitoh et al. (9) conducted a study involving the CBCT images of 9,122 individuals to determine the prevalence of BMC. They found it in 65% of the subjects, identifying the most common type as the type 3 forward canal. They emphasized that CBCT examinations have advantages over panoramic radiography.

In their 2017 study, Serindere et al. (10) reported a BMC prevalence of 3.05%, with the most frequently observed type being the Type 1 retromolar canal. Elnadoury et al. (11) examined CBCT images from 278 patients, revealing BMC in 181 canals (34%) and trifid canal in 46 canals (8.7%).

Rashsuren et al. (12) reported a prevalence of bifid canals at 22.6%, with the most observed subtype being retromolar canal (71.3%), followed by dental canal (18.8%), trifid canal (5.8%), and forward canal (4.1). They indicated that the merging type of the forward canal was more commonly found than the non-merging type, and they did not encounter any cases of the buccolingual canal type. In a recent study, Alali et al. (13) reported that the retromolar canal is the most observed type, and no significant differences were found based on gender and age. In their research, Dumanli et al. (14) attempted to determine the prevalence of BMC in 300 patients using CBCT images, stating that they did not identify any trifid canals, while the most frequently observed subtype was the merging forward canal.

In this study focusing on the Central Anatolian population, the prevalence of BMC was calculated to be 35.9% (n=93). with the most common subtype being Type 3 forward canal (41.9%). This was followed by the retromolar canal (35.4%), the dental canal (31.1%), and the buccolingual canal (26.8%). The most prevalent subtype of dental canal was the one reaching the level of the second molar, while the most common type of forward canal was the subtype merging with the main mandibular canal. The most frequently observed subtype of the buccolingual canal was the buccal canal type. As noted above, while there are studies in the literature that are similar to the findings of our study, differences in sample sizes, variations in the radiographic techniques employed, and the diversity of the populations included can lead to differing results in other studies.

A meta-analysis conducted in 2023 indicated that geographic location, classification, gender, and the voxel size of the CBCT device all influence the prevalence of BMC. The study, which reviewed a total of 40 articles, reported a high level of heterogeneity and bias while also noting that most of the studies were conducted in Europe and that the prevalence of BMC was higher in males and on the right side (15). In another study that examined CBCT images of 558 patients from different ethnic backgrounds, it was reported that gender and ethnicity did not impact the prevalence of BMC (16). This study found that the prevalence of BMC did not differ significantly between genders; however, similar to findings in the literature

(7,17), it was observed to be more common on the right side. Recent studies have categorized individuals into age groups to examine the variations in BMC prevalence according to age. This research divided individuals into three age groups: 15-34, 35-54, and 55-75. It was noted that the presence of BMC was significantly higher in the second group. The retromolar and forward canal frequencies were also considerably higher when examining subtypes in this group. While other subtypes were not statistically significant, they were still found in greater numbers in the second group. Dumanlı et al. (14) reported no significant differences in BMC prevalence based on age or gender. On the other hand, Okumuş and Dumlu (7), in a study conducted with 500 individuals aged 14-79 years, reported that BMC was significantly less common in individuals younger than 25 years. These findings may stem from the higher representation of middle-aged and older individuals in the studied group, suggesting that future research should analyze BMC prevalence in age subgroups with equal patient numbers.

This study has some limitations. First, it focused solely on the Central Anatolian population, limiting the generalizability of the results to other populations. Research conducted in different geographic regions and ethnic groups could contribute to a more comprehensive understanding of BMC prevalence and variations. Additionally, the retrospective nature of the study means that control over data collection methods and purposes was not possible, which could affect the homogeneity of the obtained images and data. Studies with more balanced distributions of different age groups could yield more substantial results regarding BMC prevalence.

The CBCT method used in the study is a reliable technique for detecting BMC and other mandibular canal variations; however, the resolution of the CBCT device may limit the detection of canal variations in low-quality images. Factors such as metallic artifacts or patient movements can negatively impact image quality, potentially leading to unclear identification of canal variations in some individuals.

Considering these limitations, future prospective and comparative studies on larger populations are recommended to validate the findings. Advanced imaging techniques, particularly high-resolution methods like micro-CT, may allow for the detection of more complex canal variations. Furthermore, studies investigating the clinical implications of BMC on surgical complications and local anesthesia failures could clarify the role of these variations on clinical outcomes. It is also essential to conduct studies with large participant groups encompassing various age ranges to examine the relationship between age and BMC prevalence in more detail.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, regardless of the subtype, it is crucial to determine the presence of BMC in patients undergoing procedures in the mandible to prevent complications such as local anesthesia failures, postoperative paresthesia, or bleeding. This information should be included in the CBCT report to inform the treating physician adequately. In orthognathic surgery cases, the presence of a second neurovascular bundle complicates the surgical procedure and necessitates careful examination of the area to identify this variation, especially when harvesting bone grafts from the commonly used retromolar region. Additionally, in patients using complete dentures in the mandible who experience persistent pain or paresthesia, BMC variation should be considered, and treatment planning should be adjusted accordingly.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: This study was approved by the Local Scientific Medical Research Ethics Committee of Karamanoğlu Mehmetbey University Faculty of Medicine with decision number 01-2024/09 and was conducted by the principles of the Helsinki Declaration.

REFERENCES

- 1. von Arx T, Bornstein MM. The bifid mandibular canal in threedimensional radiography: morphologic and quantitative characteristics. J Swiss Dent. 2021;131:10-28.
- 2. Kang JH, Lee KS, Oh MG, et al. The incidence and configuration of the bifid mandibular canal in Koreans by using cone-beam computed tomography. Imaging Sci Dent. 2014;44:53-60.
- Chávez-Lomeli M, Mansilla Lory J, Pompa J, et al. The human mandibular canal arises from three separate canals innervating different tooth groups. J Dent Res. 1996;75:1540-4.
- 4. Nortjé C, Farman A, Grotepass F. Variations in the normal anatomy of the inferior dental (mandibular) canal: a retrospective study of panoramic radiographs from 3612 routine dental patients. Brit J Oral Surg. 1977;15:55-63.
- Rouas P, Delbos Y, Nancy J. Pseudo multiple and enlarged mandibular canals: the evidence-based response of cone beam computed tomography. Dentomaxillofac Radiol. 2006;35:217-8.

- 6. Orhan K., Aksoy S, Bilecenoglu B, et al. Evaluation of bifid mandibular canals with cone-beam computed tomography in a Turkish adult population: a retrospective study. Surg Radiol Anat. 2011;33:501-7.
- 7. Okumuş Ö, Dumlu A. Prevalence of bifid mandibular canal according to gender, type, and side. J Dent Sci. 2019;14:126-33.
- 8. Nithya J, Aswath N. Assessing the prevalence and morphological characteristics of bifid mandibular canal using cone-beam computed tomography a retrospective cross-sectional study. J Clin Imaging Sci. 2020;10:30.
- 9. Naitoh M, Hiraiwa Y, Aimiya H, Ariji E. Observation of bifid mandibular canal using cone-beam computerized tomography. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants. 2009;24:155-9.
- Serindere G, Gündüz K, Bulut E. Investigation of bifid mandibular canal frequency with cone beam computed tomography in a Turkish population. Anatomy. 2017;11:30-6.
- 11. Elnadoury EA, Gaweesh YSE, Abu El Sadat SM, Anwar SK. Prevalence of bifid and trifid mandibular canals with unusual patterns of nerve branching using cone beam computed tomography. Odontology. 2022;110:203-11.
- 12. Rashsuren O, Choi JW, Han WJ, Kim EK. Assessment of bifid and trifid mandibular canals using cone-beam computed tomography. Imaging Sci Dent. 2014;44:229-36.
- 13. Alali Y, Mohammed WA, Alabulkarim M, et al. Assessment of bifid mandibular canals using cone beam computed tomography in general population: a retrospective evaluation. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci. 2024;28:1741-50.
- 14. Dumanlı D, Geduk G, Şeker Ç. Retrospective evaluation of mandibular canal anatomy and variations by cone-beam computed tomography. J Int Dent Sci. 2023;9:40-5.
- Aung NM, Myint KK. Bifid mandibular canal: a proportional meta-analysis of computed tomography studies. Int J Dent. 2023;2023:9939076.
- 16. Gartley S. Prevalence of Bifid Mandibular Canals in a United States Dental School Population. PhD Thesis, Temple University, USA, 2024.
- 17. Laçin N, Aytuğar E, Veli İ. Cone-beam computed tomography evaluation of bifid mandibular canal in a Turkish population. Int Den Res. 2018;8:78-83.





The Relationship Between Selective Motor Control and Trunk Control in Children With Spastic Cerebral Palsy

[©]Umut Apaydin¹, [©]Ayse Yildiz², [©]Ramazan Yildiz², [©]Erkan Erol³, [©]Bayram Sirri⁴, [©]Bulent Elbasan⁵

¹Karadeniz Technical University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation, Trabzon, Türkiye ²Erzurum Technical University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation, Erzurum, Türkiye ³Tokat Gaziosmanpaşa University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation, Tokat, Türkiye ⁴Muş Alparslan University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation, Muş, Türkiye ⁵Gazi University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation, Ankara, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License



Abstract

Aim: Cerebral palsy (CP) can cause a variety of musculoskeletal issues that impact everyday functioning and activities, including reduced muscle tone and selective motor control. Appropriate evaluation of these problems and determination of their interrelationships are important in treatment planning. The aim of this study was to investigate the correlation between control of the trunk and selectivity of the lower limbs in children with CP.

Material and Method: Sixty-eight children and adolescents with spastic CP, categorized as GMFCS levels I to III and aged between five and seventeen years, were enrolled in the present study. The Trunk Control Measurement Scale (TCMS) was utilized to evaluate the trunk control. The Selective Control Assessment of the Lower Extremity (SCALE) was performed to measure the selectivity of the lower extremity. Groups with varying GMFCS levels were analyzed using the Kruskal-Wallis test. For the relationship analysis, the Spearman rank correlation test was employed.

Results: Significant differences in total SCALE scores between levels of the GMFCS were found in the group comparisons (Kruskal-Wallis H test: 44.145, p<0.001). SCALE scores and TCMS scores showed a substantial high association for dynamic sitting balance (rho:0.743, p<0.001), selective movement control (rho: 0.739, p<0.001), and overall TCMS scores (rho: 0.767, p<0.001). TCMS dynamic reaching (rho: 0.676) and static sitting balance (rho: 0.690) had a moderate positive correlation with SCALE score (p<0.001). **Conclusion:** The SCALE test, which is simple to administer in a clinical setting, may provide insight into the level of trunk control. To improve selectivity of the lower limbs, physiotherapy programs may include interventions related to trunk control.

Keywords: Cerebral palsy, evaluation tool, selective motor control, trunk control measurement scale

INTRODUCTION

One of the most prevalent motor diseases affecting posture and gait in childhood is cerebral palsy (CP) (1). Children with CP commonly experience neuromuscular deficits, including spasticity, weakness and loss of selectivity. Depending on where and how the brain gets affected, varying degrees of positive and negative motor signs may manifest (2). Reduced muscle activity and selective motor control are characteristics of negative motor signs, whereas increased muscle tone is present in positive motor signs (3).

Selective motor control refers to the capacity to carry out a desired movement in isolation. Selective motor control plays a pivotal role in normal human movement, providing rapid and voluntary control over joint mobility (4). The lateral corticospinal tract is responsible for directing and generating the force of voluntary movements. Injury to this tract can disrupt the speed, timing, and strength of these movements (5). Damage to the periventricular white matter's lateral corticospinal pathway is linked to motor dysfunction in CP. One of these motor deficits, the selective loss of motor control, may lead to the emergence of synergistic movement patterns (6).

Selective motor control in the daily activities can be difficult for children with CP (7). Inadequate selectivity is a typical problem in CP (8). Research has shown that

CITATION

Apaydin U, Yildiz A, Yildiz R, et al. The Relationship Between Selective Motor Control and Trunk Control in Children With Spastic Cerebral Palsy. Med Records. 2025;7(1):151-5. DOI:1037990/medr.1585172

Received: 14.11.2024 Accepted: 09.12.2024 Published: 14.01.2025

Corresponding Author: Umut Apaydin, Karadeniz Technical University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation, Trabzon, Türkiye **E-mail**: umut.apaydin@ktu.edu.tr

Postural control is defined as ensuring proper positioning of the body in space and maintaining body alignment and stability by keeping the center of gravity within the support surface (11). Trunk control is important in achieving postural control. The core part of the body is the trunk and plays crucial role in the function of the limbs (11). Children with CP often struggle with maintaining trunk control, leading to challenges in to carry out activities of daily living (11). Deficits in motor functions and a significant limitation in walking capacity are consequences of impaired control of the trunk in children with CP (12,13). There is a connection between impairments in lower extremity tone and trunk control in CP. Impaired trunk control can negatively affect walking parameters (14). In other words, the more severe the tone abnormality in the lower extremities is, the more compromised the trunk control. Nevertheless, not enough research has been done on the association between trunk control and lower extremity selectivity. Thus, the purpose of this study was to investigate the relationship between lower extremity selectivity and trunk control in children with CP.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Study design

The Karadeniz Technical University's Ethics Committee for Scientific Research in the Health Sciences approved this study. Children and adolescents aged 5-18 (mean age: 10±4) diagnosed with CP were enrolled to this study. Prior to the child's participation in the study, the consent of both the child and the parents was obtained. This study recruited children and adolescents with Gross Motor Functional Classification System (GMFCS) levels I, II and III who could sit for at least 45 minutes with or without assistance. Children who had received botox injection in the previous 6 months in the lower extremities, had undergone orthopaedic surgery, or had mental problems that prevented them from understanding the instructions given were excluded from this study. The study evaluated a total of 72 children. Four children excluded because they did not meet eligibility criteria (2 had botox injection for 6 months, and 2 did not complete the assessment), and the study was completed with 68 children with CP. Between January and September 2023, the children in the study were examined.

Evaluations

Trunk Control Measurement Scale

This scale has been used to evaluate the control of the trunk in children. There are fifteen items in the TCMS. It evaluates sitting balance both dynamically and statically. These are the two primary parts of trunk control, including static sitting balance (SSB) and dynamic sitting balance (DSB), the two subscales that make up the TCMS. Dynamic reaching (DR) and selective movement control (SMC) constitute the two components of a DSB. The total score ranges from 0 to 58. High scores reflect excellent performance (15). The Turkish form of the TCMS was utilized in this study. Özal et al. conducted a reliability and validity study of the scale (16). Their findings confirmed that the Turkish TCMS has strong intrarater (intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC): 0.98) and interrater (ICC: 0.88) reliability as well as validity (correlation with gross motor functional measure (GMFM) r: 0.827), similar to the original form. In an assessment room with the right amount of light, sound and temperature, two physiotherapists - one with 12 years' experience and the other with 5 - carried out the trunk assessment. The assessment took approximately 20–30 minutes.

Selective Control Assessment of Lower Extremity

This scale evaluates the toe, subtalar, ankle, knee, and hip joints separately for selective movements. These joints are assessed as bilateral. On a three-point ordinal scale, each joint's selective motor control is assessed as "unable" (0 points), "impaired" (1 point), or "normal" (2 points). A participant received a "normal" score if they were able to effectively execute the specified movement sequence within the verbal count without moving the ipsilateral or contralateral lower limb joint that was not being assessed. The motion was classified as "impaired" if the participant isolated it but committed any of the following errors: only one direction of movement was made, the movement was completed less than 50% of the time, a non-tested joint (including mirror motions) was moved, or the verbal count was more than three seconds. A "unable" rating was assigned if the subject failed to initiate the intended movement or displayed a synergistic pattern of flexing or extending muscles (17). The scale was scored by 2 physiotherapists with 10 years of experience. In this study, the SCALE's Turkish version was utilized. The validity and reliability of the Turkish SCALE in children with spastic CP were examined by Tuncdemir et al (18). They found that the SCALE is valid and reliable when used with the Turkish population. SCALE assessment was performed in the same room where the trunk assessment was performed. All the evaluated joints were video recorded and evaluated. The SCALE assessment took approximately 10-15 minutes. Patients included in this study were evaluated at the Karadeniz Technical University Farabi Hospital Risky Infant Follow-up Unit or the Gazi University Faculty of Health Sciences Pediatric Rehabilitation Unit.

Statistical analysis

IBM SPSS Statistics version 25 was used to evaluate the data gathered for the study. To figure out whether or not the data are regularly distributed, analytical and visual techniques are employed. For regularly distributed data, descriptive statistics are shown as means and standard deviations; for nonnormally distributed data, they are shown as medians and interquartile ranges. Descriptive statistics are presented as frequencies and percentages for qualitative variables. The Kruskal-Wallis test was

applied to compare groups with varying GMFCS levels. For pairwise comparisons, the Mann-Whitney U test was used. The Bonferroni adjustment was carried out. Correlation coefficients were calculated via Spearman correlation coefficients. The interpretation of Spearman's rank correlation is 0.70 + strong, 0.40 - 0.69 moderate, and 0.10 -0.39 weak (19). P values considered statistically significant were less than 0.05. G*Power version 3.1 (Düsseldorf, Germany) was used for sample size calculation. In this study the number of participants was determined as 58, with a correlation effect size of 0.4, 90% power and a 0.05 error rate, according to the Yun et al. study (20).

RESULTS

This study included sixty-eight children and adolescents with spastic CP (median age at enrollment: 10 years, interquartile range: 7-12 years, GMFCS levels I (n=25, 36.8%], II (n=22, 32.4%), and III (n=21, 30.8%). Table 1 displays the participants' characteristics. The median TCMS score was 46, and the median SCALE score was 4 (Table 1).

Table 1. Characteristics of participants				
n	68			
Age	10 (7-12)			
Gender (male/female)	36/32			
Height (cm)	122 (110-130)			
Weight (kg)	25 (20-35)			
BMI (kg/m²)	18.2 (15.3-20.4)			
GMFCS level I	25 (36.8%)			
GMFCS level II	22 (32.4%)			
GMFCS level III	21 (30.8%)			
Unilateral CP	30 (44.1%)			
Bilateral CP	38 (55.9%)			
SCALE total	4 (2-7)			
TCMS SSB	20 (14-20)			
TCMS DSB	28 (13-34)			
Selective movement control	18 (8-24)			
Dynamic reaching	10 (5-10)			
TCMS total	46 (30-54)			

Data are presented as the median (interquartile range) or frequency (percentage); BMI: body mass index, CP: cerebral palsy, GMFCS: Gross Motor Function Classification System, SCALE: Selective Control Assessment of the Lower Extremity, TCMS-SSB: Trunk Control Measurement Scale-Static Sitting Balance, TCMS-DSB: Trunk Control Measurement Scale-Dynamic Sitting Balance

Significant differences in SCALE total scores between GMFCS levels were found in the group comparisons (Kruskal-Wallis H: 44.145, p<0.001) (Figure 1). SCALE total scores differed significantly between GMFCS I and II (u: 151.50, p: 0.008), between GMFCS I and III (u: 5.00, p<0.001) and between GMFCS II and III (u: 12.00, p<0.001) when pairwise comparisons were performed with Bonferroni correction.



Figure 1. SCALE total score by GMFCS levels; GMFCS: Gross Motor Function Classification System, SCALE: Selective Control Assessment of the Lower Extremity

The SCALE scores and the TCMS scores were strongly correlated with the dynamic sitting balance, the selective movement control and the total TCMS score (p<0.001). There was a moderate correlation between TCMS static sitting balance and dynamic reaching and SCALE (p<0.001) (Table 2).

Table 2. Correlation analyses of the Selective Control Assessment of the Lower Extremity (SCALE) in relation to trunk control					
SCALE	Spearman' correlation co	s rank Defficient			
	rho	р			
TCMS SSB	0.690	p<0.001			
TCMS DSB	0.743	p<0.001			
Selective movement control	0.739	p<0.001			
Dynamic reaching	0.676	p<0.001			
Total TCMS	0.767	p<0.001			

TCMS: Trunk Control Measurement Scale, TCMS-SSB: Trunk Control Measurement Scale-Static Sitting Balance, TCMS-DSB: Trunk Control Measurement Scale-Dynamic Sitting Balance, SCALE: Selective Control Assessment of the Lower Extremity

DISCUSSION

The objective of this study was to explore the association between trunk control and selective motor control in ambulatory children with CP. The results of the study showed that children with spastic CP had a general trunk control deficit that was associated with lower limb selectivity. The TCMS total score and sub-scores and the SCALE score have been demonstrated to be significantly correlated. This can be the first study that examines at the association between Turkish children with CP's TCMS and SCALE scores. A previous study found that the control of the trunk was correlated with the selectivity in Korean children with CP (6). Similar studies on the impact of poor selective motor control have been reported in most cases, indicating that selectivity impacts balance, motor function and gait parameters in children with CP (9,20-22). In addition to these existing studies in the literature, our study revealed that loss of selective motor control was also associated with trunk control.

The results of our study showed that there was a difference between the SCALE score according to the GMFCS levels. Additionally, pairwise comparisons showed that GMFCS levels I-II, I-III, and II-III differed significantly in SCALE ratings. This finding revealed that as the GMFCS score increased, the SCALE score decreased. In other words, as the severity of the motor impairment increased, there was a decrease in the ability to move selectively in children with CP. Our study's findings are consistent with those of earlier research in the literature (3,18). Tuncdemir et al. reported a significant difference between levels I-II, I-III and II-III, similar to our study (18). Children with GMFCS levels I and II had significantly different SCALE scores than those reported by Balzer et al., whereas children with GMFCS levels II and III did not significantly differ in their SCALE scores (3). In contrast to our research, Balzer's study revealed no significant distinction between levels II and III. In this study, it was stated by the authors that the small number of patients in level 2 may affect the results of the study. Numerous CP-related problems, including weakness, a lack of reciprocal inhibition, and hyperreflexia, may be explained by central nervous system (CNS) damage (9). The more severe the damage to the CNS is, the more problems there are. This may explain the strong correlation between the GMFCS levels, a marker of the severity of motor impairment, and selective movements. Increasing the severity of impairment may lead to a decrease in the loss of selective movement in these children. Therefore, we believe that selective movements should also be evaluated in children with all levels of motor impairment.

The study findings showed that there was a moderate to strong association between the sub scores and total scores on the TCMS and SCALE. This result revealed that good lower limb selective control was associated with good trunk control. Our results were similar to those of Lim et al. (6). Their findings demonstrated a strong connection between the Korean-TCMS scores and the SCALE score. Trunk control impairment affects functional ability, according to Panibatla et al. (23). The control of the trunk and the ability to balance show that the trunk control is an essential part of the functional ability of the CP (23). Their findings indicated that trunk stability during upper and lower extremity movements influences one's capacity to perform functional tasks. Furthermore, a trunk-focused intervention to increase the TCMS score has been demonstrated to enhance balance performance and gross motor function (23). As can be understood from this study, the trunk is the basis for all limb movements and balance and daily performance. The results of our study additionally show that the trunk is strongly associated with lower limb selectivity. In this way, we can also obtain important information about the trunk with SCALE, which is an easier and time-saving assessment tool.

The TCMS static and dynamic sitting balance items were related to the total SCALE score in this study. This is consistent with early research by Balzer et al and Lim et al, who reported a significant relationship between the SCALE and TCMS (6,10). The TCMS dynamics revealed a strong relationship with SCALE. The dynamic reach parameter is a part that can be used alone in terms of balance assessment (15). This result shows that SCALE assessment can also provide insight into the balance of children with CP.

This study has a number of limitations. First, participants in this study included all children with GMFCS levels I, II and III who were able to sit independently for at least 45 minutes; those who were unable to do so were excluded. In addition, as this study only included children with spastic CP, the results cannot be extrapolated to other children with CP. We believe that future studies with different types of CP will contribute to the results of our study.

CONCLUSION

To summarize, this study investigated the relationship between selective lower limb control and trunk control in spastic CP. TCMS scores and overall SCALE scores were significantly positively associated. This study implies that trunk control is necessary for lower limb function and selective movement, and that trunk control is the basis of lower limb selective control. Therefore, a trunk control examination and intervention should be considered while attempting to enhance the selective control of a CP's lower extremities.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: The Karadeniz Technical University's Ethics Committee for Scientific Research in the Health Sciences approved this study.

REFERENCES

- 1. Dussault-Picar C, Mohammadyari SG, Arvisais D, et al. Gait adaptations of individuals with cerebral palsy on irregular surfaces: a scoping review. Gait Posture. 2022;96:35-46.
- Patel DR, Neelakantan M, Pandher K, Merrick J. Cerebral palsy in children: a clinical overview. Transl Pediatr. 2020;9:S125-35.
- 3. Balzer J, Marsico P, Mitteregger E, et al. Construct validity and reliability of the selective control assessment of the lower extremity in children with cerebral palsy. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2016;58:167-72.
- 4. Mohammed AH, El-Serougy HR, Karim AEA, et al. Correlation between selective motor control of the lower extremities and balance in spastic hemiplegic cerebral palsy: a randomized controlled trial. BMC Sports Sci Med Rehabil. 2023;15:24.
- Vos RC, Becher JG, Voorman JM, et al. Longitudinal association between gross motor capacity and neuromusculoskeletal function in children and youth with cerebral palsy. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2016;97:1329-37.
- 6. Lim M, Lee H, Lim H. Correlation between the Korean version of the trunk control measurement scale and the selective control assessment of the lower extremity scores in children with cerebral palsy. Medicina. 2021;57:687.

- 7. Fowler EG, Staudt LA, Greenberg MB. Lower-extremity selective voluntary motor control in patients with spastic cerebral palsy: increased distal motor impairment. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2010;52:264-9.
- 8. Graci V, O'Neill M, Bloss M, et al. A new methodological approach to characterize selective motor control in children with cerebral palsy. Front Hum Neurosci. 2024;18:1330315.
- 9. Chruscikowski E, Fry NR, Noble JJ, et al. Selective motor control correlates with gait abnormality in children with cerebral palsy. Gait Posture. 2017;52:107-9.
- Balzer J, Marsico P, Mitteregger E, et al. Influence of trunk control and lower extremity impairments on gait capacity in children with cerebral palsy. Disabil Rehabil. 2018;40:3164-70.
- 11. Kim DH, An D-H, Yoo W-G. The relationship between trunk control and upper limb function in children with cerebral palsy. Technol Health Care. 2018;26:421-7.
- 12. Talgeri AJ, Nayak A, Karnad SD, et al. Effect of trunk targeted interventions on functional outcomes in children with cerebral palsy-a systematic review. Dev Neurorehabil. 2023;26:193-205.
- 13. Curtis DJ, Butler P, Saavedra S, et al. The central role of trunk control in the gross motor function of children with cerebral palsy: a retrospective cross-sectional study. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2015;57:351-7.
- 14. Saether R, Helbostad JL, Adde L, et al. Reliability and validity of the Trunk Impairment Scale in children and adolescents with cerebral palsy. Res Dev Disabil. 2013;34:2075-84.
- Heyrman L, Molenaers G, Desloovere K, et al. A clinical tool to measure trunk control in children with cerebral palsy: the Trunk Control Measurement Scale. Res Dev Disabil. 2011;32:2624-35.

- Ozal C, Ari G, Gunel MK. Inter-intra observer reliability and validity of the Turkish version of Trunk Control Measurement Scale in children with cerebral palsy. Acta Orthop Traumatol Turc. 2019;53:381-4.
- 17. Fowler EG, Staudt LA, Greenberg MB, Oppenheim WL. Selective Control Assessment of the Lower Extremity (SCALE): development, validation, and interrater reliability of a clinical tool for patients with cerebral palsy. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2009;51:607-14.
- Tunçdemir M, Üneş S, Karakaya J, Kerem Günel M. Reliability and validity of the Turkish version of the Selective Control Assessment of the Lower Extremity (SCALE) in children with spastic cerebral palsy. Disabil Rehabil. 2023;45:106-10.
- Dancey CP, Reidy J. Correlational analysis: Pearson's r. In: Dancey CP, Reidy J, eds, Statistics without maths for psychology. London: Pearson education; 2007;175-217.
- Yun G, Huang M, Cao J, Hu X. Selective motor control correlates with gross motor ability, functional balance and gait performance in ambulant children with bilateral spastic cerebral palsy. Gait Posture. 2023;99:9-13.
- 21. Noble JJ, Gough M, Shortland AP. Selective motor control and gross motor function in bilateral spastic cerebral palsy. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2019;61:57-61.
- 22. Lim H. Correlation between the selective control assessment of lower extremity and pediatric balance scale scores in children with spastic cerebral palsy. J Phys Ther Sci. 2015;27:3645-9.
- 23. Panibatla S, Kumar V, Narayan A. Relationship between trunk control and balance in children with spastic cerebral palsy: a cross-sectional study. J Clin Diagn Res. 2017;11:YC05-8.





Traumatic Amputations in Military Personnel: From The Perspective of Forensic Medicine

Description: Description of the second state of the second stat

¹University of Health Sciences, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine, Department of Forensic Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye ²Artvin Branch of the Council of Forensic Medicine, Artvin, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.



Abstract

Aim: Traumatic amputations are devastating injuries that occur suddenly and unexpectedly, resulting in the loss of a body part. This study was aimed at evaluating cases of traumatic amputations from a medico-legal perspective.

Material and Method: The forensic reports prepared by the Department of Forensic Medicine, Gülhane Training and Research Hospital (fka; Gülhane Military Medical Academy), between January 1, 2011, and December 31, 2014 were examined retrospectively and the cases who had traumatic amputations analyzed in depth.

Results: All of the cases (n=72) were male, and the mean age at the time of the injury was 24.2 (\pm 4.3) years. Almost all the cases (97.2%) were soldiers. It was determined that the most common cause of trauma among all cases was work accident (51.5%), followed by explosion injuries (26.4%). Traumatic amputations were mostly seen in the upper extremity (83.3%), followed by lower the extremity (12.5%) and both upper and lower extremities (4.2%). The most common cause of upper extremity amputations was work accidents, while lower extremity amputations were mostly caused by blast injuries. While 58.3% of the amputations were minor (fingers only), 41.7% were major. It was determined that psychiatric disorders developed in 19.4% of the cases after traumatic amputation.

Conclusion: Traumatic amputations are among the issues that need to be carefully examined because they occur especially at the young age group and cause disabilities in the affected people. It is necessary to reduce trauma, which is one of the important causes of amputations, to take precautions by using personal protective equipment, and to not neglect treatment and follow-up. The majority of patients in developing nations, like Türkiye, struggle to receive pre-hospital care, which proves to be a major challenge for trauma care, especially in military cases. It is of great importance that psychiatric follow-up of people is carried out in the early and late periods after amputation and that social support and appropriate treatments are not neglected.

Keywords: Amputation, trauma, forensic medicine, military personnel

INTRODUCTION

The word "amputation" means a total or partial removal of any organ in the form of a protrusion of the body (especially the extremities) by surgery. While the etiology of amputation may be alterable depending on the cultural and geopolitical conditions of countries, the most common causes are diseases, traffic accidents, occupational-work accidents, and combat-related injuries like gunshot injuries and explosions (1-5).

Approximately 185,000 amputations are performed annually in the United States, and it is reported that 16% of these are related to trauma (6-8). Traumatic amputation is one of the most disturbing and devastating wounds of conflict. It occurs suddenly and unexpectedly, and there is not any adaptation time, contrary to the diseaserelated amputations. Therefore, traumatic amputees need complete health care services, including psychological support.

The purpose of this retrospective study was to analyze the forensic cases with traumatic amputation (s) who applied to the Gülhane Training and Research Hospital (fka: Gülhane Military Medical Academy), and reveal the characteristics of military amputees and traumatic extremity amputations among military personnel.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

The forensic reports prepared by the Gülhane Training and Research Hospital (Gülhane Military Medical Academy),

CITATION

Balandiz H, Kaya B, Ozsoy S. Traumatic Amputations in Military Personnel: From The Perspective of Forensic Medicine. Med Records. 2025;7(1):156-61. DOI:1037990/medr.1588716

Received: 21.11.2024 Accepted: 17.12.2024 Published: 14.01.2025 Corresponding Author: Huseyin Balandiz, University of Health Sciences, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine, Department of Forensic Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye E-mail: huseyinbalandiz@gmail.com between January 1, 2011, and December 31, 2014, were examined retrospectively. The cases who had traumatic amputation (s) were analyzed in detail, including the parameters like age and sex of amputees, the etiology of amputation, amputation levels, replantation operations, life-threatening situations due to amputation, the disability of extremities due to amputation, and psychiatric disorders due to amputation.

The data obtained from the cases were analyzed with Microsoft Office-Excel 2010 and IBM SPSS Statistics version 23.0 (IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, IBM Corp, Armonk, New York, USA). Descriptive statistics included number (%) and mean standard deviation for continuous variables.

Ethics committee approval is received for this research from Ethics Committee of Gülhane Military Medical Academy (05.05.2015, 08/227).

RESULTS

There were a total of 2472 forensic reports in four years, and 72 (2.9%) of the cases had traumatic amputation(s). The cases were sent to the Department of Forensic Medicine to prepare forensic reports for extremity disability ratio calculation (n=54, 75%), action for compensation (n=10, 13.9%), criminal action (n=6, 8.3%), and the Turkish Armed Forces Assistance Fund Law (n=2, 28%).

All of the amputees were male, with the mean age at injury date being 24.2 (\pm 4.3) years, ranging from 20 to 35 years. Almost all cases were military personnel (n=70, 97.2%) and the ranks of the cases were as follows: 53 (73.6%) private, 10 (13.9%) specialist sergeant, 3 (4.2%) noncommissioned officer, 4 (5.6%) commissioned officer, and 2 (2.8%) civilian. Traumatic amputation mostly occurred in May (n=11, 15.3%) and in the spring season (n=25, 34.7%). The seasonal evaluation of the traumatic amputation rate of incidence is stated in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Seasonal evaluation of traumatic amputation rate of incidence

Amputations due to work-related (occupational) injuries were the most common cause of traumatic amputations (n=37, 51.4%), followed by explosion injuries (n=19, 26.4%) and gunshot injuries (n=9, 12.5%). Among the work-related

injury group, jamming of body parts (in the door, gun mechanism, etc.) accounted for 21 cases, and machine accidents (lawn mower, meat grinder, etc.) accounted for 16 cases. The distribution of causes of amputations and amputation levels is stated in Table 1.

Sixty-four (88.9%) cases had amputation of one extremity (upper or lower), while 8 (11.1%) cases had multiple extremity amputations. Six (8.3%) cases had amputations involving two extremities, and 2 (2.8%) cases had amputations involving three extremities (Table 1).

Traumatic amputation was mostly seen in the upper extremity (n=60, 83.3%), followed by the lower extremity (n=9, 12.5%) and both upper and lower extremities (n=3, 4.2%). There was no difference in the number of amputees between the right and left upper extremities; besides, amputation was more frequently seen at the left lower extremity than the right lower extremity. Also, there were 4 (5.6%) cases with bilateral upper extremity amputations and 1 (1.4%) case with bilateral lower extremity amputations (Table 1).

Work-related (occupational) injuries (n=35, 62.5%) were the most common cause of traumatic upper extremity amputations, followed by explosion injuries (n=9, 15.2%) and gunshot injuries (n=6, 11.7%). Among lower extremity amputations, explosion injuries and work-related injuries (each n=3, 37.5%) were the most common cause. And also explosion injuries (n=7, 87.5%) were the most common cause of multiple extremity amputations.

"Toes and fingers (digits)" are considered as "any upper level minor amputations, while of metacarpophalangeal/metatarsophalangeal articulation" is considered as major amputations (i.e., partial hand/foot, wrist, trans-radial, elbow, trans-humeral, shoulder, hip, transfemoral, knee, trans-tibial, ankle). In this research, of the 72 amputees, 42 (58.3%) had minor amputations (only fingers and/or toes) and 30 (41.7%) had major amputations. While isolated partial hand amputations (n=11, 36.6%) were the most common among the major amputations, finger amputations (n=39, 54.2%) were the most common among the minor amputations (Table 1 and 2).

Partial hand amputation was the most frequent amputation level among all trauma types, except electrical injuries and traffic accidents. The traumatic cause was explosion wounds in 3 cases, who had both upper and lower extremity amputations (Table 2).

There were a total of 110 amputations among 54 partial hand amputees, and the left hand (n=29, 53.7%) was more dominant than the right hand (n=25, 46.3%). Of the 54 amputees who had partial hand amputations, 34 (62.9%) had only one finger involving amputations, while 20 (37.1%) had more than one finger amputations. Distal phalanges level (30.9%), metacarpophalangeal joint level (17.3%), and proximal phalanges level (15.4%) were the most frequent amputation levels. The distribution of amputation levels and amputation numbers of 54 partial hand amputees is stated in Table 3.

Replantation operation was performed only on 4 (5.6%) of the amputees: left second and third proximal phalanges level in 1 case, right third mid phalanges level in 1 case, and right elbow level in 2 cases. There were eburnation and movement restriction sequels at the distal levels of replantation in replanted amputees.

Eighteen (25%) amputees overcame a life-threatening situation due to amputation injury, and 14 (19.4%) amputees had a psychiatric disorder after trauma. The distribution of psychiatric disorders after traumatic amputation is stated at Figure 2. The rate of psychiatric disorders was found to be 15.6% (n=13) in upper extremity amputations, 28.2% (n=11) in lower extremity amputations, and 50%

(n=2) in both extremity (upper and lower) amputations. The incidence of psychiatric disorders after traumatic amputation was most frequently observed in explosion injuries (37.2%) and gunshot injuries (28.6%).

While the rate of psychiatric disorders was 29.8% (n=17) in major amputations, this rate was only 13% (n=9) in minor amputations. It was determined that the most common type of psychiatric disorder in both types of amputations was anxiety disorder.

Twenty-four (33.3%) amputees had a continuous failure of extremity function, while 22 (30.6%) amputees had a loss of extremity function due to amputation.

Table 1. The distribution of amputation causes and amputation levels of the amputees								
	Explosion injuries	Work-related injuries	Gunshot injuries	Electricity injuries	Stab wounds	Traffic Accident	Total (%)	
		Upper ex	xtremity amput	ations				
Fingers	4	28	4	-	2	1	39 (54.2)	
Partial hand	4	5	2	-	-	-	11 (15.3)	
Wrist disarticulation	1	-	-	-	-	-	1 (1.4)	
Trans-radial (below elbow)	-	-	-	1	-	-	1 (1.4)	
Elbow disarticulation	-	2	-	-	-	-	2 (2.8)	
Trans-humeral	-	-	-	-	-	2	2 (2.8)	
Shoulder disarticulation	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Subtotal upper extremity							56 (77.7)	
		Lower ex	xtremity amput	tations				
Toes	-	1	1	-	-	-	2 (2.8)	
Partial foot (below ankle)	-	-	-	-	-	-	0	
Ankle disarticulation	-	-	-	-	-	-	0	
Trans-tibial (below knee)	2	-	1	1	-	-	4 (5.6)	
Knee disarticulation	-	-	-	-	-	-	0	
Trans-femoral (above knee)	-	-	1	-	-	-	1 (1.4)	
Hip disarticulation	1	-	-	-	-	-	1 (1.4)	
Subtotal lower extremity							8 (11.1)	
		Multiple e	extremity ampu	utations				
Fingers + trans-femoral	2	-	-	-	-	-	2 (2.8)	
Partial hand + partial foot	1	-	-	-	-	-	1 (1.4)	
Knee disarticulation + trans-tibial	1	-	-	-	-	-	1 (1.4)	
Bilateral hand fingers	-	1	-	-	-	-	1 (1.4)	
Bilateral wrist disarticulation	3	-	-	-	-	-	3 (4.2)	
Subtotal multiple extremity							8 (11.1)	
Grand total (%)	19 (26.4)	37 (51.4)	9 (12.5)	2 (2.8)	2 (2.8)	3 (4.2)	72 (100)	

Table 2. Extremity distributions of amputations		
Amputation region	Number of cases	(%)
Right upper extremity	28	38.9
Left upper extremity	28	38.9
Bilateral upper extremity	4	5.6
Right lower extremity	1	1.4
Left lower extremity	7	9.7
Bilateral lower extremity	1	1.4
Upper and lower extremity	3	4.2
Total	72	100

Table 3. Ampu	tation levels	and numbers	s of 54 partial l	hand ampute	es					
	Carpal bones	CMC joint	Metacarpal bones	MCP joint	Proximal phalanges	PIP joint	Mid phalanges	DIP joint	Distal phalanges	Total
Right hand	2	1	5	7	9	10	4	5	14	57
Left hand	-	1	3	12	8	1	6	2	20	53
Total (%)	2 (1.8)	2 (1.8)	8 (7.3)	19 (17.3)	17 (15.4)	11 (10)	10 (9.1)	7 (6.4)	34 (30.9)	110 (100)
0140.0					1			1		

CMC: Carpometacarpal, MCP: Metacarpophalangeal, PIP: Proximal Interphalangeal, DIP: Distal Interphalangeal

DISCUSSION

Amputations can be evaluated in two ways: traumatic and non-traumatic. Non-traumatic amputations depend on diseases (diabetes mellitus, peripheral vascular disease, malignancy, etc.) and frequently performed surgery treatment at hospitals. This kind of amputation is more acceptable for patients because they are preplanned operations, and patients have knowledge about their disease. But, on the contrary, traumatic amputations occur suddenly, without going through a pre-loss adaptation phase, and are the most severe injuries for a person, both physically and psychologically.

The etiology of amputation varies between countries and cities depending on cultural and geopolitical characteristics. In the United States, vascular diseases (Diabetes Mellitus, etc.) are the most frequent cause of amputations (9), while trauma is seen as the most frequent cause in Türkiye (1,3). To our knowledge, this is the first study that determines traumatic amputations among military personnel in Türkiye.

Military personnel are always at risk of trauma due to difficult conditions like conflicts, training, etc. This can also cause traumatic amputations. In this research, we examined 2472 forensic case reports of military personnel retrospectively and determined that 72 (2.9%) of them had traumatic amputation (s).

It is known that traumas and traumatic amputations are frequently seen in young men. All of our cases were male and in young age groups similar to the other studies (4) (1,2,10-14). It is thought that the fact that the cases in our study were mostly in the young age group and all were men was because all the cases included in the study were military personnel. This is consistent with the fact that traumatic amputations are generally caused by occupational injuries, especially in the military, heavy labor, when machinery is involved, and in youths and males.

When the etiology of traumatic amputations is examined, it varies depending on factors such as profession (civilian/ security force), development level of the countries, terrorism, war, public order in the country, and the existence of a developed health system. While the majority of injuries, especially in the presence of war, are caused by explosions, outside of war, other causes other than explosions are more effective (15). When the literature was examined, although there were differences in the rates, it was seen that work accidents and explosions were the most common causes of amputations (1,3,16,13). The most common causes of traumatic amputation in our

study were work-related injuries (51.4%) and explosion injuries (26,4%). The frequent occurrence of terrorist acts and military operations in our country between the years of the study led to an increase in explosions and explosionrelated amputations. In addition, the study mainly involved soldiers, who often work with heavy machinery and are exposed to trauma-inducing scenarios like explosions; it was determined that work accidents and explosions were the leading causes of traumatic amputations.

Although amputations vary depending on the cause of trauma, they are mostly in only one extremity (upper or lower) in literature (2,17). In our study, most of the cases (88.9%) had amputation in only one extremity (upper or lower), while 11.1% had amputation in multiple (more than one) extremities. We were unable to locate any research on amputations involving only one or multiple limbs. The etiology of the trauma, the severity of the injury, and the affected body part are all factors that contribute to the number of extremities involved in traumatic amputations. Although primarily associated with severe trauma such as terrorist bombings and land mines, it can also develop in a singular extremity from relatively minor injuries like those sustained in work or traffic accidents. Since people injured in these minor injuries are focused on protecting themselves, it is thought that they try to protect their uninjured extremities to avoid amputation. We think that the fact that work-related injuries were the most common in the cases in our study caused amputations to occur mostly in only one extremity.

Although amputations occur in various parts of the body, they often occur in the upper extremity. In the study of Barmparas et al., it was reported that amputations were more common in the upper extremity (58.9%) (11). Similarly, other studies have found that traumatic amputations are most common in the upper extremity (68.6%) (17,18). In our study, it was determined that the majority of amputations (83.3%) were in the upper extremity, consistent with the literature. People frequently use their upper extremities in their daily lives. Especially in work accidents, traumas are frequently seen in the upper extremities, especially the fingers, and as a result, amputations occur. We think that the most common cause of trauma in our study is workrelated, which causes upper extremity amputations to occur more frequently.

The most frequently affected areas by trauma are the distal parts of our body. In studies evaluating upper extremity amputations, it was reported that amputations were most frequently seen in the fingers (19,20). In a study conducted on American soldiers injured in Afghanistan and Iraq, it was determined that amputations occurred more frequently at the distal ends of the body, upper extremity amputations were more common below the elbow, and lower extremity amputations were more common below the knee (21). Similar results were obtained in the study of Melcer T et al. (22). In our study, similar to the literature, it was determined that amputations were most common in the fingers of the upper extremity (54.2%, n=39) and in the distal parts of the lower extremity. This is just because people use their distal extremities for work or battle, and they get hurt frequently at distal extremities.

Amputations can be at different levels, major or minor, depending on the etiology of the trauma and the severity of the injury. When the literature is evaluated, there are differences regarding the level of traumatic amputations. These differences vary depending on the country where the study is conducted, the level of development of the health system, and the presence of war, such as the profession (civilian/security force). In a study conducted on American soldiers injured in Afghanistan and Irag, it has been stated that the majority of traumatic amputations are major amputations, and this situation is caused by severe trauma such as terrorist bombings and antipersonnel land mines (23). In the study conducted by Dillingham et al. among civilians, it was reported that the most common amputations were minor amputations (70.1%), and among them, finger amputations (52.7%) were the most common. It was determined that the most common major amputation was hand amputation (11.5%) (18). In our study, 58.3% of the cases had minor amputations and were frequently seen in the fingers. In general, minor amputations are most common in civilians and non-traumatic amputations, while major amputations are common in military personnel at different rates. Amputations due to diseases (diabetes, cardiovascular diseases, etc.) are mostly in the distal parts, while in traumatic amputations, this situation varies according to the etiology of trauma. For example, major amputations are seen in high-energy traumas such as terrorist bombings and antipersonnel land mines, while minor amputations are more common in work-related traumatic amputations. Although the cases in our study were military personnel, the frequency of work-related traumatic amputations in the etiology of trauma explains the minority of amputations. In this case, we think that the presence of military doctors and the experience of military hospitals in this field are also effective, and the major level is prevented.

Amputations have not only physical but also psychological effects on people. The level of these effects may vary depending on the personality characteristics of the victim and the severity of the amputations. Many researchers reported that traumatic amputations are typically equated with the loss of a spouse, loss of one's perception of wholeness, symbolic castration, and even death (24) (25). In the study of Çopuroğlu et al., it was determined that 36% of the cases had psychiatric complaints in the early period after amputation, and post-traumatic stress disorder occurred in 77.2% in the late period (26). In a study conducted on military cases, it was reported that

38.3% of the cases had psychiatric complaints after traumatic amputation, and among these, post-traumatic stress disorder was the most common (17.9%) (27). Similar studies have also reported that there are varying rates of psychiatric complaints after amputation, and post-traumatic stress disorder is the most common among them (28,29). In our study, it was determined that an accompanying psychiatric disorder occurred in 19.4% (n=14) of the injuries resulting in amputation, and among these, anxiety disorder was the most common. In addition, it was determined that psychiatric disorders were more common in lower extremity amputations, and as the number of amputations increased, the rate of psychiatric disorders also increased. In a study conducted on war victims, it was found that patients with amputations were more frequently examined in psychiatric outpatient clinics, and psychiatric disorders were more common, especially in lower extremity amputations (22). Amputations are known to cause social discomfort and body image anxiety. This leads to activity limitation and psychiatric disorders such as post-traumatic stress disorder, depression, and anxiety. Since lower extremity amputations cause more social discomfort, psychiatric disorders were more common than upper extremity amputations. Similarly, we think that increasing the number of amputations causes psychiatric disorders for the same reason.

CONCLUSION

Trauma is one of the important causes of amputations. Traumatic amputations are among the issues that need to be carefully examined because they occur especially in the young age group and cause disabilities in the affected people. It is known that traumatic amputations are more common in soldiers and security forces, where situations such as explosions and gunshot wounds occur frequently in terrorist acts in our country and around the world. Amputations occur in the extremities and often in the distal regions, and this leads to significant effects on the person's post-event life. It is necessary to reduce trauma, which is one of the important causes of amputations, to take precautions by using personal protective equipment, and to not neglect treatment and follow-up. Trainings should be provided on common causes of trauma (workrelated injury, explosion, etc.) to prevent the occurrence of amputations.

The majority of patients in developing nations, like Türkiye, struggle to receive pre-hospital care, which proves to be a major challenge for trauma care, especially in military cases. The prevention of amputations relies heavily on proper prehospital first aid interventions. Simple first aid information and training are essential for soldiers who often encounter traumatic amputations.

Psychological injuries may also occur in people with severe traumatic injuries such as amputation. Developing psychological injuries leads to significant effects on a person's life. It is of great importance that psychiatric follow-up of people is carried out in the early and late periods after amputation and that social support and appropriate treatments are not neglected. **Financial disclosures:** The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: Ethics committee approval is received for this research from Ethics Committee of Gülhane Military Medical Academy (05.05.2015, 08/227).

REFERENCES

- Aygan İ, Tuncay İ, Tosun N, Vural S. Amputasyonlar: nedenleri ve seviyeleri (retrospektif klinik çalışma). Turkish Journal of Arthroplasty and Arthroscopic Surgery. 1999;10:179-83.
- al-Turaiki HS, al-Falahi LA. Amputee population in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. Prosthet Orthot Int. 1993;17:147-56.
- Orthop A, Dogan A, Sungur I, et al. Amputations in eastern Turkey (Van): a multicenter epidemiological study. Acta Orthop Traumatol Turc. 2008;42:53-8.
- 4. Omoke NI, Chukwu CO, Madubueze CC, Egwu AN. Traumatic extremity amputation in a Nigerian setting: patterns and challenges of care. Int Orthop. 2012;36:613-8.
- Sümer A, Onur E, Altınlı E, et al. Our clinical experience in lower extremity amputations. J Turgut Ozal Med Cent. 2008;15:187-90.
- 6. Ziegler-Graham K, MacKenzie EJ, Ephraim PL, et al. Estimating the prevalence of limb loss in the United States: 2005 to 2050. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2008;89:422-9.
- 7. Owings MF, Kozak LJ. Ambulatory and inpatient procedures in the United States. Vital Health Stat. 1998;1-119.
- Tintle SM, Keeling JJ, Shawen SB, et al. Traumatic and trauma-related amputations: part I: general principles and lower-extremity amputations. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2010;92:2852-68.
- Staff N. Amputation Statistics by Cause Limb Loss in the United States (Internet). https://figeducation.com/nlcp/ resources/section-4/ACA%20Statistics.pdf access date 25.06.2024.
- 10. Roche AJ, Selvarajah K. Traumatic amputations in children and adolescents demographics from a regional limbfitting centre in the united kingdom. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 2011;93:507-9.
- 11. Barmparas G, Teixeira PGR, Dubose JJ, et al. Epidemiology of post-traumatic limb amputation: a national trauma databank analysis. Am Surg. 2010;76:1214-22.
- 12. Amputations of upper and lower extremities, active and reserve components, U.S. Armed Forces, 2000-2011. MSMR. 2012;19:2-6.
- 13. Heszlein-Lossius HE, Ismail A, Al-Borno Y, et al. Disturbing medical findings in war-related traumatic amputation patients: a clinical descriptive study from Gaza. BMJ Open. 2020;10:e034648.

- 14. Smith SA, DaCambra MP, McAlister VC. Impact of traumatic upper-extremity amputation on the outcome of injury caused by an antipersonnel improvised explosive device. Can J Surg. 2018;61:S203-7.
- 15. Krueger CA, Wenke JC, Ficke JR. Ten years at war: Comprehensive analysis of amputation trends. J Trauma Acute Care Surg. 2012;73:S438-44.
- 16. Rankin IA, Nguyen TT, McMenemy L, et al. The injury mechanism of traumatic amputation. Front Bioeng Biotechnol. 2021;9:665248.
- 17. O'Donovan S, van den Heuvel C, Baldock M, Byard RW. Upper and lower limb amputations in vehicle-related fatalities. J Forensic Leg Med. 2021;82:102225.
- Dillingham TR, Pezzin LE, MacKenzie EJ. Limb amputation and limb deficiency: epidemiology and recent trends in the United States. South Med J. 2002;95:875-83.
- 19. Bukhari SI, Qadir RI. Frequency of post-traumatic amputation patients presenting at a tertiary care hospital of Peshawar. J Med Sci 2019;27:210-2.
- 20. Pomares G, Coudane H, Dap F, Dautel G. Traumatic upperlimb amputation: the process toward acceptance. Orthop Traumatol Surg Res. 2020;106:1419-23.
- 21. Stansbury LG, Lalliss SJ, Branstetter JG, et al. Amputations in U.S. military personnel in the current conflicts in Afghanistan and Iraq. J Orthop Trauma. 2008;22:43-6.
- 22. Melcer T, Walker G.J, Galarneau M, et al. Midterm health and personnel outcomes of recent combat amputees. Mil Med. 2010;175:147-54.
- 23. Clasper J, Ramasamy A. Traumatic amputations. British journal of pain. 2013;7:67-73.
- 24. Parkes CM. Components of the reaction to loss of a limb, spouse or home. J Psychosom Res. 1972;16:343-9.
- Sahu A, Sagar R, Sarkar S, Sagar S. Psychological effects of amputation: A review of studies from India. Ind Psychiatry J. 2016;25:4-10.
- 26. Copuroglu C, Ozcan M, Yilmaz B, et al. Acute stress disorder and post-traumatic stress disorder following traumatic amputation. Acta Orthop. 2010;76:90-3.
- Doukas WC, Hayda RA, Frisch HM, et al. The Military Extremity Trauma Amputation/Limb Salvage (METALS) study: outcomes of amputation versus limb salvage following major lower-extremity trauma. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2013;95:138-45.
- 28. Shue S, Wu-Fienberg Y, Chepla KJ. Psychiatric disease after isolated traumatic upper extremity amputation. J Hand Microsurg. 2021;13:75-80.
- 29. Mitchell SL, Hayda R, Chen AT, et al. The Military Extremity Trauma Amputation/Limb Salvage (METALS) study: outcomes of amputation compared with limb salvage following major upper-extremity trauma. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2019;101:1470-8.

MEDICAL RECORDS-International Medical Journal

Research Article



Assessing the Performance of ChatGPT on Dentistry Specialization Exam Questions: A Comparative Study with DUS Examinees

DMustafa Temiz, DCeylan Guzel

İstanbul Medipol University, Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, İstanbul, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.



Abstract

Aim: This study aims to evaluate the performance of the ChatGPT-4.0 model in answering questions from the Turkish Dentistry Specialization Exam (DUS), comparing it with the performance of DUS examinees and exploring the model's clinical reasoning capabilities and its potential educational value in dental training. The objective is to identify the strengths and limitations of ChatGPT when tasked with responding to questions typically presented in this critical examination for dental professionals.

Material and Method: The study analyzed DUS questions from the years 2012 to 2017, focusing on the basic medical sciences and clinical sciences sections. ChatGPT's responses to these questions were compared with the average scores of DUS examinees, who had previously taken the exam. A statistical analysis was performed to assess the significance of the differences in performance between ChatGPT and the human examinees.

Results: ChatGPT significantly outperformed DUS examinees in both the basic medical sciences and clinical sciences sections across all years analyzed. The statistical analysis revealed that the differences in performance between ChatGPT and DUS examinees were statistically significant, with ChatGPT demonstrating superior accuracy in all years.

Conclusion: ChatGPT's performance on the DUS demonstrates its potential as a supplementary tool for dental education and exam preparation. However, future research should focus on integrating AI into practical dental training, particularly in assessing its real-world applicability. The limitations of AI in replicating hands-on clinical decision-making in unpredictable environments must also be considered.

Keywords: Artificial intelligence in dentistry, clinical decision support, chatgpt in medical education, dental exam performance

INTRODUCTION

Specialization in dentistry requires extensive and deep knowledge in both basic medical sciences and advanced clinical practices. In Türkiye, the Dentistry Specialization Examination (DUS) is one of the most critical exam for dental professionals who wish to pursue specialist training. Administered by the Evaluation Selection and Placement Center (ÖSYM), the DUS is a rigorous examination that consists of 120 questions divided into basic medical sciences and clinical sciences sections. These sections test the knowledge and clinical competence of examinees (1). Success in this examination is crucial for dental professionals looking to advance in their careers, as it determines eligibility for specialist education in Türkiye's competitive healthcare environment. In recent years, advancements in artificial intelligence (AI) have sparked considerable interest in its potential applications in medical and dental education (2). One of the most notable innovations in AI is the development of large language models (LLMs) like ChatGPT by OpenAI. These models have been shown to perform comparably to human examinees in various standardized tests, including medical licensure exams such as the United States Medical Licensing Examination (USMLE) (3-5).

LLMs like ChatGPT have also been used for various educational purposes, such as assisting with scientific writing, conducting literature reviews, and formulating research questions (6). The potential of these models to complement traditional educational methods by providing personalized learning experiences is becoming increasingly

CITATION

Temiz M, Guzel C. Assessing the Performance of ChatGPT on Dentistry Specialization Exam Questions: A Comparative Study with DUS Examinees. Med Records. 2025;7(1):162-6. DOI:1037990/medr.1567242

Received: 15.10.2024 Accepted: 19.12.2024 Published: 14.01.2025 Corresponding Author: Mustafa Temiz, İstanbul Medipol University, Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, İstanbul, Türkiye E-mail: drmustafatemiz@gmail.com apparent (7). In particular, studies have suggested that Al models can offer a significant advantage in preparing for critical exams by providing real-time feedback and simulating exam conditions (6,8).

However, while AI has proven to be effective in standardized testing environments, there is still much to learn about its potential to support clinical decision-making and practical skill development in fields such as dentistry (5,6). This study systematically evaluates the performance of ChatGPT in answering questions from the Turkish DUS, focusing on its clinical reasoning capabilities and reliability as an educational tool. The study compares ChatGPT's performance to that of actual DUS examinees who took the exam between 2012 and 2017, with the goal of assessing the strengths and limitations of AI in this specific context. Additionally, the research explores the potential role of AI in enhancing dental education, especially in preparing for specialized exams like the DUS.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Study Design

This study was designed as a retrospective analysis aimed at evaluating the performance of the ChatGPT-4.0 model in answering multiple-choice questions from the Turkish DUS. The study compares ChatGPT's performance to that of DUS examinees who took the exam between 2012 and 2017. The analysis focused on net correct answers and considered the basic medical sciences and clinical sciences sections separately, as these sections encompass different areas of knowledge and testing formats.

Data Collection

Data was gathered from six DUS exams administered between 2012 and 2017. The exams were made publicly

available by ÖSYM, and only those that provided full performance data and allowed open access were included in the study (https://www.osym.gov.tr/TR,25704/2023. html). Any exams with missing numerical data or restricted access were excluded from the analysis. The study utilized 120 multiple-choice questions from each DUS exam, covering both basic medical sciences and clinical sciences. Each exam consisted of 40 questions from the basic medical sciences and 80 questions from the clinical sciences, providing a comprehensive evaluation of the dental knowledge required for specialization.

Performance data for the DUS examinees were obtained from official ÖSYM reports. The net scores for each examinee were calculated using the standard scoring method, where one point was subtracted for every four incorrect answers from the total number of correct answers. This calculation method was applied consistently across all years to ensure comparability of the data.

AI Model

The ChatGPT-4.0 model, developed by OpenAI, was utilized to answer the DUS questions. Each question was presented to the model via screen recordings, with the model selecting one of the multiple-choice answers for each question. The model's performance was evaluated based on the accuracy of its selected answers compared to the correct responses. The analysis aimed to identify how well ChatGPT could perform on specialized dental exams and to compare its accuracy with that of human examinees.

RESULTS

The performance data comparing ChatGPT and DUS examinees across the years 2012 to 2017 is summarized. (Table 1).

Table 1. Descriptive statistics of performance (net correct answers)							
Year	DUS examinees medical basic science	ChatGPT medical basic science	DUS examinees clinical science	ChatGPT clinical science			
2012	15.42	40.00	41.08	67.50			
2013	16.23	35.50	48.90	60.25			
2014	19.88	40.00	43.52	62.50			
2015	16.86	40.00	49.56	65.50			
2016	14.04	36.25	50.46	66.25			
2017	19.55	40.00	46.72	65.00			

Figure 1 highlights that ChatGPT consistently outperformed the DUS examinees in both basic medical sciences and clinical sciences sections across all years. The most significant differences were observed in the basic medical sciences, where ChatGPT achieved near-perfect scores in several years, while the DUS examinees' scores were substantially lower. Even in the clinical sciences, which tend to require more complex reasoning and application of knowledge, ChatGPT consistently outscored the human examinees. Figure 1 presents the success rates of ChatGPT and DUS examinees as a percentage of the total number of questions answered correctly in both the basic medical sciences and clinical sciences sections. As shown in the figure, ChatGPT's success rates were consistently high across all years and far exceeded those of the DUS examinees in both sections. ChatGPT's success rates in the basic medical sciences were particularly impressive, often exceeding 90%, while the DUS examinees' success rates were generally below 50%.



Figure 1. Success rates: DUS examinees vs. ChatGPT (medical basic science and clinical science)

A paired t-test was conducted to compare the average performance of ChatGPT and DUS examinees in both the basic medical sciences and clinical sciences sections. The results of the t-test indicated a statistically significant difference (p<0.05) in both sections. ChatGPT's mean score in the basic medical sciences was 38.63, compared to the DUS examinees' mean score of 16.66. In the clinical sciences, ChatGPT's mean score was 64.83, compared to the DUS examinees' mean score of 46.87 (Figure 2). These results demonstrate a substantial performance gap in favor of ChatGPT.



Figure 2. Comparison of mean net scores (absolute out of 40 for basic, 80 for clinical): ChatGPT vs DUS examinees

DISCUSSION

The results of this study indicate that ChatGPT consistently outperformed DUS examinees in both the basic medical sciences and clinical sciences sections of the exam. These findings highlight the growing potential of AI in medical and dental education, specifically in specialized exams like the DUS. Large language models such as ChatGPT are highly capable of processing vast amounts of information quickly and accurately, making them particularly suitable for answering questions that rely on recall. This is consistent with the findings of Brown et al., who stated that language models are effective in tasks that require memory-based knowledge (2).

One explanation for ChatGPT's superior performance may be that the exams are structured as multiple choice; these

exams rely heavily on recall rather than critical thinking or clinical judgment. ChatGPT excels at providing accurate answers because it can access a vast repository of information and process it with incredible speed. This is consistent with research by Cascella et al., which shows that AI models such as ChatGPT are particularly suitable for tasks that require retrieving specified facts from a knowledge database (5).

In contrast, although test examinees may be knowledgeable, they may be affected by factors such as cognitive limitations, test anxiety, or variability in test preparation methods, which may lead to lower performance according to the AI model (6). Additionally, humans face the natural limitations of information processing speed and working memory, which can lead to errors, especially under time constraints. The variability in performance among DUS examinees over the years may also be attributed to changes in the difficulty of the exam questions, external pressures, and differing levels of preparedness among candidates (9).

ChatGPT's strong performance in the clinical sciences division was particularly notable. Clinical exams that require decision-making by synthesizing knowledge are often considered a challenging aspect of medical and dental examinations (10,11). Although ChatGPT's success in such exams is impressive, the fact that the exam consists of multiple-choice questions plays an important role in this success. However, as Davenport et all point out, Al systems may struggle in real-world clinical scenarios where decisions rely on the incorporation of uncertain or incomplete information (12). This suggests that ChatGPT's success in exams does not necessarily translate into practical clinical decision-making.

In the basic medical sciences section, ChatGPT achieved a success rate of 97.39%, while the average success rate for DUS examinees was only 42.49%. This significant difference in performance may be attributed to the nature of the questions in the basic sciences. Subjects like anatomy, histology, and pharmacology rely on welldocumented and relatively stable knowledge bases, which are readily available in public databases. ChatGPT, being trained on vast amounts of such data, can quickly retrieve and accurately process this information. Moreover, the questions in these areas often have definitive answers (13-15). This is likely why ChatGPT achieved near-perfect scores in these sections, compared to the success rates of the DUS examinees.

However, it is important to acknowledge that clinical knowledge differs significantly from basic science knowledge, as it requires the practical application of skills acquired through experience (16). Dentists and other healthcare professionals, when encountering clinical cases, must go beyond abstract information and make patientspecific decisions. The complexity of managing diverse patient scenarios, especially in high-pressure clinical environments, requires a type of reasoning that goes beyond what AI models can currently replicate. Clinical decisions often involve interpreting subtle patient cues, integrating hands-on experience, and considering patient preferences, all of which are difficult for AI to simulate accurately (16-18). In this study, ChatGPT demonstrated a 80.21% success rate in clinical sciences, compared to 58.36% for DUS examinees. Although ChatGPT's performance was still superior, the smaller margin of success suggests that clinical questions particularly those involving diagnostic reasoning or patient management may pose greater challenges for AI models.

Moreover, while ChatGPT demonstrated exceptional proficiency in the theoretical aspects of clinical sciences, it is essential to recognize that true clinical competence involves more than just answering questions correctly (19). Effective clinical decision-making requires the ability to weigh multiple factors simultaneously, to exercise judgment in the face of uncertainty, and to engage in hands-on procedures that require fine motor skills and the ability to adapt to real-time feedback (19-21). As such, while ChatGPT has proven to be a valuable tool for knowledge acquisition and standardized testing, its utility in real-world clinical practice remains limited by its inability to replicate these higher-order cognitive processes.

Despite these limitations, AI has significant potential as an educational tool. By integrating artificial intelligence into dental education, students can benefit from personalized learning experiences tailored to their individual strengths and weaknesses. AI-powered platforms can provide targeted learning materials and practice questions, helping students prepare more effectively for exams such as the DUS (22,23). In particular, AI systems can be used to identify areas where students struggle the most, enabling educators to offer more focused instruction in those areas. Furthermore, AI-driven assessments can give students an opportunity to test their knowledge in a simulated environment, providing feedback that can help them build confidence and improve their performance on future exams.

Additionally, AI can assist in enhancing the learning experience by providing detailed explanations for incorrect answers. This type of real-time feedback helps students understand their mistakes and develop better clinical reasoning skills over time. However, educators must be mindful of the risks associated with over-reliance on AI-generated answers. While AI can provide support in factual recall, it is crucial for students to cultivate their own problem-solving abilities and develop critical thinking skills, particularly in the context of clinical decision-making. As Davenport and Kalakota caution, AI should be viewed as a tool to complement, rather than replace, traditional learning methods (12).

Limitations of the Study

Despite the promising findings of this study, several limitations must be considered. First, the data used for this study were based on publicly available DUS exam results, and the performance of the DUS examinees may not be fully

representative of the general population of dental students. Additionally, the ChatGPT model was developed primarily in English, which could have affected its performance when handling Turkish-language exam questions. This language discrepancy is a factor that must be considered when evaluating the model's accuracy and reliability in non-English exams. Future studies should explore the impact of language differences on AI performance, particularly in multilingual or non-English contexts.

Furthermore, while ChatGPT performed well in this study, it is important to remember that the model was evaluated in a controlled, multiple-choice exam environment. Real-world clinical practice is far more complex and dynamic, involving patient interactions, physical examinations, and hands-on procedures that cannot be easily replicated by AI (18,21,24). Therefore, future research should explore the use of AI in clinical practice settings to determine whether it can assist dental professionals in making accurate decisions when treating patients.

CONCLUSION

This study highlights the potential of AI, particularly large language models like ChatGPT, to support dental education by providing accurate knowledge recall and assisting in exam preparation. ChatGPT's superior performance on the DUS, particularly in the basic medical sciences and clinical sciences sections, demonstrates that AI can be a valuable tool for dental professionals preparing for critical exams. However, while AI shows promise in structured, fact-based testing environments, its limitations in real-world clinical practice, where situational judgment and hands-on skills are critical, must be acknowledged.

The future of dental education will likely involve integrating AI as a supplementary tool, enhancing students' ability to retain and recall knowledge while emphasizing the irreplaceable value of human clinical expertise. AI should be used to complement traditional learning methods, helping students build a solid foundation of knowledge that can be applied in practical, real-world scenarios. By embracing the potential of AI while recognizing its limitations, educators can help prepare the next generation of dental professionals for success in both academic and clinical settings.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: Ethical approval has been obtained from the Ethics Committee of Istanbul Medipol University (ethics committee approval number: 1135, issue number: E-10840098-202.3.02-7444).

REFERENCES

1. T.C. Cumhurbaşkanlığı Mevzuat Bilgi Sistemi. Tıpta ve diş hekimliğinde uzmanlık eğitimi yönetmeliği. www.mevzuat.gov.tr/mevzuat?MevzuatNo=39700&Mevzuat Tur=7&MevzuatTertip=5 acces date 10.10.2024.

- 2. Brown T, Mann B, Ryder N, et al. Language models are fewshot learners. ArXiv. 2020 doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2005.14165
- 3. Patino GA, Amiel JM, Brown M, et al. The promise and perils of artificial intelligence in health professions education practice and scholarship. Acad Med. 2024;99:477-81.
- Kung TH, Cheatham M, Medenilla A, et al. Performance of ChatGPT on USMLE: potential for AI-assisted medical education using large language models. PLOS Digit Health. 2023;2:e0000198.
- Cascella M, Montomoli J, Bellini V, Bignami E. Evaluating the feasibility of ChatGPT in healthcare: an analysis of multiple clinical and research scenarios. J Med Syst. 2023;47:33.
- 6. Vaswani A, Shazeer N, Parmar N, et al. Attention is all you need. ArXiv. May 2017. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.1706.03762
- Nagi F, Salih R, Alzubaidi M. et al. Applications of artificial intelligence (AI) in medical education: a scoping review. Stud Health Technol Inform. 2023;305:648-51.
- Rajpurkar P, Irvin J, Ball RL, et al. Deep learning for chest radiograph diagnosis: a retrospective comparison of the CheXNeXt algorithm to practicing radiologists. PLoS Med. 2018;15:e1002686.
- Cowan N. Working memory underpins cognitive development, learning, and education. Educ Psychol Rev. 2014;26:197-223.
- 10. Sumbal A, Sumbal R, Amir A. Can ChatGPT-3.5 pass a medical exam? a systematic review of ChatGPT's performance in academic testing. J Med Educ Curric Dev. 2024;11:23821205241238641.
- 11. Yu P, Fang C, Liu X, et al. Performance of ChatGPT on the Chinese postgraduate examination for clinical medicine: survey study. JMIR Med Educ. 2024;10:e48514.
- 12. Davenport T, Kalakota R. The potential for artificial intelligence in healthcare. Future Healthc J. 2019;6:94-8.
- Choi W. Assessment of the capacity of ChatGPT as a selflearning tool in medical pharmacology: a study using MCQs. BMC Med Educ. 2023;23:864.

- Totlis T, Natsis K, Filos D, et al. The potential role of ChatGPT and artificial intelligence in anatomy education: a conversation with ChatGPT. Surg Radiol Anat. 2023;45:1321-9.
- 15. Meo SA, Al-Masri AA, Alotaibi M, et al. ChatGPT knowledge evaluation in basic and clinical medical sciences: multiple choice question examination-based performance. Healthcare (Basel). 2023;11:2046.
- 16. Clement J, Maldonado AQ. Augmenting the transplant team with artificial intelligence: toward meaningful AI use in solid organ transplant. Front Immunol. 2021;12:694222.
- Ouanes K, Farhah N. Effectiveness of artificial intelligence (AI) in clinical decision support systems and care delivery. J Med Syst. 2024;48:74.
- Pashkov VM, Harkusha AO, Harkusha YO. Artificial intelligence in medical practice: regulative issues and perspectives. Wiad Lek. 2020;73:2722-7.
- 19. Kelly CJ, Karthikesalingam A, Suleyman M, et al. Key challenges for delivering clinical impact with artificial intelligence. BMC Med. 2019;17:195.
- Benzinger L, Ursin F, Balke WT, et al. Should artificial intelligence be used to support clinical ethical decisionmaking? A systematic review of reasons. BMC Med Ethics. 2023;24:48.
- 21. Mörch CM, Atsu S, Cai W. et al. Artificial intelligence and ethics in dentistry: a scoping review. J Dent Res. 2021;100:1452-60.
- 22. Chen YW, Stanley K, Att W. Artificial intelligence in dentistry: current applications and future perspectives. Quintessence Int. 2020;51:248-57. Erratum in: Quintessence Int. 2020;51:430.
- 23. Duggal I, Tripathi T. Ethical principles in dental healthcare: Relevance in the current technological era of artificial intelligence. J Oral Biol Craniofac Res. 2024;14:317-21.
- 24. Sahin MC, Sozer A, Kuzucu P. et al. Beyond human in neurosurgical exams: ChatGPT's success in the Turkish neurosurgical society proficiency board exams. Comput Biol Med. 2024;169:10780

MEDICAL RECORDS-International Medical Journal

Research Article



The Role of Prognostic Nutritional Index in Vascular Behçet's Syndrome

Bahar Ozdemir Ulusoy¹, DEsra Kayacan Erdogan², DBerkan Armagan², DYuksel Maras², DIsmail Dogan³,
Kevser Orhan², DSerdar Can Guven², DEbru Atalar², DHatice Ecem Konak², DOrhan Kucuksahin³,
Sukran Erten³, DAhmet Omma², DHakan Babaoglu²

¹Ankara Gaziler Pyhsical Therapy and Rehabilitation Education and Training Hospital, Department of Rheumatology, Ankara, Türkiye ²Ankara Bilkent City Hospital, Department of Rheumatology, Ankara, Türkiye ³Ankara Yıldırım Beyazıt University, Department of Internal Medicine, Division of Rheumatology, Ankara, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.



Abstract

Aim: This study aimed to evaluate the levels of the Prognostic Nutritional Index (PNI) in vascular and non-vascular subtypes of Behçet's Syndrome (BS) and its potential utility in distinguishing vascular involvement.

Material and Method: This retrospective cohort study included 386 patients diagnosed with BS based on ISG criteria. Patients were categorized into vascular (n=100) and non-vascular (n=286) involvement groups. Subgroup analyses assessed organ-specific patterns of involvement. PNI values were calculated as 10 × serum albumin (g/dL) + 0.005 × total lymphocyte count (/mm³). Statistical analyses were performed to compare PNI levels between subgroups. Additionally, ROC curve analysis was conducted to evaluate the discriminatory ability of PNI for detecting vascular involvement.

Results: Patients with vascular involvement exhibited significantly lower mean PNI values (51.7±6.6) compared to the non-vascular group (56.9±4.4, p<0.001). Neuro-Behçet's disease was significantly more frequent in the vascular group (19.0%) than in the non-vascular group (2.4%, p<0.001). However, among patients with Neuro-Behçet's disease without vascular disease, PNI values were found to be similar to the rest of the cohort. ROC analysis demonstrated that PNI effectively differentiated vascular involvement, with an AUC of 0.76, sensitivity of 72.7%, and specificity of 71%. The optimal cutoff value for PNI was determined to be 55.

Conclusion: PNI is a potential marker for identifying vascular involvement in BS. The significantly lower PNI values observed in patients with vascular involvement, coupled with its moderate discriminatory ability, suggest that PNI could serve as a valuable tool in clinical practice. Low PNI values are associated with impaired nutritional and immunological status, which may contribute to or result from the systemic inflammatory burden seen in vascular disease. Further multicenter, prospective studies are warranted to validate these findings.

Keywords: Behçet's syndrome, vascular involvement, prognostic nutritional index

INTRODUCTION

Behçet's Syndrome (BS) is a chronic, multisystemic inflammatory disorder characterized by diverse clinical manifestations, ranging from mucocutaneous lesions to life-threatening vascular complications (1). The pathogenesis of this complex and multifactorial disease remains incompletely understood; however, infectious, genetic, epigenetic, and immunological factors are thought to play significant roles in its development (2). BS presents heterogeneously, with recurrent oral and genital aphthae, uveitis, skin manifestations (e.g., erythema nodosum or acneiform lesions), gastrointestinal involvement, neurological symptoms, vascular disease, and arthritis (3). This variability requires accurate classification of patients for optimal management and prognostication. Among the various manifestations, vascular involvement is particularly serious, contributing significantly to morbidity and mortality and requiring specific therapeutic approaches (4). There remains a critical need to identify clinical or biochemical markers that can help distinguish between vascular and non-vascular forms of the disease.

CITATION

Ozdemir Ulusoy B, Kayacan Erdogan E, Armagan B, et al. The Role of Prognostic Nutritional Index in Vascular Behçet's Syndrome. Med Records. 2025;7(1):167-72. DOI:1037990/medr.1593728

Received: 30.11.2024 Accepted: 25.12.2024 Published: 14.01.2025

Corresponding Author: Bahar Ozdemir Ulusoy, Ankara Gaziler Pyhsical Therapy and Rehabilitation Education and Training Hospital, Department of Rheumatology, Ankara, Türkiye **E-mail**: bharozdemir@gmail.com

The Prognostic Nutritional Index (PNI), initially developed to assess nutritional and immunological status in oncology, is calculated using serum albumin levels and total lymphocyte count (5). In particular, the PNI, a tool used to assess nutritional and immunologic status in oncology (5), has recently emerged as a potential biomarker in various inflammatory and vascular disorders. In inflammatory rheumatic diseases, PNI has been found to correlate with disease activity, emphasizing that it can be used as a biomarker for disease activity assessment (6-8). BS, particularly its vascular subtype, represents a unique context where systemic inflammation and immune dysregulation play a pivotal role. In this setting, while markers of disease activity remain crucial for evaluating the systemic burden of inflammation, the PNI may provide additional insights by distinguishing vascular BS from its non-vascular subtypes, thus expanding its diagnostic relevance beyond disease activity alone.

However, despite the dual inflammatory and immunological underpinnings of BS, PNI utility in BS has not been extensively studied. Considering the importance of classification of BS according to vascular involvement for the correct clinical and therapeutic approach, the aim of this study was to evaluate the levels of the PNI in vascular and non-vascular subtypes of BS and its potential utility in distinguishing vascular involvement.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Study Design and Population

This retrospective cohort study analyzed hospital records from patients diagnosed with BS between 2018 and 2023 using International Classification of Diseases (ICD) codes. Patients who met the International Study Group (ISG) diagnostic criteria and had available laboratory data for PNI calculation at the time of diagnosis or relapse were included (9). Demographic, clinical, and laboratory data were retrospectively extracted from the electronic medical records. Patients younger than 18 years old, those with other inflammatory diseases or malignancies, and those without laboratory data at the time of diagnosis or relaps were excluded from the study.

Out of 590 patients identified based on ICD codes, 204 were excluded according to these criteria. The final analysis included the remaining cohort with complete relevant data. Patients were categorized into two main groups: those with vascular involvement and those without. The "non-vascular organ involvement" group comprised patients with isolated mucocutaneous manifestations, uveitis, arthritis, Entero-Behçet's disease, or Neuro-Behçet's disease. Subgroup analyses were conducted within both the vascular and non-vascular groups to assess specific patterns of organ involvement.

To evaluate the role of systemic inflammation and nutritional status in BS, we utilized the PNI, calculated as 10×serum albumin (g/dL)+0.005×total lymphocyte/mm3.

The primary focus was on comparing PNI values between vascular and non-vascular groups to assess differences and determine whether PNI could distinguish vascular involvement.

In addition, we investigated whether the observed differences in PNI values were driven by vascular involvement itself or by variations in specific organ involvements within the non-vascular group. This secondary analysis aimed to ensure that the predictive utility of PNI was not confounded by other patterns of organ involvement.

Finally, the discriminative capacity of PNI for vascular involvement was evaluated using Receiver Operating Characteristic (ROC) curve analysis. Sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value (PPV), and negative predictive value (NPV) were calculated to assess the diagnostic performance of PNI in distinguishing patients with vascular involvement from those without.

The study protocol was approved by Ankara City Hospital Clinical Researches Ethics Committee (Date: 2023, Decision No: E1-23-4368).

Statistical Analyses

Statistical analyses were conducted using Jamovi Software v2.3 (10). Normality was tested using the Shapiro-Wilk test, along with assessments of skewness and kurtosis to characterize the distribution of each variable. Continuous variables were expressed as mean values with standard deviations (SD), while categorical data were summarized as absolute frequencies and percentages.

Group comparisons for PNI levels were conducted using the Student's t-test. The discriminative ability of PNI for vascular involvement was assessed via ROC curve analysis, with the area under the curve (AUC) calculated to evaluate its predictive accuracy. Optimal cutoff values for PNI were determined using Youden's Index. Sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value (PPV), negative predictive value (NPV), and overall accuracy were calculated for each index. All statistical analyses were performed at a significance level of p<0.05.

RESULTS

The study cohort consisted of 386 patients diagnosed with BS. The mean age of the cohort was 43.0±11.3 years, ranging from 19 to 76 years, with males constituting 50.0% of the population. Clinical manifestations were distributed as follows: vascular involvement (25.9%), isolated mucocutaneous involvement (37.8%), musculoskeletal symptoms (19.4%), ocular involvement (28.2%), Entero-Behçet (2.1%), and Neuro-Behçet (6.7%). Targeted treatments, including TNF inhibitors, cyclophosphamide, and IVIG, were used in 22.0% of cases. The overall mean PNI was 55.5±5.5, ranging between 31.0 and 74.5 (Table 1).

Table 1. Baseline characteristics of patients with Behçet's Syndrome				
Characteristic	Overall (N=386)			
Age				
Mean (SD)	43.0 (11.3)			
Range	19.0-76.0			
Sex				
Male, n (%)	193 (50.0)			
Clinical manifestations				
Vascular, n (%)	100 (25.9)			
Mucocutaneous, n (%)	146 (37.8)			
Musculoskeletal, n (%)	75 (19.4)			
Eye involvement, n (%)	109 (28.2)			
Entero-Behçet, n (%)	8 (2.1)			
Neuro-Behçet, n (%)	26 (6.7)			
Treatment				
Targeted therapies (e.g., TNF inhibitors, cyclophosphamide, IVIG), n (%)	85 (22.0)			
Prognostic Nutritional Index (PNI)				
Mean (SD)	55.5 (5.5)			
Range	31.0-74.5			

Med Records 2025;7(1):167-72

51% of the patients in non vascular groups had only Mucocutaneous involvement. Musculoskeletal involvement was more frequent in the non-vascular group (22.0%) compared to the vascular group (12.0%), p=0.029. No significant difference was noted in ocular or Entero-Behçet involvement between groups (p=0.749 and p=0.953, respectively). Neuro-Behçet was significantly more common in the vascular group (19.0%) compared to the non-vascular group (2.4%) (p<0.001). Targeted therapies were more commonly used in the vascular group (37.0%) compared to the non-vascular group (16.8%) (p<0.001). The mean PNI was significantly lower in the vascular group (51.7±6.6) compared to the non-vascular group (56.9±4.4) (p<0.001) (Figure 1).





Patients were stratified into vascular (N=100) and non-vascular (N=286) subgroups to evaluate differences in clinical and demographic parameters:

Patients with vascular involvement were older (Mean: 45.2 ± 10.8) compared to the non-vascular group (Mean: 42.3 ± 11.4) (p=0.028). A higher proportion of males was observed in the vascular group (69.0%) compared to the non-vascular group (43.4%) (p<0.001).

Figure 1. Distribution of Prognostic Nutritional Index (PNI) values among patients with and without vascular involvement in Behçet's Syndrome

Additionally, within the subset of patients with neurological involvement but no vascular involvement (n=7), the PNI was 59.3 ± 7.3 , which was not statistically significant from the rest (55.5 ± 5.5 , p=0.07) (Table 2).

vietie
risuc
(SD)
2
e), n (%)
Mucocutaneous Involvement, n (%)
skeletal Involvement, n (%)
lvement, n (%)
ehçet, n (%)
ehçet, n (%)
nt (e.g., TNF inhibitors, cyclophosphamide, IVIG), n (%)
tic Nutritional Index (PNI)
(SD)
2
(SD) e e), n (%) Mucocutaneous Involvement, n (%) skeletal Involvement, n (%) lvement, n (%) ehçet, n (%) ehçet, n (%) nt (e.g., TNF inhibitors, cyclophosphamide, IVIG), n (%) tic Nutritional Index (PNI) (SD)

Statistical analysis was conducted using Linear Model ANOVA and Pearson's Chi-squared test

The ROC curve analysis demonstrated that the PNI is a moderately effective tool for differentiating between vascular and non-vascular involvement in Behçet's Syndrome. The optimal cutoff value for PNI was determined to be 55, achieving an AUC of 0.76. At this threshold, the sensitivity was 72.7%, and the specificity was 87.8%, indicating moderate ability to correctly identify vascular cases (Figure 2). Additionally, the PPV was 87.8%, and the NPV was 47.7%, highlighting the stronger reliability of the test in defining vascular involvement.



Figure 2. Receiver Operating Characteristic (ROC) curve for the use of Prognostic Nutritional Index (PNI) in distinguishing vascular from non-vascular involvement in Behçet's Syndrome. The optimal cutoff value of 55 achieved an Area Under the Curve (AUC) of 0.76, with a sensitivity of 72.7% and specificity of 71%"

DISCUSSION

This study underscores the utility of PNI as a distinguishing marker for vascular versus non-vascular involvement in BS. The observed association between low PNI values and impaired nutritional and immunological status suggests that these deficits may both drive and result from the systemic inflammatory burden characteristic of vascular disease. Importantly, our findings demonstrate that this difference in PNI values cannot be attributed solely to other organ involvements within the vascular group, such as Neuro-Behçet's disease, as evidenced by the comparable PNI values in patients with isolated neurological involvement but without vascular disease. Our study also underscores the clinical importance of vascular involvement in Behçet's Syndrome, with clear differences observed in demographic, clinical, and therapeutic parameters between vascular and non-vascular subgroups.

Vascular events develop in up to 40% of BS patients. Although vascular events can be observed at any stage of the disease, they usually develop in the early stages of the disease (11,12). The most common manifestations of vascular involvement, which mostly affect the male gender, are superficial vein thrombosis (SVT) and deep vein thrombosis (DVT), usually involving the upper or lower extremities (13,14). Vascular involvement is the main cause of morbidity and mortality (12). Early diagnosis and appropriate therapeutic intervention are critical in improving vascular BS prognosis. Regular monitoring becomes even more vital such cases. Thus, non-invasive biomarkers may play an essential role in identifying vascular involvement and facilitating timely and effective intervention.

Thrombogenesis in vascular BS results from immuneinflammatory dysfunction. In active BS, immune and inflammatory triggers cause endothelial cell damage, largely driven by activated neutrophils that congregate at these damaged sites. These neutrophils induce thromboinflammation, leading to platelet activation, endothelial dysfunction, and impaired fibrinolysis (14). Monocytes, the primary sources of pro-inflammatory and oxidative cytokines, further exacerbate these processes, leading to an increase in the number of monocytes and a decrease in lymphocytes (15). Systemic inflammation and abnormal immune responses then lead to significant changes in hematologic and biochemical markers.

Several studies have examined the link between these laboratory parameters and disease activity in BS. Active vascular involvement may trigger a more pronounced inflammatory response. Markers that predict immuneinflammatory response are likely to induce a more robust response in vascular involvement. However, the relationship between these markers and vascular involvement has been less extensively investigated. There are data suggesting that mean corpuscular hemoglobin concentration (MCHC) and mean platelet volume (MPV) may be predictive for vascular involvement (16-18). The Pan-Immune-Inflammation Value (PIV) has also been proposed as a predictive marker for vascular involvement in BS (19). Furthermore, studies have suggested that neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio (NLR) and platelet-tolymphocyte ratio (PLR) are associated with vascular BS (20,21). However, there are also articles that found no association (22). Therefore, the predictive value of these indices for vascular BS remains limited and supports the need for further investigation of inflammatory indices.

The PNI was developed as an index of nutritional status to investigate the association of the risk of postoperative complications in gastrointestinal surgery patients with baseline nutritional status (23). The index was subsequently investigated in malignancy, chronic diseases, vascular diseases and rheumatic diseases in which chronic inflammation predominates and was found to be associated with both disease activity and mortality.

Previous studies have demonstrated that PNI is associated with disease activity in conditions such as rheumatoid arthritis and systemic lupus erythematosus, indicating its role as a marker of systemic inflammation (6,8,24,25). Additionally, in patients with antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibody-associated vasculitis (AAV), PNI has been identified as a useful tool at the time of diagnosis for assessing disease severity and predicting patient prognosis (7). These findings in the literature underscore the broader applicability of PNI as a marker of systemic inflammation and its potential relevance in evaluating vascular involvement in BS. Our study adds to this growing body of evidence by highlighting PNI's utility as a differentiating index between vascular and non-vascular forms of BS.

The application of the PNI showed promising results, with a significantly lower mean PNI observed in the vascular group. ROC curve analysis further confirmed PNI as a moderately effective tool to discriminate vascular involvement with an AUC of 0.76. The PPV (87.0%) indicates that PNI may be useful in confirming vascular cases, while the moderate NPV (47.7%) highlights the need for complementary markers for ruling out vascular cases. Our study supports previous findings on the relevance of systemic inflammation markers in BS (20,21), but it uniquely highlights PNI's potential as a standalone index for vascular involvement. Unlike NLR and PLR, PNI captures both nutritional and immunological status, providing a more holistic measure of disease burden. Incorporating PNI into routine clinical practice may enhance the early detection of vascular involvement in BS, enabling timely therapeutic interventions and improved patient outcomes.

When organ involvement was compared between the groups, musculoskeletal involvement was more common in the non-vascular group, while the frequency of Entero-Behçet and uveitis was similar in both groups. In particular, Neuro-Behçet was significantly higher in the vascular group (p<0.001). Given that neurological involvement elicits a high inflammatory response, the question arose whether the lower PNI values observed in the vascular group could be influenced by the higher incidence of Neuro-Behcet. To address this, we specifically analyzed PNI values in the subset of patients with Neuro-Behçet but without vascular involvement and found that PNI values were higher and not significantly different from the rest of the patients (p=0.396). This suggests that the significantly lower PNI values observed in the vascular group cannot be attributed solely to the presence of Neuro-Behçet. The limited number of cases with isolated neuro-Behcet's syndrome in our study precludes definitive conclusions regarding the role of PNI in this subgroup. Nevertheless, our findings indicate that PNI values in neuro-Behcet's patients are comparable to those observed in the general Behçet's population and are numerically higher than those in patients with vascular involvement. Further research is required to elucidate the clinical significance of PNI in neuro-Behçet's syndrome. Thus, the reduced PNI value in the vascular group reflects a broader systemic inflammatory burden specific to vascular involvement in BS, emphasizing its utility as a marker for this particular subtype of the disease.

The study cohort was derived from a single center, which limits the generalizability of the findings. Furthermore, the cross-sectional design precludes establishing causality between PNI levels and vascular involvement. Additionally, the absence of longitudinal data and disease activity indices may limit the ability to assess the dynamic relationship between PNI levels, disease activity, and vascular involvement. Future studies with larger,

multicenter cohorts and prospective designs are needed to confirm the findings and investigate the prognostic implications of PNI over time.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, the PNI was notably lower in patients with vascular involvement, supporting its association with disease severity and systemic inflammation in BS. PNI has the potential to distinguish BS vascular involvement from non-vascular involvement. Integrating PNI into clinical practice alongside traditional clinical parameters may improve risk stratification and enhance patient follow-up outcomes by guiding personalized treatment strategies.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: The study protocol was approved by Ankara City Hospital Clinical Researches Ethics Committee (Date: 2023, Decision No: E1-23-4368).

REFERENCES

- 1. Emmi G, Bettiol A, Hatemi G, Prisco D. Behçet's syndrome. Lancet. 2024;403:1093-108.
- Mattioli I, Bettiol A, Saruhan-Direskeneli G, et al. Pathogenesis of Behçet's Syndrome: genetic, environmental and immunological factors. Front Med (Lausanne). 2021;8:713052.
- 3. Hatemi G, Uçar D, Uygunoğlu U, et al. Behçet Syndrome. Rheum Dis Clin North Am. 2023;49:585-602.
- 4. Hamuryudan V, Er T, Seyahi E, et al. Pulmonary artery aneurysms in Behçet syndrome. Am J Med. 2004;117:867-70.
- 5. Onodera T, Goseki N, Kosaki G. Prognostic nutritional index in gastrointestinal surgery of malnourished cancer patients. Nihon Geka Gakkai Zasshi. 1984;85:1001-5.
- Öz N, Gezer HH, Cilli Hayıroğlu S, Duruöz MT. Evaluation of the prognostic nutritional index (PNI) as a tool for assessing disease activity in rheumatoid arthritis patients. Clin Rheumatol. 2024;43:1461-7.
- Ahn SS, Jung SM, Song JJ, et al. Prognostic nutritional index is associated with disease severity and relapse in ANCAassociated vasculitis. Int J Rheum Dis. 2019;22:797-804.
- 8. Zhao H, Huang Z, Wang S, et al. Using combination of albumin to fibrinogen ratio and prognostic nutritional index model for predicting disease activity in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Lupus. 2024;33:490-501.
- 9. Criteria for diagnosis of Behçet's disease. International Study Group for Behçet's Disease. Lancet. 1990;335:1078-80.
- 10. The Jamovi Project [Computer Software]. https://www. jamovi.org access date 15.10.2024.
- 11. Alibaz-Oner F, Karadeniz A, Ylmaz S, et al. Behçet disease with vascular involvement: effects of different therapeutic regimens on the incidence of new relapses. Medicine (Baltimore). 2015;94:e494.

- 12. Tascilar K, Melikoglu M, Ugurlu S, et al. Vascular involvement in Behçet's syndrome: a retrospective analysis of associations and the time course. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2014;53:2018-22.
- 13. Chen Y, Cai JF, Lin CH, Guan JL. Demography of vascular Behcet's disease with different gender and age: an investigation with 166 Chinese patients. Orphanet J Rare Dis. 2019;14:88.
- 14. Bettiol A, Alibaz-Oner F, Direskeneli H, et al. Vascular Behçet syndrome: from pathogenesis to treatment. Nat Rev Rheumatol. 2023;19:111-26.
- 15. Tezcan D, Körez MK, Gülcemal S, et al. Evaluation of diagnostic performance of haematological parameters in Behçet's disease. Int J Clin Pract. 2021;75:e14638.
- 16. Acikgoz N, Karincaoglu Y, Ermis N, et al. Increased mean platelet volume in Behçet's disease with thrombotic tendency. Tohoku J Exp Med. 2010;221:119-23.
- 17. Ataş H, Canpolat F, Eskioglu F. Evaluation of mean platelet volume in patients with Behcet's disease as an indicator of vascular thrombosis. Arch Iran Med. 2018;21:234-9.
- Cheng L, Li L, Liu C, et al. Variation of red blood cell parameters in Behcet's disease: association with disease severity and vascular involvement. Clin Rheumatol. 2021;40:1457-64.

- 19. Ocak T, Lermi N, Yılmaz Bozkurt Z, et al. Pan-immuneinflammation value could be a new marker to differentiate between vascular Behçet's disease and non-vascular Behçet's disease. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci. 2024;28:1751-9.
- 20. Gheita TA, Sakr BR, Rabea RE, Abd ElHamid SM. Value of hematological indices versus VEGF as biomarkers of activity in Behçet's disease. Clin Rheumatol. 2019;38:2201-10.
- 21. Okatan I, Torgutalp M, Ateş A, et al. AB0554 Relationship between disease activity and neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio, platelet-lymphocyte ratio and mean platelet volume in behÇet's disease. Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases. 2017;76:1244-5.
- 22. Selim ZI, Mostafa NM, Ismael EO, Kamal D. Platelet lymphocyte ratio, lymphocyte monocyte ratio, mean platelet volume, and neutrophil lymphocyte ratio in Behcet's disease and their relation to disease activity. Egyptian Rheumatology and Rehabilitation. 2023;50:1.
- 23. Buzby GP, Mullen JL, Matthews DC, et al. Prognostic nutritional index in gastrointestinal surgery. Am J Surg. 1980;139:160-7.
- 24. Correa-Rodríguez M, Pocovi-Gerardino G, Callejas-Rubio JL, et al. The prognostic nutritional index and nutritional risk index are associated with disease activity in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Nutrients. 2019;11:638.
- 25. Ahn SS, Jung SM, Song JJ, et al. Prognostic nutritional index is correlated with disease activity in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Lupus. 2018;27:1697-705.

MEDICAL RECORDS-International Medical Journal

Research Article



Evaluation of Polymethylmethacrylate (PMMA) Cement for Stabilizing Loosened Screws in Mandibular Angle Fracture Fixation: A Biomechanical Study

[©]Metin Berk Kasapoglu¹, [©]Betul Gedik¹, [®]Gozde Gokce Uckun², [®]Gulce Ecem Dogancali¹, [®]Abdulkadir Burak Cankaya¹, [®]Mehmet Ali Erdem¹

¹İstanbul University, Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, İstanbul, Türkiye ²Sakarya University, Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Sakarya, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License

Abstract

Aim: Mandibular angle fractures account for 23-42% of all mandibular fractures, with treatment options often debated due to the region's anatomical complexity. While single miniplate fixation has shown low complication rates, issues like screw loosening remain a challenge. Polymethylmethacrylate (PMMA) has been widely used in orthopedic surgery to improve screw stability. This study aimed to evaluate the effect of PMMA on the stability of loosened screws in mandibular angle fractures.

Material and Method: Twenty hemimandibles from sheep cadavers were divided into control and experimental groups. In the control group, standard 2.0 mm screws were inserted without PMMA augmentation. In the experimental group, a 1.6 mm pilot hole was used to simulate screw loosening, and PMMA was injected into the screw tracts before screw insertion. Both groups underwent vertical force testing using a hydraulic device, with displacement values measured at 50 N of force. Statistical analysis was performed using the Student t-test, with significance set at p<0.05.

Results: The mean maximum displacement in the control group was 5.60 ± 2.22 mm, while in the experimental group it was 6.49 ± 3.21 mm. There was no statistically significant difference between the two groups (p=0.479). The biomechanical behavior of both groups was similar, indicating that PMMA did not significantly affect displacement values under the tested conditions.

Conclusion: PMMA cement did not significantly improve the stability of loosened screws in mandibular angle fractures. Further research with different force applications and screw conditions may provide more insights into the potential benefits of PMMA augmentation.

Keywords: Mandibular angle fractures, polymethylmethacrylate, screw loosening, miniplate fixation, biomechanical stability

INTRODUCTION

Mandibular angle fractures account for approximately 23-42% of all mandibular fractures, making them a significant subset of facial trauma cases (1,2). Despite their frequency, the optimal treatment of mandibular angle fractures remains a topic of debate due to the unique anatomical and mechanical challenges presented by the region. The complex anatomical structures surrounding the mandibular angle, coupled with the technical difficulties in surgical manipulation, necessitate a range of treatment approaches. Internal fixation techniques, while commonly used, are associated with a relatively high risk of infection, particularly in the mandibular angle region.

Additionally, these fractures are often complicated by high postoperative complication rates, which can make their management particularly challenging for surgeons (3-5).

A variety of miniplate configurations and screw positions have been evaluated in the literature to optimize fracture stabilization. Single miniplate fixation on the lateral aspect of the mandibular angle, acting as a tension band, has been shown to yield low complication rates, with reported figures between 12% and 16% (6,7). Proper adaptation of non-compression miniplates to the bone surface is critical for effective fracture treatment. The anatomical difficulty of the mandibular angle, exacerbated by limited access via the trans-oral route, further complicates the surgical

CITATION

Kasapoglu MB, Gedik B, Uckun GG, et al. Evaluation of Polymethylmethacrylate (PMMA) Cement for Stabilizing Loosened Screws in Mandibular Angle Fracture Fixation: A Biomechanical Study. Med Records. 2025;7(1):173-7. DOI:1037990/medr.1589459

Received: 21.11.2024 Accepted: 28.12.2024 Published: 15.01.2025 Corresponding Author: Betul Gedik, İstanbul University, Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, İstanbul, Türkiye E-mail: betulgedik20@gmail.com

173

approach. Non-compression miniplates must be correctly adapted to the bone to provide adequate stability; any maladaptation can generate torque forces that result in complications such as bone resorption, screw loosening, or impaired fracture healing (8-11).

During fixation, the thin cortical bone in the mandibular angle may suffer from additional microfractures as a result of drilling and screw insertion, further increasing the risk of damage to adjacent structures, including vessels, nerves, and tooth roots (11,12). Polymethylmethacrylate (PMMA), a material widely used in dentistry and orthopedic surgery, offers significant benefits due to its biocompatibility and ease of preparation both intraoperatively and preoperatively (13). In orthopedic surgery, the attachment of PMMA to bone is achieved through the retention forces generated by acrylic cement infiltration into the trabecular bone structure (14). Multiple orthopedic studies have demonstrated that augmenting pedicle screws with PMMA or similar cements can improve the fixation of screws to bone, increasing both stability and resistance to mechanical forces (15-17).

The objective of this study was to evaluate the efficacy of PMMA in improving the stability of loosened screws in mandibular angle fractures. While PMMA has been previously studied for use in miniplate fixation with nonloosened screws, (18). this study specifically explores its application in cases where screws have become loosened. We hypothesized that mandibular angle fractures treated with PMMA-augmented loosened screws would exhibit displacement values comparable to those observed in a control group with non-loosened screws, under hydraulic pressure forces.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

The study was conducted using 20 hemimandibles obtained from sheep cadavers, each of which had been fed under similar conditions and had an average weight of 40 kg. The hemimandibles were kept moist and refrigerated at 4°C until the experimental procedures commenced. To facilitate the experiment, all skin and muscle tissues were removed, and the coronoid processes and condyles were excised to ensure that the specimental setup. Surgical pens were used to mark the angular fracture lines on each hemimandible before the samples were randomly assigned to one of two groups (n=10 per group).

In the control group, pilot holes were created using a 1.2 mm diameter drill bit, while the experimental group used a 1.6 mm diameter drill bit, both under 1500 rpm, with physiological saline irrigation for cooling and debris removal (Figure 1). Four-holed, non-compression, straight titanium miniplates (1 mm thickness, Medplates/Türkiye) were positioned at the angle region of the mandible, with the osteotomy line centered on the miniplate. Bicortical osteotomies were performed using a diamond-tipped saw, and to simulate mandibular angle fractures, chisels and hammers were used to complete the fracture line due to

the relative weakness of sheep mandibles compared to human mandibles (Figure 2) (19).



Figure 1. Preparetion of pilot holes and osteotomy line



Figure 2. A chisel osteotome used for creating fracture site

In the experimental group, PMMA (Cemex, Tecrecs, Italy) was prepared and allowed to reach a toothpaste-like viscosity (approximately three minutes post-preparation). The PMMA was retrogradely injected into the 1.6 mm diameter screw tracts using a 10 ml syringe before screw placement (Figure 3). The screws (2.0 mm diameter, 11 mm length) were inserted into the PMMA-augmented tracts using a torque-controlled physiodispenser set to 40 Nm, simulating the clinical insertion of dental implants (Figure 4).



Figure 3. PMMA application using a 10 ml syringe



Figure 4. Insertion of screws using an electronic screw driver

Each hemimandible was secured in a custom L-shaped metal device, which provided stable fixation during biomechanical testing using a hydraulic test device (Universal Autograph AGS®, Shimadzu Scientific Instruments, Kyoto, Japan). A vertical progressive force was applied to the molar region,

with force being measured via a sensor in the testing machine's headstock. The machine applied a maximum force of 50 N at a displacement speed of 5 mm/min, with the force being transmitted to the occlusal plane after calibration.

Statistical analyses were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics 22 (SPSS IBM, Türkiye). The normal distribution of the data was verified using the Shapiro-Wilk test, and a Student's t-test was employed to compare the two groups, with statistical significance set at p<0.05.

RESULTS

The displacement values and maximum displacement means (SD) for both groups under a force of 50 N are presented in Table 1 and Figure 5. There was no statistically significant difference between the maximum displacement values in the study and control groups (p: 0.479, p>0.05). However, slight differences in biomechanical behavior were observed in a few individual specimens across the two groups.

Table 1. Displacement values (mm) of control and experimental group at 50 N force.				
Control group	Maximum displacement values in milimeters	Experimental group	Maximum displacement values in milimeters	
C1	2.63120	E1	3.00970	
C2	3.58770	E2	7.36940	
C3	4.83117	E3	3.98627	
C4	6.60770	E4	6.88127	
C5	9.20647	E5	9.25287	
C6	6.78773	E6	2.35607	
C7	3.16280	E7	4.56293	
C8	4.24957	E8	5.74287	
C9	6.92790	E9	9.21117	
C10	8.01130	E10	12.5765	
Mean (SD)	5.60±2.22	Mean (SD)	6.49±3.21	



Figure 5. Graphical representation of mean (SD) displacement values of hemimandibles

DISCUSSION

This study sought to investigate whether PMMA cement could enhance the stability of loosened screws in mandibular angle fractures stabilized with miniplates. Most of the literature highlights the high incidence of mandibular angle fractures and the associated challenges of their management (20). Treatment approaches for these fractures remain controversial, with various fixation techniques being explored. Champy's introduction of miniplates revolutionized mandibular fracture management, as clinical studies demonstrated their efficacy in minimizing complications (21). A single miniplate secured with monocortical screws has been shown to offer reliable fixation with fewer complications than two-plate systems (6,7,8,20).

While resin mandible models are commonly used in fracture studies to standardize variables, such models may not accurately replicate the biomechanical properties of human bone. Fresh sheep mandibles, as used in our study, are widely accepted as a reliable alternative due to their similarity in size and cortical thickness to human mandibles (22).

Chewing forces in post-surgical mandibular fracture patients have been reported to reach 90 N within the first week after surgery, increasing to approximately 148 N by the sixth week (22). In our study, we applied a vertical force of 50 N, simulating the immediate post-fixation scenario
and assessing the stability of the screws under moderate load. This force is reflective of early postoperative conditions rather than maximum force endurance.

Previous studies have indicated no significant differences in stability between locking miniplates and standard titanium miniplates with diameters of 2 mm when subjected to forces up to 60 N (23). Based on these findings, we selected non-compression, four-holed miniplates with monocortical screws (2 mm diameter) to reflect routine clinical practice.

A larger pilot hole diameter has been associated with reduced screw holding power. Heidemann et al. recommend that pilot holes should not exceed 80% of the screw's external diameter to avoid weakening the screw's retention in the bone (24). In this study, we used a 1.6 mm pilot drill, which represents 80% of the external diameter of our 2.0 mm screws, to simulate screw loosening.

Several strategies have been proposed in the literature for increasing the retention strength of loosened screws, such as increasing screw diameter. However, this approach is often limited by anatomical constraints, and larger screws can increase the risk of cortical fracture (25-27). PMMA cement has been demonstrated in multiple orthopedic studies to be an effective means of augmenting screw fixation (16,17,28,29). The cement's biocompatibility, ease of use, and ability to form immediate bonds with cancellous bone make it a widely favored material (10,30-33). In this study, PMMA was used to augment loosened screws, reducing the displacement values in mandibular angle fractures.

One concern with the use of PMMA is its potential to leak into surrounding tissues, causing damage to nerves and blood vessels. The optimal quantity of PMMA to inject in mandibular fractures has not been well established. To minimize leakage, we employed a retrograde injection technique as described by Chang et al., (10). and ensured that the viscosity of the PMMA was appropriate for application.

In conclusion, this study demonstrates the potential of PMMA cement to stabilize loosened screws in mandibular angle fractures. Our findings suggest that PMMA augmentation offers a viable solution for increasing the retention strength of screws during fixation procedures. It also can stabilize a loosened screw during fixation of mandibular angle fractures, maintaining comparable biomechanical behavior to non-loosened screws without augmentation. Although there was no statistically significant difference between the experimental and control groups regarding displacement values, the application of PMMA provided enhanced fixation strength in cases of screw loosening, suggesting its potential utility in clinical settings where screw stability is compromised.

One of the key limitations of our study is the in vitro nature of the experiment. Sheep mandibles, while structurally similar to human mandibles, may not perfectly replicate the biomechanical properties of human bone, especially under clinical conditions. Moreover, the short-term nature of the

mechanical testing did not allow us to evaluate long-term outcomes, such as screw loosening due to cyclic loading or potential bone resorption around the screws over time. Future studies should focus on long-term evaluation of PMMA augmentation in vivo, possibly incorporating finite element analysis to model stress distribution around augmented screws under dynamic loads.

Additionally, further research is required to optimize the quantity and viscosity of PMMA injected into the bone. While our study aimed for a toothpaste-like consistency of the PMMA cement, real-time monitoring of cement flow during screw placement—perhaps aided by imaging techniques like intraoperative computed tomography or 3D navigation—could significantly reduce the risk of cement leakage into soft tissues, nerves, or vascular structures. Furthermore, the exploration of novel screw designs, such as fenestrated screws, may provide even greater control over cement distribution and enhance fixation strength.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, PMMA augmentation of loosened screws offers a promising solution for improving screw stability in the fixation of mandibular angle fractures. Although the technique requires careful attention to the quantity and handling of the cement to avoid complications such as leakage, it remains a valuable option in cases where screw retention strength is compromised. Future developments in cement application methods and screw design are likely to further enhance the efficacy and safety of this approach, providing oral and maxillofacial surgeons with an additional tool in the management of complex mandibular fractures.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: The article does not require ethics committee permission.

REFERENCES

- Braasch DC, Abubaker AO. Management of mandibular angle fractures. Oral Maxillofac Surg Clin North Am. 2013;25:591-600.
- Wittenberg JM, Mukherjee DP, Smith BR, Kruse RN. Biomechanical evaluation of new fixation devices for mandibular angle fractures. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1997;26:68-73.
- 3. Paza AO, Abuabara A, Passeri LA. Analysis of 115 mandibular angle fractures. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2008;66:73-6.
- 4. James RB, Fredrickson C, Kent JN. Prospective study of mandibular fractures. J Oral Surg. 1981;39:275-81.
- 5. Ellis E 3rd. Treatment methods for fractures of the mandibular angle. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1999;28:243-52.
- Champy M, Lodd JP, Schmitt R, et al. Mandibular osteosynthesis by miniature screwed plates via a buccal approach. J Maxillofac Surg. 1978;6:14-21.

- 7. Barry CP, Kearns GJ. Superior border plating technique in the management of isolated mandibular angle fractures: a retrospective study of 50 consecutive patients. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2007;65:1544-9.
- Poon CC, Verco S. Evaluation of fracture healing and subimplant bone response following fixation with a locking miniplate and screw system for mandibular angle fractures in a sheep model. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2013;42:736-45.
- Haug RH, Street CC, Goltz M. Does plate adaptation affect stability? A biomechanical comparison of locking and nonlocking plates. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2002;60:1319-26.
- 10. Chang MC, Liu CL, Chen TH. Polymethylmethacrylate augmentation of pedicle screws for osteoporotic spinal surgery. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2008;33:E317-24.
- 11. Aziz SR, Ziccardi VB, Borah G. Current therapy: complications associated with rigid internal fixation of facial fractures. Compend Contin Educ Dent. 2005;26:565-71.
- Schortinghuis J, Bos RRM, Vissink A. Complications of internal fixation of maxillofacial fractures with microplates. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1999;57:130-4.
- Goost H, Deborre C, Wirtz DC, et al. PMMA-augmentation of incompletely cannulated pedicle screws: a cadaver study to determine the benefits in the osteoporotic spine. Technol Health Care. 2014;22:607-15.
- 14. Smeets R, Marx R, Kolk A, et al. In vitro study of adhesive polymethylmethacrylate bone cement bonding to cortical bone in maxillofacial surgery. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2010;68:3028-33.
- 15. Linhardt O, Luring C, Matussek J, et al. Stability of pedicle screws after kyphoplasty augmentation: an experimental study to compare transpedicular screw fixation in soft and cured kyphoplasty cement. J Spinal Disord Tech. 2006;19:87-91.
- 16. Kayanja M, Evans K, Milks R, et al. The mechanics of polymethylmethacrylate augmentation. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2006;443:124-30.
- Girardo M, Cinelle P, Gargiulo G, et al. Surgical treatment of osteoporotic thoraco-lumbar compressive fractures: the use of pedicle screw with augmentation PMMA. Eur Spine J. 2017;26:546-51.
- Cankaya AB, Kasapoglu MB, Erdem MA, Kasapoglu C. Effects of polymethylmethacrylate on the stability of screw fixation in mandibular angle fractures: a study on sheep mandibles. Int J Med Sci. 2018;15:1466-71.
- Tate GS, Ellis E 3rd, Throckmorton G. Bite forces in patients treated for mandibular angle fractures: implications for fixation recommendations. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 1994;52:734-6.
- Kimsal J, Baack B, Candelaria L, et al. Biomechanical analysis of mandibular angle fractures. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2011;69:3010-4.

- 21. Champy M, Gerlach KL, Schwarz A. Bite forces in patients after treatment of mandibular angle fractures with miniplate osteosynthesis according to Champy. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2002;31:345-8.
- 22. Pektas ZO, Bayram B, Balcık C, et al. Effects of different mandibular fracture patterns on the stability of miniplate screw fixation in angle mandibular fractures. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2012;41:339-43.
- Oguz Y, Saglam H, Dolanmaz D, Uckan S. Comparison of stability of 2.0 mm standard and 2.0 mm locking miniplate/screws for the fixation of sagittal split ramus osteotomy on sheep mandibles. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2011;49:135-7.
- 24. Heidemann W, Gerlach KL, Grobel KH, Kollner HG. Influence of different pilot hole sizes on torque measurements and pullout analysis of osteosynthesis screws. J Craniomaxillofac Surg. 1998;26:50-5.
- 25. Wittenberg RH, Lee KS, Shea M, et al. Effect of screw diameter, insertion technique, and bone cement augmentation on pedicular screw fixation strength. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1993;296:278-87.
- Polly DW, Orchowski JR, Ellenborgen RG. Revision pedicle screws: bigger, longer shims-what is the best?. Spine. 1998;12:1374-9.
- 27. Hirano T, Hasegawa K, Wasio T, et al. Fracture risk during pedicle screw insertion in osteoporotic spine. J Spinal Disord. 1998;11:493-7.
- 28. Renner SM, Lim TH, Kim WJ, et al. Augmentation of pedicle screw fixation strength using an injectable calcium phosphate cement as a function of injection timing and method. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2004;29:E212-6.
- 29. Sandén B, Olerud C, Johansson C, Larsson S. Improved bonescrew interface with hydroxyapatite coating: an in vivo study of loaded pedicle screws in sheep. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2001;26:2673-8.
- Frankel BM, D'Agostino S, et al. A biomechanical cadaveric analysis of polymethylmethacrylate-augmented pedicle screw fixation. J Neurosurg Spine. 2007;7:47-53.
- 31. Yuan Q, Zhang G, Wu J, et al. Clinical evaluation of the polymethylmethacrylate-augmented thoracic and lumbar pedicle screw fixation guided by three-dimensional navigation for osteoporosis patients. Eur Spine J. 2015;24:1043-50.
- 32. Bereczki F, Turbucz M, Pokorni AJ, et al. The effect of polymethylmethacrylate augmentation on the primary stability of stand-alone implant construct versus posterior stabilization in oblique lumbar interbody fusion with osteoporotic bone quality- a finite element study. Spine J. 2024;24:1323-33.
- 33. Hsieh MK, Li YD, Li YC, et al. Improved fixation stability for repairing pedicle screw loosening using a modified cement filling technique in porcine vertebrae. Sci Rep. 2022;12:2739.



The Impact of Clinical Rotation in Addiction Treatment Centers (AMATEM) on Attitudes and Behaviors of Psychiatry Residents Toward Individuals with Addiction

Mustafa Danisman, Gamze Zengin Ispir, Kubra Sezer Katar

Ankara Training and Research Hospital, Alcohol and Drug Addiction Treatment Center, Ankara Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.



Abstract

Aim: Psychiatry residents often feel unprepared and may exhibit negative attitudes toward individuals with substance use disorders, which can undermine treatment access and outcomes. This study examined the impact of a three-month Alcohol and Drug Treatment Center (AMATEM) rotation on residents' attitudes and explored factors influencing these attitudes.

Material and Method: Ninety-one psychiatry residents who applied for a three-month rotation training on addictions at Ankara Training and Research Hospital AMATEM Clinic completed a personal information form and the Attitudes and Behaviors Toward Substance Users Scale at the start and end of the rotation.

Results: Residents' stigmatizing attitudes significantly decreased post-rotation. Those who felt unsafe before the rotation reported higher stigma scores, and residents who believed they needed more education had fewer negative attitudes initially. Paradoxically, participants who anticipated referring patients to AMATEM due to insufficient training showed increased stigma after completion of the rotation.

Conclusion: Overall, structured, practical, and case-based training-delivered under experienced supervision-can reduce negative attitudes and help residents feel safer. Further research should clarify how specific training processes influence the knowledge, attitudes, and beliefs of future psychiatrists regarding substance use disorders.

Keywords: Addiction, psychiatry residents, addiction training, attitudes and stigma, healthcare education

INTRODUCTION

Attitudes and behaviors toward individuals with addictions have gone through various changes for centuries. Individuals with addiction were considered sinners or criminals in the 19th century. However, following scientific advancements and social reforms, the World Health Organization (WHO) first recognized them as patients in the early 1950s (1). In parallel with these developments, the American Psychiatric Association, through the DSM-III (Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders), first acknowledged addiction as a disorder, moving away from the sociopathic personality emphasis present in previous editions of the DSM (2).

Despite these changes in the conceptualization of addiction over the years, the conflict between the moral addiction model and the medical chronic disease model persists to this day (3). According to the medical model, individuals seen as vulnerable and victimized by their illness should be protected and treated with the proactive involvement of professional healthcare workers (4,5). On the other hand, the moral model, which does not view addiction as a disease, holds individuals solely responsible for both their illness and its resolution (4). Resistance to shifting away from the moral model, which ignores the medical disease aspect of addiction, persists among a significant portion of society, including healthcare workers.

Addiction has consistently been regarded more negatively than other mental health conditions within society (6,7). People with substance addiction are often perceived as dangerous, lacking decision-making ability, and primarily responsible for their condition (7,8). Similar to this general societal perception, many studies have shown

CITATION

Danisman M, Zengin Ispir G, Sezer Katar K. The Impact of Clinical Rotation in Addiction Treatment Centers (AMATEM) on Attitudes and Behaviors of Psychiatry Residents Toward Individuals with Addiction. Med Records. 2025;7(1):178-86. DOI:1037990/medr.1595001

Received: 02.12.2024 Accepted: 30.12.2024 Published: 15.01.2025 Corresponding Author: Mustafa Danisman, Ankara Training and Research Hospital, Alcohol and Drug Addiction Treatment Center, Ankara Türkiye E-mail: amatemakademik@gmail.com that healthcare workers feel insufficiently motivated when working with addicted patients, exhibit lower respect toward them, and frequently express dissatisfaction with working with such individuals (9-11).

The attitudes of healthcare professionals toward patients with substance use disorders (SUDs) have been explored across different disciplines and settings (12,13). A multicenter study found that healthcare personnel working in primary care settings exhibited more negative attitudes compared to those working in general psychiatry clinics and clinics specializing in addiction treatment (10). Another study demonstrated that anesthesiologists held more negative attitudes toward patients with substance use disorders than physicians who regularly dealt with such patients (14). Moreover, multiple studies have found that healthcare workers who directly work with individuals with substance addiction show more positive attitudes toward these patients (14-16).

Negative attitudes of healthcare workers toward individuals with substance use can adversely affect the delivery of healthcare services, leading to difficulties in accessing treatment and relapses (17,18). As stigma research shows, factors such as knowledge and experience can mitigate beliefs and attitudes associated with stigmatized conditions (19,20).

The impact of education and training on healthcare workers' attitudes toward patients with substance use disorders has been investigated in various studies. Generally, it has been determined that healthcare workers possess low levels of knowledge about substance use disorders and feel inadequate in providing care to this specific patient group (11,15,21). Numerous studies have demonstrated that education and training have positive effects on healthcare professionals' attitudes and motivation to work with patients with substance use disorders (14,22,23). In this context, various authors have emphasized the need to integrate addiction education into the general medical curriculum to address the lack of knowledge in the field (23,24).

According to a 2014 survey conducted by the World Health Organization, approximately 37% of 155 countries lacked adequate postgraduate training programs for treating substance use disorders, while over 80% of European countries now offer programs for psychiatry residents (25). In Türkiye, the necessity of including an education module on substance addiction and a rotation at Alcohol and Substance Addiction Treatment Centers (AMATEM) in the residency training curricula for adult and child psychiatrists was first mentioned in the 2015 Drug Combat Emergency Action Plan and Strategy Document (26). Child psychiatry residents undergo a one-month theoretical and practical training rotation in various AMATEM clinics in Türkiye, while adult psychiatry residents complete a threemonth rotation.

This study aims to assess the attitudes of psychiatry residents toward individuals with addiction, the factors

that may influence these attitudes, and the impact of completing an AMATEM rotation on related attitudes and behaviors.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Study Sample

Before data collection, a power analysis was conducted, determining that the minimum sample size required was 64 participants. The power analysis was based on the following parameters: medium effect size (d=0.50), α =.05, 1- β =.80, and a two-tailed hypothesis. This analysis was performed using the G*Power software (version 3.1).

The study sample consisted of 91 psychiatry residents employed in various hospitals in Ankara province and attended a three-month addiction training rotation at the AMATEM clinic of Ankara Training and Research Hospital between 2023 and 2024. All participants provided informed consent to join the study.

Ethical Considerations

Before initiating the research, ethical approval was obtained from the Ankara Training and Research Hospital Scientific Research and Publication Ethics Committee (approval number E-23/1326, dated 12.10.2023). The study complied with the Declaration of Helsinki; all participants provided written informed consent.

Data Collection Instruments

- 1. **Personal Information Form:** The researchers developed this form to align with the study objectives. It collected sociodemographic data, such as age, gender, marital status, and length of residency. Additionally, it included 13 questions assessing participants' perceptions of their safety before the rotation, experiences of issues with patients suffering from alcohol/substance addiction, opinions on the effectiveness of AMATEM's addiction treatments, interest in addiction psychology, and views regarding the rotation.
- 2. Attitudes and Behaviors Toward Substance Users Scale: This scale, developed by Kaylı et al., consists of 27 items scored on a 5-point Likert scale (11). The response options range from "Strongly Agree" (1) to "Strongly Disagree" (5). Since the scale is unidimensional, the items are not divided into subdimensions. A higher total score indicates a more negative attitude toward individuals with substance use disorders. The items 7, 11, 12, 15, 19, and 20 are direct-coded and the other items are reverse-coded to calculate the total score. This scale was administered to residents at the beginning and end of their rotations.

Statistical Analysis

The data analysis involved descriptive statistics (frequencies and percentages), skewness and kurtosis statistics, paired sample t-tests, independent sample t-tests, one-way ANOVA, and simple linear correlation analysis. Analyses were conducted using SPSS software (version 25), with a significance level set at .05.

Skewness and kurtosis values were examined to assess the normality of the scale distributions in both measurements. Cronbach's alpha values were calculated to evaluate the reliability of the measurements. For the attitude scores (first measurement), the Skewness value is 0.34, the kurtosis value is 0.25, and Cronbach's a is .900. For the attitude scores (second measurement), the Skewness value is 0.18, the kurtosis value is -0.05, and Cronbach's α is .906. The skewness values for the attitude scale range from 0.18 to 0.34, while the kurtosis values range from -0.05 to 0.25. A skewness value within ±3.00 and a kurtosis value within ±10.00 indicate normal distribution (27). The reliability values (Cronbach's alpha) for the two measurements were .900 and .906, respectively. As reliability values above .70 are considered reasonable and values between .60 and .70 acceptable, the measurements demonstrated high internal consistency.

RESULTS

Descriptive Statistics

In line with the study's objective, data were collected from psychiatry residents twice: at the beginning of their AMATEM rotation and three months later at the end. A total of 91 residents voluntarily participated in the study. Descriptive statistics regarding the participants' sociodemographic variables are presented in Table 1.

An examination of Table 1 reveals that most participants were female. Regarding marital status, most residents were single and did not have children. Most worked in city hospitals, with the fewest participants from university hospitals. The mean age of the participants was approximately 29 years, and their average professional experience was 2.5 years.

Table 1. Frequencies and percentag	es of residents sociodemographic information		
	Categorical variables		
Variables	Levels	f	%
	Female	60	65.9
Gender	Male	31	34.1
	Single/divorced/widowed	57	62.6
Marital Status	Married	34	37.4
Number of Children	None	81	89.0
	1	9	9.9
	2	1	1.1
	Training and Research Hospital	24	26.4
Hospital Worked	City Hospital	45	49.4
	University Hospital	22	24.2
Total		91	100.0
	Continuous variables		
	Min-Max	Mean	SD
Age	25-35	28.92	2.09
Length of residency	1-4	2.49	0.90
f: frequency, SD: standard deviation			

After presenting the sociodemographic characteristics, descriptive statistics regarding various variables, particularly those related to addiction psychology and treatment, are shown in Table 2.

Table 2 shows that most residents reported having no prior issues with patients with alcohol or substance use disorder. Nearly all participants had colleagues who had completed an AMATEM rotation, but more than half found the information, which they got from their colleagues about the AMATEM system inadequate. Most participants expressed an interest in addiction psychology but did not have any patients or acquaintances who had undergone

addiction treatment. Regarding the effectiveness of AMATEM, residents generally believed the clinics were moderately successful in treating alcohol use disorder but less effective for other types of substance use disorder. Approximately one-third of the participants felt insufficiently safe at the start of their rotation. Most participants had no specific plans when asked about managing a patient consultation during the rotation, while others indicated they would follow their standard examination routines. By the end of the rotation, most participants stated they would manage addiction cases themselves rather than refer them to AMATEM clinics.

Table 2. Frequencies and percentages of residents opinions on various variables before the AMATEM rotation				
Variables		f	%	
Previous experience with alcohol/substance-	Yes	35	38.5	
dependent patients	No	56	61.5	
Having a colleague who previously did an	Yes	86	94.5	
AMATEM rotation	No	5	5.5	
Adequate knowledge of AMATEM working	Sufficient	37	40.7	
system	Insufficient	54	59.3	
Interest in addiction psychology	Yes	56	61.5	
interest in addiction psychology	No	35	38.5	
Knowing someone who has experience with the	Yes	15	16.5	
treatment process	No	76	83.5	
Thoughts on the success rates of alcohol addiction treatment at AMATEM	Low success	5	38.5	
	Medium success	45	49.5	
	High success	11	12	
	Low success	57	62.6	
Thoughts on the success rates of other addiction treatments (non-alcohol) at AMATEM	Medium success	31	34.1	
	High success	3	3.3	
Feeling secure at the start of AMATEM rotation	Do not feel secure	34	37.4	
reening secure at the start of AMATEM fotation	Feel secure	57	62.6	
Thoughts on the effect of sports or spiritual	Not effective alone	66	72.5	
counseling on addiction treatment	Effective in some patients	25	27.5	
What type of treatment is most suitable and	Only medication	1	1.1	
adequate for substance addiction?	Medication+psychotherapy	90	98.9	
Perspective on the AMATEM rotation	Should be completed as part of the curriculum	26	28.6	
	Need independent training	65	71.4	
	Routine examination duration	36	39.6	
Plan for managing a dependent patient during	Longer than routine examination	6	6.6	
an outpatient examination	Shorter than routine examination	5	5.5	
	No opinion	44	48.4	
Thoughts on where the treatment for an	Referral to AMATEM	24	26.4	
addicted patient should take place after rotation	Treat in my clinic	67	73.6	
Total		91	100.0	

Comparison of Attitude Scores Pre- and Post-Rotation

The attitudes of psychiatry residents toward substance users were assessed before and after the AMATEM rotation. The results are presented in Table 3. As shown in Table 3, residents' attitude scores toward substance users differed significantly between the two measurements. Post-rotation scores were considerably lower than pre-rotation scores, indicating reduced negative attitudes after the rotation.

Table 3. Comparison of substance use attitude scores							
	Measurement	Ν	Mean	SD	t	р	d
Attitude scores	Before rotation	91	80.51	13.65	4 21	000	0.45
	After rotation	91	74.10	14.19	4.51	.000	0.43
N: number, SD: standard deviation							

Analysis of Factors Influencing Attitude Scores

The differences in residents' attitude scores before and after the rotation based on various factors are presented in Tables 4 and 5.

Table 4 shows that pre-rotation attitude levels differed significantly based on the variable of perceived safety. Residents who reported feeling safe before the rotation had substantially lower (more positive) attitude scores than those who did not feel safe. This difference had a moderate practical effect. Additionally, pre-rotation attitude levels were significantly associated with residents' perceptions

of the AMATEM rotation. However, post-rotation attitude scores did not vary considerably across variables, suggesting similar distributions after the rotation.

Table 5 highlights that pre-rotation attitude scores negatively correlate with residents' perceived safety levels before the rotation. A statistically significant relationship was also observed between pre- and post-rotation attitude scores and residents' perspectives on the AMATEM rotation, specifically regarding their training needs. After the rotation, a low-level but statistically significant negative correlation was found between residents' attitude scores and their plans for treatment management.

Table 4. Variations in pre-rotation attitude scores based on variables							
Variables		Ν	Mean	SD	t/F	р	d
	Low success	35	82.91	13.73	1.11	.334	
Alcohol treatment success	Medium success	45	78.40	12.89			
	High success	11	81.45	16.23			
Other substances treatment success	Low success	57	81.79	14.01	1.16	.247	-
Other substances treatment success	Medium success	34	78.35	12.94			
Internet in addiction neurobolamy	Yes	56	80.05	13.79	0.40	.692	-
interest in addiction psychology	No	35	81.23	13.58			
	Part of the curriculum	26	85.50	11.23	2.26	.026	0.52
Perspective on AMATEM rotation	Need for additional training	65	78.51	14.09			
Due vehation factors with	Not secure	34	86.12	14.62	3.18	.002	0.69
Pre-rotation feel security	Secure	57	77.16	11.96			
	Yes	15	85.73	15.96	1.64	.105	-
Having a relative with ASOD diagnosis	No	76	79.47	13.02			
	Yes	35	81.94	15.13	0.79	.430	
History of conflict with a patient with ASUD	No	56	79.61	12.69			
I south of use idea of	2 years or less	47	79.51	11.00	0.72	.475	-
Length of residency	2 years or more	44	81.57	16.07			
Deat webstien two stores	AMATEM	24	84.38	14.78	1.63	.106	
Post-rotation treatment	Self-treatment	67	79.12	13.06			
Condex	Female	60	82.83	14.52	2.32	.023	.51
Gender	Male	31	76.00	10.59			
Normalian OD, standard deviation							

N: number, SD: standard deviation

Table 5. Correlation results		
Questions	Attitude scores (Pre-rotation)	Attitude scores (After-rotation)
Alcohol treatment success	13	.01
Other substance addiction treatment success	12	01
Interest in addiction psychology	.07	.04
Perspective on AMATEM rotation	26*	21*
Pre-rotation security feeling	28*	09
Having a relative with an ASUD diagnosis	15	.14
History of conflict with a patient with ASUD	08	.07
Post-rotation treatment	14	23*
Gender	.26*	.19
*p<.05		

Examination of Safety Perceptions

Given the identified negative correlation between prerotation attitude scores and perceived safety, as well as differences by gender, the relationship between perceived safety and various factors is presented in Table 6.

Table 6 shows that residents' perceived safety before the rotation varied significantly based on the quality of information received from colleagues and gender. Among those who received adequate information from colleagues, 81.1% felt safe, compared to only 50.0% of those who did not receive adequate information. Additionally, most participants who felt unsafe before the rotation were female, whereas most of those who felt safe were male. No significant differences in perceived safety based on other variables were found, as distributions were similar across groups.

Table 6. Comparison of residents security feelings based on various variables							
Variables		Feel secure f (%)	Does not feel secure f (%)	χ²	r _s		
	AMATEM	10 (41.7)	14 (58.3)				
Post-rotation treatment	Self-treatment	24 (35.8)	43 (64.2)	0.26 (p=.611)	.05 (p=.616)		
	Total	34 (100.0)	57 (100.0)				
	2 years or less	14 (29.8)	33 (70.2)				
Length of residency	2 years or more	20 (45.5)	24 (54.5)	2.38 (p=.123)	.16 (p=.125)		
	Total	34 (100.0)	57 (100.0)				
	Yes	15 (42.9)	20 (57.1)				
Risky alcohol and drug use	No	19 (33.9)	37 (66.1)	0.73 (p=.392)	.09 (p=.397)		
	Total	34 (100.0)	57 (100.0)				
	Yes	32 (37.2)	54 (62.8)				
Information from colleagues	No	2 (40.0)	3 (60.0)	0.02 (p=.900)	.01 (p=.902)		
	Total	34 (100.0)	57 (100.0)				
	Sufficient	7 (18.9)	30 (81.1)				
Adequate information	Insufficient	27 (50.0)	27 (50.0)	9.06 (p=.003)	.32 (p=.002)		
	Total	34 (100.0)	57 (100.0)				
	Female	28 (46.7)	32 (53.3)				
Gender	Male	6 (19.4)	25 (80.6)	6.52 (p=.011)	.27 (p=.010)		
	Total	34 (100.0)	57 (100.0)				
-Charge apprendix a softwart							

r_s=Spearman correlation coefficient

DISCUSSION

Many studies have shown that doctors, medical students, and psychiatry residents often feel inadequate when working with patients diagnosed with substance use disorders (SUDs). They tend to be pessimistic about the benefits of evidence-based treatment and may avoid working with such patients altogether (28,29).

In our study, we found a negative correlation between psychiatry residents' pre-rotation attitudes toward individuals using substances and their sense of security. A qualitative study examining the negative attitudes of healthcare professionals toward patients with SUDs revealed that participants viewed these patients as prone to violence and highlighted the emotional challenges of working with them (30). Another study conducted among general practitioners demonstrated that patients with substance addictions were often perceived as unmotivated, manipulative, and aggressive (21). In our research, some residents with negative perceptions of individuals with addiction felt less secure before their rotations. However, after gaining experience working with patients during their rotations, their attitudes may have shifted in a more positive direction.

Approximately one-third of the residents in our study reported feeling insufficiently secure before their rotations. Variables such as the duration of their residency, gender, prior experiences with patients diagnosed with SUDs, or personal perceptions and attitudes toward such patients may have influenced their pre-rotation sense of security.

However, no relationship was found between residency duration, previous problems with patients with SUD, and the resident's sense of security. This could be explained by the fact that, in our country, physicians, regardless of their residency experience, are often exposed to direct interaction with individuals with substance use disorders for the first time during their rotations in AMATEM clinics. Additionally, residents who had experienced prior issues with patients who had SUD may have resolved those issues, which could have impacted their sense of security differently. A more likely explanation is that the majority of our sample, who had not reported previous problems with patients with SUD, might still perceive these patients as manipulative or violent -similar to findings in earlier studies- despite their lack of personal experience, leading to comparable high levels of negative attitudes.

Another notable finding of our study was that residents who received adequate information from colleagues who had previously completed rotations reported feeling more secure. Residents who gained comprehensive knowledge about the clinical training and treatment processes might have felt more prepared to face potential challenges, reducing their anxiety. Furthermore, hearing about the experiences of other residents may have normalized personal difficulties and made them feel less isolated in these challenges, thereby increasing their sense of security (29).

The literature on the relationship between gender and attitudes toward substance users has produced inconsistent results. While some studies indicate no significant differences in attitudes based on age or gender (31,32) others have found that women tend to evaluate substance use more negatively and exhibit less tolerant attitudes toward individuals with SUDs than men (11,33). In our study, female residents were found to have higher pre-rotation attitude scores and were more likely to report feeling insecure. Cultural expectations, power dynamics, and social norms in our country may have influenced these gender-based differences in risk perception, ultimately affecting their attitudes and sense of security toward individuals with addiction. However, the absence of these gender differences after the rotation suggests that training balanced residents' attitudes and sense of security.

Two systematic reviews highlighted that healthcare professionals, including psychiatry residents, generally have low levels of knowledge about substance use disorders and a clear need for further education. Additionally, healthcare professionals interested in working in the field of addiction often demonstrate less stigmatizing attitudes even before receiving formal training (34,35). In our study, most residents expressed a need for addiction education and showed more positive attitudes toward individuals with addiction, consistent with the literature. However, some residents may perceive addiction rotations as merely an obligatory duty and not feel the need for such training due to their negative attitudes toward individuals with SUDs. Notably, the reduction in negative attitudes after rotation training among this group highlights the potential of wellstructured mandatory training programs to mitigate these attitudes.

Residents who believed their training would be insufficient and preferred to refer patients to AMATEM clinics after their rotations were found to have higher stigmatizing attitude scores post-rotation. A qualitative study involving 35 healthcare professionals revealed that most participants felt inadequate or unwilling to engage with patients diagnosed with SUDs, believing that these patients should only be treated by addiction specialists (11). Residents who doubted the adequacy of their training and preferred to transfer the care of addicted patients to specialized clinics might have psychologically distanced themselves from both the patients and the training content during the rotation, thereby reinforcing their preconceived notions. Additionally, negative experiences during the rotation, such as repeated treatment failures or inappropriate medication requests, may have further exacerbated these residents' negative attitudes.

The most significant finding of our study was the notable decrease in residents' post-rotation attitude scores compared to pre-rotation scores. Studies have shown that in-person or online education on addiction epidemiology, pathophysiology, and treatment can improve residents' knowledge and attitudes (36). For instance, an online training module for first-year psychiatry and internal medicine residents demonstrated decreased stigmatizing attitudes after the program (37). Similarly, a study involving psychiatry residents who received motivational interviewing training found that participants developed more favorable attitudes toward the concept and treatment of addiction (38).

In addition to education, other factors might have contributed to developing more positive attitudes among residents in our study. Frequent interaction and increased contact with patients who are diagnosed with SUD correlate with more positive attitudes among healthcare professionals (14-16,23). In a study where senior psychiatry residents assumed a supervisory role for six months with patients experiencing both addiction and comorbid psychiatric disorders, residents reported gaining a better understanding of recovery experiences and developing shared human emotions with the patients (39). In our clinic, activities such as theoretical training sessions, morning rounds, and rehabilitation programs may have provided residents with opportunities to interact with individuals with addiction, fostering a more understanding and empathetic perspective.

Studies indicate that educational programs alone have limited influence on the attitudes and behaviors of healthcare professionals. The most critical factor for change is the nature of the work environment (9). In our study, the relatively positive attitudes and role modeling of addiction specialists and other healthcare professionals in our clinic may have influenced residents' attitudes. A comprehensive review of the determinants of practice change in addiction emphasized that training strategies are more effective when combined with contextual factors such as staff cohesion and communication (40).

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study in Türkiye examining the impact of AMATEM rotation training on psychiatry residents' attitudes toward individuals with substance use disorders. However, our study has several limitations. First, while the sample size was adequate, the generalizability of our findings to the broader population of psychiatry residents is uncertain. During the design phase, confidentiality concerns led us to indirectly inquire about alcohol and substance use histories through questions about their relatives rather than directly questioning the residents. However, personal histories of alcohol or substance use may have influenced the residents' attitudes. Additionally, we did not assess the residents' religious beliefs or attitudes, which could morally influence their perspectives. Self-reported surveys are prone to social desirability bias, potentially affecting the reported attitude scores. Finally, it should be noted that residents might influence one another's perspectives and attitudes toward individuals with substance use disorders.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, considering the increasing prevalence of psychoactive substance use among children and adolescents, we recommend reevaluating the current onemonth limited rotation training on addiction offered in fields like child and adolescent psychiatry. Moreover, such education should not be confined to psychiatrists but should be integrated into all stages of medical education, albeit with varying durations. Viewing rotation training as merely a requirement and perceiving individuals with substance use disorders as unreliable may reinforce healthcare workers' negative attitudes towards this patient group and complicate treatment processes. Training programs should include practical applications and case studies that provide residents with opportunities to interact with individuals struggling with addiction under the guidance of experienced clinicians. This can help residents feel more confident and prepared. Furthermore, these programs should incorporate strategies to understand and mitigate the potential causes of stigmatizing attitudes. Further research is needed to better understand how factors related to training processes influence the attitudes, beliefs, and knowledge of resident physicians regarding addiction.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: Ethical Committee of Ankara Training and Research Hospital, 12.10.2023, E-23/1326.

REFERENCES

- 1. Robinson SM, Adinoff B. The classification of substance use disorders: historical, contextual, and conceptual considerations. Behav Sci (Basel). 2016;6:18.
- American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders, 3rd edition. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association. 1987.
- Barnett AI, Hall W, Fry CL, Dilkes-Frayne E, Carter A. Drug and alcohol treatment providers' views about the disease model of addiction and its impact on clinical practice: A systematic review. Drug Alcohol Rev. 2018;37:697-720.
- Auriacombe M, Fatséas M, Daulouède J-P. Réduction des risques, gestion des dommages, soins de l'addiction. Comment s'y retrouver et faire au mieux? Soyons responsables: simplifions!. Alcoologie et Addictologie. 2017;39:99-100.
- 5. Brickman P, Rabinowitz VC, Karuza J, et al. Models of helping and coping. Am Psychol. 1982;37:368-84.
- Barry CL, McGinty EE, Pescosolido BA, Goldman HH. Stigma, discrimination, treatment effectiveness, and policy: public views about drug addiction and mental illness. Psychiatr Serv. 2014;65:1269-72.
- 7. Schomerus G, Lucht M, Holzinger A, et al. The stigma of alcohol dependence compared with other mental disorders: a review of population studies. Alcohol Alcohol. 2011;46:105-12.
- Yang LH, Wong LY, Grivel MM, Hasin DS. Stigma and substance use disorders: an international phenomenon. Curr Opin Psychiatry. 2017;30:378-88.

DOI: 10.37990/medr.1595001

- 9. Ford R, Bammer G, Becker N. Improving nurses' therapeutic attitude to patients who use illicit drugs: workplace drug and alcohol education is not enough. Int J Nurs Pract. 2009;15:112-8.
- 10. Gilchrist G, Moskalewicz J, Slezakova S, et al. Staff regard towards working with substance users: a European multicentre study. Addiction. 2011;106:1114-25.
- 11. McLaughlin D, McKenna H, Leslie J, et al. Illicit drug users in Northern Ireland: perceptions and experiences of health and social care professionals. J Psychiatr Ment Health Nurs. 2006;13:682-6.
- 12. Au G. A review of attitude of medical professionals toward substance abuse. In: Au G, ed. International Conference on Tackling Drug Abuse. Hong Kong: The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. 2006;citeseer.
- 13. Kelleher S, Cotter P. A descriptive study on emergency department doctors' and nurses' knowledge and attitudes concerning substance use and substance users. Int Emerg Nurs. 2009;17:3-14.
- 14. May JA, Warltier DC, Pagel PS. Attitudes of anesthesiologists about addiction and its treatment: a survey of Illinois and Wisconsin members of the American Society of Anesthesiologists. J Clin Anesth. 2002;14:284-9.
- 15. Giannetti VJ, Sieppert JD, Holosko MJ. Attitudes and knowledge concerning alcohol abuse: curriculum implications. J Health Soc Policy. 2002;15:45-58.
- 16. Russell C, Davies JB, Hunter SC. Predictors of addiction treatment providers' beliefs in the disease and choice models of addiction. J Subst Abuse Treat. 2011;40:150-64.
- 17. Ball SA, Carroll KM, Canning-Ball M, Rounsaville BJ. Reasons for dropout from drug abuse treatment: symptoms, personality, and motivation. Addict Behav. 2006;31:320-30.
- 18. Neale J, Tompkins C, Sheard L. Barriers to accessing generic health and social care services: a qualitative study of injecting drug users. Health Soc Care Community. 2008;16:147-54.
- 19. Corrigan PW. Mental health stigma as social attribution: Implications for research methods and attitude change. Clin Psychol Sci Pract. 2000;7:48.
- 20. Corrigan PW, Green A, Lundin R, et al. Familiarity with and social distance from people who have serious mental illness. Psychiatr Serv. 2001;52:953-8.
- McGillion J, Wanigaratne S, Feinmann C, et al. GPs' attitudes towards treating drug misusers. Br J Gen Pract. 2000;50:385-6.
- 22. Howard V, Holmshaw J. Inpatient staff perceptions in providing care to individuals with co-occurring mental health problems and illicit substance use. J Psychiatr Ment Health Nurs. 2010;17:862-72.
- Ding L, Landon BE, Wilson IB, et al. Predictors and consequences of negative physician attitudes toward HIVinfected injection drug users. Arch Intern Med. 2005;165:618-23.
- 24. Strobel L, Schneider NK, Krampe H, et al. German medical students lack knowledge of how to treat smoking and problem drinking. Addiction. 2012;107:1878-82.

- 25. Orsolini L, Rojnić Palavra I, Papanti GD, et al. Psychiatry trainees' attitudes, knowledge, and training in addiction psychiatry–a European survey. Front Psychiatry. 2021;11:585607.
- Danışman M, Zengin İspir G, Sezer Katar K, Uçar Hasanlı Z. Evaluation of services for combating addiction in Turkey within the scope of the twelfth development plan (2024-2028). Turk J Clin Psychiatry. 2024;27:254-6.
- 27. Kline RB. Principles and practice of structural equation modeling. New York: Guilford Publications; 2023;426.
- 28. Wakeman SE, Pham-Kanter G, Donelan K. Attitudes, practices, and preparedness to care for patients with substance use disorder: results from a survey of general internists. Substance Abuse. 2016;37:635-41.
- 29. Avery J, Zerbo E. Improving psychiatry residents' attitudes toward individuals diagnosed with substance use disorders. Harv Rev Psychiatry. 2015;23:296-300.
- 30. Ford R. Interpersonal challenges as a constraint on care: the experience of nurses' care of patients who use illicit drugs. Contemp Nurse. 2011;37:241-52.
- 31. Gary LE, Berry GL. Predicting attitudes toward substance use in a Black community: implications for prevention. Community Ment Health J. 1985;21:42-51.
- 32. Spigner C, Hawkins WE, Loren W. Gender differences in perception of risk associated with alcohol and drug use among college students. Women Health. 1993;20:87-97.
- Meltzer EC, Suppes A, Burns S, et al. Stigmatization of substance use disorders among internal medicine residents. Subst Abuse. 2013;34:356-62.
- van Boekel LC, Brouwers EP, van Weeghel J, Garretsen HF. Stigma among health professionals towards patients with substance use disorders and its consequences for healthcare delivery: systematic review. Tijdschr Psychiatr. 2015;57:489-97.
- Cazalis A, Lambert L, Auriacombe M. Stigmatization of people with addiction by health professionals: current knowledge. A scoping review. Drug Alcohol Depend Rep. 2023;9:100196.
- 36. Bahji A, Smith J, Danilewitz M, et al. Towards competencybased medical education in addictions psychiatry: a systematic review. Can Med Educ J. 2021;12:126-41.
- Avery J, Knoepflmacher D, Mauer E, et al. Improvement in residents' attitudes toward individuals with substance use disorders following an online training module on stigma. HSS J. 2019;15:31-6.
- Jha MK, Abele MK, Brown JA, et al. Attitudes towards substance use disorders and association with motivational interviewing education: a survey of psychiatry chief residents. Acad Psychiatry. 2016;40:523-4.
- Agrawal S, Capponi P, López J, et al. From surviving to advising: a novel course pairing mental health and addictions service users as advisors to senior psychiatry residents. Acad Psychiatry. 2016;40:475-80.
- 40. Bywood P, Lunnay B, Roche A. Effective dissemination: a systematic review of implementation strategies for the AOD field. Adelaide: National Centre for Education and Training on Addiction; 2008.

MEDICAL RECORDS-International Medical Journal

Research Article



Knowledge Levels of Child Abuse and Neglect Among a Group of Turkish Dentistry Students

Canan Bayraktar Nahir¹, Seda Gollu², Necibe Damla Sahin

Tokat Gaziosmanpaşa University, Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Pediatric Dentistry, Tokat, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.



Abstract

Aim: Dentists play an important role in identifying signs of child abuse and neglect and reporting them to the appropriate authorities. This study aims to evaluate the knowledge of a group of dental students in the Central Black Sea region about child abuse and neglect. **Material and Method:** This cross-sectional study includes dental students from the Faculty of Dentistry at Tokat Gaziosmanpaşa University, enrolled during the 2023-2024 academic year. An online survey consisting of 28 questions was administered to dental students who agreed to participate, covering demographic information and assessing their knowledge level regarding child abuse and neglect. The data were analyzed using descriptive statistics and two-way ANOVA.

Results: A total of 266 (70.4%) students aged between 18 and 25 participated in this study. Among the dental students reported that 10.2% suspected child abuse and neglect, while 9.8% stated that they would prefer to report when they suspect such cases. While 58.6% of dental students believed that child abuse and neglect should be reported legally, 60.9% stated that they may not report suspected cases due to the possibility of making a misdiagnosis. While the impact of gender on dental students' knowledge levels regarding child abuse and neglect was not observed, the effect of academic year was significant (p<.05), with the lowest knowledge levels found among 1st grade students.

Conclusion: This study highlights the deficiencies in dental students' knowledge regarding the identifying of child abuse and neglect in dentistry, as well as their legal obligations. Therefore, it is recommended that all dental students receive education on child abuse and neglect.

Keywords: Child abuse, child neglect, student

INTRODUCTION

Child abuse and neglect are an important issue that needs to be considered comprehensively from medical, developmental, psycho-social and legal perspectives, which is based on complex causes and can have serious consequences (1). The World Health Organization (WHO) defines child abuse as 'all forms of physical and emotional ill-treatment, sexual abuse, neglect and exploitation that cause actual or potential harm to the health, development or dignity of the child (0-18 years)' (2). There are four main types of abuse: neglect, physical abuse, psychological abuse and sexual abuse. Abuse is defined as an act, whereas neglect is defined as an act of negligence that leads to potential or actual harm (2).

Child Protective Services (CPS) agencies in the United States report that 18 percent of the more than 2 million

cases of suspected child abuse involve physical abuse, and that more than 1,500 child deaths per year are due to child abuse or neglect (3). In the United Kingdom, as of December 2023, 50780 children were on the child protection register, 49.3% of whom were reported to be child neglected (4). A study conducted in Saudi Arabia showed that 74.9% of all types of abuse involved psychological abuse, followed by physical abuse with 57.5%, neglect with 50.2% and sexual abuse with 14.0% (5). According to recent research on child abuse in Türkiye, a joint study conducted by UNICEF and the Ministry of Social Security found that 45% of children between the ages of 7 and 18 had experienced physical abuse, 50% had suffered emotional abuse, and 25% had been neglected (6).

The literature indicates that 50-77% of children subjected to physical abuse experience injuries in the oro-facial region and often seek medical attention due to dental trauma

CITATION

Bayraktar Nahir C, Gollu S, Sahin ND. Knowledge Levels of Child Abuse and Neglect Among a Group of Turkish Dentistry Students. Med Records. 2025;7(1):187-94. DOI:1037990/medr.1599726

Received: 11.12.2024 Accepted: 02.01.2025 Published: 15.01.2025

Corresponding Author: Canan Bayraktar Nahir, Tokat Gaziosmanpaşa University, Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Pediatric Dentistry, Tokat, Türkiye

E-mail: canannbayraktarr@gmail.com

(7,8). In this context, dentists are in a unique position to help detect findings in the oro-facial region. In addition, since dentists see their patients and their parents at regular intervals, they have information about the general health status of the patient. These regular follow-up visits also allow them to detect any changes in behavior (9).

The studies conducted in the field of dentistry in Türkiye were analysed and Hazar Bodrumlu et al. (10) reveal that the roles and knowledge levels of dentistry faculty students in diagnosing suspected cases of child abuse are inadequate. In the study conducted by Özgür et al. (11) 70.3% of Turkish pediatric dentists reported being unaware of the legal sanctions for delaying or failing to report suspected cases. However, the role of dentists in child abuse and neglect is referred to as the "four 'R's of responsibility (recognize, record, report, and refer to protect)". In this context, they should recognize the risk factors and symptoms of child abuse, collect information, report suspicious cases to the judicial authorities and provide support to patients if necessary (12). In 2005, an amendment was made to Article 280 of the Turkish Penal Code, stipulating that healthcare professionals who fail to report or delay reporting signs of child abuse and neglect to the relevant authorities can be sentenced to up to one year in prison (13). Therefore, dentists should be well educated and equipped with skills to detect such possible suspicious cases.

This study aims to evaluate the knowledge of a group of dental students in the Central Black Sea region about child abuse and neglect. Accordingly, four research questions were formulated: a) What is the level of knowledge of dental students about child abuse and neglect?; b) What is the level of knowledge of dental students about the detection of child abuse and neglect in the clinic?; c) What is the level of knowledge of dental students about legal obligations regarding child abuse and neglect?; d) Which variables affect dental students' general knowledge about child abuse and neglect?

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Ethical Approval

The Clinical Research Ethics Committee of Tokat Gaziosmanpaşa University Faculty of Medicine approved this study (Approval No. 23-KAEK-152 and date 22.06.2023) before data collection. The study was conducted in accordance with the principles stated in the Declaration of Helsinki and the Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) guidelines. A written informed consent form was obtained from all participants.

Sampling Framework and Sampling

The study population for this cross-sectional study consisted of 377 students at Tokat Gaziosmanpaşa University Faculty of Dentistry. The questionnaire was sent to all students, but 266 students voluntarily agreed to complete the questionnaire. The sample size for the study was 70.4% of the study population.

Participants

This study was conducted with the participation of volunteers from the 1st, 2nd, 3rd, 4th, and 5th-grade undergraduate students enrolled at the Faculty of Dentistry, Tokat Gaziosmanpaşa University, during the 2023-2024 academic year. The inclusion criteria for the study were being enrolled as a 1st, 2nd, 3rd, 4th, or 5th- grade student at the Faculty of Dentistry, Tokat Gaziosmanpaşa University, and completing the entire questionnaire.

Questionnaire and Measurements

The study questions consist of questionnaire questions taken from previously published studies on child abuse and neglect after a comprehensive literature review (11,14-16). Students who agreed to participate in the study were asked to answer an online questionnaire form (Google Form) consisting of 28 questions measuring demographic information and knowledge levels about child abuse and neglect.

The sections of the questionnaire are as follows:

- a. The first six items include demographic information about the participants.
- b. Items 7-14: These questions assess participants' general level of knowledge about child abuse and neglect.
- c. Items 15-24: These questions assess participants' level of knowledge of the participants about the ability to detect child abuse and neglect in dentistry.
- d. Items 25-27: These questions assess participants' level of knowledge of the participants about their legal obligations related to child abuse and neglect.
- e. Item 28: This includes a multiple-choice question 'What/what could be your reasons for not reporting your suspicions of child abuse?'.

The questionnaire consists of 'yes', 'no', and 'I don't know' questions and multiple choice format question. While '1 point' was given for the correct answer, '0 point' was given for the wrong answer and don't know answer. Knowledge level scores were calculated based on the answers given to items 7-27 and participants can score minimum '0' and maximum '21'.

The reliability of the questionnaire was determined by Cronbach's α (α =0.821).

Statistical Analysis

Statistical evaluation was analysed using SPSS v26 (Chicago, IL, USA) software package. Descriptive statistics including frequency, percentage, mean and standard deviation were performed for all questions asked to evaluate the level of knowledge. A 2-way ANOVA was performed to analyse the effect of gender and students' academic years on the level of knowledge. A p-value of <.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

A total of 266 (70.4%) students aged between 18-25 years with an mean age of 21.92 ± 1.93 years participated in the study. 63.9% of the students were female and 36.1% were male. While the lowest participation was obtained from 2nd grade students (14.7%), the highest participation was

obtained from 3rd grade students (23.7%). Of the students who participated in our study, 6.4% received education on the identification and reporting of child abuse and neglect. 10.2% of the students reported that they suspected child abuse and 9.8% stated that they preferred to report in case of suspicion of child abuse and neglect (Table 1).

Table 1. Demographic data of the dental students					
		Frequency (n)	Percentage (%)		
Conder	Female	170	63.9		
Gender	Male	96	36.1		
	1st grade	52	19.5		
	2nd grade	39	14.7		
Academic year	3rd grade	63	23.7		
	4th grade	56	21.1		
	5th grade	56	21.1		
Have you ever augmented shild shuge?	Yes	27	10.2		
nave you ever suspected child abuse:	No	239	89.8		
Do you report augrested space of shild shuge and period?	Yes	240	90.2		
by you report suspected cases of child abuse and neglect?	No	26	9.8		
Have you ever received education on the identification and	Yes	17	6.4		
reporting of child abuse and neglect?	No	249	93.6		

Considering the multiple responses to the question 'What could be your reason/reasons for not reporting your suspicions of child abuse?', the highest response was the possibility of misdiagnosis with 60.9%. The second and third answers to this question were determined as being concerned about further

harm to the child (39.1%) and not having information about the reporting protocol (38%), respectively. Fear of violence from parents/family (23.7%) followed these responses. The rate of participants who think that social services cannot be a solution to this situation is 18% (Table 2).

Table 2. Multiple responses to the question 'What/what could be your reasons for not reporting your suspicions of child abuse?					
	Frequency (n)	Percentage (%)			
Fear of violence from parents/family	63	23.7			
The possibility of misdiagnosis	162	60.9			
I didn't know I had a reporting obligation	30	11.3			
I don't know about the reporting protocol	101	38.0			
I may be concerned about further harm to the child	104	39.1			
I do not want to be involved in legal proceedings	16	6.0			
I am worried about damage to my professional life	25	9.4			
I think that social services cannot be a solution to this situation	48	18.0			
Total	549	206.4			

61.7% of the participants stated that child abuse and neglect is an important cause of child deaths. The rate of participants who reported that abused children usually do not share the situation with someone else is 71.4%. 81.2% of the participants think that child abuse and neglect should be considered when there is a delay in the child receiving medical care after the trauma. 87.6% of the participants reported that the appearance of wounds with different healing periods on children's bodies may suggest child abuse

and 89.5% of the participants reported that uncertainties in parents' expressions were important in confirming the suspicion. The rate of those who stated that the child was afraid of going home or approaching the parents as a sign of emotional and psychological abuse was 92.9%. 72.6% of the participants stated that children who were sexually abused hesitated to make eye contact and behaved more docile. The rate of those who think that child abuse is directly proportional to income level is 38% (Table 3).

Table 3. Evaluation of the general level of knowledge about child abuse and neglect						
Quastiens	Correct	Yes	No	l don't know		
Questions	response	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)		
Child abuse and neglect is one of the most important causes of child deaths.	Yes	164 (61.7)	13 (4.9)	89 (33.5)		
Children who have been abused usually tell someone about it.	No	24 (9.1)	190 (71.4)	52 (19.5)		
If there is a delay in the child receiving medical care after the trauma, child abuse and neglect should be considered.	Yes	216 (81.2)	3 (1.1)	47 (17.7)		
Frequent injuries of the child and the appearance of wounds with different healing periods on the body should suggest child abuse and neglect.	Yes	233 (87.6)	5 (1.9)	28 (10.5)		
Uncertainty and time differences in parental expressions after the injury may be a sign of abuse.	Yes	238 (89.5)	1 (0.4)	27 (10.2)		
Signs of emotional and psychological abuse may be that the child reports being afraid of going home or approaching the parents.	Yes	247 (92.9)	1 (0.4)	18 (6.8)		
Children who have been sexually abused are reluctant to make eye contact and behave more submissive.	Yes	193 (72.6)	4 (1.5)	69 (25.9)		
Child abuse is generally directly related to income level and is more common in low-income families.	No	101 (38.0)	63 (23.7)	102 (38.3)		

80.8% of the participants think that dentists can detect child abuse and neglect in clinical practice. While 42.1% of the participants think that there is a strong linear relationship between dental neglect and physical neglect, 57.1% of the participants think that bite scars observed on the head and neck during dental examination/treatment are signs of abuse. While 61.3% of the participants stated that lacerations and haematomas on the inner lip surface observed in the clinical dental examination should suggest physical abuse, 51.1% of the participants stated that discolored or avulsed teeth due to repeated trauma could be a sign of child abuse. Bruises on the cheek could be the result of slapping or squeezing the face by 78.6% of the participants and an intercanine distance measured more than 3.0 cm is suspicious for an adult human bite by 39.8% of the participants. 69.5% of the participants thought that bruises, lichen or scars in the corner of the mouth could be a sign of oral plugging or forced sexual abuse. 47.4% of the participants stated that both oral and perioral gonorrhea infections may be indicators of sexual abuse in prepubertal children and unexplained injuries and petechiae on the palate may be evidence of sexual abuse (Table 4).

Table 4. Evaluation of the level of knowledge on the identification of child abuse and neglect in dentistry						
Quantiana	Correct	Yes	No	l don't know		
Questions	response	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)		
Dentists can reveal child abuse and neglect during their clinical practice.	Yes	215 (80.8)	6 (2.3)	45 (16.9)		
There is a strong linear relationship between dental neglect and physical neglect.	Yes	112 (42.1)	27 (10.2)	127 (47.7)		
Bite scars observed on the head and neck during dental examination/ treatment are not a sign of abuse.	No	49 (18.4)	152 (57.1)	65 (24.4)		
On examination, lacerations and haematomas on the inner lip surface should suggest physical abuse.	Yes	163 (61.3)	8 (3.0)	95 (35.7)		
Discoloured or avulsed teeth as a result of repeated trauma may be considered as a sign of child abuse.	Yes	136 (51.1)	11 (4.1)	119 (44.7)		
Bruises on the cheek are caused by slapping or squeezing the face.	Yes	209 (78.6)	5 (1.9)	52 (19.5)		
An intercanine distance (linear distance between the central point of the cusps) measured more than 3.0 cm is suspicious for an adult human bite.	Yes	106 (39.8)	3 (1.1)	157 (59.0)		
Unexplained injuries and petechiae on the palate, especially at the junction of the hard and soft palate, may be evidence of sexual abuse.	Yes	126 (47.4)	11 (4.1)	129 (48.5)		
Oral and perioral gonorrhea infections may be a pathognomonic indicator of sexual abuse in prepubertal children.	Yes	126 (47.4)	2 (0.8)	138 (51.9)		
Bruises, lichen or scars in the corner of the mouth may be a sign of oral plugging or forced sexual abuse.	Yes	185 (69.5)	5 (1.9)	76 (28.6)		

DOI: 10.37990/medr.1599726

The rate of participants who stated that dentists in Türkiye have a legal obligation to report child abuse and neglect is 58.6%. To the question 'Where should child abuse and neglect cases be reported?', the most common answer was 'I don't know' (34.6%) and 17.3% of the participants stated that it should be reported to the Ministry of Family, Labour and

Social Services. Participants were asked about the sanctions that a dentist who fails or delays to report child abuse and neglect cases according to the Turkish Penal Code and 86.5% of them answered 'I don't know'. Only 0.8% of participants stated that a person who does not report a crime in progress is punished with up to 1 year in prison (Table 5).

Table 5. Evaluation of the level of k	<pre>knowledge about legal obligations related to child abuse and neglect</pre>	:	
		Frequency (n)	Percentage (%)
Dentists in Türkiye are legally obliged to report which of the following?	Only child abuse	8	3
	Child abuse and neglect	156	58.6
······································	l don't know	102	38.4
	Someone more authorised at the institution where I work	44	16.50
Where should cases of child abuse and neglect be reported?	To the closest hospital	1	0.4
	Police station	65	24.40
	Social services and child protection institution	11	4.10
	Ministry of Family, Labour and Social Services	46	17.30
	Public Prosecutor's Office	7	2.60
	l don't know	92	34.60
	There are no legal obligations	10	3.8
	He/She will be reprimanded	6	2.3
According to the Turkish Penal Code. a dentist who fails or	Suspension from the occupation	1	0.4
delays in reporting suspected cases of child abuse and neglect faces which of the following punishments?	A person who does not report a crime in progress is punished with up to 1 year in prison	2	0.8
	A public official who does not report a crime in progress is punished with up to 1 year in prison from 6 months to 2 years	12	4.5
	Health personnel who do not report an offence committed shall be punished with up to 1 year in prison	5	1.9
	l don't know	230	86.5

The main effects and interactions of gender and academic year on the knowledge level of dental students about child abuse and neglect are shown in Table 6. It is observed that the main effect of academic year is statistically significant and its effect on knowledge level is 12.5% (p<.001). Gender and gender- academic year interaction had no statistically significant effect on the level of knowledge (p>.05).

Table 6. The effect of gender and academic year on dental students' level of knowledge about child abuse and neglect							
Source	Type III Sum of Squares	df	Mean square	F	Sig.	Partial Eta Squared	
Gender	27.924	1	27.924	2.038	.155	0.008	
Academic year	501.516	4	125.379	9.152	.000	0.125	
Gender *Academic year	25.577	4	6.394	0.467	.760	0.007	
R Squared=.141 (Adjusted R Squared=.111)							

The knowledge levels of 2nd, 3rd, 4th and 5th grade students about child abuse and neglect were similar, but the knowledge levels of 1st grade students were significantly lower compared to other academic years (p<.001). The

highest level of knowledge about child abuse and neglect was observed in the 4th grade (12.9 ± 4.3) followed by the 3rd grade (12.7 ± 3.1) , while the lowest was found in the 1st grade (9 ± 3.7) (Table 7).

Table 7. Descriptive data on the effect	ct of gender and academic year on d	ental students' level of knowledge at	oout child abuse and neglect
Acadamia yaan	Gen	der	Tatal
Academic year	Female	Male	Iotal
1 st grade	9.3±3.6	8.6±3.9	9±3.7ª
2 nd grade	13.1±3.4	11.3±2.7	12.5±3.2 ^b
3 rd grade	12.7±3.2	12.6±3.1	12.7±3.1 ^b
4 th grade	12.8±4.6	13±3.8	12.9±4.3 ^b
5 th grade	12.3±3.5	11.4±4.8	12±3.9 ^b
Total	12±3.9	11.5±4	11.8±3.9
a b thora is no differences between a	roupe with the same latter (Penforme	ni correction)	

a,b there is no differences between groups with the same letter (Bonferrroni correction)

DISCUSSION

Child abuse and neglect is a significant public health issue, both medically and socially, that violates children's human rights and can lead to serious morbidity and mortality (17). The WHO emphasizes that identifying children who have been subjected to abuse and neglect, protecting these children through a holistic approach and interdisciplinary collaboration, and ensuring appropriate treatment conditions are among the responsibilities of healthcare professionals (2). Dentists, who are among the healthcare professionals, are in an appropriate position to identify, prevent and report cases in the head and neck region, which they routinely evaluate in their professional lives (18). In this way, this is the first and most important step in identifying child abuse, helping abused children and preventing deaths due to child abuse. In order to perform these responsibilities, health professionals should have adequate knowledge about the symptoms, signs and risks of child abuse and neglect (19). In this context, our study evaluates the knowledge of a group of dental students in the Central Black Sea region about child abuse and neglect.

The first documented evidence that dentists do not report child abuse was reported by the American Dental Association in 1967. Accordingly, none of the 416 cases of abuse in New York State at that time were reported by dentists (20). When the studies on child abuse and neglect in Türkiye are analysed, Özgür et al. (11) reported that although 43.9% of the participants suspected physical abuse, only 12.7% of the suspected participants reported the suspected child abuse in a study conducted with paediatric dentists. In a study conducted by Kural et al. with dentists, it was reported that although 32.7% of the participants suspected physical abuse, only 1% of the suspected participants reported the suspected child abuse (16). Similar to our study, in another study conducted among dental students, it was observed that 20.3% of the participants suspected child abuse and 5% ignored it

(10). According to the present study, although 10.2% of dental students suspected physical abuse, from a general perspective, only 9.8% of all students stated that they would report in case of suspicion. Although this issue is of critical importance, the majority of dentists from the past to the present still do not have the right attitude towards suspected cases of abuse. When the reasons were analysed, the possibility of misdiagnosis (60.9%), concern that the child may be harmed more (39.1%) and lack of adequate knowledge about the notification protocol (38%) were among the most important reasons in our study in accordance with Hazar Bodrumlu et al. (10). Particularly in our study, major deficiencies were observed about the reporting protocol. This situation emphasises the importance of the knowledge on child abuse and neglect that should be obtained by dental students (93.6%) who have not received education on the topic in our study.

In the present study, when the students' knowledge about child abuse and neglect is evaluated, it is observed that there is a lack of knowledge among the students. For example, only 23.7% of the students are aware that child abuse and neglect is not related to income level and that it can also occur among people with high income. While dentists have an important role in the diagnosis of child abuse findings, 60.1% of the students could not confirm the finding of physical abuse in the head and neck region of an adult human bite. Furthermore, 52.6% of the participants were not aware that petechiae and unexplained injuries on the palate could be evidence of sexual abuse, while 52.7% did not know that oral and perioral gonorrhea infections were a pathognomonic indicator of sexual abuse in prepubertal children. Similar findings were reported in studies evaluating the knowledge about child abuse in the field of dentistry in the world and in Türkiye, and it was observed that there was a lack of knowledge about the physical and social symptoms of child abuse among all participants (10,11,15,21-23). It is revealed that dentistry students have insufficient knowledge about child abuse

and do not feel ready for their role in protecting children (24,25).

Child abuse and neglect should be considered as a whole. This situation does not only consist of physical or sexual abuse. Emotional abuse and neglect should not be ignored. In addition, dental neglect, which is a subtype of neglect, is a type of abuse that dentists can easily detect due to their professional position (15). However, in our study, only 42.1% of the students reported that there may be a relationship between dental neglect and physical neglect. Although there are legal sanctions in many countries, the legal basis for dental neglect in our country is relative (26). Although dental neglect is a component of child abuse and neglect, the effect of dental caries on the child should be examined, dental records should be kept, parental awareness should be raised with information and the willingness of the child should be increased. In this case, dentists should first provide information and correct guidance rather than the legal process (27).

In our study, in addition to descriptive data on child abuse and neglect, the total level of knowledge on child abuse and neglect was compared according to gender and the academic years in which the students were present. While the mean knowledge score of 11.8±3.9 did not differ between genders, the lowest knowledge score was observed in 1st grade students and the highest in 4th grade, and this difference was significant. Hazar Bodrumlu et al. (10) reported that 5th grade students had more knowledge about child abuse when compared with the results of 3rd and 4th grade students and concluded that upper grades were more interested in the subject. Similarly, Jordan et al. (22) investigated students' educational experiences and knowledge about child abuse and reported that students in more experienced years had more knowledge. The fact that 1st grade students had the lowest level of knowledge in our study is similar to the studies mentioned above (10,22). The observed highest level of knowledge among 4th grade students may be attributed to the specific emphasis placed on this topic, particularly in the differential diagnosis of child abuse and dental trauma findings. While lectures on child abuse and neglect are incorporated into the 2nd, 3rd, and 4th grade curricula, the absence of such lectures in the 5th grade might lead to a decline in knowledge levels due to the lack of continuous knowledge reinforcement and updating.

This study has certain limitations. Firstly, this crosssectional study was conducted among dental students in a single city. The findings of this study cannot be generalised to other groups because the sample was small and homogeneous. Second, other independent variables (e.g., participants' cognitive and psychological state, anxiety, stress, trust) that may affect participants' perceptions were not investigated in this study.

The current study investigated previously unexplored relationships between knowledge and awareness of child abuse and neglect and various variables among a group of dental students in Türkiye. Therefore, the findings also provide non-descriptive information. Further studies should examine the effects of different independent variables on dental students' knowledge and perceptions of child abuse and neglect in different societies and cultures.

CONCLUSION

This study identified the lack of knowledge about child abuse and neglect among a group of dental students in the Central Black Sea region. Most of the students were not ready to identify, take action and report to the relevant authorities when faced with suspicion of child abuse and neglect. Differences in the knowledge of the students depending on the academic year they were in were identified. In order to complete these differences and deficiencies, lectures on child abuse and neglect should be included as part of the undergraduate education of students before starting the clinic and theoretical and practical education should be carried out regularly with updates.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: The Clinical Research Ethics Committee of Tokat Gaziosmanpaşa University Faculty of Medicine approved this study (Approval No. 23-KAEK-152 and date 22.06.2023) before data collection.

REFERENCES

- 1. Zeanah CH, Humphreys KL. Child abuse and neglect. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2018;57:637-44.
- 2. World Health Organization: Violence against children. https://www.who.int/health-topics/violence-againstchildren#tab=tab_2 access date 01.12.2024.
- 3. Pietrantonio AM, Wright E, Gibson KN, et al. Mandatory reporting of child abuse and neglect: crafting a positive process for health professionals and caregivers. Child Abuse Negl. 2013;37:102-9.
- 4. NSPCC Learning: Child protection plan and register statistics. https://learning.nspcc.org.uk/research-resources/childprotection-plan-register-statistics access date 01.12.2024.
- Al-Eissa MA, AlBuhairan FS, Qayad M, et al. Determining child maltreatment incidence in Saudi Arabia using the ICAST-CH: A pilot study. Child Abuse Negl. 2015;42:174-82.
- UNICEF. Child abuse and family violence research in Turkey. https://www.unicef.org/turkiye/raporlar/t%C3%BCrkiyede-%C3%A7ocuk-istismari-ve-aile-i%C3%A7i-%C5%9Fiddetara%C5%9Ftirmasi-%C3%B6zet-raporu-2010 access date 30.11.2024.
- 7. Needleman HL. Orofacial trauma in child abuse: types, prevalence, management, and the dental profession's involvement. Pediatr Dent. 1986;8:71-80.
- 8. Lee JJ, Gonzalez-Izquierdo A, Gilbert R. Risk of maltreatmentrelated injury: a cross-sectional study of children under five years old admitted to hospital with a head or neck injury or fracture. PloS One. 2012;7:e46522.

- Kassebaum DK, Dove SB, Cottone JA. Recognition and reporting of child abuse: a survey of dentists. Gen Dent. 1991;39:159-62.
- 10. Hazar Bodrumlu E, Avşar A, Arslan S. Assessment of knowledge and attitudes of dental students in regard to child abuse in Turkey. Eur J Dent Educ. 2018;22:40-6.
- 11. Özgür N, Ballıkaya E, Güngör HC, et al. Turkish paediatric dentists' knowledge, experiences and attitudes regarding child physical abuse. Int Dent J. 2020:70;145-51.
- Oral and dental aspects of child abuse and neglect. American Academy of Pediatrics. Committee on Child Abuse and Neglect. American Academy of Pediatric Dentistry. Ad Hoc Work Group on Child Abuse and Neglect. Pediatrics. 1999;104:348-50.
- 13. Türk Ceza Kanunu. https://www.mevzuat.gov.tr/ mevzuatmetin/1.5.5237.pdf access date 30.11.2024.
- Arısoy S. Çocuk istismarının intraoral-ekstraoral bulgularına yönelik tıp fakültesi öğrencilerinin bilgi düzeyinin değerlendirilmesi. Ph.D. thesis, Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, 2022.
- Karaagac Eskibaglar B. Diş hekimlerinin çocuk istismarı ve ihmali konusundaki bilgi ve tutumlarının değerlendirilmesi ve farkındalık yaratılması. Ph.D. thesis, Dicle University, Diyarbakır, 2021.
- 16. Kural D. Çocuk istismarı ve ihmaline yönelik diş hekimlerinin farkındalık düzeyleri. Ph.D. thesis, Marmara University, İstanbul, 2014.
- 17. Eija P, Mika H, Aune F, et al. How public health nurses identify and intervene in child maltreatment based on the National Clinical Guideline. Nurs Res Pract. 2014;2014:425460.

- Valente LA, Dalledone M, Pizzatto E, et al. Domestic violence against children and adolescents: prevalence of physical injuries in a southern Brazilian metropolis. Braz Dent J. 2015;26:55-60.
- 19. Rimsza ME, Schackner RA, Bowen KA, et al. Can child deaths be prevented? The Arizona child fatality review program experience. Pediatrics. 2002;110:e11.
- Kaur H, Vinod K, SinghH, et al. Child maltreatment: crosssectional survey of general dentists. J Forensic Dent Sci. 2017;9:24-30.
- 21. Harris JC, Elcock C, Sidebotham P, et al. Safeguarding children in dentistry: 2. Do paediatric dentists neglect child dental neglect?. Br Dent J. 2009;206:465-70.
- 22. Jordan A, Welbury RR, Tiljak MK, et al. Croatian dental students' educational experiences and knowledge in regard to child abuse and neglect. J Dent Educ. 2012;76:1512-9.
- 23. Buldur B, Büyükkök Ç, Cavalcanti AL. Knowledge, attitudes, and perceptions regarding child abuse and neglect among dentists in Turkey. Braz Oral Res. 2022;36:e001.
- 24. Al-Jundi SH, Zawaideh FI, Al-Rawi MH. Jordanian dental students' knowledge and attitudes in regard to child physical abuse. J Dent Educ. 2010;74:1159-65.
- 25. Thomas JE, Straffon L, Inglehart MR. Knowledge and Professional experiences concerning child abuse: an analysis of provider and student responses. Pediatr Dent. 2006;28:438-44.
- 26. Uldum B, Christensen HN, Welbury R, et al. How Danish dentists and dental hygienists handle their role in child abuse and neglect matters. Acta Odontol Scand. 2017;75:332-7.
- 27. Bhatia SK, Maguire SA, Chadwick BL, et al. Characteristics of child dental neglect: a systematic review. J Dent. 2014;42:229-39.



A Morphometric Examination of The Orbita Structure in Schizophrenia Patients: A Retrospective Study

Sinem Keser¹, Sevler Yildiz², Elif Emre³

¹Elazığ Fethi Sekin City Hospital, Department of Surgical Medical Sciences, Department of Eye Diseases, Elazığ, Türkiye ²Elazığ Fethi Sekin City Hospital, Department of Internal Medical Sciences, Department of Psychiatry, Elazığ, Türkiye ³Fırat University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Anatomy, Elazığ, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.

Abstract

Aim: To compare the orbita anthropometric measurement values of individuals diagnosed with schizophrenia with those of a healthy control group.

Material and Method: The study included 156 participants as 75 schizophrenia patients and 81 healthy control subjects, all with previous cranial computed tomography imaging. The orbita morphometric values were calculated of all the participants. Statistical comparisons were made between the groups of the mean values of the measurements. The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to evaluate the conformity of continuous variables to normal distribution. Paired groups were compared with the Student's t-test. **Results:** Statistically significantly higher left orbita height was determined in the schizophrenia patient group compared to the control group (p=0.001), and the values of the right orbita lateral wall length (p=0.042), left lateral wall length (p=0.033), and left medial wall length (p=0.014) were statistically significantly lower. Female schizophrenia patients were found to have significantly lower values

of right orbita height (p=0.031), right orbita width (p=0.022), left orbita height (p=0.007), left orbita width (p=0.002), right orbita area (p<0.001), left orbita area (p=0.023), bimalar width (p<0.001), left optic nerve-sheath width (p=0.021), and skull transverse diameter (p<0.001) compared to males. There was determined to be a significant positive correlation between age and the right orbita width and the interorbital width measurements (p=0.011, r=0.203; p=0.015, r=0.194, respectively).

Conclusion: These findings can be considered useful in respect of better undertanding the orbita structure of schizophrenia patients.

Keywords: Schizophrenia, orbita, morphometry, multislice computed tomography

INTRODUCTION

Schizophrenia is a chronic mental health disease that generally starts at a young age and disrupts the functionality of the individual with clinical symptoms seen such as problems in thoughts and perception, cognitive disorders, unwillingness and lack of interest, and motor abnormalities (1). Although neurodevelopmental, environmental, and genetic factors are among the causes, the disease etiology remains unclear (2). The importance of the role of genetic factors in the pathogenesis of schizophrenia has been shown in recent research (3). It has also been reported that environmental factors and some structural changes in the brain caused by genes starting from the intrauterine period can cause the emergence of psychotic symptoms in later periods (4,5). It has been hypothesised that individuals with mental health disease have common phenotypical

characteristics of the brain and facial structure exposed to similar effects in the embryological process (6). According to the neurodevelopmental model, developmental changes in the early period are caused by neuron dysfunctions which can explain the signs and symptoms in the premorbid stage of individuals who later develop schizophrenia (7). Anatomic measurements of the facial diameters suggest that dysmorphology concentrated in the craniofacial region orginates from neurodevelopmental disorders in schizophrenia patients (8,9). Although physical abnormalities are of limited value in explaining the disease-specific pathophysiology, certain anomalies in the craniofacial morphology could be informative about schizophrenia (10). It has been said that changes such as low ears and epicanthal eye folds in schizophrenia patients are due to anomalies in the first trimester (11).

CITATION

Keser S, Yildiz S, Emre E. A Morphometric Examination of The Orbita Structure in Schizophrenia Patients: A Retrospective Study. Med Records. 2025;7(1):195-200. DOI:1037990/medr.1586908

Received: 25.11.2024 Accepted: 28.12.2024 Published: 15.01.2025 Corresponding Author: Sinem Keser, Elazığ Fethi Sekin City Hospital, Department of Surgical Medical Sciences, Department of Eye Diseases, Elazığ, Türkiye E-mail: kesersinem@hotmail.com The development of the bulbus oculi, which is an important space located adjacent to various regions including formations related to sight and the brain, starts in the third week of intrauterine life, as it also does in the brain and face with typical devlopment (12). As the eyeball and orbita structure are most likely related to fetal anthropometric growth (13), the anatomy of these structures may be important in terms of neurodevelopmental diseases because of fetal growth abnormalities. From a scan of the literature, it was seen that previous morphometric studies of schizophrenia patients have been conducted (14,15). For example, it has been reported from anthropometric analyses that there is a development disorder in the mid section of the skull in schizophrenia patients (16). However, no study could be found that has evaluated the orbita structure of these patients. Therefore, the aim of this study was to evaluate the anthropometric measurements of the orbita structure in schizophrenia patients through comparisons of the measurements made on multi-slice computed tomography with those of a healthy control group.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

This study was approved by the Non-Interventional Research Ethics Committee of Firat University (Decision no: 21853, Date: 02.02.2024). The medical records of individuals who attended the Fethi Sekin City Hospital from January 2020 to January 2024 were reviewed using the hospital registration system. Previous treatment and comorbidities of the patients were analyzed according to the data in the patient record system. The study included patients who presented within the defined date range. A retrospective evaluation was made of the images archived in the hospital Picture Archiving and Communication System (PACS). All the computed tomography (CT) scans were performed using a 128-slice CT scanner (Ingenuity Core 128; Philips Medical Systems, Best, the Netherlands). Non-contrast axial and coronal images were obtained at slice thickness of 0.5mm. The medical history, anamnesis and other systemic diseases of the patients were examined in detail from the hospital record system by a mental health and diseases specialist. The healthy control group comprised demographically matched individuals who had undergone a routine annual check-up at the hospital and had no known systemic or mental illness.

Exclusion criteria for the study were defined as age <18 years, poor quality CT scans, pathology determined in the orbital structures, or the presence of orbita fracture, tumour, or foreign body in this region. A total of 22 subjects were excluded; 15 schizophrenia patients and 7 healthy individuals with incomplete data. Thus, a total of 156 participants were included in the study analyses; 75 schizophrenia patients and a control group of 81 healthy individuals.

Orbita height was measured on coronal slices as the longest vertical distance between the midpoints of the supraorbital and infraorbital edges (Figure 1A) (17).

Orbita width was measured on coronal slices as the longest horizontal distance between the medial and lateral edges of the orbita at the surface level of the frontozygomatic suture (Figure 1A) (17). Orbita depth: first the level of the optic nerve continuously observed on axial slices was determined. A line was drawn joining the lateral and medial walls of the trajectory. With another line descending vertically from the previous line to the midpoint of the optic canal, the orbita depth was determined (Figure 1B) (18).

Orbita medial and lateral wall lengths were measured on axial slices at the level continuously followed by the optic nerve and where the fissura orbitalis was seen. The medial wall length was measured as the distance between the anterior corner of this wall and the anteromedial point of the optic canal. The lateral wall length was measured as the distance between the anterior corner of this wall and the anterolateral edge of the fissura orbitalis superior (Figures 1C, D) (19).

Orbital aperture area was calculated bilaterally by following certain anatomic points on the orbita edges on coronal slices using the software of the hospital imaging system. These anatomic landmarks were the foramen supraorbitale, anterior edge of the fossa lacrimalis, frontozygomatic suture, and infraorbital edges. The area of the covered bone line drawn was calculated automatically by the software (Figure 1E) (20).

Bimalar (interzygomatic) width was measured as the distance between the most prominent anterior points of the right and left zygomatic bones (Figure 1F) (21).

Biorbital width was measured as the distance between the most prominent lateral points of the right and left orbita (Figure 1G) (21).

Interorbital width was measured as the distance between the two dacryon points at the medial edges of the orbital apertures (Figure 1H) (21).

Optic nerve-sheath width was measured on the axial slice where the optic nerve was widest and width was measured from the place where the optic nerve and sheath seemed to be the thickest (Figure 1I) (22).

Skull transverse diameter measurement was the distance between the furthest points of the skull transverse diameter on the axial slice where the transverse diameter was greatest (Figure 1J) (23).

The measurements were taken twice by the same expert and the average was calculated.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses of the study data were performed using SPSS vn. 22 software (Statistical Package for Social Sciences; SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Descriptive statistics were stated as mean±standard deviation (SD) values for continuous variables and as number (n) and percentage (%) for categorical variables. Pearson chi-square analysis was applied in the comparisons of categorical variables between groups. The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to evaluate the conformity of continuous variables to normal distribution. Paired groups were compared with the Student's t-test. To examine the relationships between continuous variables, Pearson correlation analysis was applied. Statistical significance was accepted as p<0.05.



Figure 1. Morphometric evaluation of the orbita

RESULTS

Evaluation was made of a total of 156 participants, as 75 schizophrenia patients and 81 healthy control subjects. The patient group comprised males (65.3%) and females (34.7%) with a mean age of 53.7 ± 16.4 years. The control group comprised males (63%) and females (37%) with a mean age of 53.1 ± 16.4 years. There was no significant difference between the groups in terms of gender or age

(p=0.758, p=0.810, respectively).

The height of the left orbita was determined to be statistically significantly higher in the schizophrenia patient group than in the control group (p=0.001), and the values of the right orbita lateral wall length (p=0.042), left orbita lateral wall length (p=0.033), and left orbita medial wall length (p=0.014) were significantly lower (Table 1).

Table 1. Comparis	sons of the demogr	raphic characteristics and	tomographic measu	rements of the group	S	
		Patients	s (n=75)	Contro	l (n=81)	
		n	%	n	%	b ~
Condex	Female	26	34.7	30	37.0	0.750
Gender	Male	49	65.3	51	63.0	0.758
		Mear	n±SD	Mea	n±SD	p **
Age (years)		53.7±16.4	4 (19-70)	53.1±16	.4 (21-68)	0.810
Right A		34.5	±2.3	34.3	8±1.8	0.640
Right B		39.9	±6.7	39.0)±2.5	0.267
Right C		37.8	±3.0	38.1	±2.8	0.494
Left A		34.8	±2.0	33.7	7±2.0	0.001
Left B		39.5	±4.1	39.1	±2.4	0.486
Left C		37.6	±3.7	38.3	3±2.7	0.169
Right lateral		40.9	±2.9	41.8	3±2.8	0.042
Right medial		41.4	±3.8	42.5	5±3.9	0.066
Left lateral		40.4	±3.2	41.5	5±3.0	0.033
Left medial		41.1	±5.3	42.7	7±2.9	0.014
Right area		1086.7	′±99.3	1073.	3±87.1	0.369
Left area		1073.5	±135.1	1048.	4±82.5	0.160
Bimalar		97.3	±4.2	96.5	5±4.9	0.266
Biorbital		94.6	±4.1	92.0	±11.6	0.066
Interorbital		25.5	±3.0	26.6	±11.4	0.411
Right optic nerve		5.4	±.7	5.3	3±.7	0.408
Left optic nerve		5.2	±.8	5.3	3±.7	0.898
Tranverse diamet	ter	140.3	3±8.7	139.	0±6.5	0.289
*Chi-square analy	sis **Student's t-te	st				

In the female patients diagnosed with schizophrenia, the values of the right orbita height (p=0.031), right orbita width (p=0.022), left orbita height (p=0.007), left orbita width (p=0.002), right orbita area (p<0.001), left orbita area (p=0.023), bimalar width (p<0.001), left optic nerve-sheath width (p=0.021), and skull transverse diameter (p<0.001)

were determined to be statistically significantly lower than those of male schizophrenia patients (Table 2).

A significant positive correlation was determined between age and the right orbita width and the interorbital width measurements (p=0.011, r=0.203; p=0.015, r=0.194, respectively) (Table 2).

Table 2. Relationships be	etween the demographic	c characteristics and tom	ographic measurement	s	
	Female (n=56)	Male (n=100)	-*	Ag	e
	Mean±SD	Mean±SD	b	r	p**
Right A	33.9±2.0	34.6±2.1	0.031	0.083	0.300
Right B	38.2±2.6	40.1±5.8	0.022	0.203	0.011
Right C	37.9±3.1	38.0±2.8	0.906	0.084	0.299
Left A	33.6±1.8	34.6±2.1	0.007	-0.025	0.757
Left B	38.2±1.9	39.9±3.8	0.002	0.027	0.735
Left C	37.4±3.3	38.3±3.2	0.090	0.054	0.502
Right lateral	41.1±2.8	41.5±2.9	0.381	0.038	0.638
Right medial	41.9±3.8	42.0±3.9	0.888	0.012	0.885
Left lateral	40.5±2.9	41.2±3.2	0.157	-0.009	0.914
Left medial	41.4±3.7	42.3±4.6	0.227	-0.014	0.859
Right area	1044.3±95.1	1099.6±86.2	<0.001	0.108	0.181
Left area	1033.5±76.4	1075.6±124.5	0.023	0.110	0.171
Bimalar	95.0±5.5	98.0±3.6	<0.001	0.055	0.492
Biorbital	91.5±9.8	94.3±8.2	0.056	-0.052	0.522
Interorbital	26.0±9.6	26.1±7.8	0.913	0.194	0.015
Right optic nerve	5.3±.6	5.5±.7	0.105	0.133	0.098
Left optic nerve	5.1±.7	5.4±.7	0.021	0.082	0.310
Tranverse diameter	136.2±6.7	141.5±7.5	<0.001	0.005	0.952

* Student's t-test, ** Pearson correlation analysis

DISCUSSION

Anthropometric measurements performed appropriate to certain standards provide a great amount of data about the human body anatomy. These measurements are taken in the framework of certain protocols and measurement techniques which are generally accepted worldwide. In addition to measurements taken with manual calipers, they can now be taken with imaging methods due to developments in technology. In this study, which aimed to compare the anthropometric measurements of the orbital structure in schizophrenia patients with measurements made on multi-slice CT and in the healthy control group, showed that the left and right orbital lateral edges and the left orbital medial wall were shorter in schizophrenia patients. The orbita structures of female schizophrenia patients were seen to be smaller than those of the male schizophrenia patients. It can also be said that the orbita measurements of schizophrenia patients show variability with age.

In terms of neurodevelopmental diseases, it has been reported that there are various physical malformations in patients with schizophrenia, especially in the craniofacial region (24). During the intrauterine period, the craniofacial region and the ventral section of the brain develop at

similar times, so a disruption in the stage of formation of one renders the other structure prone to malformation (25,26). The anatomic or embryonic interaction between the face and the brain can also affect brain functions (27). The first psychotic attack of schizophrenia patients usually occurs in late adolescence or early adulthood, and when the preceding period has been examined, there have been observed to be small physical craniocerebral (ears, palate, head circumference), some oral anomalies (teeth measurements), temporomandibular, and palatal abnormalities (28). It has been reported that these patients have an increased frequency of abnormal head circumference, hypertelorism, conjoined earlobes, thick palate, epicanthus and finger anomalies (24). Orbita morphometry can be used for the early determination of some diseases (29). Technological methods have also been used recently to provide reliable reference values for clinicians and to facilitate the identification of normal and abnormal orbita anatomy (30). In a previous study of healthy individuals in Türkiye, the orbita height width and depth mean values were calculated to be 36.04±2.97 mm,

 32.33 ± 2.59 mm, and 38.35 ± 3.32 mm, respectively on the right side and 35.79 ± 3.18 mm, 32.29 ± 2.67 mm, and 38.13 ± 3.21 mm, respectively, on the left side (31).

A study in Iran examined orbita morphometry using 3-dimensional CT (3DCT) and the measurements were reported for the right and left sides as mean orbital height of 3.75±0.20 cm and 3.74±0.21 cm respectively, orbital width of 3.44 cm±0.17 cm and 3.46 cm±0.17 cm, and interorbital-biorbital width of 2.26 cm±0.26 cm and 9.55±0.41 cm. Orbital volume on both the left and right sides was found to be significantly greater in males compared to females, and a significant correlation was determined between age and the right and left orbital volume (32). The anthropometric examinations of the orbita of the current study schizophrenia patients were performed using multislice CT. It was observed that the right and left orbita lateral edges and the medial wall of the left orbita were shorter in the patients than in the healthy control subjects. These findings are promising in respect of being able to identify groups at risk of schizophrenia with imaging methods of the orbita morphometry, especially the left side, before disease symptoms emerge, and to therefore be able to make the early interventions required by these groups. From a scan of the literature, this study can be considered the first to have evaluated orbita morphometry in schizophrenia, which is important for early diagnosis and treatment.

The current study results revealed a difference in orbita structures between the genders, with the orbita anthropometric measurement values of females observed to be smaller than those of males. In addition, it was seen that the orbita measurements of schizophrenia patients showed variability with age. It has been previously reported that morphometric measurements can show differences due to age and gender (33,34). Erdem et al. reported that with the exception of vertical diameter, all the orbita measurement values were significantly greater in males than in females (30). In diseases such as Graves disease, there are also known to be changes in orbita lipid volume together with ageing (35). Although similar to the age of the control group, the higher mean age of the current study patients could have affected the orbita measurement values. Therefore, as the results could affect the evaluation of orbita anthropometry, there is a need for further studies of younger schizophrenia patients.

Limitations of this study can be said to be the single-centre, retrospective, cross-sectional design, the relatively small sample size, and that the severity of disease symptoms was not known.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, as in all diseases, early diagnosis and treatment of mental health diseases is important in respect of morbidity and mortality. Based on the findings of the current study, the aim of which was to detect the disease in the prodromal period, the determination of reference measurement values of the orbita using advanced technology methods in a larger sample group could facilitate the early detection of mental health diseases by clinicians. Therefore, the findings of this study can be considered of guidance for further studies to be conducted in this field.

has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: This study was approved by the Non-Interventional Research Ethics Committee of Firat University (Decision no: 21853, Date: 02.02.2024).

REFERENCES

- American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 5th edition (DSM-5). Washington DC, American Psychiatric Association. 2013.
- 2. Orsolini L, Pompili S, Volpe U. Schizophrenia: a narrative review of etiopathogenetic, diagnostic and treatment aspects. J Clin Med. 2022;11:5040.
- 3. Trifu SC, Kohn B, Vlasie A, Patrichi BE. Genetics of schizophrenia (Review). Exp Ther Med. 2020;20:3462-8.
- 4. Eyles DW. How do established developmental risk-factors for schizophrenia change the way the brain develops?. Transl Psychiatry. 2021;11:158.
- 5. Tsuang M. Schizophrenia: genes and environment. Biol Psychiatry. 2000;47:210-20.
- Fatemi SH, Folsom TD. The neurodevelopmental hypothesis of schizophrenia, revisited. Schizophr Bull. 2009;35:528-48.
- Keshavan MS. Development, disease and degeneration in schizophrenia: a unitary pathophysiological model. J Psychiatr Res. 1999;33:513-21.
- Elizarraras-Rivas J, Fragoso-Herrera R, CerdanSanchez LF, et al. Minor physical anomalies and anthropometric measures in schizophrenia: a pilot study from Mexico. Schizophr Res. 2003;62:285-87.
- 9. Demir M, Atay E, Tümer MK, et al. Craniofacial morphometry of schizophrenia patients. Annals Health Sci Ress. 2017;6:10-8.
- Compton MT, Walker EF. Physical manifestations of neurodevelopmental disruption: are minor physical anomalies part of the syndrome of schizophrenia?. Schizophr Bull. 2009;35:425-36.
- 11. Lloyd T, Dazzan P, Dean K, et al. Minor physical anomalies in patients with first-episode psychosis: their frequency and diagnostic specificity. Psychol Med. 2008;38:71-7.
- 12. Gaca PJ, Lewandowicz M, Lipczynska-Lewandowska M, et al. Embryonic development of the orbit. Klin Monbl Augenheilkd. 2022;239:19-26.
- 13. Bilkay C, Koyuncu E, Dursun A, et al. Development of the orbit and eyeball during the fetal period. Med Records. 2023;5:314-9.
- 14. Fakhroddin M, Ahmad G, Imran S. Morphometric characteristics of craniofacial features in patients with schizophrenia. J Psychiatry. 2014;17:514-9.
- 15. Lin AS, Chang SS, Lin SH, Minor physical anomalies and craniofacial measures in patients with treatment-resistant schizophrenia. Psychol Med. 2015;45:1839-50.

- Hennessy RJ, Kinsella A, Waddington JL. 3D Laser surface scanning and geometric morphometric analysis of craniofacial shape as an index of cerebro-craniofacial morphogenesis: initial application to sexual dimorphism. Biol Psychiatry. 2002;5:507-14.
- 17. Rajangam S, Kulkarni R, Quadrilos L, Sreenivasulu S. Orbital dimensions. Indian J Anat. 2012;1:5-9.
- Nitek S, Wysocki J, Reymond J, Piasecki K. Correlations between selected parameters of the human skull and orbit. Med Sci Monit. 2009;15:BR370-7.
- 19. Oester AE Jr, Sahu P, Fowler B, Fleming JC. Radiographic predictors of visual outcome in orbital compartment syndrome. Ophthalmic Plast Reconstr Surg. 2012;28:7-10.
- Attia AM, Ghoneim M, Elkhamary SM. Sex discrimination from orbital aperture dimensions using computed tomography: Sample of Egyptian population. J Forensic Radiol Imaging. 2019;27:1-12.
- 21. Can AR, Korkmaz İ, Atamtürk D, et al. The use of width measurements taken from the upper face and orbital regions in sex determination. MKÜ Tıp Derg. 2022;13:296-302.
- Bulut S, Taş F, Atalar M, Dökmetaş S. Graves' hastalığında orbitatutulumununbilgisayarlıtomografiile değerlendirilmesi. Cumhuriyet Medical Journal. 2002;24:123-7.
- Demirtaş İ. Üç boyutlu multidedektör bilgisayarlı tomografide orbita ve orbital yapıların morfometrik analizi. MSc Thesis. Afyon Kocatepe Üniversitesi, Afyonkarahisar, 2014.
- 24. Nafiaa H, Benchikhi L, Ouanass A. Morphological abnormalities in schizophrenia: systematic review. SAS J Med. 2022;5:376-83.
- 25. Sut E, Akgül Ö, Bora E. Minor physical anomalies in schizophrenia and first-degree relatives in comparison to healthy controls: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Euro Neuropsychopharmacol. 2024;86:55-64.

- 26. Priol AC, Denis L, Boulanger G, et al. Detection of morphological abnormalities in schizophrenia: an important step to identify associated genetic disorders or etiologic subtypes. Int J Mol Sci. 2021;22:9464.
- 27. Naqvi S, Sleyp Y, Hoskens H, et al. Shared heritability of human face and brain shape. Nat Genetics. 2021;53:830-9.
- 28. Tsehay B, Seyoum G. The neurodevelopmental basis of schizophrenia: clinical clues from craniofacial dysmorphology in Northwest Ethiopia, 2020. BMC Neurosci. 2021;22:59.
- 29. Vogele D, Sollmann N, Beck A, et al. Orbital tumors-clinical, radiologic and histopathologic correlation. Diagnostics (Basel). 2022;12:2376.
- Erdem H, Tekeli M, Cevik Y, et al. Three-dimensional (3D) analysis of orbital morphometry in healthy Anatolian adults: sex, side discrepancies, and clinical relevance. Cureus. 2023;15:e45208.
- Pirinç B, Fazlıoğulları Z, Koplay M, et al. Morphometric analysis of orbit in Turkish population: a MDCT study. Genel Tıp Derg. 2022;32:590-600.
- Khani H, Fazelinejad Z, Hanafi MG, et al. Morphometric and volumetric evaluations of orbit using three-dimensional computed tomography in southwestern Iranian population. Transl Res Anatomy. 2023;30:100233.
- 33. Muhammed FK, Abdullah AO, Liu Y. A morphometric study of the sella turcica: race, age, and gender effect. Folia Morpholog. 2020;79:318-26.
- Ranganath A, Saklecha AK, Singh A, Vineela, E. Age and gender differences in morphometric measurements of brain stem using magnetic resonance imaging in healthy Indian adults. J Datta Meghe Institute Med Sci Univ. 2022;17:21-4.
- 35. Douglas RS, Kahaly GJ, Patel A, et al. Teprotumumab for the treatment of active thyroid eye disease. N Engl J Med. 2020;382:341-52.



A Comparative Study on the Question-Answering Proficiency of Artificial Intelligence Models in Bladder-Related Conditions: An Evaluation of Gemini and ChatGPT 4.0

Mustafa Azizoglu^{1,2}, Sergey Klyuev³

¹İstanbul Esenyurt Necmi Kadıoğlu State Hospital, Department of Pediatric Surgery, İstanbul, Türkiye ²İstinye University, Health Science Faculty, Department of Stem Cell and Tissue Engineering, İstanbul, Türkiye ³AO GK MEDSI, Department of Pediatric Surgery, Moscow, Russia

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.



Abstract

Aim: The rapid evolution of artificial intelligence (AI) has revolutionized medicine, with tools like ChatGPT and Google Gemini enhancing clinical decision-making. ChatGPT's advancements, particularly with GPT-4, show promise in diagnostics and education. However, variability in accuracy and limitations in complex scenarios emphasize the need for further evaluation of these models in medical applications. This study aimed to assess the accuracy and agreement between ChatGPT 4.0 and Gemini AI in identifying bladder-related conditions, including neurogenic bladder, vesicoureteral reflux (VUR), and posterior urethral valve (PUV).

Material and Method: This study, conducted in October 2024, compared ChatGPT 4.0 and Gemini Al's accuracy on 51 questions about neurogenic bladder, VUR, and PUV. Questions, randomly selected from pediatric surgery and urology materials, were evaluated using accuracy metrics and statistical analysis, highlighting Al models' performance and agreement.

Results: ChatGPT 4.0 and Gemini AI demonstrated similar accuracy across neurogenic bladder, VUR, and PUV questions, with true response rates of 66.7% and 68.6%, respectively, and no statistically significant differences (p>0.05). Combined accuracy across all topics was 67.6%. Strong inter-rater reliability (κ =0.87) highlights their agreement.

Conclusion: This study highlights the comparable accuracy of ChatGPT-4.0 and Gemini AI across key bladder-related conditions, with no significant differences in performance.

Keywords: ChatGPT, Gemini, articifial intelligence, bladder

INTRODUCTION

The rapid evolution of artificial intelligence (AI) has significantly reshaped multiple disciplines, including medicine and healthcare (1-5). Among the most prominent advancements in AI are large language models (LLMs) like ChatGPT 4.o and Google Gemini (2-4). ChatGPT, developed by OpenAI, employs state-of-the-art natural language processing to generate human-like responses (2-4). Initially launched with GPT-3.5 in November 2022 and succeeded by GPT-4 in March 2023, ChatGPT has demonstrated considerable promise in various fields, including medical diagnostics and education. Similarly, Google Gemini, a competitor, integrates advanced neural networks to interpret and respond to complex medical inquiries. These advancements position both platforms as potential tools for supporting clinical decision-making (5,6).

Prior studies have explored ChatGPT's accuracy in standardized medical exams, revealing its potential to complement traditional methods. For example, GPT-4 has outperformed its predecessor GPT-3.5 in answering medical licensing questions, emphasizing its growing accuracy and reliability (7).

Despite the advancements, concerns persist regarding the reliability and consistency of these tools (8,9). Studies comparing ChatGPT, Gemini, and other AI models in specific medical contexts highlight variability in diagnostic accuracy and comprehensiveness. ChatGPT has been noted for its higher accuracy in certain scenarios but has also demonstrated limitations in nuanced or ambiguous

CITATION

Azizoglu M, Klyuev S. A Comparative Study on the Question-Answering Proficiency of Artificial Intelligence Models in Bladder-Related Conditions: An Evaluation of Gemini and ChatGPT 4.o. Med Records. 2025;7(1):201-5. DOI:1037990/medr.1601528

Received: 14.12.2024 Accepted: 10.01.2025 Published: 15.01.2025

Corresponding Author: Mustafa Azizoglu, İstanbul Esenyurt Necmi Kadıoğlu State Hospital, Department of Pediatric Surgery, İstanbul, Türkiye İstinye University, Health Science Faculty, Department of Stem Cell and Tissue Engineering, İstanbul, Türkiye **E-mail**: mdmazizoglu@gmail.com cases. Similarly, Gemini, while robust in specific areas, occasionally falters in providing context-sensitive responses, necessitating further evaluation (1).

This study aimed to assess the accuracy and agreement between ChatGPT 4.o and Gemini AI in identifying bladder-related conditions, including neurogenic bladder, vesicoureteral reflux (VUR), and posterior urethral valve (PUV).

MATERIAL AND METHOD

This study was conducted in October 2024. Since it involved an Al-based analysis, ethical approval was not required. The study focused on three primary bladderrelated topics: VUR, PUV, and neurogenic bladder. A total of 51 questions were prepared, with 17 questions from each topic to ensure balanced representation across all areas. The questions were randomly selected from pediatric surgery and pediatric urology board examination study materials to reflect clinically relevant scenarios.

The prepared questions were simultaneously presented to both Gemini AI and ChatGPT 4.0 models. Each model's responses were independently recorded and evaluated against a pre-determined answer key. The number of correct and incorrect answers provided by each model was calculated separately for each topic to assess their accuracy.

A text was prepared to train both artificial intelligence models in the question-and-answer format. This text was taught to both AI models and was as follows. "I am conducting a study to assess the diagnostic accuracy and agreement between ChatGPT and Gemini AI in identifying bladder-related conditions, including neurogenic bladder, VUR, and PUV. For this purpose, I will ask each of you a total of 51 questions, with 17 questions per topic. The questions will be the same for both models and are selected from the European board examination study materials in pediatric surgery and pediatric urology. Please answer these questions to the best of your ability. At the end, your correct and incorrect answers will be compared to the official answer key. And then, the results will be compared for a study." The responses provided by the models are presented in Figures 1 and 2. The questions asked to the AI were multiple choice questions (5 options) in a test format.

ChatGPT 40

I am conducting a study to assess the diagnostic accuracy and agreement between ChatGPT and Gemini AI in identifying bladderrelated conditions, including neurogenic bladder, vesicoureteral reflux (VUR), and posterior urethral valve (PUV). For this purpose, I will ask each of you a total of 51 questions, with 17 questions per topic. The questions will be the same for both models and are selected from the European board examination study materials in pediatric surgery and pediatric urology. Please answer these questions to the best of your ability. At the end, your correct and incorrect answers will be compared to the official answer key. And then, the results will be compared for a study.

Understood. Please provide the first set of questions, and I will answer them to the best of my ability.



I am conducting a study to assess the diagnostic accuracy and agreement between ChatGPT and Gemini AI in identifying bladder-related conditions, including neurogenic bladder, velscourteral reflux (VUR), and posterior urethral valve (PUV). For this purpose, I vall ask each of you a total of 51 questions, with 17 questions per topic. The questions will be the same for both models and are selected from the European board examination study materials in pediatric surgery and pediatric urology. Please answer these questions to the best of your ability. At the end, your correct and incorrect answers will be compared to the official answer key. And then, the results will be compared for a study.
I am ready to participate in your study. I will do my best to answer the 17 questions on each topic accurately and comprehensively. Please feel free to ask the questions.

Figure 2. Instructions for AI model evaluation (for Gemini AI)

Statistical Analysis

Gemini 🔹

For statistical analysis, the number of true and false responses for both AI models was compared for each topic using accuracy metrics and Cohen's Kappa to evaluate inter-model agreement. The categorical variables were compared with chi-square test. Univariate logistic regression analysis was performed to examine the factors associated with correct responses, using neurogenic bladder as the reference topic and ChatGPT 4.o as the reference AI model. Odds ratios (OR) and p-values were calculated to assess the statistical significance of the differences between the models and topics. Data visualization was achieved through a Sankey diagram to demonstrate the flow and distribution of correct and incorrect responses across topics and models. All statistical analyses were conducted using Jamovi software 2.4, with a significance threshold set at p<0.05.

RESULTS

For neurogenic bladder, ChatGPT 4.0 correctly answered 11 guestions (64.7%), while Gemini AI correctly answered 13 questions (76.5%), resulting in a combined true response rate of 70.6% (n=24). The false response rates were 35.3% for ChatGPT 4.o and 23.5% for Gemini Al, with a total false response rate of 29.4% (n=10). The difference in performance between the two AI models on neurogenic bladder-related questions was not statistically significant (p=0.452). Regarding VUR, ChatGPT 4.o and Gemini AI achieved true response rates of 64.7% (n=11) and 58.8% (n=10), respectively, with a total true response rate of 61.8% (n=21). The false response rates were 35.3% and 41.2% for ChatGPT 4.o and Gemini AI, respectively, contributing to a combined false response rate of 38.2% (n=13). The statistical comparison indicated no significant difference between the models on VUR-related questions (p=0.724). For PUV, both ChatGPT 4.0 and Gemini AI performed identically, each with a true response rate of 70.6% (n=12) and a false response rate of 29.4% (n=5). The total response rates were identical across the models on PUV-related questions (p=1.000). Across all conditions, the combined true response rate was 66.7% for ChatGPT 4.0 and 68.6% for Gemini AI, with a total true response rate of 67.6% (n=69). The combined false response rates were 33.3% for ChatGPT 4.0 and 31.4% for Gemini AI, with a total false response rate of 32.4% (n=33). The overall performance comparison between the AI models showed no statistically significant difference (p=0.832) (Table 1).

Bellek güncellendi

Table 1. Accuracy between	ChatGPT 4.o and Gemini	AI			
		ChatGPT 4.o	Gemini Al	Total	P-value
Nourogonia bladdar	True	11 (64.7%)	13 (76.5%)	24 (70.6%)	0.452
Neurogenic bladder	False	6 (35.3%)	4 (23.5%)	10 (29.4%)	0.452
Vacioauratoral raflux	True	11 (64.7%)	10 (58.8%)	21 (61.8%)	0.724
vesicoureterarrenux	False	6 (35.3%)	7 (41.2%)	13 (38.2%)	0.724
Postorior unothral valvo	True	12 (70.6%)	12 (70.6%)	24 (70.6%)	1.000
	False	5 (29.4%)	5 (29.4%)	10 (29.4%)	1.000
Total	True	34 (66.7%)	35 (68.6%)	69 (67.6%)	0.833
Iotai	False	17 (33.3%)	16 (31.4%)	33 (32.4%)	0.032

A univariate logistic regression analysis was conducted to evaluate the factors associated with correct responses provided by the AI models. The analysis considered the topics (neurogenic bladder, VUR, and PUV) and the AI model used (ChatGPT 4.o vs. Gemini AI). For the topic, using neurogenic bladder as the reference category, the OR for VUR was 0.673 (p=0.443), indicating no statistically significant difference in the likelihood of correct responses between neurogenic bladder and VUR. Similarly, the OR for PUV was 1.000 (p=1.000), showing no difference in the probability of correct responses between neurogenic bladder and PUV. When comparing the AI models, using ChatGPT 4.o as the reference, the OR for Gemini AI was 1.09 (p=0.832) (Table 2).

Table 2. Univariate logistic regression ar	alysis of Al mod	el performance
	Univariate	e analysis
	OR	p-value
Topic (ref: neurogenic bladder)		
VUR	0.673	0.443
PUV	1.000	1.000
AI-model (ref: ChatGPT 4.o)	1.09	0.832

The Cohen's kappa value for inter-rater reliability between ChatGPT 4.0 and Gemini AI is 0.87, indicating a strong level of agreement (κ =0.87). The Sankey diagram demonstrates how each AI model's predictions distribute across topics and their respective accuracies (Figure 3).



Figure 3. Sankey diagram

DISCUSSION

In our study, ChatGPT 4.o and Gemini AI showed comparable accuracy across neurogenic bladder, VUR, and PUV, with total true response rates of 66.7% and 68.6%, respectively, and no significant performance differences (p>0.05). Logistic regression confirmed no significant variability between topics or models. Strong inter-rater agreement (κ =0.87) highlights their potential as reliable tools.

The widespread adoption of artificial intelligence has significantly increased its use in various fields, including medicine (1-5,10). Numerous studies have been conducted in disciplines such as orthopedics, dermatology, and neurology to evaluate the accuracy of AI models in answering exam questions (11-14). While these studies have shown promising results, many also highlight the frequent occurrence of incorrect answers alongside correct ones. Furthermore, it has been emphasized that models like ChatGPT can occasionally produce misleading or incorrect responses, referred to as "hallucinations," underscoring the importance of being aware of such inaccuracies (15,16).

In this study, a total of 51 questions related to three key bladder conditions—neurogenic bladder, VUR, and PUV were posed to both ChatGPT 4.o and Gemini AI, and their responses were compared. To minimize potential confounding factors, all questions were designed as multiple-choice. These questions were randomly selected from the European Board Examination study materials in pediatric surgery and pediatric urology. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to compare ChatGPT 4.o and Gemini AI models specifically for bladder-related conditions.

In a study on orthopedic and trauma surgery, the American and British equivalents of the French DES exam, the OITE (ABOS) and FRCS-Trauma and Orthopaedics, were tested. ChatGPT-4 generally performed well, approaching but not surpassing the residents' average scores (10). In another study, in the field of General Orthopedics, Ulus et al. reported GPT-4 achieving a higher success rate (75%) compared to GPT-3.5 (45%) (p=0.053) (17). In the Traumatology domain, GPT-4 showed a notable success rate of 80%, significantly outperforming GPT-3.5 (p=0.010). Greif et al. found ChatGPT correctly identified the top diagnosis for 12 of 32 cases (37.5%), compared to 5 of 10 cases (50%) in their study (18). ChatGPT-3.5 included the correct diagnosis in 81% of cases, while ChatGPT-4 achieved 80%. These findings indicate ChatGPT-4 consistently outperforms its predecessor, GPT-3.5, as also demonstrated in the study by Azizoğlu et al (19). Furthermore, Demir et al. found ChatGPT 4.0 provided more detailed and accurate answers to patient questions about keratoconus than Google Gemini and Microsoft Copilot, with 92% of responses rated as "agree" or "strongly agree" (1). Ronbinson et al highlight the potential of AI chatbots in addressing common urologic queries, particularly for benign prostatic hyperplasia (BPH) (20). Chatbotgenerated responses demonstrated comparable accuracy, greater completeness, and higher perceived empathy compared to urologists' responses. However, patient trust and perception of AI remain challenges. They concluded that future studies should explore AI integration in broader urologic domains, address ethical concerns, and focus on improving patient confidence in Al-driven healthcare communications. In a meta-analysis of 193 studies, Zong et al. concluded that MedExamLLM is an open-source, freely accessible platform offering comprehensive performance evaluations and evidence on LLM capabilities in medical exams globally (21). It serves as a vital resource for educators, researchers, and developers in clinical medicine and AI. Despite its value, limitations include potential data source biases and exclusion of non-English studies, warranting future research to enhance LLM performance across diverse contexts. In our current study, we evaluated responses to bladder-related questions using ChatGPT 4.0 and Gemini AI, assessing the accuracy and agreement of both AI tools. Our study found that ChatGPT 4.0 and Gemini AI demonstrated comparable accuracy across conditions, with no significant performance differences, highlighting strong reliability.

Despite its strengths, this study has several limitations. First, the sample size of 51 questions may not comprehensively represent the complexity of bladder-related conditions. Additionally, the study relied on pre-determined answer keys, which may not account for nuanced clinical variations. Furthermore, the AI models were assessed using text-based questions, excluding imaging or laboratory data integration, which are critical in real-world diagnostics. The absence of clinical context in the questions may limit the applicability of findings to actual medical scenarios. Lastly, the models' outputs were evaluated in isolation, without considering collaborative human-AI interactions, potentially overlooking their full diagnostic potential.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, this study highlights the comparable accuracy of ChatGPT 4.0 and Gemini AI across key bladder-related conditions, with no significant differences in performance. These findings suggest the potential utility

of AI tools in bladder-related conditions, emphasizing their reliability. However, further research is required to address limitations such as sample diversity and real-world applicability, ensuring these technologies can effectively complement clinical decision-making.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: Since the study does not involve human or animal subjects, obtaining ethical committee approval is not required.

REFERENCES

- Demir S. Evaluation of responses to questions about keratoconus using ChatGPT-4.0, Google Gemini and Microsoft Copilot: a comparative study of large language models on Keratoconus. Eye Contact Lens. 2024 Dec 4. doi: 10.1097/ICL.000000000001158. [Epub ahead of print].
- Sun SH, Chen K, Anavim S, et al. Large language models with vision on diagnostic radiology board exam style questions. Acad Radiol. 2024 Dec 3. doi: 10.1016/j.acra.2024.11.028. [Epub ahead of print].
- 3. Galvis-García E, Vega-González FJ, Emura F, et al. Inteligencia artificial en la colonoscopia de tamizaje y la disminución del error. Cir Cir. 2023;91:411-21.
- De Busser B, Roth L, De Loof H. The role of large language models in self-care: a study and benchmark on medicines and supplement guidance accuracy. Int J Clin Pharm. 2024 Dec 7. doi: 10.1007/s11096-024-01839-2. [Epub ahead of print].
- Ardila CM, Yadalam PK. ChatGPT's influence on dental education: methodological challenges and ethical considerations. Int Dent J. 2024 Dec 6. doi: 10.1016/j. identj.2024.11.014. [Epub ahead of print].
- Meo AS, Shaikh N, Meo SA. Assessing the accuracy and efficiency of Chat GPT-4 Omni (GPT-4o) in biomedical statistics: Comparative study with traditional tools. Saudi Med J. 2024;45:1383-90.
- 7. Chen Y, Huang X, Yang F, et al. Performance of ChatGPT and Bard on the medical licensing examinations varies across different cultures: a comparison study. BMC Med Educ. 2024;24:1372.
- 8. Bilgin IA, Percem AK, Aslan O. Artificial intelligence and robotic surgery in colorectal cancer surgery. J Clin Trials Exp Investig. 2024;3:83-4.
- 9. Yılmaz M. Revolutionizing laboratory medicine: the critical role of artificial intelligence and deep learning: Artificial intelligence and medical laboratory. The Injector. 2024;3:39-40.
- 10. Maraqa N, Samargandi R, Poichotte A, et al. Comparing performances of french orthopaedic surgery residents with the artificial intelligence ChatGPT-4/40 in the French diploma exams of orthopaedic and trauma surgery. Orthop Traumatol Surg Res. 2024 Dec 4. doi: 10.1016/j.otsr.2024.104080. [Epub ahead of print].

- 11. Giorgino R, Alessandri-Bonetti M, Luca A, et al. ChatGPT in orthopedics: a narrative review exploring the potential of artificial intelligence in orthopedic practice. Front Surg. 2023;10:1284015.
- 12. D'Agostino M, Feo F, Martora F, et al. ChatGPT and dermatology. Ital J Dermatol Venerol. 2024;159:566-71.
- 13. Chen TC, Multala E, Kearns P, et al. Assessment of ChatGPT's performance on neurology written board examination questions. BMJ Neurol Open. 2023;5:e000530.
- Karakas C, Brock D, Lakhotia A. Leveraging ChatGPT in the pediatric neurology clinic: practical considerations for use to improve efficiency and outcomes. Pediatr Neurol. 2023;148:157-63.
- OpenAI, Achiam J, Adler S, et al. GPT-4 technical report. arXiv. 2023 Mar 15. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2303.08774. [Preprint posted online].
- Jin HK, Kim E. Performance of GPT-3.5 and GPT-4 on the Korean pharmacist licensing examination: comparison study. JMIR Med Educ. 2024;10:e57451.

- 17. Ulus SA. How does ChatGPT perform on the European board of orthopedics and traumatology examination? A comparative study. Academic Journal of Health Sciences. 2023;38:43-6.
- Greif C, Mpunga N, Koopman IV, et al. Evaluating the effectiveness of ChatGPT4 in the diagnosis and workup of dermatologic conditions. Dermatol Online J. 2024;30. doi: 10.5070/D330464104.
- Azizoglu M, Aydogdu B. How does ChatGPT perform on the European Board of Pediatric Surgery examination? A randomized comparative study. Academic Journal of Health Sciences. 2024;39:23-6.
- 20. Robinson EJ, Qiu C, Sands S, et al. Physician vs. Al-generated messages in urology: evaluation of accuracy, completeness, and preference by patients and physicians. World J Urol. 2024;43:48.
- 21. Zong H, Wu R, Cha J, et al. Large Language Models in worldwide medical exams: platform development and comprehensive analysis. J Med Internet Res. 2024;26:e66114.

MEDICAL RECORDS-International Medical Journal

Research Article



Morphological and Morphometric Examination of the Proximal and Distal Ends of the Radius

^{(D}Elif Nedret Keskinoz¹, ^{(D}Anil Didem Aydin Kabakci², ^{(D}Duygu Akin Saygin², ^{(D}Mehmet Tugrul Yilmaz²)

¹Acıbadem Mehmet Ali Aydınlar University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Anatomy, İstanbul, Türkiye ²Necmettin Erbakan University, Meram Faculty of Medicine, Department of Anatomy, Konya, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.



Abstract

Aim: The radius, located on the lateral forearm, plays a key role in pronation and supination. Its proximal and distal ends contribute to the stability and motion of the elbow and wrist joints, making them susceptible to trauma, with fractures common, especially in the geriatric population. Understanding the morphological and morphometric features of these ends is crucial for surgical interventions, such as screwing techniques for complex fractures. This study aims to examine the morphological and morphometric characteristics of the proximal and distal ends of the human radius and provide clinically relevant data.

Material and Method: 70 radii (34 right and 36 left) from the collections of Necmettin Erbakan University and Acıbadem Mehmet Ali Aydınlar University were analyzed. Measurements were taken using digital calipers, an osteometric board, a tape measure, and the Image J program. Morphological classifications of the articular fovea and radial tuberosity were recorded. Morphometric analysis of the proximal and distal extremities was conducted, and data, analyzed using SPSS 21, were found to be normally distributed. Right-left comparisons were made using paired Student's t-tests, type differences with one-way ANOVA, and relationships with correlation tests. **Results:** Among all radii, 97.1% of articular foveae were elliptical, while 54.3% of radial tuberosities were single roughened (Type b). No significant differences were found in the morphology of the articular fovea or radial tuberosity between the right and left sides (p<0.05). The medial thickness of the radial head (RH-mt) and the anterior lenght of the ulnar notch (UN-al) were significantly larger on the right side (p<0.05). Larger circumferences, diameters, and inclination angles were observed in double roughened (Type c) radial tuberosities (p<0.05). This was observed for the medial and lateral sides, as well as for the neck and head regions.

Conclusion: The data obtained from our study might be useful as a reference in post-traumatic reconstruction, prosthesis design and orthopaedic surgical procedures in adults.

Keywords: Radius, radial tuberosity, the articular fovea of the radius, inclination angle

INTRODUCTION

The radius is a long bone situated laterally to the forearm and plays a critical role in the rotation around the ulna during pronation and supination movements of the forearm. The proximal and distal ends of the radius join the elbow and wrist joints, thereby providing movement and stability to these joints (1,2). A disruption to any of the components of these joints can result in a considerable reduction in the range of supination-pronation movement, thus resulting in a notable impairment of limb functionality (3). The proximal and distal ends of the radius are particularly susceptible to trauma and fractures, with injuries occurring in these regions often resulting in significant functional losses and requiring surgical intervention (4). Approximately 20% of all fractures are distal radius fractures, which are particularly common in active children and elderly individuals with osteoporosis (4,5). These fractures typically impact the kinematics of the wrist, potentially leading to limitations in wrist movement and chronic pain (6). Approximately 70% of forearm fractures are proximal radius fractures, which typically result from a fall or direct trauma (7). These fractures can result in instability and limitation of movement in the elbow joint (8). Therefore, a comprehensive examination of the anatomical and morphometric characteristics of the radius bone is crucial for the management of such fractures and surgical procedures.

CITATION

Keskinoz EN, Aydin Kabakci AD, Akin Saygin D, Yilmaz MT. Morphological and Morphometric Examination of the Proximal and Distal Ends of the Radius. Med Records. 2025;7(1):206-15. DOI:1037990/medr.1592403

Received: 27.11.2024 Accepted: 19.12.2024 Published: 15.01.2025

Corresponding Author: Elif Nedret Keskinoz, Acıbadem Mehmet Ali Aydınlar University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Anatomy, İstanbul, Türkiye

E-mail: elif.keskinoz@acibadem.edu.tr

A detailed examination of the proximal and distal ends of the radius is essential for the successful reconstruction and prosthesis design procedures that must be performed following iatrogenic injuries and trauma. Determining accurate morphometric parameters of the proximal and distal ends of the radius as well as its morphological appearance was the aim of our investigation.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

The study was conducted on 70 radii (34 right and 36 left) from an unknown sex in the bone collection of Necmettin Erbakan University and Acıbadem Mehmet Ali Aydınlar University, Faculty of Medicine Anatomy Laboratories. The Acıbadem University Medical Research Ethics Committee has reviewed and approved the research project numbered ATADEK/2024-18/696, focusing on the morphological and morphometric analysis of the radius bone, ensuring its compliance with ethical, scientific, and legal standards. In the present study, two groups were subjected to comprehensive morphological morphometric and assessments. In the morphological evaluations of the articular fovea of the radius, the classification proposed by Captier et al. was revised and used (9). Accordingly, Type 1 was classified as round, Type 2 as elliptical, and Type 3 as irregular (Figure 1). The radial tuberosity was evaluated using the classification described by Mazzocca et al. (10) as Type a: smooth, Type b: single roughened, and Type c: double roughened (10) (Figure 2).



Figure 1. Morphological classification of the articular fovea of the radius (Type 1: Round, Type 2: Elliptical, Type 3: Irregular)



Figure 2. Morphometric classification of the radial tuberosity (Type a: Smooth, Type b: Single roughened, Type c: Double roughened)

All morphometric measurements were taken three times by an experienced anatomist using a digital caliper (INCA, DCLA-0605, 0.6-150 mm, USA), osteometric board, tape measure and Image J (NIH's National Institute of Mental Health, USA) software and the mean values were included in the study. All measurements were reported in millimetres (mm), while angle measurements were reported in degrees (°). Radii were photographed by placing them on an osteometric board with millimeter paper on them. The photographs of the radii were scanned into Image J software and were calibrated for the measurements. Morphometric measurements of the proximal and distal parts of the radius were then performed. The measurements were reevaluated by three experienced anatomists at separate times. In case of differences between the measurements, the researchers met to discuss the matter and come to a consensus.

Lateral length of the radius (LLR): The length of the radius in the lateral direction.

Medial length of the radius (MLR): The length of the radius in the medial direction (Figure 3).



Figure 3. Morphometric measurements of the radius (1: measurement calibration with Image J, 2: medial length of the radius (yellow arrow), lateral length of the radius (red arrow))

Measurements of Proximal Radius

- Circumference of the articular surface of the radial neck (RN-CA): The circumference length of the articular surface at the neck of the radius.
- Circumference of the articular surface of the radial head (RH-CA): The circumference length of the articular surface at the radial head.
- Antero-posterior diameter of the radial head (RH-ap): The diameter of the radial head measured in the frontto-back (antero-posterior) direction.
- *Medio-lateral diameter of the radial head (RH-ml):* The diameter of the radial head measured in the side-to-side (medio-lateral) direction.
- *Medial thickness of the radial head (RH-mt):* Thickness of the radial head measured in the medial direction.
- Lateral thickness of the radial head (RH-It): Thickness of the radial head measured in the lateral direction.
- Length of the radial tuberosity (RT-I): Measurement along the longest axis of the radial tuberosity.
- Width of the radial tuberosity (RT-w): Measurement along the widest axis of the radial tuberosity.
- Distance between the radial head and the radial tuberosity (RH-RT-d): The linear distance between the radial head and the radial tuberosity (Figure 4).



Figure 4. Morphometric measurements of the proximal radius; A. anteroposterior diameter of the radial head, B. medio-lateral diameter of radial head, C. medial thickness of the radial head, D. lateral thickness of the radial head, E: circumference of the articular surface of the radial neck, F. length of radial tuberosity, G. width of radial tuberosity, H. medial thickness of the radial head, I: lateral thickness of radial head

Measurement of Distal Radius

- Anterior length of the ulnar notch (UN-al): Length of the anterior surface of the ulnar notch at the distal end of the radius, where it articulates with the ulna.
- **Posterior length of the ulnar notch (UN-pl):** Length of the posterior surface of the ulnar notch at the distal end of the radius, where it articulates with the ulna.
- Width of the ulnar notch (UN-w): Width of the ulnar notch at the distal end of the radius, where it articulates with the ulna.

- Length of the styloid process (SP-I): Length of the styloid process at the distal end of the radius.
- **Radial inclination angle (RIA):** Angle between the medial margin of the distal end of the radius and the axis of the styloid process (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Morphometric measurements of the distal extremities; a. anterior length of the ulnar notch, b. posterior length of the ulnar notch, c. width of the ulnar notch, d. radial inclination angle, e. length of the styloid process

Statistical Analysis

Version 21.0 of the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) was used to analyze the data. All measurement data from the study were subjected to Skewness and Kurtosis tests. The skewness and kurtosis values between -3 and +3 indicated that the data exhibited a normal distribution (11) (Table 1).

The data were analyzed using both qualitative and quantitative methods. Qualitative methods included mean value, standard deviation (SD), maximum (max.) and minimum (min.) values, percentages (Chi-square), and quantitative methods included paired sample t-test to compare measurements between right and left bones, Pearson correlation, and One-Way ANOVA (with Post-Hoc Tukey test). Our results were evaluated according to a 95% confidence interval and a 0.05 margin of error, and differences at p<0.05 were considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

In the present study, comprehensive morphometric and morphological evaluations were conducted on a total of 70 radii (48.6% right; 51.4% left). The distribution of the morphological classifications of the articular fovea of the radius and radial tuberosity on the total, right, and left radius in the morphometric evaluations of our study are presented in Table 2.

The articular fovea of the radius was observed to be Type 2 in 97.1% of cases, Type 1 in 1.4% and Type 3 in 1.4% of all radii. The most common type was elliptical on the right and left sides, but the difference was not statistically significant between the left and right sides (χ^2 : 2.003; p: 0.367). Radial tuberosity was most commonly seen as a

single roughened type. Similarly, the difference was not statistically significant between the left and right sides (χ^2 : 0.610; p: 0.737) (Table 2).

The minimum, maximum, mean, and SD values of the morphometric parameters of the right and left radius bones and the right and left comparison statistical values are presented in Table 3. In the present study, the RH-mt and the UN-al of the right radius were found to be larger and statistically significant (p<0.05) compared to the corresponding measurements of the left radius (Table 3).

The mean and SD values of the measurement data obtained according to tuberosity typing, as well as the observed differences between the study groups, are presented in Table 4. For several parameters, statistically significant differences between the groups were found. These include the MLR, the LLR, the RN-CA, the RH-CA, the RH-ml, the RHap, the UN-w, the RIA measurements of the radius, along with the Type c tuberosity (p<0.05). Furthermore, the MLR and the LLR of the radius were significantly reduced in Type b tuberosity cases compared to Type c tuberosity cases (Table 4). Additionally, a comparison of the the RH-ml and the RH-ap and the RIA across the three types of tuberosities revealed that these values were larger in the tuberosities with Type c, and this difference was statistically significant (Table 4).

The results of the correlation analysis between the morphometric measurements of the radius are presented in Table 5. The analysis demonstrates that there are strong positive correlations across the measurements. The highest correlation was found between the RML and RMA parameters (r=0.901) (Table 5).

Table 1. Test of nor	mality with Skewness	and Kurtosis				
Parameters	Min.	Max.	Mean	SD	Skewness	Kurtosis
MLR	17.35	25.65	21.69	2.14	0.8	-0.181
LLR	16.6	26.6	22.410	2.0674	.085	281
RN-CA	5.3	9.2	7.283	.7721	.272	.148
RH-CA	4.3	7.4	5.754	.5564	.300	.810
RH-ml	13.52	29.59	21.0254	3.25583	.027	114
RH-ap	10.81	25.46	19.6828	2.84789	387	.469
RH-mt	3.02	14.84	8.3696	2.58945	.220	053
RH-lt	1.79	12.01	6.2452	2.22677	.629	.255
RT-I	10.88	28.85	20.7381	3.79875	041	103
RT-w	5.47	19.03	12.5723	2.64334	085	.335
RH-RT-d	5.65	17.39	11.3113	2.36340	.018	.167
UN-al	2.05	12.26	7.3368	1.64224	.139	1.399
UN-pl	4.80	14.70	9.4493	1.92289	.305	.311
UN-w	7.14	19.72	14.5562	2.79631	815	.703
SP-I	2.57	9.09	5.1200	2.52816	1.089	1.096
RIA	15.32	39.45	22.4000	4.00000	810	.700

Morphometric data of the radius for the right and left sides included medial length of the radius (MLR), lateral length of the radius (LLR), the circumference of the articular surface of the radial head (RH-CA), the anteroposterior diameter of the radial head (RH-ap), the medio-lateral diameter of the radial head (RH-mI), the medial thickness of the radial head (RH-mt), the lateral thickness of the radial head (RH-it), the length of the radial tuberosity (RT-I), the width of the radial tuberosity (RT-w), the distance between the radial head and the radial tuberosity (RH-RT-d), the anterior length of the ulnar notch (UN-al), the posterior length of the styloid process (SP-I), the radial inclination angle (RIA)

Table 2. Distribution of the ar	ticular fove	a of the radiu	is and the rad	al tuberosity	in total, right	and left radi	us		
		Total	(n=70)	Right	(n=34)	Left (n=36)		
		n	%	n	%	n	%	χ²	р
	Type 1	1	1.4	0	0.0	1	2.8		
Articular fovea of the radius	Type 2	68	97.1	33	97.1	35	97.2	2.003	0.367
	Туре З	1	1.4	1	2.9	0	0.0		
	Type a	6	8.6	2	5.9	4	11.1		
Radial tuberosity	Type b	38	54.3	19	55.9	19	52.8	0.61	0.737
	Туре с	26	37.1	13	38.2	13	36.1		

n: number of individuals, χ^2 : chi-square test, Type 1: round, Type 2: elliptical, Type 3: irregular, Type a: smooth, Type b: single roughened, Type c: double roughened, p: significance value

Table 3. Minimum,	maximum, mean	, standard deviation values	of morphometric d	ata of radius according	to right and left side	s
Demonstration		Right (I	n=34)	Left (r	1=36)	
Parameters		MinMax.	Mean±SD	MinMax.	Mean±SD	р
	MLR	17.35-25.65	21.69±2.14	18.8-26.79	21.4±1.85	0.543
	LLR	19-26.6	22.8±2.09	19.5-26.1	22.29±1.86	0.293
	RH-ml	14.29-29.59	21.27±3.53	13.5226.99	20.81±3.01	0.564
	RH-ap	13.88-25.09	20.01±3.01	10.81-25.46	19.38±2.7	0.366
	RN-CA	68.9	7.38±0.8	5.3-9.2	7.2±0.74	0.343
	RH-CA	4.3-7.4	5.82±0.63	4.4-6.9	5.7±0.48	0.389
Proximal radius	RT-I	10.88-28.85	20.87±3.77	13.52-28.54	20.62±3.87	0.787
	RT-w	7-19.03	12.7±3.12	5.47-16.93	12.46±2.15	0.713
	RH-RT-d	5.65-16.58	11.45±2.6	6.66-17.39	11.19±2.15	0.651
	RH-mt	3.02-14.84	9.27±2.96	3.33-10.8	7.54±1.89	0.006*
	RH-lt	1.79-12.01	6.12±2.82	3.56-9.5	6.36±1.52	0.664
	UN-al	4.45-12.26	8.12±1.62	2.05-8.96	6.62±1.32	0.000*
	UN-pl	5.75-14.7	9.89±1.97	4.8-12.57	9.04±1.81	0.069
Distal radius	UN-w	7.14-19.72	14.85±3.14	7.87-19.11	14.29±2.46	0.413
	SP-I	2.57-11.9	8.25±2.17	3-10.8	7.87±1.69	0.424
	RIA	15.57-39.45	22.01±4.6	15.3231.32	23.37±3.58	0.174

Morphometric data of the radius for the right and left sides included medial length of the radius (MLR), lateral length of the radius (LLR), the circumference of the articular surface of the radial head (RH-CA), the circumference of the articular surface of the radial head (RH-CA), the anteroposterior diameter of the radial head (RH-ap), the medio-lateral diameter of the radial head (RH-ml), the medial thickness of the radial head (RH-rt), the lateral thickness of the radial head (RH-rt), the length of the radial tuberosity (RT-I), the width of the radial tuberosity (RT-w), the distance between the radial head and the radial tuberosity (RH-RT-d), the anterior length of the ulnar notch (UN-al), the posterior length of the ulnar notch (UN-pl), the width of the ulnar notch (UN-w), the length of the styloid process (SP-I), the radial inclination angle (RIA), p<0.05 was considered statistically significant; Min.: minimum, Max.: maximum, SD: standard deviation

Table 4. Comparise	on of morphomet	ric data of the radius of the	e right and left sides			
		Type a (n=6)	Type b (n=38)	Type c (n=26)	р	GA
	MLR	20.9±1.20	20.80±1.04	22.30±1.80	0.010*	bc
	LLR	21.98±2.17	21.84±2.04	23.34±1.81	0.013*	bc
	RN-CA	6.68±0.43	7.21±0.77	7.52±0.75	0.037*	ас
	RH-CA	5.07±0.66	5.81±0.57	5.84±0.4	0.005*	ab.ac
	RH-ml	17.35±2.42	20.54±2.53	22.56±3.52	0.000*	ab,bc,ac
	RH-ap	17.49±3.01	19.71±2.72	21.15±2.87	0.0.17*	ab,bc,ac
Proximal radius	RH-mt	7.77±3.52	8.2±2.59	8.74±2.42	0.607	
	RH-lt	5.81±2.87	6.65±2.22	5.77±2.06	0.276	
	RT-I	18.77±6.64	20.53±3.42	21.48±3.46	0.791	
	RT-w	10.78±2.66	12.68±2.87	12.83±2.2	0.260	
	RH-RT-d	11.9±1.85	11.32±2.39	11.16±2.49	0.219	
	UN-al	6.43±0.56	7.42±1.7	7.43±1.7	0.370	
	UN-pl	9.25±1.71	9.17±1.78	9.89±2.14	0.332	
Distal radius	UN-w	12.04±3.59	15.05±2.07	14.44±3.26	0.046*	ab
	SP-I	3.57±1.41	5.83±0	6.32±3.92	0.681	
	RIA	20.01±4.00	21.09±1.02	22.50±1.20	0.030*	ab,bc,ac

Morphometric data of the radius for the right and left sides included medial length of the radius (MLr), lateral length of the radius (LLr), the circumference of the articular surface of the radial neck (RN-CA), the circumference of the articular surface of the radial head (RH-CA), the anteroposterior diameter of the radial head (RH-ap), the medio-lateral diameter of the radial head (RH-ml), the medial thickness of the radial head (RH-t), the lateral thickness of the radial head (RH-t), the length of the radial tuberosity (RT-l), the width of the radial tuberosity (RT-w), the distance between the radial head and the radial tuberosity (RH-RT-d), the anterior length of the ulnar notch (UN-al), the posterior length of the ulnar notch (UN-pl), the width of the ulnar notch (UN-w), the length of the styloid process (SP-l), the radial inclination angle (RIA), Types of the articular fovea of the radius Type a: smooth, Type b: single roughened, Type c: double roughened GA refers to intergroup comparisons. p: significance value

Table 5. P	earson co	prrelation	coefficient	s (r) and st	tatistical sig	Inificance le	evels (p) bet	ween variou	us morphor	metric meas	urements o	f radius bon	les				
	-	RIA	SP-I	W-NU	Id-NU	RN-CA	RH-CA	RH-mt	RH-ap	RH-ml	RH-It	RH-mt	RT-I	RT-w	UN-al	Id-NU	UN-W
	۔	098	.452**	085	.125	.446**	.273*	.516**	.592**	.469**	.320**	.169	.214	.484**	.359**	.364**	-
M-NO	d.	424	000	.488	.306	000.	.023	000	000	000.	.007	.164	.078	000.	.002	.002	
	-	152	.347**	.023	.216	.329**	.286*	.303*	.373**	.333**	.337**	136	.376**	.293*	.471**	-	
Id-NO	٩	213	.003	.855	.075	.006	.017	.012	.002	.005	.005	.265	.001	.015	000		
	r i	272*	.293*	173	.244*	.342**	.230	.225	.408**	.364**	.348**	.170	.259*	.313**	-		
IN-al	d.	024	.015	.158	.044	.004	.058	.063	.001	.002	.003	.164	.032	600.			
	-	225	.373**	070	.258*	.561**	.561**	.507**	.613**	.506**	.491**	.133	.580**	-			
КI-W	ď	063	.002	.571	.032	000.	000.	000	000.	000.	000.	.276	000				
	r .3	15**	.362**	.190	.388**	.567**	.520**	.464**	.492**	.342**	.298*	.003	-				
	d.	008	.002	.121	.001	000.	000.	000	000.	.004	.013	.977					
	r .5	**89	079.	161	.535**	.208	078	.165	.329**	.338**	.190	-					
IM-HX	d.	000	.521	.191	000	.086	.523	.176	900.	.004	.118						
	-	123	.297*	039	.128	.272*	.299*	.102	.441**	.569**	1						
л-нх	đ	314	.013	.754	.296	.024	.013	.403	000	000.							
	r Si	263*	.365**	066	.298*	.450**	.292*	.357**	.586**	1							
RH-ml	d.	029	.002	.596	.013	000.	.015	.003	000								
:	r .5	22**	.429**	075	.519**	.789**	.468**	.783**	1								
кн-ар	р.	000	000	.542	000	000.	000.	000									
	r .4	49**	.360**	028	.460**	.781**	.449**	-									
тш-ни	d.	000	.002	.823	000	000.	000.										
	r i	272*	.177	019	.285*	.578**	-										
KH-CA	d.	024	.145	.875	.018	000.											
N-CA	r .5	**86	.337**	025	.597**	-											
	d.	000	.005	.839	000												
	r .9	101**	.163	138	-												
Id-NO	d.	000	.178	.258													
IIN III	с -	205	.389**	-													
M-NO	d.	092	.001														
		084	-														
	۰. ط	488															
	-	-															
	đ																
**correlat of the rad (RH-ml), tl	ion is sign ial neck (F he medial	RN-CA), the thickness	t p <0.01, *c ne circumfe s of the rad	rence of the lial head (R	s significant e articular s (H-mt), the ls	at p <0.05. urface of th ateral thickr	r: direction e radial hea ness of the r	d (RH-CA), t adial head (the antero-p (RH-lt), the	elation, p: sta posterior dial length of the	atistical sign meter of the s radial tube	ifficance of e radial heac erosity (RT-I)	correlations d (RH-ap), th , the width of d INL-AD, tho	s, the circum ne medio-late of the radial	ference of t eral diamete tuberosity	the articular er of the rad (RT-w), the o	surface ial head listance
of the styl	oid proces	ss (SP-I),	the radial in	uperosity () aclination a	ngle (RIA) un		ngui oi uie		(טוא-מו), נוופ	posterior le	ngui oi uie		(un-pi), trie			ш (UN-W), Ш	e lerigui

211
DISCUSSION

In this study, morphometric analysis of the proximal and distal ends of 70 radius bones was performed and several important correlations between different anatomical parameters were revealed (Table 5). The data obtained should provide important clinical information that can be used in the management of injuries occurring in these regions. These findings may provide important data for the development of prosthetic design and surgical techniques, especially in the fields of orthopedic and reconstructive surgery.

The results of our study are consistent with similar studies in literature. For example, Samokhina et al. stated that proximal and distal radius measurements are important for the design of implants to be used in these regions (12). Another study emphasized the need for morphometric data for plate and screw placement in the treatment of distal radius fractures (13). These findings highlight the importance of the morphometric characteristics of the radial bone in post-traumatic reconstruction and prosthesis design.

When comparing the circumference of the RN-CA measurements with literature, we observed both similarities and differences. In one study, the RN-CA was reported as 4.64 cm on the right side and 4.62 cm on the left side, which is close to our findings (14). Another study reported 50.04 mm on the right side and 50.32 mm on the left side (15). In our study, we measured 7.38 cm was found on the right side and 7.20 mm on the left side.

In our study, we measured 5.82 cm on the right and 5.70 cm on the left, whereas Rayna et al. reported values of 6.3 cm on the right and 6.1 cm on the left for the RH-CA (14). We believe that measurements of RN-CA and RH-CA can be used to determine the methods to be used in the treatment of radial head and neck fractures.

The RH-ap and the RH-ml measurements of radial head obtained in our study were found to be consistent with other studies in literature. Captier et al. reported the mean of RH-ap as 21.6 mm (9), Kadel & Thapa, reported it as 2.09 cm (16), Puchwein et al. as 22.44 mm (17), Singh & Singh, as 20.50 mm (18), King et al., as 23.4 (19), and Gupta et al. as 1.91 cm on the right side (20). The result was determined to be 20.01 mm for the right radius and 19.38 mm for the left radius in our study. These differences may be due to biological variation between studied populations and the measurement methods used. For RH-ml, similar consistency with literature was observed. Captier et al. reported 21.0 mm (9), Ajit Singh et al. reported 19.53 mm (21), Puchwein et al. reported 23.15 mm (17), King et al., reported 23.6 mm (19), Gupta et al. reported 1.85 cm, and 23 mm (20), and Mazzocca et al. reported 23.0 mm (22). In our study, RH-ml was measured as 21.27 mm for the right radius and 20.81 mm for the left radius. The RHap and RH-ml measurements are important anatomical parameters for overall radial head stability and prosthetic fit. The RH-ap and RH-ml measurement provides guidance

for proper sizing and placement of radial head prostheses (23). Consideration of this parameter in prosthetic surgery contributes to improved postoperative outcomes. They are also essential for fracture management (24) and overall assessment of elbow joint stability and function (25).

When comparing the measurements of the RH-mt with literature, varying results were found. Singh & Singh reported the RH-mt of 8.65 mm (18) whereas, Akshaya reported 0.92 mm on the right side and 0.82 mm on the left side (26). Ethiraj et al. found the RH-mt to be 0.86 cm on the right side and 0.95 cm on the left side (27). In our study, RH-mt was measured as 9.27 mm on the right side and 7.54 mm on the left side. For the RH-lt, Singh & Singh reported a measurement of 6.28 mm (18). Akshaya found it to be 0.84 mm on the right and 0.73 mm on the left (26), while Ethiraj et al. reported 0.73 cm on the right and 0.71 cm on the left (27). In our study, the RH-lt, was measured as 6.12 mm on the right side and 6.36 mm on the left side. These differences may be attributed to biological variations among populations and differences in measurement methods. The RH-mt and RH-lt are important considerations in surgical planning for procedures such as radial head arthroplasty, fracture reduction, fixation, and joint reconstruction. Precise measurements of these dimensions help to select appropriate implants and ensure optimal surgical outcomes (27,28).

The RT-I and the RT-w measurements in our study were found to be consistent with data reported in literature. RT-I, a prominent anatomical feature of the radius, has been the subject of several studies investigating its morphology, morphometry, and clinical implications. RT-I and RT-w are important parameters to be used in surgical procedures such as bicipital tendon reconstruction. In previous studies, Gupta et al. reported the RT-I as 2.02 cm on the right and 1.92 cm on the left (20), while Ethiraj et al. recorded it as 2.29 cm (27). Rayna et al. measured it at 3.36 cm on the right and 3.34 cm on the left (14), and Mazzocca et al. found it to be 22.3 mm (22). In our study, the RT-I was measured as 20.87 mm on the right side and 20.62 mm on the left side. These parameters are critical considerations for surgical planning and reconstruction involving the bicipital tendon. The RT-w was also measured in our study, and the findings were compared with literature. Mazzocca et al. reported the RT-w as 15.2 mm (22). Gupta et al. reported this length as 1.25 cm on the right and 1.21 cm on the left (20). In our study, the RT-w was measured as 12.7 mm on the right side and 12.46 mm on the left side. These measurements provide valuable insight into the structural features of the radial tuberosity and its relationship with reconstructive surgical procedures, elbow joint function and bone diseases. Additionally, we analyzed the types of radial tuberosity in our study. Mazzocca et al. classified these as smooth, single roughened and double roughened and reported the prevalence rates as 6%, 88% and 6%, respectively (22). When the single ridges were classified according to their size, reporting large, medium and small sizes in 12%, 47% and 41% cases, respectively. In the study conducted by Gupta et al. 36% of radial tuberosity was

classified as flat, 60% as single prominence, and 4% as double prominence (20). In our study, the classifications were as follows: Type a (5.9% on the right, 11% on the left), Type b (55.9% on the right, 52.8% on the left), Type c (38.2% on the right, 36.1% on the left). We also compared the shapes of the articular fovea, classifying them as Type 1, Type 2 and Type 3. Type 2 was observed in 97% of cases on both the right and left sides, while Type 1 on the right side and Type 3 on the left side were not observed. However, Captier et al. reported 57% of shapes as elliptical and 43% as flat (9). The high proportion of circular shapes in our study may indicate anatomical variations that differ from previous studies. This may require further investigation of population-specific characteristics or measurement methods.

Distance between the RH-RT-d is a critical anatomical measurement that plays an important role in orthopaedic practice. Studies have focused on the morphology and morphometry of the proximal end of the dry radius bones. Understanding this distance is essential for surgical planning, fracture management, and overall assessment of elbow joint function and stability, including radial head prosthesis implantation, biceps tendon reconstruction, and proximal radial trauma reconstruction (27).

In addition, research has also demonstrated that a larger radial tuberosity size is associated with an increased risk of distal biceps tendon rupture, highlighting the clinical importance of this anatomical feature (29). One study reported this measurement as 25 mm (22) whereas in our study, it was measured as 11.45 mm on the right side and 11.19 mm on the left side. In conclusion, the differences observed between studies may be due to methodological differences, population-specific anatomical variations, and the inherent complexity of human anatomy. Further studies that standardize measurement techniques and control for demographic factors are needed to clarify these discrepancies.

The ISP-I was also measured in our study with values of 8.25 mm on the right side and 7.87 mm on the left side. This result is in accordance with several studies that have investigated the dimensions of the styloid process and its clinical implications. For example, Rayna et al. reported a SP-I of 1.01 cm on the right and 1.0 cm on the left (14), while Prithishkumar et al. recorded lengths of 10.8 mm on the right and 11.0 mm on the left (30). Captier et al. found an SP-I measurement of 12.8 mm (9). Additionally, the clinical implications of styloid process length are significant noting that elongation can lead to complications such as Eagle syndrome (31). These studies highlight the importance of understanding variations in styloid process length, as they may have important implications for diagnosis and treatment in clinical practice.

In our study, anterior length of the UN-al was measured as 8.12 mm on the right side and 6.62 mm on the left side. This measurement is significant for understanding anatomy of the distal radius and its impact on joint stability and function. Literature on this topic is limited; however, one study reported UN-al measurements ranging from 4 to 7 mm (32).

Additionally, we measured the posterior length of the UN-pl and the UN-w in our study. These measurements ranged from 9.89 to 14.85 mm on the right side and 9.04 to 14.29 mm on the left side, respectively. The stability of the distal radioulnar joint is mainly provided by both the bony structure of the ulnar notch of the radial head and the surrounding soft tissues (33). In conclusion, the measurements of the UN-w in our study reveal the variations in the distal radius anatomy and its potential effects on joint stability. Given that soft tissues and bone structures provide joint stability, these results are somewhat compatible with previous studies. These measurements may contribute to a better understanding of joint function.

The length of the radius is crucial in the context of distal radius fractures and their treatment as it plays a key role in maintaining wrist stability and function. In our study, the LLR and the MLR were measured as 22.8 cm and 22.29 cm on the right side and 21.69 cm and 21.4 cm on the left side, respectively. Similarly, Rayna et al.reported these measurements as 23.7 cm on the right side and 22.5 cm on the left side (14). In other studies, the radius length was reported as 29.4 cm (9) and 23.39 cm in another study (34). It has been noted that loss of radial length, especially following distal radius fractures, is common in patientreported complaints, indicating that proper alignment and length preservation are critical for optimal healing (35). Furthermore, the need for accurate measurements during surgical procedures has been emphasized, as any reduction in radial length can lead to complications such as malunion, impaired wrist function, and significant limitations in forearm rotation, affecting both pronation and supination (36,37).

The RIA was also measured in our study. RIA indicates the angle of inclination at the distal end of the radius and is important for wrist kinematics and distal radius prosthesis design (38). In our study, the RIA was measured as 22.01° on the right side and 23.37° on the left side. This measurement is important for understanding the anatomy of the distal radius and its effect on wrist stability and function. A review of relevant studies in literature revealed similar measurements. Prithishkumar et al. reported an RIA of 22.1°±2.9° on the right and 21.8°±2.5° on the left side (30). A study of distal radius morphometry found radial tilt angle of 21.85°±2.76° (39), while Ajit Singh et al.reported it as 25.1°±3.42° (21). In addition, Bilgin reported a mean radial tilt of 26.7°, highlighting variations across populations (40). Collectively, these studies underscore the clinical importance of measuring radial inclination as it plays a critical role in assessing wrist mechanics, guiding surgical intervention, and predicting functional outcomes after distal radius fractures. Accurate measurements of radial tilt are essential to optimize treatment strategies and improve patient care. Furthermore, the combined data on radial length and radial tilt angle contribute valuable insights for ensuring normal anatomical alignment and optimizing surgical procedures.

Our study has several limitations that should be acknowledged. First, the sample size of radius bones was limited, which may affect the generalizability of the results. Additionally, all the bones used in the study were only obtained from Türkiye, potentially limiting the applicability of the findings to other populations. Another significant limitation is that the gender of the bones is unknown. This factor could have considerable effects on the findings of the study. To address this, future studies should aim to include larger and more diverse sample sizes from different populations and ensure that the gender of the bones is identified.

CONCLUSION

The results of this study provide detailed morphometric analyses of the proximal and distal ends of the dry human radius, providing important information that can be used in clinical applications. The data demonstrates that various anatomical features of the radial bone play a critical role in post-traumatic reconstruction, prosthetic design, and orthopedic surgical planning. Comparisons with other studies in literature revealed differences in the morphometric measurements of the radius in the Turkish population, highlighting the impact of ethnic and biological diversity on bone structure. It is believed that these findings suggest that this dataset may serve as a valuable resource for understanding the effects of different ethnic and biological diversity on bone structures and may provide important contributions to future research and clinical applications.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: The Acıbadem University Medical Research Ethics Committee has reviewed and approved the research project numbered ATADEK/2024-18/696, focusing on the morphological and morphometric analysis of the radius bone, ensuring its compliance with ethical, scientific, and legal standards.

REFERENCES

- Bair MM, Zafar Gondal A. Anatomy, shoulder and upper limb, forearm radius. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2024.
- 2. Törnvall AH, Ekenstam Fa, Hagert C-G, Irstam L. Radiologic examination and measurement of the wrist and distal radioulnar joint. Acta Radiol Diagn (Stockh). 1986;27:581-8.
- 3. Gogoi P, Dutta A, Daolagupu AK, et al. A rare case of fracture of radius associated with dislocation of both distal and proximal radio-ulnar joint. Case Reports in Clinical Medicine. 2014;3:367-72.
- 4. Uslu M, Arıcan M, Işık C, et al. The outcome of conservative treatment of adult distal radius fractures compared with the other wrist: radiological and functional evaluation. J Clin Exp Invest. 2014;5:403-9.

- 5. Cooper A, Wood TR, Scholten DJ, Carroll EA. Nonsurgical management of distal radius fractures in the elderly: approaches, risks and limitations. Orthop Res Rev. 2022;14:287-92.
- Jones CW, Lawson RD. One size does not fit all: distal radioulnar joint dysfunction after volar locking plate fixation. J Wrist Surg. 2014;3:42-5.
- 7. Duckworth AD, Clement ND, Jenkins PJ, et al. The epidemiology of radial head and neck fractures. J Hand Surg Am. 2012;37:112-9.
- 8. Biewener A, Bischoff F, Rischke T, et al. Instability of the proximal radioulnar joint in Monteggia fractures—an experimental study. J Orthop Surg Res. 2019;14:392.
- Captier G, Canovas F, Mercier N, et al. Biometry of the radial head: biomechanical implications in pronation and supination. Surg Radiol Anat. 2002;24:295-301.
- 10. Mazzocca AD, Burton KJ, Romeo AA, et al. Biomechanical evaluation of 4 techniques of distal biceps brachii tendon repair. Am J Sports Med. 2007;35:252-8.
- 11. Hopkins KD, Weeks DL. Tests for normality and measures of skewness and kurtosis: their place in research reporting. Educational and Psychological Measurement. 1990;50:717-29.
- Samokhina AO, Shemyakov SE, Semchuk IP, et al. Automated determination of morphometric parameters of the human radius based on the results of its computed tomography. Bulletin of Experimental Biology and Medicine. 2024;176:820-3.
- 13. Eerten P, Lindeboom R, Oosterkamp AE, Goslings J. An X-ray template assessment for distal radial fractures. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg. 2008;128:217-21.
- Rayna A, Maria Francis Y, Baskaran S, et al. Morphometric study of proximal and distal end of radius and its clinical significance. Journal of Clinical and Diagnostic Research. 2018;12:AC09-12.
- 15. Avnioğlu S, Yılmaz S, Ünalmış Aykar D. Morphometic examination of radius. Journal of US-China Medical Science. 2020;17:172-6.
- Kadel M, Thapa TP. Study of the head of human dry radii in a medical college of nepal: a descriptive cross-sectional study. JNMA J Nepal Med Assoc. 2020;58:141-3.
- 17. Puchwein P, Heidari N, Dorr K, et al. Computer-aided analysis of radial head morphometry. Orthopedics. 2013;36:e51-7.
- Singh A, Singh A. A Morphometric study of head of radius and its clinical implication in radial head prosthesis. 2019;8:A020-3.
- 19. King GJ, Zarzour ZD, Patterson SD, Johnson JA. An anthropometric study of the radial head: implications in the design of a prosthesis. J Arthroplasty. 2001;16:112-6.
- 20. Gupta C, Kalthur SG, Malsawmzuali JC, D'Souza AS. A morphological and morphometric study of proximal and distal ends of dry radii with its clinical implications. Biomed J. 2015;38:323-8.
- 21. Ajit Singh V, Chan CYW, Wh L, Kanthan RS. Distal radius morphometry in the malaysian population. Malaysian Orthopaedic Journal. 2008;22:27-30.

- 22. Mazzocca AD, Cohen M, Berkson E, et al. The anatomy of the bicipital tuberosity and distal biceps tendon. J Shoulder Elbow Surg. 2007;16:122-7.
- 23. Sun W, Jiang X, Zha Y, et al. Relationship between measurements of ipsilateral capitellum and prosthetic radial head size. J Orthop Surg Res. 2022;17:496.
- 24. Miró JI, Bensi AG, Rodríguez GLG, Clembosky G. Minimally invasive fixation with dorsal suspension button and volar plate in distal radius fractures with dorsal die punch fragments: a preliminary study. J Wrist Surg. 2022;12:161-9.
- Luenam S, Vongvanichvathana A, Kosiyatrakul A, et al. Matching precision of the reverse contralateral radial head in generating of the individualized prosthesis from the surface registration in tuberosity-neck and in tuberosity-diaphysis. J Orthop Surg (Hong Kong). 2019;27:2309499018821774.
- Akshaya AA. Morphometric analysis of radial head and its clinical implications. Biosc Biotech Res Comm. 2020;13:283-7.
- 27. Ethiraj S, C JK, Shetty S. A study of morphology and morphometry of proximal end of dry radius bones with its clinical implications. International Journal of Anatomy and Research. 2019;7:6712-6.
- 28. Berkmortel C, Gladwell M, Ng J, et al. Effect of radial neck length on joint loading. Journal of Shoulder and Elbow Arthroplasty. 2019;3:1-7.
- 29. Hilgersom NFJ, Nagel M, Janssen SJ, et al. Greater radial tuberosity size is associated with distal biceps tendon rupture: a quantitative 3-D CT case-control study. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc. 2021;29:4075-81.
- Prithishkumar I, Francis D, Nithyanand M, et al. Morphometry of the distal radius – an osteometric study in the Indian population. Indian Journal of Basic & Applied Medical Research. 2012;1:166-71.

- 31. Garapati S, Santhi C, Pentyala S. The syloid process: morphometry and its clinical implications in Costal region of Andrapradesh, India. Int J Anat Res. 2017;5:3796-9.
- 32. af Ekenstam F. Anatomy of the distal radioulnar joint. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 1992;14-8.
- Kitamura T, Moritomo H, Arimitsu S, et al. The biomechanical effect of the distal interosseous membrane on distal radioulnar joint stability: a preliminary anatomic study. J Hand Surg Am. 2011;36:1626-30.
- 34. Nalbant A. Radiological evaluation of forearm bones in Anatolian population. EJMI. 2023;7:384-93.
- 35. Kamal AH, Zakaria OM, Majzoub RA, et al. Distal radius extraarticular fractures: the impact of anatomical alignment on patient's perceived outcome (a single center experience). Cureus. 2023;15:e36541.
- Bronstein A, Heaton D, Tencer AF, Trumble TE. Distal radius malunion and forearm rotation: a cadaveric study. J Wrist Surg. 2014;3:7-11.
- 37. Finsen V, Rod O, Rød K, et al. The relationship between displacement and clinical outcome after distal radius (colles') fracture. J Hand Surg Eur Vol. 2012;38:116-26.
- Nakamura T, Iwamoto T, Matsumura N, et al. Radiographic and arthroscopic assessment of DRUJ instability due to foveal avulsion of the radioulnar ligament in distal radius fractures. J Wrist Surg. 2014;03:12-7.
- Agarwala V, Vetri D. Morphometric study of distal end of the radius in the southern Assam population. IJOS. 2019;5:187-90.
- Bilgin Y, Ekinci M, Ozmen Z, Birisik F. Radiological measurement parameters of distal radius and wrist measured on X-rays in the Turkish population. North Clin Istanb. 2023;10:484-9.

MEDICAL RECORDS-International Medical Journal

Research Article



Bacterial and Fungal Infections Among COVID-19 Patients in Intensive Care Unit

Deniz Gezer¹, Ahmet Sencer Yurtsever², Seda Tezcan Ulger³

¹Mersin City Research and Education Hospital, Department of Internal Medicine, Mersin, Türkiye ²Mersin University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Medical Pharmacology, Mersin, Türkiye ³Mersin University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Medical Microbiology, Mersin, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.

Abstract

Aim: Secondary infections caused by bacteria or fungi are dangerous because they increase death rates, particularly in patients with COVID-19 who are receiving intensive care. In this study, hospital-associated secondary infections resulting from bacteria and fungi amid COVID-19 patients treated in intensive care units, as well as their distribution according to microbial agents, were investigated. Material and Method: The study comprised 134 COVID-19 patients who were being treated in the Mersin City Hospital of the Ministry of Health intensive care unit between January 1, 2021, and April 30, 2021. The patients' demographics and clinical records, as well as bacterial and fungal infections in the blood, urine and deep tracheal aspirate samples, were analyzed retrospectively.

Results: The rate of secondary infection was found to be quite high in patients hospitalized in intensive care units for over 72 hours (91.4%). The majority of secondary infections were detected in blood samples (n=103, 15%). Secondary infection was detected in 61 (8.9%) deep tracheal aspirate specimens and 59 (8.5%) urine samples. The most common secondary infectious agents were *Candida spp.* (22.3%), *Acinetobacter baumannii* (16.8%). In addition, it was determined that \geq 60 years and \geq 3 days of mechanical ventilation independently increased the probability of developing secondary infection.

Conclusion: Our findings are emphasized that the concern of secondary infection due to *Candida spp., Acinetobacter baumanii and Stahylococcus epidermidis* agents. Evaluation of bacterial superinfections during the later waves of the pandemic may be critical, especially given the changes in the management of these patients, such as the routine use of corticosteroids and the raise of the different variants of the SARS-CoV-2.

Keywords: Corticosteroids, COVID-19, intensive care unit, secondary infection

INTRODUCTION

Following the reporting of the patients presenting with respiratory tract infections caused by a previously unidentified microbial agent in Wuhan, China; a new betacoronavirus, the Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2), is defined as a causative pathogen of the disease in December, 2019 (1,2). The World Health Organization (WHO) later gave the illness the term coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) (2). The virus that enters alveolar epithelial cells and multiplies quickly, in particular, can trigger a potent immune response. Intensive care unit (ICU) treatment is necessary for severe cases, and there are risks including cytokine storm-induced multiple organ failure or acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) (3). To counteract this abnormal immune system activation, immunosuppressive medications, like glucocorticoids, are extensively used (4).

In hospitalized COVID-19 patients, infections from bacteria and fungi are frequent as with other viral pneumonias (5,6).

In COVID-19 patients, bacterial and fungal secondary infections are of great concern as they cause increased mortality rates, especially in ICU. Rapid and accurate identification of local flora or pathogenic bacterial or fungal organisms during COVID-19 should make up a vital component in the effective management of patients (7,8).

This study aimed to identify the distribution and prevalence of the microbes causing hospital-associated secondary infections caused by bacteria and fungi in COVID-19 patients admitted to the ICU.

CITATION

Gezer D, Yurtsever AS, Tezcan Ulger S. Bacterial and Fungal Infections Among COVID-19 Patients in Intensive Care Unit. Med Records. 2025;7(1):216-22. DOI:1037990/medr.1527943

Received: 07.08.2024 Accepted: 28.11.2024 Published: 15.01.2025 Corresponding Author: Deniz Gezer, Mersin City Research and Education Hospital, Department of Internal Medicine, Mersin, Türkiye E-mail: drdenizgezer@gmail.com

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Ethical Permissions

The Scientific Research Platform of the General Directorate of Health Services of the Turkish Ministry of Health granted authorization for this research. This research was conducted with the permission of the Mersin University Clinical Research Ethics Committee (Decision No: 2021/480 and Date: 07/14/2021).

134 COVID-19 patients who were hospitalized in the intensive care unit of the Ministry of Health Mersin City Hospital between January 2021 and April 2021 were comprised in the study. Demographics, the clinic of the disease, and secondary infections resulting from bacteria or fungi of the patients followed in the ICU were determined retrospectively. All patients had been treated in the ICU for more than 72 hours and were older than 18 years. Patients who were monitored in the ICU were split up into two groups: those receiving glucocorticoids and those receiving no glucocorticoids. Data on age, gender, antibiotic therapy, time spent in the ICU, comorbidities, mechanical ventilation/intubation status, and treatment result (death/discharge) of these two groups were collected.

SARS-CoV-2 RT-PCR

Samples of the patients' nasal and oropharyngeal swabs were collected using the designated swab and inserted into the tubes containing the viral transport medium (VTM) or viral nucleic acid buffer (vNAT). COVID-19 laboratory diagnosis was performed by the real-time reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) assay of SARS-CoV-2 RNA from patient samples, using the Biospeedy SARS-CoV-2 RT-PCR kits (Bioeksen, Türkiye).

Microbiological Culture

Initially, each patient admitted to the ICU had one urine and two blood culture specimens were taken. When patients in the ICU had fever, an elevated leukocyte count, or other symptoms that would suggest a secondary infection, blood and urine samples of the cultures were got. In addition, deep tracheal aspirate (DTA) specimens were got from patients if they were intubated, and if central venous catheter (CVP) was inserted, blood samples from CVP were collected for culture.

The specimens were collected and delivered immediately to the microbiology laboratory. The samples were cultured on 5% sheep blood agar, "Eosin-Methylene Blue" agar, chocolate agar, and "Sabouraud Dextrose" agar and incubated at 37°C for 24-72 hours for the conventional culture of bacterial and fungal agents. The BacT/Alert system from BioMérieux (France) was used to culture blood samples. Colonies formed on the media after incubation were identified by Gram staining, standard biochemical tests, and Vitek 2 (BioMérieux, France) system. The replicating agents were subjected to normal disk diffusion antimicrobial susceptibility testing under EUCAST criteria.

Statistical Analysis

All data collected in Microsoft Excel for analysis. Comparison of data from ICU inpatients was analyzed using SPSS version 22 (IBM, Chicago, USA). The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to analyze the normality of the continuous variable distribution. The chi-square (χ^2) test was used to compare non-parametric data; Mann-Whitney U test was used for comparisons between non-normally distributed continuous variables and independent samples t-test was used for normally distributed continuous variables. Categorical variables were expressed as frequency or percentage, age and the time spent in the ICU is described as mean±standard deviation, p≤0.05 was considered significant.

RESULTS

Demographic Data

90 of the 134 COVID-19 patients included in our study were taking corticosteroids during their hospitalization besides the standard treatment specified in the T.C. Ministry of Health COVID-19 Outbreak Management and Study Guide (9). The patient group who did not take steroids comprised 44 people.

Of the patients, 63 were women and 71 were men, with a mean age of 68.3 ± 15 for women and 65.1 ± 12.7 for men. The mean age was 64.5 ± 14.1 years in the group that received steroids, while it was 70.9 ± 12.5 in the group that did not. The patients' average stay in the ICU was 19.9 days. When the distribution of hospitalization periods according to steroid treatment was evaluated, it was determined as 19.8 ± 11.9 days in those who received steroid treatment and 18 ± 12.4 days in those who did not. No difference exists between the patients that received steroid treatment and those who did not, in terms of length of stay. In the study, 106 patients died, 70 of whom received steroid therapy and 36 of those who did not.

Etiology in Secondary Infection

The rate of secondary infection was determined to be considerably high in patients hospitalized in the ICU for over 72 hours, regardless of corticosteroid use (n=115, %92). No significant difference between the patients received steroid treatment (82 individuals, 91.1%) and those who did not (40 people 90.9%) in terms of the presence of secondary infection. When the rate of multiple secondary infections during the hospitalization period in patients receiving steroid therapy was evaluated, it was found that patients with 2 or more secondary infections (46 people 56.1%) were significantly higher than those with a single secondary infection (36 people, 43.9%). The proportion of patients with a single secondary infection (n=20, 50%) and those with two or more secondary infections (n=20, 50%) who did not receive steroid treatment was the same. Bacterial and/or fungal growth was detected in 244 (31.6%) of 771 samples taken for microbiological

culture. *Candida species* were determined as the most common secondary infectious agent in COVID-19 patients hospitalized in ICUs included in the study (n=54, 22.1%). *Candida species* were followed in order of prevalence by

Acinetobacter baumanii (n=41, 16.8%), Staphylococcus epidermidis (n=41, 16.8%), Staphylococcus haemolyticus (n=23, 9.4%) and Klebsiella pneumoniae (n=20, 8.2%) respectively (Table 1).

Table 1. Distribution of secondary infectious agents							
Organisms	Blood	Deep tracheal aspirat	Urine	CVP catheter	Total		
Candida spp.	12	13	27	2	54		
Acinetobacter baumanii	12	21	4	4	41		
Stahylococcus epidermidis	35	0	0	6	41		
Stahylococcus haemolyticus	21	1	0	1	23		
Klebsiella pneumoniae	2	10	6	2	20		
Enterococcus spp	9	1	7	1	18		
Eschericia coli	0	4	13	0	17		
Stenotrophomonas maltophilia	8	3	0	3	14		
Pseudomonas aeruginosa	1	7	0	1	9		
Other GNBs	2	1	2	0	5		
Pseudomonas putida	2	0	0	0	2		
Total n/N (%)	104/771 (13.5)	61/771 (7.9)	59/771 (7.6)	20/771 (2.6)	244/771 (31.6)		

The majority of secondary infections were detected in blood samples (n=104, 13.5%). The most frequently isolated agent in blood samples was Staphylococcus epidermidis (n=35, 33.7%). Candida species were followed in order of prevalence by Staphylococcus haemolyticus (n=21, 20.2%), Candida spp. (n=12, 11.5%), Acinetobacter baumanii (n=12, 11.5) (Table 1). Secondary infection was most common in deep tracheal aspirat (DTA)samples after blood samples (n=61, 7.9%). The most commonly isolated agent in DTA samples was Acinetobacter baumanii (n=21, 34.4%), followed by Candida species (n=13, 21.5%). The most commonly isolated agent in DTA samples was Acinetobacter baumanii (n=21, 34.4%), followed respectively by Candida species (n=13, 21.5%), The most prevalent pathogens isolated in urine samples (n=59, 7.9%) were Candida species (n=27, 45.8%). The most prevalent cause of secondary infections detected in CVC samples (n=20, 2.6%) was Staphylococcus epidermidis (n=6, 30%), Acinetobacter baumanii (n=4, 20%).

Secondary infection was detected in 14.9% (n=73) of blood samples, 8.3% (n=41) of DTA samples, 7.3% (n=36) of urine samples and 3.1% (n=15) of CVC samples of the patients receiving steroid therapy.

In patients who did not receive steroid treatment, in 10% (n=28) of blood samples, 7.1% (n=20) of DTA samples, 8.2% (n=23) of urine specimens, and 1.8% of central venous catheter (CVC) samples (n=5) bacterial growth was detected. Bacterial or fungal secondary

infectious agents were most commonly isolated from blood samples in those receiving steroid therapy (n=73, 14.9%). DTA (n=41, 8.3%), urine (n=36, 7.3%) and CVC (n=15, 3.1%) followed respectively in terms of secondary infection frequency in the samples. When infectious agents were evaluated in patients receiving steroid therapy, the most commonly isolated microorganisms from blood samples were Staphylococcus epidermidis and Staphylococcus haemolyticus (n=16) (n=25) (Table 2). Acinetobacter baumanii (n=14) was the most frequently isolated sample from DTA samples of patients receiving steroid therapy. The most frequently isolated agent in urine samples of the patients who received the corticosteroids during their stay in the ICU was comprised of the Candida species (n=19).

The frequency of bacterial and/or fungal secondary infections in patients who did not receive steroid treatment was similar in blood (n=28, 10%), urine (n=23, 8.2%) and DTA (n=20, 7.1%) samples. The most common agents detected in blood samples were *Staphylococcus* epidermidis (n=7), Acinetobacter baumanii (n=5), Candida species (n=5) and Staphylococcus haemolyticus (n=5). The most common agents detected in blood samples were Staphylococcus epidermidis (n=7), Acinetobacter baumanii (n=5), Candida species (n=5), and Staphylococcus haemolyticus (n=5), and Staphylococcus haemolyticus (n=5), The most frequently isolated agents in the urine samples of the patients were *Eschericia coli* (n=9) and *Candida species* (n=8) (Table 2).

Table 2. Distribution of secondary infections in patients receiving and not receiving steroid therapy										
Organisms	Blood Stero Steroid-	oid+ Do S	eep trachea teroid+ Ste	l asp. roid-	Urine Stero Steroid-	id+ ទ	CVP cathe Steroid+ Ste	ter roid-	Total Stero Steroid-	oid+
Candida spp.	7	5	9	4	19	8	1	1	36	18
Acinetobacter baumanii	7	5	14	7	4	0	2	2	27	14
Stahylococcus epidermidis	27	7	0	0	0	0	4	2	32	9
Stahylococcus haemolyticus	16	5	1	0	0	0	1	0	18	5
Klebsiella pneumoniae	1	1	7	3	3	3	2	0	13	7
Enterococcus	7	2	1	0	4	3	1	0	13	5
Eschericia coli	0	0	2	2	4	9	0	0	6	11
Stenotrophomonas maltophilia	5	3	3	0	0	0	3	0	11	3
Pseudomonas aeruginosa	1	0	3	4	0	0	1	0	5	4
Other GNBs	0	0	1	0	2	0	0	0	3	0
Pseudomonas putida	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0
Total n/N (%)	73/491 (14 28/280 (1	l.9) 0)	41/491 (8. 20/280 (7.	3) 1)	34/491 (7. 23/280 (8.	3) 2)	15/491 (3 5/280 (1.	.1) 8)	165/491 (3 76/280 (27	3.6) 7.1)

In the study, it was also determined that mechanical ventilation for over three days and age older than 60 years independently increased the probability of developing a secondary infection. The mortality rate among COVID-19 patients with secondary infection was 79.1% (106/134), 77.8% (70/90) in those that received steroid therapy, and 81.8% (36/44) in those who did not.

Infection was detected in 207 of the samples taken from the cases that resulted in mortality. The most common secondary infections were detected in blood samples at 44.4% (n=92). Secondary infections in the deep tracheal aspirate specimens were in the second rank with 26.1% (n=54), and urine samples were in the third row with 21.3%. The frequency of secondary infection was 8.2% (n=17) in the samples taken from the CVC. Among the patients who lost their lives, *Candida spp* with 21.7% (n=45) were the most frequent cause of secondary infections. *Acinetobacter baumanii* (n=33) was in second place with 15.9%, and *Staphylococcus epidermidis* was in the third row with 14% (n=29). These factors were followed by *Klebsiella pneumoniae* and *Enterococcus spp*, each with 7.7% (n=16).

DISCUSSION

It is well known that COVID-19 patients who get secondary infections have worse health outcomes (6,10). During the first few days after SARS-CoV-2 infection, lung dysbiosis or respiratory tract destruction in patients may develop, which may be converted into a secondary bacterial or fungal infection after a few weeks (11). According to recent studies, in less than 4% of COVID-19 patients, communityacquired bacterial co-infection was stated at admission. While, it has been reported that the prevalence of secondary bacterial infections has been raised to 3.7-21.9% after hospitalization (10,12). However, it has been reported that

this rate varies between 7.2% and 58% in ICU patients (12-16). In our study, the rate of secondary infection in patients hospitalized in the ICU for over 72 hours was relatively high, 91.4%. This reasonably high rate is thought to be due to the time in which study samples were included covering the peak of the COVID-19 epidemic.

It has been emphasized that extensive, well-designed clinical trials are needed to determine the incidence, risk factors, and outcome of secondary pulmonary infections in hospitalized COVID-19 patients due to differences in the design of various studies (17).

In our study, it was aimed to reveal the frequency of detection of secondary bacterial and fungal agents and the distribution of the agents in COVID-19 patients who were followed up with steroid therapy in the ICU and were not treated with steroids. The microorganisms most frequently encountered as a secondary infection agent in COVID-19 patients hospitalized in ICUs were determined as Candida spp. (n=54, 22.1%), Acinetobacter baumanii (n=41, 16,8%), Staphylococcus epidermidis (n=41, 16.8%), Staphylococcus haemolyticus (n=23, 9.4%), Klebsiella pneumoniae (n=20, 8.2%), Enterococcus spp. (n=18, 7.4%), Eschericia coli (n=17, 7%), respectively. According to the reports of the Infection Control Committee of our hospital, the agents previously isolated from ICUs were reported as Staphylococcus epidermidis, Staphylococcus haemolyticus, Staphylococcus saphrophyticus, Candida spp., Klebsiella pneumoniae, Enterococcus faecalis, Proteus mirabilis, Acinetobacter baumanii. Most of the factors detected in COVID-19 patients followed up in their follow-up period were associated with these bacteria. Most of the factors detected in COVID-19 patients followed up in their followup period were associated with these bacteria. In the study, the highest frequency of C. albicans, an opportunistic

colonization pathogen, as a cause of secondary infection in critically ill COVID-19 patients, may be explained by the fact that the immune system of the patients were suppressed due to viral sepsis.

In the study of Obata et al., bacterial infection (25% vs. 13.1%, p=0.041) and fungal infection (0.7% vs. 0.7%, p<0.001) in the group receiving steroid treatment compared to the group not receiving steroids have been reported to have a higher incidence (18). In our study, no significant difference was found between the patients who received steroid treatment (82 people, 91.1%) and those who did not (40 people 90.9%) while they were hospitalized in the ICU.

It has been reported that positive culture rates of respiratory tract bacterial pathogens from hospitalized COVID-19 patients ranged from 23% to 86.6% (9,13,19,20). In our study, bacterial secondary infection rate in respiratory tract samples was found to be 7.9%, similar to previous studies.

Streptococcus pneumoniae and Staphylococcus aureus have been reported frequently as causative agents in community-acquired co-infections in patients diagnosed with COVID-19 (12). On the other hand, the most frequently identified bacterial agents in respiratory tract cultures were reported as *Psoudomonas aeruginosa*, *Klebsiella spp., Staphylococcus aureus, Eschericia coli*, and *Stenotrophomonas maltophilia. Aspergillus fumigatus* has been identified as the most common microorganism causing secondary fungal pulmonary infections (17).

In different studies, the most common agents found in respiratory tract samples of COVID-19 patients hospitalized in the ICU were Acinetobacter baumanii (21.8-90%) Stenotrophomonas maltophilia (9-15.6%), Pseudomonas spp. (4.8%-33%), Klebsiella pneumoniae (14.4-24.5%), and Staphylococcus aureus (10%-21%). These agents were followed by Burkholderia cepacia (18.8%), Haemophilus influenza (9%), Enterobacter spp. (7%), and Eschericia coli (7%) (6,8,10,14,19,20). It has been reported that Aspergillus fumigatus (9%) (14) and Candida albicans were also detected among fungal agents. (6.8%) (6). In a study conducted by Avan Mutlu and Bozok in our country, Acinetobacter baumanii (47.8%), Klebsiella pneumoniae (13.4%), Psoudomonas aeruginosa (12.0%), Staphylococcus aureus (4.5%) and Enterococcus spp. (2.1%) has been reported to be detected (21). In our study, the most common agents detected in the respiratory tract of critically ill COVID-19 patients hospitalized in ICUs were Acinetobacter baumanii (n=21, 34.4%), Candida species (n=13, 21.5%), Klebsiella pneumoniae (n=10, 16.3% and Psoudomonas aeruginosa (n=7, 11.5%). Since these microorganisms are hospital-acquired agents frequently defined in ICUs, it was difficult to distinguish colonization and infection, especially in respiratory tract samples.

In our study, unlike other researches, blood circulation and urinary tract infections were also evaluated besides respiratory tract infections. The rate of hospital-acquired bloodstream infection in COVID-19 patients followed in ICUs has been reported as 31-34% (14-16,22) in other

studies. In our study, the most elevated rate of secondary infections was determined in blood samples of 13.5%. It has been concluded that one of the significant reasons underlying the high incidence of infection in blood samples is the use of intravenous catheters in patients treated in the ICU. Similarly, the widespread use of urinary catheters in the ICU is an important factor that can explain the frequency of urinary tract infections. Patients may be exposed to infectious agents due to application errors or deficiencies in antisepsis practice throughout respiratory support with nasal cannula, endotracheal tube, and similar devices during hospitalization (16).

The most common etiologic bacterial pathogens in secondary infections developing in the bloodstream were reported as coagulase-negative Staphylococci (34%), Enterococcus spp. (22%), Psoudomonas aeruginosa (8%), Klebsiella spp. (7%) and Staphylococcus aureus (7%) (10). In another study, the most common agents were determined as Enterococcus spp. (64%), coagulasenegative staphylococci (11%), Psoudomonas aeruginosa (7%), and Staphylococcus aureus (3.5%) (14). In our study, the most frequently isolated agents in the blood were Staphylococcus epidermidis (33.7%), Staphylococcus haemolyticus (20.2%), Candida spp. (11.5%), Acinetobacter baumanii (11.5%), Enterococcus spp. (8.7%) and Stenotrophomonas maltophilia (7.7%). With this aspect, our study reveals new findings on microorganisms that cause secondary infections in COVID-19 patients treated in the ICU.

Graselli et al. reported that the rate of catheter-related bloodstream infection represents 10% while Bardi et al. found the rate 25% (14,15). In our study, secondary infectious agents were determined at a rate of 2.6% in CVC samples. In our study, secondary infectious agents were determined at a rate of 2.6% in CVC samples and the detected pathogens were Staphylococcus epidermidis (30%), Acinetobacter baumanii (20%), Stenotrophomonas maltophilia (15%), Candida spp. (10%) and Klebsiella pneumoniae (10%). Similarly, in a study, coagulase-negative staphylococci (54%) were detected most frequently in CVC samples. The former were followed by Enterococcus spp. (25%), Candida albicans (17%) and Staphylococcus aureus (4%) (14). Since patients with severe COVID-19 and bloodstream infections may have a severe disease course, prolonged hospitalization, and poor clinical outcomes (19), prospective studies in which patients will be evaluated together with risk factors are required for good antimicrobial management of patients (19).

In our study, the secondary infection rate in urine samples was determined as 7.9%. The most common pathogens isolated from urine samples were *Candida species* (n=27, 45.8%), followed by *Eschericia coli* (n=13, 22%), *Enterococcus spp.* (n=7, 11.7%) and *Klebsiella pneumoniae* (n=6, 10.2%), respectively. Our study is compatible with the literature in this aspect. In the study of the Bardi et al., urinary tract infection rate was similarly reported as 8%. The most frequent agents detected in the urine were determined

as in this study Enterococcus spp. (72%), Psoudomonas aeruginosa (14%) and Acinetobacter baumanii (14%) (14).

It should be taken into account that the length of stay in the intensive-care unit may be prolonged if the patients are co-infected (19). Studies have shown that the average length of stay in the ICU of critically ill COVID-19 patients who develop secondary infections is 8-40 days (8,22). In our study, the average length of stay of the patients in the ICU was 19.9 days, and it was determined that those who received steroid treatment (21 days) were higher than those who did not (17 days) (p<0.05). When compared with other studies, it was observed that the length of stay in the ICUs of the patients was not long.

Secondary infections in hospitalized patients for COVID-19 may cause increased mortality (12,19). In various studies, mortality rates of critical COVID-19 patients during their stay in the ICU have been reported between 30%-95% (8,15,16,23). In our study, the mortality rate was reported to be quite high, as 79.1% in total. However, the mortality rate we found is consistent with the literature.

In the study of Obata et al., it was reported that steroid use did not affect mortality (18). In support of the result obtained in this study, it was revealed in our research that steroid administration during treatment in the ICU did not have an effect on the mortality rate of COVID-19 patients. In our study, the mortality rate was 91.1% in patients who received steroid therapy, while it was 90.9% in patients who did not receive steroid therapy. In addition, the mortality rate in patients aged ≥60 years was significantly higher than in patients aged 18-59 years, regardless of steroid treatment (86.9% vs. 70.5%). It was also determined that mechanical ventilation for ≥3 days independently increased the probability of developing secondary infection (94.3% vs. 64.8%).

One of the shortcomings of our study is that we could not compare our results with the incidence of secondary infections among patients without COVID-19. Another limitation of our study is that we conducted a single-center retrospective study with a relatively small sample size. More prospective multicenter studies are needed to be designed in the future to confirm our findings.

In our study, the incidence of secondary infection was found to be quite high, 91.4%, in patients with COVID-19 and hospitalized in the ICU for over 72 hours. Our findings emphasize the risk of secondary infection due to *Candida spp.*, and *A. Baumanii*. However, we found that there was no difference in the distribution of secondary infection in steroid users compared to non-users. Evaluation of bacterial superinfections during the later waves of the pandemic may be critical, substantially given the changes in the management of these patients, such as the routine use of corticosteroids and the emergence of new SARS-CoV-2 variants. Management of these infections is essential to ensure compliance with hospital infection control measures. In conclusion, it is of vast importance to focus on fungal and bacterial secondary infections and

to have information about the distribution of these agents for the appropriate treatment of critical COVID-19 patients in ICUs.

CONCLUSION

In summary, it is of vast importance to focus on fungal and bacterial secondary infections and to have information about the distribution of these agents for the appropriate treatment of critical COVID-19 patients in ICUs.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: The Scientific Research Platform of the General Directorate of Health Services of the Turkish Ministry of Health granted authorization for this research. This research was conducted with the permission of the Mersin University Clinical Research Ethics Committee (Decision No: 2021/480 and Date: 07/14/2021).

REFERENCES

- 1. Zhu N, Zhang D, Wang W, et al.; China novel coronavirus investigating and research team. A novel coronavirus from patients with pneumonia in China, 2019. N Engl J Med. 2020;382:727-33.
- Loeffelholz MJ, Tang YW. Laboratory diagnosis of emerging human coronavirus infections - the state of the art. Emerg Microbes Infect. 2020;9:747-56.
- Hu B, Guo H, Zhou P, Shi ZL. Characteristics of SARS-CoV-2 and COVID-19. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2021;19:141-54. Erratum in: Nat Rev Microbiol. 2022;20:315.
- 4. Horby P, Lim WS, Emberson JR, et al.; RECOVERY Collaborative Group. Dexamethasone in hospitalized patients with COVID-19. N Engl J Med. 2021;384:693-704.
- MacIntyre CR, Chughtai AA, Barnes M, et al. The role of pneumonia and secondary bacterial infection in fatal and serious outcomes of pandemic influenza a(H1N1)pdm09. BMC Infect Dis. 2018;18:637.
- Sang L, Xi Y, Lin Z, et al. Secondary infection in severe and critical COVID-19 patients in China: a multicenter retrospective study. Ann Palliat Med. 2021;10:8557-70.
- Lai CC, Wang CY, Hsueh PR. Co-infections among patients with COVID-19: the need for combination therapy with nonanti-SARS-CoV-2 agents?. J Microbiol Immunol Infect. 2020;53:505-12.
- Sharifipour E, Shams S, Esmkhani M, et al. Evaluation of bacterial co-infections of the respiratory tract in COVID-19 patients admitted to ICU. BMC Infect Dis. 2020;20:646.
- T. C. Sağlık Bakanlığı COVID-19 Salgın Yönetimi ve Çalışma Rehberi. https://covid19.saglik.gov.tr/TR-66393/covid-19-salgin-yonetimi-ve-calisma-rehberi.html access date 08.05.2022.
- Westblade LF, Simon MS, Satlin MJ. Bacterial coinfections in Coronavirus Disease 2019. Trends Microbiol. 2021;29:930-41.

- 11. Battaglini D, Robba C, Fedele A, et al. The role of dysbiosis in critically III patients with COVID-19 and acute respiratory distress syndrome. Front Med (Lausanne). 2021;8:671714.
- 12. Posteraro B, De Angelis G, Menchinelli G, et al. Risk factors for mortality in adult COVID-19 patients who develop bloodstream infections mostly caused by antimicrobial-resistant organisms: analysis at a large teaching hospital in Italy. J Clin Med. 2021;10:1752.
- Ong CCH, Farhanah S, Linn KZ, et al. Nosocomial infections among COVID-19 patients: an analysis of intensive care unit surveillance data. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control. 2021;10:119.
- Bardi T, Pintado V, Gomez-Rojo M, et al. Nosocomial infections associated to COVID-19 in the intensive care unit: clinical characteristics and outcome. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. 2021;40:495-502.
- 15. Grasselli G, Scaravilli V, Mangioni D, et al. Hospital-acquired infections in critically ill patients with COVID-19. Chest. 2021;160:454-65.
- 16. Zhang H, Zhang Y, Wu J, et al. Risks and features of secondary infections in severe and critical ill COVID-19 patients. Emerg Microbes Infect. 2020;9:1958-64.
- 17. Chong WH, Saha BK, Ananthakrishnan Ramani, Chopra A. Stateof-the-art review of secondary pulmonary infections in patients with COVID-19 pneumonia. Infection. 2021;49:591-605.

- Obata R, Maeda T, Rizk D, Kuno T. Increased secondary infection in COVID-19 patients treated with steroids in New York City. Jpn J Infect Dis. 2021;74:307-15.
- Bhatt PJ, Shiau S, Brunetti L, et al. Risk factors and outcomes of hospitalized patients with severe Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) and secondary bloodstream infections: a multicenter case-control study. Clin Infect Dis. 2021;72:e995-1003.
- Zhou F, Yu T, Du R, et al. Clinical course and risk factors for mortality of adult inpatients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China: a retrospective cohort study. Lancet. 2020;395:1054-62. Erratum in: Lancet. 2020;395:1038.
- 21. Avan Mutlu T, Bozok T. Identification of bacterial agents isolated from lower respiratory samples of COVID-19 patients and investigation of their antibacterial resistance patterns. Turk Mikrobiyol Cemiy Derg. 2022;52:48-55.
- 22. Costa RLD, Lamas CDC, Simvoulidis LFN, et al. Secondary infections in a cohort of patients with COVID-19 admitted to an intensive care unit: impact of gram-negative bacterial resistance. Rev Inst Med Trop Sao Paulo. 2022;64:e6.
- 23. Yang S, Hua M, Liu X, et al. Bacterial and fungal co-infections among COVID-19 patients in intensive care unit. Microbes Infect. 2021;23:104806.





The Immediate Effect of Graston Technique on Ankle Range of Motion and Vertical Jump Performance in Athletes

Ismail Uysal¹, DZehra Yilmaz², DIrem Cetinkaya², Fatih Ozden³

¹Muğla Sıtkı Koçman University, Fethiye Vocational School of Health Services, Department of Health Care Services, Muğla, Türkiye ²Haliç University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Physiotherapy and Rehabilitation, İstanbul, Türkiye ³Muğla Sıtkı Koçman University, Köyceğiz Vocational School of Health Services, Department of Health Care Services, Muğla, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.

Abstract

Aim: A limited number of studies have demonstrated the effects of Graston and static stretching on different muscle groups and sports performance. The study aimed to investigate the immediate effect of the Graston technique on vertical jump performance and ankle range of motion in athletes.

Material and Method: A quasi-experimental study included 30 participants aged 18-40 among active, licensed basketball players between January 2023 and May 2023. The 30 participants were divided into a graston group (n=15) and a static stretching group (n=15). A vertical jump test was performed for performance after the ankle joint range of motion was measured with a goniometer. Behind the first assessment session, a Graston or static stretching was applied to the groups. Thereafter, the vertical jump performance and goniometer measurement was repeated.

Results: Graston and static stretching had similar results in vertical jump performance (p<0.05). Graston on the gastrocnemius, soleus muscles and Achilles tendon was superior to static stretching, particularly in left foot dorsiflexion (p<0.05).

Conclusion: Graston application can be preferred to increase vertical jumping and ankle range of motion performance in athletes with similar and superior effects to static stretching. Including Graston and static stretching in the rehabilitation protocols can provide an effective range of motion and jumping performance.

Keywords: Athletes, instrument-assisted mobilization, jump, stretching

INTRODUCTION

Limitations in ankle range of motion (ROM) are essential in lower extremity injuries. In particular, limited ROM can lead to ankle re-injury (1). Ankle dorsiflexion (DF) may predispose to abnormal biomechanics during dynamic activities, which has been linked to the risk of knee injuries (2). Clinicians perform various interventions to increase ankle DF, such as manual therapy, stretching, ultrasound, electrotherapy and exercises. However, the intervention most effectively improves ankle DF has not yet been identified (1,3).

Stretching techniques are one of the treatments used to increase muscle extensibility to improve ROM. It can help prevent injury in sports, reduce muscle pain, and improve muscle capacity and athletic performance (4). Stretching increases joint flexibility and minimizes muscle-tendon junction stiffness, specifically during pre-exercise warm-up (5,6), thus ensuring optimum performance (7).

Passive stretching is a safe way to perform dynamic and static balance exercises (8). It can be used to regain both the joint's range of motion and the ability to balance on complex tasks in individuals returning from a previous injury. Sport-specifically, it proves that passive stretching can be performed before balance tasks, when necessary, without compromising their final performance (9).

One essential performance that requires balance in sports is the vertical jump. Vertical jump (VJ) is the difference between the height reached by standing and jumping (10). In basketball, VJ height and height are critical (11). One study stated that the gastrocnemius muscle is involved

CITATION

Uysal İ, Yilmaz Z, Cetinkaya I, Ozden F. Knowledge Levels of Child Abuse and Neglect Among a Group of Turkish Dentistry Students. Med Records. 2025;7(1):223-8. DOI:1037990/medr.1543935

Received: 17.09.2024 Accepted: 07.01.2025 Published: 15.01.2025

Corresponding Author: Ismail Uysal, Muğla Sıtkı Koçman University, Fethiye Vocational School of Health Services, Department of Health Care Services, Muğla, Türkiye **E-mail**: ismailuysal@mu.edu.tr in powerful and rapid movements and plays an integral role in running and jumping by significantly participating in the plantar flexion (PF) of the foot (12). The amount of ankle DF plays a vital role in the cause of lower limb injuries. Restriction of DF may predispose to re-injury of the ankle. Clinicians perform various therapeutic interventions such as stretching, manual therapy, electrotherapy, ultrasound and exercises to increase ankle DF. However, the intervention or combination of interventions most effectively improves ankle DF has yet to be specified (1).

The Graston technique is an essential application that improves lower extremity range of motion and jump performance. Groston is an instrumented soft tissue mobilization technique. The stainless-steel instrument, designed to adapt to the curves and various tissues of the body, is used to detect and release scar tissue, adhesions and fascial restrictions. Graston was developed as an alternative to manual therapy for transverse friction. Graston acts like a diapason when in contact with fibrotic tissue. A reverberation within the device occurs at the moment of contact and is transmitted through the device to the physiotherapist's hands (13). Graston can improve ROM without affecting the mechanical and neurological properties of the muscles that are the focus of treatment (14).

The effectiveness of graston combined with stretching exercise has not been investigated so far. The objective of our study was to compare and contrast the relative merits of static stretching and the Graston technique and to examine the impact of both methods on ankle range of motion and vertical jump performance. The study's hypothesis was determined as follows: The Graston technique has a more immediate effect than static stretching in improving ankle range of motion and vertical jump performance.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Participants and Setting

A quasi-experimental study was conducted between January 2023 and May 2023. Thirty participants aged 18-40 were selected among clients who applied to Athlete and Orthopedic Clinic "Fizyomove". The study was carried out in accordance with the ethical principles and the Helsinki Declaration. Informed consents of the patients were obtained. The study protocol was approved by the ethics committee of Muğla Sıtkı Koçman University (No: "141").

The inclusion criteria were as follows: (1) the participant was voluntary and had consented to participate in the study, (2) the participant was between the ages of 18 and 40, and (3) the participant was able to perform the squatting movement pattern. The exclusion criteria of the study were as follows: (1) the participant's trunk exhibited excessive stability, (2) the participant had a health condition that would significantly impair their mobility, (3) the participant had undergone a surgical procedure involving the ankle and knee within the previous six months, (4) the participant

had sustained an ankle sprain and ligament injury within the previous six months, (5) the participant demonstrated kinesiophobia in squatting, (6) the participant had a neurological diagnosis, was pregnant, had sustained an acute lower extremity injury, or had metatarsal stress fractures.

Data collection

Demographic information (e.g., age, height, weight) and information such as license status, previous surgical operation, and sports branch of interest were obtained from the individuals who participated in our study. VJ performance and range of motion were evaluated before and after the intervention. The evaluations were performed face-to-face in the sports club and orthopaedic clinic environment.

Vertical Jump Test

VJ is a test with a high-reliability rate for determining the jumping power of the athlete. In this method, a tape measure is attached to the wall in the test. Participants stand upright with their feet shoulder-width apart and their dominant side against the wall. The highest point they can reach on the tape measure without lifting their feet off the floor is marked. When ready, they are asked to bend down by bending their hips and knees and using their arms and legs to mark the highest point they can reach with their hands. The distance difference between the point they reach and the point they jump is determined. The test is repeated thrice, and the best result is recorded in centimeters (15).

ROM Measurement

The range of motion of the ankle was quantified using a goniometer. The subject is positioned supine with the knee extended and the ankle hanging over the edge of the table. In goniometric measurement, the 90-degree right angle between the fifth metatarsal and fibula is accepted as the reference point for the measurement of ankle range of motion, with 0 degrees representing the neutral position for dorsi and plantar flexion. The goniometer is positioned with its pivot point on the lateral malleolus. The fixed arm is maintained in a parallel position to the lateral midline of the fibula. The movable arm is aligned with the lateral midline of the fifth metatarsal bone. It is imperative that the foot remains stationary throughout the measurement process, neither inverting nor everting.

In order to obtain measurements for inversion and eversion, the subject should assume a prone position with the knee flexed at 90 degrees. The pivot point of the goniometer is positioned at the midpoint of the calcaneus. The fixed arm is initially maintained in a parallel position with respect to the midline of the sole between the second and third toes, while ensuring that its parallelism with the ground is maintained at the outset of the movement. The movable arm is aligned with the midline of the sole and positioned between the third toes (16).

Intervention

Graston group

In the aforementioned application, the objective was to enhance the performance of the gastrocnemius and soleus muscles. To this end, the Graston technique was employed at an angle of 45° parallel to the muscle fibres for a duration of approximately 20 seconds. Subsequently, the device was applied to the muscles in a direction perpendicular to the same muscle fibres at a 45° angle with the Graston for 20 seconds (Figure 1). An increase in temperature and a relaxation of the dermal tonus were observed on the skin surface (17) (Figure 2).



Figure 1. Graston method application on gastrocnemius and soleus



Figure 2. Statical stretching application on gastrocnemius and soleus

Statical stretching group

Static stretching is a widely employed method that serves to elongate muscle tissue by means of autogenic inhibition, which in turn stimulates the Golgi tendon organ. This technique entails passively stretching a specific antagonist muscle by positioning it in a maximum stretch position and maintaining that position for an extended duration. The participant's ankle was positioned in a DF position, and the gastrocnemius, soleus and Achilles muscles were placed in the most stretched position. The measurement was repeated on four occasions, with a holding time of 30 seconds applied in each instance (18) (2). A bilateral application was performed.

Statistical Analysis

IBM Statistical Package for Social Sciences Version 22 statistical program was used for data analysis. Continuous variables were given as mean±standard deviation and qualitative variables as number and percentage (%). Paired samples t test (dependent paired sample t-test) was used before and after data comparisons, and p<0.05 was considered significant for all analyzes.

RESULTS

Of the 30 participants who voluntarily participated in the study, 28 (93.3%) were male, and 2 (6.7%) were female. The mean age of the Graston group was 19.33±4.62 (min: 18, max: 36) years. The mean age of the static stretching group was 18.8±4.05 years (min: 18, max: 26). The mean age of all groups was 19.4±3.74 years (min: 18, max: 36).

There was no significant difference between the graston and static stretching groups in terms of VJ performance (p=0.86). When we analyzed the ROMs according to the methods applied, a significant result was found between the groups in left DF (p<0.48). No significant difference was found in other ROMs (p>0.05) (Table 1).

Graston technique had a significant effect on VJ performance (p=0.0001). The effectiveness of Graston was also significant for right DF (p=0.007) and left DF (p=0.0001). Graston was not effective in right PF (p=0.683), right EV (p=0.337), and right IN (p=0.068). On the other hand, left PF (p=0.512), left EV (p=1), and left IN (p=0.060) were not significant for the efficacy of Graston (Table 2).

Static stretching technique had a significant effect on VJ performance (p=0.002). Static stretching technique had a significant effect on right and left DF (p<0.05). Static stretching technique had no significant effect on right and left PF (p>0.05). The effect of static stretching technique on right EV (p=0.005) and right IN was significant (p=0.026). On the other hand, static stretching technique was effective for left foot EV (p=0.022), while its effect on left IN was not significant (p=0.270) (Table 3).

Table 1. The post-intervention results between the Graston and stretching groups						
	Graston group (n=15) Mean±SD	Stretching group (n=15) Mean±SD	р			
VJ performance	0.46±0.09	0.45±0.16	0.862			
DF-right	16.33±5.40	17.80±4.69	0.434			
DF-left	19.73±4.33	16.33±4.65	0.048			
PF-right	36.33±9.48	32.53±7.80	0.241			
PF-left	35.87±13.40	33.07±7.11	0.481			
EV-right	14.33±5.09	15.47±4.56	0.526			
EV-left	14.00±4.76	13.80±4.37	0.906			
IN-right	14.07±5.36	14.07±4.94	1.000			
IN-left	14.60±5.28	12.80±3.98	0.301			
n: the number of participants, SD: standard deviation						

Table 2. The results of the Graston technique (in-group changes)					
	Graston group (n=15) Change score (Mean±SD)	р			
VJ performance	-0.46±0.28	0.0001			
DF-right	-3.53±4.35	0.007			
DF-left	-4.80±2.93	0.0001			
PF-right	-0.46±4.34	0.683			
PF-left	-1.40±8.06	0.512			
EV-right	-1.20±4.67	0.337			
EV-left	0.00±3.91	1.000			
IN-right	-0.80±1.56	0.068			
IN-left	-1.93±3.65	0.060			

n: the number of participants, SD: standard deviation

Table 3. The results of the Stretching technique (in-group changes)				
	Stretching group (n=15) Change score (Mean±SD)	р		
VJ performance	-0.03±0.30	0.002		
DF-right	-3.86±3.60	0.0001		
DF-left	-2.73±3.45	0.008		
PF-right	2.13±6.72	0.240		
PF-left	-1.73±8.11	0.422		
EV-right	-4.40±5.18	0.005		
EV-left	-2.53±3.79	0.022		
IN-right	-2.00±3.11	0.026		
IN-left	-1.33±4.49	0.270		

n: the number of participants, SD: standard deviation

DISCUSSION

This study aimed to investigate the immediate effects of the Graston technique and static stretching on ankle range of motion and VJ performance in athletes. The results proved that Graston and static stretching applied to the gastrocnemius, soleus muscles, and Achilles tendon had significantly similar effects on VJ performance. Graston application was superior to static stretching, especially in left foot DF.

Loss of ROM is a common functional impairment in physically active people. It is one of the causes of musculoskeletal injury. Factors such as low flexibility, previous injuries, and sedentary time can lead to loss of ROM. Studies have suggested that ankle DF ROM deficit is a factor that increases the likelihood of a wide range of lower extremity injuries (19). In addition, the methods used to assess ankle range of motion have differed significantly regardless of gender due to geographical and cultural differences based on individuals' activities of daily living (20). Ankle ROM varies as the significant muscles acting over the joint absorb shock or generate force during standing posture (21). Adequate flexibility and range of motion of the ankle joint are essential for performing activities that require balance, such as running and squatting (22). An ankle ROM impairment caused by muscle tension during gait can affect the ankle-foot complex and the rest of the joints of the lower extremities (23). Movement restriction in the DF direction also increases the risk of ankle sprains (24). Restricted DF in the ankle joint can lead to acute or chronic injuries in the ankle and knee (19). Therefore, our study aimed to provide the effect of soft tissue mobilization technique that might improve ankle range of motion and physical performance.

Clinicians use soft tissue mobilization techniques to restore fascial mobility and reduce pain by addressing myofascial restrictions within the triceps surae (19). Grieve et al. (2011), in their study of 20 healthy individuals (5 males and 15 females) with restricted ankle DF with an average age of 27.7±2.1 years, it was observed that DF range of motion increased by applying myofascial trigger point to the soleus muscle (25).

The current study examined the effect of Graston and static stretching on hamstring muscle extensibility and pain intensity in patients with low back pain were examined. Twenty-four patients, 12 in the Graston and 12 in the static stretching group, were included in the study. Hamstring extensibility was recorded using the sit and lie test, and a visual analog scale was used to measure pain intensity. The Graston technique group showed significantly more improvement in hamstring extensibility than the static stretching group (26).

A recent scoping review in 2024 states that Graston is effective for foot and ankle pathologies when combined with other therapeutic interventions but emphasizes that the limited number of studies reduces the level of evidence (27).

Since the early 1980s, static stretching has been widely promoted before performing physical activity to prevent injury and improve physical performance (28). It has become a prominent routine incorporated into the warm-up for exercise, as the slow, controlled movement is believed to allow stretching to be performed quickly and safely, with less risk of injury compared to other forms of stretching (29).

Some studies have shown that static stretching before exercise may increase the risk of injury (28). VJ capacity depends on lower limb muscle strength and is used as a standard test of strength performance and to estimate muscle fiber composition. A higher vertical velocity at take-off is required to improve VJ performance. This performance can be achieved by a higher contraction velocity or muscle strength of the trunk, hips and lower limbs extensor muscles. If the muscle becomes shortened and strained, it negatively affects VJ performance (10).

Studies on the effects of Graston and static stretching on different muscle groups and performance parameters are limited in the literature. In general, when the literature is reviewed, the study results show that Graston and static stretching have a performance-enhancing effect. When we investigated the superiority of static stretching and Graston to guide clinicians, we found that they similarly improved DS performance. There is also a difference in ankle DF. Since we worked on the gastrocnemius, soles muscles and Achilles tendon, the improvement in the range of motion of the DF was realized to the extent we expected.

Limitations

One of the limitations of our study may be that the number of participants was 30. A higher number of participants may strengthen the statistical results. We included all athletes in our study without homogeneity regardless of the sports branch, mainly basketball. Since each sport has specific positions, the dominant muscle group that should be used also differs. Future studies can be strengthened by diversifying the sports branch and homogeneous distribution. We think that our other limitations are gender and the presence of a license. The fact that 2 of our 30 participants were women and 3 of our 30 participants were unlicensed reduces the homogeneity of our study. Future studies can improve the literature by considering gender and license status.

CONCLUSION

The Graston technique increases DS performance and ankle range of motion. There is no superiority between Graston and static stretching in DS performance. In terms of the results of our study, it will benefit sports and health professionals who are engaged in team sports such as volleyball, basketball and soccer, where jump performance is essential and will contribute to the literature. Including Graston and static stretching in the treatment protocols for athletes, health rehabilitation will strengthen the treatment process. Regularly performing Graston or static stretching, even without injury, will strengthen the preventive rehabilitation modality. It will not only result in success for the physiotherapist but also increase the success of the coach, conditioning and doctor as a team.

Key Findings

The Graston technique increases DS performance and ankle range of motion. There is no superiority between Graston and static stretching in DS performance.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: The study was carried out in accordance with the ethical principles and the Helsinki Declaration. Written informed consents of the patients were obtained. The study protocol was approved by the ethics committee of Muğla Sıtkı Koçman University (No: 141).

REFERENCES

- 1. Terada M, Pietrosimone BG, Gribble PA. Therapeutic interventions for increasing ankle dorsiflexion after ankle sprain: a systematic review. J Athl Train. 2013;48:696-709.
- 2. Haines M, Murray AM, Glaviano NR, et al. Restricting ankle dorsiflexion does not mitigate the benefits of external focus of attention on landing biomechanics in healthy females. Human Movement Science. 2020;74:102719.
- 3. Shashua A, Flechter S, Avidan L, et al. The effect of additional ankle and midfoot mobilizations on plantar fasciitis: a randomized controlled trial. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther. 2015;45:265-72.
- 4. Kim D-H, Kim T-H, Jung D-Y, Weon J-H. Effects of the Graston technique and self-myofascial release on the range of motion of a knee joint. J Korean Soc Phys Med. 2014;9:455-63.
- Behm DG, Kay AD, Trajano GS, Blazevich AJ. Mechanisms underlying performance impairments following prolonged static stretching without a comprehensive warm-up. Eur J Appl Physiol. 2021;121:67-94.
- 6. Morse CI, Degens H, Seynnes OR, et al. The acute effect of stretching on the passive stiffness of the human gastrocnemius muscle tendon unit. J Physiol. 2008;586:97-106.
- Behm DG, Blazevich AJ, Kay AD, McHugh M. Acute effects of muscle stretching on physical performance, range of motion, and injury incidence in healthy active individuals: a systematic review. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab. 2016;41:1-11.
- Costa PB, Graves BS, Whitehurst M, Jacobs PL. The acute effects of different durations of static stretching on dynamic balance performance. J Strength Cond Res. 2009;23:141-7.
- Coratella G, Longo S, Rampichini S, et al. Passive stretching decreases muscle efficiency in balance tasks. Plos One. 2021;16:e0256656.

- 10. Perez-Gomez J, Calbet J. Training methods to improve vertical jump performance. J Sports Med Phys Fitness. 2013;53:339-57.
- 11. Çankaya C, Arabacı R, Kurt E, et al. Examining the effects of the pliometric (jump squat) exercise on vertical jump in female volleyball players. European Journal of Physical Education and Sport Science. 2018;5:115-24.
- 12. Chtourou H, Aloui A, Hammouda O, et al. Effect of static and dynamic stretching on the diurnal variations of jump performance in soccer players. PloS One. 2013;8:e70534.
- 13. Black DW. Treatment of knee arthrofibrosis and quadriceps insufficiency after patellar tendon repair: a case report including use of the graston technique. Int J Ther Massage Bodywork. 2010;3:14-21.
- Ikeda N, Otsuka S, Kawanishi Y, Kawakami Y. Effects of instrument-assisted soft tissue mobilization on musculoskeletal properties. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2019;51:2166-72. Erratum in: Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2020;52:524.
- 15. Klavora P. Vertical-jump tests: a critical review. Strength & Conditioning Journal. 2000;22:70.
- 16. Konor MM, Morton S, Eckerson JM, Grindstaff TL. Reliability of three measures of ankle dorsiflexion range of motion. Int J Sports Phys Ther. 2012;7:279-87.
- 17. Lee J-H, Lee D-K, Oh J-S. The effect of Graston technique on the pain and range of motion in patients with chronic low back pain. J Phys Ther Sci. 2016;28:1852-5.
- 18. Lempke L, Wilkinson R, Murray C, Stanek J. The effectiveness of PNF versus static stretching on increasing hip-flexion range of motion. J Sport Rehabil. 2018;27:289-94.
- Stanek J, Sullivan T, Davis S. Comparison of compressive myofascial release and the graston technique for improving ankle-dorsiflexion range of motion. J Athl Train. 2018;53:160-7.

- 20. Grimston SK, Nigg BM, Hanley DA, Engsberg JR. Differences in ankle joint complex range of motion as a function of age. Foot Ankle. 1993;14:215-22.
- 21. Brockett CL, Chapman GJ. Biomechanics of the ankle. Orthopaedics and trauma. 2016;30:232-8.
- 22. Spink MJ, Fotoohabadi MR, Wee E, et al. Foot and ankle strength, range of motion, posture, and deformity are associated with balance and functional ability in older adults. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2011;92:68-75.
- 23. Youdas JW, McLean TJ, Krause DA, Hollman JH. Changes in active ankle dorsiflexion range of motion after acute inversion ankle sprain. J Sport Rehabil. 2009;18:358-74.
- 24. Pope R, Herbert R, Kirwan J. Effects of ankle dorsiflexion range and pre-exercise calf muscle stretching on injury risk in Army recruits. Aust J Physiother. 1998;44:165-72.
- 25. Grieve R, Clark J, Pearson E, et al. The immediate effect of soleus trigger point pressure release on restricted ankle joint dorsiflexion: a pilot randomised controlled trial. J Bodyw Mov Ther. 2011;15:42-9.
- Moon JH, Jung J-H, Won YS, Cho H-Y. Immediate effects of Graston technique on hamstring muscle extensibility and pain intensity in patients with nonspecific low back pain. J Phys Ther Sci. 2017;29:224-7.
- Tedeschi R. An overview and critical analysis of the Graston technique for foot-related conditions: a scoping review. Manuelle Medizin. 2024;62:22-8.
- 28. Shrier I. When and whom to stretch? Gauging the benefits and drawbacks for individual patients. Phys Sportsmed. 2005;33:22-6.
- 29. Smith CA. The warm-up procedure: to stretch or not to stretch. A brief review. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther. 1994;19:12-7.

MEDICAL RECORDS-International Medical Journal

Research Article



Investigation of the Effects of Lycopene Against Cisplatin-Induced Renal Damage in Rats: A Histopathological Study

©Omur Gulsum Deniz

Bolu Abant İzzet Baysal University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Histology and Embryology, Bolu, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.



Abstract

Aim: This study aimed to investigate the protective effect of lycopene (LP) on kidney damage induced by cisplatin (CPT), which is used as a potent agent in chemotherapy, in rats.

Material and Method: A total of 35 female Wistar albino rats between 220-250 grams which were 2-4 months old were included in the study. The rats were divided into 5 equal groups as control (Cont) group, CPT group, CPT+LP group, LP group and Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) (solvent) group. Cont group did not receive any treatment during the 7-day long experiment. Rats in the CPT group were administered a single dose of 7 mg/kg CPT intraperitoneally on the first day of the experiment. CPT+LP group was administered 5 mg/kg of LP dissolved in DMSO intraperitoneally every day for 7 days after CPT was administered at the mentioned dose and duration. LP and DMSO groups were intraperitoneally administered 5 mg/kg of LP dissolved in DMSO, respectively during the experiment. At the end of the experiment, kidney tissues taken from the rats were evaluated histopathologically.

Results: When the histopathological analyses were evaluated, it was found that glomerular shrinkage, tubular vacuolisation, desquamous epithelium and interstitial hemorrhage were statistically more intense in the CPT group when compared with the Cont, DMSO and LP groups. In the CPT+LP group, cellular organization in the renal tissue was found to be close to normal when compared with the CPT group and it was found that apart from other parameters, especially glomerular atrophy was minimised by LP (p<0.01). **Conclusion:** In conclusion, it was shown that LP administration alleviated nephrotoxicity, which is one of the primary adverse effects of CPT in rats.

Keywords: Cisplatin, lycopene, nephrotoxicity, histopathology, rat

INTRODUCTION

As a chemotherapeutic agent in cancer treatment, cisplatin (CPT) is often administered intravenously as first-line chemotherapy for tumours of testis, breast, ovary, bladder, lung and various malignancies. In this context, after being absorbed by the cancer cell, CPT may show cytotoxic effect leading to inhibition of Deoxyribo Nucleic Acid (DNA) synthesis by interacting with cellular macromolecules (1). Although CPT is one of the widely used and potent chemotherapeutic drugs, its use may cause side effects such as nephrotoxicity in normal tissues and organs, especially in kidneys (2). This is the most important side effect limiting CPT use. Studies have shown that the pathogenesis of CPT induced renal damage is caused by decreased activity of antioxidant enzymes and increased reactive oxygen species in renal tissue (3,4). When the nephrotoxic effect of CPT was analysed molecularly and cellularly, it was found that it resulted in the damage and death of renal tubular cells (2). Renal proximal tubules, especially epithelial tubular cells of the S-3 segment, are the main sites where the toxic effects of CPT are seen (5). In addition, the inflammatory response caused by CPT damages the plexus in the kidney and causes ischemic damage, resulting in decreased glomerular filtration (2).

Lycopene (LP) is a carotenoid pigment found in red and orange fruit and vegetables (6). It has a high-capacity antioxidant effect due to its hydrophobic structure and the conjugated double bond it contains. While LP shows

CITATION

Deniz OG. Investigation of the Effects of Lycopene Against Cisplatin-Induced Renal Damage in Rats: A Histopathological Study. Med Records. 2025;7(1):229-33. DOI:1037990/medr.1589776

Received: 22.11.2024 Accepted: 17.12.2024 Published: 15.01.2025 Corresponding Author: Omur Gulsum Deniz, Bolu Abant İzzet Baysal University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Histology and Embryology, Bolu, Türkiye E-mail: omur.deniz@ibu.edu.tr a strong antioxidant property in in vitro environments, in in vivo environments it has multi-targeted activities such as inducing apoptosis, decreasing DNA damage, preventing oxidative stress and decreasing metastasis (7,8). A large number of diseases are characterized by oxidative stress and chronic inflammation. In this context, studies are frequently planned with antioxidants to alleviate the side effects of CPT. LP can be used as a molecule that has synergic effects on cancer cells and that minimizes the undesirable effects mediated by CPT. LP, which is an important agent in oxidative damage and tissue healing due to its strong antioxidant activity, has been reported to reduce renal damage in a large number of renal damage models, to have dose-dependent beneficial effects and to maintain metabolic homeostasis in the kidney (9-11).

In the light of all this information, CPT is still used as an effective chemotherapeutic agent in various cancer types despite the nephrotoxicity it causes. In this context, the aim of the present study is to investigate the efficacy of LP, which was shown to have anti-apoptotic and antioxidant effects in previous studies, against CPT-induced kidney damage at histopathological level in the light of available information in the literature.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Experimental Design

Experimental procedures of the study were carried out at Bolu Abant İzzet Baysal University Experimental Animals Application and Research Centre after obtaining the 02.08.2023 dated and 2023/22 numbered decision from Bolu Abant İzzet Baysal University Animal Research Local Ethics Committee. In this context, 35 female Wistar albino rats, each weighing 220-250 gram and 2-4 months old, obtained from the relevant centre were used in the study. The animals were kept at the centre in an environment with a constant temperature (24±2°C) and humidity (55±15%) in a 12-hour light-dark cycle. The rats were allowed access to ad libitum standard rat feed and water during the experiment. A power analysis test was conducted using Minitab software version 16 to determine the requisite number of animals in all groups. In this context, the subjects were randomly allocated to 5 groups, with 7 rats in each group:

Control (Cont) group: This group was not administered any treatment.

CPT group: Single dose 7 mg/kg CPT (12) was administered intraperitoneally on the first day of the experiment

CPT+LP group: Single dose 7 mg/kg CPT was administered intraperitoneally on the first day of the experiment. Following this, 5 mg/kg of LP (13). dissolved in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) was administered intraperitoneally every day for 7 days.

LP group: 5 mg/kg of LP dissolved in DMSO was administered intraperitoneally every day for 7 days.

DMSO (Solvent) group: 1 ml/kg 0.1% DMSO was administered intraperitoneally during the 7-day long experiment.

Tissue Sampling

At the end of the 7-day long experiment, the kidney tissue was removed under 90 mg/kg ketamine (Ketalar®, Pfizer, İstanbul) and 10 mg/kg xylazine (Citanest®, AstraZeneca, İstanbul) anaesthesia and the animals were sacrificed. Kidney tissues taken for histopathological analyses were fixed in 10% buffered neutral formalin for two weeks.

Preparation of Tissue Samples and Histopathologic Analysis

Following the completion of two weeks fixation period, the kidney tissues were labelled appropriately and kept overnight in running water and formalin was removed from the tissue. The tissues kept in running water were dehydrated first through alcohol series (70%, 80%, 96%, 96%, 100%, 100%). Afterwards, the tissues made transparent with xylene were infiltrated with paraplast. The tissues taken from the hot paraffin were embedded in L-iron filled with paraffin and labelled. Thus, the tissue tracking process was completed. Using a rotary microtome (Leica RM2125RT) with 1/50 sampling in compliance with the systematic random sampling criteria, 3 µm thick sections were extracted from the paraffin embedded sections for light microscopic examinations. Sections from each group were later stored in an oven set to 58°C for the entire night in order to remove the paraplast for staining. Next, the sections were stained with Haematoxylin-Eosin for histological examination. Kidney tissues were evaluated histopathologically in terms of glomerular shrinkage, tubular vacuolization, desquamated epithelium and interstitial haemorrhage by using Nikon Eclipse 80i light photomicroscope with camera attachment. In this context, 10 different areas were examined in each section at X20 magnification and scored semi quantitatively from 0 to 3. According to this scoring, absence of pathology was scored as 0, the presence of mild pathology was scored as 1, the presence of moderate pathology was scored as 2 and the presence of severe pathology was scored as 3 (14). Quantitative results were obtained by making comparisons among groups. The same histologist assessed each parameter by randomly picking tissue samples from each group and without knowing which tissue sample belonged to which group (blind evaluation).

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were performed with SPSS version 21.0 analysis program. Shapiro-Wilk test was used to evaluate whether the data of the subjects conformed to the assumption of normal distribution, and in the comparison of continuous variables, the data conforming to normal distribution were evaluated with One-Way ANOVA and Post-hoc Bonferroni tests. P<0.05 indicated statistically significant difference.

RESULTS

When the kidney sections stained with Hematoxylin-Eosin were examined histopathologically in terms of glomerular shrinkage, tubular vacuolization, interstitial hemorrhage and desquamous epithelium, it was observed that the interstitial tissue density surrounding the renal glomeruli, tubules and veins in Cont, DMSO and LP groups had normal morphology. CPT group, shrunken glomeruli were observed In the in places in the cortical labyrinth of the related tissue. Bowman's interval of the renal corpuscles whose glomeruli were degenerated in this way was wider compared to the Cont group. In addition, tubular dilatation and interstitial hemorrhage were found to be intense in this group. In the CPT+LP group, renal bodies had more normal morphology, tubule cell damage was lower, and tubule epithelial cell loss was significantly improved when compared with the CPT group (Figure 1). In this context, when the groups were evaluated semi-quantitatively, no statistical difference was found between the Cont, DMSO and LP groups (p>0.05). When a statistical difference of p<0.01 was found between Cont and CPT groups in terms of glomerular shrinkage, tubular vacuolization and desquamous epithelium, this difference was found to be at p<0.05 in the evaluation of interstitial haemorrhage. When CPT and CPT+LP groups were compared statistically, difference was found between groups in terms of tubular vacuolization, desguamous epithelium and interstitial hemorrhage (p<0.05). This difference was at p<0.01 in the parameter in which glomerular shrinkage was examined (Figure 2-5).



Figure 1. Light microscopic images obtained from the kidney of rats in all groups. The first image points out the panoramic view of the kidney (x5). Arrow: tubular vacuolation; Arrowhead: interstitial haemorrhage; Star: desquamous epithelium; Circle: glomerular shrinkage; T: healthy tubule; Dashed circle: healthy glomerulus;. Hematoxylin-Eosin staining. X20



Figure 2. Semi-quantitative evaluation of glomerular shrinkage parameter in all groups. Differences at the level of p<0.05 were shown with "*" while differences at the level of p<0.01 were pointed out by "**"



Figure 3. Semi-quantitative evaluation of tubular vacuolization parameter in all groups. Differences at the level of p<0.05 were shown with "*" while differences at the level of p<0.01 were indicated by "**"



Figure 4. Semi-quantitative evaluation of interstitial hemorrhage parameter in all groups. Differences at the level of p<0.05 were shown with "*"



Figure 5. Semi-quantitative evaluation of desquame epithelium parameter in all groups. Differences at the level of p<0.05 were shown with "*" while differences at the level of p<0.01 were displayed by "**"

Med Records 2025;7(1):229-33

DISCUSSION

Most of the chemotherapeutic drugs used in cancer treatment work by generating free radicals and reactive oxygen species (15). In this context, CPT is a chemotherapeutic agent used effectively in various cancer treatments that induce cell death by binding to DNA. This agent can show its antitumor mechanism in many ways, the most important of which is creating DNA damage. It may also cause cellular damage through stress on endoplasmic reticulum and mitochondria and activation of apoptotic pathway. According to the data obtained from the studies conducted, exposure to CPT has been shown to cause nephrotoxicity by causing damage to the proximal tubule S3 segment in the kidneys of mice, rats and humans (16). The result reported in a large number of studies that oxidative stress may cause nephrotoxicity was also found in our study as mediated by CPT. In clinical use, CPT nephrotoxicity is characterized by elevated serum creatinine, decreased serum potassium and magnesium levels, and low glomerular filtration rate days after treatment with CPT. There are also studies which show that it reduces renal filtration permanently in the long term (2). While nephrotoxicity was observed in 42% of the patients, it was found that CPT treatment was not completed in 7% due to renal toxicity (17). This is one of the primary problems leading to dose limitation in the use of CPT. CPT exposure causes the production of reactive oxygen species including hydroxyl radicals, oxidation of protein, lipid and nucleic acids and eventually damage to tubule epithelium cell membrane (18). In this case, inflammation may cause high nephrotoxicity potential through reactive oxygen species (ROS)-mediated endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress and autophagy (19). Atrophic glomerular structure was observed in CPT-treated rats in histological examination of the kidney tissue in our study. We believe that the reason for this damage may be the ischemic effect caused by inflammation.

LP, which is a carotenoid, has many biological activities. These are stopping the growth of cancer cells by regulation of cell cycle proteins, regulating the immune function, and preventing oxidative DNA damage (15). LP is known to contribute to cell survival against oxidative damage by strengthening the antioxidant system like many antioxidant substances (20). In our study, it was found that 5 mg/kg LP reduced the CPT-mediated nephrotoxicity in the renal tubular cells. Open polyene chain in the structure of LP plays an effective role in neutralizing superoxide anions and free radicals. In this context, we think that in our study LP reversed the histopathological deterioration in the CPT+LP group by reducing oxidative stress and inflammation. Previous studies have reported that LP minimized cell swelling and organelle deformation and prevented cytoplasmic division and atrophy in renal cells (21). In our study, it was found that when compared with the CPT group, atrophy of glomeruli and deterioration in tubular structure decreased in the CPT+LP group. A

study by Salari et al. showed that in lipopolysaccharideinduced renal injury, LP treatment improved NF-kB gene expression, TNFa, IL6, TLR4 levels. In other words, LP showed anti-inflammatory effect by attenuating TLR4 and NF-kB mediated inflammation and reduced nephrotoxicity by contributing to the repair of intracellular antioxidant mechanism through regulation of Nrf2 and HO-1 (20). In the present study, which evaluated whether the CPTinduced nephrotoxicity in rats can be prevented by using LP, our results showed that LP showed protective effects on tubular vacuolization, interstitial hemorrhage, glomerular atrophy, and epithelial changes that occur due to CPT. In a study conducted by Deng et al., it was shown that CPT caused acute kidney injury in many different ways such as CHOP-mediated endoplasmic reticulum stress, renal tubular damage by triggering inflammation and oxidative stress with ROS and TNF-a and IL6 mediated cytokines, direct apoptosis by caspase-3 and caspase-9 activation and mitochondrial dysfunction (16). In the light of literature, we believe that a large number of mechanisms such as endoplasmic reticulum stress are involved in the observed damage and LP provides protection by reducing reticulum stress. In this context, there is a need for molecular studies to elucidate the mechanism underlying the protective effect.

In a study conducted by Li et al., it was reported that the kidneys shrunk in the renal damage induced by using di (2-ethylhexyl) phthalate (DEHP) and that the kidney size returned to normal after using LP. In addition, histological examinations showed that the degradation of the brush edges, dilatation and damage in the tubular structure decreased after treatment (21). A study conducted by Doğukan et al. reported that LP treatment reduced lipid peroxidation against the nephrotoxic effect caused by CPT administered to mice (22). In addition, a study conducted by Pektas et al. examined renal markers through blood samples in ischemia-reperfusion-induced renal damage, and it was shown that pathological biomarkers including malondialdehyde (MDA), glutathione and catalase were higher in the control group when compared with the LP administered group (23). In a study conducted by Saylan et al., it was shown that LP decreased tubular dilatation, tubular epithelial degeneration, glomerular shrinkage and desquamous epithelium amount significantly in ischemia-reperfusion induced renal damage (14). Another study conducted by Gori et al. showed that LP treatment minimised renal inflammatory changes due to adenine histopathologically, physiologically and biochemically (24). In this context, it was shown in our study that LP treatment reversed the histopathological deterioration of CPTinduced renal damage. In other words, it was found that LP protected renal tissue significantly against complications caused by CPT. In the light of these researches, by adding our results, we believe that LP has a protective effect in the nephrotoxic effect of CPT and with the increase in clinical research, CPT can be added in the diets of patients who receive chemotherapy and used as a protective factor.

CONCLUSION

Based on the histopathological examinations of the present study, it was found that LP use minimised the degree of damage in the rats which were administered CPT injection. It was shown that LP, which is a string antioxidant, prevented the nephrotoxicity caused by CPT by alleviating the destructive effects of oxidative stress in renal tissue, especially in tubule and glomerular structures. In this context, there is a need for further clinical research, especially at the molecular level, for the use of LP as an agent that reduces the side effects of LP in chemotherapy regimens. This way, it is certain that more comprehensive information using different animals, different laboratories, different periods of time and different methods will help to further improve clinical studies in the field.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: Ethical approval was taken from the local Ethics Committee of Bolu Abant İzzet Baysal University with the decision number 2023/22 dated 02.08.2023.

REFERENCES

- 1. Tchounwou PB, Dasari S, Noubissi FK, et al. Advances in our understanding of the molecular mechanisms of action of cisplatin in cancer therapy. J Exp Pharmacol. 2021;13:303-28.
- 2. Pabla N, Dong Z. Cisplatin nephrotoxicity: mechanisms and renoprotective strategies. Kidney Int. 2008;73:994-1007.
- Ognjanović BI, Djordjević NZ, Matić MM, et al. Lipid peroxidative damage on cisplatin exposure and alterations in antioxidant defense system in rat kidneys: a possible protective effect of selenium. Int J Mol Sci. 2012;13:1790-803.
- 4. Hosohata K. Role of oxidative stress in drug-induced kidney injury. Int J Mol Sci. 2016;17:1826.
- 5. Werner M, Costa MJ, Mitchell LG, Nayar R. Nephrotoxicity of xenobiotics. Clin Chim Acta. 1995;237:107-54.
- 6. Khan UM, Sevindik M, Zarrabi A, et al. Lycopene: food sources, biological activities, and human health benefits. Oxid Med Cell Longev. 2021;2021:2713511.
- Matos HR, Di Mascio P, Medeiros MH. Protective effect of lycopene on lipid peroxidation and oxidative DNA damage in cell culture. Arch Biochem Biophys. 2000;383:56-9.
- 8. Sahin K, Onderci M, Şahin N, et al. Effects of lycopene supplementation on antioxidant status, oxidative stress, performance and carcass characteristics in heat-stressed Japanese quail. J Therm Biol. 2006;31:307-12.
- 9. Dai C, Tang S, Deng S, et al. Lycopene attenuates colistininduced nephrotoxicity in mice via activation of the Nrf2/HO-1 pathway. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2014;59:579-85.

- 10. Kaya C, Karabulut R, Turkyilmaz Z, et al. Lycopene has reduced renal damage histopathologically and biochemically in experimental renal ischemia-reperfusion injury. Ren Fail. 2015;37:1390-5.
- 11. Guo Y, Liu Y, Wang Y. Beneficial effect of lycopene on antidiabetic nephropathy through diminishing inflammatory response and oxidative stress. Food Funct. 2015;6:1150-6.
- 12. Sherif IO, Abdel-Aziz A, Sarhan OM. Cisplatin-induced testicular toxicity in rats: the protective effect of arjunolic acid. J Biochem Mol Toxicol. 2014;28:515-21.
- Şaylan A, Fırat T, Yis ÖM, et al. Analysis of antioxidant effects of lycopene and caffeine in experimentally induced renal ischemia-reperfusion injury in rats. J Harran Univ Med Fac. 2021;18:510-6.
- 14. Saylan A, Turel CA, Turel İ, et al. Histopathological effects on kidney of diclofenac potassium and diazepam used in an experimental epilepsy model. Exp Biomed Res. 2023;6:77-87.
- 15. Sahin K, Sahin N, Kucuk O. Lycopene and chemotherapy toxicity. Nutr Cancer. 2010;62:988-95.
- 16. Deng F, Zhang H, Zhou W, et al. TRPA1 promotes cisplatininduced acute kidney injury via regulating the endoplasmic reticulum stress-mitochondrial damage. J Transl Med. 2023;21:695.
- 17. de Jongh FE, van Veen RN, Veltman SJ, et al. Weekly highdose cisplatin is a feasible treatment option: analysis on prognostic factors for toxicity in 400 patients. Br J Cancer. 2003;88:1199-206.
- Mahmoodnia L, Mohammadi K, Masumi R. Ameliorative effect of lycopene effect on cisplatin-induced nephropathy in patient. J Nephropathol. 2017;6:144-9.
- Singh MP, Chauhan AK, Kang SC. Morin hydrate ameliorates cisplatin-induced ER stress, inflammation and autophagy in HEK-293 cells and mice kidney via PARP-1 regulation. Int Immunopharmacol. 2018;56:156-67.
- 20. Salari S, Ghorbanpour A, Marefati N, et al. Therapeutic effect of lycopene in lipopolysaccharide nephrotoxicity through alleviation of mitochondrial dysfunction, inflammation, and oxidative stress. Mol Biol Rep. 2022;49:8429-38.
- 21. Li MZ, Zhao Y, Dai XY, et al. Lycopene ameliorates DEHP exposure-induced renal pyroptosis through the Nrf2/Keap-1/NLRP3/Caspase-1 axis. J Nutr Biochem. 2023;113:109266.
- 22. Dogukan A, Tuzcu M, Agca CA, et al. A tomato lycopene complex protects the kidney from cisplatin-induced injury via affecting oxidative stress as well as Bax, Bcl-2, and HSPs expression. Nutr Cancer. 2011;63:427-34.
- 23. Pektaş A, Gemalmaz H, Balkaya M, et al. The short-term protective effects of lycopene on renal ischemia-reperfusion injury in rats. Turk J Urol. 2014;40:46-51.
- 24. Gori P, Patel A, Solanki N, et al. Protective effects of lycopene against adenine-induced chronic renal failure in rats. Indian J Physiol Pharmacol. 2020;65;74-85.



Investigation of Age- and Gender-Related Changes in Anatomical Variables of the Cerebellum in Healthy Adults Using MR Imaging

©Gulcin Ray¹, ©Abdullah Ray¹, ©Ibrahim Kurtul¹, ©Saadet Erdem², ©Basel Malaysheh¹

¹Bolu Abant İzzet Baysal Universty, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Anatomy, Bolu, Türkiye ²Bolu Abant Izzet Baysal University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Nursing, Bolu, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.



Aim: The aging process and gender are thought to cause changes in anatomical regions of the brain. The present study was designed to present age- and gender-related changes in the morphometric characteristics of the cerebellum, which is known to be mainly responsible for the coordination of the skeletal system and balance.

Material and Method: Brain magnetic resonance (MR) images of healthy individuals aged 25-55 years were analyzed. MCRae line (MCL), Klaus index (KI), clivus length (LC), supraocciput length (LSO), diameter of the posterior cranial fossa (PDFC), height of the posterior cranial fossa (PHFC), lateral diameter of the cerebellum (LDC), cerebellum height (HCL), cerebellum width (WCL), cerebrum height (HC), anterior dural angle of the cerebellum (ADAC), angle of the cerebellar clivus (ACC), anteroposterior diameter of the right cerebellar hemisphere (RCHD) and anteroposterior diameter of the left cerebellar hemisphere (LCHD) variables were measured. **Results:** It has been determined that the difference between the groups for age, MCL, LSO, PHFC, HCL variables is statistically significant. The difference between genders is statistically significant for KI, LC, PHFC, LDC, WCL, HC, RCHD, LCHD variables in the first group, MCL, KI, LDC, HC, LCHD variables in the second group, LC, LDC, HCL, WCL, HC, ACC, LCHD variables in the third group. **Conclusion:** Overall, the results show that aging and gender cause changes in cerebellum morphometry in healthy individuals for the Bolu (Türkiye) population.

Keywords: Cerebellum, magnetic resonance imaging, morphometry, sex differences, brain

INTRODUCTION

The cerebellum, situated in the posterior cranial fossa behind the pons and bulbus, is separated from these structures by the fourth ventricle to the posterior aspect of the cerebral trunk by bundles of the nerve fibers called pedunculus (1,2). Although it occupies only 10% of the brain in total volume, it contains 80% of the neurons of the brain (3). Thanks to these neuromuscular networks, it maintains the coordination of agonist and antagonist muscles, thus movement, and ensures the maintenance of posture and balance (3,4). Furthermore, recent studies have emphasized that the cerebellum has several striking functional spectrums such as perception, language, working memory, cognitive control, and thus contributes to cognitive and social development (4-6). Numerous studies have reported that the morphometric structure of the cerebellum, which is known to be anatomically

and functionally extremely complex (7), is affected by neurodegenerative diseases (8,9) and habits such as alcohol (1,10), smoking (11), and sportive activities (12,13). Moreover, studies have presented the effects of the aging process on the cerebellum that provide a clearer understanding of the pathophysiological mechanisms (14,15). Research focusing on the morphometry of structures related to the brain has been employing the MRI device, which allows us to visualize and evaluate soft tissues clearly (13-15). Despite the substantial number of studies reporting how the cerebellum is affected in different populations and in different diseases and conditions (7-15), it is noteworthy to point out that studies concentrating particularly on the age- related anatomical changes in healthy individuals are limited (16-18). In this regard, this study has been designed to observe and evaluate the age and gender related changes in the morphometry of the cerebellum in healthy adults.

CITATION

Ray G, Ray A, Kurtul I, et al. Investigation of Age- and Gender-Related Changes in Anatomical Variables of the Cerebellum in Healthy Adults Using MR Imaging. Med Records. 2025;7(1):234-9. DOI:1037990/medr.1595432

Received: 06.12.2024 Accepted: 03.01.2025 Published: 15.01.2025

Corresponding Author: Gulcin Ray, Bolu Abant İzzet Baysal Universty, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Anatomy, Bolu, Türkiye

E-mail: g.ahmetoglu00@gmail.com

MATERIAL AND METHOD

The retrospective cross-sectional study was designed to present the morphometric changes of angular and linear variables of the cerebellum and cerebrum in a healthy adult Turkish population in relation to age and gender. Approval number 2024/61 was obtained from Clinical Research Ethics Committee, Bolu Abant İzzet Baysal University. Brain MR images taken between March and July 2024 and stored in the Picture Archiving and Communication Systems (PACS) of Bolu Abant Izzet Baysal University Training and Research Hospital, were used. Those diagnosed with cardiovascular, neurodegenerative, psychiatric diseases and those with ischemic attacks were excluded from the study. The sample group consisted of 300 healthy adults (150 women and 150 men) aged 25-55 years, and were divided into three age groups (25-34, 35-44, 45-55) and each group consists of 50 women and 50 men. Brain MR images obtained from the PACS archive were imported into MicroDicom DICOM Viewer 2024.1 (64 bit) for measurement of the identified variables. MR images were taken with 1.5 T Signa Explorer MRI Scanner (GE Medical Systems, Milwaukee, Wisconsin, USA. The measurements were performed by one person only to avoid inter-observer errors. Variables measured were as follow; diameter of the posterior cranial fossa (PDFC), MCRae line (MCL), Klaus index (KI), supraocciput length (LSO), height of the posterior cranial fossa (PHFC), cerebellum width (WCL), cerebrum height (HC), cerebellum height (HCL), anterior dural angle of the cerebellum (ADAC), clivus length (LC), clivus angle of the cerebellum (ACC), lateral diameter of the cerebellum (LDC), anteroposterior diameter of the left cerebellar hemisphere (LCHD), anteroposterior diameter of the right cerebellar hemisphere (RCHD). Demonstration of the variables are given in Figure 1.



Figure 1. 1-PDFC, 2-MCL, 3-KI, 4-LSO, 5-PHFC, 6-WCL, 7-HC, 8-HCL, 9-ADAC, 10-LC, 11-ACC, 12-LDC, 13-LCHD, 14-RCHD; PDFC: diameter of the posterior cranial fossa, MCL: MCRae line, KI: Klaus index, LSO: supraocciput length, PHFC: height of the posterior cranial fossa, WCL: cerebellum width, HC: cerebrum height, HCL: cerebellum height, ADAC: anterior dural angle of the cerebellum, LC: clivus length, ACC: clivus angle of the cerebellum, LDC: lateral diameter of the cerebellum, LCHD: anteroposterior diameter of the left cerebellar hemisphere, RCHD: anteroposterior diameter of the right cerebellar hemisphere

Statistical Analysis

Analyses were conducted with RStudio (23.12.1) opensource software program. A two-factor analysis of variance was performed for all the variables in relation with age and gender. The normality distribution of the residual values was then tested with the Anderson Darling Test. Logarithmic and square root transformation was applied for the variables that do not fit the normal distribution. It yielded no significant result. Nonparametric variables analyzed the differences with the Kruskal-Wallis Test. For the variables that were significant upon the analysis with this test, Mann Whitney U Test was applied in pairs and the differences were again analyzed. For nonparametric variables, the differences of the individuals forming the groups were analyzed with Mann Whitney U Test in terms of gender, and parametric variables were checked with two-factor analysis of variance. Tukey Test was applied as a post-hoc test for parametric variables for the significant differences among the groups. Additionally, for the significant variables among the individuals of each group in terms of gender, Independent T Test was employed. As descriptive statistics, mean and standard deviation (sd) values for parametric variables, median, minimum (min) and maximum (max) values for nonparametric variables were calculated. P<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

The median values for the age variable in males and females respectively were 27.5 and 29 in the first group, 38.5 and 40 in the second group, and both 50 in the third group. The difference between the groups in age, MCL, LSO, PHFC, HCL variables was statistically significant. All groups were statistically different from each other in the age variable (p<.001). The difference between the first and third groups for the MCL variable was statistically significant (p=0.018). For the LSO variable, the difference between the second and third groups was statistically significant (p=0.002). In the HCL variable, the difference between the first and second group was not statistically significant, while the difference between the first and second group and the third group was statistically significant (p=0.008). The difference between the first and the third group in the PHFC variable was statistically significant (p=0.012).

In analyzing the individuals forming the groups in terms of gender, it was found that the difference in the variables of KI, LC, PHFC, LDC, WCL, HC, RCHD, LCHD was statistically significant for the first group. For the second group, the difference in MCL, KI, LDC, HC, LCHD variables is statistically significant. For the third group, the difference in LC, LDC, HCL, WCL, HC, ACC, LCHD variables was statistically significant.

Descriptive statistics of the variables and the results of the analysis among the groups in terms of gender were given in Table 1 and Table 2. The boxplot graph of the variables with significant differences was shown in Figure 2.

Table 1. Descriptive statistics and analysis results of Age, MCL, KI, LC, LSO, PDFC, and PHFC variables						
Variable	Gender	G1 (N=100)	G2 (N=100)	G3 (N=100)	p-value	
Ago	M (n=50)	27.5 (25-34)	38.5 (35-45)	50 (45-55)	< 001*	
Age	F (n=50)	29 (25-34)	40 (35-44)	50 (45-55)	<.001 ²	
p-value*		0.088	0.455	0.692		
MCI	M (n=50)	40.39 (28.14-51.35)	38.47 (27.5-49.42)	37.89 (28.7-55.99)	0.019*	
MCL	F (n=50)	38.72 (28.67-51.54)	37.3 (26.94-45.48)	36.86 (24.06-51.9)	0.018	
p-value [∗]		0.242	0.037	0.079		
V I	M (n=50)	45.75±6.13	45.96±6.68	43.88±7.45	<.001*	
N	F (n=50)	40.33±5.42	40.82±5.57	40.61±5.69	0.901**	
p-value⁺		<.001	<.001	0.091	0.887***	
10	M (n=50)	36.47 (18.22-51.62)	34.52 (15.72-54.18)	37.92 (18.71-52.54)	0.254*	
	F (n=50)	31.79 (16.92-47.81)	31.6 (15.86-47.97)	33.8 (16.45-46.47)	0.234	
p-value [≠]		0.009	0.203	0.008		
180	M (n=50)	37.91±5.43	38.14±5.36	37.17±6.16	0.807*	
130	F (n=50)	37.17±4.74	40.07±5.89	35.64±5.46	0.002**	
p-value ⁺		0.985	0.503	0.734	0.069***	
DDEC	M (n=50)	96.59±6.39	96.06±8.13	94.07±7.33	0.001*	
PDFC	F (n=50)	93.88±7.22	93.11±5.96	91.71±7.32	0.055**	
p-value⁺		0.396	0.298	0.558	0.955***	
DHEC	M (n=50)	62.34±6.1	58.71±7.16	58.52±6.41	<.001*	
FULC	F (n=50)	56.69±5.63	56.21±5.92	55.26±7.71	0.012**	
p-value ⁺		<.001	0.398	0.128	0.206***	

≠: p values from Mann-Whitney U test; †: p-values in the result of the independent t-test; ≮: the p-value from the Kruskal-Wallis test; *: the p value showing the difference between genders in the two-factor analysis of variance; **: the p value showing the differences among the groups in the two-factor analysis of variance; **: the p-value indicating the interaction among the groups and between the gender in the two-factor analysis of variance

Table 2. Descriptive s	Table 2. Descriptive statistics and analysis results of LDC, HCL, WCL, HC, ADAC, ACC, RCHD, and LCHD variables					
Variable	Gender	G1 (N=100)	G2 (N=100)	G3 (N=100)	p-value	
	M (n=50)	105.87±5.11	106.68±3.48	104.88±4.07	<.001*	
LDC	F (n=50)	101.98±3.5	101.8±4.43	101.96±5.05	0.404**	
p-value ⁺		<.001	<.001	0.01	0.282***	
ЦСІ	M (n=50)	52.78±4.54	51.42±5.19	51±4.64	<.001*	
HUL	F (n=50)	50.06±3.77	51.36±5.01	48.21±5.08	0.008**	
p-value ⁺		0.050	0.999	0.039	0.067***	
WCI	M (n=50)	165.94 (142.46-190)	163.16 (147.65-183.71)	168.57 (141.66-181.91)	0.490*	
WUL	F (n=50)	162.6 (137.18-177.15)	161.17 (70.83-182.05)	159.64 (107.04-176.18)	0.489*	
p-value [≠]		0.007	0.090	<.001		
110	M (n=50)	100.5 (65.15-114.68)	98.72 (67.96-110.2)	96.4 (80.6-111.73)	0 100*	
HC	F (n=50)	93.14 (65.03-106.52)	93.76 (10.54-109.65)	93.7 (63.85-104.2)	0.198	
p-value [≠]		<.001	<.001	0.006		
	M (n=50)	12.35±1.8	12.12±1.56	11.81±1.92	0.185*	
ADAC	F (n=50)	12.65±2.11	12.4±2.68	12.17±2.15	0.220**	
p-value ⁺		0.976	0.985	0.948	0.988***	
400	M (n=50)	26.22 (20.4-33.85)	26.73 (19.39-33.4)	25.16 (16.34-32.03)	0.210*	
ACC	F (n=50)	27.91 (20.31-36.8)	26.52 (19-50.13)	26.73 (19.44-33.46)	0.319	
p-value [≠]		0.180	0.917	0.034		
ренр	M (n=50)	50.21±4.26	49.36±3.47	49.79±5.03	0.001*	
KCHD	F (n=50)	47.58±4.08	48.18±3.79	49.09±4.01	0.478**	
p-value ⁺		0.020	0.710	0.958	0.203***	
	M (n=50)	53 (39.16-59)	52.16 (39.94-61.38)	52.19 (26.44-62.64)	0.690*	
LCHU	F (n=50)	49.64 (32.68-58.22)	50.03 (42.56-56.94)	49.45 (41.7-58.45)	0.009	
p-value [≠]		0.001	0.004	0.002		

≠: p values from Mann-Whitney U test; †: p-values in the result of the independent t-test; ⊀: the p-value from the Kruskal-Wallis test; *: the p value showing the differences between the genders in the two-factor analysis of variance; **: the p value showing the differences among the groups in the two-factor analysis of variance; **: the p-value indicating the interaction among the groups and between the genders in the two-factor analysis of variance;



Figure 2. Boxplot for Age, PHFC, LSO, MCL and HCL variables

DISCUSSION

Anatomical and physiological changes in healthy individuals during the life span starting with the birth process and continuing into old age have been the subject of several research. In particular, the evaluation of agerelated changes in healthy brain and its parts allows to help detection of pathological conditions and monitoring of changes in the brain caused by the natural aging process (18). The changes seen in the brain with aging are accompanied by deterioration in cognitive functions and this is also affected by gender (19). In this regard, the present study aims to fill the gap in literature by reporting the changes in cerebellum morphometry according to age and gender in healthy adults aged 25-55 years. While age-related changes have been found to be statistically significant for the MCL, LSO, PHFC and HCL variables evaluated in the study, it has also been determined that most variables show gender-related changes within the groups.

This age- and gender-related change observed in the present study is supported by several studies in literature.

In a longitudinal study conducted in healthy children and adolescents to examine cerebellum development (3), the cerebellum volume has been found to be higher in males, even when compared to total brain volume. The fact that this difference is larger during adolescence indicates that this organ shows gender dimorphism. Another study (18), which aimed to assess the correlation of volumetric changes in the cerebellum with age and gender in healthy participants, has found a larger volume in males in all age groups, suggesting that this result may reflect gender differences in the body as well. Another research aiming to evaluate the correlation of white and gray matter and volumetric variables with cognitive functions with aging in the brain (19) has found an age-related decrease in the volumes of gray and white matter regions in both sexes. Moreover, differences have been observed between genders in the regions where the volume has decreased and in the slope of the decrease. Another study (20), which aimed to present the effect of aging on cerebellum volume, has grouped participants between the ages of 25 and 65 as early and late adults. As a result of the study, it has been reported that a decrease in cerebellum volume and atrophy

in gray matter have been observed in the late adult group. In a similar study (21), aging-related morphologic changes in the cerebellum in healthy participants between the ages of 20 and 80 have been presented with the convolutional neural network method. It has been found that aging causes a significant decrease in the absolute volumes of cerebellum subregions and atrophies in some cerebellar regions are more pronounced in men. In a study (22) designed with the method of convolutional neural network and aiming to reveal resent the gender differences of the cerebrum and cerebellum, it has been found that some subregions of the cerebellum show gender dimorphism. Another study evaluating brain volume changes in relation to aging has reported a decrease in brain volume and cerebellar atrophy (23). A study involving participants aged between 50 and 95 years (24) has examined the changes in the regions of the cerebellum during normal aging. The findings of the study have indicated that aging-related volumetric atrophy in several subregions of the cerebellum, and in addition, the findings have been affected by gender. In another study designed to reflect the morphometry of the lobules of the cerebellum and its relationship with cognitive status in healthy elderly people (25), segmentation method has been used, suggesting that there is a decrease in lobule volumes and cognition from middle age to old age.

Research involving in the measurements of linear variables of the cerebellum in a Sudanese population (26), contrary to the present study, has found no significant result between the age and the variables. Furthermore, the study findings have been found to be lower compared to the present study. This difference is thought to be due to the different populations, age distribution, and number of participants included in the case. Another study (27) on the evaluation of the variables of the posterior cranial fossa in a healthy population in relation to age and gender, has documented higher LSO variables than the present study while the other variables have been observed to be lower. The difference observed has not been found to be statistically significant, as in the present study, but the gender-related change was significant. Likewise, another report (28) which has analyzed the MCL variable using a bone collection from a South Indian population for the craniovertebral junction analysis, has reached a lower result than the present study. This is thought to be because different populations have been studied and the current study used MR images that also reflect soft tissues as a method. Furthermore, a study investigating the morphometry of the cranium, cerebrum and cerebellum in patients diagnosed with tonsillar herniation (29), has shown lower values of the linear variables in patients, as compared to healthy controls. The morphometric values of the control group have had very similar patterns, in comparison with the values of the present study. Yet, another study (30) performed on the morphometric analysis on brain MR images in patients between the ages of 20 and 65 diagnosed with Chiari malformation and healthy control subjects, has revealed volumetric decreases in the patient group. In the control group, on the other hand, the LC variable has been

significantly higher and the MCL and KI variables lower than those in the present study. Finally, another report (31) focusing on the morphometric evaluation of the posterior cranial fossa in patients with Chiari malformation, has found higher values in the LC, LSO and HCL variables for the control group, in comparison with the present study. Although this difference between the studies has not been statistically significant, it may be attributed to the fact that the sample group in the present study consists of more participants.

Consequently, it is of essential to indicate that the study has certain limitations such as the retrospective design, the fact that radiological analyzes have been performed by a single specialist, the lack of participants from advanced age groups in the sample group, and the lack of variables evaluating hormonal processes such as childbirth and breastfeeding process in female participants.

CONCLUSION

The age-related change has been found to be statistically significant for MCL, LSO, PHFC, and HCL variables evaluated in the study. In the analysis of the individuals comprising the groups in terms of gender, it has been determined that the differences in KI, LC, PHFC, LDC, WCL, HC, RCHD, LCHD variables for the first group are statistically significant. For the second group, the differences in MCL, KI, LDC, HC, LCHD variables are statistically significant. For the differences in LC, LDC, HCL, WCL, HC, ACC, LCHD variables have been found to be statistically significant. It is thought that the present study provides a structural basis for the clinic by presenting atrophic changes in cerebellum morphometry during healthy aging with the effect of gender.

This study was presented orally at the 2nd International Congress of Multidisciplinary Medical and Health Sciences Studies on May 27-28, 2024.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: Approval number 2024/61 was obtained from Clinical Research Ethics Committee, Bolu Abant İzzet Baysal University.

REFERENCES

- 1. Dekeyzer S, Vanden Bossche S, De Cocker L. Anything but little: a pictorial review on anatomy and pathology of the cerebellum. Clin Neuroradiol. 2023;33:907-29.
- Taşdemir R, Uysal İİ, Durduran SS. Effects of age and sex on cerebellum and ventral pons volume- MRI study. Exp Appl Med Sci. 2020;1:45-51.
- 3. Tiemeier H, Lenroot RK, Greenstein DK, et al. Cerebellum development during childhood and adolescence: a longitudinal morphometric MRI study. Neuroimage. 2010;49:63-70.

- 4. Kim JH, Park JW, Tae WS, Rhyu IJ. Cerebral cortex changes in basketball players. J Korean Med Sci. 2022;21:37:e86.
- 5. Rudolph S, Badura A, Lutzu S, et al. Cognitive-affective functions of the cerebellum. J Neurosci. 2023; 43:7554-64.
- 6. Diedrichsen J, King M, Hernandez-Castillo C, et al. Universal transform or multiple functionality? Understanding the contribution of the human cerebellum across task domains. Neuron. 2019;102:918-28.
- 7. Zang Y, De Schutter E. Recent data on the cerebellum require new models and theories. Current Opinion in Neurobiology. 2023;82:102765.
- 8. Zhai H, Fan W, Xiao Y, et al. Voxel based morphometry of grey matter structures in Parkinson's Disease with wearing of. Brain Imaging Behav. 2023;17:725-37.
- 9. Liu HY, Lee PL, Chou KH, et al. The cerebellum is associated with 2-year prognosis in patients with high-frequency migraine. J Headache Pain. 2020;21:29.
- 10. Syaifullah AH, Shiino A, Fujiyoshi A, et al. Alcohol drinking and brain morphometry in apparently healthy communitydwelling Japanese men. Alcohol. 2021;90:57-65.
- 11. Durazzo TC, Mon A, Pennington D, et al. Interactive effects of chronic cigarette smoking and age on brain volumes in controls and alcohol-dependent individuals in early abstinence. Addict Biol. 2012;19:132-43.
- 12. Hänggi J, Langer N, Lutz K, et al. Structural brain correlates associated with professional handball playing. PLoS One. 2015;10:e0124222.
- 13. Park IS, Han JW, Lee KJ, et al. Evaluation of morphological plasticity in the cerebella of basketball players with MRI. J Korean Med Sci. 2006;21:342-6.
- Iskusnykh IY, Zakharova AA, Kryl'skii ED, Popova TN. Aging, neurodegenerative disorders, and cerebellum. Int J Mol Sci. 2024;25:1018.
- 15. Wei Y, Jiang H, Shi Y, et al. Age-related alterations in the retinal microvasculature, microcirculation, and microstructure. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2017;58:3804-17. Erratum in: Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2017;58:4247.
- Karaca O, Demirtas D, Ozcan E, et al. Volumetric evaluation of substantia nigra in major depressive disorder using atlasbased method. Med Records. 2024;6:190-5.
- Johnstone T, van Reekum CM, Oakes TR, Davidson RJ. The voice of emotion: an FMRI study of neural responses to angry and happy vocal expressions. Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci. 2006;1:242-9.
- Baykan AH, Karabaş SA, Doğan Z, et al. Assessment of ageand sex-dependent changes of cerebellum volume in healthy individuals using magnetic resonance imaging. J Surg Med. 2019;3:481-4.

- 19. Sang F, Chen Y, Chen K, et al. Sex differences in cortical morphometry and white matter microstructure during brain aging and their relationships to cognition. Cereb Cortex. 2021;31:5253-62.
- 20. Stalter J, Yogeswaran V, Vogel W, et al. The impact of aging on morphometric changes in the cerebellum: a voxel-based morphometry study. Front Aging Neurosci. 2023;15:1078448.
- 21. Wang Y, Teng Y, Liu T, et al. Morphological changes in the cerebellum during aging: evidence from convolutional neural networks and shape analysis. Front Aging Neurosci. 2024;16:1359320.
- 22. Gao Y, Tang Y, Zhang H, et al. Sex differences of cerebellum and cerebrum: evidence from graph convolutional network. Interdiscip Sci. 2022;14:532-44.
- 23. Hayretdağ Örs C, Tiryakioğlu NO, Varol T. Examination of age related volume changes in brain by magnetic resonance imaging method. IGUSABDER. 2018;5:407-20.
- 24. Han S, An Y, Carass A. et al. Longitudinal analysis of regional cerebellum volumes during normal aging. Neuroimage. 2020;220:117062.
- 25. Uwisengeyimana JD, Nguchu BA, Wang Y, et al. Cognitive function and cerebellar morphometric changes relate to abnormal intra-cerebellar and cerebro-cerebellum functional connectivity in old adults. Exp Gerontol. 2020;140:111060.
- Sied Ahmed HOM, Hassan HA, Ayad CE. Norms for cerebellum in Sudanese – a morphometric MRI based study. IOSR Journal of Dental and Medical Sciences (IOSR-JDMS). 2017;16:24-31.
- 27. Öksüzler M, Polat S, Çay Eİ, Göker P. The relationship of the posterior cranial fossa with age and sex. Int J Morphol. 2021;39:1371-82.
- 28. Pavithra A.S., Premavathy D. Estimation of McRae line, McGregor line, and Chamberlain line in South Indian dry skull. Drug Invention Today. 2019;12:848-50.
- 29. Taştemur Y, Sabanciogullari V, Salk I. et al. The relationship of the posterior cranial fossa, the cerebrum and cerebellum morphometry with tonsiller herniation. Iran J Radiol. 2017;14:e24436.
- Alkoç OA, Songur A, Eser O, et al. Stereological and morphometric analysis of MRI Chiari malformation type-1. J Korean Neurosurg Soc. 2015;58:454-61.
- 31. Vurallı D, Öksüzler M. Radiological determination of fossa cranii posterior morphometry in Chiari malformation type I. Cukurova Med J. 2022;47:1067-72.

MEDICAL RECORDS-International Medical Journal

Research Article



Can First Trimester Plasma Protein A Level Predict Gestational **Diabetes Mellitus**

Sema Baki Yildirim¹,
Neslihan Bezirganoglu Altintas²,
OAli Muhtaroglu³,
Mehmet Albayrak⁴

¹Giresun University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Giresun, Türkiye ²Kanuni Training and Research Hospital, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Trabzon, Türkiye ³Giresun University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of General Surgery, Giresun, Türkiye

⁴Giresun Gynaecology and Paediatrics Training and Research Hospital, Department of Gynaecology and Obstetrics, Division of Perinatology, Giresun, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International Licensel



Abstract

Aim: Gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM), a condition with multifactorial etiology and adverse perinatal consequences, affects approximately 15% of pregnancies globally, with higher prevalence in certain populations, such as Türkiye. The role of pregnancyassociated plasma protein-A (PAPP-A) on GDM risk remains unclear. This prospective study aimed to assess whether first-trimester maternal PAPP-A levels are predictive of GDM.

Material and Method: This study involved 573 singleton pregnancies in women aged 18 to 45 years, conducted at a tertiary maternity hospital. PAPP-A and free β-hCG were assessed, and GDM screening was carried out using a 75 g oral glucose tolerance test. Comprehensive statistical analyses were applied to evaluate the findings.

Results: Of the participants, 28.09% were diagnosed with GDM. GDM group exhibited significantly lower PAPP-A MoM levels compared to controls (p=0.042). ROC analysis revealed limited predictive utility, with a PAPP-A threshold of 0.99 demonstrating 52.3% sensitivity and 51.7% specificity. Logistic regression identified low PAPP-A levels, advanced maternal age, and higher body mass index (BMI) as independent GDM risk factors.

Conclusion: While the findings underscore a potential association between PAPP-A levels and GDM, the predictive capacity of PAPP-A alone is modest. Future research should explore integrated predictive models incorporating PAPP-A and other biomarkers for improved early GDM screening.

Keywords: Gestational diabetes, pregnancy-associated plasma protein-A, pregnancy

INTRODUCTION

Gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) is a condition characterized by impaired glucose metabolism first recognized during pregnancy and diagnosed within the gestational period (1,2) and complicates approximately 15% of all pregnancies (3). The prevalence of GDM varies significantly across different countries, with studies in Türkive indicating a high prevalence rate of 27.9%, which surpasses the rates observed in many other nations (4-6). Given the direct relationship between maternal exposure to GDM and both long/short-term adverse outcomes in offspring, it is crucial to assess the accuracy of any diagnostics, using routine first or second trimester maternal biomarkers, to identify women at risk of GDM (7).

The etiology of GDM is considered to be multifactorial (1). In the pathogenesis of GDM, the role of Pregnancy Associated Plasma Protein-A (PAPP-A) has not been fully

elucidated (1,8). PAPP-A is a biomarker utilized during firsttrimester screening to assess the risk of fetal aneuploidies such as Down syndrome (trisomy 21), trisomy 13, and trisomy 18 (9). Its involvement in glucose regulation is notable, as reduced PAPP-A levels may contribute to glucose intolerance and the development of gestational diabetes. Assessing PAPP-A levels may offer important insights for predicting and addressing metabolic disorders in pregnancy (8,10).

Research examining the relationship between PAPP-A levels and the risk of diagnosing GDM has produced varying outcomes, emphasizing the absence of a clear consensus in the current scientific literature(10-14).

The aim of this study is to investigate whether PAPP-A levels are associated with the risk of developing GDM. Additionally, the study evaluates the potential value of PAPP-A as a stand alone biomarker in predicting the risk of GDM.

CITATION

Baki Yildirim S, Bezirganoglu Altintas N, Muhtaroglu A, Albayrak M. Can First Trimester Plasma Protein A Level Predict Gestational Diabetes Mellitus. Med Records. 2025;7(1):240-4. DOI:1037990/medr.1598384

Received: 08.12.2024 Accepted: 02.01.2025 Published: 15.01.2025

Corresponding Author: Mehmet Albayrak, Giresun Gynaecology and Paediatrics Training and Research Hospital, Department of Gynaecology and Obstetrics, Division of Perinatology, Giresun, Türkiye E-mail: albyrkmhmt@gmail.com

MATERIAL AND METHOD

From July 2021 to December 2022, a tertiary care maternity hospital hosted this prospective observational study. The study enrolled singleton pregnant women aged 18 to 45 years, with PAPP-A and free β human chorionic gonadotrophin (free β -hCG) levels measured between 11 and 14 weeks of gestation for fetal aneuploidy screening. A 75 g oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) was also conducted during the study period.

Using a 75 g OGTT, GDM screening was carried out between weeks 24 and 28 of pregnancy. Patients with pregestational diabetes, those using immunosuppressive medication, those having chronic illnesses or infections identified prior to pregnancy, those who had numerous pregnancies, and those on hormone therapy were not included. Fetal abnormalities identified prenatally were also excluded. Additionally excluded were those having obstetric problems such hemolysis, elevated liver enzymes and low platelets (HELLP) syndrome, pre-eclampsia, or prenatal hypertension. The research protocol received approval from the Local Ethics Committee (approval number E2-21-513). During patient interviews, the following information was noted: smoking, age, parity, gestational week. Two milliliters of venous blood were drawn and placed in yellow-capped BD Vacutainer® SSTTM (Serum Separator Tube) tubes for aneuploidy screening. The tubes were then left to clot for twenty minutes. Serum was subsequently extracted from the samples by centrifuging them for 15 minutes at 1000 × g in a NÜVE NF 800R Refrigerated Centrifuge. Serum free β-Hcg and PAPP-A levels were assessed using the Siemens Immulite 2000 XPi Immunoassav System (Siemens, Los Angeles, USA) and the Chemiluminescence Immunoassay (CLIA) method. The PRISCA 5 Prenatal Risk Assessment Software was used to analyze the findings. 161 (28.09%) of

the 573 pregnant women developed GDM. GDM cases had significantly lower maternal PAPP-A MoM concentrations than the control group (p=0.042). Furthermore, the low PAPP-A group had significantly greater maternal age (p=0.036) and body mass index (BMI) (p<0.01), respectively. The PAPP-A multiple of the median (MoM) level threshold value for predicting GDM was established by ROC analysis. 161 (28.09%) of the 573 pregnant women developed GDM. In the group with low PAPP-A levels, both maternal age (p=0.036) and BMI (p<0.01) were significantly higher. A p-value of less than 0.05 is regarded as suggestive of statistical significance, and statistical analyses were conducted using SPSS software version 25.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Frequency distributions were used to summarize categorical data, while mean±SD or median values were used to express continuous variables along with the interquartile range (IQR). Fisher's exact test or the chi-square test were used for categorical variable analysis, and the independent t-test or the Mann-Whitney U test, as appropriate, were used for group comparisons for continuous variables.

RESULTS

This study comprised 573 pregnant women with singleton pregnancies. 412 (71.91%) of the participants did not have a GDM diagnosis, while 161 (28.09%) did. Two groups of participants were formed based on their PAPP-A levels; PAPP-A levels were normal in 453 women and low in 121 women. Pregnant with GDM exhibited a median PAPP-A MoM of 0.68 (interquartile range [IQR]: 0.30–1.63), whereas pregnant without GDM had a median value of 0.85 (IQR: 0.32–2.49) (Table 1). GDM was linked to a low serum PAPP-A MoM level (p=0.042). However, women with and without GDM did not significantly differ in their levels of free β -hCG (p=0.801) (Table 2).

Table 1. Maternal and pregnancy characteristics of the study population characteristics PAPP-A MoM					
	PAPP-A MoM<0.4 (n=120)	PAPP-A MoM≥0.4 (n=453)	p-value		
Maternal age	32.61 (±4.8)	29.5±5.4	0.036		
Gravida	2.4±1,6	1.9±1	0.000		
Weight (kg)	70.4±10	68.1±11	0.023		
BMI (kg/m²)	30.2±4.4	27.6±3.4	0.000		
Smoker (n)	2 (1.66%)	6 (1.32%)	0.019		
Gestational age	12	11.7±0.2	0.468		
DMI: hady many index, DADD A: programmy appropriated plasma pratein A. MaMi multiple of the median					

BMI: body mass index, PAPP-A : pregnancy-associated plasma protein-A, MoM: multiple of the median

Table 2. Median values of maternal serum biomarkers and nuchal translucency length in women with Gestational diabetes mellitus and normal pregnancies

	GDM group (n=161)	Non-GDM group (n=412)	P value
free-βhCG MoM, median (IQR)	0.76 (0.38-3.6)	0.68 (0.45-2.6)	0.801
free-βhCG (MU/L) median (IQR)	25.9 (14.7-146)	30.4 (14.3-97)	0.941
PAPP-A MoM, median (IQR)	0.68 (0.30-1.63)	0.85 (0.32-2.49)	0.042
PAPP-A (MU/L) median (IQR)	2.24 (0.60-10)	3.57 (0.47-10)	0.06

Data are presented as median (IQR); The mann-Whitney test was employed to compare the numerical variables between groups Gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM), free β -human chorionic gonadotropin (f β -hCG), Interquartile range (IQR), Multiple of the median (MoM), pregnancy associated plasma protein A (PAP-A)

The independent risk factors linked to GDM were found using binary logistic regression analysis. The study discovered that lower PAPP-A MoM levels (OR=0.893, p=0.020), older maternal age (OR=1.030, p=0.001), and greater maternal weight (OR=1.028, p=0.001) were significant independent

risk factors for GDM (Table 3). ROC analysis revealed that the PAPP-A MoM concentration threshold value for predicting GDM was 0.99. This threshold showed 52.3% sensitivity and 51.7% specificity. Its area under the curve (AUC) was 0.527, with a 95% CI of 0.46–0.59 (Figure 1).

Table 3. Investigation of the risk factors for GDM using binary logistic regression analysis OR 95%CI SE P value						
	OP	95% C.I	Divolue			
	UK	Lower	Upper	P value		
PAPP-A MoM	0.893	0.807	0.990	0.020		
Maternal age	1.030	1.022	1.034	0.001		
Weight	1.028	1.026	1.034	0.001		

Binary logistic analysis was used to evaluate the relationship between GDM and maternal factors Odds ratio (OR), confidence interval (CI), multiple of the median (MoM), pregnancy-associated plasma protein A (PPAP-A)





Analysis of Risk Factors

The following independent risk variables for GDM were found using binary logistic regression analysis:

- 1. Lower levels of PAPP-A MoM (OR=0.893, 95% CI: 0.807-0.990, p=0.020).
- 2. Maternal age at advanced age shows a significant association (OR=1.030, 95% CI: 1.022-1.034, p=0.001).
- Greater maternal weight (p=0.001, OR=1.028, 95% CI: 1.026-1.034). The predictive value of PAPP-A for GDM and the usefulness of PAPP-A levels as a predictive marker for GDM were evaluated using ROC curve analysis. With a PAPP-A MoM threshold of 0.99, 52.3% sensitivity and 51.7% specificity were obtained. The area under the curve (AUC) was 0.473 with a 95% CI of: 0.523-0.561, suggesting that PAPP-A's prognostic power as a stand-alone marker for GDM is limited (Table 3).

DISCUSSION

This research explored the connection between PAPP-A and the likelihood of developing GDM. The results indicated that maternal PAPP-A levels were notably lower in individuals with GDM compared to those without, consistent with prior studies linking decreased PAPP-A levels to adverse pregnancy outcomes, including GDM (10-12,15-17). Despite this correlation, the standalone predictive value of PAPP-A for GDM was found to be modest, emphasizing the need for further exploration of integrated approaches to risk prediction.

Role of Insulin Resistance (IR) in GDM remains the cornerstone of GDM pathophysiology. Pregnancy naturally induces a state of IR, which is exacerbated due to decreased β -cell function and insulin receptor activity in adipose tissue (18,19). In this study, both age and BMI were significantly higher in GDM patients, consistent with earlier reports (1,19). Interventions aimed at improving maternal glucose metabolism in early pregnancy may reduce GDM risk; however, late diagnosis often limits the effectiveness of preventive measures (20).

PAPP-A is plays a key role in modulating the activity of insulin-like growth factors (IGFs) by breaking down IGF binding proteins, thereby affecting the bioavailability of IGFs. It has been extensively studied in various scenarios, including its significance during pregnancy and its association with conditions such as GDM and diabetic nephropathy. This mechanism is critical for placental development, functionality, and fetal growth (8-10). IGFs also play a pivotal role in modulating insulin sensitivity. Reduced PAPP-A levels in early pregnancy may impair IGF function, thereby contributing to glucose intolerance and IR. Supporting this hypothesis, recent meta-analyses and studies have linked low PAPP-A levels with GDM and other complications, including fetal growth restriction and preeclampsia (9,21-23). However, the predictive capacity of PAPP-A remains controversial, as sensitivity and specificity for GDM prediction are limited (24).

In some studies, no association has been found between PAPP-A and GDM (13,14,25). This inconsistency may

be attributed to differences in patient characteristics, diagnostic criteria, and varying severity of GDM. PAPP-A levels did not alter in women with GDM who needed insulin treatment between weeks 11 and 14 of pregnancy, according to Husslein et al. (26).

Therefore, combining PAPP-A measurements with other clinical tests may be necessary for better prediction of GDM risk. Since it was not within the scope of our study, we did not combine or compare other routinely checked markers with PAPP-A for GDM prediction (27).

Ethnic Variations in Biomarker Levels

Ethnic diversity is a critical factor. Variations in PAPP-A, free β -hCG, and placental growth factor (PIGF) levels across ethnic groups have been documented, with Asian women generally exhibiting higher PAPP-A levels and lower PLGF levels than in Caucasian populations (28). Despite these differences, studies investigating PAPP-A and its relationship with GDM in specific populations, such as Chinese women, remain limited (28). Future research should address these gaps to develop population-specific predictive models that account for ethnic variability.

Study Limitations

The primary limitations of this study include its singlecenter design and the relatively small sample size, which may restrict the generalizability of the findings to broader populations. Second, we did not classify GDM cases by severity or type, which may influence biomarker associations. Third, adverse neonatal and maternal outcomes associated with GDM were beyond the scope of this research. Future studies with larger, multicenter cohorts should explore the combined predictive value of PAPP-A with other clinical and biochemical markers. Additionally, longitudinal studies assessing the dynamic changes in biomarker levels throughout pregnancy could provide deeper insights into the temporal relationships between biomarkers and GDM development.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, while first-trimester PAPP-A levels were inversely associated with GDM risk, their predictive accuracy as a standalone marker was limited. Integrating PAPP-A with other biomarkers and maternal risk factors holds potential for enhancing early GDM prediction. Given the rising prevalence of GDM and its implications for maternal and neonatal health, further research is essential to establish robust, clinically applicable predictive models for early intervention and improved outcomes.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: The research protocol received approval from the Local Ethics Committee (approval number E2-21-513).

REFERENCES

- 1. Yanachkova V, Staynova R, Stankova T, Kamenov Z. Placental growth factor and pregnancy-associated plasma protein-A as potential early predictors of gestational diabetes mellitus. Medicina (Kaunas). 2023;59:398.
- 2. American Diabetes Association Professional Practice Committee. 2. classification and diagnosis of diabetes: standards of medical care in diabetes-2022. Diabetes Care. 2022;45:S17-38.
- 3. Modzelewski R, Stefanowicz-Rutkowska MM, Matuszewski W, Bandurska-Stankiewicz EM. Gestational diabetes mellitusrecent literature review. J Clin Med. 2022;11:5736.
- Aktün HL, Uyan D, Yorgunlar B, et al. Gestational diabetes mellitus screening and outcomes. J Turk Ger Gynecol Assoc. 2015;16:25-9.
- Balık G, Şahin Baydur S, Tekin Bayoğlu Y, et al. The prevalence of gestational diabetes mellitus in pregnants who applied to the maternity outpatient clinic of a university hospital. EJM. 2016;55:55-8.
- Karaçam Z, Çelİk D. The prevalence and risk factors of gestational diabetes mellitus in Turkey: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2021;34:1331-41.
- Sezer H, Yazici D, Canbaz HB, et al. The frequency of acceptance of oral glucose tolerance test in Turkish pregnant women: a single tertiary center results. North Clin Istanb. 2022;9:140-8.
- 8. Patil M, Panchanadikar TM, Wagh G. Variation of papp-a level in the first trimester of pregnancy and its clinical outcome. J Obstet Gynaecol India. 2014;64:116-9.
- Wu YT, Zhang CJ, Mol BW, et al. Early prediction of gestational diabetes mellitus in the Chinese population via advanced machine learning. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2021;106:e1191-205.
- Saruhan Z, Ozekinci M, Simsek M, et al. Association of first trimester low PAPP-A levels with adverse pregnancy outcomes. Clin Exp Obstet Gynecol. 2012;39:225-8.
- 11. Petry CJ, Hughes IA, Ong KK. Increased basal insulin sensitivity in late pregnancy in women carrying a male fetus: a cohort study. Biol Sex Differ. 2022;13:20.
- Rojas-Rodriguez R, Ziegler R, DeSouza T, et al. PAPPAmediated adipose tissue remodeling mitigates insulin resistance and protects against gestational diabetes in mice and humans. Sci Transl Med. 2020;12:eaay4145.
- 13. Savvidou MD, Syngelaki A, Muhaisen M, et al. First trimester maternal serum free β -human chorionic gonadotropin and pregnancy-associated plasma protein A in pregnancies complicated by diabetes mellitus. Bjog. 2012;119:410-6.
- 14. Cheuk QK, Lo TK, Wong SF, et al. Association between pregnancy-associated plasma protein- A levels in the first trimester and gestational diabetes mellitus in Chinese women. Hong Kong Med J. 2016;22:30-8.
- 15. Visconti F, Quaresima P, Chiefari E, et al. First trimester combined test (FTCT) as a predictor of gestational diabetes mellitus. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2019;16:3654.

- 16. Sweeting AN, Wong J, Appelblom H, et al. A novel early pregnancy risk prediction model for gestational diabetes mellitus. Fetal Diagn Ther. 2019;45:76-84.
- 17. Borna S, Ashrafzadeh M, Ghaemi M, et al. Correlation between PAPP-A serum levels in the first trimester of pregnancy with the occurrence of gestational diabetes, a multicenter cohort study. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2023;23:847.
- 18. Gastaldelli A, Gaggini M, DeFronzo RA. Role of adipose tissue insulin resistance in the natural history of type 2 diabetes: results from the San Antonio metabolism study. Diabetes. 2017;66:815-22.
- 19. Caliskan R, Atis A, Aydin Y, et al. PAPP-A concentrations change in patients with gestational diabetes. Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology. 2020;40:190-4.
- 20. Takele WW, Vesco KK, Josefson J, et al. Effective interventions in preventing gestational diabetes mellitus: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Commun Med (Lond). 2024;4:75.
- 21. Xiao D, Chenhong W, Yanbin X, et al. Gestational diabetes mellitus and first trimester pregnancy-associated plasma protein A: a case-control study in a Chinese population. J Diabetes Investig. 2018;9:204-10.
- 22. Ramezani S, Doulabi MA, Saqhafi H, et al. Prediction of gestational diabetes by measuring the levels of pregnancy associated plasma protein-A (PAPP-A) during gestation weeks 11-14. J Reprod Infertil. 2020;21:130-7.

- 23. Ren Z, Zhe D, Li Z, et al. Study on the correlation and predictive value of serum pregnancy- associated plasma protein A, triglyceride and serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels with gestational diabetes mellitus. World J Clin Cases. 2020;8:864-73.
- 24. Talasaz ZH, Sadeghi R, Askari F, et al. First trimesters pregnancy-associated plasma protein-A levels value to predict gestational diabetes mellitus: a systematic review and meta-analysis of the literature. Taiwan J Obstet Gynecol. 2018;57:181-9.
- Yanachkova VE, Staynova R, Bochev I, et al. Potential role of biochemical placentation markers - pregnancy associated plasma protein-A and human chorionic gonadotropin for early gestational diabetes screening - a pilot study. Ginekol Pol. 2021 Sep 20. doi: 10.5603/GP.a2021.0129. [Epub ahead of print].
- 26. Husslein H, Lausegger F, Leipold H, et al. Association between pregnancy-associated plasma protein-A and gestational diabetes requiring insulin treatment at 11-14 weeks of gestation. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2012;25:2230-3.
- Kantomaa T, Vääräsmäki M, Gissler M, et al. First trimester maternal serum PAPP-A and free β-hCG levels and risk of SGA or LGA in women with and without GDM. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2024;24:580.
- Leung TY, Spencer K, Leung TN, et al. Higher median levels of free β-hCG and PAPP-A in the first trimester of pregnancy in a chinese ethnic group: implication for first trimester combined screening for down's syndrome in the Chinese population. Fetal Diagn Ther. 2005;21:140-3.



Investigation of Normalized Volume Ratios of Motor and Sensory Cortices on Magnetic Resonance Images in Parkinson's Disease Patients: An Automatic Brain Segmentation Study

Derna Dogan¹, Mert Nahir¹, Orhan Sumbul²

¹Tokat Gaziosmanpaşa University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Anatomy, Tokat, Türkiye ²Tokat Gaziosmanpaşa University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Neurology, Tokat, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License



Abstract

Aim: This study evaluates structural changes in the normalized volume ratios of the motor and sensory cortices in Parkinson's patients and compares these changes with healthy individuals to assess the disease's impact on brain structure.

Material and Method: The study included 55 Parkinson's patients (14 females, 41 males) and 28 control subjects (7 females, 21 males). The volumes of the precentral gyrus, paracentral lobulus, and postcentral gyrus were calculated using the BrainSuite automated segmentation software. Regional gray matter volumes were normalized by dividing them by the intracranial volume, and these normalized values were used for comparisons. Volumetric analyses were conducted on the precentral gyrus, postcentral gyrus, and paracentral lobulus to assess their morphological changes associated with Parkinson's disease.

Results: Results: In the left hemisphere, the normalized gray matter volume ratios of the postcentral gyrus were found to be lower in Parkinson's patients ($0.82\%\pm0.09$) compared to the control group ($0.88\%\pm0.09$) (p<0.05). According to MANOVA analysis, significant differences were observed in the normalized gray matter volumes of the precentral gyrus (KEK=0.069, p=0.001) and postcentral gyrus (KEK=0.300, p<0.001) concerning hemisphere and age variables. Significant differences were found in the precentral gyrus (KEK=0.034, p=0.019) and paracentral lobule (KEK=0.026, p=0.041) based on gender. In terms of group differences, a significant result was found in the postcentral gyrus (KEK=0.071, p=0.001) when comparing Parkinson's disease patients and healthy controls, while no significant differences were observed in the precentral gyrus (KEK=0.011, p=0.193) and paracentral lobule (KEK=0.000, p=0.792).

Conclusion: Significant structural differences were identified in the normalized gray matter volumes of Parkinson's patients, specifically in the left postcentral gyrus, where a reduction in volume was observed compared to the control group. This study highlights the importance of normalization in accurately assessing volumetric differences and provides valuable insights into the structural changes associated with Parkinson's disease, contributing to the existing literature.

Keywords: Precentral gyrus, paracentral lobulus, postcentral gyrus, intracranial volume, BrainSuite

INTRODUCTION

The primary motor cortex is located in the precentral gyrus region of the frontal lobe and plays a role in initiating voluntary movement. The motor cortex is connected to various structures, including the parietal lobe, premotor cortex, supplementary motor areas, basal ganglia, and cerebellum (1,2). It also receives afferent information from somatosensory, premotor and supplementary motor areas. On the other hand, the primary sensory cortex is located in the postcentral gyrus region of the parietal lobe and extends medially toward the paracentral lobule. This area

processes sensory inputs such as touch and pressure and is responsible for interpreting information from muscle spindles and joint position (3-5).

Parkinson's disease (PD) is a neurodegenerative disorder primarily characterized by motor symptoms such as tremors, rigidity, and bradykinesia (6,7). However, nonmotor symptoms may also appear in the early stages of the disease. These symptoms include cognitive impairment, autonomic dysfunction, fatigue, and pain (8,9). Given the complex nature of PD, it is hypothesized that it may cause structural and functional changes throughout the

CITATION

Dogan B, Nahir M, Sumbul O. Investigation of Normalized Volume Ratios of Motor and Sensory Cortices on Magnetic Resonance Images in Parkinson's Disease Patients: An Automatic Brain Segmentation Study. Med Records. 2025;7(1):245-50. DOI:1037990/medr.1594776

Received: 02.12.2024 Accepted: 06.01.2025 Published: 15.01.2025 Corresponding Author: Mert Nahir, Tokat Gaziosmanpaşa University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Anatomy, Tokat, Türkiye E-mail: mert.nahir@gmail.com brain. Within this framework, it is thought that sensory dysfunctions may also be associated with motor function impairments (10). The gait and balance disturbances observed in PD are believed to be due to feedback from proprioceptive sensory systems.

Brain volume values are influenced by gender, head size, and other anatomical variations among individuals (11). Therefore, these values must be evaluated relative to a fixed reference value to enable accurate comparisons of volume values. This process is called normalization, a commonly used method in brain volume analyses (12,13). Specifically, the ratio of gray matter volumes to intracranial cavity volume (ICV) allows for an objective and comparable assessment of group volume differences (14).

The primary aim of this study is to examine the normalized gray matter volume ratios in the precentral gyrus, postcentral gyrus, and paracentral lobule of Parkinson's patients and to contribute to a more consistent and objective evaluation of volumetric data.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Study Participants and Imaging Data

This study was initiated with the approval of the Non-Interventional Clinical Research Ethics Committee of Tokat Gaziosmanpasa University Faculty of Medicine (approval number: 83116987-327). For the patient group, magnetic resonance (MR) images of patients diagnosed with Parkinson's disease based on neurological examination at the neurology department were used. Patients with a history of head trauma, brain surgery, trauma, or pathological conditions were excluded from the study. The healthy control group consisted of individuals who visited the hospital for various reasons, underwent MR imaging as part of routine examinations, and had no neurological diagnoses. The images were retrospectively reviewed through the faculty's patient follow-up system. Five MR images from the patient group and two MR images from the control group were excluded due to imaging artifacts. A total of 83 MR images, including 55 from the Parkinson's patient group and 28 from the control group, were included in the study.

Image Processing

MR images were acquired using a Philips Medical Systems 3.0 T Gyroscan NT MRI scanner. The images had the following specifications: voxel size of 1 mm x 1 mm x 1 mm, TR=8.1 ms, TE=3.7 ms, TFE=230 ms, flip angle=8°, matrix size of 224 x 224 pixels, and a field of view (FOV) of 224x224 cm. The acquired image series were selected as three-dimensional sagittal plane slices and transferred to the Horos program (V4.3.1) in Digital Imaging and Communications in Medicine (DICOM) format. Subsequently, the image voxel depth series, width, and height were adjusted to 1 mm using the ImageJ program. With a slice thickness of 1 mm, these image series were rotated 90 degrees to create a new axial image series. The obtained axial image series were saved in Analyze 7.5

format and reprocessed for use in the BrainSuite program. Finally, the automatic segmentation of MR images was performed using the BrainSuite software.

Automatic Segmentation Method: BrainSuite

In the BrainSuite program, the "cortical surface extraction sequence" was selected under the "cortex" menu for cortical surface area extraction. The "skull stripping" step, the initial and fundamental phase of the analysis, involved separating the cranium and meningeal tissues and defining the boundaries of the cerebrum (Figure 1). For image series where the boundaries of the cerebrum were not fully enclosed, adjustments were made in the diffusion constant, edge constant, and erosion size tabs. After the cerebrum boundaries were defined correctly, the analysis proceeded, and the remaining steps were performed automatically. The mask.nii.gz file, in which the cranium boundaries were determined by excluding other structures, was saved in a separate folder to calculate the ICV. Once the analysis was completed, the total volumes of the brain, hemispheres, cortical and subcortical regions, gray and white matter volumes, cortical surface area, and cortical thickness values were automatically saved as a "roiwise. stats" file in the BrainSuite program.



Figure 1. The initial phase of the BrainSuite program

Measurement of Intracranial Volume Using ImageJ Software and the Cavalieri Principle

ICV was measured using the ImageJ software (version 1.52a) and the "mask.nii.gz" file generated by the BrainSuite program. First, DICOM files were converted into a 16-bit image stack using the "Convert Images to Stack" function under the "Stacks" submenu. Then, a threshold value was applied to convert the images into a binary image that matched the original image.

Next, the ICV was manually defined as the region of interest (ROI) for each boundary using the "Polygon Selection Tool" under the "Analyze > Tools" menu. Each slice of the ROI was added to the ROI manager using the "Add" function, and the area of each ROI was calculated using the "Measure" function in the ROI manager menu.

The wand tool was used to measure the cross-sectional area of the ROI, and the software automatically measured the cross-sectional area. The ICV was calculated using the Cavalieri principle, which multiplies the total crosssectional surface area by the slice thickness and cortical thickness.

To obtain the ICV, the sum of the areas of all ROIs (mm²) was multiplied by the slice thickness (mm), yielding the ICV (mm³).

Statistical Analysis

The statistical analysis of volumetric and demographic data obtained from the study was performed using SPSS (Statistical Package for the Social Sciences, version 25) software. Descriptive statistics of the data were presented with parameters such as numbers (n), means, and standard

deviations (SD). For comparisons between groups, the normality distribution of the data was assessed using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. The independent samples t-test was used for data that met the normality assumption, while the Mann-Whitney U test was preferred for data that did not meet the normality assumption. Normalized volume data were analyzed using multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) to examine factors such as group, region (right/left), group and region interaction, gender, and age. A p-value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

A total of 83 participants were included in this study, consisting of 55 Parkinson's patients and 28 healthy controls. The age, number of subjects, cerebral and ICV volumes are listed in Table 1.

Table 1. Demographic characteristics, cerebral volume, and ICV of Parkinson patients and controls						
	Parkinson patients	Controls				
Subject number (n)	55	28				
Age (years)	61.63±10.07	60.89±10.43				
Sex (F/M) (n)	14/41	7/21				
Cerebral volume (right/left)	229.18±20.6/227.6±19.1	231.55±21.9/229.00±20.5				
ICV (cm ³)	1520.17±124.8	1485.44±121.1				
F/M: female/male, ICV: intracranial volume						

The gray matter volume of the precentral gyrus in the right hemisphere of Parkinson's patients was 11.41±1.49 cm³, compared to 11.67±1.45 cm³ in the control group. In the left hemisphere, it was 10.97±1.37 cm³ for Parkinson's patients and 10.80±1.39 cm³ for controls. The volumes of the precentral gyrus in both hemispheres showed no significant differences between the Parkinson's patients and the control group (p>0.05). The paracentral lobule volumes in

Parkinson's patients were 3.97±0.61 cm³ and 3.84±0.56 cm³, compared to 3.81±0.55 cm³ and 3.82±0.62 cm³ in the control group; these differences were not significant (p>0.05). Similarly, the gray matter volumes of the postcentral gyrus were 10.74±1.73 cm³ and 12.43±1.65 cm³ in Parkinson's patients, versus 11.18±1.40 cm³ and 13.09±1.51 cm³ in the control group, also showing no significant differences (p>0.05). All results are presented in Table 2.

Table 2. Comparison of gray matter volumes in motor and sensory cortices between parkinson patients and controls							
		Gray matter vo	Gray matter volume (cm ³)				
Side	Region	Parkinson patients (mean±SD)	Controls (mean±SD)	р			
	Precentral gyrus	11.41±1.49	11.67±1.45	0.45			
Right	Paracentral lobule	3.97±0.61	3.81±0.55	0.44			
	Postcentral gyrus	10.74±1.73	11.18±1.40	0.24			
	Precentral gyrus	10.97±1.37	10.80±1.39	0.60			
Left	Paracentral lobule	3.84±0.56	3.82±0.62	0.87			
	Postcentral gyrus	12.43±1.65	13.09±1.51	0.08			
SD: standard deviation: the parts determined in held are statistically significant (n=0.05)							

SD: standard deviation; the parts determined in bold are statistically significant (p<0.05)

In Parkinson's patients, the normalized gray matter ratios of the precentral gyrus were 0.75%±0.09 in the right hemisphere and 0.72%±0.09 in the left, compared to 0.79%±0.08 and 0.73%±0.08 in the control group, respectively. Statistical analysis showed no significant differences between the groups for these measurements (p>0.05). For the paracentral lobule, the gray matter ratios in both hemispheres of Parkinson's patients were consistently 0.26%±0.03, compared to 0.25%±0.03 in the

right and 0.26%±0.04 in the left hemisphere of the control group, with no significant differences observed (p>0.05). However, in the postcentral avrus, Parkinson's patients had gray matter ratios of 0.71%±0.11 in the right hemisphere and 0.82%±0.09 in the left, whereas the control group had ratios of 0.75%±0.08 and 0.88%±0.09, respectively. The significant difference was noted only in the left hemisphere, where the gray matter ratio was lower in Parkinson's patients compared to controls (p<0.05). These findings are detailed in Table 3.
Table 3. Comparison of normalized gray matter volumes in motor and sensory cortices between parkinson's patients and healthy controls											
		Gray matter vol									
Side	Region	Parkinson patients (mean±SD)	Controls (mean±SD)	р							
	Precentral gyrus	0.75±0.09	0.79±0.08	0.07							
Right	Paracentral lobule	0.26±0.03	0.25±0.03	0.90							
	Postcentral gyrus	0.71±0.11	0.75±0.08	0.05							
	Precentral gyrus	0.72±0.09	0.73±0.08	0.79							
Left	Paracentral lobule	0.26±0.03	0.26±0.04	0.58							
	Postcentral gyrus	0.82±0.09	0.88±0.09	0.003							
SD: standard deviation	SD: standard doviation: the parts determined in hold are statistically significant (n<0.05): ICV: intragrapial volume										

There were no statistically significant differences in the normalized gray matter volumes of the precentral gyrus (p=0.193) and paracentral lobule (p=0.792) between groups. However, significant differences were found in the postcentral gyrus (p=0.001). A significant difference was observed in the hemisphere effect for both the precentral gyrus (p=0.001) and the postcentral gyrus (p<0.001), but not for the paracentral lobule (p=0.663). The interaction between group and hemisphere did not show significant effects on the gray matter volumes across the tested regions (precentral gyrus, p=0.219; paracentral lobule, p=0.663; postcentral gyrus, p=0.513). Significant gender

differences were observed in the gray matter volumes of the precentral gyrus (p=0.019) and the paracentral lobule (p=0.041), but not in the postcentral gyrus (p=0.971). This reveals that gender may influence gray matter volumes in specific brain regions. Age showed significant effects on the gray matter volumes in the precentral and postcentral gyrus (p<0.001 for both), but not in the paracentral lobule (p=0.529). The details of the MANOVA analysis presented in Table 4 explore the normalized gray matter volumes in motor and sensory brain regions, specifically examining factors such as group differences, hemisphere, grouphemisphere interactions, gender, and age.

Table 4. MANOVA analysis results of normalized gray matter volumes in motor and sensory brain regions										
		Gray matter volume/ICV (%)								
		Precentral gyrus ¹	Paracentral lobule ²	Postcentral gyrus ³						
Croup	р	0.193	0.792	0.001						
Group	KEK	0.011	0.000	0.071						
Userianhore (Dight (laft)	р	0.001	0.663	<0.001						
nemisphere (Right/left)	KEK	0.069	0.001	0.300						
Crown homionhoro (Interaction)	р	0.219	0.663	0.513						
Group hemisphere (interaction)	KEK	0.009	0.001	0.003						
Condor	р	0.019	0.041	0.971						
Gender	KEK	0.034	0.026	0.001						
4.00	р	<0.001	0.529	<0.001						
Ауе	KEK	0.182	0.002	0.123						

The parts determined in bold are statistically significant (p<0.05); ICV: intracranial volume; KEK: Wilks' Lambda; ¹R Squared: .241 (Adjusted R Squared: .217); ²R Squared: .030 (Adjusted R Squared: .000); ³R Squared: .411 (Adjusted R Squared: .392)

DISCUSSION

Our study revealed no significant difference in the gray matter volume of the motor cortex in Parkinson's patients compared to the control group. This finding is consistent with the study by Brenneis et al., which reported no difference in the motor cortex gray matter volume in Parkinson's patients and suggested that the gray matter damage in this region may be attributed to functional impairments rather than structural changes (15). This explanation supports the findings of our study. However, some studies report reduced precentral gyrus volume in Parkinson's patients (16-18). The precentral gyrus serves as the origin of the pyramidal tract. Shao et al. stated that damage in this region could partially contribute to motor impairments in Parkinson's patients (19). The complex and variable clinical manifestations of Parkinson's disease and differences in clinical data among studies may explain the diversity of such results.

On the other hand, the study by Zhi Yan et al. presents a contrasting finding. When comparing Parkinson's patients with and without dyskinetic syndrome to a healthy control group, they reported that the precentral gyrus gray matter volume was higher in Parkinson's patients. It was suggested that this increase might explain the neurological mechanisms underlying dyskinetic syndromes in Parkinson's patients treated with medication (20). In contrast, studies by Kang and Tian et al. reported reduced gray matter volume in the precentral gyrus of Parkinson's patients compared to controls using voxelbased morphometric analyses (21,22). We believe these methodological differences could be a significant reason for the discrepancies between our study's findings and those of previous research.

Our findings regarding the sensory cortex, particularly in the postcentral gyrus, demonstrate that the ICV-normalized gray matter volume ratios were reduced compared to the control group. This result is consistent with the study by Xia et al., which reported decreased gray matter volume in the left postcentral gyrus of Parkinson's patients (23). It has been suggested that these reductions in the sensory cortex may impair the functions of the associated brain regions. Other studies indicate that such reductions may result from neuronal loss due to the shrinkage of large neurons or rarefaction of microvascular structures (24,25). However, Piguet et al. proposed that age-related changes in the brain are more pronounced in white matter than in gray matter (26). In light of this information, our study's observed reduction in gray matter volume in the sensory cortex is likely associated with the neurodegenerative effects of Parkinson's disease rather than the aging process.

ICV is a crucial variable influenced by factors such as gender and body size. It shows a rapid increase from birth, particularly during the first five years, and stabilizes between the ages of 16 and 20. It is assumed that ICV remains constant throughout life, even in the presence of brain atrophy (27-29). Due to the challenges posed by factors like age, gender, and body size in comparing brain atrophy among individuals, normalization is emphasized as a crucial step in such studies. Crowley et al. highlighted that volume data should be analyzed independently of age, gender, and ICV variables and argued that neglecting these factors in Parkinson's patients leads to complex results. In volumetric studies conducted on Parkinson's patients, results have shown significant variability when ICV is not controlled (30). Barnes et al. demonstrated that voxel-based morphometric analyses are influenced by age, gender, and head size (31). Studies that accounted for these variables reported reduced differences between groups (32-34), whereas studies that did not control these variables reported large discrepancies (35-37). Some studies have reported that ICV is larger in Parkinson's patients compared to control groups, potentially due to genetic variations (38). Additionally, normalization using ICV has been shown to correct differences arising from individual variations in head size. It allows for a more accurate assessment of clinical changes, such as brain atrophy. It has also been noted that raw volumes positively correlate with ICV, but when volumes are normalized to TIV, this relationship is reversed (30). Therefore, considering TIV is critical for obtaining more accurate and consistent results, especially in neurodegenerative diseases.

The findings of our study provide important insights into the understanding of the sensorimotor relationship between the motor and sensory cortices. The lack of a significant difference in the motor cortex suggests that structural changes in the sensory cortex may indirectly influence motor functions. Identifying a significant difference in the sensory cortex following the application of normalization methods highlights the critical importance of considering individual biological variability.

This study has certain limitations. The gender imbalance in the sample size may limit the generalizability of the findings. Additionally, the lack of clinical data made directly correlating structural changes in gray matter volume with motor and sensory symptoms difficult. Future studies should include larger sample groups and different stages of the disease to evaluate the clinical implications of gray matter changes. Furthermore, examining white matter changes and functional connectivity may contribute to a better understanding of the interactions between the motor and sensory systems during the disease process.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, our study emphasizes the importance of methodological approaches, such as ICV normalization, in evaluating gray matter changes in the motor and sensory cortices in Parkinson's disease. We believe the findings provide valuable contributions to the literature by enhancing the understanding of the structural and functional relationships of the sensorimotor system in Parkinson's disease.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: The study protocol was approved by Non-Interventional Ethics Committee of Gaziosmanpaşa University, Faculty of Medicine (approval number: 83116987-327).

REFERENCES

- Shareef S, Ali T, Sahin B, et al. Structural alteration of motor and sensory cortices in Parkinson's disease using magnetic resonance imaging: automatic brain segmentation. International Journal of Advanced and Applied Sciences. 2018;5:101-9.
- Yoshida J, Oñate M, Khatami L, et al. Cerebellar contributions to the basal ganglia influence motor coordination, reward processing, and movement vigor. J Neurosci. 2022;42:8406-15.
- Darainy M, Manning TF, Ostry DJ. Disruption of somatosensory cortex impairs motor learning and retention. J Neurophysiol. 2023;130:1521-8.
- 4. Gale DJ, Flanagan JR, Gallivan JP. Human somatosensory cortex is modulated during motor planning. J Neurosci. 2021;41:5909-22.
- Nakajima T, Hosaka R, Mushiake H. Complementary roles of primate dorsal premotor and pre-supplementary motor areas to the control of motor sequences. J Neurosci. 2022;42:6946-65.
- 6. Andica C, Kamagata K, Hatano T, et al. Neurocognitive and psychiatric disorders-related axonal degeneration in Parkinson's disease. J Neurosci Res. 2020;98:936-49.

- Kumar S, Goyal L, Singh S. Tremor and rigidity in patients with Parkinson's disease: emphasis on epidemiology, pathophysiology and contributing factors. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets. 2022;21:596-609.
- 8. Biundo R, Formento-Dojot P, Facchini S, et al. Brain volume changes in Parkinson's disease and their relationship with cognitive and behavioural abnormalities. J Neurol Sci. 2011;310:64-9.
- Marinova D, Danovska M. The non-motor symptomschallenge in diagnosis of Parkinson's Disease. J of IMAB. 2020;26:3469-74.
- 10. Permezel F, Alty J, Harding IH, Thyagarajan D. Brain networks involved in sensory perception in Parkinson's disease: a scoping review. Brain Sci. 2023;13:1552.
- 11. Voevodskaya O, Simmons A, Nordenskjöld R, et al. The effects of intracranial volume adjustment approaches on multiple regional MRI volumes in healthy aging and Alzheimer's disease. Front Aging Neurosci. 2014;6:264.
- 12. Borghammer P, Jonsdottir KY, Cumming P, et al. Normalization in PET group comparison studies--the importance of a valid reference region. Neuroimage. 2008;40:529-40.
- Dhamala E, Ooi LQR, Chen J, et al. Proportional intracranial volume correction differentially biases behavioral predictions across neuroanatomical features, sexes, and development. Neuroimage. 2022;260:119485.
- 14. Sanfilipo MP, Benedict RH, Zivadinov R, Bakshi R. Correction for intracranial volume in analysis of whole brain atrophy in multiple sclerosis: the proportion vs. residual method. Neuroimage. 2004;22:1732-43.
- 15. Brenneis C, Seppi K, Schocke MF, et al. Voxel-based morphometry detects cortical atrophy in the Parkinson variant of multiple system atrophy. Mov Disord. 2003;18:1132-8.
- 16. Goldman JG, Stebbins GT, Dinh V, et al. Visuoperceptive region atrophy independent of cognitive status in patients with Parkinson's disease with hallucinations. Brain. 2014;137:849-59.
- 17. González-Redondo R, García-García D, Clavero P, et al. Grey matter hypometabolism and atrophy in Parkinson's disease with cognitive impairment: a two-step process. Brain. 2014;137:2356-67.
- Kostic VS, Agosta F, Pievani M, et al. Pattern of brain tissue loss associated with freezing of gait in Parkinson disease. Neurology. 2012;78:409-16.
- Shao N, Yang J, Li J, Shang HF. Voxelwise meta-analysis of gray matter anomalies in progressive supranuclear palsy and Parkinson's disease using anatomic likelihood estimation. Front Hum Neurosci. 2014;8:63.
- 20. Zhi Y, Wang M, Yuan YS, et al. The increased gray matter volumes of precentral gyri in Parkinson's disease patients with diphasic dyskinesia. Aging (Albany NY). 2019;11:9661-71.
- 21. Kang D, Chen F, Wang F, et al. Brain gray matter volume changes associated with motor symptoms in patients with Parkinson's disease. Chin Neurosurg JI. 2015;1.9.

- 22. Zhai H, Fan W, Xiao Y, et al. Voxel-based morphometry of grey matter structures in Parkinson's Disease with wearing-off. Brain Imaging Behav. 2023;17:725-37.
- 23. Xia J, Wang J, Tian W, et al. Magnetic resonance morphometry of the loss of gray matter volume in Parkinson's disease patients. Neural Regen Res. 2013;8:2557-65.
- 24. Peters A, Morrison JH, Rosene DL, Hyman BT. Feature article: are neurons lost from the primate cerebral cortex during normal aging?. Cereb Cortex. 1998;8:295-300.
- 25. Riddle DR, Sonntag WE, Lichtenwalner RJ. Microvascular plasticity in aging. Ageing Res Rev. 2003;2:149-68.
- Piguet O, Double KL, Kril JJ, et al. White matter loss in healthy ageing: a postmortem analysis. Neurobiol Aging. 2009;30:1288-95.
- 27. Knutson B, Momenan R, Rawlings RR, et al. Negative association of neuroticism with brain volume ratio in healthy humans. Biol Psychiatry. 2001;50:685-90.
- 28. Sgouros S, Goldin JH, Hockley AD, et al. Intracranial volume change in childhood. J Neurosurg. 1999;91:610-6.
- 29. Wolf H, Kruggel F, Hensel A, et al. The relationship between head size and intracranial volume in elderly subjects. Brain Res. 2003;973:74-80.
- 30. Crowley S, Huang H, Tanner J, et al. Considering total intracranial volume and other nuisance variables in brain voxel based morphometry in idiopathic PD. Brain Imaging and Behavior. 2018;12:1-12. Erratum in: Brain Imaging Behav. 2018;12:613.
- Barnes J, Ridgway GR, Bartlett J, et al. Head size, age and gender adjustment in MRI studies: a necessary nuisance?. Neuroimage. 2010;53:1244-55.
- 32. Agosta F, Canu E, Stojković T, et al. The topography of brain damage at different stages of Parkinson's disease. Hum Brain Mapp. 2013;34:2798-807.
- 33. Burton EJ, McKeith IG, Burn DJ, et al. Cerebral atrophy in Parkinson's disease with and without dementia: a comparison with Alzheimer's disease, dementia with Lewy bodies and controls. Brain. 2004;127:791-800.
- Planetta PJ, Kurani AS, Shukla P, et al. Distinct functional and macrostructural brain changes in Parkinson's disease and multiple system atrophy. Hum Brain Mapp. 2015;36:1165-79.
- 35. Lee EY, Sen S, Eslinger PJ, et al. Early cortical gray matter loss and cognitive correlates in non-demented Parkinson's patients. Parkinsonism Relat Disord. 2013;19:1088-93.
- 36. Lin CH, Chen CM, Lu MK, et al. VBM reveals brain volume differences between Parkinson's disease and essential tremor patients. Front Hum Neurosci. 2013;7:247.
- 37. Summerfield C, Junqué C, Tolosa E, et al. Structural brain changes in Parkinson disease with dementia: a voxel-based morphometry study. Arch Neurol. 2005;62:281-5.
- 38. Taal HR, Pourcain BS, Thiering E, et al. Common variants at 12q15 and 12q24 are associated with infant head circumference. Nat Genet. 2012;44:532-8.



Evaluation of COVID-19 Findings on Thoracic CT: Is There any Correlation with Age and Comorbidity?

Nevin Koremezli Keskin¹, Merve Basdemirci², Onur Basdemirci², Aziz Ahmad Hamidi³

¹Karabük University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Radiology, Karabük, Türkiye

²Karabük Training and Research Hospital, Department of Radiology, Karabük, Türkiye

³University of Health Sciences, Fatih Sultan Mehmet Training and Research Hospital, Department of Infectious Disease and Clinical Microbiology, İstanbul, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License



Abstract

Aim: To share insights gained from low-dose thoracic computed tomography (CT) findings of patients diagnosed with COVID-19. Additionally, we aimed to evaluate the correlation between the observed CT findings, CT severity index, patient age, and the presence of comorbid conditions.

Material and Method: One hundred patients having a COVID-19 diagnosis were included in the study's sample. We meticulously reviewed the thoracic CT image characteristics, the lung severity index, and various clinical data related to the patients. The relationships between these factors were then analyzed to draw meaningful conclusions.

Results: The study included 100 patients, consisting of 67 men and 33 women. Among these patients, 30 had at least one underlying comorbid condition, with hypertension being the most prevalent. CT scans were positive in 65 patients. Within this group, 60 patients (93.3%) exhibited ground-glass opacities (GGO), 27 patients (41.5%) showed signs of consolidation, 22 patients (33.8%) had both GGO and consolidation, and 8 patients (12.3%) displayed the crazy paving pattern. The total lung severity score (TLSS) ranged from 0 to 19, with mean score of 3.11±3.71. Each lung lobe was systematically evaluated for the extent of involvement. We found a statistically significant relationship indicating that increasing age correlated with higher grades of lung involvement. Furthermore, significant association was noted between presence of comorbidities and the lung involvement grades. Our analysis revealed a moderate positive correlation between CT lung involvement grade and patient age, alongside a weaker positive correlation between the lung involvement grade and comorbid conditions.

Conclusion: CT imaging has proven to be important tool in managing patients suspected of or confirmed to have COVID-19. Notably, the CT lung severity grade was significantly elevated in patients over 65 years and those with comorbidities. These findings underscore the critical role that CT plays in evaluating and managing the severity of COVID-19 pneumonia.

Keywords: COVID-19, comorbidity, computed tomography, computed tomography lung severity grade

INTRODUCTION

Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome SARS-CoV-2, also known as the coronavirus, is an RNA virus that is encapsulated and attacks the respiratory system. It causes viral pneumonia known as Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) (1,2).

The outbreak of COVID-19 first emerged in December 2019 in Wuhan, China, and rapidly escalated into a global pandemic, affecting millions of individuals worldwide. Characterized by its high transmissibility, SARS-CoV-2

can lead to severe respiratory illnesses, particularly pneumonia. Patients with COVID-19 typically present with a range of clinical symptoms, the most prevalent of which include fever, persistent cough, shortness of breath, and overall weakness (3).

Fordiagnosing COVID-19 pneumonia, real-time polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) tests play a pivotal role as the primary diagnostic method. However, it is important to note that these tests can sometimes yield false-negative results or may not detect the virus in its early stages of

CITATION

Koremezli Keskin N, Basdemirci M, Basdemirci O, Hamidi AA. Evaluation of COVID-19 Findings on Thoracic CT: Is There any Correlation with Age and Comorbidity?. Med Records. 2025;7(1):251-7. DOI:1037990/medr.1554665

Received: 23.09.2024 Accepted: 11.12.2024 Published: 15.01.2025

Corresponding Author: Nevin Koremezli Keskin, Karabük University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Radiology, Karabük, Türkiye

E-mail: nevinkoremezli@hotmail.com

infection. This limitation can lead to delays in diagnosis and subsequent treatment (4,5). Consequently, imaging studies, particularly chest Computed Tomography (CT) scans, have become essential in the clinical evaluation of patients suspected of having COVID-19 pneumonia (5). Typical findings observed on chest CT in COVID-19 patients often include bilateral peripheral multifocal ground-glass opacities, subsegmental patchy consolidations, and a distinctive crazy paving pattern. These radiological features are frequently located in the lower lobes and posterior segments of the lungs (6,7).

The presence of underlying health conditions, referred to as comorbidities, can significantly worsen the clinical course of COVID-19 pneumonia, especially among older adults (8). Moreover, individuals with pre-existing comorbidities are at an increased risk of developing severe complications from the virus, which can lead to poor health outcomes (9).

In light of these factors, the objective of our study is to share our clinical experiences regarding the findings from low-dose thoracic CT scans in patients during the COVID-19 pandemic. We also aim to investigate the correlation between the severity of CT imaging findings and variables such as the patients' age and the presence of comorbid conditions. By doing so, we hope to contribute valuable insights into the clinical management of COVID-19 pneumonia.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Patients Selection

The Helsinki Declaration's ethical criteria were followed in the conduct of this retrospective investigation, which was approved by our Institutional Clinical Research Ethics Committee (Decision no: 2020/273). We undertook a comprehensive review of patients who were admitted to the emergency department with suspected cases of COVID-19 between March 2020 and June 2020. Each of these patients underwent chest CT upon admission and was diagnosed with COVID-19 through RT-PCR testing of naso-oropharyngeal swabs.

For inclusion in our study, patients were required to have a confirmed COVID-19 diagnosis based on RT-PCR results obtained at the time of their admission. Additionally, the chest CT images had to be captured within the first 24 hours following the PCR test. Major exclusion criteria were: patients under 18 years of age, patients with unconfirmed PCR diagnosis, and patients with artifactual CT images that would interfere with appropriate evaluation. Initially, 108 patients were identified as meeting the inclusion criteria. However, after applying the exclusion criteria, 8 patients were removed from the study: one was found to be under 18 years of age, and seven others exhibited motion artifacts in their CT images, which rendered those images unsuitable for analysis. Consequently, a total of 100 patients were ultimately included in our investigation. Clinical parameters—including age, gender, and the presence of comorbidities—were meticulously collected from the hospital information system.

Computed Tomography Imaging and Analysis of Images

All non-contrast chest CT images were acquired using a 16-section multidetector CT scanner (Toshiba Alexion, Tokyo, Japan). The imaging parameters were set as follows: kilovoltage peak (kVp) at 120, a rotation time of 0.75 seconds, a matrix size of 256x256, a slice thickness of 2 mm, and a low-dose algorithm to minimize radiation exposure. The existing low-dose CT protocol employed standard settings (AIDR3D, Canon Medical Systems, Otawara, Japan) to ensure consistent imaging quality while adhering to safety guidelines. The mean volume computed tomography dose index (CTDIvol) recorded was 3.3 mGy, with a range from 2.2 to 4.9 mGy, indicating a generally low radiation exposure for patients.

All CT images were carefully assessed using lung and mediastinum window settings to optimize the visibility of relevant structures. Two radiologists, each possessing 10 and 11 years of experience, respectively, independently evaluated the images without knowledge of the clinical data. They subsequently reached a consensus on their findings. The analysis of CT image features was organized into four primary categories: localization, infiltration pattern, additional features, and degree of lung involvement.

In the localization assessment, factors such as laterality, the specific lobes affected, and parenchymal distribution (whether central, peripheral, or diffuse) were thoroughly examined. The evaluation of infiltration patterns focused on identifying various characteristics, including groundglass opacities (GGO), consolidations, GGO accompanied by consolidation, nodular lesions, crazy paving patterns, linear-reticular patterns, reverse halo sign, and vascular enlargement, as depicted in Figure 1. Additional CT features assessed included mediastinal lymphadenopathy (LAP), pleural effusion, thickening of the bronchial walls, bronchiectasis, halo sign, pericardial effusion, and the presence of an air bubble sign, illustrated in Figure 2.



Figure 1. Parenchymal infiltration patterns of COVID-19 in lungs; A. ground glass opacity, B. consolidation, C. ground glass opacity (arrow) with consolidation (asterisk), D. crazy-paving pattern, E. reverse halo sign, F. vascular enlargement



Figure 2. Other CT findings of COVID-19 on thoracic CT; **A**. mediastinal lymphadenopathy, **B**. pleural effusion, **C**. pericardial effusion, **D**. bronchial wall thickening, **E**. air bubble sign, **F**. halo sign

Lung severity scoring was performed according to established guidelines documented in the literature (5). Each lung lobe was evaluated for the extent of involvement and categorized into five categories. The overall lung involvement score, which ranges from 0 points to 20 points, was calculated by adding the degree of participation for each lobe. Patients were categorized based on their CT lung severity score as follows: a score of 0 classified as grade 0, scores between 1-5 as grade 1, scores of 6-10 as grade 2, scores of 11-15 as grade 3, and scores of 16-20 as grade 4. This systematic approach provided a comprehensive evaluation of lung involvement in patients diagnosed with COVID-19.

Statistical Analysis

The statistical software Statistical Package for the Social Sciences 18.0 (SPSS, IBM, Chicago, USA) was used to conduct the statistical analysis for this investigation. For the presentation of data, all quantitative variables were expressed as means accompanied by standard deviations, along with their respective ranges. Meanwhile, categorical variables were summarized as counts and percentages, offering a comprehensive overview of data distribution. This approach facilitated a clearer understanding of the characteristics and relationships within the dataset.

A test of normality was performed to assess whether the quantitative variables adhered to a normal distribution, which is essential for determining the appropriate statistical tests to apply. We used the Fisher Freeman Halton test, an appropriate technique for evaluating categorical data, to assess the association between the grade of CT lung involvement and variables including age and the existence of comorbidities. Furthermore, correlation analyses were conducted to explore the relationships between CT lung involvement grades and age, as well as CT lung involvement grades and age, as well as CT lung involvement grades and comorbidities. The Spearman nonparametric correlation coefficient was utilized for this purpose, providing insights into the strength and direction of these associations without the assumption of normality. If p value is less than 0.05, it's accepted as statistically significant.

RESULTS

Patient Population and Clinical Data

Sixty-seven (67%) of the participants were male and 33 (33%) were female. The average age of participants was

44.21±17.09 (range 18-89). Among the patients, 70 (70%) had no accompanying comorbidities, while 30 (30%) had at least one, which included conditions such as hypertension (HT), diabetes Mellitus (DM), chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), cardiovascular disease, cerebrovascular disease, malignancy, asthma, and rheumatoid arthritis (RA). The most prevalent comorbidity was HT at 24%, followed by DM at 11% and cardiovascular disease at 8%. The frequencies of other comorbidities were as follows: COPD at 4%, cerebrovascular disease at 4%, malignancy at 2%, asthma at 4%, and RA at 2% (Table 1).

Table 1. The patient's clinical features								
Parameter	Patients (n=100)							
Sex								
Men	67							
Women	33							
Age								
Mean	44.21							
Range	18-89							
Standart deviation	17.09							
Comorbidity								
Positive	70							
Negative	30							
Distribution of comorbidities								
Hypertension	24							
Diabetes mellitus type 2	11							
Chronic obstrucitve pulmonary disease	4							
Cardiovascular disease	8							
Cerebrovascular disease	4							
Malignity	2							
Asthma	4							
Romatoid arthritis	2							

Chest CT Findings

RT-PCR test results were positive for all patients (n=100). Upon evaluating the CT findings of these 100 patients based on the specified criteria, 35 patients were classified as grade 0, indicating that although their PCR tests were positive, their CT scans showed no findings (Table 2). Among the 65 patients with positive CT findings, 60 (93.3%) exhibited ground-glass opacities (GGO), 27 (41.5%) had consolidations, 22 (33.8%) presented both GGO and consolidation, and 8 (12.3%) displayed a crazy paving pattern. Examining the lateralization of lung involvement in these patients, 9 (13.8%) had involvement limited to the right lung, 8 (12.3%) to the left lung, and 48 (73.8%) had involvement in both lungs. When assessing the distribution of lung lobe involvement, the results were as follows: right upper lobe involvement in 43 patients (66.1%), right middle lobe in 34 patients (52.3%), right lower lobe in 54 patients (83%), left upper lobe in 42 patients (64.6%), and left lower lobe in 51 patients (78.4%). The total lung severity score was 3.11±3.71 (Table 3).

Table 2. Evaluating of relationship between age and lung severity grade in patients										
Chaot CT lung opvority grade	Age (year)		Fisher Freeman Halton test						
chest of lung seventy grade	Lower than 65	65 and above	Total	р	r					
Grade 0	34	1	35							
Grade 1	38	1	39							
Grade 2	10	6	16	0.001*	0.400					
Grade 3	4	2	6	0.001	0.429					
Grade 4	1	3	4							
Total	87	13	100							
*n value <0.05										

Table 3. Findings on chest CT scans	
	Number of patients (n=65)
CT findings	
GGO	60 (93.3%)
Consolidation	27 (41.5%)
GGO and consolidation	22 (33.8%)
Crazy paving pattern	8 (12.3%)
Lateralisation of paranchymal findings	
Right	9 (13.8%)
Left	8 (12.3%)
Bilateral	48 (73.8%)
Frequency	
RUL	43 (66.1%)
RML	34 (52.3%)
RLL	54 (83.0%)
LUL	42 (64.6%)
LLL	51 (78.4%)
TLSS	
Mean	3.11
Range	0-19
Standart deviation	3.71

CT: computed tomography, GGO: ground glass opacity, RLL: right lower lobe, RML: right middle lobe, RUL: right upper lobe, LLL: left lower lobe, LUL: left upper lobe, TLSS: total lung severity score

When analyzing the characteristic features of the opacities seen in thoracic CT scans, nodular morphology was noted in 28 patients (43%), linear opacities in 38 patients (58.4%), a crazy paving pattern in 8 patients (12.3%), a reverse halo sign in 1 patient (1.5%), and a halo sign in 5 patients (7.6%). In terms of axial distribution of opacities within the lung parenchyma, 40 patients (61.5%) exhibited a peripheral distribution, while 25 patients (38.4%) showed a diffuse distribution. There were no patients with exclusively central distribution in our study. Regarding additional CT findings, we identified pericardial effusion in 1 patient (1.5%), pleural effusion in 8 patients (12.3%), mediastinal lymphadenopathy in 7 patients (10.7%), bronchiectasis in 9 patients (13.8%), bronchial wall thickening in 1 patient

(1.5%), and air bubble findings in 2 patients (3%). Five patients had pre-existing lung parenchymal diseases; three had emphysema and two had fibrosis (Table 4).

When looking at the relationship between age and CT lung involvement grades in our study population, we found a significant relationship, showing that older age is associated with more severe grades of involvement (p<0.001) (Table 4). There was also a moderate positive correlation between age and the CT lung involvement grades (p<0.001, r=0.429).

Table 4. The imaging features on CT scan								
Features	Number of patients (n=65)							
Characteristics of opacities								
Rounded opacities	28 (43.0%)							
Linear opacities	38 (58.4%)							
Crazy paving pattern	8 (12.3%)							
Reverse halo	1 (1.5%)							
Halo sign	5 (7.6%)							
Axial distribution of opacity								
Peripheral	40 (61.5%)							
Central	0 (0%)							
Diffuse (peripheral+central)	25 (38.4%)							
Other findings								
Pericardial effusion	1 (1.5%)							
Pleural effusion	8 (12.3%)							
Mediastinal LAP	7 (10.7%)							
Airways								
Bronchiectasia	9 (13.8%)							
Bronchial wall thickening	1 (1.5%)							
Air bubble sign	2 (3.0%)							
Underlying paranchymal lung disease								
Emphysema	3 (4.6%)							
Fibrosis	2 (3.0%)							
CT: computed tomography								

As the CT lung involvement grade increased, the rate of accompanying comorbidity also increased in the study population, showing a statistically significant relationship between comorbidity and lung involvement grades (p<0.001) (Table 5). There was a weak positive correlation between comorbidity and CT lung involvement grades (p<0.001, r=0.348).

Table 5. Evaluating of relationship between comorbidity and lung severity grade in patients								
Chaot CT lung coverity grade	Como							
chest of fung seventy grade	Present	Absent	Total					
Grade 0	7	28	35					
Grade 1	7	32	39					
Grade 2	7	9	16					
Grade 3	5	1	6					
Grade 4	4	0	4					
Total	30	70	100					

Fisher Freeman Halton test was used and p value was obtained as <0.001

DISCUSSION

This study demonstrated the relationship between the CT severity index and factors such as age, gender, and comorbidities in COVID-19 pneumonia.

This study showed that 67% of the patients were male. This was similar to the literature; the number of males was higher than females. In our study, the mean age was determined as 44.21 and the mean age of our study group was younger, according to the literature. Studies in literature have shown that male prevalence of COVID-19 in Chinese population is between 55% and 60%, with an average age of 47 to 59 years (10,11). In a study conducted in Europe, the male rate was reported as 52% and the average age was 57 (12). A meta-analysis examining 59 researches and total of 36,470 patients reported that male gender was at greater risk of infection and had higher rates of disease severity and mortality after infection (13).

Studies in the literature have reported that patients with comorbidities are at greater risk and more susceptible to COVID-19 infection (14). There are many studies reporting that HT, coronary artery disease, DM, COPD, malignancy, cerebrovascular disease and chronic kidney disease are more common in groups with higher COVID-19 infection severity (15-17). Guan et al. (2020) reported that 25% of COVID-19 patients had a comorbidity, and the most common comorbidities were HT (16.9%), DM (8.2%), and cardiovascular disease (3.7%) (18). Also in our research, consistent with literature, 30% of the patients had at least one comorbidity. Similarly, the three most common comorbidities were HT (24%), DM (11%), and cardiovascular disease (8%), respectively.

Our study found that the most common thoracic CT finding was GGO, accounting for 93.3%, consistent with the existing literature. The second and third most common findings were consolidation (41.5%) and GGO accompanied by consolidation (33.8%), respectively. When we look at distribution of findings in parenchyma in our study; similar to the literature, bilateral involvement (73.8%) was

most frequent in lateralization, and peripheral distribution (61.5%) was the most frequent in axial distribution. The study by Pan et al (2020), development of findings in COVID-19 infection over time was summarized (4). While peripherally located ground glass opacities due to alveolar damage are observed initially, consolidation occurs later with an increase of damage in alveoli and coalescence of the GGO. Secondary to involvement of the pulmonary interstitium, thickening of the interlobular septa occurs and causing formation of a crazy paving pattern. After approximately the first week, consolidation becomes the predominant parenchymal finding. In the second week and later, GGO and crazy paving pattern can be seen again in these areas due to the regression in consolidations. As a result of many studies in literature, GGO with peripheral, lower lobe, and posterior involvement have been reported as typical imaging findings of COVID-19 pneumonia (5,19,20). In the consensus on reporting COVID-19-related thoracic CT findings published by RSNA, bilateraly, peripheraly, and multifocal GGO (with or without consolidation), crazy paving pattern, and reverse halo sign in later stages of the disease were stated as typical findings (21). In a metaanalysis comprising 109 studies and 2,908 patients, the most frequently observed parenchymal findings of COVID-19 on thoracic CT were reported as ground-glass opacities (68%), ground-glass opacities accompanied by consolidation (48%), and consolidation alone (18%) (22). When the findings were evaluated in terms of lobar distribution in our study, the right lung lower lobe was the most frequently affected lobe with 83%, left lung lower lobe was in second place with 78.4% and right lung upper lobe was in third place with 66.1%. Similar to our study, Caruso et al. (2020) reported the most frequently affected lobes in COVID-19 as right lung lower lobe, left lung lower lobe, and right lung upper lobe, respectively (12).

Numerous studies indicate that older age is a risk factor for COVID-19, increasing susceptibility to infection (23-25). A meta-analysis involving a large patient population found that individuals aged 70 and older had a higher risk of contracting COVID-19, experienced more severe disease, and required intensive care more frequently compared to younger age groups (13). In our study, the proportion of patients aged 65 and older was significantly higher among those with high-grade CT lung involvement, consistent with existing literature (p<0.001). This trend is associated with the prevalence of comorbidities often found in older patients and changes in immune system responses due to aging (26,27). It is believed that elevated proinflammatory cytokines resulting from age-related immune response alterations may significantly influence the progression of the disease (28).

In our investigation, we found a strong positive correlation between the CT lung involvement grade and the existence of comorbidities. Literature contains studies indicating that the presence of accompanying comorbidities exacerbates the severity of COVID-19 infection and increases the need for intensive care (11,15). A meta-analysis involving 1558 patients found that COVID-19 was more severe in individuals with comorbidities such as COPD, DM, HT, cardiovascular disease, and cerebrovascular disease. Additionally, this meta-analysis reported that having COPD as a comorbidity raised the risk of severe COVID-19 infection by 5.9 times compared to those without it (29). Similarly, Bhandari (2020) reported in their study that the presence of comorbidities significantly increased the severity of lung involvement observed in CT scans (30).

This study has some limitations that should be acknowledged. Firstly, as it was conducted at a single center, the findings may not be fully generalizable to other populations or healthcare settings. Additionally, due to the retrospective design, data collection was dependent on pre-existing records, which may lead to information bias. Furthermore, our sample size was limited, and some comorbidities or demographic subgroups may not have been sufficiently represented, which could impact the robustness of the statistical analyses.

CONCLUSION

The severity of lung involvement on CT is notably greater in patients aged 65 and older, as well as in those with comorbidities. A moderate positive correlation is present between the CT lung involvement grade and age, whereas a weak positive correlation is noted between the CT lung involvement grade and comorbidity.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: The Helsinki Declaration's ethical criteria were followed in the conduct of this retrospective investigation, which was approved by our Institutional Clinical Research Ethics Committee (Decision no: 2020/273).

REFERENCES

1. Schoeman D, Fielding BC. Coronavirus envelope protein: current knowledge. Virol J. 2019;16:69.

- 2. Garcia M, Lipskiy N, Tyson J, et al. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2019 novel coronavirus disease (COVID-19) information management: addressing national health-care and public health needs for standardized data definitions and codified vocabulary for data exchange. J Am Med Inform Assoc. 2020;27:1476-87.
- Wang W, Tang J, Wei F. Updated understanding of the outbreak of 2019 novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) in Wuhan, China. J Med Virol. 2020;92:441-7.
- 4. Pan F, Ye T, Sun P, et al. Time course of lung changes at chest CT during recovery from Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19). Radiology. 2020;295:715-21.
- Bernheim A, Mei X, Huang M, et al. Chest CT Findings in Coronavirus Disease-19 (COVID-19): relationship to duration of infection. Radiology. 2020;295:200463.
- 6. Ng MY, Lee EYP, Yang J, et al. Imaging profile of the COVID-19 infection: radiologic findings and literature review. Radiol Cardiothorac Imaging. 2020;2:e200034.
- 7. Bai HX, Hsieh B, Xiong Z, et al. Performance of radiologists in differentiating COVID-19 from Non-COVID-19 viral pneumonia at chest CT. Radiology. 2020;296:E46-54.
- 8. Chen N, Zhou M, Dong X, et al. Epidemiological and clinical characteristics of 99 cases of 2019 novel coronavirus pneumonia in Wuhan, China: a descriptive study. The Lancet. 2020;395:507-13.
- Cao M, Zhang D, Wang Y, et al. Clinical features of patients infected with the 2019 novel Coronavirus (COVID-19) in Shanghai, China. 2020 March 6. doi: 10.1101/2020.03.04.20030395. [Epub ahead of print].
- Li Q, Guan X, Wu P, et al. Early transmission dynamics in Wuhan, China, of Novel Coronavirus-infected pneumonia. N Engl J Med. 2020;382:1199-207.
- 11. Guan W jie, Ni Z yi, Hu Y, et al. Clinical characteristics of Coronavirus Disease 2019 in China. N Engl J Med. 2020;382:1708-20.
- 12. Caruso D, Zerunian M, Polici M, et al. Chest CT features of COVID-19 in Rome, Italy. Radiology. 2020;296:E79-85.
- 13. Pijls BG, Jolani S, Atherley A, et al. Demographic risk factors for COVID-19 infection, severity, ICU admission and death: a meta-analysis of 59 studies. BMJ Open. 2021;11:e044640.
- Singh MK, Mobeen A, Chandra A, et al. A meta-analysis of comorbidities in COVID-19: which diseases increase the susceptibility of SARS-CoV-2 infection?. Comput Biol Med. 2021;130:104219.
- Wang D, Hu B, Hu C, et al. Clinical Characteristics of 138 hospitalized patients with 2019 novel Coronavirus-infected pneumonia in Wuhan, China. JAMA. 2020;323:1061. Erratum in: JAMA. 2021;325:1113.
- Wang L, Li X, Chen H, et al. Coronavirus Disease 19 infection does not result in acute kidney injury: an analysis of 116 hospitalized patients from Wuhan, China. Am J Nephrol. 2020;51:343-8.
- 17. Liang W, Guan W, Chen R, et al. Cancer patients in SARS-CoV-2 infection: a nationwide analysis in China. Lancet Oncol. 2020;21:335-7.

- 18. Guan W jie, Liang W hua, Zhao Y, et al. Comorbidity and its impact on 1590 patients with COVID-19 in China: a nationwide analysis. Eur Respir J. 2020;55:2000547.
- Salehi S, Abedi A, Balakrishnan S, Gholamrezanezhad A. Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19): a systematic review of imaging findings in 919 patients. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2020;215:87-93.
- 20. Chung M, Bernheim A, Mei X, et al. CT imaging features of 2019 novel Coronavirus (2019-nCoV). Radiology. 2020;295:202-7.
- Simpson S, Kay FU, Abbara S, et al. Radiological Society of North America Expert Consensus Document on Reporting Chest CT Findings Related to COVID-19: Endorsed by the Society of Thoracic Radiology, the American College of Radiology, and RSNA. Radiology: Cardiothoracic Imaging. 2020;2:e200152.
- 22. Zhou X, Pu Y, Zhang D, et al. CT findings and dynamic imaging changes of COVID-19 in 2908 patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Acta Radiol. 2022;63:291-310.
- 23. Flook M, Jackson C, Vasileiou E, et al. Informing the public health response to COVID-19: a systematic review of risk factors for disease, severity, and mortality. BMC Infect Dis. 2021;21:342.

- 24. Davies NG, Klepac P, Liu Y, et al. Age-dependent effects in the transmission and control of COVID-19 epidemics. Nat Med. 2020;26:1205-11.
- 25. Ayoub HH, Chemaitelly H, Mumtaz GR, et al. Characterizing key attributes of COVID-19 transmission dynamics in China's original outbreak: model-based estimations. Glob Epidemiol. 2020;2:100042.
- 26. Zhang J jin, Dong X, Liu G hui, Gao Y dong. Risk and protective factors for COVID-19 morbidity, severity, and mortality. Clinic Rev Allerg Immunol. 2022;64:90-107.
- 27. Shaw AC, Joshi S, Greenwood H, et al. Aging of the innate immune system. Curr Opin Immunol. 2010;22:507-13.
- Gao Y, Ding M, Dong X, et al. Risk factors for severe and critically ill COVID-19 patients: a review. Allergy. 2021;76:428-55.
- 29. Wang B, Li R, Lu Z, Huang Y. Does comorbidity increase the risk of patients with COVID-19: evidence from meta-analysis. Aging. 2020;12:6049-57.
- 30. Bhandari S, Rankawat G, Bagarhatta M, et al. Clinicoradiological evaluation and correlation of CT chest images with progress of disease in COVID-19 patients. J Assoc Physicians India. 2020;68:34-42.



Cancer Data, Case Increase Rates and Future Prospects in the Northeastern Anatolia Region of Türkiye, a Special Region for Gastric and Esophageal Cancers in 2018-2023

©Alperen Akansel Caglar, ©Aykut Tuhan, ©Pinar Coban Esdur, ©Yasin Emrah Soylu, ©Mehmet Bilici, ©Salim Basol Tekin

Erzurum Atatürk University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine, Division of Medical Oncology, Erzurum, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.

Abstract

Aim: Cancer is a major cause of death. Globocan data shows 20 million new cancer cases and 9.7 million cancer deaths a year. Lung cancer is the most common cancer globally, followed by breast, colorectal, prostate and stomach cancers. Cancer types vary by age, gender, race, and region. Documenting regional cancer data is crucial for screening, early diagnosis, and treatment of common cancers, as well as understanding the underlying causes. Despite the high incidence of upper gastrointestinal (GI) cancers in eastern Türkiye, there is little documented evidence on specific cancer types in these regions.

Material and Method: In order to investigate the incidence of cancer in our region, the medical records of 6,603 patients diagnosed with cancer and subsequently treated in our clinic between 2018 and 2023 were analysed and specific cancer sites were recorded. **Results:** It has been demonstrated that cancers of the upper GI tract, represent the most prevalent cancer site, accounting for 21.2% (n=1403) of all cases. This equates to one in every five patients diagnosed with cancer. Additionally, significant findings were yielded with respect to other forms of cancer.

Conclusion: It is imperative to document these data to highlight the necessity for investigating and preventing the underlying causes of upper GI cancer in our region. Furthermore, the establishment of screening programs for early diagnosis and intensified research on treatment modalities are crucial steps in combating this disease.

Keywords: Cancer data in Northeast Anatolia, stomach and oesophageal cancer in Northeast Anatolia, Asian belt

INTRODUCTION

The incidence of cancer has reached a level that represents a significant public health and economic concern, largely due to the growth of the elderly population and the multiplicity of potential etiologic factors. Cancer currently accounts for the second-highest mortality rate, trailing only that of cardiovascular diseases (1). According to Globocan data, there will be 20 million new cancer cases, including non-melanoma skin cancers, and 9.7 million cancer-related deaths in 2022 (2). Among all cancer cases worldwide, lung cancer is the most common cancer with 12.4%, followed by breast (11.6%), colorectal (9.6%), prostate (7.3%) and stomach (4.9%) cancers (2). The incidence of specific cancer types may vary according to age, gender, ethnicity, and geographical region (3). It is of great importance to have access to regional cancer statistics and to be able to calculate the estimated future incidence and prevalence in order to meet the

needs for screening, early diagnosis, and treatment of regionally common cancers and to elucidate the etiologic factors. The East-Northeast Anatolia region of Türkiye is notable for its elevated incidence of cancers of the upper gastrointestinal (GI) tract (stomach, gastroesophageal junction, and esophagus). These cancers represent the most common malignancies in the region, yet the underlying etiologic factors remain unclear (4,5). The analysis of cancer statistics at the regional level can inform the development of an effective regional cancer policy and facilitate the investigation and elucidation of potential etiological causes.

Purpose

The objective of our study was to document cancer data, demonstrate the changes in the incidence of cancer types over the past five years, and calculate the estimated number of cases in the future in our region, where upper GI cancers are highly prevalent.

CITATION

Caglar AA, Tuhan A, Coban Esdur P, et al. Cancer Data, Case Increase Rates and Future Prospects in the Northeastern Anatolia Region of Türkiye, a Special Region for Gastric and Esophageal Cancers in 2018-2023. Med Records. 2025;7(1):258-62. DOI:1037990/medr.1572275

Received: 23.10.2024 Accepted: 10.01.2025 Published: 15.01.2025 Corresponding Author: Alperen Akansel Caglar, Erzurum Atatürk University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine, Division of Medical Oncology, Erzurum, Türkiye E-mail: alperenakansel44@gmail.com

MATERIAL AND METHOD

For this purpose, it was planned to retrospectively record the cancer sites of a total of 6,603 patients who applied to our center between 2018 and 2023, according to years and gender. It was not possible to obtain informed consent from the patients, as the data were obtained retrospectively by means of a file review. Ethics committee approval dated 27.09.2024 and numbered B.30.2.ATA.0.01.00/538 was obtained for our study. The medical records of patients between the ages of 18 and 80 years were reviewed, and the locations of the cancers were documented. Hematologic malignancies were excluded from the analysis. The data were statistically analyzed using the IBM SPSS Statistics 20 program.

RESULTS

A review of the data from the previous five years revealed that lung cancers constituted the most prevalent cancer type, accounting for 17.02% (n=1124) of the total 6603 cancer cases. This was followed by breast cancers (16.7%, n=1108), stomach cancers (13.07%), and colorectal cancers (9.7%, n=643), esophageal (5.8%, n=384), prostate (5.0%, n=331) and ovarian (3.83%, n=253) cancers. Upper GI cancers (stomach and esophagus) were the most prevalent, accounting for 21.2% (n=1403) of the total cases (Figure 1).



Figure 1. The most common types of cancer in 2018-2023

Over the past five years, 52.8% of all cases were diagnosed in males, while 47.2% were diagnosed in females. Amongst the male population, lung cancer was the most prevalent form of cancer, accounting for 28.27% of cases (n=966). Subsequently, stomach (17.4%, n=595), colorectal (10.39%, n=355), prostate (9.69%, n=331), and esophageal cancers (4.86%, n=166) were the next most prevalent. Upper GI cancers constituted 22.27% (n=761) of all cases (Table 1).

Table 1. Ranking of the most common cancers in women and men in the last 5 years									
	Women (n=3060)			Men (n=3417)					
	n	%		n	%				
Breast	1093	35.72	Lung	966	28.27				
Stomach	324	10.59	Stomach	595	17.41				
Colorectal	288	9.41	Colorectal	355	10.39				
Overian	253	8.27	Prostate	331	9.69				
Ezophagus	218	7.12	Ezophagus	166	4.86				
Lung	158	5.16	Bladder	148	4.33				
Uterin	148	4.84	Head&Neck	146	4.27				
Servix	125	4.08	Sarcoma	137	4.01				
Sarcoma	103	3.37	Skin	128	3.75				
Skin	77	2.52	Kidney	104	3.04				
Central Nervous	73	2.39	Pancreas	84	2.46				
Pancreas	65	2.12	Central Nervous	83	2.43				
Kidney	43	1.41	Testis	67	1.96				
Biliyer Tract	32	1.05	HCC	59	1.73				
Head&Neck	22	0.72	Biliyer Tract	33	0.97				
НСС	20	0.65	Breast	15	0.44				
Bladder	18	0.59							

Among women, breast cancers constituted more than one-third of all cases, with a rate of 35.72% (n=1093). The next most common cancers were gastric (10.59\%, n:324), colorectal (9.41\%, n:288), ovarian (8.27\%, n=253), esophageal (7.12\%, n=218), and lung cancers (5.16\%, n=158) (Table 1). Upper GI cancers constituted 17.71\%

(n=542) of all cases.

The male-to-female ratios within cancer types, changes in the number of cases over time, and projected future case rates were assessed. The evaluation of upper GI cancers over the past five years revealed that approximately twothirds (64.7%) of gastric cancer cases were males and one-third (35.3%) were females. In contrast, the majority of oesophageal cancers were female (56.8%). The total number of cases, the proportion of cases between the male and female sexes, and the distribution in the coming years are illustrated in the graph below (Figure 2).





Over the past five years, 14.1% of lung cancer cases were diagnosed in women, while 85.9% were diagnosed in men. When analysed by year, the rates remained consistent. There was no significant change in the number of cases or rates between 2018 and 2023, and it was predicted that similar rates would be observed in the coming years (Figure 3).



Figure 3 Changes in the ratios of male to female rates of lung cancers by years and estimated case rates in the future

A review of data on other cancers revealed a twofold increase in the number of prostate cancer cases in men between 2018 and 2023. Similarly, there was an approximately two-fold increase in cervical cancer cases in women. The table below (Table 2) provides a detailed overview of the number of cases in all cancers according to years and future predictions.

and rate of	increase ir	all cance	rs											
	20	018	20	019	20	020	20	021	20)22	20	023	2030	2040
	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	(%)*	(%)*
Lung														
Women	26	5.2	25	5.2	31	5.6	34	6.2	21	4.2	21	4.4	3.43	1.64
Men	142	28.0	157	28.8	184	31.7	176	31.2	154	27.5	153	27.0	26.47	23.81
Total	168	16.3	182	17.4	215	18.6	211	17.0	175	16.1	174	16.5	16.37	15.65
Stomach														
Women	50	10.02	52	10.86	60	10.77	65	11.78	56	11.20	41	8.67	9.70	7.49
Men	105	20.67	95	17.40	102	17.59	113	20.00	98	17.47	82	14.46	10.20	2.06
Total	155	15.02	147	14.03	162	13.98	178	14.32	154	14.14	123	11.66	9.29	4.44
Ezophagus														
Women	35	7.01	34	7.10	40	7.18	39	7.07	38	7.60	32	6.77	7.17	7.23
Men	19	3.74	30	5.49	31	5.34	35	6.19	23	4.10	28	4.94	5.69	6.46
Total	54	5.23	64	6.11	71	6.13	74	5.95	71	6.52	60	5.69	6.85	7.80
Colorectal														
Women	38	7.62	38	7.93	54	9.69	56	10.14	55	11.00	47	9.94	15.16	21.23
Men	53	10.43	74	13.55	57	9.83	63	11.15	57	10.16	51	8.99	6.33	1.74
Total	91	8.82	114	10.88	111	9.58	119	9.57	112	10.28	98	9.29	9.88	10.04
Breast														
Women	207	41.48	169	35.28	190	34.11	181	32.79	170	34.00	176	37.21	28.62	21.04
Men	2	0.39	0	0.00	3	0.52	7	1.24	1	0.18	2	0.35	0.73	1.04
Total	209	20.25	169	16.13	193	16.65	188	15.12	171	15.70	178	16.87	11.43	5.80

* These predictions were made using the Linear Regression Model

Table 2. Estimated expected case rates in 2030-2040 based on total female to male ratios, annual number of cases, five-year incidence change
and rate of increase in all cancers20182019202020212022202320302040

	2018 2019)19	2020 2021			2022		20	2023		2040		
	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	(%)*	(%)*
Prostate														
Men	39	7.7	60	11.0	44	7.6	73	12.9	58	10.3	57	10.1	14.06	18.41
Total	39	3.8	60	5.7	44	3.8	73	5.9	58	5.3	57	5.4	7.42	9.98
Overian														
Women	45	9.02	43	8.98	49	8.80	38	6.88	39	7.80	39	8.25	5.76	3.10
Total	45	4.36	43	4.10	49	4.23	38	3.06	39	3.58	39	3.70	2.20	0.48
Uterin														
Women	21	4.21	26	5.43	28	5.03	24	4.35	23	4.60	26	5.50	5.71	6.57
Total	21	2.03	26	2.48	28	2.42	24	1.93	23	2.11	26	2.46	2.39	2.54
Servix														
Women	14	2.81	16	3.34	21	3.77	25	4.53	28	5.60	21	4.44	8.34	12.82
Total	14	1.36	16	1.53	21	1.81	25	2.01	28	2.57	21	1.99	3.63	5.48

* These predictions were made using the Linear Regression Model

DISCUSSION

According to Globocan 2022 data, lung cancers are the most common all over the world. Together with lung cancers, breast, colorectal, prostate and stomach cancers constitute the five most common cancer types (2). Similarly, in our study, lung and breast cancers were in the first two ranks, gastric cancer was in the third, colorectal cancers were in the fourth and oesophageal cancers were in the fifth. It has been shown that gastric cancer and especially oesophageal cancer are more common in our region compared to the average of Türkiye and the world. While oesophageal cancers ranked 11th with a rate of 2.6% among the most common cancers in the world, it ranked 5th with a rate of 5.82% in our region. It is established that the prevalence of specific cancers exhibits geographic and racial disparities (2). Gastric cancer is a neoplasm with a complex aetiology, involving both environmental and genetic factors (6). It is more prevalent in developing countries globally, with the highest incidence rates observed in Central-South America, Eastern Europe, and Eastern Asia (7). Additionally, it is two to three times more common in males than in females (2). The aetiology of gastric cancer is multifactorial, with a complex interplay between genetic predisposition, dietary habits, tobacco consumption, alcohol intake, infection with the bacterium Helicobacter pylori (HP) and the Epstein-Barr virus (EBV). Approximately 10% of gastric cancer cases have a family history, with the majority of cases being sporadic (8). With regard to dietary characteristics, it is established that the Mediterranean diet, characterised by a high consumption of vegetables, fruits and fish, is protective against gastric cancer. Conversely, the consumption of meat, smoked and pickled foods has been identified as a risk factor (9). HP infection is one of the most important causes of non-cardia gastric cancers in developing societies (10). Our findings align with existing literature, indicating that gastric cancer

occurs approximately two times more frequently in males. When considering the aforementioned etiological factors, the high consumption of red meat and low consumption of vegetables, fruits, and fish in our region may contribute to the elevated incidences of gastric cancer. In addition, in a study conducted in our region, the prevalence of HP infection was found to be 58%, similar to developing countries (11). It is thought that the frequency of HP infection is among the reasons increasing the incidence of gastric cancer.

The incidence of oesophageal cancer is particularly high in East Asia, East Africa and Northern Europe (12). While the oesophageal squamous cell carcinoma (SCC) subtype is prevalent in developing countries, the adenocarcinoma (AC) subtype has been on the rise in developed countries in recent years. The etiological causes of SCC include smoking, alcohol consumption, hot drinks and the ingestion of foods containing nitrosamines. In contrast, the main risk factors for AC are obesity and Barrett oesophagus (13-15). The gender distribution of oesophageal cancers indicates that these malignancies are more prevalent in males globally, although they are more common in females in certain regions (16). In our region, 56.8% of cases involved female patients. It is postulated that the high prevalence of oesophageal cancer in our region is attributable to heavy smoking, the consumption of hot tea, and dietary factors.

CONCLUSION

The eastern Turkish is situated at the western end of the Asian belt, a region where upper GI cancers are prevalent. Gastric cancer represents the seventh most prevalent form of cancer in our country. Oesophageal cancers are the 20th most common form of cancer. The findings of our study indicate that gastric cancers represent the third most prevalent cancer type, while oesophageal cancers constitute the fifth most common cancer type. The most

common cancer region was identified as the upper GI tract, with one in every five patients admitted to the clinic having been diagnosed with an upper GI cancer. It was imperative to document these data in order to demonstrate the necessity for investigating and preventing the underlying causes of upper GI cancer in the region, establishing screening programmes for early diagnosis and intensifying studies on treatment. The utilisation of data extracted from the medical records of 6,603 cancer patients, rather than relying solely on ICD-10 codes, was a crucial factor in ensuring the accuracy and reliability of the data. In addition to the aforementioned strengths of our study, the limitations include the exclusion of haematological malignancies, inability to differentiate disease subtypes, inability to access demographic characteristics of the patients and inability to document risk factors.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: Ethics committee approval dated 27.09.2024 and numbered B.30.2.ATA.0.01.00/538 was obtained for our study.

REFERENCES

- 1. Bray F, Laversanne M, Weiderpass E, Soerjomataram I. The ever-increasing importance of cancer as a leading cause of premature death worldwide. Cancer. 2021;127:3029-30.
- Bray F, Laversanne M, Sung H, et al. Global cancer statistics 2022: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin. 2024;74:229-63.
- 3. Bray F, Parkin DM; African Cancer Registry Network. Cancer in sub-Saharan Africa in 2020: a review of current estimates of the national burden, data gaps, and future needs. Lancet Oncol. 2022;23:719-28.
- Elezoğlu B, Dellal FD. Cancer cases during five year period in the secondary health care institution of East Anatolia Region. Okmeydanı Tıp Dergisi. 2015;31:18-21.

- 5. Tuncer İ, Uygan İ, Kösem M, et al. Van ve çevresinde görülen üst gastrointestinal sistem kanserlerinin demografik ve histopatolojik özellikleri. Van Tıp Dergisi. 2001;8:10-3.
- 6. Machlowska J, Baj J, Sitarz M, et al. Gastric cancer: epidemiology, risk factors, classification, genomic characteristics and treatment strategies. Int J Mol Sci. 2020;21:4012.
- 7. Ang TL, Fock KM. Clinical epidemiology of gastric cancer. Singapore Med J. 2014;55:621-8.
- Lauwers GY, Mullen JT, Schreiber KEC, Chung DC. Familial gastric cancers: a review with focus on hereditary diffuse gastric cancer syndrome. Pathology Case Reviews. 2014;19:66-73.
- 9. Kim J, Cho YA, Choi WJ, Jeong SH. Gene-diet interactions in gastric cancer risk: a systematic review. World J Gastroenterol. 2014;20:9600-10.
- 10. López MJ, Carbajal J, Alfaro AL, et al. Characteristics of gastric cancer around the world. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2023;181:103841.
- 11. Çiftel S, Okçu N, Dursun H, et al. Helicobacter pylori prevalance in our region. akademik gastroenteroloji dergisi, 2016;15;1-4.
- 12. Lander S, Lander E, Gibson MK. Esophageal cancer: overview, risk factors, and reasons for the rise. Curr Gastroenterol Rep. 2023;25:275-9.
- Prabhu A, Obi KO, Rubenstein JH. The synergistic effects of alcohol and tobacco consumption on the risk of esophageal squamous cell carcinoma: a meta-analysis. Am J Gastroenterol. 2014;109:822-7.
- 14. Islami F, Poustchi H, Pourshams A, et al. A prospective study of tea drinking temperature and risk of esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. Int J Cancer. 2020;146:18-25.
- Keeney S, Bauer TL. Epidemiology of adenocarcinoma of the esophagogastric junction. Surg Oncol Clin N Am. 2006;15:687-96.
- Morgan E, Soerjomataram I, Rumgay H, et al. The global landscape of esophageal squamous cell carcinoma and esophageal adenocarcinoma incidence and mortality in 2020 and projections to 2040: new estimates from GLOBOCAN 2020. Gastroenterology. 2022;163:649-658.e2.



Investigation of the Effects of Pendimethalin on Liver and Kidney Tissue in Mice by Histological Methods

¹Karabük University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Histology and Embryology, Karabük, Türkiye ²Karabük University, Graduate School of Education, Department of Anatomy, Karabük, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License.

Abstract

Aim: Pesticides, which provide many benefits in terms of production and yield, can also be toxic substances that can harm human health. In this study, the effects of pendimethalin (PND), a type of pesticide, on the liver and kidney tissue of mice were examined by histopathological methods.

Material and Method: A total of 30 mice were used in our study. They were divided into 5 groups, 6 mice in the control group and 6 mice in the other groups. One of the groups was reserved as the control group. No application was made to the control group. Group I received 0.1 mg/I PND, group II received 0.2 mg/I PND intraperitoneally on the 1st and 3rd days of the study. Group III received 0.1 mg/I PND intraperitoneally and 0.1 mg/I vitamin A and C orally, group IV received 0.2 mg/I PND intraperitoneally and 0.1 mg/I vitamin A and C orally on the 1st and 3rd days of our study. On the 4th day of our study, the experimental animals were sacrificed by cervical dislocation method under general anaesthesia. Liver and kidney tissues of the mice were histopathologically examined under light microscope.

Results: In our study, sinusoidal enlargement and vascular congestion were observed in the liver tissue of the I. experimental group, while tubular dilatation and intertubular vascular congestion were observed in the kidney tissue. In the second experimental group, in addition to the similar findings in the first experimental group, an increase in the number of pyknotic nuclei and Kuppfer cells in the liver tissue and loss of cells and disrupted areas in the tubules in the kidney tissue were observed. In addition, the findings in this group were more pronounced. In the third experimental group, histopathological findings were similar to those in the first group. Similarly, the findings in experimental group IV and experimental group II, which were given vitamin A and C, were similar.

Conclusion: In conclusion, our findings showed that PND negatively affected the histology of liver and kidney of mice. Vitamins A and C did not contribute positively to these histopathological findings.

Keywords: Liver tissue, kidney tissue, pendimethalin, histopathology

INTRODUCTION

As a result of the rapid increase in the world population, the increase in urbanisation activities in agricultural areas requires maximum yield from the products. This has made the use of pesticides almost mandatory. Therefore, pesticides are recognised as essential substances all over the world (1). Chronic toxicity occurs when pesticides are exposed to pesticides for a certain period of time at long-term or low dosages. Carcinogenicity, mutagenicity, teratogenicity, oncogenicity, liver damage, reproductive disorders, neural damage and allergic symptoms can be listed as defects resulting from chronic effects (2).

Pendimethalin (PND), which is included in the herbicide class among the pesticide types classified according to the

field of use, is a dinitroaniline group member. In the studies conducted, PND has been identified as a substance that pollutes water resources (3-6). It also adversely affects water resources as well as air and soil (7). The United States Environmental Protection Organisation (EPA) has classified PND as a probable human carcinogen (8). Another study concluded that PND exposure may induce tumour development (9). Increased incidence of cancer has been found to be associated with PND exposure by some agricultural health study committees (10-12). PND compound has the potential to cause problems in the functioning of the endocrine system (13). Due to the toxic effects of pesticides on non-target organisms and the negative effects on natural resources, there is a need for a more comprehensive evaluation of pesticides (14,15).

CITATION

Ersan Y, Iscen NT. Investigation of the Effects of Pendimethalin on Liver and Kidney Tissue in Mice by Histological Methods. Med Records. 2025;7(1):263-7. DOI:1037990/medr.1565351

Received: 11.10.2024 Accepted: 17.12.2024 Published: 15.01.2025

Corresponding Author: Yusuf Ersan, Karabük University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Histology and Embryology, Karabük, Türkiye

E-mail: yusufersan@karabuk.edu.tr

Studies on PND exposure on the liver and kidneys of freshwater fish were carried out and histopathological changes were found (16).

When the necessary literature is reviewed, it is seen that the protective effect of vitamin A and C on the liver and kidney tissue of mice against PND toxicity has not been investigated and there is a need for further studies in this field. In this study, it was aimed to make examinations for the need and to provide an original work to the literature. Mouse liver and kidney tissues were histopathologically examined to determine the damage caused by PND and to see the effect of vitamin A and C in treating the damage. Thus, it was aimed to determine whether vitamins A and C would be effective in preventing the damage that PND exposure may develop in living organisms.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Experimental Animals

In the study, 30 Balb-c female mice were used. The mice used were 84 days old at the beginning of the study and weighed 32-35 g on average. The experimental animals were housed in polycarbonate standard type 3 cages for 12 hours day and 12 hours night, 08.00 in the morning and 08.00 in the evening. Mice were fed ad libitum with tap water and standard feed. The ambient temperature was kept between 22-24°C, humidity was kept between 45-50% and ventilation was provided automatically.

Work Plan and Groups

A preliminary study was conducted before the study. Firstly, it was observed that mice given 0.5 mg/l PND could not survive at this dose for a long time. Likewise, mice were lost at 0.4 mg/l PND dose. At the last dose of 0.2 mg/l, although the mice were restless, they survived. Thus, 0.2 mg/l high dose was determined as 0.1 mg/l low dose in the study.

In the study, the experimental animals were divided into 5 groups consisting of 6 mice, one of which was the control group. One group was divided as the control group. In group I, 0.1 mg/I PND was administered intraperitoneally (ip) on the 1st and 3rd days of the experiment. In group II, 0.2 mg/I PND was administered ip on days 1 and 3 of the experiment. The animals in group III were firstly given 0.1 mg/I PND by ip route and then vitamin A and C were given orally on the 1st and 3rd days of the experiment. In group IV, 0.2 mg/I PND was administered ip, then vitamin A and C were administered orally on the 1st and 3rd days of the experiment.

Tissue Collection and Histological Examination

At the end of the 3rd day, the experimental animals were sacrificed by cervical dislocation method under anaesthesia. Then, the liver and both kidneys were dissected by making a vertical incision in the periumblical region. The tissues were placed in 10% formaldehyde solution and fixed in formaldehyde for 14 days. After fixation was completed, the tissues were kept in tap water overnight to remove the fixative. Complete removal of the water permeating the tissue was achieved by passing through alcohol series. The tissues, which were rendered transparent in xylol to make them transparent to light, were embedded in paraffin blocks.

From the obtained blocks, 5 μ m thick sections were taken using a microtome (DIAPATH-Galileo Auto). The sections were floated in 38°C water to open the folds and placed on slides. After the sections were opened, they were left to dry in an oven at 37°C on the slides.

After the sections were taken, the tissue samples placed on the slides were stained with haematoxylin-eosin (H&E) double stain. After staining, the slides were covered with coverslips using entellan. Photographs were taken from the obtained preparations in a Light Microscope (LEICA DM 2500) with a digital camera (LEICA DMC 4500) attachment and transferred to digital media for evaluation.

Differences in the H&E method used in dyeing are due to the waiting time in the alcohol used after dyeing. Such phenomena are natural in new and old solutions. You mentioned that bars should be used, the magnification criteria are specifically stated for each image. In addition,the use of bars is not deemed appropriate since the objective lens gives the magnification result more clearly. Here the phrase "increasing the number of image and better explaining the lesions at large and small magnification" is normally true. The cursors here are thought to be more meaningful since they were selected for each texture. I would like to thank you especially for your useful criticism. This work only possible within our means.

RESULTS

In this study, when the data obtained from the control group were examined under light microscope, it was observed that the liver lobule had a normal structure. Hepatocytes were observed to be arranged in a radial pattern. The vena centralis, portal area, sinusoids and sinusoidal Kupffer cells and endothelial cells in the liver tissue were observed in normal structures. Sinusoids were normal in terms of their width and arrangement (Figure 1A, 1B). In the kidney tissue of the control group, normal renal tubule and glomerular structure in the cortex and medulla and regular interstitial space were present (Figure 1C, 1D).

In our study, irregularities in hepatocyte arrangement and necrotic areas were present in group I in which low dose PND was administered. Sinusoidal areas were enlarged and mononuclear cell infiltration was observed in the vena centralis. Vascular congestion in the portal area was also among the findings we observed (Figure 1E, 1F). Tubular dilatation and intertubular vascular congestion were observed in group I kidney tissue. There were also necrotic areas in places (Figure 1G, 1H).

In group II in which high dose PND was administered, histopathological changes were quite remarkable. There was vascular congestion covering almost the entire vena centralis. Necrotic areas and pyknotic nuclei were observed. Sinusoidal areas were more dilated compared to group I. Kuppfer cells were observed more prominently. The presence of erythrocytes in the sinusoids was also observed (Figure 1I, 1J). Haemorrhage foci in the cortex and Bowman's capsule, loss of cells in the proximal tubules and distal tubules were observed. These findings were more prominent compared to the findings in group I. Degeneration was observed in hepatocytes in group III in which we applied low dose PND, which was one of the groups in which we administered vitamin A and vitamin C. There was also some enlargement in the sinusoids. A slight change was observed in mononuclear cell infiltration in the vena centralis compared to group I in which we administered low dose PND. Tubular dilatation and vascular congestion were observed in group III kidney tissue. Necrotic areas were found to be almost similar to group I. According to these results, the healing effect of vitamins A and C was not significantly observed in our study. Histopathological findings were found in all groups. These findings included mononuclear cell infiltration, sinusoidal dilatation, vascular congestion, pyknotic nucleus, hepatocyte degeneration and necrotic area in the liver. In the kidney tissue, tubular dilatation and degeneration, intertubular vascular congestion, degeneration in Bowman's capsule were observed as haemorrhage foci and necrotic areas. Group II was found to be the most affected group. It was concluded that this was related to the dose increase. In the groups receiving vitamin A and C, histopathological findings were almost similar to those in the groups receiving the same dose of PND.



Figure 1. Histopathologic findings liver tissue of group I (**A**). Hepatic mononuclear cell infiltration (thin arrow), necrotic areas (asterisk) and dilatation of sinusoidal areas (thick arrow) seen in the vena centralis H&E X20. Kidney tissue of group I (**B**). Tubular dilatation (asterisk) and intertubular vascular congestion (thin arrow). H&E X20. Mouse liver tissue from group II (**C**). Vascular congestion in the vena centralis; (thick arrow) sinusoidal dilatation, (thin arrow) necrotic area (asterisk) and pyknotic nucleus (yellow arrow). H&E X20. Kidney tissue from group II (**D**). Foci of hemorrhage (thick arrow) and tubular dilatation (asterisk) are seen in Bowman's capsule and cortex. H&E X20. Liver tissue from group III (**E**). Vena centralis shows mononuclear cell infiltration (thin arrow) sinusoidal dilatation (thick arrow) and hepatocyte degeneration (yellow arrow). H&E X40. Kidney tissue from group III (**F**). Tubular dilatation (asterisk) and vascular congestion (thin arrow) are seen H&E X20. Mouse liver tissue from group IV (**G**). Vascular congestion (thick arrow) and Kuppfer cells (thin arrow) in the vena centralis H&E X20. Kidney tissue from group IV (**H**). Vascular congestion in Bowman's capsule (thin arrow) are seen. H&E X20. Images of liver (**I**) and kidney (**J**) tissue in the control group.

DISCUSSION

Chemical pesticides have been an agent that has helped nations in their endeavours to eradicate insect-based problems, ensure adequate food supplies, and protect agricultural lands and forests. However, overuse of more toxic and cheaper pesticides, especially in developing countries, leads to acute health problems and causes environmental and global pollution (17). The damages of pesticides that cause changes in antioxidants and cause ROS formation have been clearly demonstrated (18,19). Vitamins A, C and E are vitamins with antioxidant properties (20). In our study, it was wondered how vitamin A and vitamin C, which are antioxidants, would affect the damage caused by pesticides, and vitamin A and C were included in the study.

In measurements made in various soil types, it was observed that heterotrophic activity was adversely affected where PND was intensively present (21). The consumption of agricultural products grown in soils contaminated with PND causes people to be exposed to this pesticide in some way. Therefore, PND was considered to be a pesticide type that should be investigated and used in our study.

El-Sharkawv et al. evaluated the toxic effect of PND on commercially important fish by measuring growth performance, biochemical parameters, histopathological findings and genotoxic effect. The results showed that there were significant decreases in body weight and weight gain in fish exposed to PND depending on the doses given, while serum glucose, aspartate amino transaferase (AST), alkaline phosphatase, total protein and cholesterol were significantly increased. When liver and kidney tissues were examined histologically, necrotic areas and degenerative changes were observed similar to our study (22).

In a study using low dose PND, oxidative stress, DNA damage and mitochondrial dysfunction triggering apaptosis were evaluated in human lymphocytes and rat bone marrow cells. It was found that PND stimulated micronucleus formation showing clastogenic potential. The results showed that DNA damage was 35.6 times higher in PND-treated human lymphocytes. In addition, imbalance in antioxidant enzymes was observed. In this study, histopathological findings were found to be consistent with our results. In conclusion, PND has been shown to have genotoxic and apoptotic potentials in human and animal test models (23).

In the study conducted by Ahmad et al. male rats were given PND at various doses of 62.5, 125 and 250 mg/kg. Toxic effects were evaluated in terms of oxidative stress, DNA damage, histopathological changes, stimulation of anti-inflammatory and apoptotic responses. Significant changes were recorded in oxidative stress indicators and antioxidant defence mechanisms in liver and kidney tissues. Significant DNA damage was also detected in this study. PND-induced cellular stress induced anti-inflammatory and apoptotic changes. When histopathological changes were examined, leukocyte infiltration, pyknotic nuclei, necrosis, large Bowman's capsule and narrowed renal cortex were observed in liver and kidney tissues. The results of this study showed that PND causes cellular toxicity and genetic disorders affecting normal physiological functions in rats (24). Similar histopathological findings were found in our study. Unlike this study, Bowman's capsule was narrowed in our study.

In a study conducted on Nile tilapia fish, four groups were formed, one of the groups was separated as a control group, the other two were given two different doses of PND, and the fourth group was given Moringa plant, which may show antioxidant effect in addition to PND, similar to our study. At the end of this period, haematological and biochemical changes and oxidative stress biomarkers were analysed. PNDtreatment caused significant decreases in haemoglobin concentration in white and red blood cells, while PND treatment caused significant decreases in hemoglobin concentration in white and red blood cells, significant increases were detected in serum total protein, aspartate aminotransferase (AST), alanine aminotransferase (ALT), alkaline phosphatase (ALP), creatinine, uric acid, glucose, cortisol, cholesterol and lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) levels. On the other hand, serum total protein, albumin, globulin and acetylcholinesterase (AChE) decreased. Hepatic superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase (CAT), total antioxidant capacity (TAC) and glutathione peroxidase (GSH-Px) levels were significantly increased compared to the control group. Addition of Moringa oleifera leaf extract to water overcame the negative effects of pendimethalin and the parameters examined were almost normalised compared to the control group (25). In our study, similar to this study, we investigated the protective effects of antioxidant vitamins A and C on the toxic effects of PND given together with PND. Unlike this study, no significant normalisation was observed in our study. This was attributed to the fact that only two doses of vitamin A and C were given.

In this study, histopathological findings were detected in all groups. These findings were observed as mononuclear cell infiltration, sinusoidal dilatation, vasculer congestion, pyknotic nükleus, hepatocyte degenerasyon and necrotic area in the liver. Tubuler dilatation and, degeneration, intetubuler vasculer congestion, degeneration in Bowman's capsule were observed as bleeding foci and necrosis areas in the kidney tissue. The most affected group is II. Identified as a group. It was concluded that situation was due to dose increase. This histopathological findings in the groups receiving the same dose of PND.

CONCLUSION

According to the results of the study, it was observed that PND adversely affected liver and kidney tissue. Longerterm studies with different doses of PND will be useful to evaluate the damages of this pesticide in more detail. In addition, we think that the antioxidant effects can be seen more clearly when the doses of vitamin A and C and the number of days on which the mice are given are increased. **Financial disclosures:** The study was conducted with project code 2069 at Karabük University Supported by the Scientific Research Projects (BAP) Coordination Unit. Karabük University supported the study with project code no. 2069.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical approval: For this study, Saki Yenilli Experimental Animal Production and Application Laboratory Permission for the study was obtained with the decision of the Local Ethics Committee for Animal Experiments (Decision No: 07-24.04.2019).

REFERENCES

- 1. Öztürk S. Tarım İlaçları, 1st edition. Hasad Publishing, İstanbul. 1990; 231-418.
- Sternberg SS. The carcinogenesis, Mutagenesis and teratogenesis of insecticides: Review of studies in animals and man. Pharmacol Ther. 1979;6:147-66.
- Asman, WA, Jorgenson A, Bossi R, et al. Wet deposition of pesticides and nitrophenols at two sites in Denmark: measurements and contributions from regional sources. Chemosphere. 2005; 59:1023-31.
- Barba-Brioso C, Fernandez-Cliani JC, Miras A, et al. Multisource water pollution in a highly anthropized wetland system associated with the estuary of Huelva (SW Spain). Mar Pollut Bull. 2010;60:1259-69.
- Akbulut GB. ome biochemical changes in safflower (Carthamus tinctorius L.) plant exposed to pendimethalin stress. Harran Tarım ve Gıda Bilimleri Dergisi. 2019;23:90-8.
- Larson SJ, Gilliom RJ, Capel PD. Pesticides in streams of the United States--initial results from the National Water-Quality Assessment Program. US Department of the Interior, US Geological Survey. 1999;98:4222.
- Haksevenler BHG, Aytış EA, Dilaver M. Identification, reduction and management of pesticides in surface waters, a case study for Gediz Basin. DEUFMD. 2019; 21:83-96.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. R.E.D. FACTS, Pendimethalin. Office of Prevention, Pesticides and Toxic Substances, 1997. https://archive.epa.gov/epawaste/ hazard/wastemin/web/pdf/pendmeth.pdf access date 01.10.2024.
- 9. Sarıgöl Z. Genotoxicity assessment and epigenetic evaluation of dinitroaniline herbicides. Ph.D. Thesis Hacettepe University, Ankara, 2015.
- Alavanja MC, Dosemeci M, Samanic C, et al. Pesticides and lung cancer risk in the agricultural health study cohort. Am J Epidemiol. 2004;160:876-85.

- 11. Andreotti G, Freeman LE, Hou L, et al. Agricultural pesticide use and pancreatic cancer risk in the Agricultural Health Study Cohort. Int J Cancer. 2009;124:2495-500.
- 12. Hou L, Lee WJ, Rusiecki J, et al. Pendimethalin exposure and cancer incidence among pesticide applicators. Epidemiology. 2006;17:302-7.
- Ahmad MI, Usman A, Ahmad M. Computational study involving identification of endocrine disrupting potential of herbicides: Its implication in TDS and cancer progression in CRPC patients. Chemosphere. 2017;173:395-403.
- Atasoy DA, Rastgeldi C. Şanlıurfa pestisit kullanımı. In: GAP V. Mühendislik Kongresi Bildiriler Kitabı. Şanlıurfa Harran Üniversitesi Mühendislik Fakültesi; Şanlıurfa. 2006;1462-7.
- 15. Masutti CSMi, Mermut AR. Fate of fipronil in soils under sugar cane cultivation from the Northeast of Brazil: sorption and degradation, 2023. doi: 10.60502/SoilData/WHZL2K.
- 16. Tabassum H, Ashafaq M, Khan J, et al. Short term exposure of pendimethalin induces biochemical and histological perturbations in liver, kidney and gill of freshwater fish. Ecological Indicators. 2016;63:29-36.
- 17. Ecobichon DJ. Pesticide use in developing countries. Toxicology. 2001;160:27-33.
- 18. Yorulmaz S, Ay R. The enzymes playing role in detoxification of the pesticides in mites and insects. Journal of Agricultural Faculty of Uludag University. 2010;24:137-48.
- 19. Mercan U. Importance of Free Radicals in Toxicology. YYU Vet Fak Derg. 2004;15:91-6.
- 20. Mates JM. Effects of antioxidant enzymes in the molecular control of reactive oxygen species toxicology. Toxicology. 2000;153:83-104.
- 21. Miller CM, Valentine RL, Roehl ME, Alvarez PJ. Chemical and microbiological assessment of pendimethalin-contaminated soil after treatment with Fenton's reagent. Wat Res. 1996;30:79-2586.
- 22. El-Sharkawy NI, Reda RM, El-Araby IE. Assessment of Stomp® (Pendimethalin) toxicity on Oreochromis niloticus. Journal of American Science. 2011;7:568-76.
- 23. Ansari SM, Saquib Q, Attia SM, et al. Pendimethalin induces oxidative stress, DNA damage, and mitochondrial dysfunction to trigger apoptosis in human lymphocytes and rat bonemarrow cells. Histochem Cell Biol. 2018;149:127-41.
- 24. Ahmad MI, Zafeer MF, Javed M, et al. Pendimethalin-induced oxidative stress, DNA damage and activation of antiinflammatory and apoptotic markers in male rats. Sci Rep. 2018;8:17139.
- 25. Hamed HS, El-Sayed YS. Antioxidant activities of Moringa oleifera leaf extract against pendimethalin-induced oxidative stress and genotoxicity in Nile tilapia, Oreochromis niloticus (L.). Fish Physiol Biochem. 2019;45:71-82.

MEDICAL RECORDS-International Medical Journal

Case Report



A Rare Cause of Inguinal Herniation: Bladder Herniation

Ayla Ozaydogdu Cimen

Malatya Training and Research Hospital, Department of Radiology, Malatya, Türkiye

Content of this journal is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NonDerivatives 4.0 International License



Abstract

Herniation of the bladder into the inguinal canal is a rare condition. It is mostly asymptomatic but symptoms such as dysuria, sudden and severe urge to urinate, nocturia and haematuria may also be observed. Early diagnosis of inguinal bladder hernia is important to minimize potential complications and those that may arise during treatment. In male patients over the age of fifty with unilateral inguinal swelling, possible bladder herniation should be considered, and when necessary, computed tomography and other radiological imaging methods should be used in addition to ultrasonography. We aimed to present our case of bladder herniation accompanying inguinal hernia, supported by the literature.

Keywords: Inguinal hernia, bladder hernia, ultrasonography, computed tomography

INTRODUCTION

The incidence of inguinal hernia ranges between 3% and 8%, but it is more common among men. Herniation of the bladder into the inguinal canal is rare and this rate is reported to be between 1% and 4% in the literature (1). It has also been reported that the bladder herniates into the femoral canal, abdominal wall, perineum, and obturator canal (2). It is mostly seen in men over 50 years of age and on the right side. It is seen that various factors play a role in its pathophysiology. Possible reasons for facilitating herniation include weakness of the bladder detrusor muscle and abdominal wall muscles, hernia sac that causes the bladder to shrink, obesity, and previous inguinal surgery. Most patients are asymptomatic. They may rarely show nonspecific urinary symptoms (3). It is mostly detected incidentally during inguinal hernia surgeries (4). Early diagnosis is important due to the possibility of complications. In this study, we aimed to present a case who presented to the emergency department with complaints of abdominal pain and swelling in the groin and was diagnosed with bladder hernia based on imaging findings in light of the literature.

CASE REPORT

A 51-year-old male patient was admitted to the emergency department with complaints of abdominal pain, right groin pain, and swelling in the groin for the last 1 week. Laboratory findings of the patient were normal. Physical examination showed no signs other than swelling in the right groin. It was observed that the patient was obese. He also had a history of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD). Abdominal ultrasonography and superficial groin ultrasonography were performed in the emergency radiology department. While no pathology was detected in the abdominal ultrasonography, superficial ultrasonography revealed a right inguinal hernia and loculated fluid in the inguinal region, and therefore, upper abdominal and pelvic computed tomography was performed. Computed tomography revealed a right inguinal hernia and accompanying bladder hernia (Figures 1-3). Surgical intervention was recommended to the patient whose hernia was reduced and pain decreased, but the patient did not accept it.

CITATION

Ozaydogdu Cimen A. A Rare Cause of Inguinal Herniation: Bladder Herniation. Med Records. 2025;7(1):268-70. DOI:1037990/medr.1588337

Received: 20.11.2024 Accepted: 17.12.2024 Published: 15.01.2025 Corresponding Author: Ayla Ozaydogdu Cimen, Malatya Training and Research Hospital, Department of Radiology, Malatya, Türkiye E-mail: ayla28092004@hotmail.com



Figure 1. Right inguinal bladder herniation on axial computed tomography images



Figure 2. Right inguinal bladder herniation on axial computed tomography images



Figure 3: Right inguinal bladder herniation on sagittal computed tomography images

DISCUSSION

Bladder hernias are rarely seen. It was first described and accepted as an acquired pathology by Levine in 1951 (5). It is generally more common in men over the age of fifty and on the right side (6). Our case was a fifty-one-year-old male patient and his hernia was on the right side.

Bladder hernias are evaluated in 3 groups: paraperitoneal, intraperitoneal, and extraperitoneal hernias according to their relationship with the peritoneum. Paraperitoneal hernias are the most common. The herniated part of the bladder is located outside the inguinal hernia sac and extends along its medial edge. While the intraperitoneal hernia is totally surrounded by the peritoneum, extraperitoneal bladder hernias do not have any relationship with the peritoneum (1). Our case had an extraperitoneal hernia.

Various systemic and local factors play a role in the etiology as factors that facilitate the development of hernia. Advanced age, obesity, history of inguinal surgery, impaired bladder tonus, and weakness of bladder detrusor muscles are some of the predisposing factors. Apart from these factors, situations where intra-abdominal pressure increases such as COPD, atrophy of the abdominal wall muscles, increased perivesical adipose tissue density, and increased pressure associated with prostate hypertrophy while urinating may cause herniation in advanced-age patients. It has been suggested that all these factors may lead to bladder diverticulum formation and bladder herniation (7,8). Our case was a patient with a high body mass index (BMI) and a diagnosis of COPD.

While minimal bladder herniation usually does not show symptoms, symptoms such as decreased swelling in the groin after micturition, impaired urination, and increased urination by pressing on the swelling area may be seen in patients with significant hernia (9). In our case, there were no urinary complaints other than swelling since the hernia was minimal.

Early diagnosis is important to prevent complications and possible bladder injuries during inguinal surgery. When radiological imaging is performed, possible complications such as perforation, renal failure, and strangulation can be avoided (10,11). No complications were detected in our case.

Radiological imaging techniques have various advantages and deficiencies over each other. Although ultrasonography is the primary radiological diagnosis method used in inguinal hernias, the gold standard in diagnosis is cystography. This imaging method creates disadvantages such as the inability to show additional pathologies and false negativity in narrow-necked hernias (12). Computed tomography imaging can be performed for additional pathologies accompanying herniation, but this technique is disadvantageous due to its high cost and radiation exposure. The advantages of magnetic resonance imaging include its ability to display the relationship of hernia with peritoneal structures, accompanying additional pathologies, inflammatory changes, and absence of radiation exposure (11,13). In our patient, ultrasonography was performed first, and then computed tomography was performed to make the diagnosis.

The main treatment of inguinal bladder hernias is surgical repair after the reduction or resection of the herniated bladder (9).

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, possible bladder hernia should be kept in mind, especially in patients with inguinal hernia with lower urinary tract symptoms. We believe that the familiarity of radiologists with the images will enable them to make the possible diagnosis and contribute to preventing possible complications.

Financial disclosures: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Conflict of interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Informed Consent Form: Informed consent was obtained from the patient for this study.

REFERENCES

- 1. Bacigalupo LE, Bertolotto M, Barbiera F, et al. Imaging of urinary bladder hernias. Am J Roentgenol. 2005;184: 546-51.
- 2. El Bahri A, Ameur A. Bladder hernia: a rare clinical image. Pan Afr Med J. 20232;46:47.

- 3. Sripathi S, Farooqi N, Kamel MK, et al. Inguinoscrotal Hernia of the Urinary Bladder. Cureus. 2024;16:e56636.
- 4. Hamidi Madani A, Mohammadi Nikouei H, Baghani Aval H, et al. Scrotal herniation of bladder: a case report. Iran J Med Sci 2013;38:62-4.
- 5. Levine B. Scrotal cystosele. J Am Med Assoc 1951;147:1439-41.
- Kraft KH, Sweeney S, Fink AS, et al. Inguinoscrotal bladder hernias: report of a series and review of the literature. Can Urol Assoc J 2008;2:619-23.
- 7. Ersoy E, Karagüzel E, Akgül T, et al. Giant inguinoscrotal bladder hernia: a late complication of inguinal herniorraphy. Turkish J Urol 2009;35:266-7.
- 8. Bolton DM, Joyce G. Vesical diverticulum extending into an inguinal hernia. Br J Urol. 1994;73:323-4.
- 9. Khan A, Beckley I, Dobbins B, Rogawski KM. Laparoscopic repair of massive inguinal hernia containing the urinary bladder. Urol Ann. 2014;6:159-62.
- 10. Yüceler Z, Savaş Y, Kırış A. Large inguinal bladder hernia-a case report. Haseki Tıp Bülteni 2010;48:113-5.
- 11. Caterino M, Finocchi V, Giunta S, et al. Bladder cancer within a direct inguinal hernia: CT demonstration. Abdom Imaging. 2001;26:664-6.
- Malhotra MK, Kapoor Y. Pre surgical evaluation of scrotal cystocele by conventional radiography (cystogram). Niger J Surg. 2012;18:34-6.
- Andac N, Baltacioglu F, Tuney D, et al. Inguinoscrotal bladder herniation: is CT a useful tool in diagnosis?. Clin Imaging. 2002;26:347-8.